JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting

Impact Factor (2023): 2.1 Volume 1 (2018), Issue 2 ISSN 2561-6722 Editor in Chief: Sherif Badawy, MS, MD, MBA

Contents

Viewpoint

RenderX

Telehealth Services for Children With Autism Spectrum Disorders in Rural Areas of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia: Overview and Recommendations (e11402) Shahad Alkhalifah, Hesham Aldhalaan.	3
Original Papers	
Engaging Men in Prenatal Health via eHealth: Findings From a National Survey (e7) Michael Mackert, Marie Guadagno, Allison Lazard, Erin Donovan, Aaron Rochlen, Alexandra Garcia, Manuel Damásio, Brittani Crook	10
How Women Evaluate Birth Challenges: Analysis of Web-Based Birth Stories (e12206) Yasmine Konheim-Kalkstein, Talya Miron-Shatz, Leah Israel	18
Sudden Infant Death Syndrome and Safe Sleep on Twitter: Analysis of Influences and Themes to Guide Health Promotion Efforts (e10435) Kelly Pretorius, Michael Mackert, Gary Wilcox.	29
Exploring Social Media Group Use Among Breastfeeding Mothers: Qualitative Analysis (e11344) Kara Skelton, Retta Evans, Jenna LaChenaye, Jonathan Amsbary, Martha Wingate, Laura Talbott.	38
Exploring the Transition to Fatherhood: Feasibility Study Using Social Media and Machine Learning (e12371) Samantha Teague, Adrian Shatte.	49
Social Media Content About Children's Pain and Sleep: Content and Network Analysis (e11193) Michelle Tougas, Christine Chambers, Penny Corkum, Julie Robillard, Anatoliy Gruzd, Vivian Howard, Andrea Kampen, Katelynn Boerner, Amos Hundert.	62
Pokémon GO Within the Context of Family Health: Retrospective Study (e10679) Lisa Militello, Nathan Hanna, Claudio Nigg.	73
Mobile Device Use Among Rural, Low-Income Families and the Feasibility of an App to Encourage Preschoolers' Physical Activity: Qualitative Study (e10858) Morgan McCloskey, Darcy Thompson, Barbara Chamberlin, Lauren Clark, Susan Johnson, Laura Bellows	89
The Impact of Exercise Intensity Feedback Using Technology for Children During Active Play: Pilot Study (e11327)	
Madison Blake, Martin Sénéchal, Megan Comeau, Spencer Smith, Danielle Bouchard	100

JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting 2018 | vol. 1 | iss. 2 | p.1

Online Peer-to-Peer Mentoring Support for Youth with Hemophilia: Qualitative Needs Assessment (e10958)	
Vicky Breakey, Vanessa Bouskill, Cynthia Nguyen, Stephanie Luca, Jennifer Stinson, Sara Ahola Kohut.	108
Exploring the Needs of Adolescents With Sickle Cell Disease to Inform a Digital Self-Management and Transitional Care Program: Qualitative Study (e11058)	
Yalinie Kulandaivelu, Chitra Lalloo, Richard Ward, William Zempsky, Melanie Kirby-Allen, Vicky Breakey, Isaac Odame, Fiona Campbell, Khush Amaria, Ewurabena Simpson, Cynthia Nguyen, Tessy George, Jennifer Stinson	116
"How Is My Child's Asthma?" Digital Phenotype and Actionable Insights for Pediatric Asthma (e11988)	
Utkarshani Jaimini, Krishnaprasad Thirunarayan, Maninder Kalra, Revathy Venkataraman, Dipesh Kadariya, Amit Sheth.	141
Smartphones for Real-time Assessment of Adherence Behavior and Symptom Exacerbation for High-Risk Youth with Asthma: Pilot Study (e8)	
Ronald Teufel II, Sachin Patel, Anita Shuler, Anne Andrews, Michelle Nichols, Myla Ebeling, Erin Dawley, Martina Mueller, Kenneth Ruggiero, Frank Treiber.	155
Home to Hospital Live Streaming With Virtual Reality Goggles: A Qualitative Study Exploring the Experiences of Hospitalized Children (e10)	
Aafke Bakker, Lindy Janssen, Cees Noordam.	167
Mobile Phone Access and Willingness Among Mothers to Receive a Text-Based mHealth Intervention to Improve Prenatal Care in Northwest Ethiopia: Cross-Sectional Study (e9)	
Berhanu Endehabtu, Adane Weldeab, Martin Were, Richard Lester, Abebaw Worku, Binyam Tilahun.	177
Clinical Adoption of mHealth Technology to Support Pediatric Cystic Fibrosis Care in Sweden: Qualitative Case Study (e11080)	
Meghan Longacre, Stuart Grande, Andreas Hager, Meera Montan, Rikard Bergquist, Maria Martensson, Greg Kotzbauer.	190
Assessing the Perceptions of Inspiratory Muscle Training in Children With Cystic Fibrosis and Their Multidisciplinary Team: Mixed-Methods Study (e11189)	
Jessica McCreery, Kelly Mackintosh, Narelle Cox, Melitta McNarry.	199
Fertility Preservation in Children and Adolescents With Cancer: Pilot of a Decision Aid for Parents of Children and Adolescents With Cancer (e10463)	
Catherine Allingham, Lynn Gillam, Maria McCarthy, Margaret Zacharin, Sadunee Jayasuriya, Yves Heloury, Lisa Orme, Michael Sullivan, Michelle Peate, Yasmin Jayasinghe.	206
Assessing the Usability of an Automated Continuous Temperature Monitoring Device (iThermonitor) in Pediatric Patients: Non-Randomized Pilot Study (e10804)	
Sujay Kakarmath, Emily de Redon, Amanda Centi, Ramya Palacholla, Joseph Kvedar, Kamal Jethwani, Stephen Agboola.	219
Substance Use Among Young Mothers: An Analysis of Facebook Posts (e10261)	
Daniel Oram, Golfo Tzilos Wernette, Lauren Nichols, VG Vydiswaran, Xinyan Zhao, Tammy Chang.	228

Review

XSL•FO RenderX

Electronic Mentoring Programs and Interventions for Children and Youth With Disabilities: Systematic	
Review (e11679)	
Sally Lindsay, Kendall Kolne, Elaine Cagliostro.	129

Viewpoint

Telehealth Services for Children With Autism Spectrum Disorders in Rural Areas of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia: Overview and Recommendations

Shahad Alkhalifah¹, MSc, PGCert; Hesham Aldhalaan¹, MD

Centre for Autism Research, King Faisal Specialist Hospital & Research Centre, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia

Corresponding Author: Shahad Alkhalifah, MSc, PGCert Centre for Autism Research King Faisal Specialist Hospital & Research Centre Riyadh, 11211 Saudi Arabia Phone: 966 14647272 ext 70723 Email: <u>shahad.alkh@gmail.com</u>

Abstract

Autism spectrum disorders (ASD) are the most-prevalent neurodevelopmental disorders. However, each child diagnosed with ASD presents with a unique range of behavioral and communication problems and issues with social skills. Many studies have highlighted the importance of early interventions for children with ASD to improve their skills and provide their families with the necessary support. However, in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia (KSA), the earliest that a child with ASD in the major cities receives an intervention is at the age of 4 years, owing to limited services and a lack of awareness of the importance and benefits of early interventions. Families who live in rural areas of KSA arguably have a greater need for these services, as they have to travel to cities such as Riyadh for help. The use of telehealth services may be effective for ASD intervention among children living in rural areas, since such services are as valuable as traditional face-to-face treatment, allow families to obtain support from their homes, and help them improve their quality of life. This review will discuss the application of telehealth services to support families in rural areas of KSA who are dealing with issues of ASD, considering the cultural and religious contexts. In addition, it will examine ways in which technology can be employed to suit KSA's culture and needs.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2018;1(2):e11402) doi:10.2196/11402

KEYWORDS

autism spectrum disorders; intervention; Saudi Arabia; telehealth

Introduction

Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) is the most-widespread developmental disability: Its global prevalence has dramatically increased from a rate of 1 per 10,000 people in the 1980s to 1 per 68 people in 2016 [1]. However, in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia (KSA), there are no data about the number of cases of ASD, although it is estimated to be over 167,000 in a population of over 28 million people [2]. In addition, the services available for children with ASD in the cities do not meet the demand; as a result, some families are forced to travel to neighboring countries such as Jordan or overseas to countries such as the United States for these services [2]. Research worldwide aims to continually develop ways to improve interventions in order to ensure better lives for children with ASD and their families [3]; however, KSA is significantly lagging in relevant

RenderX

developments [4], because the methods developed in the West are not usually culturally suitable for KSA, particularly with regard to prescribed gender roles [1]. However, one method that might be effective is telehealth services. From this view point, we will review evidence from countries outside KSA that prove the effectiveness of telehealth in providing services to children with ASD. In addition, we will discuss the potential applications of this method in the Saudi context, and the challenges it may pose, in particular, due to cultural specificities. Further, we will provide recommendations to overcome these barriers. We performed a narrative literature review, as this is a useful method to develop recommendations for clinical practice [5]. Relevant literature was identified through an electronic keyword search of four databases (PubMed, Web of Science, Cumulative Index to Nursing & Allied Health Literature, and Scopus) using the search terms "telehealth,"

"family-centered approach" or "technology," in combination with the term "autism" (using the AND Boolean term), and dated up to April 2017. Broad search terms were used for their relevance to the research question and to reduce selection bias. However, the search was confined to peer-reviewed papers, as the literature review was not systematic; additionally, unpublished and grey literature was not considered appropriate for clinical practice, due to its low standard of evidence.

Telehealth Services for Children with Autism Spectrum Disorders

The most evidence-based intervention for children with autism is early behavior intervention [6], which has several advantages including its ability to be delivered by anyone with training, not only practitioners with advance degrees (such as clinical psychologists or therapists). Therefore, in early behavior interventions, even caregivers are practitioners, provided they have received training. In addition, the use of a family-centered approach to educate and support caregivers of children with ASD has been found to improve outcomes for children [7]. In this approach, the caregivers' needs are taken into account, and caregivers are trained to interact with children with ASD, without therapists assuming the knowledge of caregivers [8]. Russa and colleagues [9] concluded that ASD interventions are interdependent on caregivers and that active engagement of caregivers is key to positive outcomes. However, delivery of early behavior interventions and family-centered services face-to-face poses many barriers such as the scarcity of trained therapists, limited resources and services, low socioeconomic status of many families, lengthy waiting lists, and practical issues arising from the fact that these limited services are only available in major cities [10]. Therefore, it is important to determine ways to help caregivers adapt new methods to deliver interventions for ASD [10]. Due to the significant increase in the use of the computer and Internet in everyday life, telehealth services, which use technology to provide services from a distance to families with a child with ASD, could be an alternative and effective method of providing support [10]. This method has many advantages. First, the family can interact with an instructor directly via video, which potentially provides access to a greater range of expert therapists. Second, by providing caregivers with an opportunity to play an active role in the child's development, telehealth technology can empower caregivers and accelerate the diagnostic process [10,11].

Telehealth consists of a range of computerized software applications such as video conferencing, digital versatile discs, three-dimensional interactive programs, mobile phone apps, and telephone- and web-based tutorials [12]. Studies of telehealth-based parent training showed that the caregivers found the training programs convenient, practical, appropriate, and helpful for increasing their knowledge about evidence-based intervention methods [13-15]. In addition, studies reported positive changes in children's outcomes [3,10,11,16]. For instance, a study of North American families with children aged < 48 months who had ASD revealed that teaching parents the Early Start Denver Model intervention through videoconferencing and a web tutorial increased the rates of vocalization and joint attention initiation in children [3]. Similarly, a study of children aged 24-72 months with ASD in North America found that teaching parents an imitation intervention through remote coaching and self-directed online study increased spontaneous imitation in the children [10]. However, most studies included a small to very-small sample size; the only study with a reasonable sample size [13] did not measure children's outcomes and implemented the training with caregivers and professionals who worked with children with ASD (eg, teacher assistants). Another limitation is that the studies mostly included college-educated participants, although the principles of early behavior intervention state that it can be implemented even if one does not have an advance degree [13]. This limitation will be further discussed in the context of KSA.

Barriers and Challenges in Adopting Saudi Telehealth Services for Children with Autism Spectrum Disorders

In KSA, families of children with ASD, particularly those living in rural areas, encounter many difficulties when seeking support [4]. As mentioned earlier, the number of children with ASD is increasing, but services are only available in major cities. In addition, due to the limited resources, waiting times for appointments or family-centered approach sessions can take 8-12 weeks [17]. Moreover, several aspects, including the costs of travel and the service itself as well as the need to manage receipt of support for their child while maintaining jobs and fulfilling other responsibilities, lead to a significant strain on families living in rural areas of KSA [2,17,18]. For such families, telehealth could address many such issues and provide additional support to existing services. Telehealth services could be used as a tool for teaching strategies to improve the outcomes of children with ASD and their families [17,19]. However, the cultural context, beliefs, educational levels, and socioeconomic status of the KSA population need to be considered when selecting appropriate methods of intervention [18]. Furthermore, because telehealth services employ technology in a new way, research is required to identify a reliable, evidence-based telehealth framework and intervention program in order to deliver services from a distance in KSA.

The first issue is that in KSA culture, women assume the role of a homemaker and carer, whereas men provide for and protect the family, leaving the mothers with almost complete responsibility of caring for the children [20]. In addition, KSA culture dictates that men and women should always be separated (eg, in education, banking, and health), women should cover their faces in front of men, and some women are not allowed to have their picture taken [20]. These rules make communication between genders a sensitive issue [21]. In fact, face-to-face contact, including online communication, between men and women is prohibited by culture [21]. Therefore, in some cases, interventions or interviews with mothers of children with ASD are not allowed to be conducted by men without the presence of the mother's relatives [22]. This reduces opportunities for teleconference or video-conference for face-to-face sessions between the therapist and the child's mother, which could otherwise help the therapist provide

XSL•FO RenderX

recommendations, answer questions, and design an intervention strategy while observing the child through a camera in the child's home [23].

The second obstacle to the use of technology to provide assistance to families affected by ASD is the prerequisite that the family have a computer or mobile phone that can be used to access the internet, a high-speed internet connection, and information technology literacy [19]. Although 40% of KSA families living in rural areas are living below the breadline [24], by 2012, 95% of Saudi individuals had a mobile phone and mobile internet penetration was 70% [25]. As such, it is unlikely that parents of children with ASD do not have access to the internet, or at least a mobile phone, in some form.

The use of telehealth programs to assist families with a child with ASD requires training [19]. Thus far, studies that examined the effectiveness of telehealth in the context of ASD mostly recruited educated participants. However, KSA has overall poor education levels [18]. In rural areas, many mothers of children with ASD do not have a degree and have often not attended high school [18]; some of them are illiterate, which makes the use of technology extremely difficult [2,18,22]. In addition, the Saudi government does not provide sufficient education on the use of technology. Therefore, institutions such as public schools in rural areas are often unaware of the latest advances in technology [24].

The third problem with implementing a telehealth service in KSA is the need for Saudi mothers, as the principal carers, to talk to female, rather than male, therapists [26]. Although the health system allows a mix of genders in KSA, this is a male-dominated field with a low number of Saudi women [20,27]. Thus, the majority of female professionals in the KSA healthcare system are foreign workers, which often results in problems with the delivery of information because a translator, who is usually a non-expert, is needed [20,27]. In addition, many online applications are not in Arabic, and therefore, a team is required to translate the applications into Arabic. Furthermore, Saudi expertise in technology is limited [27].

Finally, the use of telehealth services requires caregivers to act as the child's ASD therapist, managing new strategies for care and using different technological methods of intervention from professionals [10]. However, Saudi families, especially mothers, historically have profound trust in healthcare professionals, which might deter them from assuming such an influential role in their child's intervention without a healthcare team [28].

In summary, introduction of technology to support families living with ASD in rural areas has many advantages, including flexibility. However, KSA is a traditional country where Islamic teachings and Arabic cultural values are strictly followed; therefore, such telehealth services need to be selected and implemented carefully. In addition, cultural factors such as the need to hire both male and female Arabic-speaking educators, gender roles, and educational levels need to be considered.

Recommendations for Best Practice

Since telehealth services have recently been introduced in KSA, many of the abovementioned barriers could prove detrimental to the success of this service. However, there is an evident need to help families with children with ASD who are living in rural areas [4]. The world revolves around technology, which enhances social interaction; facilitates knowledge sharing among health professionals, individuals with ASD, and the whole community; and will lead to positive change in the health sector (eg, through treatment plans) [28]. For example, the use of mobile internet technology such as WhatsApp has shown promising results in reducing stress through interventions in Saudi parents of children with ASD [29].

Considering the recent evidence, the government and health minister need to implement these telehealth services to assist families affected by ASD, through the use of technology, engaging both genders in the use of computers and up-to-date software. In addition, an increase in socialization between genders and the fact that this change might benefit children with ASD could positively affect the development of children and families by improving access to quality medical and behavioral services in the healthcare system [4]. However, occasionally, the distribution of physical training materials (eg, printed manuals) may be required to educate people in rural areas without internet access. Nonetheless, not all rural regions of KSA lack access to the internet, and as highlighted above, mobile phone ownership is now widespread, with extensive mobile internet penetration [25]; it would therefore be valuable to consider the use of telehealth services for such regions.

Many Saudi caregivers reported that their children were diagnosed with autism at the age of 7 years, because the hospitals in their area were not trained sufficiently to diagnose autism [22]. The caregivers had to refer the children to big cities for a diagnosis, which took months because of the limited number of professionals with the ability to diagnose the disorder. Evidence indicates that early intervention improves children's outcomes, and a delay in diagnosis can lead to a delay in early intervention services [28,30]. In this regard, the use of the Naturalistic Observation Diagnostic Assessment (NODA) SmartCapture, a mobile phone app for caregivers to record video evidence of a child's behavior in their natural environment (eg, the home), could help diagnosticians confirm the diagnostic assessment of ASD [11]. Using NODA, caregivers place the child in specific social scenarios to ensure that the recorded videos provide professionals with the necessary elements for a diagnosis [31]. The scenarios were designed with reference to the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 5th edition, criteria [32]. Preliminary research showed 91% agreement between diagnoses made using NODA and those made face-to-face previously by another professional [11].

The NODA method presents specific advantages for rural populations. First, families do not need to purchase relatively expensive equipment and pay for travel expenses, which makes the method cost effective and consequently, much more attractive than face-to-face visits [10,11]. In addition, families of children with ASD, who may dislike changes to their routine and social context, do not need to travel to large, unfamiliar cities, which evidently reduces stress [10]. Moreover, online assessment through videos would be more ecological, as the child would be in his or her natural environment. Although online assessments may lack reliability, Smith et al. [33]

XSL•FO RenderX

reported similar results between online and face-to-face clinician assessments of ASD in a prospective study of 50 families (88.2% agreement). Furthermore, 95% caregivers reported that NODA SmartCapture was easy to use and they were able to record videos in their homes successfully [34]. Therefore, NODA SmartCapture could improve the efficiency of the diagnostic process for ASD in KSA.

The uneven internet access in KSA could hamper the effectiveness of NODA in rural areas. Professionals should therefore consider the use of telephone services for diagnoses, as a standby option [16], as 95% of the population owns mobile phones [25]. Professionals could administer the Autism Diagnostic Interview-Revised (ADI-R) via the telephone [35]. The ADI-R is the gold standard test for the diagnosis of ASD. Research in diagnoses made by ADI-R showed that there is no significant difference between face-to-face interviews and those performed over the phone [35]. Once an ASD diagnosis has been established, we recommend that the family visit a major city for further assessment (eg, intellectual assessment), as there is limited evidence that these assessments can be performed via telehealth for ASD in young adults [36]. Although it is inconvenient that people receiving a diagnosis remotely need to travel to a major city for an intellectual assessment, this method will minimize the number and cost of trips and can therefore reduce the average age at which people in rural areas are diagnosed, thereby facilitating early interventions. Once a full assessment is conducted, the aim is to provide further support for interventions through telehealth (and occasionally printed materials), which will further reduce the number for trips needed. Moreover, remote consultations could minimize the burden on hospitals in major cities by identifying people whose behaviors are not symptomatic of ASD and who therefore do not need in-person consultation.

Second, web-based learning could be of immense help to the families of children with ASD after diagnosis, as it could potentially include video tutorials that highlight specific ASD behaviors and advise caregivers on the correct use of intervention strategies [37]. In KSA, the use of web-based learning is theoretically valuable and flexible, as it can be adapted to suit the cultural context of families of children with ASD [37]. In addition, although male therapists in KSA cannot train female caregivers face-to-face about behaviors of children with ASD, it would be acceptable for women to watch learning videos made by male therapists, as this does not represent direct contact. This is an additional advantage of telehealth in the Saudi context: The use of learning videos will allow therapists to train a wider population outside the major cities and reduce reliance on female trainers, which is necessary for delivering face-to-face training to female caregivers. Therefore, for Saudi female caregivers who cannot read or understand medical terms, such videos would be immensely useful. The website could also have a forum either using email or a method similar to email, so that caregivers can send and receive voice or text messages to their therapist, who could then provide instantaneous advice and support [3]. Since the Saudi culture is strict about communication between genders, the forums should be moderated by female staff through whom communication between female caregivers and male therapists could occur.

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e11402/
```

XSL•FO

Another method would be to develop a website that provides caregivers and the general public with resources such as information on autism symptoms, educational brochures, early interventions programs, strategies for dealing with issues at home, community activities, and local events [3]. In addition, it should allow caregivers to post anonymous conversational topics, tips, and progress updates about their child or any other information they may want to share [3]. In KSA, such a method could help resolve the separation issue between the genders, thereby helping them support each other, increasing awareness of other local families of children with ASD, and keeping them up-to-date on new interventions for ASD. This method would also help raise public awareness of ASD symptoms [22] and increase the probability of caregivers seeking treatment early, even in rural areas. As mentioned earlier, online training for families of children with ASD were as effective as face-to-face workshops [38].

Telehealth services could also benefit health professionals. Alqahtani [22] stated that many ASD therapists in KSA are not trained for the latest intervention strategies; as such, web-based learning could help update them on the latest research and intervention techniques [16]. For example, a preliminary study by Vismara et al. [38], including 10 therapists, showed that training therapists to use the Early Start Denver Model for ASD via telehealth was particularly effective, and Hamad et al. [13] found that a large sample of training therapists could significantly improve knowledge about early behavior intervention after e-learning.

Finally, a few different interventions have been tested through telehealth in recent years [39]. In most studies, the outcomes were positive [37,39], suggesting that telehealth could be applied to most interventions in practice. Providing caregivers with online coaching is conducive to achieving optimal outcomes. For instance, Ingersoll and Berger [40] found that parents of young children (aged 27-73 months) were more likely to engage in a social communication intervention (ImPACT Online) if, in addition to completing online lessons, they participated in 30-minute videoconferences with therapists twice per week, as compared to parents who only completed the online lessons. Notably, engagement in the group receiving only online lessons was high, and the lessons included a range of media such as slideshows, videos, quizzes, and reflective questions. Similarly, Pickard et al. [41] observed that in comparison to parents who completed a self-directed online study, parents who received additional online coaching via Skype were more likely to report improvements in communication in children aged 19-73 months. Lindgren et al. [42] reported that delivery of functional communication training through telehealth in the caregiver's home is as effective as that in a regional clinic and in-home therapy with respect to reducing problematic behaviors in children aged 21-48 months. However, home-based telehealth is the most affordable of these approaches. Collectively, these results suggest that online web-based lessons that use a range of media represent an effective and comparatively cost-effective method to improve outcomes in children with ASD and that their efficacy might be enhanced by online coaching. However, further research is needed to directly compare telehealth interventions in order to recommend the most-effective option;

this is even more important in light of publication bias, through which results less favorable than those of telehealth might not be published [39,43].

Conclusion

Although autism is becoming increasingly recognized as a disorder in KSA, there are limited services for autism in rural areas. Increased public awareness about the disorder is needed to meet the demand for adequate services, support, and research that are suitable to the Saudi culture. Although services and support can be found in major cities, this is not the case throughout the country. Alternative methods for assisting

families dealing with ASD can be potentially identified through technology. However, the use of technology involves many obstacles due to KSA's culture and religion. Adapting the technology accordingly could make a significant difference to the families with children with ASD. Moreover, telehealth services could allow healthcare professionals in KSA to interact with caregivers in rural areas, providing consultations, behavioral interventions, and other support. Furthermore, such methods may lead to more acceptance use of technology in society, in general. However, for this progressive, yet effective, method of support to gain momentum in KSA, research on its implementation is urgently required.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Alotaibi F, Dimitriadi Y, Kemp A. Perceptions of teachers using social stories for children with autism at special schools in Saudi Arabia. Journal of Education and Practice 2016;7(11):85-97.
- Alnemary FM, Aldhalaan HM, Simon-Cereijido G, Alnemary FM. Services for children with autism in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. Autism 2017 Dec;21(5):592-602. [doi: 10.1177/1362361316664868] [Medline: 28610540]
- Vismara LA, McCormick C, Young GS, Nadhan A, Monlux K. Preliminary findings of a telehealth approach to parent training in autism. J Autism Dev Disord 2013 Dec;43(12):2953-2969. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10803-013-1841-8</u>] [Medline: <u>23677382</u>]
- 4. Eid AM, Aljaser SM, AlSaud AN, Asfahani SM, Alhaqbani OA, Mohtasib RS, et al. Training Parents in Saudi Arabia to Implement Discrete Trial Teaching with their Children with Autism Spectrum Disorder. Behav Anal Pract 2017 Dec 10;10(4):402-406 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s40617-016-0167-3] [Medline: 29214136]
- 5. Polit D, Beck C. Essentials of Nursing Research. Methods, Appraisal and Utilization. 6th edition. Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2006:0781749727.
- 6. Aman MG. Treatment planning for patients with autism spectrum disorders. J Clin Psychiatry 2005;66 Suppl 10:38-45 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 16401149]
- 7. Dunst CJ, Trivette CM, Hamby DW. Meta analysis of familycentered helpgiving practices research. Ment Retard Dev Disabil Res Rev 2007;13(4):370-378. [doi: 10.1002/mrdd.20176] [Medline: 17979208]
- 8. Walker S, Riley D. Involvement of the personal social network as a factor in parent education effectiveness. Family Relations, 50(2) 2001 Apr 01;50(2):186-193. [doi: 10.1111/j.1741-3729.2001.00186.x]
- Russa MB, Matthews AL, Owen-DeSchryver JS. Expanding Supports to Improve the Lives of Families of Children With Autism Spectrum Disorder. Journal of Positive Behavior Interventions 2014 Apr 28;17(2):95-104. [doi: 10.1177/1098300714532134]
- Wainer AL, Ingersoll BR. Increasing Access to an ASD Imitation Intervention Via a Telehealth Parent Training Program. J Autism Dev Disord 2015 Dec 18;45(12):3877-3890. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10803-014-2186-7</u>] [Medline: <u>25035089</u>]
- Nazneen N, Rozga A, Smith CJ, Oberleitner R, Abowd GD, Arriaga RI. A Novel System for Supporting Autism Diagnosis Using Home Videos: Iterative Development and Evaluation of System Design. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2015 Jun 17;3(2):e68 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.4393] [Medline: 26085230]
- 12. Vismara LA, Young GS, Rogers SJ. Telehealth for expanding the reach of early autism training to parents. Autism Res Treat 2012;2012:121878 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2012/121878] [Medline: 23227334]
- 13. Hamad CD, Serna RW, Morrison L, Fleming R. Extending the Reach of Early Intervention Training for Practitioners: A Preliminary Investigation of an Online Curriculum for Teaching Behavioral Intervention Knowledge in Autism to Families and Service Providers. Infants Young Child 2010 Jul 1;23(3):195-208 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/IYC.0b013e3181e32d5e] [Medline: 23504540]
- 14. Howroyd C, Peeters T. Parent participation in early intervention with software-assisted guidance from AutismPro. Good Autism Practice 2007 Aug 04;8(2):31-36 [FREE Full text]
- 15. Jang J, Dixon DR, Tarbox J, Granpeesheh D, Kornack J, de Nocker Y. Randomized trial of an eLearning program for training family members of children with autism in the principles and procedures of applied behavior analysis. Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders 2012 Apr;6(2):852-856. [doi: 10.1016/j.rasd.2011.11.004]
- Zylstra SE. Evidence for the Use of Telehealth in Pediatric Occupational Therapy. Journal of Occupational Therapy, Schools, & Early Intervention 2013 Oct;6(4):326-355. [doi: 10.1080/19411243.2013.860765]

RenderX

- 17. Suppo J, Floyd K. Parent Training for Families who have Children with Autism: A Review of the Literature. Rural Special Education Quarterly 2017 Apr 12;31(2):12-26. [doi: 10.1177/875687051203100203]
- Hussein H, Taha GR, Almanasef A. Characteristics of autism spectrum disorders in a sample of egyptian and saudi patients: transcultural cross sectional study. Child Adolesc Psychiatry Ment Health 2011 Nov 03;5:34 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1753-2000-5-34] [Medline: 22051160]
- 19. Meadan H, Snodgrass MR, Meyer LE, Fisher KW, Chung MY, Halle JW. Internet-Based Parent-Implemented Intervention for Young Children With Autism. Journal of Early Intervention 2016 Mar 18;38(1):3-23. [doi: 10.1177/1053815116630327]
- 20. Elamin AM, Omair K. Males' attitudes towards working females in Saudi Arabia. Personnel Review 2010 Sep 21;39(6):746-766. [doi: 10.1108/00483481011075594]
- 21. Al-Saggaf Y, Williamson K. Online communities in Saudi Arabiavaluating the impact on culture through online semi-structured interviews. Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung/Forum: Qualitative Social Research 2004;5(3):E [FREE Full text]
- 22. Alqahtani M. Understanding autism in Saudi Arabia: A qualitative analysis of the community and cultural context. Journal of Pediatric Neurology 2011 Mar 17;10(1):15-22 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3233/JPN-2012-0527]
- 23. Gibbs V, Toth-Cohen S. Family-centered occupational therapy and telerehabilitation for children with autism spectrum disorders. Occup Ther Health Care 2011 Oct;25(4):298-314. [doi: 10.3109/07380577.2011.606460] [Medline: 23899082]
- 24. Rahman G. Use of computers among students of dental college in Saudi Arabia. J Educ Ethics Dent 2011;1(1):12. [doi: 10.4103/0974-7761.93413]
- 25. Alshehri H, Meziane F. Current state on internet growth and usage in Saudi Arabia and its ability to support e-commerce development. Journal of Advanced Management Science 2017;5(2):127-132. [doi: 10.18178/joams.5.2.127132]
- 26. Al-Rowais NA, Al Bedah AM, Khalil MK, El Olemy AT, Khalil AA, Alrasheid MH, et al. Knowledge and attitudes of primary health care physicians towards complementary and alternative medicine in the Riyadh region, Saudi Arabia. Forsch Komplementmed 2012;19(1):7-12. [doi: 10.1159/000335814] [Medline: 22398920]
- 27. Al-Khashan HI, Almulla NA, Galil SA, Rabbulnabi AA, Mishriky AM. Gender differences in health education needs and preferences of Saudis attending Riyadh Military Hospital in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. J Family Community Med 2012 Sep;19(3):172-177 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4103/2230-8229.102317] [Medline: 23230383]
- 28. Parsons S, Yuill N, Good J, Brosnan M, Austin L, Singleton C, Barnabear. What Technology for Autism Needs to be Invented? Idea Generation from the Autism Community via the ASCmeI.T. App. In: Miesenberger K, Bühler C, Penaz P, editors. International Conference on Computers Helping People with Special Needs. Cham: Springer; Jul 06, 2016:343-350.
- 29. Hemdi A, Daley D. The Effectiveness of a Psychoeducation Intervention delivered via WhatsApp for mothers of children with Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia: A randomized controlled trial. Child Care Health Dev 2017 Dec;43(6):933-941. [doi: 10.1111/cch.12520] [Medline: 28929582]
- 30. Chi N, Demiris G. A systematic review of telehealth tools and interventions to support family caregivers. J Telemed Telecare 2015 Jan;21(1):37-44 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1357633X14562734] [Medline: 25475220]
- Nazneen N, Matthews N, Smith CJ, Rozga A, Abowd GD, Oberleitner R, et al. Use of a Novel Imaging Technology for Remote Autism Diagnosis: A Reflection on Experience of Stakeholders. Procedia Manufacturing 2015;3:293-300. [doi: 10.1016/j.promfg.2015.07.153]
- Lavelle TA, Weinstein MC, Newhouse JP, Munir K, Kuhlthau KA, Prosser LA. Economic burden of childhood autism spectrum disorders. Pediatrics 2014 Mar;133(3):e520-e529 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1542/peds.2013-0763</u>] [Medline: <u>24515505</u>]
- 33. Smith CJ, Rozga A, Matthews N, Oberleitner R, Nazneen N, Abowd G. Investigating the accuracy of a novel telehealth diagnostic approach for autism spectrum disorder. Psychol Assess 2017 Dec;29(3):245-252 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/pas0000317] [Medline: 27196689]
- 34. American PA. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 5th Edition: DSM-5. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association; 2013.
- Ward-King J, Cohen IL, Penning H, Holden JJA. Brief report: telephone administration of the autism diagnostic interview--revised: reliability and suitability for use in research. J Autism Dev Disord 2010 Oct;40(10):1285-1290. [doi: 10.1007/s10803-010-0987-x] [Medline: 20195733]
- Temple V, Drummond C, Valiquette S, Jozsvai E. A comparison of intellectual assessments over video conferencing and in-person for individuals with ID: preliminary data. J Intellect Disabil Res 2010 Jun;54(6):573-577. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2788.2010.01282.x] [Medline: 20576065]
- Kobak KA, Stone WL, Wallace E, Warren Z, Swanson A, Robson K. A web-based tutorial for parents of young children with autism: results from a pilot study. Telemed J E Health 2011 Dec;17(10):804-808 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2011.0060] [Medline: 22011005]
- Vismara LA, Young GS, Stahmer AC, Griffith EM, Rogers SJ. Dissemination of evidence-based practice: can we train therapists from a distance? J Autism Dev Disord 2009 Dec;39(12):1636-1651 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10803-009-0796-2] [Medline: 19582564]
- 39. Sutherland R, Trembath D, Roberts J. Telehealth and autism: A systematic search and review of the literature. Int J Speech Lang Pathol 2018 Jun;20(3):324-336. [doi: 10.1080/17549507.2018.1465123] [Medline: 29709201]

RenderX

- Ingersoll B, Berger NI. Parent Engagement With a Telehealth-Based Parent-Mediated Intervention Program for Children With Autism Spectrum Disorders: Predictors of Program Use and Parent Outcomes. J Med Internet Res 2015 Oct 06;17(10):e227 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4913] [Medline: 26443557]
- 41. Pickard KE, Wainer AL, Bailey KM, Ingersoll BR. A mixed-method evaluation of the feasibility and acceptability of a telehealth-based parent-mediated intervention for children with autism spectrum disorder. Autism 2016 Dec;20(7):845-855. [doi: 10.1177/1362361315614496] [Medline: 26862084]
- 42. Lindgren S, Wacker D, Suess A, Schieltz K, Pelzel K, Kopelman T, et al. Telehealth and Autism: Treating Challenging Behavior at Lower Cost. Pediatrics 2016 Feb;137 Suppl 2(2):S167-S175 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.2015-28510] [Medline: 26908472]
- 43. Kühberger A, Fritz A, Scherndl T. Publication bias in psychology: a diagnosis based on the correlation between effect size and sample size. PLoS One 2014;9(9):e105825 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0105825] [Medline: 25192357]

Abbreviations

ADI-R: Autism Diagnostic Interview-Revised
ASD: Autism Spectrum Disorder
KSA: Kingdom of Saudi Arabia
NODA: Naturalistic Observation Diagnostic Assessment

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 26.06.18; peer-reviewed by H Al-Samarraie, A Bashir, TW Yung; comments to author 26.07.18; revised version received 18.08.18; accepted 01.11.18; published 15.11.18.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Alkhalifah S, Aldhalaan H Telehealth Services for Children With Autism Spectrum Disorders in Rural Areas of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia: Overview and Recommendations JMIR Pediatr Parent 2018;1(2):e11402 URL: <u>http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e11402/</u> doi:10.2196/11402 PMID:31518306

©Shahad Alkhalifah, Hesham Aldhalaan. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 15.11.2018. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Engaging Men in Prenatal Health via eHealth: Findings From a National Survey

Michael Mackert^{1,2}, PhD; Marie Guadagno^{1,2}, PhD; Allison Lazard³, PhD; Erin Donovan¹, PhD; Aaron Rochlen⁴, PhD; Alexandra Garcia², RN, FAA, PhD; Manuel José Damásio⁵, PhD; Brittani Crook¹, PhD

¹Center for Health Communication, The University of Texas at Austin, Austin, TX, United States

²Department of Population Health, Dell Medical School, Austin, TX, United States

- ⁴Department of Educational Psychology, The University of Texas at Austin, Austin, TX, United States
- ⁵Departamento de Cinema e comunicação Multimédia, Universidade Lusófona de Humanidades e Tecnologias, Lisbon, Portugal

Corresponding Author:

Marie Guadagno, PhD Center for Health Communication The University of Texas at Austin 1 University Station A1200 Austin, TX, 78712 United States Phone: 1 5172143200 Email: mariea@utexas.edu

Abstract

Background: Pregnancy outcomes in the United States rank among the worst of countries with a developed health care system. Although traditional prenatal health primarily focuses on women, promising findings have emerged in international research that suggest the potential of including men in prenatal health interventions in the United States. eHealth apps present a promising avenue to reach new and expectant fathers with crucial parenting knowledge and healthy, supportive behaviors.

Objective: The aim was to explore the perceived role of men in prenatal health, acceptability of eHealth to positively engage men during pregnancy, and participant-suggested ways of improving a prenatal health app designed for new and expectant fathers.

Methods: A nationally representative sample of adult males (N=962) was recruited through an online survey panel. A third-party market research and digital data collection agency managed the recruitment. The sample had a mean age of 30.2 (SD 6.3) years and included both fathers (413/962, 42.9%) and non-fathers (549/962, 57.1%). Nearly 12.0% (115/962) of participants had a partner who was pregnant at the time of the survey.

Results: Despite perceived barriers, such as time constraints, financial burdens, and an unclear role, men believe it is important to be involved in pregnancy health. The majority of participants (770/944, 81.6%) found the site to contain useful and interesting information. Most substantially, more than three-quarters (738/962, 76.7%) of the sample said they would share the site with others who would benefit from the information. Participants recommended the addition of interactive modules, such as a financial planning tool and videos, to make the site stronger.

Conclusions: We explored the use of targeted eHealth to introduce men to prenatal education. Results indicate men are favorable to this intervention. Additional refinement should include interactive tools to further engage men in this important issue. Reaching men at the prenatal phase is an early "teachable moment"—where new/expectant fathers are open to information on how to help their partners have a healthy pregnancy and promote the health of their unborn children. Findings will further inform best practices for engaging men in pregnancy, which is crucial for improving maternal and child health outcomes in the United States.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2018;1(2):e7) doi:10.2196/pediatrics.9513

KEYWORDS

health communication; fathering; expectant fathers; prenatal health

³School of Media and Journalism, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, Chapel Hill, NC, United States

Introduction

Maternal and infant mortality rates in the United States rank among the worst of all high-income countries. The most recent vital statistics reports estimate 6.15 infant deaths per 1000 live births and 15.8 to 28.0 maternal deaths per 100,000 live births—with marked disparities in outcomes among different races/ethnicities [1,2]. It is estimated that 60,000 women each year also suffer severe pregnancy-related issues considered "near-miss" maternal mortality [2]. Improving these outcomes is a goal of the US Healthy People 2020 initiative as well as a target of the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals. Health care access and social support during pregnancy can reduce risks that are known to drive maternal and infant mortality and morbidity [2,3].

To combat burdensome pregnancy outcomes, public health interventions and social marketing campaigns have played a key part in disseminating important information [4-6]. These interventions have been beneficial in promoting prenatal visits to health care providers, reducing mother-to-child transmission of diseases, and increasing breastfeeding practices [4,7,8]. Despite the success of these interventions, they have typically left male partners outside of a defined role in prenatal health care [9-12].

The inclusion of men in pregnancy-related education programs has been shown to increase provider visits during pregnancy, reduce maternal-fetus HIV transmission, and bolster postpartum best practices such as breastfeeding [13]. Research also suggests that positive male involvement during pregnancy is directly associated with positive male engagement in the formative days of a child's life. The effect of involving men in pregnancy-related decisions has been shown to open up communication between the partners and increase the father's efficacy in caring for the child [14].

Even though international research indicates that including men in these initiatives can improve outcomes, pregnancy continues to be a domain where men feel "invisible" and "sidelined"-prompting calls for interventions that educate and engage men on prenatal health topics [5,9,10]. Due to multiple factors, such as negative attitudes of health providers and time constraints, men are left feeling generally unwelcome in the arena of prenatal health. Research has identified several perceived barriers to men being involved in pregnancy-related health issues. These include having to work, having no time, having an unclear role, cultural norms, and the expense of such programs [10,11,15]. Given these commonly cited obstacles, the potential of using electronic health (eHealth) to educate men and motivate them to be more involved in prenatal health is encouraging [11,15]. eHealth has the ability to reach difficult-to-reach audiences, such as men, and to target information that may resonate better than existing programs designed predominantly for women.

The purpose of this study was to confirm promising pilot results on the perceived role of men in prenatal health and the potential of eHealth to reach them with information to increase their involvement in prenatal health (eg, attending prenatal visits to health care providers) [11,15]. This national survey stands to contribute to the body of research on how to encourage men to be positively involved in pregnancy to promote better health outcomes in the United States.

Methods

Participants, Recruitment, and Procedures

After Institutional Review Board approval, 962 adult males aged 18 to 40 years participated in the nationally representative survey. Recruitment and surveying occurred from March to May 2016. Participants were recruited from enrolled members of an invite-only research panel conducted by a third-party research firm that specializes in digital data collection. The participants had to opt-in to the study if they met survey criteria, which required participants to be adult males (aged ≥ 18 years). There was no upper age limit. The participants earned online credits for their participation in applicable surveys. Consent language and study contact information was provided before participants continued to the survey. All participants had to select "I consent to the protocol of this study" before viewing the content of the survey. The IP addresses were used to identify potential duplicate entries from the same user. Participation took between 10 to 30 minutes, with 94.4% (908/962) of the participants finishing within that timeframe. Prior to analysis, 64 surveys were dropped from the study because they were either blank or partially completed in less than 90 seconds. These 64 are not included in the final N=962.

The sample had a mean age of 30.2 (SD 6.3) years and included both fathers (413/962, 42.9%) and non-fathers (549/962, 57.1%). Nearly 12% (115/962) of participants had a partner who was pregnant at the time of the survey. The decision to include all men, not just those who were fathers or seeking to become fathers, was made due to the fact that half of all pregnancies in the United States are unplanned. This is intended as a population-level intervention, where all men in general can benefit from this knowledge.

Overall, 66.0% of the sample identified as white (634/962), 14.0% as African American (135/962), 9.9% as Asian (96/962), and the remainder as biracial, multiracial, or other (97/962, 10.1%). One-quarter (240/962, 24.9%) of the sample had received a high school diploma or GED, 20.9% (202/962) reported having some college experience, and more than half (510/962, 53.0%) reported having a college degree or higher. Most (814/962, 84.6%) agreed that they use the internet to look up health-related information.

Site Development and Measures

The research was modeled after previous studies on the use of technology to engage hard-to-reach populations [16]. Participants were first asked to answer questions surrounding their perceptions of the role of men in pregnancy health, their attitudes toward prenatal health programs, their ideas on how to get men involved in pregnancy, and their use/nonuse of technology when searching for health information.

Mackert et al

Figure 1. Screenshot of the Men's Pregnancy Playbook website.



Participants were then directed to navigate through the content. The site was external to the survey, allowing participants to browse and explore the content. The content of the website was written by researchers whose expertise cover perinatal health, health promotion and education, visual communication, and eHealth. The content also reflected information found in the women-focused pregnancy app, My Pregnancy Today, which included an easy-to-understand visual growth chart for fetal development.

The content of the website was intended to span across the prenatal, perinatal, and infancy phases of having a baby—from the time the parents find out about the pregnancy to approximately 1 year of age. The educational modules incorporated themes such as financial preparation, nutritional wellness, breastfeeding information, the importance of a birth plan, and how to recognize obstetric emergencies.

The website was built with a responsive design approach, which ensures content is optimally shown in the users' environment and not platform specific. Drawing from popular social media formatting, participants could access a module's content by clicking on icons, title, or description on the home page or from the navigation bar (see Figure 1). Guidelines from the Centers for Disease Control for ensuring clear communication—such as sufficient use of white space, consistent headings, relevant visuals, and plain language—were followed during development [17]. After exploring the website, participants were asked questions using 7-point Likert scales from 1 (strongly disagree) to 7 (strongly agree). They were also asked open-ended questions related to site content, such as what they found most useful and what could be done to make the content better. The questions were guided by previous work done on engaging men in prenatal and pregnancy health [10,15]. An adequate level of health literacy was found among the sample and was identified using three valid and reliable self-report items reported by Chew et al [18]. All content and survey questions were in English.

Analysis

Both qualitative and quantitative methods were used to analyze the data. Descriptive statistics were used for the quantitative elements of the survey, including means, medians, and standard deviations. A mean score of greater than 5 on a 7-point scale was considered a positive validation. For the qualitative elements, a graduate student researcher and a faculty member of the research team conducted a thematic analysis by independently reviewing each written-in, open-ended answer for relevant and recurring topics.

Results

Results are organized by the relevant themes that emerged during analysis. Results of the 7-point Likert scale items, taken both preexposure and postexposure to the app, are included in Table 1.



 Table 1. Pre- and post-website exposure survey questions (N=962).

Item	Preexposure, mean (SD)	Postexposure, mean (SD)
It is important for a father to be involved in pregnancy health.	5.8 (1.4)	
I would attend a prenatal health class at a clinic or doctor's office.	5.6 (1.4)	
I want to be involved in pregnancy health when the time comes.	5.7 (1.4)	
I believe knowing about pregnancy is useful.		5.8 (1.4)
It is important to know about things that could hurt your baby during pregnancy.		5.8 (1.3)
If I know about things that could hurt my unborn baby, I will try to help my partner avoid them.		5.9 (1.3)
I can take a lot of action to ensure my baby is healthy.		5.8 (1.3)
I am concerned that my baby will not be healthy.		4.9 (1.7)
Complications and unhealthiness can be life-threatening to a baby.		5.8 (1.4)
Complications and unhealthiness can be life-threatening to a woman.		5.8 (1.3)
It is hard to make sure my baby is healthy because I am not the one who is pregnant.		4.9 (1.6)
I thought this website was easy to use.		5.7 (1.3)
This website contained useful information.		5.7 (1.3)
I would use website like this to learn more about pregnancy.		5.6 (1.3)
I would prefer to have this website in an app form.		5.0 (1.6)

Role of Men in Prenatal Health

Participants felt strongly that it is important for a father to be involved in pregnancy health (mean 5.8, SD 1.4) and that it is important to know about things that could hurt an unborn baby during pregnancy, such as second-hand smoke (mean 5.8, SD 1.3). Participants strongly agreed that if they knew about things what could hurt an unborn baby, they would do their best to help their partner avoid them during pregnancy (mean 5.9, SD 1.3). Although most agreed that it could be hard for men to be involved in pregnancy health (eg, getting mixed-messages about what partners want; 583/962, 61.0%), there was strong support for getting positively involved in pregnancy health when the time came in their own lives (mean 5.7, SD 1.4). One participant explained:

I have one child and finding information online was a big help. Whenever there were things we didn't understand immediately we looked online then spoke to doctor to validate at next visit. But I think society in general doesn't give fathers enough credit and makes them less important so it is easy to be discouraged to be involved...

Visual Elements and Site Relevance

Participants were asked a series of questions regarding the overall look and feel of the site as well as how relevant the site information was to their lives. The majority of men (698/962, 72.6%) responded positively to the graphics on the site, indicating they liked the overall look of the illustrations and color scheme. Participants agreed that the layout was well structured (mean 5.57, SD 1.35) and that the site looked cohesive (mean 5.47, SD 1.34). The majority also felt that there was "just

the right amount of information on the site" (684/962, 71.1%) and that they understood all the information presented (770/962, 80.0%). A participant wrote in:

I appreciated the inviting graphic design and clean, simple layout. The site was logically formatted and contained useful and easily digestible information.

Usefulness of Content and Future Use

Participants were asked how useful and interesting they found each content module (eg, breastfeeding information) and indicated the content on financial preparation was most *useful* (756/962, 79.0%; mean 5.7, SD 1.3) followed very closely by the nutrition information (754/962, 78.4%; mean 5.6, SD 1.3). In terms of what the sample found most *interesting*, the financial preparation module was also highly rated (750/962, 78.0%; mean 5.6, SD 1.3), followed by the module on how to support a partner with changing emotions during pregnancy (732/962, 76.1%; mean 5.6, SD 1.3) and the nutrition information (740/962, 76.9%; mean 5.6, SD 1.3).

Participants generally agreed that they would use this website in the future if they were expecting a baby (698/945, 73.9%; mean 5.3, SD 1.4). The majority (717/950, 75.5%) felt that using a site such as this would improve their ability to plan and prepare for the arrival of a new baby. A respondent wrote in:

I like that this website exists at all. I have no idea how to prepare for a baby and this is the kind of website I would look for to prepare for it.

Most substantially, results indicate that more than three-quarters of the sample said they would share the site with others who would benefit from the information (738/962, 76.7%).

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

$\mathbf{T}_{\mathbf{u}}$	Table 2.	Significant	differences;	fathers versu	s non-fathers	(N=962).
---------------------------	----------	-------------	--------------	---------------	---------------	----------

Item	Fathers, mean (SD)	Non-fathers, mean (SD)	$t \text{ test } (df^{a})$	P value
I think about the health of my family and friends a lot.	5.67 (1.39)	5.28 (1.46)	4.23 (946)	<.001
It is important for a father to be involved in pregnancy health.	6.02 (1.30)	5.70 (1.46)	3.51 (944)	<.001
I would attend a prenatal health class at a clinic or doctor's office.	5.75 (1.37)	5.43 (1.50)	3.29 (946)	.001
I want to get involved in pregnancy health when the time comes.	5.92 (1.13)	5.48 (1.48)	4.84 (941)	<.001
I understand how my partner wants me to be involved in her pregnancy.	5.60 (1.34)	4.90 (1.55)	7.31 (943)	<.001
I use the internet to look up health information.	5.69 (1.37)	5.49 (1.43)	2.11 (941)	.04
This website is designed for someone like me.	5.19 (1.40)	4.86 (1.5)	3.39 (943)	.001
I can relate to the information on this site.	5.44 (1.39)	4.77 (1.51)	7.01 (942)	<.001

^adf: degrees of freedom.

Site Improvement

Participants were asked to write in ways to improve the current website and their suggestions were wide-ranging: from adding videos ("Maybe add a few how-to videos about the pregnancy process and live chat with an expert...") to personalizing the experience by allowing users to input personal information, such as finances, to make the content more tailored. The need for dynamic and interactive information was well represented in their responses. One participant suggested:

Provide tools for the financial support: how much does a newborn cost-plug in your numbers and see how it will impact your weekly budget...Really, this is a good resource for men to get involved and take ownership of the pregnancy process, but it seems to be a bit limited on content.

Another said:

This touched the surface, but if I were interested in the financial aspects, give me links to resources to help set up savings plans, budget plans, etc.

A participant also expressed the want for an easy-to-use checklist:

I would like to see a checklist for the arrival of the baby what to buy or what to do the day when it's time to go to hospital to have the baby.

Several participants suggested adding external links to reputable health care sites or for further reading into the topic. One stated:

There should be obvious links in each section when the user wants to learn more about a particular topic there should be (a) more detailed sources and (b) ways to access local resources near the user's location.

The additions of a search bar to easily search for topics of interest and a forum for health care providers to answer questions were also recommended.

Fathers Versus Non-Fathers

Independent-sample t tests were used to find significant differences among respondents. In particular, key differences among those who reported having children versus those who reported not having children were found. Men who indicated

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e7/
```

that their partners were currently pregnant with their first child were included in the "non-fathers" group for this analysis. Table 2 details the differences between these two groups of participants.

Discussion

Importance of Male Engagement

Increasing positive male involvement in pregnancy is a promising approach to improving maternal and child health outcomes in the United States. International research indicates the inclusion of fathers in prenatal education can help families recognize emergencies and better prepare for birth [5,13]. The level of male involvement during pregnancy is also directly associated with their postnatal engagement [14], which has been found to play a positive role in infant breastfeeding and sleeping best practices. The findings of this particular study answer a call for how to positively engage men in pregnancy health-moving beyond traditional interventions that only target women [19,20]. A preliminary investigation demonstrated the potential of using eHealth to engage men in this issue, and a subsequent study built on that with targeted content developed specifically for men [15,21]. The findings of this national survey confirm this is an effective way to expose men to this important content.

Recurring results show that men—even those who are not yet fathers or thinking about fatherhood—are interested in learning about pregnancy health and ways to ensure their future children are born healthy. The app is intended to be a population-level intervention to improve knowledge of healthy pregnancy behaviors across the general population. In prior studies, all adult males, regardless of sexual orientation, marital status, father status, etc, have been invited to participate. The content of this app is intended for males as partners, but there exist many forms of male involvement in pregnancy, such as being a support system for one's family member in a multigenerational household.

Findings also indicate that men feel unsure of how to be involved and often face barriers such as time and financial constraints. Research on how best to remove these obstacles (eg, by training health care providers on how to make male partners feel welcome) is necessary to move the needle in terms

of positive male engagement in pregnancy. Exploring innovative ways to communicate with this difficult-to-reach audience, such as through eHealth, are crucial.

Future Research and Implications

The evaluation of the site was favorable and, perhaps more substantially, three-quarters of participants said they would share the site with others. This suggests a well-designed intervention could spread quickly to disseminate this kind of information. It also suggests an interest and need for content designed to help men meet recognized needs, such as emotional and financial support, during their partner's pregnancy.

Participants' suggestions for improvement represent the logical next steps in development: moving from a relatively small selection of static modules to interactive tools that "live" on a mobile phone as an app. Future iterations can also tailor information based on cultural, socioeconomic, and geographic factors. Social networking and sharing (eg, forums) may also be central to keeping men engaged. Men expressed their willingness to use a similar site in the future, but this study did not track participants' actual behavior over time. Future research must link intent to behavior change in order to give a full picture of the usefulness of this type of intervention.

It is important to point out that, similar to women, men are not a monolith. Tailoring the app's content to various audiences is critical if the content is to resonate. Expanding the app to meet the needs of Spanish-speaking men is a practical next step in development given the population growth of Latinos in the United States. This will require formative research into the cultural nuances of pregnancy that may differ from what is in the current app. By using participant feedback, the content can reach a balance between being broadly applicable and using evidence-based recommendations, but still personalized.

Finally, an app such as this can provide important data for public health researchers and practitioners. Secure data surrounding indicators such as father's attendance at prenatal visits can be collected and analyzed to evaluate the effectiveness of the intervention. This data could inform health care providers' ability to engage fathers during visits, explain the importance of paternal involvement in supporting prenatal health, and help everyone involved consider expectant fathers as important and active partners in supporting maternal and child health.

Limitations

There are several limitations to this study that must be discussed. The first is that this was an online survey and participants were selected through a third-party research firm; as with most research activities, there is potential for biases in response. This survey was available only to men who had internet access and may not have captured the attitudes and beliefs of men who are not online. However, research indicates that nearly 90% of adult males in the United States are online [22]. The minority of men who are not online tend to skew older (>65 years) and are not the target demographic for this eHealth intervention.

Secondly, more than half of the sample (510/962, 53.0%) reported having at least a college degree or higher. This is significantly more than the 32% of US males who hold a college degree [23] and, therefore, the sample is not representative of all education levels. Finally, the survey was presented in English only and may not reflect the attitudes of non-English-speaking US males. The next stage of app development is to release a Spanish version. This will entail going beyond just simple English-to-Spanish translation and will require formative research with Spanish-speaking males to assess their needs as new/expectant fathers.

Although the sample was nationally representative of race/ethnic diversity, the population skewed white: with 66.0% of the sample identifying as white (634/962), 14.0% as African American (135/962), 9.9% as Asian (96/962), and the remainder as biracial, multiracial, or other (97/962). This app is designed for population-level reach, but there may be elements that may not resonate within certain racial/ethnic cultures of the United States.

Lastly, men's perceptions of their roles and responsibilities in pregnancy health may be influenced by factors not assessed in this study. These include cultural norms and perceptions of gender roles, the relationship status of the father and mother during pregnancy, whether the pregnancy was intended or not, and more. Future research should seek to explore these influential factors and how they shape perceptions of positive involvement in pregnancy.

Conclusions

This type of eHealth intervention, particularly once developed and delivered as a mobile app that can include ongoing interaction and data collection, could be a powerful tool for improving maternal and child health outcomes. It also serves as an example of how eHealth interventions can be effectively designed and deployed to reach nontraditional audiences, such as young men, and to address public health issues. Finally, reaching men at the prenatal phase can be considered an early "teachable moment"—where new/expectant fathers are open to information about how to help their partners have a healthy pregnancy and promote the health of their unborn children.

Acknowledgments

This research was funded by the UT Austin|Portugal International Collaboratory for Emerging Technologies; funding supported site development, data collection, and faculty time on the investigation. The authors had full access to all the data in the study and take responsibility for the integrity of the data and accuracy of the data analysis.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.



References

- Kassebaum N, Bertozzi-Villa A, Coggeshall M, Shackelford K, Steiner C, Heuton K, et al. Global, regional, and national levels and causes of maternal mortality during 1990-2013: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. Lancet 2014 Sep 13;384(9947):980-1004 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(14)60696-6] [Medline: 24797575]
- Creanga AA, Berg CJ, Ko JY, Farr SL, Tong VT, Bruce FC, et al. Maternal mortality and morbidity in the United States: where are we now? J Womens Health (Larchmt) 2014 Jan;23(1):3-9 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/jwh.2013.4617] [Medline: 24383493]
- 3. United Nations. 2015. Sustainable Development Goals URL: <u>http://www.un.org/sustainabledevelopment/</u> sustainable-development-goals/ [accessed 2017-11-27] [WebCite Cache ID 6vIO131wt]
- 4. Alcalay R, Ghee A, Scrimshaw S. Designing prenatal care messages for low-income Mexican women. Public Health Rep 1993;108(3):354-362 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 8497574]
- 5. Shefner-Rogers CL, Sood S. Involving husbands in safe motherhood: effects of the SUAMI SIAGA campaign in Indonesia. J Health Commun 2004;9(3):233-258. [doi: 10.1080/10810730490447075] [Medline: 15360036]
- 6. Thomas KB, Hauser K, Rodriguez NY, Quinn GP. Folic acid promotion for Hispanic women in Florida: a vitamin diary study. Health Educ J 2010 May 04;69(3):344-352 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0017896910364833]
- Sebert KA, Kraft JM, Galavotti C, Creek TL, Mooki M, Ntumy R. Radio role models for the prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV and HIV testing among pregnant women in Botswana. Health Promot Int 2008 Sep;23(3):260-268. [doi: <u>10.1093/heapro/dan011</u>] [Medline: <u>18407924</u>]
- 8. Farquhar C, Kiarie JN, Richardson BA, Kabura MN, John FN, Nduati RW, et al. Antenatal couple counseling increases uptake of interventions to prevent HIV-1 transmission. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 2004 Dec 15;37(5):1620-1626 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 15577420]
- 9. Gervais C, de Montigny F, Lacharité C, St-Arneault K. Where fathers fit in Quebec's perinatal health care services system and what they need. Psychol Men Masculin 2016 Jun;17(2):126-136. [doi: 10.1037/a0039558]
- 10. Widarsson M, Kerstis B, Sundquist K, Engström G, Sarkadi A. Support needs of expectant mothers and fathers: a qualitative study. J Perinat Educ 2012 Jan;21(1):36-44 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1891/1058-1243.21.1.36] [Medline: 23277729]
- 11. Da Costa D, Zelkowitz P, Letourneau N, Howlett A, Dennis C, Russell B, et al. HealthyDads.ca: what do men want in a website designed to promote emotional wellness and healthy behaviors during the transition to parenthood? J Med Internet Res 2017 Oct 11;19(10):e325 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7415] [Medline: 29021126]
- 12. Carter MW. 'Because he loves me': husbands' involvement in maternal health in Guatemala. Cult Health Sex 2002 Jan;4(3):259-279. [doi: 10.1080/13691050110112784] [Medline: 26281194]
- 13. Mullany BC, Becker S, Hindin MJ. The impact of including husbands in antenatal health education services on maternal health practices in urban Nepal: results from a randomized controlled trial. Health Educ Res 2007 Apr;22(2):166-176. [doi: 10.1093/her/cyl060] [Medline: 16855015]
- 14. Zvara B, Schoppe-Sullivan S, Dush CM. Fathers' involvement in child health care: associations with prenatal involvement, parents' beliefs, and maternal gatekeeping. Fam Relat 2013 Oct;62(4):649-661 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/fare.12023] [Medline: 26405366]
- 15. Mackert M, Guadagno M, Donovan E, Whitten P. Including men in prenatal health: the potential of e-health to improve birth outcomes. Telemed J E Health 2015 Mar;21(3):207-212. [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2014.0048] [Medline: 25489723]
- Mackert M, Love B, Whitten P. Patient education on mobile devices: an e-health intervention for low health literate audiences. J Inf Sci 2008 Jul 03;35(1):82-93. [doi: <u>10.1177/0165551508092258</u>]
- 17. National Institutes of Health. 2003. Clear & simple: developing effective print materials for low-literate readers URL: <u>https://www.nih.gov/institutes-nih/nih-office-director/office-communications-public-liaison/clear-communication/clear-simple</u> [accessed 2017-11-27] [WebCite Cache ID 6vIOXtUlu]
- Chew LD, Griffin JM, Partin MR, Noorbaloochi S, Grill JP, Snyder A, et al. Validation of screening questions for limited health literacy in a large VA outpatient population. J Gen Intern Med 2008 May;23(5):561-566 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-008-0520-5] [Medline: 18335281]
- Bond MJ. The missing link in MCH: paternal involvement in pregnancy outcomes. Am J Mens Health 2010 Dec;4(4):285-286. [doi: <u>10.1177/1557988310384842</u>] [Medline: <u>21131334</u>]
- 20. Guadagno M, Mackert M, Rochlen A. Improving prenatal health: setting the agenda for increased male involvement. Am J Mens Health 2013 Nov;7(6):523-526. [doi: 10.1177/1557988313490785] [Medline: 23727791]
- 21. Mackert M, Guadagno M, Lazard A, Donovan E, Rochlen A, Garcia A, et al. Engaging men in prenatal health promotion: a pilot evaluation of targeted e-health content. Am J Mens Health 2016 Dec 12;11(3):719-725. [doi: 10.1177/1557988316679562]
- 22. Pew Research Center. 2017 Feb 05. Internet/Broadband fact sheet URL: <u>http://www.pewinternet.org/fact-sheet/</u> internet-broadband/ [accessed 2017-11-27] [WebCite Cache ID 6vIOorrSB]
- 23. Ryan C, Bauman K. Educational Attainment in the United States: 2015. Washington, DC: United States Census Bureau; 2016 Mar. URL: <u>https://www.census.gov/content/dam/Census/library/publications/2016/demo/p20-578.pdf [WebCite Cache ID 6vIOvo3Zw]</u>

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 29.11.17; peer-reviewed by D Da Costa, R Farrell; comments to author 15.03.18; revised version received 09.05.18; accepted 15.06.18; published 09.08.18.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Mackert M, Guadagno M, Lazard A, Donovan E, Rochlen A, Garcia A, Damásio MJ, Crook B Engaging Men in Prenatal Health via eHealth: Findings From a National Survey JMIR Pediatr Parent 2018;1(2):e7 URL: <u>http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e7/</u> doi:10.2196/pediatrics.9513 PMID:31518311

©Michael Mackert, Marie Guadagno, Allison Lazard, Erin Donovan, Aaron Rochlen, Alexandra Garcia, Manuel José Damásio, Brittani Crook. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 09.08.2018. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

How Women Evaluate Birth Challenges: Analysis of Web-Based Birth Stories

Yasmine L Konheim-Kalkstein^{1,2*}, BA, MA, PhD; Talya Miron-Shatz^{2,3*}, BA, MA, PhD; Leah Jenny Israel⁴

¹Division of Social Sciences, Mount Saint Mary College, Newburgh, NY, United States

²Center for Medical Decision Making, Ono Academic College, Kiryat Ono, Israel

^{*}these authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Yasmine L Konheim-Kalkstein, BA, MA, PhD Center for Medical Decision Making Ono Academic College Tzahal Street 104 Kiryat Ono, Israel Phone: 972 8452020258 Email: yasmine.kalkstein@msmc.edu

Abstract

Background: Birth stories provide an intimate glimpse into women's birth experiences in their own words. Understanding the emotions elicited in women by certain types of behaviors during labor and delivery could help those in the health care community provide better emotional care for women in labor.

Objective: The aim of this study was to understand which supportive reactions and behaviors contributed to negative or positive emotions among women with regard to their labor and delivery experience.

Methods: We sampled 10 women's stories from a popular blog that described births that strayed from the plan. Overall, 90 challenging events that occurred during labor and delivery were identified. Each challenge had an emotionally positive, negative, or neutral evaluation by the woman. We classified supportive and unsupportive behaviors in response to these challenges and examined their association with the woman's emotional appraisal of the challenges.

Results: Overall, 4 types of behaviors were identified: informational inclusion, decisional inclusion (mostly by health care providers), practical support, and emotional support (mostly by partners). Supportive reactions were not associated with emotional appraisal; however, unsupportive reactions were associated with women appraising the challenge negatively (Fisher exact test, P=.02).

Conclusions: Although supportive behaviors did not elicit any particular emotion, unsupportive behaviors did cause women to view challenges negatively. It is worthwhile conducting a larger scale investigation to observe what happens when patients express their needs, particularly when challenges present themselves during labor, and health care professionals strive to cater to them.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2018;1(2):e12206) doi:10.2196/12206

KEYWORDS

patient-centered care; decision making; parturition; women's health

Introduction

Background

RenderX

The experience of birth is an event that women anticipate and prepare for months in advance. It holds a place of real significance in their lives and that of their baby. Women often approach the birth experience with expectations and trepidation.

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e12206/

This is frequently expressed in their birth plans. The most common element of birth plans is pain management [1], but women also express requests regarding atmosphere and postpartum events [2]. Women's plans and wishes for their birth are often communicated to the health care providers to increase coordination around labor and delivery preferences [3]. Birth plans have been shown to empower women, lessen anxiety [4],

³Winton Centre for Risk and Evidence Communication, Cambridge University, Cambridge, United Kingdom

⁴Interdisciplinary Center, Psychology Department, Interdisciplinary Center, Herzliya, Israel

and lead to greater satisfaction with the birth experience [5], particularly when fulfilled [6]. Furthermore, birth satisfaction is predicted by patient expectations being met [7].

The birth experience, like many other medical experiences, does not always unfold according to expectations. Labor, for example, may involve adverse reactions to medications, risk to the mother's health, or evidence that the baby might be in distress. Any of these events may precipitate the need for an induction, cesarean delivery, or instrumental delivery. These unexpected medical challenges and deviations from the plan can have emotional consequences. Generally, 20% to 33% of women report birth as traumatic [8]. If a birth does not go according to plan, some women experience negative emotions [2]. When coupled with poor support and negative perceptions of care, these women are more likely to experience a traumatic birth [9,10]. A negative emotional experience can have far-reaching consequences, such as hindered cognitive development in children of women who suffered from postnatal depression [11].

The way patients appraise their experiences can influence their health. For example, motivating a person to appraise a stressful situation as a *challenge*, as opposed to a *threat*, leads to better cardiac outcomes and enhanced performance on a stressful task [12]. Appraising a situation less negatively is found to be an effective way of down-regulating negative emotion [13]. Resilient individuals, those able to bounce back from stress, are more likely to use positive appraisals [14], indicating that it is not just the medical challenge per se that determines how the person emotionally evaluates the situation.

Researchers have suggested that satisfaction in the face of challenging medical situations can be increased by patient-centered care. For example, Ford and Ayers [15] analyzed birth stories and found that level of support during birth affects women's mood, anxiety, and perceived control more than stressful interventions (eg, instrumental delivery). Another study showed that pain and medical interventions do not affect birth satisfaction as much as the relationship between the caregivers and the patient [16].

Goals of the Study

In this study, we decided to focus on the interactions that occur in the face of challenges during labor and delivery, as these are more amenable to change through medical training and guidelines than individual patient variables such as patient resilience. We aim to classify these interactions and analyze the association between them and the emotional appraisal of the presented challenges. To do this, we used birth stories women posted on the Web and examined how the interactions present in those stories subsequently influenced the emotions the women experienced.

Sharing information about pregnancy and birth on social media is common practice. A study found that 44.4% of the women surveyed voluntarily posted pregnancy-related information on Facebook roughly once a month, with the goals of documenting the pregnancy (21.3%) and getting advice (28.9%) [17]. Women often also share their birth experiences in a narrative to support other pregnant women, to record their memory of this important life event, or to process the trauma [18,19].

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e12206/
```

In this study, narratives that women posted on the Web to share with others were specifically selected when the woman's experience did not go according to her formal or informal birth plan. We treated each challenge presented in the women's narratives as a unit of analysis and examined the surrounding supports (or explicit lack thereof) and the ensuing emotional appraisals of these challenges. We used both existing literature as well as the instances of support in the narratives to create a classification system of patient-centered supportive behaviors during labor and delivery. By analyzing women's birth experiences in their own words, our study aimed to create a classification system for support during birth as well as reveal how interactions with women in labor at moments of challenge may influence appraisal of those challenges.

Hypotheses

We hypothesized that we would find examples of emotional support as well as evidence of its importance. Research has shown that physicians who offer emotional reassurance are more effective and appreciated than those who do not [20,21]. Practitioner's empathy can even reduce the duration and severity of the common cold as well as quantitatively increase the immune system response [22]. A qualitative study of patient experience in 14 specialties at Mayo Clinic reveals "empathetic," "humane," "personal," and "respectful" to be among the 7 most important attributes of an ideal physician [23]. A lack of emotional support is also influential: poor emotional support is related to dissatisfaction with the birth experience. In-depth interviews of 10 women who had unexpected birth stories revealed that many of these women felt emotionally uncared for [24]. Furthermore, patient perception of nurses being uncaring is associated with the mother experiencing a birth as traumatic [25].

We also hypothesized that health care providers would provide patients with informational support. Birth experiences are appraised more positively if events are explained, misconceptions are corrected, and questions are answered [26]. Effective physician-patient communication, including information exchange, is related to improved memory, adherence, physiological outcomes, and patient satisfaction [27].

Finally, we hypothesized that health care providers would include women in decision making and management of their medical experience as an additional measure of support. A core value of patient-centered care is the principle of shared decision making: important medical decisions are made by health care providers together with patients, with patients' values and preferences, scientific research, and the physician's clinical expertise being taken into consideration [28]. Not only is patient inclusion considered more ethical, but patient perception of decisional inclusion is also significantly and positively related to patient satisfaction, trust, and understanding [29]. In the case of childbirth, a feeling of control over the birth experience has been directly related to satisfaction [30]. When patients are included in decision making, their sense of personal control and satisfaction with the birth experience increases [16]. Just as decisional inclusion has emotional benefits, exclusion from decision making is associated with emotional difficulties in the

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

patient. A qualitative study by Goldbort [24] found that women's difficulties in feeling in control during unexpected birth experiences often stemmed from a lack of decision-making power. Data from a recent survey of 3000 women showed that women who were consulted before having changes made to their birth plan, and consented to those changes, were more satisfied than those who did not give their consent [31].

Our study explored whether these supports were given not only by health care providers, but also by partners who accompanied the women to birth.

Finally, a research question was whether women would mention additional kinds of support as being given or explicitly missing. In addition, we questioned whether these supports would be associated with the emotional appraisal of the challenges.

Methods

Sample

The sample for this study consisted of 10 birth stories, each publicly posted by different women on the internet blog, This West Coast Mommy [32]. This blog is the number 7 Google search result for "Sharing Birth Stories" out of over 8,000,000 hits on Google. This particular blog has about 60 stories archived and receives about 40,000 visitors a month (O Lasting, unpublished data, January 2018). This website encourages women to submit their birth story to share with other women in Canada and the United States. The instructions on the blog read:

I'm interested in all your stories: natural or medicated birth, vaginal or C-section or VBAC, home or hospital, premature or full-term, orgasmic birth or birth trauma, adoption or surrogate or miscarriage. Did everything go as planned or were your expectations smashed to pieces? What would you change or do the same next time around? I reserve the right to edit for length (please aim for somewhere between 400-1000 words) or clarity, but you have the final say in how your story is published.

The editor clarified that she does not screen out any stories and "lightly edits at times for length or clarity" (O Lasting, unpublished data, October 2017).

We chose the 10 most recent stories that mentioned a diversion from the birth plan between the onset of labor and the baby's first feeding. Stories had a range of 638 to 1799 words (mean 1224.60, SD 454.20).

Coding

After independently reading a handful of stories, an initial coding scheme was agreed upon to capture events, supports, and appraisals. After independently coding each story, 2 of the authors met to agree on any discrepancies to reach 100% agreement and further refine the coding scheme if needed. A third author provided feedback on the coding scheme and acted as an additional reviewer when coding discrepancies or questions arose. To ensure the specificity of the coding scheme, percent agreement was calculated on one of the stories (approximately 10% of the events) and was reported to be 86%.

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e12206/
```

Coding applied to the birth experience, which extended from the onset of labor or induction to the baby's first feeding. Thus, neither interactions with the health care provider before labor nor postpartum events in the hospital after the baby's first latch or bottle were included.

Our focus was challenges experienced during birth. As such, we did not consider events that were described by the woman as neutral or positive; events were identified as challenges when these reflected negative or unclear emotional valence. An example of a challenge was:

I woke up after a few solid few hours of sleep and the pain was back, just as intense as before the epidural. I was 6 cm dilated, and the contractions were horrible...

On the other hand, this is an example of an event that was not coded as a challenge:

I was 4 cm dilated when I was first examined at the hospital.

We recorded if medical action was taken in response to the challenge (eg, analgesia administered or blood pressure measured). We then coded supportive or unsupportive reactions in response to each challenge. We further coded for the woman's appraisal of her physical state (physical resolution) after any supportive (or unsupportive) reactions. If the woman attached a conclusion regarding her physical condition to the challenge, such as "I felt better," this would be coded as positive physical appraisal. Alternatively, "my back hurt even more" would be coded as a negative physical appraisal. If there was no physical appraisal, the event was coded as missing or "neutral" physical appraisal.

Thereafter, we coded for emotional appraisals after any supportive or unsupportive reactions. An expression of emotion (eg, fear or anger) or a summary evaluation of the challenge that carried a clear affective valence was considered an emotional appraisal. For example, if the woman expressed that she "felt empowered," this would be coded as positive emotional appraisal. Alternatively, "I was terrified" would be coded as a negative emotional appraisal. If there was no emotional appraisal, the event would be coded as missing emotional appraisal or "neutral." Events could also be coded for mixed emotional appraisal:

The minute she finished that sentence I instantly burst into tears. I was happy. I was petrified. I was anxious. I think I felt every single emotion all at once, right at that moment.

A given event could have both physical and emotional appraisals. Consider, for example:

It hurt so bad, so I got an epidural. It helped the pain, but I felt so guilty about my decision.

Here, a woman describes a positive physical appraisal but a negative emotional appraisal (she felt guilty).

Ethics Approval

This research project received ethical approval from the Ono Academic College. Note that we analyzed women's birth stories

that were freely available on the Web. No identifying information on the women was provided to us and none is included in the analysis.

Results

The Challenges

The stories were a sample of diverse birth experiences (see Table 1 for the types of experiences found in each story). Although the majority of the stories mentioned a spontaneous start of labor at home (contractions and/or water broke), 4 out of the 10 births ended in unplanned cesarean sections, and 6 of the 10 involved artificial induction of labor. Of the 7 women who planned to avoid an epidural, 6 ultimately received an epidural.

Overall, 90 events (challenges) were identified in the 10 stories. Each story had between 2 and 18 events (mean=9). The challenge of discomfort (pain, nausea, and exhaustion) occurred in every story and made up 38% (34/90) of all events. Medical issues related to the mother (eg, epidural side effects, artificial induction, failure to progress, and deviations in blood pressure) contributed to 29% (26/90) of all events and appeared in every story. Medical issues related to the baby (eg, fetal positioning or fetal distress) presented in 6 stories and contributed to 13% of all events. Managing fear and concern (6/90, 7%), problems with monitors (4/90, 4%), having to wait (4/90, 4%), and challenging interactions with health care providers (4/90, 4%) were each found in 3 of the stories (see Table 2).

The Reactions

Some challenges were handled by responding medically (eg, distributing medication or using a vacuum). In 27% (24/90) of the events, there was medical action taken in response to the challenge. See Table 3 for which reactions were given by whom.

Following 53% (48/90) of the challenges, a supportive or unsupportive reaction took place. On the basis of our hypotheses,

 Table 1. Details of the ten birth stories.

we identified 3 different types of reactions that could either be supportive or unsupportive: informational (woman is given information or if unsupportive, woman lacks information or comprehension), decisional inclusion (woman is included in decision making or if unsupportive, woman explicitly reports being left out of the decision, not having control, or being dismissed), and emotional (validation, affirmation, or empathy expressed or if unsupportive, a disregard or dismissal of feelings). The birth stories also revealed an additional type of support: practical support. We coded practical support as assisting the mother in nonmedical ways. Examples of practical support could be giving water to the mother or getting the mother a pillow. Similar to the other categories, the mother could also have an unmet need for practical support.

Table 4 provides examples of the different reactions to challenges. Informational support was health care providers' most common reaction to challenges. In the following example, the doctor provides informational support, explaining why an induction is needed. The woman is scared, but her partner steps in with emotional support, and she is able to accept the situation:

He told me that I needed to be induced as soon as possible because my high blood pressure was very dangerous for both me and my baby...I was so scared. I looked at Bryan, and he grabbed my hand when he saw the look on my face. He told me, "You are going to do so good." That's all I needed to hear. I agreed to the induction. [Story #1]

The above example illustrates how different constituents tend to support the mother in different ways. In our analysis, emotional support was solely provided by partners, and 83% (10/15) of the instances of practical support were also provided by partners. In contrast, 95% (19/20) of instances of informational support and 73% (11/15) of instances of decisional inclusion were given by health care providers.

Story	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
Words (mean 1224, SD 454.20), n	1799	1432	1622	688	640	638	1550	961	1642	1274
Events (mean 9, SD 3.94), n	18	9	9	10	9	7	7	2	10	9
Intentions for birth										
Planned for natural birth (n=4 ^a)	No	No	No	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
Planned to avoid epidural (n=6)	Yes	No	No	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
Actual birth										
Received epidural (n=8)	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No	Yes	Yes
Spontaneous start of labor (or water broke) at home (n=7)	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No	Yes
Induction (n=6)		Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No	No	No	Yes	Yes
Emergency cesarean section (n=4)	No	No	No	No	Yes	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Hemolysis, elevated liver enzyme, low platelet syndrome (n=3)	No	No	No	No	Yes	No	No	Yes	Yes	No
Paralysis (n=1)	No	No	Yes	No	No	No	No	No	No	No
Premature baby (n=2)	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	No

^an values refer to the number of stories that reported these events.

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e12206/

XSL•FO RenderX

Konheim-Kalkstein et al

Table 2. Emotional and physical appraisals for various types of challenges.

Challenges	Patient apprai	sal			Examples of challenges
	No appraisal (neutral)	Negative	Positive	Mixed	
Discomfort (N=34), n (%)			,		
Emotional resolution	29 (85)	3 (9)	2 (6)	0 (0)	"The magnesium drip was awful. I felt rotten. I was instantly weak, queasy, and hot. Hot as hell."
Physical resolution	26 (77)	3 (9)	5 (15)	0 (0)	
Medical issues of mother (1	N=26), n (%)				
Emotional resolution	16 (82)	5 (19)	4 (15)	1 (4)	"The epidural failed and a spinal had to be done."
Physical resolution	19 (73)	3 (12)	4 (15)	0 (0)	
Medical issues with the bal	by (N=12), n (9	%)			
Emotional resolution	7 (58)	2 (17)	2 (17)	1 (8)	"The nurse told us the baby was facing the wrong direction."
Physical resolution	8 (67)	2 (17)	1 (8)	1 (8)	
Fear or overwhelmed (N=6	6), n (%)				
Emotional resolution	1 (17)	1 (17)	2 (33)	1 (17)	"I was unable to see my sonI was terrified wondering if he was doing okay and I was so afraid"
Physical resolution	4 (67)	0 (0)	1 (17)	0 (0)	
Difficult interactions (N=4)), n (%)				
Emotional resolution	3 (75)	1 (25)	0 (0)	0 (0)	"A nurse began to check my belly for sensation with an ice cube. 'Can you feel this?' 'Yes.' 'No you can't.' 'Wait, what?' Why bother asking me if you aren't going to believe my answers?"
Physical resolution	2 (50)	1 (25)	1 (25)	0 (0)	
Problems with monitor (N=	=4), n (%)				
Emotional resolution	3 (75)	0 (0)	1 (25)	0 (0)	"They were having trouble finding the baby's heart rate "
Physical resolution	3 (75)	0 (0)	1 (25)	0 (0)	
Waiting (N=4), n (%)					
Emotional resolution	2 (50)	2 (50)	0 (0)	0 (0)	"After waiting two hours in a small triage room, with not a single nurse checking in on me"
Physical resolution	2 (50)	1 (25)	1 (25)	0 (0)	

 Table 3. Supportive and unsupportive interactions with different constituents.

Reactions	Doctor	Nurse	Midwife	Health care provider (unspecified)	Doula	Partner	Overall
Supportive reaction, n (%)							
Decisional	2 (13)	1 (7)	1 (7)	7 (47)	2 (13)	2 (13)	15 (100)
Informational	9 (45)	3 (15)	2 (10)	5 (25)	1 (5)	0 (0)	20 (100)
Emotional	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	3 (100)	3 (100)
Practical	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	1 (8)	1 (8)	10 (83)	12 (100)
Unsupportive reaction, n (%)							
Decisional	2 (50)	1 (25)	0 (0)	1 (25)	0 (0)	0 (0)	4 (100)
Informational	1 (17)	0 (0)	0 (0)	5 (83)	0 (0)	0 (0)	5 (100)
Emotional	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	1 (100)	0 (0)	0 (0)	1 (100)
Practical	0 (0)	1 (100)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	1 (100)



Table 4. Examples of supportive and unsupportive reactions.

Type of supportive or unsupportive reaction	Supportive reactions ^a	Unsupportive reactions ^a
Informational	"He [the doctor] told me <i>that I needed to be induced as soon</i> as possible because my high blood pressure was very danger- ous for both me and my baby. He told me I needed a magne- sium drip." [Story #1]	"While I was in Triage, the nurse discovered my blood pres- sure was extremely high. I was kept in Triage and not sent to a Labor and Delivery room. <i>To this day I do not really under-</i> <i>stand why</i> , but my best guess is they were afraid my baby would be in distress and I would have an emergency c-sec- tion." [Story #7]
Decisional input	"The doctors came in to do an exam. They said I was 4 cm and that they would like to start oxytocin, "but your birth plan" "My what? Pff, don't liksten to that. Do what you think is right, just tell me about it first," "Okay, we would recom- mend an epidural with the oxyto—" "Yep, let's get that going. [Story #2]	"I was told she couldn't administer the epidural until I was not in a contraction. She began preparing, and <i>I said</i> , " <i>I'm</i> <i>contracting</i> ," <i>but she went ahead anyway</i> ." [Story #3]
Emotional	"I was so scared. I looked at Bryan, and he grabbed my hand when he saw the look on my face. He told me, 'You are going to do so good.' That's all I needed to hear. I agreed to the in- duction," [Story #1]	"After waiting two hours in a small triage room, with <i>not a single nurse checking in on me</i> I was feeling such dread." [Story #10]
Practical	"I woke up at one point and yelled, 'I'm going to barf!' <i>My husband came running over with a take-out french fry tray</i> just in time for the barf to hit it like a skateboard ramp and go spewing across everything." [Story #2]	"that situation they put me in was stressful: waiting with no updates, alarms ringing every 15 minutes, <i>strapped to a bed and needing to use the bathroom, a pillowcase full of towels as they were out of pillows</i> " [Story #10]

^aQuotes are taken directly from the birth story without editing. Italics denotes the reaction, or sometimes, as in the case of unsupportive reactions—lack thereof.

Table 5.	Others'	reactions t	o challenges	and patients'	ensuing	emotional	appraisa	ls.
----------	---------	-------------	--------------	---------------	---------	-----------	----------	-----

Reactions	No appraisal (Neutral, N=61), n (%)	Positive appraisal (N=11), n (%)	Negative appraisal (N=15), n (%)	Mixed appraisal (N=3), n (%)
Supportive reaction	29 (48)	7 (64)	5 (33)	2 (66)
Decisional	9 (15)	1 (9)	3 (20)	0 (0)
Informational	11 (18)	4 (36)	2 (13)	1 (33)
Emotional	0 (0)	2 (18)	0 (0)	1 (33)
Practical	9 (15)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)
Unsupportive reaction	6 (10)	0 (0)	5 (3)	0 (0)
Decisional	2 (3)	0 (0)	2 (13)	0 (0)
Informational	3 (5)	0 (0)	3 (20)	0 (0)
Emotional	1 (2)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)
Practical	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)
Medical action taken	21 (34)	2 (18)	1 (7)	0 (0)

The events were also coded for both emotional and physical appraisals following the challenge and reactions. Most of the events (61/90, 68%) concluded with no emotional appraisal (neutral). Some events (11/90, 12%) concluded with positive appraisal, some events (15/90, 17%) concluded with a negative emotional appraisal, and some (3/90, 3%) events concluded with clearly mixed emotions (mixed resolution).

Most (65/90, 72%) events did not have a physical appraisal, 5 events (6%) concluded with a positive physical appraisal (eg, pain got better and baby was delivered successfully), 10 events

(11%) concluded with negative physical appraisal (eg, "stuck in bed" and overwhelming pain), and 1 event (1%) concluded with mixed physical appraisal. Table 5 shows how different appraisals were related to different types of support.

A given event could be coded as having any of the reactions above (or any combination thereof).

Whether or not a patient received positive support did not affect the type of appraisal attached to the event. However, if a patient received an unsupportive reaction, appraisal attached to the event was affected (Fisher exact test, P=.02; see Table 6).

RenderX

Konheim-Kalkstein et al

 Table 6. Proportions of different types of patient emotional appraisals resulting from different reactions.

	11 8		
Reaction	No appraisal (neutral)	Positive appraisal	Negative appraisal
Supportive ^a reaction ^b , n (%)			
Reported	29 (71)	7 (17)	5 (12)
Not reported	32 (73)	5 (11)	7 (16)
Unsupportive reaction ^c , n (%)			
Reported	6 (55)	0 (0)	5 (46)
Not reported	60 (74)	11 (14)	10 (12)

^aSupport includes informational, decisional, emotional, or practical.

^bFisher exact test, *P*=.66, *nonsignificant*.

^cFisher exact test, *P*=.02.

Discussion

Principal Findings

Our study examined 10 birth stories that included 90 total challenges to the women during the childbirth process. These challenges included facing dangerously high blood pressure, premature delivery, and pain too intense to continue with the medication-free birth plan. Using each challenge and the related reactions and emotional appraisals as the unit of analysis allowed us to closely examine the psychosocial antecedents of how these women in labor emotionally evaluated each challenge. By analyzing women's birth experiences in their own words, our study offers a classification system for support during birth and highlights how avoiding unsupportive interactions with women in labor at moments of unexpected challenge is crucial in helping women give these challenges a neutral or positive emotional resolution.

Consistent with our hypotheses, as well as on emergent findings from the stories, we determined that there were 4 types of supportive (or unsupportive) interactions that could take place when a woman in labor is faced with a challenge: emotional, decisional, informational, and practical (the last category identified from the data). Each challenge is an opportunity to support the mother.

Providing support did not mean interfering with the medical course of events. It did, however, involve catering to the woman's needs for information, decisional inclusion, practical assistance, or emotional reassurance. For example, when a woman who had an epidural needle inserted twice was informed that this occurred because she was shaking (information), she accepted the answer and the challenge was resolved with emotional neutrality. In our analysis, practical support was the most common support partners gave, whereas health care providers gave nearly all instances of informational support and most instances of decisional inclusion.

Labor and delivery are composed of a string of challenges that need to be managed dynamically and cannot always be anticipated ahead of time. Notably, the medical challenges women face do not always determine the emotional outcome. For example, challenges that involved medical threats to the baby were equally likely to be resolved with positive or negative appraisal. When challenges involved medical issues of the

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e12206/
```

RenderX

mother, emotional appraisals were also nearly balanced between positive and negative. Note that in both cases, emotional appraisals for most challenges were missing. This was interpreted as neutral resolution, suggesting that the woman may have accepted the challenge and moved on.

Our data suggest that when women are responded to in an unsupportive way, they are more likely to evaluate the challenge with negative emotion. When unsupportive reactions were reported, the emotional appraisal of the challenge was 3.7 times more likely to be negative than if no unsupportive reactions were reported. The result that unsupportive reactions carried more weight than supportive reactions on women's emotional evaluations of the challenges is not surprising. Research has shown that humans have a tendency to react more strongly to and be more emotionally affected by negative events than positive events [33,34]. Our data show that the most common unsupportive reaction reported by women was a lack of informational support:

But...the baby wasn't crying. They swept her up and rushed her down the hall to the nursery. I was so scared. I cried as I said over and over, "Where's my baby? Is she okay?" They kept telling me she just needed some extra help.

In this example, the woman is not given a proper answer and is distraught because of the lack of information.

Our results are somewhat aligned with research showing that negative interpersonal events, consisting mostly of lack of support (eg, being ignored and feeling unsupported or abandoned), were the strongest predictor of traumatic birth experiences [35]. A third of women report this [9]. Although challenging intrapartum events such as an unplanned cesarean can predict adverse responses to childbirth, this is not a necessary condition. Traumatic feelings can also arise following normal vaginal deliveries [36].

Thus, as our study suggests, satisfaction is determined more by how the challenges that arise are handled than by the nature of the challenges themselves. Indeed, a meta-analysis of women's experiences highlights that feelings of trauma can result from a lack of a relationship with health care providers, poor communication, and care that leads women to feel dismissed or out of control [37]. Although many women hear the phrase

"all that matters is a healthy baby," mounting evidence suggests that a patient-centered approach can improve medical outcomes [38] and increase satisfaction with the childbirth experience, ultimately leading to better mental health and family outcomes [39].

Given the unpredictability of birth, some health care providers are reluctant to *plan* the birth experience [5,40]. However, the research reviewed above suggests that an informed, empowered woman is beneficial to the childbirth process. Our study adds to this knowledge by showing that challenges that present during labor and delivery do not necessarily lead to a negative emotional appraisal. The provision of support serves to mitigate the inherent negative effect challenges can have.

Limitations

Our study has a few limitations. First, the information that the women share in their birth stories is likely what was salient in their memory, and their interpretation of the events is not necessarily an accurate portrayal of the experience [41,42]. Nonetheless, previous work has indicated that a woman's perception of what occurred is relatively accurate, even over time. For example, Simkin [43] found that women's memories of labor, particularly the actions of doctors, nurses, and partners, are "generally accurate, and many are strikingly vivid." Furthermore, research shows that patient perceptions of an event have importance. These perceptions linger, influencing emotions and potentially future decision making. For example, colonoscopy patients' evaluation of the procedure was associated with their willingness to repeat the procedure in the future [44]. However, the data women share must be interpreted cautiously. It would be a mistake to only use women's recollections to surmise what physicians are or are not doing.

Second, we only analyzed the birth experiences of 10 women, albeit in depth, and can hardly presume they are a representative sample of women giving birth. Our aim in this study was to look at challenges as subjectively defined by the women experiencing them. Our study provides careful insight into the ways in which support, even during a potentially unpleasant event such as having an epidural needle inserted twice, can be perceived as having an emotionally neutral resolution. Furthermore, there might be selection bias in that these women have chosen to share their birth stories on the Web. Firestone et al similarly found that a self-selection bias exists among internet-based birth cohort studies [45]. Another possible insertion of bias involves the types of women who post on internet blogs. A study by Chilukuri et al found that low-income pregnant women are less likely to access most internet technologies than women at high-income levels [46]. Although the hemolysis, elevated liver enzyme, low platelet (HELLP) syndrome occurred in 3 out of the 10 women in our sample, this does not reflect the general population, where HELLP syndrome occurs in about 0.7% of pregnancies [47].

Finally, we only coded from the onset of labor to the babies' first feeding. We, therefore, did not code for support that happened after birth such as in a follow-up appointment. Simple validation of feelings about the loss of a plan might help women cope better, and that may have happened the day after delivery. It is known that debriefing after a traumatic birth experience may reduce negative appraisals [48,49]. Limitations notwithstanding, ours is an in-depth examination of the challenges women encounter during birth, as told of their own initiative and in their own words. This provides us a powerful way of glimpsing into the patients' experience.

Conclusions

Future research should examine how individual variables, such as need for control or need for cognition, might interact with support. Women are not all the same in how they respond to others' attempts at supportive behavior. For example, 1 woman was overwhelmed by a tour of the neonatal intensive care unit the day she was going to give birth to a premature baby:

The very next day I was wheeled into the NICU [neonatal intensive care unit] unit for a tour. I do not think anything in this world could have prepared me for that. I was taken into Pod 6 where the NICU nurse wanted to show me the approximate size my son would be when he was delivered. The baby was so tiny and delicate and hooked up to so many machines! There were alarms going off everywhere with nurses assisting the babies in need. I held my breath to hold back the tears. When I was wheeled into my room I lost it. I was inconsolable.

For others, informational support was comforting. Our data showed that informational support was twice as likely to lead to positive appraisal than negative appraisal.

In conclusion, by analyzing women's accounts of their birth experiences in their own words, our study offers a classification system for support during labor and delivery and highlights the need to avoid unsupportive interactions with women in labor when unexpected challenges present themselves. Although challenges are unavoidable, we hope to have made a small contribution toward making them less emotionally painful.

Acknowledgments

This study could not have taken place if it were not for women sharing their birth experiences on the Web, for which the authors are thankful. The authors wish to thank Danit Tarashandegan and Nina Rabinowitz for excellent assistance. We are grateful for the Fulbright Scholar Award that helped fund this research.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.



References

- Pennell A, Salo-Coombs V, Herring A, Spielman F, Fecho K. Anesthesia and analgesia-related preferences and outcomes of women who have birth plans. J Midwifery Womens Health 2011;56(4):376-381. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1542-2011.2011.00032.x</u>] [Medline: <u>21733109</u>]
- Aragon M, Chhoa E, Dayan R, Kluftinger A, Lohn Z, Buhler K. Perspectives of expectant women and health care providers on birth plans. J Obstet Gynaecol Can 2013 Nov;35(11):979-985. [doi: <u>10.1016/S1701-2163(15)30785-4</u>] [Medline: 24246397]
- 3. Anderson CJ, Kilpatrick C. Supporting patients' birth plans: theories, strategies & implications for nurses. Nurs Womens Health 2012;16(3):210-218. [doi: 10.1111/j.1751-486X.2012.01732.x] [Medline: 22697224]
- 4. Barker K. Caesarean birth after a normal delivery: it's a woman's choice. Br J Midwifery 2013 Aug 16;20(11):766. [doi: 10.12968/bjom.2012.20.11.766]
- 5. White-Corey S. Birth plans: tickets to the OR? MCN Am J Matern Child Nurs 2013;38(5):268-274. [doi: 10.1097/NMC.0b013e31829a399d] [Medline: 23797662]
- 6. Mei JY, Afshar Y, Gregory KD, Kilpatrick SJ, Esakoff TF. Birth plans: what matters for birth experience satisfaction. Birth 2016 Jun;43(2):144-150. [doi: 10.1111/birt.12226] [Medline: 26915304]
- Christiaens W, Bracke P. Assessment of social psychological determinants of satisfaction with childbirth in a cross-national perspective. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 2007 Oct 26;7:26 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2393-7-26] [Medline: 17963491]
- 8. Ayers S, Harris R, Sawyer A, Parfitt Y, Ford E. Posttraumatic stress disorder after childbirth: analysis of symptom presentation and sampling. J Affect Disord 2009 Dec;119(1-3):200-204. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jad.2009.02.029</u>] [Medline: <u>19368975</u>]
- 9. Ayers S, Bond R, Bertullies S, Wijma K. The aetiology of post-traumatic stress following childbirth: a meta-analysis and theoretical framework. Psychol Med 2016 Apr;46(6):1121-1134. [doi: 10.1017/S0033291715002706] [Medline: 26878223]
- 10. Olde E, van der Hart O, Kleber R, van Son M. Posttraumatic stress following childbirth: a review. Clin Psychol Rev 2006 Jan;26(1):1-16. [doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2005.07.002] [Medline: 16176853]
- Parsons CE, Young KS, Rochat TJ, Kringelbach ML, Stein A. Postnatal depression and its effects on child development: a review of evidence from low- and middle-income countries. Br Med Bull 2012;101:57-79. [doi: <u>10.1093/bmb/ldr047</u>] [Medline: <u>22130907</u>]
- 12. Jamieson JP, Nock MK, Mendes WB. Mind over matter: reappraising arousal improves cardiovascular and cognitive responses to stress. J Exp Psychol Gen 2012 Aug;141(3):417-422 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/a0025719] [Medline: 21942377]
- 13. Gross JJ. Emotion regulation in adulthood: timing is everything. Curr Dir Psychol Sci 2016 Jun 23;10(6):214-219. [doi: 10.1111/1467-8721.00152]
- Tugade MM, Fredrickson BL. Resilient individuals use positive emotions to bounce back from negative emotional experiences. J Pers Soc Psychol 2004 Feb;86(2):320-333 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.86.2.320] [Medline: 14769087]
- 15. Ford E, Ayers S. Stressful events and support during birth: the effect on anxiety, mood and perceived control. J Anxiety Disord 2009 Mar;23(2):260-268. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.janxdis.2008.07.009</u>] [Medline: <u>18789646</u>]
- Hodnett ED. Pain and women's satisfaction with the experience of childbirth: a systematic review. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2002 May;186(5 Suppl Nature):S160-S172. [Medline: <u>12011880</u>]
- 17. Harpel T. Pregnant women sharing pregnancy-related information on Facebook: web-based survey study. J Med Internet Res 2018 Mar 22;20(3):e115 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7753] [Medline: 29567636]
- 18. Farley CL, Widmann SE. The value of birth stories. Int J Childbirth Education 2001;16:22-25.
- 19. Konheim-Kalkstein YL, Whyte R, Miron-Shatz T, Stellmack MA. What are VBAC women seeking and sharing? A content analysis of online discussion boards. Birth 2015 Sep;42(3):277-282. [doi: 10.1111/birt.12167] [Medline: 26032668]
- 20. Di Blasi Z, Harkness E, Ernst E, Georgiou A, Kleijnen J. Influence of context effects on health outcomes: a systematic review. Lancet 2001 Mar 10;357(9258):757-762. [Medline: <u>11253970</u>]
- 21. Miron-Shatz T, Becker S, Zaromb F, Mertens A, Tsafrir A. "A phenomenal person and doctor": thank you letters to medical care providers. Interact J Med Res 2017 Nov 02;6(2):e22 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/ijmr.7107] [Medline: 29097353]
- 22. Rakel DP, Hoeft TJ, Barrett BP, Chewning BA, Craig BM, Niu M. Practitioner empathy and the duration of the common cold. Fam Med 2009;41(7):494-501 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 19582635]
- 23. Bendapudi NM, Berry LL, Frey KA, Parish JT, Rayburn WL. Patients' perspectives on ideal physician behaviors. Mayo Clin Proc 2006 Mar;81(3):338-344. [doi: 10.4065/81.3.338] [Medline: 16529138]
- 24. Goldbort JG. Women's lived experience of their unexpected birthing process. MCN Am J Matern Child Nurs 2009;34(1):57-62. [doi: 10.1097/01.NMC.0000343867.95108.b3] [Medline: 19104321]
- 25. Beck CT. Pentadic cartography: mapping birth trauma narratives. Qual Health Res 2006 Apr;16(4):453-466. [doi: 10.1177/1049732305285968] [Medline: 16513990]
- 26. Manogin TW, Bechtel GA, Rami JS. Caring behaviors by nurses: women's perceptions during childbirth. J Obstet Gynecol Neonatal Nurs 2000;29(2):153-157. [Medline: 10750681]

- 27. Silverman J, Kurt S, Draper J. Skills for communicating with patients. 3rd edition. United States: CRC Press; Sep 28, 2013:1-328.
- Ferrer RL, Gill JM. Shared decision making, contextualized. Ann Fam Med 2013 Aug;11(4):303-305 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1370/afm.1551</u>] [Medline: <u>23835815</u>]
- Shay LA, Lafata JE. Where is the evidence? A systematic review of shared decision making and patient outcomes. Med Decis Making 2015 Dec;35(1):114-131 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0272989X14551638] [Medline: 25351843]
- Goodman P, Mackey MC, Tavakoli AS. Factors related to childbirth satisfaction. J Adv Nurs 2004 Apr;46(2):212-219. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1365-2648.2003.02981.x</u>] [Medline: <u>15056335</u>]
- Berger M. Birth plan non-adherence: Impact on birth satisfaction, interventions and perceived birth trauma. 2017 Presented at: Student Research Conference Select Presentations. Paper 40; 2017; Bowling Green, Kentucky URL: <u>https://digitalcommons.wku.edu/sel_pres/40</u>
- 32. Lasting O. This West Coast Mommy. 2018 Sep 8. URL: <u>http://www.thiswestcoastmommy.com/ [WebCite Cache ID</u> 72HeQKAuA]
- Baumeister RF, Bratslavsky E, Finkenauer C, Vohs KD. Bad is stronger than good. Rev Gen Psychol 2001;5(4):323-370. [doi: <u>10.1037/1089-2680.5.4.323</u>]
- 34. Miron-Shatz T. Evaluating multiepisode events: boundary conditions for the peak-end rule. Emotion 2009 Apr;9(2):206-213. [doi: 10.1037/a0015295] [Medline: 19348533]
- 35. Harris R, Ayers S. What makes labour and birth traumatic? A survey of intrapartum 'hotspots'. Psychol Health 2012;27(10):1166-1177. [doi: 10.1080/08870446.2011.649755] [Medline: 22292475]
- 36. Thomson G, Beck C, Ayers S. The ripple effects of a traumatic birth: Risk, impact and implications for practice. In: Thomson G, Schmied V, editors. Psychosocial Resilience and Risk in the Perinatal Period: Implications and Guidance for Professionals. New York: Routledge; Jun 2017:154.
- 37. Elmir R, Schmied V, Wilkes L, Jackson D. Women's perceptions and experiences of a traumatic birth: a meta-ethnography. J Adv Nurs 2010 Oct;66(10):2142-2153. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2648.2010.05391.x] [Medline: 20636467]
- Conesa Ferrer MB, Canteras Jordana M, Ballesteros Meseguer C, Carrillo García C, Martínez Roche ME. Comparative study analysing women's childbirth satisfaction and obstetric outcomes across two different models of maternity care. BMJ Open 2016 Dec 26;6(8):e011362 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2016-011362] [Medline: 27566632]
- 39. Benoit C, Westfall R, Treloar AE, Phillips R, Jansson SM. Social factors linked to postpartum depression: a mixed-methods longitudinal study. J Ment Health 2009 Jul 6;16(6):719-730. [doi: 10.1080/09638230701506846]
- 40. Carlton T, Callister LC, Christiaens G, Walker D. Labor and delivery nurses' perceptions of caring for childbearing women in nurse-managed birthing units. MCN Am J Matern Child Nurs 2009;34(1):50-56. [doi: 10.1097/01.NMC.0000343866.95108.fa] [Medline: 19104320]
- 41. Loftus EF. Memories of things unseen. Curr Dir Psychol Sci 2016 Jun 23;13(4):145-147. [doi: 10.1111/j.0963-7214.2004.00294.x]
- 42. Miron-Shatz T, Stone A, Kahneman D. Memories of yesterday's emotions: does the valence of experience affect the memory-experience gap? Emotion 2009 Dec;9(6):885-891. [doi: 10.1037/a0017823] [Medline: 20001131]
- 43. Simkin P. Just another day in a woman's life? Part II: nature and consistency of women's long-term memories of their first birth experiences. Birth 1992 Jun;19(2):64-81. [Medline: <u>1388434</u>]
- 44. Redelmeier DA, Katz J, Kahneman D. Memories of colonoscopy: a randomized trial. Pain 2003 Jul;104(1-2):187-194. [Medline: 12855328]
- 45. Firestone R, Cheng S, Pearce N, Douwes J, Merletti F, Pizzi C, et al. Internet-based birth-cohort studies: is this the future for epidemiology? JMIR Res Protoc 2015 Jun 12;4(2):e71 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.3873] [Medline: 26071071]
- 46. Chilukuri N, West M, Henderson JL, Lawson S, Ehsanipoor R, Costigan K, et al. Information and communication technology use among low-income pregnant and postpartum women by race and ethnicity: a cross-sectional study. J Med Internet Res 2015;17(7):e163 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3916] [Medline: 26142162]
- 47. Haram K, Svendsen E, Abildgaard U. The HELLP syndrome: clinical issues and management. A review. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 2009 Feb 26;9:8 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2393-9-8] [Medline: 19245695]
- 48. Bastos MH, Bick D, Rowan C, Small R, Mckenzie-Mcharg K. Debriefing for the prevention of psychological trauma in women following childbirth. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2015(4):1-66 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/14651858.cd007194]
- 49. Sheen K, Slade P. The efficacy of 'debriefing' after childbirth: is there a case for targeted intervention? J Reprod Infant Psychol 2015 Mar 13;33(3):308-320. [doi: 10.1080/02646838.2015.1009881]

Abbreviations

HELLP: hemolysis, elevated liver enzyme, low platelet **NICU:** neonatal intensive care unit



Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 15.09.18; peer-reviewed by F Zaromb, A Tsafrir; comments to author 24.10.18; revised version received 17.11.18; accepted 20.11.18; published 18.12.18. <u>Please cite as:</u> Konheim-Kalkstein YL, Miron-Shatz T, Israel LJ How Women Evaluate Birth Challenges: Analysis of Web-Based Birth Stories JMIR Pediatr Parent 2018;1(2):e12206 URL: http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e12206/ doi:10.2196/12206 PMID:31518300

©Yasmine L Konheim-Kalkstein, Talya Miron-Shatz, Leah Jenny Israel. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 18.12.2018. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Sudden Infant Death Syndrome and Safe Sleep on Twitter: Analysis of Influences and Themes to Guide Health Promotion Efforts

Kelly A Pretorius^{1,2}, MPH, MSN, PNP, RN; Michael Mackert^{2,3,4}, PhD; Gary B Wilcox^{2,3,5}, PhD

¹School of Nursing, The University of Texas at Austin, Austin, TX, United States

²Center for Health Communication, Moody College of Communication and Dell Medical School, The University of Texas at Austin, Austin, TX, United States

³Stan Richards School of Advertising and Public Relations, The University of Texas at Austin, Austin, TX, United States

⁴Department of Population Health, The University of Texas at Austin, Austin, TX, United States

⁵Department of Statistics and Data Sciences, The University of Texas at Austin, Austin, TX, United States

Corresponding Author:

Kelly A Pretorius, MPH, MSN, PNP, RN School of Nursing The University of Texas at Austin 1710 Red River Street Austin, TX, 78701 United States Phone: 1 512 471 7913 Email: <u>kpretorius@utexas.edu</u>

Abstract

Background: In the United States, sudden infant death syndrome (SIDS) is the leading cause of death in infants aged 1 month to 1 year. Approximately 3500 infants die from SIDS and sleep-related reasons on a yearly basis. Unintentional sleep-related deaths and bed sharing, a known risk factor for SIDS, are on the rise. Furthermore, ethnic disparities exist among those most affected by SIDS. Despite public health campaigns, infant mortality persists. Given the popularity of social media, understanding social media conversations around SIDS and safe sleep may assist the medical and public health communities with information needed to spread, reinforce, or counteract false information regarding SIDS and safe sleep.

Objective: The objective of our study was to investigate the social media conversation around SIDS and safe sleep to understand the possible influences and guide health promotion efforts and public health research as well as enable health professionals to engage in directed communication regarding this topic.

Methods: We used textual analytics to identify topics and extract meanings contained in unstructured textual data. Twitter messages were captured during September, October, and November in 2017. Tweets and retweets were collected using NUVI software in conjunction with Twitter's search API using the keywords: "sids," "infant death syndrome," "sudden infant death syndrome," and "safe sleep." This returned a total of 41,358 messages, which were analyzed using text mining and social media monitoring software.

Results: Multiple themes were identified, including recommendations for safe sleep to prevent SIDS, safe sleep devices, the potential causes of SIDS, and how breastfeeding reduces SIDS. Compared with September and November, more personal and specific stories of infant loss were demonstrated in October (Pregnancy and Infant Loss Awareness Month). The top influencers were news organizations, universities, and health-related organizations.

Conclusions: We identified valuable topics discussed and shared on Twitter regarding SIDS and safe sleep. The study results highlight the contradicting information a subset of the population is exposed to regarding SIDS and the continued controversy over vaccines. In addition, this analysis emphasizes the lack of public health organizations' presence on Twitter compared with the influence of universities and news media organizations. The results also demonstrate the prevalence of safe sleep products that are embedded in safe sleep messaging. These findings can assist providers in speaking about relevant topics when engaging in conversations about the prevention of SIDS and the promotion of safe sleep. Furthermore, public health agencies and advocates should utilize social media and Twitter to better communicate accurate health information as well as continue to combat the spread of false information.

RenderX

KEYWORDS

sudden infant death; sudden unexpected infant death; accidental suffocation in a sleeping environment; infant mortality; safe sleep; sleep environment; social media; Twitter; health communication; public health

Introduction

Sudden infant death syndrome (SIDS) is the leading cause of death in infants aged between 1 month and 1 year and the third leading cause of infant mortality in the United States [1]. Approximately 3500 infants die every year due to SIDS and sleep-related reasons [2]. Causes of sleep-related deaths include SIDS, accidental suffocation and strangulation in bed (ASSB), and ill-defined deaths [2].

While there was a marked decline in sleep-related deaths following the American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) recommendations for supine sleep position in 1994, this decline has since lost momentum [2-4]. Furthermore, there appears to be an increase in the number of unintentional sleep-related deaths in infants. For example, infant mortality rates due to ASSB have quadrupled since 1984 [5]. While bed sharing is a known risk factor for infant death [6], bed sharing has increased in the United States, with 50%-61% of mothers admitting to bed sharing at some point [6,7] and African American women specifically bed sharing with infants for perceived safety, improved infant sleep, and convenience [4,8].

To make matters more complex, sociocultural differences among sleep behaviors and mortality rates persist. For instance, populations at the highest risk for infant mortality due to SIDS and sleep-related deaths exhibit the following characteristics: lower socioeconomic status, uneducated, younger age of birth mother, smoking during pregnancy, and African American or American Indian or Alaskan ethnicity [1,9,10].

In 2016, the AAP updated their recommendations for the prevention of SIDS and sleep-related infant deaths [2]. However, despite ongoing communication efforts, there appears to be a gap between public health recommendations to prevent SIDS and promote safe sleeping environments and what parents are actually practicing with regard to infant sleeping environments, as evidenced by the continued infant mortality statistics [1]. Media coverage of recommendations, as well as social media conversations around SIDS and safe sleep, has the potential to spread, reinforce, or counteract public health recommendations.

Analyzing social media, an incredibly popular and useful tool with wide-reaching capabilities, allows for a better understanding of some beliefs and exposure to information regarding SIDS and may, therefore, assist in the development of more effective public health programs. As of 2015, approximately 65% of American adults use social media [11]. A recent trend reflects that people are also using social media for health information. According to the Health Information National Trends Survey (HINTS), a survey that tracks health communication and information technology of American adults, social media was found to penetrate all persons despite race, education, or health care access [12]. This finding is also

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e10435/

supported by studies demonstrating the widespread use of social media among parental groups [13-18].

Moreover, Twitter is gaining popularity and is used by 24% of American adults [19]. The average Twitter user tends to be younger (36% of those aged between 18 and 29 years use Twitter) [19]. Twitter use spans educational levels, although those with college degrees use it more than those with a high school degree or less (29% vs 20%) [19]. In one study of primarily female (76%), African American mothers (41%), 12.5% participants used Twitter daily [20]. Understanding Twitter's users is essential when considering the health issue of SIDS, given that SIDS impacts African American people disproportionately more than other ethnicities [1,2,9].

Therefore, there is an opportunity to use social media platforms, like Twitter, for listening to subgroups of the public, as well as for health promotion. In addition, Twitter can be used to assess the public's response and shape the public's perception of a health issue, thereby allowing health communicators to more effectively plan and implement response strategies [21,22]. Moreover, Twitter can assist policy makers and governmental agencies in understanding the information that is being spread and in potentially combating the spread of false information [23]. Furthermore, Twitter is an ideal form of social media for analysis given that the posts are public.

The purpose of our study was to better understand social media conversation around SIDS to understand possible influences and guide health promotion efforts. The remainder of this paper outlines the specific study methods, findings, and implications of this work for public health research and practice.

Methods

Text Analytics and Data Acquisition

We used textual analytics to identify topics and extract meanings contained in unstructured textual data. Twitter messages were captured for 3 months—September, October, and November 2017. Tweets and retweets were collected using NUVI software (NUVI, Lehi, UT, USA) in conjunction with Twitter's search API (application programming interface). Because our focus was on SIDS, keyword combinations were selected to avoid biased language used by different audiences, filter irrelevant information, and increase the likelihood of capturing a greater signal-to-noise ratio for the topic under investigation. We used the following keywords or phrases to capture relevant Twitter messages: "sids," "infant death syndrome," "sudden infant death syndrome," and "safe sleep."

The keywords returned a total of 41,358 messages. There were 5282 messages in September 2017, 13,438 in October, and 22,638 in November. Then, we analyzed the messages using text mining and social media monitoring software, SAS Text Miner 12.1 (SAS Institute Inc, Cary, NC, USA) [24] and NUVI

[25], and interpreted the findings. NUVI is a social listening tool that allows for the monitoring of messages from Twitter using basic aggregation tools based mainly on the frequency and reach of users, posts, and keywords. Using NUVI, the tweets were analyzed for trending hashtags, top influencers (determined primarily by the number of followers and frequency of mentions and retweets), and location of tweets by state and per capita (analyzed using a combination of geo-tagging and specific locations associated with the Tweeter's bio). The use of publicly available data in this study did not require approval from our Institutional Review Board.

Text Analytics

The tweets' textual content was analyzed using SAS Text Miner 12.1 [24]. SAS Text Miner is an algorithm-driven statistical software used to uncover and understand information. SAS Text Miner provides the ability to parse and extract information from text, filter and store the information, and assemble tweets into related topics for introspection and insights from the unstructured data [26,27].

The first step was to extract, clean, and create a dictionary of words using a natural language processor. Using a Text Parsing node, each message was divided into individual words; these words were listed in a frequency matrix, and words that contributed little to the understanding of the topic, such as auxiliary verbs, conjunctions, determiners, interjections, participles, prepositions, and pronouns, were excluded from the analysis. Following this, a Text Filter node was used to exclude words that appeared in <4 messages as a conservative measure to reduce noise. A single author with the knowledge of the subject matter visually inspected and manually removed irrelevant terms. The words initially included (and excluded) in the analysis were visually inspected to ensure accuracy and identify unrecognizable symbols and letter groups for exclusion.

With the inclusion criteria set, a Text Topic node was used to combine terms into 8-12 topic groups. This clustering divided the document collection into mutually exclusive groups based on the presence of similar themes using expectation maximization clustering. After visually examining each of the created topics, 10-, 11-, and 8-topic solutions most clearly illustrated the main themes for September, October, and November, respectively. Finally, the researchers reviewed the individual messages of the final topic groups to interpret the final themes. This was accomplished by individually reviewing the actual messages from each cluster or topic to arrive at the description that is now contained in the tables identifying the themes.

Results

Themes

Data on SIDS and safe sleep tweets for the months of September, October, and November 2017 have been presented in Tables 1-3, respectively.

A major theme identified was safe sleep recommendations. In September and October, 3 of the topics included recommendations for safe sleep to prevent SIDS, including the updated AAP recommendations. In November, just 2 of the topics included recommendations for safe sleep to prevent SIDS, including the AAP recommendations. In September, some of these messages originated from public health agencies, including a video from the National Institutes of Health promoting safe sleep, and statewide efforts to reduce SIDS. This was slightly different from October, where a popular story originated from CNN and included advertising for sleep products, such as Dr Harvey Karp's responsive bassinet, Snoo. In November, the safe sleep messaging originated from public health agencies, including statewide efforts to reduce SIDS; however, some of them were also personal recommendations on infant sleep and SIDS prevention.

 Table 1. Sudden infant death syndrome (SIDS) and safe sleep tweets by topic for September 2017.

Торіс	n (%)	Description
+sleep,+safe,safe sleep,baby,+share	459 (8.69)	Safe sleep recommendations to reduce SIDS (some originating from public health agencies, some about recent studies on SIDS)
sudden,syndrome,sudden infant death syndrome,+death,+in- fant	428 (8.10)	Explanations for SIDS (vaccines cause Autism, brainstem abnormality causes SIDS, cardiac-mediated SIDS), Web-based community fundraising for SIDS, baby box initiatives, and the American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) guidelines on safe sleep
Institute,+american,support,charity,+cause	219 (4.15)	Web-based fundraising for the American SIDS Institute
Research,+confirm,+brain,chemistry,babies' brain	212 (4.01)	Australian study links brain chemical to SIDS
undesa,political leadership,parisagreement,cop,political	112 (2.12)	AAP recommendations for safe sleep and unrelated posts regarding small island development
doritmi,emmagpaley,nicolasdenver,badzoot7,markjarthur	104 (1.97)	Explanations for SIDS (vaccines cause SIDS, vaccines do not cause SIDS) and daycare complies with safe sleep guidelines
Grateful https,penny,funeral,grateful,217xxmvzmk	88 (1.67)	Fundraising for SIDS and general information about SIDS
Huffpost,easy,a-alone,b-back,c-crib	87 1.65)	Safe sleep recommendations to reduce SIDS
+back,williamdevry1,nancyleegrahn,julexis,gh	72 (1.36)	Explanations for SIDS (vaccines cause SIDS)
maine,vaccine,mcvc,dhhs,+notify	68 (1.29)	Explanations for SIDS (vaccines cause SIDS)

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e10435/

Table 2. Sudden infar	t death syndrome (S	IDS) and safe sleep	tweets by topic	for October 2017.
-----------------------	---------------------	---------------------	-----------------	-------------------

Торіс	n (%)	Description
+baby,+sleep,+sleep,+child,+safe	1549 (11.53)	Safe sleep recommendations to reduce SIDS, personal story of infant lost to SIDS, and advertising for a safe sleep product (Baby Box University)
+game,nfl,+player,+time,+season	1188 (8.84)	Football discussion that included information on daughter of a National Football League football player who died from SIDS
+risk,breastfeeding,+researcher,+study,+month	1004 (7.47)	Breastfeeding reduces SIDS (recent study on SIDS)
aidan,+loss,+cemetery,+child,remains	517 (3.85)	October as National Pregnancy and Infant Loss Awareness Month (personal stories of pregnancy and infant loss due to SIDS)
+swaddle,+sleep,+myth,unexplained,+sleep	488 (3.63)	Safe sleep recommendations to reduce SIDS and advertising for sleep products (Dr Harvey Karp's bed, baby hammock)
+baby,+pacifier,baby,mortality,+bed	337 (2.51)	Safe sleep recommendations to reduce SIDS and advertising for Baby Box University
+substance,+brain,+abnormality,+river,Adelaide	329 (2.45)	Australian study links brain chemicals to SIDS
finnbin,smartmom,safe,sleep,+school	315 (2.34)	Finnbin Box partners with Web-based mom group to increase safe sleep, and advertising for baby box, SafeSleepSchool.com
mata,+adoption,eac,violah,davises	277 (2.06)	Personal story of infant loss due to SIDS
$drpaolini, and_kell, steffieschiltz, lilearthling 369, mark jarthur$	241 (1.79)	United States and vaccines cause SIDS
+day care,broadway,+care,oregon,+facility	228 (1.70)	Baby dies from SIDS in Oregon at daycare

Table 3. Sudden infant death syndrome (SIDS) and safe sleep tweets by topic for November 2017.

Торіс	n (%)	Description
â,+baby,+child,+sleep,+sleep	3063 (13.53)	Safe sleep recommendations to reduce SIDS, vaccines cause SIDS, adver- tising for infant sleep products (book on sleep, Sleep N Feed), and baby box initiatives (in Tennessee, Minnesota, and Colorado)
+vaccine,+cause,autism,+cancer,myonesciencetweet	1630 (7.20)	Explanation of SIDS (vaccines do not cause SIDS)
+ smoke, to bacco, + smoke, second hand, second hand smoke	1595 (7.05)	Antitobacco information (includes statement that smoking increases SIDS)
$breastfeeding,\!+study,\!+risk,\!+month,\!+researcher$	1495 (6.60)	Breastfeeding reduces SIDS (recent study on SIDS)
gaither,+alcohol,+drug,+pregnancy,+birth	680 (3.00)	Risks of smoking and alcohol while pregnant (including risk of SIDS), Muslim habits versus that of the West (regarding behavior while pregnant and risk of SIDS), and high infant mortality rates in the United States (possibly due to SIDS)
step2,halo,snoozypod,carle,+giveaway	623 (2.75)	Halo SleepSack information, including advertisement and Web-based giveaway (founders lost infant to SIDS), personal recommendations on sleep, and how to prevent SIDS
+thermometer,shu,avery,+monitor,+technology	395 (1.74)	Report on health-monitoring technologies for babies to prevent SIDS
and_kell,kenjaques,vbalance03,badzoot7,drpaolini	224 (0.99)	Explanation for SIDS (vaccines do not cause SIDS)

Another theme identified was safe sleep devices. In November, safe sleep messaging included advertising for the following: Baby Box Co, Baby Box University, and a baby hammock. The concept of a baby box was also present in October, where 3 topics specifically discussed the concept of a baby box, Baby Box University, and Finnbin Box. In November, 2 topics were related to safe sleep devices; one topic included baby box initiatives, and advertising for the Halo SleepSack was also found. In November, an entire topic was dedicated to infant health-monitoring devices and SIDS.

A third theme identified was the potential cause of SIDS. In September, 5 of the topics were related to the causes of SIDS and identified the following as contributing to SIDS: vaccines, alteration in serotonin, and brainstem abnormality or

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e10435/

RenderX

cardiac-mediated SIDS. Within this category, however, it was also mentioned that vaccines do not cause SIDS. In October, 2 themes were related to the potential cause of SIDS: one was tweets calling out individuals and claiming that the United States and vaccines cause SIDS; the other was about an Australian study that found alterations in serotonin contributes to SIDS. Finally, in November, 2 of the topics included information on the cause of SIDS, including a transcript from an antivaccine conference where vaccines are claimed to cause SIDS, as well as a tweet stating vaccines do not cause SIDS.

The fourth theme identified was a recent study's findings that breastfeeding reduces SIDS. Additionally, the risk associated with smoking and alcohol use during pregnancy was a theme. Within this topic was a detailed comparison of Muslim habits

versus those of the West with regards to smoking and alcohol use during pregnancy.

Finally, the month of October demonstrated 5 topics that detailed personal and specific stories of infant loss. These stories included those of a football player who lost an infant and a baby that died in an Oregon daycare from SIDS. This was expected as October is Pregnancy and Infant Loss Awareness Month [28].

Influencers and Reach

Data on top influencers for SIDS and safe sleep for the months of September, October, and November 2017 have presented in Tables 4-6, respectively.

The top influences were news organizations, universities, and health-related organizations, such as the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and WebMD. One top influencer, The Australian, shared information about an Australian study linking brain chemicals to SIDS; this study's findings continued in its popularity throughout this analysis.

Another top influencer, ABS-CBN News, a Filipino news organization, posted about breastfeeding and reducing the risk of SIDS, while another top influencer, Forbes Health, later posted about formula not doubling the risk of SIDS. Likewise, other top influencers, WebMD, Today's Parent, and Norton Healthcare, posted about how breastfeeding reduced the risk of SIDS.

Thus, the topics posted by the top influencers primarily addressed the Australian research study linking brain chemicals to SIDS, risk factors for SIDS (alcohol use), and SIDS prevention (primarily discussing the importance of breastfeeding).

Laste it budden mant death binden ber bit ber bit ber ber ber

Influencer	Posted description of the influencer	Number of followers	Post topic
The Australian, @australian	News from The Australian newspaper and The Australian Online.	644,471	Australian study linking brain chemicals to SIDS
United Nations Human Rights, @UNHumanRights	The United Nations #HumanRights office is led by High Commissioner #Zeid.	1,834,760	Unrelated topic, standing up for human rights
Uni of Adelaide, @UniofAdelaide	Official account with answers for your uni questions.	43,925	Australian study linking brain chemicals to SIDS
CDC_NCBDDD, @CDC_NCBDDD	CDC's Center protecting those most vulnerable to health risks: babies, children, people with blood disorders, and people living with disabilities.	6408	Alcohol use during pregnancy can also lead to miscarriage, stillbirth, and SIDS

Table 5. Sudden infant death syndrome (SIDS) and safe sleep top influencers for October 2017.

Influencer	Posted description of the influencer	Number of	Post topic
		Ionowers	
ABS-CBN News, @ABSCBNNews	Stories, video, and multimedia for Filipinos world- wide, from ABS-CBN News and Current Affairs, the Philippines' most trusted news organization.	5,588,990	Breastfeeding lowers risk of SIDS
Rutgers University, @RutgersU	Rutgers, The State University of New Jersey, is a leading public research university.	124,465	SIDS prevention
Tesco, @Tesco	Every little helps. Follow us for quick and easy recipes, food inspiration and helpful home hacks.	512,320	Unrelated topic (insect is pronounced "soh- sids")
The Advertiser, @theTiser	Breaking news and features from The Advertiser and Sunday Mail.	131,246	Australian study linking brain chemicals to SIDS



Table 6. Sudden infant death syndrome (SIDS) and safe sleep top influencers for November 2017.

Influencer	Posted description of the influencer	Number of followers	Post topic
Forbes Health, @ forbeshealth	@Forbes news covering the business of big pharma, health care and science.	74,653	Formula feeding does not double risk of SIDS
WebMD, @WebMD	WebMD and our medical team bring you the most trust-worthy and timely health news and information.	2,576,232	Study supporting breastfeeding reducing risk of SIDS
Today's Parent, @Todaysparent	"The days are long, but the years are short." Cana- da's #1 parenting brand.	2,526,850	Study supporting breastfeeding reducing risk of SIDS
Norton Healthcare, @Norton_Health	Official page. Caring for our community and tweeting because we believe #health should keep up life.	6390	Study supporting breastfeeding reducing risk of SIDS

Table 7. Trending hashtags (by order of occurrence and month).

Month	Trending hashtags
September	#sids, #vaccines, #unga, #hr36, #safesleep365, #autism, #vaxxed
October	#sids, #vaccines, #safesleep, #sidsawarenessmonth, #caboverde, #learntherisk, #uxnow
November	#myonesciencetweet, #thankyoursid, #sids, #cop23, #nottobacco, #280characters, #vaccines

The organizations with the most reach varied by month and included goodhealth, ABS-CBN News, and WebMD. These organizations shared the following messages: swaddling may put babies at risk for SIDS and breastfeeding reduces SIDS. Notably, there is no dominant social media voice related to this issue, with reach driven primarily by topical news stories.

Hashtags and Most Shared Mentions

The trending hashtags related to the topics have been presented in Table 7.

When comparing the trending hashtags, the topic of vaccines persisted throughout September, October, and November. For instance, "#vaccines" was the second most common hashtag in September and October. "#autism" came in as the sixth most common hashtag in September; this highlights the continued debate among the public regarding the possible link between vaccines and SIDS, as well as autism, despite public health efforts.

Furthermore, a marked variation existed among the most shared positive mentions, identifying the popularity of stories of personal loss as well as efforts of the AAP to educate the public on safe sleep and SIDS. In September, the most shared positive mention was a tweet from a host on NBC Sports with 25,367 followers, asking for donations to a friend who lost their 4-month old to SIDS. In October, the most shared positive mention was from HealthyChildren, the official parenting website of the AAP, with 39,082 followers, offering information about placing babies to sleep on their back as well information about SIDS and safe sleep environments. It is worth highlighting that this is the only mention of a safe sleep environment when reviewing the top influencers, those with the most reach, and the most shared positive mentions. The most shared negative mention of the keywords occurred in November, when Doc Bastard, with 16,508 followers tweeted "Vaccines do not cause

autism, SIDS, autoimmune disorders, diabetes, or cancer. They cause adults."

Discussion

Principal Findings

Analyzing social media to better understand a subset of the population's perceptions and exposure to information is a helpful and essential tool. This analysis of conversations surrounding the concepts of SIDS and safe sleep has helped identify major themes that otherwise would have persisted without acknowledgment from the medical or public health communities. In understanding the topics and themes that are popular on social media, health care and public health professionals can begin to address some of the common misconceptions and beliefs regarding SIDS and safe sleep. Furthermore, this analysis has been helpful in pointing out the general lack of public health agencies' presence on social media. With the information gained from this analysis, health care professionals and those in the public health arena can begin to have a more directed dialogue with the public and engage in more effective communication about this topic with the goal of ultimately reducing the incidence of SIDS due to unsafe sleep environments.

There is an opportunity for health care providers to engage in conversation with families about conflicting information they may be exposed to via social media, with the goal of providing accurate information. In this analysis, we identified themes that demonstrated conflicting statements that may be confusing for the average social media user. For instance, there is the mixed message of vaccines causing SIDS and vaccines not causing SIDS; this conflicting and contradicting finding is similar to what was found in an analysis of Twitter to better understand emerging topics and current vaccine perspectives [29]. In that analysis of Twitter data, there was an identified prevalence of negative sentiment surrounding vaccines as well as distrust toward organizations that deliver scientific evidence.

```
XSL•FO
```

Furthermore, the general conflicting ideas among themes are consistent with the identification of confusion and misunderstanding that was found in a study attempting to better understand the misunderstanding regarding and misuse of antibiotics through a Twitter analysis [22]. Therefore, this identified theme provides an opportunity for health care and public health professionals to openly address this confusion and reassure families that vaccines do not cause SIDS.

Another area of opportunity was highlighted in October. There was markedly high Twitter activity in October, which was expected given that October was Pregnancy and Infant Loss Awareness Month [28]. However, this appeared to lend itself to more stories of personal loss rather than an increased public health presence to promote safe sleep awareness or SIDS prevention. Similarly, another study found that tragic deaths were highlighted rather than AAP guidelines for safe sleep reviewed in an analysis of websites to determine the accuracy of safe sleep [30]. Thus, health care professionals and public health agencies should respond by pairing personal stories of loss with recommendations for safe sleep and SIDS prevention. Because in October, there was an increase in the overall activity, but not specifically regarding safe sleep and SIDS prevention, this creates an opportunity for continued education and discussion of safe sleep recommendations originating from either health care professionals or public health agencies. As an example of outreach, researchers working in this area could coordinate with institutional communication offices to share and spread their work; such an approach is likely to have a substantial reach given the power of institutional press releases and communication channels in this analysis.

In addition, health care providers and public health agencies should address the amount of advertising noted in this analysis. For instance, much of the safe sleep recommendations and guidelines were embedded with advertising for safe sleep products. Some of these products follow and promote AAP guidelines for safe sleep, while others, such as the baby hammock, do not. The popularity of baby box initiatives and infant health-monitoring devices should also be recognized. This finding of incomplete congruence of safe sleep recommendations among advertised products is similar to prior findings of inaccurate safe sleep portrayed online [30]. Understanding the commonality of advertised safe sleep devices and infant health-monitoring devices is important so that practitioners can engage in more productive and effective communication with patients regarding the topic of SIDS and safe sleep behavior. Furthermore, public health agencies can address this issue by openly commenting on the lack of evidence to support many of these products, as well as the potential hazards associated with them.

Finally, public health campaigns and efforts should utilize university and news outlets to reach out to public for educational and more effective health communication regarding the topic of SIDS and safe sleep recommendations; this statement is based on the finding that the major influencers were noted to be universities and news media organizations. Furthermore, as previously mentioned, it is emphasized that public health organizations need to play a more active role in combating false information that is so readily shared via social media outlets; this sentiment is also shared by other researchers who have analyzed social media [21,22,31].

Limitations

When considering the implications of this work and directions for future research, it is necessary to recognize this study's limitations. Although the Twitter users have been profiled [19], the findings cannot be completely generalized to the American population. Therefore, the themes identified may only apply to a subset of the American population. Additionally, the validity of the postings on social media may not have been intended to be taken at face value and may include gross exaggerations. Thus, generalizing from these statements may not be a completely accurate reflection. Furthermore, top influencers were determined by the number of followers, mentions, and shares rather than the number of retweets. A different algorithm could potentially identify other top influencers and, thus, impact the findings of this analysis. Moreover, the time period during which the analysis was performed could impact the identified topics. Efforts were made to include September, October, and November to adequately capture the potential effects of October being Pregnancy and Infant Loss Awareness Month. However, a different time period may have resulted in different topics surrounding SIDS and safe sleep. Furthermore, analyzing 3 consecutive months does not control for carryover effect and may have impacted the identified monthly themes.

Conclusions

This study offers valuable information regarding what a subset of the American population believes and is exposed to with regards to SIDS and safe sleep. It highlights the contradicting information that the public is exposed to regarding SIDS and the continued controversy over vaccines. Furthermore, this analysis emphasizes the lack of public health organizations' presence on Twitter compared with the influence of universities and news media organizations. This study also demonstrates the prevalence of safe sleep products that are embedded in safe sleep messaging. Such findings can assist health care providers in speaking about relevant topics when engaging in conversations about the prevention of SIDS and promotion of safe sleep. Public health agencies and advocates should further utilize social media and Twitter to better communicate accurate health information as well as continue to combat the spread of false information.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.



References

- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2015. Infant deaths: linked birth/infant death records URL: <u>https://wonder.</u> <u>cdc.gov/lbd-current.html</u> [accessed 2018-07-07] [WebCite Cache ID 70jlWSnsi]
- Moon RY, Task Force on Sudden Infant Death Syndrome. SIDS and other sleep-related infant deaths: evidence base for 2016 updated recommendations for a safe infant sleeping environment. Pediatrics 2016 Nov;138(5) [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.2016-2940] [Medline: 27940805]
- Task Force on Sudden Infant Death Syndrome, Moon RY. SIDS and other sleep-related infant deaths: expansion of recommendations for a safe infant sleeping environment. Pediatrics 2011 Nov;128(5):1030-1039. [doi: 10.1542/peds.2011-2284] [Medline: 22007004]
- 4. Gaydos LM, Blake SC, Gazmararian JA, Woodruff W, Thompson WW, Dalmida SG. Revisiting safe sleep recommendations for African-American infants: why current counseling is insufficient. Matern Child Health J 2015 Mar;19(3):496-503. [doi: 10.1007/s10995-014-1530-z] [Medline: 24889117]
- Shapiro-Mendoza CK, Kimball M, Tomashek KM, Anderson RN, Blanding S. US infant mortality trends attributable to accidental suffocation and strangulation in bed from 1984 through 2004: are rates increasing? Pediatrics 2009 Feb;123(2):533-539. [doi: <u>10.1542/peds.2007-3746</u>] [Medline: <u>19171619</u>]
- Bombard JM, Kortsmit K, Warner L, Shapiro-Mendoza CK, Cox S, Kroelinger CD, et al. Vital Signs: Trends and Disparities in Infant Safe Sleep Practices - United States, 2009-2015. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2018 Jan 12;67(1):39-46 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6701e1] [Medline: 29324729]
- McKenna JJ, McDade T. Why babies should never sleep alone: a review of the co-sleeping controversy in relation to SIDS, bedsharing and breast feeding. Paediatr Respir Rev 2005 Jun;6(2):134-152. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.prrv.2005.03.006</u>] [Medline: <u>15911459</u>]
- 8. Schaeffer P, Asnes AG. What Do Pediatricians Tell Parents About Bed-Sharing? Matern Child Health J 2018 Jan;22(1):51-58. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10995-017-2353-5</u>] [Medline: <u>28766090</u>]
- 9. Carlberg MM, Shapiro-Mendoza CK, Goodman M. Maternal and infant characteristics associated with accidental suffocation and strangulation in bed in US infants. Matern Child Health J 2012 Nov;16(8):1594-1601. [doi: 10.1007/s10995-011-0855-0] [Medline: 21769585]
- 10. Mitchell EA. SIDS: past, present and future. Acta Paediatr 2009 Nov;98(11):1712-1719. [doi: 10.1111/j.1651-2227.2009.01503.x] [Medline: 19807704]
- 11. Perrin, A. Pew Research Center. 2015 Oct 08. Social Media Usage: 2005-2015 URL: <u>http://www.pewinternet.org/2015/</u> 10/08/social-networking-usage-2005-2015/ [accessed 2018-07-07] [WebCite Cache ID 70jm19xkn]
- 12. Chou WS, Hunt YM, Beckjord EB, Moser RP, Hesse BW. Social media use in the United States: implications for health communication. J Med Internet Res 2009;11(4):e48 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1249] [Medline: 19945947]
- Cohen J, Raymond J. HOW THE INTERNET IS GIVING BIRTH (TO) A NEW SOCIAL ORDER. Information, Communication & Society 2011 Sep 29;14(6):937-957 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1080/1369118X.2011.582132</u>] [Medline: <u>25543854</u>]
- Edwards-Gaura A, Whitaker D, Self-Brown S. Can social networking be used to promote engagement in child maltreatment prevention programs? Two pilot studies. West J Emerg Med 2014 Aug;15(5):575-581 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.5811/westjem.2014.4.21413</u>] [Medline: <u>25157304</u>]
- Gage-Bouchard EA, LaValley S, Mollica M, Beaupin LK. Cancer Communication on Social Media: Examining How Cancer Caregivers Use Facebook for Cancer-Related Communication. Cancer Nurs 2017;40(4):332-338. [doi: 10.1097/NCC.00000000000418] [Medline: 27442210]
- Herring SJ, Cruice JF, Bennett GG, Davey A, Foster GD. Using technology to promote postpartum weight loss in urban, low-income mothers: a pilot randomized controlled trial. J Nutr Educ Behav 2014;46(6):610-615 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jneb.2014.06.002</u>] [Medline: <u>25069621</u>]
- Mitchell SJ, Godoy L, Shabazz K, Horn IB. Internet and mobile technology use among urban African American parents: survey study of a clinical population. J Med Internet Res 2014 Jan 13;16(1):e9 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2673] [Medline: 24418967]
- Naftel RP, Safiano NA, Falola MI, Shannon CN, Wellons JC, Johnston JM. Technology preferences among caregivers of children with hydrocephalus. J Neurosurg Pediatr 2013 Jan;11(1):26-36. [doi: <u>10.3171/2012.9.PEDS12208</u>] [Medline: <u>23092227</u>]
- 19. Greenwood S, Perrin A, Duggan M. Pew Research Center. 2016 Nov 11. Social Media Update 2016 URL: <u>http://www.pewinternet.org/2016/11/11/social-media-update-2016/</u> [accessed 2018-07-07] [WebCite Cache ID 70jmXYZ72]
- Swindle TM, Ward WL, Whiteside-Mansell L, Bokony P, Pettit D. Technology use and interest among low-income parents of young children: differences by age group and ethnicity. J Nutr Educ Behav 2014;46(6):484-490. [doi: 10.1016/j.jneb.2014.06.004] [Medline: 25087748]
- Cassa CA, Chunara R, Mandl K, Brownstein JS. Twitter as a sentinel in emergency situations: lessons from the Boston marathon explosions. PLoS Curr 2013 Jul 02;5 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/currents.dis.ad70cd1c8bc585e9470046cde334ee4b] [Medline: 23852273]

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e10435/
- 22. Scanfeld D, Scanfeld V, Larson EL. Dissemination of health information through social networks: twitter and antibiotics. Am J Infect Control 2010 Apr;38(3):182-188 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ajic.2009.11.004] [Medline: 20347636]
- 23. Hefler M, Freeman B, Chapman S. Tobacco control advocacy in the age of social media: using Facebook, Twitter and change. Tob Control 2013 May;22(3):210-214. [doi: 10.1136/tobaccocontrol-2012-050721] [Medline: 23047890]
- 24. Chakraborty G, Pagolu M, Garla S. Text Mining and Analysis: Practical Methods, Examples, and Case Studies Using SAS. Cary, N.C: SAS Institute; 2014.
- 25. NUVI. Lehi, UT; 2018. URL: http://www.nuvi.com/ [accessed 2017-09-01] [WebCite Cache ID 70jmxRStr]
- Lazard AJ, Saffer AJ, Wilcox GB, Chung AD, Mackert MS, Bernhardt JM. E-Cigarette Social Media Messages: A Text Mining Analysis of Marketing and Consumer Conversations on Twitter. JMIR Public Health Surveill 2016 Dec 12;2(2):e171 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/publichealth.6551] [Medline: 27956376]
- Glowacki EM, Lazard AJ, Wilcox GB, Mackert M, Bernhardt JM. Identifying the public's concerns and the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention's reactions during a health crisis: An analysis of a Zika live Twitter chat. Am J Infect Control 2016 Dec 01;44(12):1709-1711. [doi: 10.1016/j.ajic.2016.05.025] [Medline: 27544795]
- United States Statutes at Large. Washington, D.C: United States Government Printing Office; 1991. URL: <u>https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/STATUTE-103/pdf/STATUTE-103-FrontMatter-2-Pgi.pdf</u> [accessed 2017-07-07] [WebCite Cache ID 71qmu53bu]
- Kang GJ, Ewing-Nelson SR, Mackey L, Schlitt JT, Marathe A, Abbas KM, et al. Semantic network analysis of vaccine sentiment in online social media. Vaccine 2017 Dec 22;35(29):3621-3638 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2017.05.052] [Medline: 28554500]
- 30. Chung M, Oden RP, Joyner BL, Sims A, Moon RY. Safe infant sleep recommendations on the Internet: let's Google it. J Pediatr 2012 Dec;161(6):1080-1084 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2012.06.004] [Medline: 22863258]
- Lazard AJ, Wilcox GB, Tuttle HM, Glowacki EM, Pikowski J. Public reactions to e-cigarette regulations on Twitter: a text mining analysis. Tob Control 2017 Dec;26(e2):e112-e116. [doi: <u>10.1136/tobaccocontrol-2016-053295</u>] [Medline: <u>28341768</u>]

Abbreviations

AAP: American Academy of PediatricsAPI: application programming interfaceASSB: accidental suffocation and strangulation in bedHINTS: Health Information National Trends SurveySIDS: sudden infant death syndrome

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 16.03.18; peer-reviewed by L Whiteside-Mansell, N Yonemoto; comments to author 13.06.18; revised version received 08.07.18; accepted 10.07.18; published 07.09.18.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Pretorius KA, Mackert M, Wilcox GB Sudden Infant Death Syndrome and Safe Sleep on Twitter: Analysis of Influences and Themes to Guide Health Promotion Efforts JMIR Pediatr Parent 2018;1(2):e10435 URL: <u>http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e10435/</u> doi:<u>10.2196/10435</u> PMID:<u>31518314</u>

©Kelly A Pretorius, Michael Mackert, Gary B Wilcox. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 07.09.2018. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Exploring Social Media Group Use Among Breastfeeding Mothers: Qualitative Analysis

Kara Renee Skelton¹, BS, MEd, PhD; Retta Evans², PhD; Jenna LaChenaye², PhD; Jonathan Amsbary², PhD; Martha Wingate², PhD; Laura Talbott², PhD

¹Department of Health, Behavior and Society, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, United States ²University of Alabama at Birmingham, Birmingham, AL, United States

Corresponding Author:

Kara Renee Skelton, BS, MEd, PhD Department of Health, Behavior and Society Johns Hopkins University 624 N Broadway Baltimore, MD, 21205 United States Phone: 1 205 563 3412 Email: <u>kara.skelton@jhu.edu</u>

Abstract

Background: Breastfeeding is well known as the optimal source of nutrition for the first year of life. However, suboptimal exclusively breastfeeding rates in the United States are still prevalent. Given the extent of social media use and the accessibility of this type of peer-to-peer support, the role of social networking sites in enabling and supporting breastfeeding mothers needs to be further explored.

Objective: This study aimed to leverage mothers' attitudes and behaviors of social media usage to understand effects on breastfeeding outcomes.

Methods: Participants were recruited from 1 probreastfeeding social media group with over 6300 members throughout the United States. Online focus group discussions were conducted with 21 women; interviews were conducted with 12 mothers. Qualitative data were aggregated for thematic analysis.

Results: Participants indicated that the social media group formed a community of support for breastfeeding, with normalizing breastfeeding, empowerment for breastfeeding, resource for breastfeeding, and shared experiences in breastfeeding as additional themes.

Conclusions: According to participants, social media groups can positively influence breastfeeding-related attitudes, knowledge, and behaviors as well as lead to longer duration of breastfeeding. The results of this study should be taken into account when designing interventions for breastfeeding mothers.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2018;1(2):e11344) doi:10.2196/11344

KEYWORDS

social media; milk; human; breastfeeding

Introduction

Background

RenderX

Major health organizations, including the American Academy of Pediatrics, World Health Organization, and Academy for Breastfeeding Medicine, recommend, at minimum, exclusively breastfeeding for the first 6 months of life, with continued breastfeeding for at least 1 year and thereafter as mutually desired by both mother and infant [1-3]. Although breastmilk

has been well known as the optimal source of nutrition for infants for decades, research continues to accumulate on the benefits of breastfeeding for the mother-infant dyad, building an extensive scientific database of high-level research consisting of qualitative and quantitative studies.

According to the Centers for Disease Control and Preventions' 2018 Breastfeeding Report Card, approximately 4 out of 5 (4/5, 83%) infants born in 2015 were ever breastfed, with rates increasing from previous years. In addition, an estimated 57.6% of infants were breastfed at 6 months. However, less than half

of those infants (24.9%) were exclusively breastfed at 6 months [4]. Breastfeeding disparities exist for southeastern states, where breastfeeding initiation rates are as low as 63.2%, and 6-month breastfeeding exclusivity at a mere 13.0% for Mississippi. For southeastern states, the highest prevalence of breastfeeding at 6 months occurred in Georgia (55.5%), which is lower than the US national average [4]. Furthermore, Healthy People 2020 has specific Maternal, Infant, and Child Health objectives (MICH) for breastfeeding, with MICH-21.5's focus on breastfeeding exclusively through 6 months [5].

A recent, extensive meta-review of 28 systematic reviews and meta-analyses reasserted the most known and agreed upon effects of exclusively breastfeeding for the infant: lower infectious morbidity and mortality, higher intelligence than those who are formula fed, and protection against later-in-life development of overweight and diabetes, to name a few [1,6,7]. In addition to the direct benefits of exclusively breastfeeding for the infant, there are also benefits gained by the mother from exclusively breastfeeding, which include protection against breast cancer, delayed onset of ovulation, and reduction in both ovarian and breast cancer risk [6]. A recent cost-benefit analysis for breastfeeding estimated that the scaling up of breastfeeding could prevent 823,000 child deaths and 20,000 breast cancer deaths per year worldwide [6]. These benefits associated with breastfeeding are key components for health promotion and disease prevention for the mother-infant dyad [8-11], which is why it is important for women to be able to not only attempt breastfeeding but also be successful at it.

Access to social support during the perinatal and postpartum periods have been linked to better maternal health and child development outcomes as well as increased relationship satisfaction (for partner-to-partner as well as parent-child interactions) [12,13]. Conversely, lack of social support is often cited as a reason for breastfeeding cessation [14-17]. Peer support can come from family, friends, or even other mothers who are strangers [17,18], and this support can occur in-person or across virtual modalities [17,19,20]. A recent meta-analysis of social support interventions for breastfeeding mothers has shown to increase breastfeeding initiation by 86% and exclusive breastfeeding by 20% [21]. The US Preventive Services Task Force recommends peer support as 1 of the 3 recommended types (professional support and formal education being the other 2) during pregnancy and after birth to support breastfeeding [22].

In recent years, research around the juncture of motherhood and technology has grown significantly [13,23]. Social media outlets have been used to spread health-related messages as well as to provide a *forum* for those seeking health information. The main advantage of using social networking sites (SNSs) concerning health information is that they enable the widespread interaction of users as both receivers and providers of health information and knowledge [24]. Although the number of studies around social media use, social capital, and technology has increased, there is still much to be explored in this emerging realm—especially regarding MICH.

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e11344/

Objectives

The exponential growth of user-generated content embedded within SNS elicits a need for a further understanding of communication dynamics involved in these online forums [25]. Although numerous studies have provided a foundation for evidence of SNSs as community building and even stated the use of groups on Facebook as a pathway for community interaction [23], there is a lack of knowledge in the scientific community about how breastfeeding mothers influence other mothers online and how these influences impact mother's and infant's health outcomes. In addition, there exists (minimal, at best) research on how communication between breastfeeding mothers who use SNS supports breastfeeding. As it is well known that social relationships and support play a critical role in breastfeeding-related behaviors, social media usage is a topic of importance [26,27].

Furthermore, the use of virtual communities within SNSs for knowledge sharing is only recently being studied [28]. Individual's personal values can often serve as motivation for knowledge sharing in the absence of personal familiarity or assumptions of direct reciprocity, indicating social capital plays a significant role in knowledge contribution within the online realm [29]. Despite the growth in literature regarding knowledge sharing within SNS, current research on breastfeeding-related behaviors and outcomes within the realm of SNS is narrow, focusing on extrinsic motivators, already known benefits of breastfeeding, or familial or partner support. There exists immense opportunity for recently emerged technologies, such as social media groups on SNSs, to provide interaction, support, and information to breastfeeding mothers. However, to date, there exists very little information regarding breastfeeding mothers' use of social media groups and its impact on knowledge, attitudes, and behaviors. To address this gap, the proposed study aims to leverage mothers' attitudes and behaviors of social media usage to understand effects on breastfeeding outcomes.

The qualitative findings shared here are part of a mixed-methods study to comprehensively explore mothers' behaviors and attitudes of social media group usage toward the online platform as a means of increasing breastfeeding uptake. The goal of the qualitative phase of the study is to gain meaningful, in-depth insight into the mindset of mothers. The following research question guided the qualitative strand of the study: How does social media group usage support breastfeeding mothers?

Methods

Study Design and Setting

The results of the qualitative strand of this study were used to guide the development of a quantitative tool to assess breastfeeding mothers' social media group use and breastfeeding-related attitudes, knowledge, and outcomes. Participants were selected purposefully through a snowball sampling design. Women who were members of a Facebook probreastfeeding social media group were recruited via a post on the group wall in the fall of 2017. This group was selected because of the large number of members (>6300), their *probreastfeeding* approach (as designated by the title of the

group), and accessibility to the group (US-based). This Facebook group originally stemmed from an in-person support group based at a mid-sized hospital in Birmingham, Alabama. However, there are no restrictions for joining the group: any and all breastfeeding moms are welcome, according to the Facebook group description. There are 5 administrators of the group, some of whom have International Board Certified Lactation Consultant (IBCLC) certification and others who do not have any professional training but are experienced in breastfeeding, either from feeding their children or from other experience (eg, work experience as a labor and delivery or neonatal intensive care unit nurse or from being a lactation counselor or dietician). Study participation was limited to women who were pregnant and intended to breastfeed, were currently breastfeeding, or who had recently weaned their infant in the past 3 years.

Study Participants

After screening for inclusion criteria, eligible participants were asked to participate in 1 of the 3 online focus group discussions (FGDs) or one-on-one interviews. Recruitment was conducted via wall posts within the group that asked mothers to participate in either a focus group or interview. Mothers who responded to recruitment posts were first asked to participate in focus groups. After focus groups were filled, respondents were then asked to participate in one-on-one interviews. All slots (as determined by when saturation would be achieved) were filled for both focus groups and interviews within 48 hours, so the post was then deleted. Of the 37 women recruited for online FGDs or interviews, all were eligible to participate. However, only 29 participants provided consent. A total of 21 participants participated in the online FGDs and 12 mothers participated in interviews; 4 mothers participated in both the online FGDs and interviews for validity purposes.

Data Collection

After informed consent was obtained, online FGD participants were randomized to either the first, second, or third online FGD. Participants were then added to a secret online group and asked to complete a demographic questionnaire before participating in the online FGDs. The online FGDs were asynchronous, and participants were given 4 days to read and respond to the initial post as well as to respond to and interact with others in the group. Detailed methodology, including reflection on the utilization of this methodology with mothers, is published elsewhere [30]. The intent of the interviews was to generate greater depth on themes brought up in the online FGDs. As such, the online FGD analysis guided the development of the interview instrument. The interview instrument was designed to be open-ended and to elicit thoughts, feelings, and experiences about social media use and breastfeeding (eg, How do you think the probreastfeeding group has impacted your breastfeeding relationship? What about the other social media groups?, Discuss a time that a social media breastfeeding group has impacted a decision or choice you made in regards to breastfeeding, What are some barriers or pitfalls to using social media to post or interact with other mothers about breastfeeding?, and How would you describe the information posted in probreastfeeding group in regards to accuracy?). This guide was developed to be

XSL•FO RenderX comprehensive of themes derived from the online FGDs, but open-ended enough to allow interviewees to describe their experiences. All interviews were performed after informed consent was obtained and demographic questionnaires were completed. Participants were compensated with a US \$10 Amazon gift card for their participation. Both online FGDs and interviews were conducted with the University of Alabama at Birmingham Institutional Review Board approval and oversight (REC300000306).

Data Analysis

Online FGDs and interview data were aggregated for analysis. The combined data transcript was then analyzed using Nvivo 10 (QSR International) for in-depth thematic analysis [31]. KRS coded the data and if she was unclear on a code, this was decided by the second coder. During initial coding, in-vivo coding was used for each phrase of the transcript, which was conducted by the researcher. The main reason for selecting an in vivo approach to coding was to stay true to the data, as this approach summarizes key phrases using participants' own words [32]. This approach is also advocated for within the framework approach for qualitative research analysis [32]. KRS also reviewed the coded data according to each theme and created a preliminary analysis results document to be shared with participants. This member checking was conducted to verify if the researchers' interpretation of the data was accurate. Themes were accepted by all 7 participants who were invited for member checking. The datasets generated and analyzed during this study are not publicly available as the authors do not have a website to publicly display them, but are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

Results

Demographics

At the time of enrollment, 2 women were currently pregnant (1 had previously breastfed and 1 was a first-time mother), 25 women were currently nursing, and 4 had weaned their child in the past 12 months. Other sociodemographic characteristics of participants are shown in Table 1.

Overall, 86% (25/29) of mothers selected their primary feeding method as exclusively breastfeeding (a mixture of at-breast feeds and breast milk bottles with no formula supplementation), with 16% (4/29) of these mothers feeding via at-breast feeds only and only 8% (2/29) exclusively pumping (infant only receives breastmilk from bottles). In total, 4 mothers reported ever providing supplementing formula; no infants were receiving formula supplementation at the time of the study. When asked how long they had been in the probreastfeeding social media group, most (18/29, 62%) had been in the group for more than 12 months, with 13% (4/29) and 34.% (10/29) being in the group between 6 and 12 months and less than 6 months, respectively. Interaction with the group varied: 75% (22/29) participants said they give advice and ask questions regularly within the group and 17% (5/29) stated that they do not interact regularly. For those who do not interact regularly, participants reported they searched in the group before posting or had recently weaned their infant as reasons why they were not currently active in the group.

Skelton et al

Table 1. Demographic characteristics of online focus group discussions and one-on-one interview participants (N=29).

	1 ()
Demographic characteristics	Statistics
Age in years, mean (range)	29.7 (23-40)
Race, n (%)	
African American	3 (10)
American Indian	1 (3)
White	25 (86)
Education, n (%)	
High school diploma or some college	11 (38)
Bachelor's degree (4 year)	10 (35)
Master's degree	6 (21)
Professional degree (Juris Doctor and Doctor of Medicine)	1 (3)
Working status, n (%)	
Full- or part-time	25 (86)
Not working	4 (14)
Type of birth, n (%)	
Vaginal or vaginal birth after Cesarean	22 (76)
C-section	7 (24)
Infant ever admitted to neonatal intensive care unit, n (%)	0 (0)
Interaction with social media group, n (%)	
Ask questions	22 (76)
Give advice	22 (76)
Does not interact regularly	5 (17)

Participants' attitudes, behaviors, and experiences with social media groups while breastfeeding were analyzed. The analysis resulted in 1 overarching theme of community, with the following supporting themes: (1) normalizing breastfeeding; (2) empowerment for breastfeeding; (3) resource for breastfeeding; and (4) shared experiences in breastfeeding. These themes are elaborated in detail below, providing quotes from participants for further harmonization and understanding.

Normalizing Breastfeeding

Mothers felt the group helped to combat stigma by normalizing breastfeeding, which emerged as a supporting theme. A large majority of posts were discussing how stigmatized breastfeeding still is, both on social media and in the real world. The stigma or fear of judgment extended beyond the realm of the public sphere and into the mothers' families. Participants described the process as "isolating":

Breastfeeding is still taboo in public. Sometimes our husbands or significant others or family members aren't supportive.

The theme of unsupportive friends and family members reigned throughout both online FGDs and one-on-one interviews:

Attitudes from friends and family definitely impacted my breastfeeding relationship. I felt unwanted a lot when visiting my in-laws and almost stopped nursing several times because of it. I feel like their attitudes also made me act unfairly towards my daughter. I often wouldn't let her control how long the session lasted because I knew they would come and ask if we were done yet.

Although a majority of mothers felt like their friends and family were not supportive of breastfeeding, a few reported that their friends and family were supportive:

I do however have one friend who has done nothing but encourage and support me. Her attitude helped me feel secure in my decisions until I decided to wean and she encouraged me to continue. She was still supportive when I went through with it though.

Again, most participants felt that breastfeeding was still stigmatized, especially certain aspects of breastfeeding or how a mother chose to breastfeed (eg exclusively breastfeeding, exclusively pumping, or supplementing while breastfeeding). One participant commented:

A breastfeeding barrier that seem to be the most common for me is unsupportive people. Whether that's from comments on social media posts on breastfeeding, a family member, or a stranger giving me the side eye while nursing in public.

In addition to breastfeeding, mothers mentioned breastfeeding in public, exclusively pumping, continued breastfeeding (past 12 months), cosleeping, nursing at night, and supplementing

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

while breastfeeding as all having their own *taboo*. As 1 participant stated:

Women are afraid of being shamed for breastfeeding. Whether it's for not being covered properly or the age of the child. I for one have experienced negative comments from some regarding nursing my 15 month old. Because of this, I don't readily advertise or discuss my breastfeeding relationship outside of the groups.

It was discussed that within the group, most mothers felt like the group itself tried to normalize breastfeeding for mothers. This included expectations—what to expect at the beginning of the breastfeeding relationship, during the weaning process, and everything in between. The group was described as providing participants the opportunity to "understand what to expect and what's 'normal'" and "feel that, as with anything else in life, if expectations are properly set, everyone will be more satisfied with the experience." This information sharing generated positive outcomes within the mothers' experiences and overall approach of the activity:

It affects my attitude because it helps me know what to expect and, if I know what to expect and what's "normal," I am better able to accept what's going on. For example, knowing that cluster feeding is a normal thing, it didn't stress me out and cause frustration.

Another mother stated:

Since there were so many other moms in the group, I felt like that [itself] made breastfeeding seem more normal, especially coming from a family where not one person has breastfed.

Mothers felt like this normalizing within the group contributed to the success of their breastfeeding outcomes.

Empowerment for Breastfeeding

Almost all mothers also talked about the sense of empowerment they felt from the group. They discussed this in the form of confidence, empowerment, and support. For 1 mother, the group played a vital role in her breastfeeding relationship:

With my oldest son, I did not breastfeed at all so I knew nothing. However, I knew I wanted to breastfeed this time around, so I joined several breastfeeding groups to learn as much as I could. I felt very overwhelmed and scared, but after reading others' experiences and asking questions I felt much more confident. I wasn't sure how long we'd make it, but we are at 8 months and going strong!

Mothers also discussed the high level of accountability in the group for encouraging one another. Some even stated that their breastfeeding duration or breastfeeding goals changed because of being in such a supportive and empowering environment. This was a common theme throughout both online FGDs and one-on-one interviews:

At the very beginning of my breastfeeding journey I was experiencing an extreme amount of pain. I wanted so badly to quit. The support I received from a social

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e11344/
```

media group was invaluable. I was encouraged to never quit on a bad day. I never quit, because of the encouragement I got [from the group].

Another topic brought up in many of the online FGDs and one-on-one interviews was nursing in public and the group's role in encouraging mothers to overcome this barrier. Many mothers talked about how supportive the social media group was for nursing in public, empowering and encouraging women to not be ashamed to feed their babies in public spaces, including parks, shopping centers, restaurants, and others' homes:

I am more willing to nurse in public than I would have been without being a part of these social media groups. I am very conservative but I now have nursed my son while shopping and speaking to a sales clerksomething I would never have dreamed of until I felt empowered by all of the ladies in these groups!

Enhanced confidence was also brought up as a result of being in the group, going along with the theme of empowerment. From first-time mothers to experienced breast feeders, the majority of participants stated the group helped them to alleviate concerns or self-doubt they had regarding breastfeeding. Issues around having enough milk supply, supplementation of formula, use of prescription medication, and going back to work were all brought up in regards to maternal confidence. However, mothers reported that the social media group helped them feel empowered and confident about these issues after interacting with other members:

Largely because of what I was reading in [the social media group] I gained the confidence to allow my son to nurse on demand, as opposed to trying so desperately to adhere to a nursing schedule. I also decided to wait until a week or so before I go back to work to begin preparing my pumped stash. Outside of these two decisions, I have gained confidence and affirmation about the decision to nurse in general and guidance on so many questions/concerns/doubts I've had as a first-time mom.

Resource

Mothers perceived the social media group to serve as a resource for breastfeeding mothers, providing real-time and accurate information for all things breastfeeding. Mothers in the study reported that just knowing the group existed to ask questions helped to alleviate their stress. Some mothers did not know any breastfeeding mothers, so the group served as a *pool* of potential mentor mothers to ask:

It benefitted me by having a resource for which I could ask literally any question under the sun related to breastfeeding, and I would have an answer and an explanation within hours, sometimes even within minutes. The ability to post on the group with questions and the peace of mind it gave me just knowing that it was there was very meaningful for me during my journey.

This value of information was further enriched by the level of availability to mothers, unlimited by time or access restraints:

Posting on social media groups will benefit us by making solid researched information, as well as personal experience from other moms, readily accessible. With no mothers in my own family who breastfed, the number of women to whom I can ask questions is very limited. Social media broadens that pool.

Mothers reported that the group was helpful at all hours of the day and night, where people could receive *real-time* answers. The real-time answers mothers reported to be helpful for sustaining their breastfeeding relationship covered a variety of topics and issues, stating:

I was really concerned about how much pumped milk to leave my baby when I returned to work. People flooded me with knowledge and charts to help calm my fears and helping my return to work become easier.

The social media group was reported to be a place of support and comfort when mothers did not know what to do or where to turn. This is prevalent throughout the data, but mothers discussed how after interacting with the group (through seeking advice, reading previous posts, or just interaction) their breastfeeding outcomes were positively impacted:

Well, when my child was going through his first growth spurt, he ate every single hour through the night. The next morning my mother-in-law expressed concern that my milk production was low or not keeping him full and asked if I wanted to supplement formula. Without the groups I'm in, I probably would've supplemented but because I could post and ask what to do, I found out it was completely normal and now we are on week 11 of breastfeeding.

This experience was common among participants, with outcomes stretching from basic nutrition to practical matters:

The [social media] group influenced me to still nurse as much as possible when our pediatrician recommended supplementing, they helped me know when my baby was gaining enough weight, they helped me decide how many times to pump at work, how many and what size bottles to send to daycare, etc.! I have learned so much!

Shared Experiences

A common theme brought up was 1 aspect of the group mothers really appreciated—shared experiences. Mothers discussed they felt more trusting and able to understand the advice given within the group, as it came from other breastfeeding mothers. These mothers had gone through the same struggles and triumphs as others and were able to impart their knowledge onto others who were experiencing a similar situation:

These groups help me make decisions based on hearing experiences from a large group of women. As mothers, we are constantly questing ourselves because we do not want to mess up our children. These groups help me learn from others so that I can

avoid some practices that might not be as effective as others.

Also reported in the online FGDs and one-on-one interviews was that mothers knew the value of having access to people with shared experiences. Most reported they did not know other mothers who were breastfeeding or had previously breastfed, so having the ability to ask advice and seek help from those who had gone through the experience in the group was a critical component of their successful breastfeeding relationship. Mothers discussed that they felt the shared experiences of others both comforting and empowering at the same time, stressing that "Nothing replaces training like experience. And doctors, and nurses, receive so little training in breastfeeding. Having the group as a resource is amazing" as well as simply "realizing I am not alone, in both the struggles and successes."

Others felt the social media groups helped them to feel more empathy and compassion for other mothers. Through shared experiences and shared struggles during the breastfeeding journey, mothers felt they were able to connect with other mothers:

I feel like I'm able to be more compassionate and have more empathy toward all moms, because, through stories on the group page, I learned about moms dealing with multiple bouts of mastitis, baby biting, thrush, blebs and blisters, low pump supply, etc. Because I never experienced those things first hand, I feel like I wouldn't be as understanding toward others having difficulty because I didn't know it could be so hard for some.

Community

The 1 overarching theme discussed in the online FGDs was *community*. Participants felt like the probreastfeeding social media group was a place where they felt a bond with other mothers and where they were understood. Some participants noted the group brought strangers together around 1 topic and united them. Participants described their relationship with the group as being "always nice to have a place to go where you are 'understood'" as well as appreciating the group's ability to "normalize not only breastfeeding but also the troubles that surround breastfeeding moms. It brings us together!"

Participants also brought up a strong sense of confidentiality within the community and current members of the community. They felt a strong sense of trust and nonjudgment from a group composed predominantly of strangers. However, participants said they would be hesitant to seek advice or help from the group if they had people they knew within the group. Coworkers, family, and even close friends were mentioned by participants within this context. As 1 participant shared:

I would be much less inclined to seek help from the group if I had coworkers that were also group members. I could see myself being too embarrassed to ask for help from people who know me, simply as a matter of pride.

A large portion of the discussion for both online FGDs and individual interviews integrated the trust and confidentiality

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e11344/
```

within the social media group, indicating that these types of groups may be a rich place for knowledge sharing.

Discussion

Principal Findings

The sense of community and shared experience as well as overall support in the breastfeeding practice were major themes that emerged. Furthermore, findings from this qualitative study elicit the notion that certain probreastfeeding social media groups could be considered a pillar of support for breastfeeding mothers, which is consistent with findings that mothers seek support for breastfeeding through a variety of channels [12,16,17,33]. These channels include in-person support groups, mobile apps, and online forums. Online support mechanisms, including mobile apps and social media, have only recently been explored for utilization during the postpartum periods [34,19,35], and even more recently for breastfeeding support [16,19,20]. As such, there is miniscule information on how social media groups support breastfeeding mothers; these results and findings shed light on topics not previously covered through traditional mothering groups and bring up novel areas for providing support to breastfeeding mothers.

Another main theme discussed in the online FGDs and interviews was normalizing breastfeeding. This included discussions on how the probreastfeeding social media group tried to iterate the normalcy of breastfeeding in public, exclusively pumping, continued breastfeeding, cobreast sleeping, and night nursing, to name a few. Participants brought up the fact that they often felt stigmatized within the real world in regard to breastfeeding, but did not feel any stigma within the social media group. Although literature has shown that the stigma associated with breastfeeding in public has been associated with lower breastfeeding rates, our results show that the mothers within this social media group empower one another to overcome their fears and tackle nursing in public breast-on [36]. Although most mothers reported not knowing what to expect during the breastfeeding journey, almost all participants said the group helped to define realistic expectations and what normal means for breastfeeding mothers. Along with helping to establish and maintain expectations, this social media group was found to help normalize breastfeeding, having a profoundly positive impact on the breastfeeding journey.

Organically brought up by mothers was the sense of empowerment for breastfeeding they received from their interaction with the social media probreastfeeding group. This empowerment came to fruition in the form of confidence, empowerment, and generalized support for breastfeeding. There was a very high level of support and trust within this social media group, which led mothers to discussing more personal and sensitive topics—disclosing they shared more personal information within the group than they shared with their pediatricians or obstetricians. Mothers reported having access to, being able to interact with, and ask questions to those who had already gone through the same struggles and triumphs during the breastfeeding relationship was an incredible asset within the probreastfeeding social media group. This led to mothers disclosing they trusted other mothers' advice within the probreastfeeding social media group more than they trusted their pediatricians' or obstetricians' breastfeeding-related advice. Pediatricians are not known as *experts* for breastfeeding; there are others (eg, IBCLCs, lactation consultants, and registered dieticians) who have extensive training and certifications to assist breastfeeding mothers. With the existence of these experts becoming more well known, it is not surprising that mothers are not trusting their pediatricians for breastfeeding advice. This also touches on the theme of peer support, which has been shown to help breastfeeding outcomes [12,16,22,33]. From mothers' discussions of their interactions, it became clear that access to other breastfeeding mothers was a key supporting factor for the mother-infant dyad. It was also reported that through this interaction, mothers became more empathic and compassionate toward other breastfeeding mothers, reporting they were able to connect more with others, both inside and outside the social media group. This shows the importance of dynamic relationships and peer support throughout the breastfeeding process, especially for the formation of trust, which can help mothers adopt breastfeeding recommendations.

Social media groups, in general, were found to be a resource for breastfeeding mothers. However, mothers felt the degree of accuracy of information varied among social media groups. When mothers discussed the probreastfeeding social media group, they elaborated on not only the reliability of the information but also on how much they loved having access to real-time information. For example, mothers were able to ask a question at 2 am and get an almost immediate response from another breastfeeding mother who was up. Mothers reported this real-time resource as being invaluable to them-rather than having to search multiple websites for a specific answer or wait until a pediatrician or obstetrician visit, mothers were able to get fast and valid information from a variety of people-including IBCLCs and mothers who had already experienced the issue. It is critical to discuss the rapport of the social media group when discussing social media groups as a resource for breastfeeding mothers, as this can lead to trust or distrust among the members. Findings from other studies show that online support can be helpful for not only parenting [27,37] but specifically for breastfeeding [19,37].

In a broader context, it is important to bring up the distinct differences brought up between mom groups or mothering groups and probreastfeeding groups within the realm of social media, as this was also brought up in the group. There exist both *mothering* and *parenting* groups, where all parenting-related questions can be asked (eg, teething, formula feeding, and sleep training). The social media group used for this study was a probreastfeeding group, by self-indication. Administrators deterred other topics unless they were related to breastfeeding. There were breastfeeding experts in this group as well as other mothers who had successfully breastfed, creating somewhat of a natural community of practice. Mothers reported the probreastfeeding social media group being known for its strong and accurate advice, whereas other broader groups were designated as proformula and shamed breastfeeding mothers. Although most women had positive experiences with social media groups, not all experiences were positive, and there exists great variability in the ability of a group to support

XSL•FO RenderX

breastfeeding. This may shed light on the importance of alignment to group values as a necessary ingredient for or predictor of positive experiences and support for breastfeeding within the social media group. Furthermore, this shows the need for social media groups that are dedicated to different parenting topics such as breastfeeding or nutrition.

Although this study has discussed breastfeeding mothers' perceptions on the role of a probreastfeeding social media group for breastfeeding support, it is by no means exhaustive of all social media groups or of all breastfeeding mothers. However, now that qualitative data have been explored and it is known that social media groups could positively influence breastfeeding attitudes, opportunities to further explore this topic are immense. One area not explored in this study is unintended consequences of these types of social media groups. As this was a cross-sectional design, it is not best to answer this type of question. Future research should explore unintended consequences in a holistic manner. It is clear that there is a need for future research to design and implement interventions using social media groups in breastfeeding mothers to see if associations with standard breastfeeding outcomes exist. Future research should focus on the utilization of social media groups as a way to reach breastfeeding mothers from a clinical setting (ie, hospitals, lactation consultants, and postpartum support groups). As telemedicine has arisen in recent years, one cannot help but wonder if a model of care for breastfeeding mothers using peer support in a social media group format can be designed, implemented, and tested for efficacy. It is imperative to support breastfeeding mothers throughout the duration of the breastfeeding relationship; social media groups show promise as an effective way to do so.

There are many strengths of this study, including the participation of breastfeeding mothers, who can be a hard-to-reach or sensitive population; the innovation approach using online FGDs; and the uniqueness of the study phenomenon. Deggs and Woodyatt have published the strengths and opportunities of online FGDs, along with others [38-42]. Furthermore, the utilization of this methodology for this study is available online for review, which describes recommendations for including mothers in qualitative studies to yield rich data [30]. As mentioned, this study shines light on the use of social media groups as a tool for supporting breastfeeding mothers. However, although there are numerous strengths to this approach, there are also limitations to this study that must be considered.

Limitations

As this was an exploratory study with a small qualitative sample from a group of mothers located mainly in the southeast, the results may not be generalizable to all breastfeeding mothers who use social media. The smaller sample size was intentional, as qualitative studies are usually small in number because of in-depth nature. However, their there are some sociodemographic characteristics of this sample, which limit the generalizability of the study. These include а higher-than-average college education rate (30% have a master's or professional degree) and a high white percentage (86%). In addition, as online FGDs and one-on-one interviews rely on the individuals' perceptions and experiences of social media use and breastfeeding, these perceptions are dependent on sample selection. For mothers who were not currently breastfeeding, their reflection about the social media group was retrospective, the content of the social media group could have influenced them differently, which is another limitation to the study.

Conclusions

Our study shows that social media can positively influence breastfeeding related attitudes, knowledge, and behavior. The overarching theme of community reigned in this research, with a strong emphasis on social media groups as a way to normalize breastfeeding, to empower breastfeeding mothers, to serve as a resource for women, and to share experiences related to breastfeeding. Although findings from this study are novel to the field, they reflect broader studies that identify social media as a way to reach mothers and impact their parenting-related attitudes, beliefs, and behaviors [17,20,35,37]. Furthermore, this study specifically addresses a gap in the literature on how social media can influence infant-feeding practices and, specifically, breastfeeding [20]. In general, interaction with the social media group was reported to have a positive impact on the breastfeeding journey by way of all the main themes. As this study shows social media can have a profound impact on breastfeeding mothers in a positive way, ways to catalyze a shift in the way women receive health information must be jump-started. Future research should focus on how health care professionals and organizations can use social media groups to positively influence breastfeeding attitudes, knowledge, and behaviors to increase exclusively breastfeeding duration and decrease barriers or stigmas associated with breastfeeding, leading to better quality of life for mother-infant dyads, including both physical and mental health outcomes.

Authors' Contributions

KRS researched literature and conceived the study. KRS, RE, and JL were involved in protocol development, gaining ethical approval, participant recruitment, and data analysis. KRS was the moderator, interviewer, and completed all data analysis. KRS wrote the first draft of the manuscript. All authors reviewed and edited the manuscript and approved the final version of the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

http XSL•FO RenderX

- 1. Eidelman AI. Breastfeeding and the use of human milk: an analysis of the American Academy of Pediatrics 2012 Breastfeeding Policy Statement. Breastfeed Med 2012 Oct;7(5):323-324. [doi: <u>10.1089/bfm.2012.0067</u>] [Medline: <u>22946888</u>]
- Academy of Breastfeeding Medicine. ABM clinical protocol #10: breastfeeding the late preterm infant (34(0/7) to 36(6/7) weeks gestation) (first revision June 2011). Breastfeed Med 2011 Jun;6(3):151-156. [doi: 10.1089/bfm.2011.9990] [Medline: 21631254]
- 3. WHO. Exclusive Breastfeeding for Six Months Best for Babies Everywhere. 2011 Jan 15. URL: <u>http://www.who.int/</u> mediacentre/news/statements/2011/breastfeeding_20110115/en/ [accessed 2018-10-19] [WebCite Cache ID 73HnzMQJ2]
- 4. 2018 Breastfeeding Report Card. Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2018. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/media/releases/2018/p0820-breastfeeding-report-card.html</u> [accessed 2018-10-23] [WebCite Cache ID 73NpNfb91]
- Maternal, Infant and Child Health.: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2016. URL: <u>https://www.healthypeople.gov/</u>2020/topics-objectives/topic/maternal-infant-and-child-health/objectives [accessed 2018-10-19] [WebCite Cache ID 73HoNVII2]
- 6. Victora CG, Bahl R, Barros AJ, Franca GV, Horton S, Krasevec J, Lancet Breastfeeding Series Group. Breastfeeding in the 21st century: epidemiology, mechanisms, and lifelong effect. The Lancet 2016;387(10017):475-490.
- McDonald SW, Benzies KM, Gallant JE, McNeil DA, Dolan SM, Tough SC. A comparison between late preterm and term infants on breastfeeding and maternal mental health. Matern Child Health J 2013 Oct;17(8):1468-1477 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10995-012-1153-1] [Medline: 23054457]
- 8. Association of Women's Health, Obstetric and Neonatal Nurses. Breastfeeding. J Obstet Gynecol Neonatal Nurs 2015;44(1):145-150 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/1552-6909.12530] [Medline: 25588888]
- Chowdhury R, Sinha B, Sankar MJ, Taneja S, Bhandari N, Rollins N, et al. Breastfeeding and maternal health outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Acta Paediatr 2015 Dec;104(467):96-113 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/apa.13102] [Medline: 26172878]
- 10. Liu J, Leung P, Yang A. Breastfeeding and active bonding protects against children's internalizing behavior problems. Nutrients 2013 Dec 24;6(1):76-89 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/nu6010076] [Medline: 24368674]
- McGuire S. U.S. Dept. of Health and Human Services. The surgeon general's call to action to support breastfeeding. U.S. Dept. of Health and Human Services, Office of the Surgeon General. 2011. Adv Nutr 2011 Nov;2(6):523-524 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3945/an.111.000968] [Medline: 22332095]
- 12. Britton C, McCormick FM, Renfrew MJ, Wade A, King SE. Support for breastfeeding mothers. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2007 Jan 24;2(1):CD001141. [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD001141.pub3] [Medline: 17253455]
- 13. Morris RM. Social networking site use by mothers of young children. In: CSCW '14 Proceedings of the 17th ACM conference on Computer supported cooperative work & social computing. 2014 Feb 15 Presented at: 17th ACM conference on Computer supported cooperative work & social computing. . ACM; 2014; ACM p. 1272-1282.
- Ertem IO, Votto N, Leventhal JM. The timing and predictors of the early termination of breastfeeding. Pediatrics 2001 Mar;107(3):543-548. [Medline: <u>11230597</u>]
- 15. Kirkland VL, Fein SB. Characterizing reasons for breastfeeding cessation throughout the first year postpartum using the construct of thriving. J Hum Lact 2003 Aug;19(3):278-285. [doi: <u>10.1177/0890334403255229</u>] [Medline: <u>12931779</u>]
- 16. Bridges N. The faces of breastfeeding support: experiences of mothers seeking breastfeeding support online. Breastfeed Rev 2016 Mar;24(1):11-20. [Medline: 27188074]
- 17. Bunik M, Leifermann J, Ryan JR, Bull S. Mother's MILK Messaging: A PILOT Study of an APP to Support Breastfeeding in First Time Mothers. 2015 Presented at: American Academy of Pediatrics National Conference and Exhibition; October 24 27, 2015; Washington, D.C.
- Burns E, Schmied V. "The right help at the right time": positive constructions of peer and professional support for breastfeeding. Women Birth 2017 Dec;30(5):389-397. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.wombi.2017.03.002</u>] [Medline: <u>28359753</u>]
- Asiodu IV, Waters CM, Dailey DE, Lee KA, Lyndon A. Breastfeeding and use of social media among first-time African American mothers. J Obstet Gynecol Neonatal Nurs 2015;44(2):268-278 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/1552-6909.12552] [Medline: 25712127]
- 20. Doub AE, Small M, Birch LL. A call for research exploring social media influences on mothers' child feeding practices and childhood obesity risk. Appetite 2016 Apr 1;99:298-305. [doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2016.01.003] [Medline: 26767614]
- Rollins NC, Bhandari N, Hajeebhoy N, Horton S, Lutter CK, Martines JC, Lancet Breastfeeding Series Group. Why invest, and what it will take to improve breastfeeding practices? Lancet 2016 Jan 30;387(10017):491-504. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15)01044-2] [Medline: 26869576]
- US Preventive Services Task Force, Bibbins-Domingo K, Grossman DC, Curry SJ, Davidson KW, Epling JW, et al. Primary Care Interventions to Support Breastfeeding: US Preventive Services Task Force Recommendation Statement. JAMA 2016 Dec 25;316(16):1688-1693. [doi: <u>10.1001/jama.2016.14697</u>] [Medline: <u>27784102</u>]
- Gibson L, Hanson V. Digital motherhood: how does technology help new mothers? 2013 Presented at: Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems; 2013; Paris, France p. 313-322. [doi: 10.1145/2470654.2470700]
- 24. Bennett G, Glasgow RE. The delivery of public health interventions via the Internet: actualizing their potential. Annu Rev Public Health 2009;30:273-292. [doi: 10.1146/annurev.publhealth.031308.100235] [Medline: 19296777]

- 25. Jin SV, Phua J, Lee KM. Telling stories about breastfeeding through Facebook: the impact of user-generated content (UGC) on pro-breastfeeding attitudes. Comput Human Behav 2015 May;46:6-17. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.chb.2014.12.046</u>]
- Meedya S, Fahy K, Kable A. Factors that positively influence breastfeeding duration to 6 months: a literature review. Women Birth 2010 Dec;23(4):135-145. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.wombi.2010.02.002</u>] [Medline: <u>20299299</u>]
- 27. Niela-Vilén H, Axelin A, Salanterä S, Melender HL. Internet-based peer support for parents: a systematic integrative review. Int J Nurs Stud 2014 Nov;51(11):1524-1537. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2014.06.009] [Medline: 24998788]
- 28. Chiu CM, Hsu MH, Wang ET. Understanding knowledge sharing in virtual communities: an integration of social capital and social cognitive theories. Decis Support Syst 2006 Dec;42(3):1872-1888. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.dss.2006.04.001</u>]
- 29. Wasko M, Faraj S. Why should I share? Examining social capital and knowledge contribution in electronic networks of practice. MIS Quarterly 2005:35-57.
- Skelton K, Evans R, LaChenaye J, Amsbary J, Wingate M, Talbott L. Utilization of online focus groups to include mothers: a use-case design, reflection, and recommendations. Digit Health 2018;4:2055207618777675 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/2055207618777675] [Medline: 29942638]
- 31. Castleberry A. NVivo 10 [software program]. Version 10. QSR International; 2012. Am J Pharm Educ 2014 Feb 24;78(1):25. [doi: <u>10.5688/ajpe78125</u>]
- 32. Smith J, Firth J. Qualitative data analysis: the framework approach. Nurse Res 2011;18(2):52-62. [doi: 10.7748/nr2011.01.18.2.52.c8284] [Medline: 21319484]
- Ferrell C, Pope J, Anguah K, Liu P. The effect of social support on breastfeeding initiation and continuation. J Acad Nutr Diet 2017 Sep;117(9):A96. [doi: 10.1016/j.jand.2017.06.098]
- 34. McDaniel BT, Coyne SM, Holmes EK. New mothers and media use: associations between blogging, social networking, and maternal well-being. Matern Child Health J 2012 Oct;16(7):1509-1517. [doi: 10.1007/s10995-011-0918-2] [Medline: 22094592]
- 35. Gruver R, Bishop-Gilyard CT, Lieberman A, Gerdes M, Virudachalam S, Suh AW, et al. A social media peer group intervention for mothers to prevent obesity and promote healthy growth from infancy: development and pilot trial. JMIR Res Protoc 2016 Aug 2;5(3):e159 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.5276] [Medline: 27485934]
- 36. Sheeshka J, Potter B, Norrie E, Valaitis R, Adams G, Kuczynski L. Women's experiences breastfeeding in public places. J Hum Lact 2001 Feb;17(1):31-38. [doi: 10.1177/089033440101700107] [Medline: 11847849]
- 37. Madge C, O'Connor H. Parenting gone wired: empowerment of new mothers on the internet? Soc Cult Geogr 2006 Aug 18;7(2):199-220. [doi: 10.1080/14649360600600528]
- 38. Reisner S, Randazzo RK, White Hughto JM, Peitzmeier S, DuBois LZ, Pardee DJ, et al. Sensitive health topics with underserved patient populations: methodological considerations for online focus group discussions. Qual Health Res 2018 Aug;28(10):1658-1673 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1049732317705355] [Medline: 29298574]
- 39. Tates K, Zwaanswijk M, Otten R, van Dulmen S, Hoogerbrugge PM, Kamps WA, et al. Online focus groups as a tool to collect data in hard-to-include populations: examples from paediatric oncology. BMC Med Res Methodol 2009 Mar 3;9(1):15 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2288-9-15] [Medline: 19257883]
- 40. Woodyatt CR, Finneran CA, Stephenson R. In-person versus online focus group discussions: a comparative analysis of data quality. Qual Health Res 2016 May;26(6):741-749. [doi: 10.1177/1049732316631510] [Medline: 26935719]
- 41. Schneider S, Kerwin J, Frechtling J, Vivari BA. Characteristics of the discussion in online and face-to-face focus groups. Soc Sci Comput Rev 2016 Aug 18;20(1):31-42. [doi: <u>10.1177/089443930202000104</u>]
- 42. Deggs D, Grover K, Kacireck K. Using message boards to conduct online focus groups. Qual Rep 2010;15(4):1027.

Abbreviations

FGD: focus group discussions IBCLC: International Board Certified Lactation Consultant MICH: maternal, infant, and child health SNS: social networking sites

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 27.06.18; peer-reviewed by S Kallem, M Kawan, A Kalokhe; comments to author 30.08.18; revised version received 26.09.18; accepted 01.10.18; published 05.11.18.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Skelton KR, Evans R, LaChenaye J, Amsbary J, Wingate M, Talbott L Exploring Social Media Group Use Among Breastfeeding Mothers: Qualitative Analysis JMIR Pediatr Parent 2018;1(2):e11344 URL: <u>http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e11344/</u> doi:10.2196/11344 PMID:31518305



©Kara Renee Skelton, Retta Evans, Jenna LaChenaye, Jonathan Amsbary, Martha Wingate, Laura Talbott. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 05.11.2018. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

Exploring the Transition to Fatherhood: Feasibility Study Using Social Media and Machine Learning

Samantha J Teague^{1*}, BBus, BPsych (Hons); Adrian BR Shatte^{1,2*}, BIT (Hons), PhD

¹Centre for Social and Early Emotional Development, School of Psychology, Deakin University, Burwood, Australia ²School of Science, Engineering and Information Technology, Federation University, Berwick, Australia

^{*}all authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Adrian BR Shatte, BIT (Hons), PhD School of Science, Engineering and Information Technology Federation University 100 Clyde Road Berwick, 3806 Australia Phone: 61 351226801 Email: <u>a.shatte@federation.edu.au</u>

Abstract

Background: Fathers' experiences across the transition to parenthood are underreported in the literature. Social media offers the potential to capture fathers' experiences in real time and at scale while also removing the barriers that fathers typically face in participating in research and clinical care.

Objective: This study aimed to assess the feasibility of using social media data to map the discussion topics of fathers across the fatherhood transition.

Methods: Discussion threads from two Web-based parenting communities, r/Daddit and r/PreDaddit from the social media platform Reddit, were collected over a 2-week period, resulting in 1980 discussion threads contributed to by 5853 unique users. An unsupervised machine learning algorithm was then implemented to group discussion threads into topics within each community and across a combined collection of all discussion threads.

Results: Results demonstrated that men use Web-based communities to share the joys and challenges of the fatherhood experience. Minimal overlap in discussions was found between the 2 communities, indicating that distinct conversations are held on each forum. A range of social support techniques was demonstrated, with conversations characterized by encouragement, humor, and experience-based advice.

Conclusions: This study demonstrates that rich data on fathers' experiences can be sourced from social media and analyzed rapidly using automated techniques, providing an additional tool for researchers exploring fatherhood.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2018;1(2):e12371) doi:10.2196/12371

KEYWORDS

parenting; perinatal care; fathers; social media; parent-child relations; infodemiology; unsupervised machine learning

Introduction

Background

RenderX

The transition to parenthood is a critical period for fathers and their families alike. The changing role from individual to partner to parent across the prenatal, perinatal, and postnatal periods requires men to undergo significant psychological transition [1]. The social and emotional changes that expectant fathers experience across the perinatal period are associated with increased risk of mental ill health in fathers [1,2]. An estimated

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e12371/

1 in 10 fathers experience depression across the perinatal period, and a further 2.4% to 18% of fathers may experience anxiety disorders [2,3]. The impact of poor mental health in fathers across the fatherhood transition can affect the entire family, with implications for the mental health of mothers and their combined parenting relationship [4] as well as implications for the development and well-being of children [5].

Despite the importance of parenting transitions for the well-being of fathers and their families, research exploring this topic is limited. Reviews to date have repeatedly noted the

paucity of research available for synthesis [1,6,7], particularly when compared with studies exploring the transition to motherhood [1,2]. A key reason for the underreporting of fathers' experiences in the literature is the difficulty in reaching and engaging fathers in health research and practice [8,9]. Reasons for this difficulty reported in the literature include the perceived disinterest of fathers, the reluctance of mothers to involve fathers in perinatal care, stereotypes of men being incompetent or absent when it comes to caregiving, and fathers' own lack of help seeking [9,10].

Furthermore, research that does explore fatherhood transitions is typically limited by a number of methodological issues, as identified by a recent systematic review [6]. First, much of the research exploring fathers' transitions relies on mothers' reports of fathers' experiences rather than direct assessment of fathers themselves, with the validity of mothers' reports questionable [11,12]. Second, data collection periods typically capture fathers' experiences from the birth of their child onward, failing to capture fathers' prenatal experiences. Furthermore, research is typically focused on fathers' role in the marital relationship, despite transitions to parenthood being conceptualized as a complex, multidimensional process. Finally, research is typically completed using small sample sizes, assumedly because of the difficulty in recruitment and retention of fathers in research and practical limitations of the qualitative research methods typically employed. These difficulties in adequately capturing fathers' experiences might have flow-on effects into treatment services, where fathers are reportedly difficult to engage and treatments are likely to be ineffective [9].

Such methodological difficulties highlight the need for innovation in the way we engage men in research exploring their transition to parenthood. One promising area is through social media. Social media platforms offer an opportunity for researchers to passively track the health and well-being of the public at scale, regardless of their geographic location [13]. The natural formation of group discussions on social media offers researchers the opportunity to observe ecologically valid models of social support processes. It also offers the ability for researchers to capture rare in-the-moment data when people are experiencing an event rather than relying on their retrospective reporting (eg, via surveys or interviews).

Social media is a particularly promising avenue for fatherhood research. Although fathers are difficult to engage through traditional support settings, evidence suggests that electronic health strategies might be a more effective avenue at reaching and engaging fathers [14,15]. Fathers themselves report using the internet as a key source of information about pregnancy, childbirth, and postnatal care [16], and social media is used by fathers particularly for social support regarding their fatherhood role [17]. Research on fathers using social media has explored topics such as health care parental support [8], young fathers' experiences (fathers aged under 22 years) [18], the nature of social support provided through social media to fathers [19,20], and differences in the parenting roles of mothers and fathers [21].

Very little research has examined the feasibility of using social media data to explore fatherhood transitions specifically. A

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e12371/
```

study by StGeorge and Fletcher [19,22] examined discussions between 23 current and expectant fathers in an Australian online forum over an 18-month period. Discussions converged onto 4 overarching themes: fathers' feelings of isolation because of the low support fathers receive, fathers' practices in balancing work and family life, social opinions on parenting issues such as breastfeeding, and announcements such as birth announcements and physical meet-ups. Although this study demonstrated that fathers are willing to discuss their experiences of the transition to fatherhood with other fathers on the Web, further research is needed to examine whether these results are generalizable to fathers' discussions on larger social media forums, with more diverse groups of fathers.

More recently, new techniques such as machine learning have emerged to explore social media data at scale. Machine learning refers to a subset of artificial intelligence algorithms that learn and increase in performance as new data are analyzed [23]. There are 3 primary types of machine learning techniques: supervised learning, in which data with known labels are used to create predictive models; unsupervised learning, in which mathematical techniques are used to cluster and distinguish patterns from uncategorized data; and semisupervised learning, in which both labeled and unlabeled datasets are used to make predictions. Machine learning has already been applied to many areas of parenting on social media such as predicting postpartum depression from Facebook posts [24] and analyzing vaccination discussions on mother forums [25]. Within the fatherhood space, Ammari et al [21] explored the influence of gender on parental roles by applying machine learning to both mother and father discussion forums. Using Latent Dirichlet Allocation (an unsupervised machine learning technique), the authors found that machine learning was useful for mapping parenting discussions on social media. This study demonstrates that fathers are very active on social media sites (specifically the Reddit platform), offering the opportunity for new research avenues and additional machine learning techniques to be explored with fatherhood discussions on social media.

Objectives

This study, therefore, aimed to assess the feasibility of using social media data to explore changes in the discussion topics as men transition to fatherhood. Specifically, we aimed to map the discussion topics held between both expectant and current fathers on the international forum *Reddit*. We expected to observe fathers discussing similar issues to that reported in previous research, such as work-family life balance, parenting practices, and difficulties engaging with health professionals, within a framework of positive social support. We then aimed to compare and contrast these discussions between expectant and current fathers, expecting to find overlapping topics such as support and issues with spouses, sleep difficulties, and fatherhood anxiety.

Methods

Datasets

We explored topics of discussion from two publicly accessible Web-based parenting communities within the Web forum Reddit. As of April 2018, Reddit is the fifth most popular

XSL•FO

website in the United States (18th globally), with an average of 274 million unique users per month [26]. Users are typically college-educated males from the United States, aged under 35 years [26,27]. Reddit users can create forums based on topics of interest (called subreddits) to share and discuss related content with other users who subscribe to their own topics of interest to form special interest communities. Communities are self-moderated using an in-built voting system; *upvotes* increase a post's visibility, whereas *downvotes* decrease a post's visibility. Posts (ie, top-level discussion topics or individual comments in a discussion thread) are generated a total score by subtracting downvotes from upvotes.

There are several distinct subreddits that focus on parenting within Reddit, including r/Parenting (for general discussions on parenting), r/SingleParents (specifically for single parents), and r/Mommit (a place for mothers to discuss parenting). As the motivation of this study was to explore issues in the transition to fatherhood, we focused specifically on the 2 most popular subreddits for fatherhood, including r/Daddit (79,019 subscribers as of April 2018) and r/PreDaddit (17,923 subscribers as of April 2018), which are targeted to new fathers during pregnancy. Using the Reddit application programming interface (the official set of tools that provide third-party software with access to Reddit data), we first downloaded the most recent discussion threads (eg, original posts and their associated comments combined) from both of these subreddits, which are limited to a total of the most 1000 recent posts per subreddit. We then continued to automatically collect all new discussion threads from both of these subreddits over the proceeding 2-week period (March 23, 2018, to April 06, 2018). We also collected additional metadata, including post and comment scores (as voted by users), and anonymous user IDs to track participation across both subreddits by individual users.

Analysis

Several steps were taken to prepare the data for analysis using the Python Natural Language Toolkit (version 3.2.5) and scikit-learn (version 0.19.1). First, original posts and associated comments were grouped together to form single documents for analysis. We then cleaned the data by removing punctuation, stop words, and low- and high-frequency terms, followed by stemming (reducing words with similar meanings to their base form) and tokenization (splitting the posts into individual words while removing most punctuation). Documents with less than 50 total characters remaining were then removed to help improve algorithm accuracy. Finally, each document was vectorized (converting the text-based documents to numerical vectors) using term frequency-inverse document frequency (a method that weighs each word in a document based on the number of times it appears, offset by the number of documents in which that word appears).

Topic modeling was then performed using the machine learning algorithm k-means clustering. The k-means clustering technique is a widely used unsupervised clustering algorithm that can create clusters of documents that are similar to one another and dissimilar from the documents that are in other clusters [28]. One of the primary benefits of clustering techniques is that they are exploratory in nature, in the sense that they do not use

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e12371/
```

predefined labels to group data [28]. We used the *k*-means clustering algorithm in sci-kit learn to analyze the discussion content from both subreddits as well as a combined corpus (the entire collection of posts). The clustering was performed for different values of *k* ranging from 5 to 15. After manually analyzing the results of clustering on each value of *k*, we settled on 9 clusters as the best value to represent the distinct discussion topics for each subreddit and the combined corpus.

We then further grouped the 9 discussion topics into broader emergent categories by using an open coding process as follows. First, the posts within each discussion topic were sorted by proximity to the center of the cluster, as more central posts best represent the features used by the algorithm to cluster the topic. Next, posts were sorted by user score to determine which posts were most important to the community. For both sorting methods, the authors independently read the posts in order and proposed a category theme. Discrepancies were discussed, and categories were revised until both authors agreed that the category label described the primary themes. As the primary aim of this study was to assess the feasibility of machine learning to map discussion topics of parenting in social media data, we chose to focus on simply labeling the topics rather than providing nuanced analysis on discussion content.

Finally, to compare the similarity and diversity of each topic between groups, Jaccard similarity coefficients were calculated. The Jaccard similarity coefficient is a common technique used to compare similarity and diversity of sets [29]. It is calculated by dividing the intersection of 2 sets by their union and multiplying the result by 100 to obtain a score. A score of 0 indicates that there is a large amount of diversity and difference between 2 topics, whereas a score closer to 1 indicates that these topics contain more similar words.

Results are presented by first mapping discussion topics across the fatherhood transition (ie, using both the r/PreDaddit and r/Daddit forums), then mapping the discussions of expectant and current fathers separately, and finally by comparing the discussions of expectant and current fathers.

Ethics in Data Collection on Social Media

Although the public nature of social media forums such as Reddit means that formal human research ethics approval is not required to use the data, there are other important ethical considerations that should be adhered to. Previous research has indicated that although contributors to public forums acknowledge a certain degree of open access, they still may not post with the intention of public visibility and still seek privacy where possible, for example, by using pseudonyms [30]. In comparison with social media networks such as Facebook and Twitter, which are linked to the true identity of each user, members of Reddit typically select pseudonymous usernames. Due to the nature of discussion topics (eg, topics on children), we deidentified any comments that included names and places.

Results

Discussion Topics Across the Fatherhood Transition

The final cleaned dataset resulted in 1980 discussion threads, which were contributed to by 5655 unique users, totaling over

765,000 words across a 6-month period (November 12, 2017, to April 06, 2018). The 9 discussion topics were grouped within 3 emergent categories: (1) Expectant Fathers' Milestones, including *Pregnancy Milestones*, *Birth Announcements*, and *First-time Fathers*; (2) Fathers' Practices, including the topics of *Growing Up*, *Cute Pictures*, and *Paternal Bonding*; and (3) Fatherhood Challenges, covering the topics *Struggles*, *Budgets and Purchases*, and *Sleep*.

Table 1 displays the descriptive statistics of each discussion topic. Overall, the Struggles discussion topic contained the largest number of posts, with 436 discussion threads and 4380 replies contributed by 2702 users. Unsurprisingly, the Struggles discussion topic also achieved the highest total user score (the combined score of all posts within the topic, as voted by users). The smallest discussion topic was Birth Announcements, which contained 57 discussion threads with 255 replies, contributed by 250 users.

Expectant Fathers' Milestones

The first emergent category, Expectant Fathers' Milestones, captured expectant and new fathers' experiences across the perinatal period. Most of the discussions across the category were celebrations of major events and milestones, such as *graduating* to fatherhood, with replies of encouragement and congratulations from the wider community:

Original post:

Graduated! Baby finally showed up 8 days late and 34 hours of labor from my rock star wife. 7lbs 10oz!

Reply:

Currently in the hospital at 5 min contractions we are 2 days past due date so hoping this is it!!! Congrats man! [Birth Announcement]

The community also helped to bring greater awareness of the challenges involved in the perinatal period, particularly around

difficulties in conceiving and carrying the infant to term, for example:

Miscarriages are actually quite common. They just are not talked about much. I wish people would talk about them more to help other people. My wife had an ectopic pregnancy and lost one of her tubes. Since then, we now have an almost 4yo and a 6mo. A friend of ours had 3 miscarriages before a successful pregnancy. Good luck [original poster], and let the rollercoaster ride begin! [Pregnancy Milestones]

The experiences of first-time fathers were particularly supported by the community, with posts in this category receiving an average score of 1702 (calculated by dividing the total user score of the category by the number of individual posts in the category). First-time father discussions were characterized by support and humor, for example:

Original post:

Today I learned to be a dad for the first time.

Reply 1:

Being dad is a lifelong lesson, may you always be open to learning. Enjoy the adventure dad!

Reply 2:

Nah, you just read the jacket cover and got excited about what comes next. Wait until you get to Chapter One, "Oh my God the poop has started to smell." The real good reads are the chapters "I was just pee'd on" and "I think I got throw up in my mouth." Don't buy the Cliff Notes. Congratulations on spending the rest of your life trying to hide the fact that you have no idea what your doing from your little one. You're one of us now. [First-time Fathers]

 Table 1. Emergent categories in the discussion topics of fathers across the fatherhood transition.

Торіс	Discussion threads, n	Replies, n	Total user score	Word count
Expectant Fathers' Milestones	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
Pregnancy milestones (users: n=740)	235	1078	13,292	51,916
Birth announcement (n=250)	57	255	6086	3754
First-time fathers (n=803)	152	945	25,876	12,414
Fathers' Practices				
Growing up (n=1856)	446	2474	45,920	1,31,526
Cute pictures (n=1040)	316	1074	29,865	26,667
Paternal bonding (n=831)	133	871	28,486	16,799
Fatherhood Challenges				
Struggles (n=2702)	436	4380	57,976	4,31,415
Budgets and purchases (n=503)	123	615	3490	61,126
Sleep (n=444)	82	470	7867	29,651



Fathers' Practices

While Expectant Fathers' Milestones focused on perinatal experiences, Fathers' Practices instead captured fathers' discussions on activities and feelings across their child's early development. The *Cute Pictures* topic involved fathers' sharing photos of their children and family with humorous captions, for example:

This one just turned 6 months, and is now pulling herself up and crushing furniture, trying to walk. She wants to chase her big sister around. She's gonna kill me. At least she's cute! [Cute pictures]

The *Growing Up* topic included milestones in children's development as well as sharing stories of children's growing hobbies, interests, and personalities. As with other topics, fathers' responses were characterized by sharing their own similar experiences and humor, for example:

Original post:

Just need the support. I am out of town for work, and I missed my sons first word. He said "hi" to my wife...

Reply:

That sucks! There'll be many firsts. This one feels big, but the fact you weren't present doesn't mean you're doing a bad job. Chin up. I got a first yesterday: first time he's said "i don't love you, dada!" [Growing up]

Finally, the Paternal Bonding topic included discussions where fathers shared stories and photos of activities between themselves and their children, the emotions they felt about their relationship with their child, and their feelings about being a father more generally, for example:

Entered our car in the race yesterday with a lack of high hopes. 2nd place out of 65!!!! my son [the child] (7) was so happy he cried. I feel like I did something right! [Paternal Bonding]

Fatherhood Challenges

The final semantic category that emerged from the combined discussions of expectant and current fathers was Fatherhood Challenges. This category included discussions on fathers' *Struggles*, *Budgets and Purchases*, and *Sleep*.

The topic *Struggles* covered a variety of difficulties that fathers were facing, with fathers also seeking support from their Reddit community. Examples of discussion thread topics included coping with children's diagnoses of serious medical conditions; difficulties in adapting to the *father* role; difficulties in relationships with partners and coparents; struggles with depression, anxiety, and other mental health conditions; and dealing with the loss of an infant. The community was strongly supportive of posts within the *Struggles* category, with the average post receiving approximately 10 replies, for example:

To all the Dads to be that are struggling; coming to grips with being a parent, dealing with an unreasonable hormonal partner, struggling to be loyal when not having your needs met, or even

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e12371/

considered, struggling post-partum, remember, one day your kid will look at you and smile. Hang in there. [Struggles]

Budgets and Purchases covered discussions about the cost of items, whether the items were necessary, and recommendations for products. Discussions were typically focused on expectant fathers and new fathers asking for recommendations and advice about the etiquette of baby shower registries and products for infants, particularly car seats and strollers, for example:

Original post:

Cheap vs Expensive baby stuff: whats the actual difference? [...] Just trying to wrap my head around how to research and select. [...]. its not that i cant afford it, its that I'd rather save the money and put the rest into funds for future expensive events like college. and food.

Reply:

This is a great question. I have no idea how to shop for anything either, so thank you for asking this! [Budgets and Purchases]

The topic of sleep emerged as a distinct discussion topic across the combined fatherhood transition. Discussions focused on fathers' struggles with their own sleep quality and fatigue, issues in helping infants and young children with sleep, and queries about sleep routines. Importantly, fathers typically recognized that sleep disturbances were a normal part of life after the birth of a child, for example:

3 days in from the birth of my little girl. Sleep has become a thing of the past now. Had my little princess on my chest since two in the morning to allow my wife to sleep. Just. So. Tired. But my little girl is just so perfect. [Sleep]

Discussion Topics of Expectant Fathers

Discussions collected from r/PreDaddit included 1031 discussion threads consisting of 446,060 words. These discussions were contributed to by 2366 unique users across a 6-month time frame (November 2017 to April 2018). A total of 9 discussion categories were identified (see Table 2), including *Nesting*, *Pregnancy Complications*, *Budgets and Purchases*, *Standby!*, *Birth Announcements*, *Gender Announcements*, *Pregnancy Milestones*, *Fertility Issues*, and *Pregnancy Announcements*. These 9 categories were further synthesized into 3 semantic categories: *Announcements*, *Preparing for Fatherhood*, and *Pregnancy Events*, which are discussed below.

Table 2 displays the descriptive statistics of each discussion topic. Overall, the Pregnancy Complications discussion topic contained the largest number of posts, with 169 discussion threads and 1628 replies contributed by 984 users. The Birth Announcements discussion topic achieved the highest total user score, despite having only a moderate number of posts. The smallest discussion topic was Pregnancy Announcements, which contained 33 discussion threads with 111 replies, contributed by 127 users.

XSL•FO RenderX

Торіс	Discussion threads, n	Replies, n	Total user score	Word count
Announcements		-		
Birth announcement (users: n=432)	103	541	12,974	6088
Gender announcement (n=401)	100	459	5966	15,627
Standby! (n=343)	111	389	4321	23,913
Pregnancy announcements (n=127)	33	111	2278	2849
Preparing for fatherhood				
Nesting (n=828)	248	1227	9695	1,08,362
Budgets and purchases (n=575)	133	813	4921	81,941
Pregnancy events				
Pregnancy complications (n=984)	169	1628	12,281	1,82,278
Pregnancy milestones (n=313)	85	339	3015	18,179
Fertility issues (n=242)	49	247	4157	6823

Announcements

The first emergent category that was identified from the r/PreDaddit discussions was *Announcements*. A common type of post identified in the forum was expectant fathers sharing their excitement along the timeline of conception to birth, including the announcements for pregnancy (*Pregnancy Announcement*), gender (*Gender Announcement*), imminent birth (*Standby!*), and birth (*Birth Announcement*). Usually, the original posts were short in word count, but included highly positive language with themes of happiness and joy, for example:

She's getting induced tonight. Wish us luck! We're having our very first baby tonight. I can hardly contain my excitement. Wish us luck Reddit. I will report back when she's here! Update: she's still in labor, probably going to be a long one at this rate but she's doing amazing! Thank you all for your support! [Standby!]

Replies to such posts were also extremely encouraging and congratulatory in nature, for example:

Congrats dude! Isn't it such a relief to finally not have to hide this major life changing news!? Enjoy the tidal wave of love and excitement from loved ones! [Pregnancy Announcement]

After the birth of their child, expectant fathers sent their farewells to the r/PreDaddit forum as they *graduated* to the forum for current fathers, r/Daddit:

Graduated! Thank you so much to the kind strangers on here for all of the advice. r/Daddit, here I come. [Birth Announcement]

Preparing for Fatherhood

Another theme that emerged from the identified categories was the preparation for fatherhood, including preparing the home for the incoming baby (*Nesting*), as well as discussions and recommendations on products and budgeting for the additional costs of having a child (*Budgets and Purchases*). *Nesting*

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e12371/
```

RenderX

discussions typically included expectant fathers sharing their excitement about the impending birth by showing pictures of their new nursery:

[Baby] will be here in 13 days or less! Here's his nursery wall I made. [Nesting]

Nesting also included discussions preparing for changes to the family unit, including pets:

I don't graduate until 8th September but already trying to get things in place and was wondering how you've introduced family dogs to the new borns. We have a very boisterous red setter/lab mix and I want to get all the advice possible I can to handle the situation well. I know first off that I need to be as calm as possible about as dog will react to any feelings of apprehension but any advice welcome. [Nesting]

The *Budgets and Purchases* topic included discussions between expectant fathers seeking suggestions on baby products, for example:

Now that it's becoming really real for us, I was just curious for predads that are further along and those that have graduated, what was your first purchase for the baby? When did you and your partner begin making purchases to prepare for the new family member? I'm antsy to get the car seat and nursery rocking chair figured out asap, even though those might not be the biggest priority -_- [Budgets and Purchases]

Budgets and Purchases also included longer-term planning by expectant fathers about the upcoming costs associated with having children:

My wife just found out that she is pregnant (5 weekswe were trying)! Hooray! We are very excited and know we will be "OK" with getting things ready for the baby - the only thing we're both freaking out about is childcare after birth...We both work fulltime (she works 40-80hrs/week) and both currently work weekends or sometimes her schedule is random. She

Teague & Shatte

will get a month or two of maternity leave. After that...? We don't have any family support anywhere near us, so I guess it is either a nanny or childcare center. Beyond the obvious freak-outs about handing off your 6-8 week year old to a stranger, we're wondering how the hell we afford something like this? [Budgets and Purchases]

Pregnancy Events

The final emergent category from the expectant father forum was *Pregnancy Events*, which included posts about medical or miscarriage issues during pregnancy (*Pregnancy Complications*), updates about the progress of the mother and baby during the pregnancy timeline (*Pregnancy Milestones*), and posts about issues faced when conceiving a baby (*Fertility Issues*).

Pregnancy Complications included discussions on issues within the pregnancy, including miscarriages, genetic screening results, and other related issues. This category included posts about grief or shock over issues with the baby, for example:

No heartbeat for twins at 8 weeks. Devastated. [Pregnancy Complications]

Despite the themes of loss and heartbreak that characterized most original posts in this category, there were also posts containing messages of support to encourage other members to keep fighting despite such setbacks, for example:

To all the Dads-to-be that are struggling; coming to grips with being a parent, dealing with an unreasonable hormonal partner, struggling to be loyal when not having your needs met, or even considered, struggling post-partum, remember, one day your kid will look at you and smile. Hang in there. [Pregnancy Complications]

Another interesting theme that was uncovered in the *Pregnancy Complications* category was fathers discussing their own challenges during pregnancy, reacting to physical and emotional changes of their wife, for example:

I knew that she was pregnant. I knew her body was changing and that she needed special care and attention. But even though I knew there was a baby in there, I didn't really get it until the baby was born. I've talked with many of my friends who had the same experience. Months of pregnancy, birth - here is a baby! It's weird. [Pregnancy Complications]

In comparison with *Pregnancy Complications*, the posts that were categorized as *Pregnancy Milestones* included fathers sharing updates about the progression of the pregnancy, for example:

After a threatened miscarriage at 8 weeks, we hit 12 weeks 6 days today. Baby steps, pun intended. [Pregnancy Milestones]

Felt the baby kick last night. [Pregnancy Milestones]

Interestingly, the posts in the *Fertility Issues* category involved fathers who had experienced difficulties in conceiving a baby, with many sharing news that they were now expectant fathers, for example:

After two miscarriages and months of fertility treatments, we are due in December. [Fertility Issues] Joining the club after 4 years of infertility. [Fertility Issues]

Discussion Topics of Current Fathers

Discussions collected from r/Daddit included 949 discussion threads consisting of 319,208 words. These discussions were contributed to by 3672 unique users across a 3-month time frame (February 2018 to April 2018). A total of 9 discussion categories were identified (see Table 3), including *Struggles, Child's Growth and Development, Paternal Bonding, Parenting Skills, Feeding, Play, Dad Hobbies, Meet my Baby,* and *Easter.* These 9 categories were further synthesized into 3 semantic categories: *Help Seeking, Fathers' Practices,* and *Community Building,* which are discussed below.

Table 3. Emergent categories in the discussion topics of current fathers in r/Daddit.

Торіс	Discussion threads, n	Replies, n	Total user score	Word count
Help seeking				
Struggles (users: n=2136)	277	3151	66,063	2,24,013
Fathers' practices				
Paternal bonding (n=385)	79	385	15,044	9199
Parenting skills (n=310)	70	300	7439	9430
Feeding (n=270)	69	273	4017	17,894
Children's growth and development (n=949)	238	1047	24,963	35,975
Play (n=268)	47	246	6465	7152
Dad hobbies (n=112)	31	97	2570	2413
Community building				
Reddit, meet my baby (n=758)	124	869	32,014	12,365
Easter (n=47)	14	40	675	767



Table 3 displays the descriptive statistics of each discussion topic. Overall, the Struggles discussion topic contained the largest number of posts, with 277 discussion threads and 3151 replies contributed by 2136 users. The Struggles discussion topic also achieved the highest total user score. The smallest discussion topic was Easter, which contained 14 discussion threads with 40 replies, contributed by 47 users.

Help Seeking

The first emergent theme identified within r/Daddit was *Help Seeking*. In this theme, discussions were focused on the challenges and issues fathers face in raising their child (*Struggles*), with replies consisting of other fathers providing moral support and sharing their own stories of struggling times during fatherhood. One of the primary struggles posted by fathers related to the death of their baby, evoking emotions such as sadness, heartbreak, and shock, for example:

Tonight, I had to make the hardest decision of my life. Hug your babies close tonight. [Struggles]

Another common discussion point in this theme involved posts and updates by fathers whose children were battling an illness, such as leukemia or stomach problems, with those fathers reaching out to the community for moral support, for example:

Youngest admitted to the hospital last night. Just found out he has some kind of leukemia. His mom and I are still reeling. [Struggles]

Apart from medical issues, fathers also discussed other issues in parenting, such as the challenges single fathers face while raising the child on their own, and day-to-day challenges such as lack of sleep because of the new baby, for example:

At 20, I had a kid with a girl, things happened, I got full custody, and very quickly I had to learn how to raise a child alone. Its really tough sometimes, but I wouldnt change it for the world. [Struggles]

I thought I knew what tired was before they came. [Struggles]

The comments left on threads in the *Struggles* category were primarily supportive, with users leaving positive messages of support to the original poster, for example:

Me and mine are sending our love your way. Stay strong, brother. [Struggles]

Fathers' Practices

Another emergent category that was identified in the r/Daddit corpus was *Fathers' Practices*. The posts in this category included topics such as sharing bonding experiences between fathers and their children (*Paternal Bonding*), sharing questions and experiences of being a parent (*Parenting Skills*), tips and advice about feeding a new baby (*Feeding*), milestones and learning experiences with their children (*Children's growth and development*), play time between father and son (*Play*), and fathers sharing how they like to spend their downtime while not parenting (*Dad Hobbies*).

Paternal bonding posts were primarily stories or anecdotes in which fathers described activities shared with their child, for example:

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e12371/

The Boy and I having a Batman sort of day. [Paternal Bonding]

My 9yo son loves writing and has written several short books over the past few years. Today we took our laptops to the coffee shop to have a joint writing session. So much fun we will do it again. I may never be a great writer, but today I felt like a pretty good dad. [Paternal Bonding]

Another major topic of discussion identified in this category was *Parenting Skills*, in which fathers would describe their progress in overcoming setbacks, learning new parenting skills, or seeking and sharing advice about parenting-specific experiences, for example:

Single dad with 50/50 custody. Lil guy is eight years old, so proud of him. Proud of myself over 10 months completely sober and almost two years into working on my fitness so I can be better for both of us. Life is good. [Parenting Skills]

Anyone want to try and explain the two symbols under the umbrella (waterproof) to me? [Parenting Skills]

Another primary theme of conversation identified in this category was *Feeding*, in which fathers would seek advice from the community about feeding their child or make humorous observations about their experiences of feeding their child, for example:

New dad, need help with feeding. [Feeding]

Let's give a happy St. Pats to all the dads drinking Guinness out of a can, washing bottles and pump parts instead of being at the pub with our mates. #adulting [Feeding]

Fathers in this category also shared information on the growth and development of their child, including the reaching of developmental milestones, transferring of skills and interests between father and child, and other learning experiences encountered when growing up. The topics of discussion in this theme were grouped as *Children's Growth and Development*, and posts consisted primarily of positive or humorous anecdotes, for example:

Little guy wanted to come to work with me today, wanted to be like dad so much he got his own uniform haha. [Children's Growth and Development]

She is just starting to learn to hold onto things, wouldn't let go of this green bean in a super market. They wouldn't let her leave without paying. Turns out 1 bean costs 4 cents! [Children's Growth and Development]

Congrats to the little girl losing her first tooth, here's my youngest proudly displaying her first tooth coming in at 4 months. Relieved to find out all those fits were due to teething and not demonic possession. [Children's Growth and Development]

Replies from other fathers to posts in this theme were primarily positive as well, comprising humorous responses or fathers sharing similar anecdotes and stories from their own experiences.

In terms of *Play*, there were 2 main topics of discussion. First, fathers shared anecdotes and stories about experiences they had while playing with their child. In addition, some fathers also posted stories about their own *play* experiences, such as gaming, for example:

Howdy folks! I just recently joined your ranks and was wondering if there were any gamers out there that had any input on good games for a new dad. Basically what I'm looking for are games that are good in short bursts (not like 400 hour rpgs where you get lost if you forget where you were supposed to go), and that allow you to pause, save or quit at any time. [Play]

Similarly, there were also several posts that were classified as *Dad Hobbies*, in which fathers described activities they enjoyed doing in their down time from parenting, for example:

To all the Mamas, who recognize the needs of the Daddas to go solo-watch movies about big robots fighting fish monsters & give them a nice night off of kid duties + beer money. [Dad Hobbies]

Caught a bluefin trevally next to the USS MISSOURI with my little guy strapped to my chest! [Dad Hobbies]

Community Building

The third emergent category that was identified in the r/Daddit corpus was titled *Community Building*. Posts in this category primarily involved fathers introducing their babies or children to the community (*Meet my Baby*). This type of post acted as an introduction and initiation into the community. For example:

Met my daughter at 5:04 this morning. [Meet my Baby]

Wife and I welcomed our beautiful son and beautiful daughter into the world late last night! [Meet my Baby]

The comments posted in response to these posts were overwhelmingly positive and congratulatory in nature, for example:

Congratulations and a warm welcome to this sub! [Meet my Baby]

Congrats on your little slice of heaven! [Meet my Baby]

Another small theme that appeared in this category because of the time of data collection was posts about fathers and their children celebrating the *Easter* holiday, for example:

This has been an interesting Easter, 1 month old high fevers are not fun. [Easter]

Comparison of Discussions Between Expectant and Current Fathers

A small proportion of users, 7.13% (403/5655), were found to post in both r/Daddit and r/PreDaddit. Overall, low Jaccard coefficients were observed between r/Daddit and r/PreDaddit discussion topics (<0.4), indicating high heterogeneity between the 2 subreddits. This demonstrates that although there is some overlap in themes discussed across r/Daddit and r/PreDaddit, these groups also contain distinct themes. The highest Jaccard score identified was between Nesting and Struggles (0.36), Budgets and Purchases and Struggles (0.36), and Nesting and Children's Growth or Development (0.30). The lowest scores were observed between Standby and Struggles (0.06) and between Nesting and Dad Hobbies (0.07), and nearly all r/PreDaddit topics compared with Easter were <0.07. Figure 1 displays the overlap between topics.



Figure 1. Overlap in discussion topics between expectant (r/PreDaddit) and current (r/Daddit) fathers, calculated using Jaccard scores.



Discussion

Principal Findings

This study aimed to assess the feasibility of using machine learning to explore the discussion topics of Web-based communities as men transition to fatherhood. This was achieved by mapping the discussion topics on 2 forums for expectant and current fathers from the social media site Reddit. In doing so, this study has demonstrated that Reddit is an ecologically valid tool for exploring current issues for men as they transition to fatherhood. Such research has important implications for the design of online social support systems for fathers and for the research methodologies used to reach and engage fathers across the perinatal period and beyond.

This study demonstrates that social media data can provide a convenient and ecologically valid method for obtaining rich information on the issues fathers face both antenatally and postnatally. As previous studies have demonstrated, the experience of fathers is often difficult to capture in formal research and support settings. Clustering the discussion topics of current and expectant fathers online revealed that fathers typically use forums such as Reddit as a platform to seek support from peers during difficult times. The discussion topics of *Pregnancy Complications* for expectant fathers and *Struggles* for current fathers were the largest discussion topics of each forum, with *Struggles* emerging as the largest discussion topic

RenderX

across both forums. These discussion topics also had the largest total word count and highest average word count per post, indicating that distressed fathers wrote comparatively longer posts and the online fatherhood community responded with detailed replies. These observations could suggest that social media sites such as Reddit may offer fathers some therapeutic benefits through the opportunity to write about and reflect on emotional experiences within the support network of an anonymous community. Quantitatively comparing the 2 forums indicated that distinctly different conversations occur before and after the birth of a child, suggesting that issues relevant to fathers antenatally are significantly different to postnatal issues.

Importantly, our findings reflect those observed in the wider literature exploring the transition to fatherhood, thereby supporting the validity of this novel sampling frame and analytic technique. We hypothesized that a range of discussion topics identified in the fatherhood transition literature would emerge within the Reddit fatherhood forums such as parenting practices, work-life balance issues, and spousal relationship issues. All these issues were observed within the forums but were grouped by the machine learning algorithm into broader categories. Discussions observed in our study are similar to that reported by StGeorge and Fletcher [22] in their support forum for fathers, with both *Announcements* and *Fathers' Practices* identified as 2 of the primary discussion themes in both studies. Furthermore, Ammari et al [21] identified similar discussion topics in their analysis of mothers' and fathers' discussions on Reddit,

including *Cheap Products* similar to our *Budgets and Purchases* category, *Sleep Training* similar to our *Sleep* category, and *Milestones* similar to our *Children's Growth and Development* category. These themes appear to be common to the fatherhood experience, in that there will always be advice seeking, bonding, sharing of stories, and challenges in balancing work and family life.

However, there were some differences in the discussion topics observed in this study and that reported in previous research exploring the fatherhood transition in online forums. StGeorge and Fletcher [22] identified Isolation as an additional discussion topic that was not observed in our analysis. StGeorge and Fletcher [22] describe Isolation as the experience of fathers in being neglected from infant-parent welfare. Differences in the intent and userbase of the forums analyzed in the 2 studies could have resulted in different discussion topics. Specifically, as StGeorge and Fletcher's [22] forum was created by a health care organization to support fathers across the fatherhood transition, fathers drawn to such a group might have been prepared to discuss how health care organizations currently neglect fathers in infant-parent welfare and how such organizations can provide better support to fathers. Furthermore, perhaps the clinical setting of the forum itself could contribute to fathers' perceptions of isolation; while Reddit integrates discussions on fatherhood into a feed of discussions on any topic of interest, the creation of stand-alone websites for discussions of a single topic could itself be an isolating method of outreach to fathers. Finally, the missing theme from this study could reflect improvements in community discourse of and expectations about involved fathers over time. The changing nature of fatherhood and improvements in the father-inclusive practice of organizations could have helped to reduce the isolation experienced by fathers over the 8 years between the Web-based discussions of participants in StGeorge and Fletcher's [22] study and this study.

Secondary contributions from this study are the ecologically valid social support techniques that were observed within online fatherhood communities, which may have important implications for the design of support interventions for fathers both in person and online. Fathers in both forums were observed to be using social support techniques reported in other studies, such as providing encouragement, confirming that issues or experiences are common and normal, reciprocal sharing of experiences, providing advice based on experience, sharing of information and resources, and the promotion of best practice or good examples of fatherhood practices [20]. Some additional social support techniques were also observed within the Reddit community, such as the importance of humor to build social connections and the use of Reddit's upvote system to provide endorsement and support to original posts and comments. Community-building techniques were also demonstrated, such as the use of Meet my Baby! posts to introduce new users to the group, Graduation posts as a farewell message by users who were leaving the group, and holiday- or event-specific discussions to share a connection between the Web-based environment and real-world community events.

Limitations

Importantly, the results of this study reflect the nature of the social media platform and community from which data were gathered. Reddit provides fathers with an anonymous platform to join a positive and supportive Web-based community of other men, with fatherhood discussions easily integrated into other discussion forums that fathers might subscribe to within the broader Reddit forum network. For researchers exploring Reddit data for fatherhood research, there are some important considerations to note. First, although Reddit is an internationally accessible website, it is likely to be biased to a Western experience of fatherhood, particularly toward North-American fathers. This is because of the site being hosted in North America, the predominant use of English across both r/Daddit and r/PreDaddit, and because of North America being the country of origin for the majority of Reddit users generally. Second, a potential limitation of Reddit is that it is difficult to determine how many passive users (commonly termed as *lurkers*) there are that may benefit from the discussions. Passive users do not actively participate in discussions via original posts or comments, making it difficult to calculate how many passive users are observing discussions and whether the discussions at hand are reflective of passive users' experiences as well. Finally, the anonymous nature of Reddit means that the identities of users within the fatherhood forums are not verified. Although r/Daddit and r/PreDaddit are self-described as forums for current and expectant fathers, some users contributing to discussions may not actually be a father. Future research could consider comparing the discussions identified in this study with other pseudonymous or identifiable social media sites, such as Facebook or Twitter, where the identities of users can be verified and the nature of discussions are likely to differ, given the real-world relationships between users.

A further contribution of this study is the demonstration of applying k-means clustering to provide initial groupings of topics, which were further analyzed using traditional qualitative techniques. This demonstrated a new tool for researching fathers on the Web, complementing the Latent Dirichlet Allocation technique used by Ammari et al [21]. However, there are some limitations that are important to consider when using k-means. A common challenge in using *k*-means clustering is that it can also be difficult to identify the correct number of clusters within an unknown dataset (eg, the value of k), and the algorithm will produce the exact numbers of clusters denoted by k— even if that exact number of clusters does not exist within the dataset. In this study, we considered the results of several different values of k to determine which number of clusters produced the most semantically meaningful groups and then performed additional qualitative coding and analysis to uncover themes and discussion topics. Another characteristic of k-means is that each data point is grouped into a single cluster, whereas it is more realistic that discussion topics could comprise many subtopics. For example, in the combined groupings, we identified an entire category that was labeled Sleep, but we still identified some posts involving sleep in the Struggles category, albeit typically discussing sleep within a broader context of difficulties. Future studies could examine the effectiveness of different machine learning techniques for exploring fatherhood

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

transitions using social media data. Finally, the size and unstructured nature of the dataset limited the opportunity for in-depth analysis of specific subtopics. Future research could consider delving further into specific topics either through text analysis techniques or through qualitative analysis using our clustered discussion themes as an initial framework.

Conclusions

This study demonstrates a novel technique for exploring fathers' experiences across the transition to parenthood by mapping the

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Wong O, Nguyen T, Thomas N, Thomson-Salo F, Handrinos D, Judd F. Perinatal mental health: Fathers the (mostly) forgotten parent. Asia Pac Psychiatry 2016 Dec;8(4):247-255. [doi: <u>10.1111/appy.12204</u>] [Medline: <u>26293755</u>]
- Paulson J, Bazemore S. Prenatal and postpartum depression in fathers and its association with maternal depression: a meta-analysis. J Am Med Assoc 2010 May 19;303(19):1961-1969. [doi: <u>10.1001/jama.2010.605</u>] [Medline: <u>20483973</u>]
- Leach LS, Poyser C, Cooklin AR, Giallo R. Prevalence and course of anxiety disorders (and symptom levels) in men across the perinatal period: a systematic review. J Affect Disord 2016 Jan 15;190:675-686. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jad.2015.09.063</u>] [Medline: <u>26590515</u>]
- 4. Burgess A. Fathers' roles in perinatal mental health: causes, interactions and effects. New Dig 2011 Jan;53:24-29 [FREE Full text]
- Ramchandani P, Stein A, Evans J, O'Connor TG. Paternal depression in the postnatal period and child development: a prospective population study. Lancet 2005;365(9478):2201-2205. [doi: <u>10.1016/S0140-6736(05)66778-5</u>] [Medline: <u>15978928</u>]
- 6. Moraes CJ, Granato TM. Becoming a father: an integrative review of the literature on transition to fatherhood. Psicol Estud 2017 Jan 06;21(4):557-567. [doi: <u>10.4025/psicolestud.v21i4.29871</u>]
- 7. Chin R, Hall P, Daiches A. Fathers' experiences of their transition to fatherhood: a metasynthesis. J Reprod Infant Psychol 2011 Feb;29(1):4-18. [doi: 10.1080/02646838.2010.513044]
- 8. Salzmann-Erikson M, Eriksson H. Fathers sharing about early parental support in health-care virtual discussions on an Internet forum. Health Soc Care Community 2013 Jul;21(4):381-390. [doi: 10.1111/hsc.12028] [Medline: 23496139]
- 9. Bateson K, Darwin Z, Galdas P, Rosan C. Engaging fathers: acknowledging the barriers. J Heal Visit 2017 Mar 02;5(3):126-132. [doi: 10.12968/johv.2017.5.3.126]
- 10. Mansfield A, Addis M, Courtenay W. Measurement of men's help seeking: development and evaluation of the barriers to help seeking scale. Psychol Men Masc 2005;6(2):95-108. [doi: 10.1037/1524-9220.6.2.95]
- 11. Mikelson K. He said, she said comparing mother and father reports of father involement. J Marriage Fam 2008 Jul 16;70(3):613-624. [doi: 10.1111/j.1741-3737.2008.00509.x]
- Charles P, Spielfogel J, Gorman-Smith D, Schoeny M, Henry D, Tolan P. Disagreement in parental reports of father involvement. J Fam Issues 2018 Apr;39(2):328-351 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0192513X16644639] [Medline: 29515272]
- 13. Paul M, Dredze M. You are what you tweet: analyzing Twitter for public health. 2011 Presented at: Proc Fifth Int AAAI Conf Weblogs Soc Media; 2011; Catalonia, Spain p. 265-272.
- O'Brien AP, McNeil KA, Fletcher R, Conrad A, Wilson AJ, Jones D, et al. New fathers' perinatal depression and anxiety-treatment options: an integrative review. Am J Mens Health 2017 Dec;11(4):863-876 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1557988316669047] [Medline: 27694550]
- 15. Mackert M, Guadagno M, Lazard A, Donovan E, Rochlen A, Garcia A, et al. Engaging men in prenatal health via eHealth: findings from a national survey. JMIR Pediatr Parent 2018 Aug 09;1(2):e7. [doi: <u>10.2196/pediatrics.9513</u>]
- 16. Johansson M. Mid Sweden University Doctoral Thesis. Sundsvall, Sweden: Mid Sweden University; 2012. Becoming a father. Sources of information, birth preference, and experiences of childbirth and postnatal care URL: <u>https://www.diva-portal.org/smash/get/diva2:479713/FULLTEXT01.pdf</u> [accessed 2018-11-20] [WebCite Cache ID 7446Vemmw]
- Ammari T, Schoenebeck S. Understanding and Supporting Fathers and Fatherhood on Social Media Sites. 2015 Presented at: Proc 33rd Annu ACM Conf Hum Factors Comput Syst - CHI '15; April 18 - 23, 2015; Seoul, Republic of Korea p. 1905-1914. [doi: 10.1145/2702123.2702205]
- Johansson T, Hammarén N. 'Imagine, just 16 years old and already a dad!' The construction of young fatherhood on the Internet. Int J Adolesc Youth 2012 Dec 20;19(3):366-381. [doi: 10.1080/02673843.2012.747972]

issues that men discuss with peers before and after childbirth. The discussion topics and social support techniques identified by this study can assist in the design of support programs and interventions for fathers. Importantly, using topic modeling of social media data offers unique clinical utility compared with traditional fatherhood research methods, as the discussions are current and timely and can be collected and analyzed at large scale in a short period.

- 19. Fletcher R, StGeorge J. Heading into fatherhood--nervously: support for fathering from online dads. Qual Health Res 2011 Aug;21(8):1101-1114. [doi: 10.1177/1049732311404903] [Medline: 21464468]
- Eriksson H, Salzmann-Erikson M. Supporting a caring fatherhood in cyberspace an analysis of communication about caring within an online forum for fathers. Scand J Caring Sci 2013 Mar;27(1):63-69. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1471-6712.2012.01001.x</u>] [Medline: <u>22536835</u>]
- 21. Ammari T, Schoenebeck S, Romero D. Pseudonymous Parents: Comparing Parenting Roles and Identities on the Mommit and Daddit Subreddits. 2018 Presented at: ACM Conf Hum Factors Comput Syst; April 21 26, 2018; Montreal, QC, Canada p. 489. [doi: 10.1145/3173574.3174063]
- 22. Stgeorge JM, Fletcher RJ. Fathers online: learning about fatherhood through the internet. J Perinat Educ 2011;20(3):154-162 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1891/1058-1243.20.3.154] [Medline: 22654464]
- 23. Bini SA. Artificial intelligence, machine learning, deep learning, and cognitive computing: what do these terms mean and how will they impact health care? J Arthroplasty 2018 Aug;33(8):2358-2361. [doi: 10.1016/j.arth.2018.02.067] [Medline: 29656964]
- 24. De Choudhury M, Counts S, Horvitz E, Hoff A. Characterizing and predicting postpartum depression from shared facebook data. 2014 Presented at: Proc 17th ACM Conf Comput Support Coop Work Soc Comput; 2014; Baltimore, MD, USA p. 626-638.
- 25. Tangherlini TR, Roychowdhury V, Glenn B, Crespi CM, Bandari R, Wadia A, et al. "Mommy Blogs" and the vaccination exemption narrative: results from a machine-learning approach for story aggregation on parenting social media sites. JMIR Public Health Surveill 2016 Nov 22;2(2):e166 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/publichealth.6586] [Medline: 27876690]
- 26. Reddit. 2017. Audience and Demographics Internet URL: <u>https://reddit.zendesk.com/hc/en-us/articles/</u> 205183225-Audience-and-Demographics [accessed 2018-11-19] [WebCite Cache ID 743iEx86b]
- 27. Pew Research Center. 2013. 6% of online adults are reddit users Internet URL: <u>http://www.pewinternet.org/2013/07/03/6-of-online-adults-are-reddit-users/</u> [accessed 2018-11-19] [WebCite Cache ID 743iBNwyi]
- 28. Jain AK. Data clustering: 50 years beyond K-means. Pattern Recognit Lett 2010;31(8):651-666. [doi: 10.1016/j.patrec.2009.09.011]
- 29. Huang A. Similarity measures for text document clustering. 2008 Presented at: 6th New Zeal Comput Sci Res Student Conf; 2008; Christchurch, New Zealand p. 49-56. [doi: <u>10.1109/ICDMW.2009.61</u>]
- 30. Eysenbach G, Till JE. Ethical issues in qualitative research on internet communities. Br Med J 2001 Nov 10;323(7321):1103-1105 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 11701577]

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 30.09.18; peer-reviewed by J StGeorge, D Cooke; comments to author 23.10.18; revised version received 06.11.18; accepted 09.11.18; published 27.11.18.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Teague SJ, Shatte ABR Exploring the Transition to Fatherhood: Feasibility Study Using Social Media and Machine Learning JMIR Pediatr Parent 2018;1(2):e12371 URL: <u>http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e12371/</u> doi:<u>10.2196/12371</u> PMID:<u>31518298</u>

©Samantha J Teague, Adrian BR Shatte. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 27.11.2018. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Social Media Content About Children's Pain and Sleep: Content and Network Analysis

Michelle E Tougas¹, MSc; Christine T Chambers^{1,2,3}, PhD; Penny Corkum^{1,4}, PhD; Julie M Robillard^{5,6}, PhD; Anatoliy Gruzd⁷, PhD; Vivian Howard⁸, PhD; Andrea Kampen³, MLIS; Katelynn E Boerner^{1,3,6}, PhD; Amos S Hundert^{3,9}, BSc

³Centre for Pediatric Pain Research, IWK Health Centre, Halifax, NS, Canada

⁷The Ted Rogers School of Information Technology Management, Ryerson University, Toronto, ON, Canada

Corresponding Author:

Christine T Chambers, PhD Centre for Pediatric Pain Research IWK Health Centre 5850/5980 University Avenue PO Box 9700 Halifax, NS, B3K 6R8 Canada Phone: 1 902 470 7706 Fax: 1 902 470 7118 Email: christine.chambers@dal.ca

Abstract

Background: Social media is often used for health communication and can facilitate fast information exchange. Despite its increasing use, little is known about child health information sharing and engagement over social media.

Objective: The primary objectives of this study are to systematically describe the content of social media posts about child pain and sleep and identify the level of research evidence in these posts. The secondary objective is to examine user engagement with information shared over social media.

Methods: Twitter, Instagram, and Facebook were searched by members of the research team over a 2-week period using a comprehensive search strategy. Codes were used to categorize the content of posts to identify the frequency of content categories shared over social media platforms. Posts were evaluated by content experts to determine the frequency of posts consistent with existing research evidence. User engagement was analyzed using Netlytic, a social network analysis program, to examine visual networks illustrating the level of user engagement.

Results: From the 2-week period, nearly 1500 pain-related and 3800 sleep-related posts were identified and analyzed. Twitter was used most often to share knowledge about child pain (639/1133, 56.40% of posts), and personal experiences for child sleep (2255/3008, 75.00% of posts). For both topics, Instagram posts shared personal experiences (53/68, 78% pain; 413/478, 86.4% sleep), Facebook group posts shared personal experiences (30/49, 61% pain; 230/345, 66.7% sleep) and Facebook pages shared knowledge (68/198, 34.3% pain; 452/1026, 44.05% sleep). Across platforms, research evidence was shared in 21.96% (318/1448) of pain- and 9.16% (445/4857) of sleep-related posts; 5.38% (61/1133) of all pain posts and 2.82% (85/3008) of all sleep posts shared information inconsistent with the evidence, while the rest were absent of evidence. User interactions were indirect, with mostly one-way, rather than reciprocal conversations.

Conclusions: Social media is commonly used to discuss child health, yet the majority of posts do not contain research evidence, and user engagement is primarily one-way. These findings represent an opportunity to expand engagement through open conversations with credible sources. Research and health care communities can benefit from incorporating specific information

¹Department of Psychology and Neuroscience, Dalhousie University, Halifax, NS, Canada

²Department of Pediatrics, Dalhousie University, Halifax, NS, Canada

⁴Department of Psychiatry, Dalhousie University, Halifax, NS, Canada

⁵Division of Neurology, Department of Medicine, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

⁶Department of Mental Health, BC Children's Hospital & Research Institute, Vancouver, BC, Canada

⁸School of Information Management, Dalhousie University, Halifax, NS, Canada

⁹Department of Community Health and Epidemiology, Dalhousie University, Halifax, NS, Canada

about evidence within social media posts to improve communication with the public and empower users to distinguish evidence-based content better. Together, these findings have identified potential gaps in social media communication that may be informative targets to guide future strategies for improving the translation of child health evidence over social media.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2018;1(2):e11193) doi:10.2196/11193

KEYWORDS

child health; knowledge translation; pain; sleep; social media

Introduction

Social media provides fast, free, and widespread Web-based communication to millions of individuals [1]. For health communication, social media is used to share information, provide social support, connect health care professionals with the public, and inform research [2-6]. Social media research has explored several areas of child health, including cyberbullying [7], peer-support interventions [6,8], child health promotion, and intervention development [9,10].

Social media can quickly reach a variety of audiences with new information, providing easier access to evidence, and increasing the rate and breadth of engagement; for example, research shared over social media has been found to increase paper views, downloads, and impact factor [11-13]. Health care professionals report using social media for education and networking [14], with >25% using it to gather evidence and 15% for dissemination [15]. Communicating about health has been found to impact health perceptions, behaviors, and information seeking [16]. Up to 59% of parents report finding useful parenting information on social media [17], with up to 34% turning to social media to seek child health information [18]. In addition to their parents, 25% of adolescents report finding useful health information over social media [19]. Despite its popular use for sharing child health information, social media relies on open exchange and is at risk of sharing incorrect information [20,21]. With credibility as a barrier for accessing health-related social media [10,14], only 3% of parents report trusting child health information found there [18]. The level of engagement with social media for child health communication across multiple audiences has the potential to impact decision making and child health outcomes [2]. However, little is known about the content of Web-based information being shared, whether it is rooted in evidence, and the user engagement with that information.

Studies exploring health topics over social media have done so with varying methods and results, typically in adult populations, with studies seeming to focus on the content of and engagement with shared information, rather than exploring the level of evidence shared over social media. Studies have typically used content analysis over defined time periods ranging from 24 hours to 1 year, identifying a variety of content categories, and limited user engagement with health topics. Studies that explored health communication over Twitter reported that content primarily involved sharing research knowledge [22,23]. Over Facebook, where longer communication is more common, the content analysis in one study revealed posts focused less on sharing research knowledge and rather shared opportunities such as products, services, or health awareness [24]. Similarly, when searching Instagram, a photo-sharing platform that users

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e11193/
```

have reported accessing to interact with others and share personal events [25], another study identified posts focused more on sharing opportunities through event promotion, advertisements, and health awareness [26]. A network analysis of Twitter posts identified low-level user engagement, within small conversation networks [27]. When exploring the level of shared research evidence, a study exploring Web-based blogs found that only 10% were evidence-based [28].

Despite the widespread use of social media, there remains little knowledge about what information about child health is actually being shared online, whether it is rooted in evidence, and the level of engagement with that information. As this information may influence child health decisions, it is imperative that Web-based conversations are studied. This research can help health care professionals and researchers understand what information is being sought after and shared. In addition, it can provide suggestions for overcoming barriers to accessing and using social media, and guide researchers and health care professionals to be credible sources [29-33] who positively influence these Web-based conversations, and help motivate evidence-based information seeking and sharing [34].

This study aims to take the first step in understanding and identifying the content of child health information publicly shared over social media, the level of evidence within that content, and user engagement with that information. To focus on this research, content areas were chosen to represent common child health topics that were likely to be frequently discussed across multiple audiences over social media—child pain and child sleep. Both child pain and sleep are problems that can impact multiple areas of functioning in a child's life and have the potential to persist into adulthood [35,36]. Pain affects 1 in 5 children [37], and sleep problems affect approximately 25%-50% of children [38].

The primary goals are to conduct preliminary research to systematically collect, categorize, and describe the content of child pain and sleep social media posts and describe the level of shared research evidence across social media platforms. The secondary goal of this research is to examine user engagement with the child pain and sleep information shared over social media. Based on the existing research, we hypothesized that social media posts would cover a range of content categories with varying frequencies across platforms; the level of shared research evidence would be minimal, and Twitter would be used more often to share evidence, compared with Facebook and Instagram; and user engagement would be minimal and contained within small conversation networks.

Methods

Search Strategy

Development

Twitter, Instagram, and Facebook (groups and pages) were searched using pain and sleep as content areas. Based on the existing reviews about social media use, these social media platforms were selected for their popularity (percent of Web-based population using platforms), for being used across multiple age demographics, for being used most frequently (percentage of Web-based population using the platforms daily), and each using different modes for sharing information (eg, Twitter posts being 280 characters, Instagram posts sharing only images and hashtags, and Facebook sharing longer messages and images) [17,39-42].

The search strategy was iteratively developed and tested using keywords related to "child," "pain," and "sleep" with the aim to retrieve a sample size appropriate for analysis similar to previous studies [23,43-45], which was determined through pilot testing of the search strategy. The final search strategy was applied to the 3 social media platforms for a 2-week period (pain: December 2015, sleep: May 2016; see Multimedia Appendix 1 for each of the final strategies).

Netlytic, a cloud-based text and social networks analyzer, was used in the search process, as well as the analysis of social media posts. Netlytic automatically summarizes and discovers communication networks from publicly available social media posts [46]; it uses public Application Program Interfaces to collect posts from Twitter, Instagram, and Facebook (public groups and pages). Netlytic has been used in a number of studies exploring Web-based communities, including the motivation for healthy lifestyles [47], the impact of a Web-based reading program [48], and engagement of the Health Care Social Media of Canada community [49]. Owing to platform interface differences, the search strategy was adapted to each social media platform as outlined below.

Twitter

The Twitter interface permits searching simultaneously for keywords and hashtags by using Boolean operators (eg, AND, OR). Therefore, all keywords and hashtags from the final search strategy for each content area were simultaneously used to search the Twitter platform using Netlytic; this search retrieved all individual Twitter posts that included the search terms, which were subsequently screened for inclusion. Of note, individual Twitter user profiles were not searched.

Instagram

XSL•F() RenderX

Instagram permits searches using only one hashtag at a time. Hashtags were placed before all "child" terms and individually searched using the Netlytic program. The child search results were imported into an excel document and filtered using a search option for posts that included any of the "sleep," or "pain" terms from the final search strategy. Individual Instagram posts and corresponding comments were retrieved at this stage and were subsequently screened for inclusion. Of note, individual Instagram user profiles were not searched.

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e11193/
```

Facebook

The Facebook interface does not identify Boolean operators in the search; therefore, only 2-word searches (eg, "child pain") were conducted at a time. Therefore, all combinations of child words (eg, child, teen, and toddler) were searched manually on the Facebook platform with each of the pain and sleep words (eg, pain, ache, and ouch). Owing to platform interface differences, Facebook cannot be searched for individual posts. Instead, the searches generated public Facebook groups and pages. Only public content was searched; therefore, individual user profiles were not explored. The lists of groups and pages generated from the search strategy were scrolled through to the bottom, until no new groups or pages were loaded by the platform. The titles of the identified groups and pages were subsequently screened according to the inclusion and exclusion criteria. Once groups and pages were identified on the basis of the inclusion criteria, all individual posts from each included group and page were retrieved using Netlytic. Each of those individual posts were subsequently screened for inclusion.

Inclusion Criteria

Public, English social media posts were included. Child pain posts describing acute, recurrent, or persisting pain were included as well. In addition, child sleep posts describing sleep (eg, sleep strategies) were included. "Child" included infants, children, and adolescents (age range 0-18 years).

Exclusion Criteria

Posts were excluded if they were non-English, ambiguous, unrelated to the population of interest, referred only to fiction, keywords only in usernames, pornographic, or linked to malware. To respect individual user privacy, and in accordance with research ethics approval, individual user profiles were not reviewed.

Selection Process

Two trained reviewers conducted an initial screen of all posts, evaluated the inclusion criteria, and removed duplicates. Posts meeting criteria were screened again, with links followed, and titles of websites and videos considered; however, entire websites or videos were not reviewed. During the screening process, social media posts were divided among 2 independent reviewers, a Clinical Psychology PhD student and a graduate-level Research Assistant, with 20% of posts screened in duplicate and discrepancies discussed. The interrater percent agreement for the pain, and sleep searches was 85% and 90%, respectively.

Data Extraction

The number of unique users for each search was collected, as well as the rates of retweets for posts collected over Twitter. Unique social media posts (identified following the removal of duplicates and retweets) were coded using a coding guide created through pilot testing that followed an emergent consensus process between 3 reviewers, a Clinical Psychology PhD student and 2 graduate-level Research Assistants. The reviewers independently reviewed random selections of 100 included posts, created content categories of the posts, met to discuss identified categories, and revised the classification

scheme for each content category. This process was followed using randomly selected groups of 100 posts, until saturation and agreement of the final content categories were reached.

The final content categories included the following: knowledge; personal experiences; opportunities or products; news or events; and seeking information or support (Multimedia Appendix 2). Table 1 presents examples of included posts for the main 5 categories.

Using the final coding guide, only one content category was assigned to each post. If more than one category was present, the most salient theme was coded. If a reviewer was unsure of what category to apply to a post, they consulted with other reviewers to reach consensus. As this study aimed to explore the information shared specifically on social media platforms, the information was only extracted and evaluated from the post itself (including website or video titles), rather than the information that the post linked to. The interrater percent agreement for coding the pain and sleep content was 75%, and 81%, respectively.

Data Synthesis

Content Analysis

The frequency of each content category was summarized for each social media platform. All duplicate and retweet posts were removed from the content analysis to avoid biasing the sample.

Evidence Analysis

Social media posts were compared with the evidence available in existing knowledge syntheses (eg, clinical practice guidelines and systematic reviews) identified by literature searches and research team expertise [50-63]. A senior PhD Clinical Psychology student with experience in pain and sleep research and practice evaluated and determined whether posts clearly contained evidence; contained information conflicting with, or unsupported by evidence; contained unclear information that needed consultation; or did not contain sufficient information to assess. A second PhD student with similar expertise evaluated 20% of the posts to determine the interrater reliability calculated by percent agreement, with 91% agreement for pain, and 94% agreement for sleep. Two registered Clinical Psychologists, Dr Chambers and Dr Corkum with content expertise in child pain, and child sleep, respectively, were consulted for discrepancies or uncertainties in the evidence. Table 2 presents examples of posts consistent with research evidence. Evidence within linked material was not evaluated, only the information that was presented specifically within each social media post.

Social Network Analysis

In the context of analyzing social media communication networks, social network analysis (SNA) is often used to study how a specific topic of interest is communicated among a group of users by examining the structure of the communication network [64-66]. Relevant to this study is SNA's ability to measure factors such as the number of two-way conversations among users (reciprocity) and compare this with the number of one-way conversations where users may distribute information but lack any further engagement with it. In addition, SNA can measure whether groups of users are clustered, indicating whether they often communicate together about the specific topic of interest in large, or grouped around multiple disconnected or loosely connected conversations (modularity) [49]. For each communication network in the study (one per social media platform), we used Netlytic to measure both reciprocity and modularity. Unlike the content and evidence analyses, all data, including retweets and duplicated posts, were included in the analysis to explore engagement with the user-generated content. Once the network structures that display interactions among users (eg, mention, retweet, or replies) were visually examined (Multimedia Appendix 3), quantitative metrics for reciprocity and modularity were used to summarize the nature of these interactions. Specifically, the value for reciprocity is the ratio of reciprocal interactions, with values closer to 1 indicating that most users are having two-way interactions. The value for modularity is the level of network clustering, with values closer to 1 suggesting that a network consists of many weakly connected users, rather than one coherent, highly connected group [67].

Table 1. Examples of social media posts for each code category for the pain and sleep searches.

Categories	Pain	Sleep
Sharing information	"New research helps children suffering from chronic pain"	"#Blog: Should You be #Cosleeping with Your #Baby?"
Sharing personal experi- ences	"Little kiddo recovering super well from scary hand- squooshing incident. #ouch"	"My favorite fairy tale is the one where my kid actually goes to sleep after just one story"
Sharing opportunities	"This #Nursing #job might be a great fit for you: Registered Nurse- Pediatric Pain & Palliative Care"	"Using this app will help make my kid's bedtimes easier!"
Sharing news	"Local Art competition for school kids. 15 schools. 5000 kids. Global Year Against Joint Pain"	"Where the children sleep—stunning photos show reality of life for #refugee children fleeing"
Seeking support	"Hi, I'm 14 years old and have chronic abdominal pain. I would really like someone my age to talk to who under- stands what pain is like"	"Any tips for getting a toddler to stay in bed gratefully re- ceived. Tearing my hair out here"

Table 2. Examples of social media posts sharing information consistent with research evidence for the pain and sleep searches.

Pain	Sleep
"How #breastfeeding can reduce vaccination pain in chil- dren—VIDEO:[Link]"	"Study shows that children sleep better when they have a nightly bedtime routine"
"Immersive #Virtual Reality Therapy to Control Pain during Wound Dressing Changes in Pediatric & Adult Burn Patients"	"Kids often don't get the amount of sleep they need. Lack of sleep impacts learning. #Sleep"
"FDA recommends not using codeine for cough or pain in children"	"Bedtimes need to be set & kept. Kids need down-time & structured schedules—sleeping is part of healthy living for all"
"#mentalhealth issues are risk factors for #chronicpain in European teens"	"A chief reason for our pandemic of #teensleeplessness is that many kids nowadays unrepentantly sleep with their phones"

Results

Search Results

After screening and removal of duplicates, the pain search included 1133 Twitter posts by 990 users, 68 Instagram posts by 23 users, and 247 Facebook posts by 30 users from 5 groups and by 23 users from 4 pages. The sleep search resulted in substantially more posts, and a random sample was selected for analysis (20% Twitter posts, 100% Instagram posts, and 15% Facebook groups and pages). After screening and removal of duplicates, the subsample included 3008 Twitter posts by 2863 users, 478 Instagram posts by 428 users, and 1371 Facebook posts by 125 users from 31 groups and 202 users by 49 pages (Multimedia Appendix 1). The samples revealed different rates of retweets between pain- and sleep-related posts, with more retweets in the pain sample, despite a smaller overall volume of posts, with 22.15% (1133/5115) unique pain-related Twitter posts, and 71.24% (3008/4222) unique sleep-related Twitter posts after the removal of duplicates and retweets.

Content Analysis

Twitter

Pain-related posts most often shared knowledge (639/1133, 56.40% of posts). Personal experiences were coded in 32.21% (363/1133) of posts with users reporting empathy, child pain, and injury. Other categories were minimally coded, including sharing opportunities or products (68/1133, 6.18%), seeking information or support (38/1133, 3.35%), and sharing news or events (25/1133, 2.20%). Unlike the pain search, sleep-related posts most often shared personal experiences (2255/3008, 75.00% of posts), describing the impact of child sleep on parents, sleep routines, or observations of children sleeping. Other coded categories were infrequently shared, including sharing opportunities or products (362/3008, 12.03%), sharing knowledge (302/3008, 10.03%), seeking information or support (55/3008, 1.83%), and sharing news or events (34/3008, 1.13%).

Instagram

RenderX

Pain- (53/68, 78%) and sleep-related (413/478, 86.4%) posts focused on personal experiences. Sleep posts of personal experiences were most often photos of children sleeping. Pain posts infrequently shared knowledge (7/68, 10%), opportunities or products (5/68, 7%), and sought information or support (3/68, 4%). Similarly, sleep posts only occasionally shared opportunities or products (55/478, 11.5%), and knowledge (9/478, 1.9%).

Facebook Groups

Most pain-related posts (43/49, 88%) were generated from one chronic pain support group. Pain posts reported personal experiences (30/49, 61%) or sought information or support (14/49, 29%), with youth often reporting that seeking support was their reason for joining. Only 4% (2/49) of posts shared opportunities or products. The 31 sleep-related groups were primarily used for parents sharing personal experiences (230/345, 66.7%), discussing children's sleep habits and management strategies. In addition, they used the groups to share opportunities or products (41/345, 11.9%), knowledge (38/345, 11.0%), and seek information or support (36/345, 10.4%).

Facebook Pages

The pain-related posts most often shared knowledge (68/198, 34.3%), provided organization updates (60/198, 30.3%), sought financial support (31/198, 15.7%), shared opportunities (26/198, 13.6%), and personal experiences (13/198, 6.6%). Similarly, the sleep-related pages distributed knowledge (mostly through websites, 452/1026, 44.05%), shared opportunities and products (318/1026, 30.99%), shared personal experiences (168/1026, 16.37%), or sought social support (85/1026, 8.28%).

Evidence Analysis

Social Media Platforms

Across all social media platforms, child pain had a higher percentage of posts consistent with evidence (318/1448, 21.96%) compared with child sleep (445/4857, 9.16%). Evidence-based pain posts were most often pharmacological pain management (105/317, 33.1%), pain characteristics (67/317, 21.1%), information about psychological (18/317, 5.7%) and physical (18/317, 5.7%) treatments, or pain assessment (8/317, 2.5%). Evidence-based sleep posts were most often educational information (180/445, 40.4%; eg, recommended sleep duration), healthy sleep practices (161/445, 36.2%; eg, not using electronics before bedtime), and behavioral strategies (78/445, 17.5%; eg, sleep training). Child pain communication had a higher percentage of posts conflicting with existing evidence (61/1133, 5.38% of all pain posts) compared with sleep (85/3008, 2.82% of all sleep posts).

Twitter

From Twitter, 20.30% of pain posts (230/1133) were consistent with evidence compared with 6.75% of sleep posts (203/3008).

Instagram

From Instagram, 16% (11/68) of pain posts were consistent with evidence compared with 0.6% (3/478) of sleep posts.

Facebook

From Facebook, 20% (10/49) of pain groups and 33.8% (67/198) of pain pages were consistent with evidence compared with 6.1% (21/345) of sleep groups and 21.25% (218/1026) of sleep pages.

Social Network Analysis

Twitter

For both pain and sleep, Twitter users engaged indirectly and did not reciprocate communication from one user to another, identified by minimal two-way, back-and-forth conversations; this was reflected by low reciprocity values (0.02 for pain, 0.00 for sleep) calculated by Netlytic's SNA. The high modularity values (0.93 for pain, 0.96 for sleep) indicated that users communicating about each of these topics interacted in small groups, clustered primarily in conversations of 2 or 3 users. Lower modularity would have indicated larger groups of users interacting together, rather than the small clusters of conversations identified in the Twitter pain and sleep networks. Similar network structures formed around Instagram and Facebook posts.

Instagram

Both pain- and sleep-related posts had infrequent two-way conversations between users (pain, sleep reciprocity: 0.00, 0.00), most often in small clusters of users (modularity: 0.72, 0.99).

Facebook

Pain-related Facebook groups and sleep-related Facebook pages did not contain sufficient interactions between users to warrant analysis. The pain-related Facebook pages and sleep-related Facebook group interactions between users were minimal (pain, sleep reciprocity: 0.02, 0.00), indicating that Facebook users do not frequently reply to, or mention others by name. Although communication was generally one-sided, modularity indicated larger groups of users having conversations than identified with the other platforms, likely because they were contained user groups that liked or followed specific Facebook pages and groups (pain, sleep modularity: 0.51, 0.53).

Discussion

Principal Findings

Content Analysis

Both child pain and sleep searches revealed that social media posts cover a range of content categories. Differences in the frequency of shared content categories emerged over Twitter, with pain-related posts primarily sharing knowledge, whereas sleep-related posts were sharing personal experiences. These results suggest possible differences in communication about the 2 child health problems over Twitter, the platform that retrieved the most posts.

The final samples revealed different rates of retweets over Twitter between pain- and sleep-related posts, with more

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e11193/
```

retweets in the pain sample, despite a smaller overall volume; this finding likely reflects content differences, with sleep content being more personal (thus retweeted less), and pain content being more research-based (retweeted more).

For Instagram and Facebook, the frequencies of content categories were similar across both health conditions. Instagram was primarily used for sharing personal experiences, supporting reported motivations of using Instagram to interact with others, and share personal events [25]. Facebook groups were primarily used to share personal experiences, and Facebook pages to share knowledge. Only a small sample of pain-related Facebook groups and pages were retrieved, reflecting that additional conversations may be conducted privately (eg, closed groups) and may warrant further investigation with a more publicly shared topic. Overall, the similarities between both health conditions for Instagram and Facebook platforms are unsurprising and highlight platform interface limitations and common or expected social conduct for each platform, which may be useful to inform future knowledge-sharing initiatives.

While Instagram and Facebook groups are typically used for sharing personal experiences, they are potential sources for expanding the Web-based conversation to share more knowledge across these platforms. Continuing to increase the rate of shared knowledge, while communicating the importance of being informed, may influence the social media atmosphere about child health, helping to motivate information seeking and sharing [34].

Evidence Analysis

The highest rates of shared evidence were found on Facebook pages, contradicting the hypothesis that Twitter would share the most evidence. Facebook pages communicate to a closed audience who has chosen to follow communication. Other sources, like Twitter or Instagram, allow for wider access to public networks. Despite 56.40% (639/1133) of Twitter pain-related posts appearing to share knowledge, only 20.30% (230/1133) of all Twitter posts were consistent with the evidence, and only 6.75% (203/3008) of sleep-related Twitter posts were evidence-based. Similar findings were identified with Instagram and Facebook analysis, with pain posts sharing a higher proportion of evidence than the sleep posts. Comparatively, the level of evidence shared about child pain and sleep is not surprising, where a study of diabetes blogs found only 10% to be evidence-based [28].

These findings highlight the potential for changing how evidence is shared over social media. Many posts that appeared to share knowledge linked externally, and the linked information was not further evaluated. In future work, instruments such as the QUEST tool [68], DISCERN [69], and Health On the Net code [70] could be used to evaluate the quality of webpage information. To address the deficit of shared evidence, posts can include short descriptions of evidence within social media posts, improving the distribution of evidence by sharing it immediately, rather than requiring users to follow a link for the actual information of interest.

Social Network Analysis

Both pain and sleep networks identified limited two-way conversations, displaying low-level user engagement. Network analyses of topics on sports and politics have found networks to be large with users frequently engaging in discussion [27], illustrating the potential for expanding health communication engagement. Health care professionals, organizations, and researchers are credible sources that can overcome perceived barriers of the accuracy and validity of health information on social media [29,30]. Communicating about health has been found to impact health perceptions, behaviors, and information seeking [16]. Establishing Web-based communication as a source of credible health care information allows for two-way interactions that provide opportunities to share and distribute evidence immediately. Open dialogue can be facilitated through public Facebook groups moderated by health care professionals, Twitter chats allocated to a specific topic, or Instagram posts directed to individuals.

Many health care professionals cite perceived burden, time investment, and lack of technical skills as barriers for using social media [2,14,15]. Increasing the availability of resources illustrating risks and benefits of social media engagement and providing strategies to overcome barriers can help address the associated stigma of social networking as an engagement tool [31-33,71-73].

Limitations

This study reflected only the content of public social media posts and does not necessarily represent data shared privately (eg, closed groups and individual user profiles) across other social media sites (eg, Pinterest and YouTube) or within linked resources (eg, webpages and videos). Relative to the total number of posts on social media (>500,000 million/day), the analyzed posts on these 2 topics were only a very small portion. The retrieved posts covered a range of topics, some of which did not always fall under only one clear content area or evidence domain, potentially influencing the overall reliability of coding and classification of posts sharing evidence. Future research should consider ways to expand social media coding when one post includes multiple topics. Only 2 child health content areas were explored, child pain and sleep; future research would benefit from exploring other child health topics, such as positive health behaviors (eg, exercise), to explore communication and engagement across a wider variety of topics. Facebook groups

facilitate community discussion rather than direct conversations; therefore, this type of interaction may not have been captured. Netlytic was used for data collection and SNA, which introduces limitations of functionality. For example, Instagram allows users to acknowledge posts by clicking a "like" button, a network feature that was not retrieved with this study. Finally, these data represent uncertain generalizability. Assumptions from this work can only be drawn from the 2-week data collection from unique users interacting publicly, in English, across the selected social media platforms. Although the use of the platforms addresses a wide demographic, it cannot be inferred that this is representative of all Web-based conversations about child pain or sleep.

Conclusions

This study was a preliminary step in social media research and systematically collected and described child pain and sleep communication and engagement over social media by analyzing the shared content, level of shared research evidence, and user engagement. Twitter showed the most discrepancy in information shared, with pain topics most often sharing knowledge, and sleep topics sharing personal experiences. In contrast, Instagram and Facebook groups shared personal experiences, and Facebook pages shared knowledge. These results contribute to empirical knowledge about social media information exchange and are key to inform knowledge translation activities (eg, public health campaigns targeting general public may benefit from using a person-centered, story-telling approach on platforms like Facebook, and a more news-like approach on Twitter). While many posts claimed to link to external evidence, they failed to share evidence over social media. As such, the research and health care communities would benefit from incorporating specific information about evidence directly within social media posts, to improve communication with the public, and to empower users to distinguish the evidence-based content better. The findings that the Web-based conversation about child health is primarily one-way represent an opportunity to expand engagement through open conversations with credible sources (eg, Twitter chats with health care professionals). Together, these findings have identified potential gaps in social media communication that may be informative targets to guide future strategies for improving the translation of child health evidence over social media.

Acknowledgments

This research was supported by a Nova Scotia Health Research Foundation Development/Innovative Grant (#10089) awarded to CTC. CTC is the senior author and holds a Tier 1 Canada Research Chair. Her research is also supported by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research and the Canada Foundation for Innovation. MET was supported by a Nova Scotia Health Research Foundation Scotia Scholars Award and a Nova Scotia Graduate Student Scholarship. CTC had full access to all the data in the study and takes responsibility for the integrity of the data and the accuracy of the data analysis. The authors thank Dr Shelly Weiss for her consultative role in examining the sleep-related evidence.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.



Multimedia Appendix 1 Pain and Sleep Social Media Search Strategies. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 119KB - pediatrics v1i2e11193 app1.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 2

Pain and Sleep Content Analysis Coding Guides. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 49KB - pediatrics v1i2e11193 app2.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 3

Visual Representations of Social Networks via Social Network Analysis for Twitter, Instagram, and Facebook. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 82KB - pediatrics v1i2e11193 app3.pdf]

References

- 1. Kaplan AM, Haenlein M. Users of the world, unite! The challenges and opportunities of Social Media. Business Horizons 2010;53:59-68. [doi: 10.1016/j.bushor.2009.09.003]
- 2. Schumacher KR, Lee JM. Harnessing Social Media for Child Health Research: Pediatric Research 2.0. JAMA Pediatr 2016 Jan;170(1):5-6. [doi: <u>10.1001/jamapediatrics.2015.2696</u>] [Medline: <u>26524338</u>]
- 3. Moorhead SA, Hazlett DE, Harrison L, Carroll JK, Irwin A, Hoving C. A new dimension of health care: systematic review of the uses, benefits, and limitations of social media for health communication. J Med Internet Res 2013;15(4):e85 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1933] [Medline: 23615206]
- Gough A, Hunter RF, Ajao O, Jurek A, McKeown G, Hong J, et al. Tweet for Behavior Change: Using Social Media for the Dissemination of Public Health Messages. JMIR Public Health Surveill 2017 Mar 23;3(1):e14 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/publichealth.6313] [Medline: 28336503]
- 5. Whitaker C, Stevelink S, Fear N. The Use of Facebook in Recruiting Participants for Health Research Purposes: A Systematic Review. J Med Internet Res 2017 Aug 28;19(8):e290 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7071] [Medline: 28851679]
- Dyson MP, Hartling L, Shulhan J, Chisholm A, Milne A, Sundar P, et al. A Systematic Review of Social Media Use to Discuss and View Deliberate Self-Harm Acts. PLoS One 2016;11(5):e0155813 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0155813] [Medline: 27191728]
- Hamm MP, Newton AS, Chisholm A, Shulhan J, Milne A, Sundar P, et al. Prevalence and Effect of Cyberbullying on Children and Young People: A Scoping Review of Social Media Studies. JAMA Pediatr 2015 Aug;169(8):770-777. [doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2015.0944] [Medline: 26098362]
- 8. Niela-Vilén H, Axelin A, Salanterä S, Melender H. Internet-based peer support for parents: a systematic integrative review. Int J Nurs Stud 2014 Nov;51(11):1524-1537. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2014.06.009] [Medline: 24998788]
- Hamm MP, Shulhan J, Williams G, Milne A, Scott SD, Hartling L. A systematic review of the use and effectiveness of social media in child health. BMC Pediatr 2014;14:138 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1186/1471-2431-14-138</u>] [Medline: <u>24886048</u>]
- 10. Stroever SJ, Mackert MS, McAlister AL, Hoelscher DM. Using social media to communicate child health information to low-income parents. Prev Chronic Dis 2011 Nov;8(6):A148 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 22005641]
- Allen HG, Stanton TR, Di Pietro F, Moseley GL. Social media release increases dissemination of original articles in the clinical pain sciences. PLoS One 2013;8(7):e68914 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1371/journal.pone.0068914</u>] [Medline: <u>23874810</u>]
- O'Kelly F, Nason GJ, Manecksha RP, Cascio S, Quinn FJ, Leonard M, et al. The effect of social media (#SoMe) on journal impact factor and parental awareness in paediatric urology. J Pediatr Urol 2017 Oct;13(5):513.e1-513.e7. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jpurol.2017.03.027</u>] [Medline: <u>28483467</u>]
- Dyson MP, Newton AS, Shave K, Featherstone RM, Thomson D, Wingert A, et al. Social Media for the Dissemination of Cochrane Child Health Evidence: Evaluation Study. J Med Internet Res 2017 Sep 01;19(9):e308 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7819] [Medline: 28864427]
- 14. Antheunis ML, Tates K, Nieboer TE. Patients' and health professionals' use of social media in health care: motives, barriers and expectations. Patient Educ Couns 2013 Sep;92(3):426-431. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2013.06.020] [Medline: 23899831]
- Tunnecliff J, Ilic D, Morgan P, Keating J, Gaida JE, Clearihan L, et al. The acceptability among health researchers and clinicians of social media to translate research evidence to clinical practice: mixed-methods survey and interview study. J Med Internet Res 2015 May 20;17(5):e119 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4347] [Medline: 25995192]
- Stephens KK, Rimal RN, Flora JA. Expanding the reach of health campaigns: community organizations as meta-channels for the dissemination of health information. J Health Commun 2004;9 Suppl 1:97-111. [doi: <u>10.1080/10810730490271557</u>] [Medline: <u>14960406</u>]
- 17. Duggan M, Lenhart A, Lampe C, Ellison N. Parents and Social Media. 2015. URL: <u>http://www.pewinternet.org/2015/07/</u> <u>16/parents-and-social-media/</u> [accessed 2018-11-08] [WebCite Cache ID 73mX3tt1B]

- 18. Rhodes A. Sources of child health information: what parents use and trust. 2016. URL: <u>https://www.rchpoll.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2016/03/ACHP-detailed-report-Poll-2.pdf</u> [accessed 2018-11-08] [WebCite Cache ID 73mX8paYg]
- Hausmann JS, Touloumtzis C, White MT, Colbert JA, Gooding HC. Adolescent and Young Adult Use of Social Media for Health and Its Implications. J Adolesc Health 2017 Jun;60(6):714-719. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jadohealth.2016.12.025</u>] [Medline: <u>28259620</u>]
- 20. Chou WS, Hunt YM, Beckjord EB, Moser RP, Hesse BW. Social media use in the United States: implications for health communication. J Med Internet Res 2009;11(4):e48 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1249] [Medline: 19945947]
- 21. Hawn C. Take two aspirin and tweet me in the morning: how Twitter, Facebook, and other social media are reshaping health care. Health Aff (Millwood) 2009;28(2):361-368 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.28.2.361] [Medline: 19275991]
- 22. Robillard J, Lo C, Feng TL, Hennessey CA. "A Light Switch in the #Brain": Optogenetics on Social Media. Neuroethics 2016 Aug 27;9(3):279-288. [doi: 10.1007/s12152-016-9276-5]
- 23. Robillard JM, Johnson TW, Hennessey C, Beattie BL, Illes J. Aging 2.0: health information about dementia on Twitter. PLoS One 2013;8(7):e69861 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0069861] [Medline: 23922827]
- 24. Al Mamun M, Ibrahim HM, Turin TC. Social media in communicating health information: an analysis of Facebook groups related to hypertension. Prev Chronic Dis 2015;12:E11 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5888/pcd12.140265] [Medline: 25633486]
- 25. Lee E, Lee J, Moon JH, Sung Y. Pictures Speak Louder than Words: Motivations for Using Instagram. Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw 2015 Sep;18(9):552-556. [doi: 10.1089/cyber.2015.0157] [Medline: 26348817]
- 26. Karimkhani C, Connett J, Boyers L, Quest T, Dellavalle RP. Dermatology on instagram. Dermatol Online J 2014 Jul 15;20(7) [FREE Full text] [Medline: 25046455]
- 27. Tighe PJ, Goldsmith RC, Gravenstein M, Bernard HR, Fillingim RB. The painful tweet: text, sentiment, and community structure analyses of tweets pertaining to pain. J Med Internet Res 2015;17(4):e84 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3769] [Medline: 25843553]
- Gruzd A, Black F, Le Y, Amos K. Investigating biomedical research literature in the blogosphere: a case study of diabetes and glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c). J Med Libr Assoc 2012 Jan;100(1):34-42 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3163/1536-5050.100.1.007] [Medline: 22272157]
- Neiger BL, Thackeray R, Burton SH, Giraud-Carrier CG, Fagen MC. Evaluating social media's capacity to develop engaged audiences in health promotion settings: use of Twitter metrics as a case study. Health Promot Pract 2013 Mar;14(2):157-162. [doi: 10.1177/1524839912469378] [Medline: 23271716]
- Mogul DB, Nagy PG, Bridges JFP. Building Stronger Online Communities Through the Creation of Facebook-Integrated Health Applications. JAMA Pediatr 2017 Oct 01;171(10):933-934. [doi: <u>10.1001/jamapediatrics.2017.2300</u>] [Medline: <u>28846765</u>]
- Henderson EM, Law EF, Palermo TM, Eccleston C. Case study: ethical guidance for pediatric e-health research using examples from pain research with adolescents. J Pediatr Psychol 2012;37(10):1116-1126 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jpepsy/jss085] [Medline: 22851643]
- 32. Korda H, Itani Z. Harnessing social media for health promotion and behavior change. Health Promot Pract 2013 Jan;14(1):15-23. [doi: 10.1177/1524839911405850] [Medline: 21558472]
- Ventola CL. Social media and health care professionals: benefits, risks, and best practices. P T 2014 Jul;39(7):491-520 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 25083128]
- 34. Rozenblum R, Greaves F, Bates DW. The role of social media around patient experience and engagement. BMJ Qual Saf 2017 Oct;26(10):845-848. [doi: <u>10.1136/bmjqs-2017-006457</u>] [Medline: <u>28428244</u>]
- Palermo TM, Wilson AC, Lewandowski AS, Toliver-Sokol M, Murray CB. Behavioral and psychosocial factors associated with insomnia in adolescents with chronic pain. Pain 2011 Jan;152(1):89-94 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2010.09.035] [Medline: 21030151]
- 36. Brand S, Kirov R. Sleep and its importance in adolescence and in common adolescent somatic and psychiatric conditions. Int J Gen Med 2011;4:425-442 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/IJGM.S11557] [Medline: 21731894]
- King S, Chambers CT, Huguet A, MacNevin RC, McGrath PJ, Parker L, et al. The epidemiology of chronic pain in children and adolescents revisited: a systematic review. Pain 2011 Dec;152(12):2729-2738. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pain.2011.07.016</u>] [Medline: <u>22078064</u>]
- Owens J. Classification and epidemiology of childhood sleep disorders. Prim Care 2008 Sep;35(3):533-46, vii. [doi: 10.1016/j.pop.2008.06.003] [Medline: 18710669]
- 39. Fox S. The social life of health information. 2011. URL: <u>http://www.pewinternet.org/2011/05/12/</u> <u>the-social-life-of-health-information-2011/</u> [accessed 2018-11-08] [WebCite Cache ID 73mXF5Q01]
- 40. Hamm MP, Chisholm A, Shulhan J, Milne A, Scott SD, Given LM, et al. Social media use among patients and caregivers: a scoping review. BMJ Open 2013;3(5) [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2013-002819] [Medline: 23667163]
- 41. Duggan M, Ellison N, Lampe C, Lenhart A, Madden M. Social media update. 2014. URL: <u>http://www.pewinternet.org/</u> 2015/01/09/social-media-update-2014/ [accessed 2018-11-08] [WebCite Cache ID 73mXIr4M8]
- 42. Gruzd A, Jacobson J, Mai P, Dubois E. The state of social media in Canada 2017. 2018. URL: <u>https://dataverse.scholarsportal.info/file.xhtml?fileId=62708&version=RELEASED&version=.3</u> [accessed 2018-09-01]

- 43. Robillard JM, Cabral E, Hennessey C, Kwon BK, Illes J. Fueling Hope: Stem Cells in Social Media. Stem Cell Rev 2015 Aug;11(4):540-546. [doi: 10.1007/s12015-015-9591-y] [Medline: 25893594]
- 44. Harris JK, Moreland-Russell S, Tabak RG, Ruhr LR, Maier RC. Communication about childhood obesity on Twitter. Am J Public Health 2014 Jul;104(7):e62-e69 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2013.301860] [Medline: 24832138]
- 45. Tiggemann M, Churches O, Mitchell L, Brown Z. Tweeting weight loss: A comparison of #thinspiration and #fitspiration communities on Twitter. Body Image 2018 Jun;25:133-138. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.bodyim.2018.03.002</u>] [Medline: <u>29567619</u>]
- 46. Gruzd A. Netlytic: Software for Automated Text and Social Network Analysis. 2018. URL: <u>https://netlytic.org/</u> [accessed 2018-11-08] [WebCite Cache ID 73mXW8IUG]
- Santarossa S, Coyne P, Lisinski C, Woodruff S. #fitspo on Instagram: A mixed-methods approach using Netlytic and photo analysis, uncovering the online discussion and author/image characteristics. J Health Psychol 2016 Nov 01:1359105316676334. [doi: 10.1177/1359105316676334] [Medline: 27852889]
- 48. Harder A, Howard V, Rehberg Sedo D. Creating Cohesive Community Through Shared Reading: A Case Study of One Book Nova Scotia. Partnership 2015 Jun 25;10(1):1-21. [doi: <u>10.21083/partnership.v10i1.3098</u>]
- 49. Gruzd A, Haythornthwaite C. Enabling community through social media. J Med Internet Res 2013;15(10):e248 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2796] [Medline: 24176835]
- Berde CB, Sethna NF. Analgesics for the treatment of pain in children. N Engl J Med 2002 Oct 03;347(14):1094-1103. [doi: <u>10.1056/NEJMra012626</u>] [Medline: <u>12362012</u>]
- COMMITTEE ON FETUS AND NEWBORNSECTION ON ANESTHESIOLOGY AND PAIN MEDICINE. Prevention and Management of Procedural Pain in the Neonate: An Update. Pediatrics 2016 Feb;137(2):e20154271 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.2015-4271] [Medline: 26810788]
- 52. SickKids Clinical Practice Guideline, Pain Management. 2012. URL: <u>https://www.sickkids.ca/clinical-practice-guidelines/</u> <u>clinical-practice-guidelines/export/CLINH142/Main%20Document.pdf</u> [accessed 2018-11-08] [WebCite Cache ID 73mY1NNiy]
- Taddio A, McMurtry CM, Shah V, Riddell RP, Chambers CT, Noel M, HELPinKids&Adults. Reducing pain during vaccine injections: clinical practice guideline. CMAJ 2015 Sep 22;187(13):975-982 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1503/cmaj.150391] [Medline: 26303247]
- 54. World Health Organization. WHO Guidelines on the pharmacological treatment of persisting pain in children with medical illnesses. Geneva: World Health Organization 2012. [Medline: <u>23720867</u>]
- 55. A position statement from the American pain society. Pediatric Chronic Pain Task Force. Assessment and management of children with chronic pain URL: <u>http://americanpainsociety.org/uploads/get-involved/pediatric-chronic-pain-statement.pdf</u> [accessed 2018-11-08] [WebCite Cache ID 73mYI7owk]
- 56. Ayling CA, Amaria K, Campbell F, McGrath PA. Clinical impact and evidence base for physiotherapy in treating childhood chronic pain. Physiother Can 2011;63(1):21-33 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3138/ptc.2009-59P] [Medline: 22210976]
- 57. Eccleston C, Palermo TM, Williams ACDC, Lewandowski HA, Morley S, Fisher E, et al. Psychological therapies for the management of chronic and recurrent pain in children and adolescents. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2014 May 05(5):CD003968 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD003968.pub4] [Medline: 24796681]
- 58. Fisher E, Law E, Palermo TM, Eccleston C. Psychological therapies (remotely delivered) for the management of chronic and recurrent pain in children and adolescents. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2015 Mar 23(3):CD011118 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD011118.pub2] [Medline: 25803793]
- Tsao JCI, Zeltzer LK. Complementary and Alternative Medicine Approaches for Pediatric Pain: A Review of the State-of-the-science. Evid Based Complement Alternat Med 2005 Jun;2(2):149-159 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1093/ecam/neh092</u>] [Medline: <u>15937555</u>]
- 60. Hirshkowitz M, Whiton K, Albert S, Alessi C, Bruni O, DonCarlos L, et al. National Sleep Foundation's sleep time duration recommendations: methodology and results summary. Sleep Health 2015 Mar;1(1):40-43. [doi: 10.1016/j.sleh.2014.12.010] [Medline: 29073412]
- 61. American Academy of Pediatrics. Recommended Amount of Sleep for Pediatric Populations. Pediatrics 2016 Dec;138(2) [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.2016-1601] [Medline: 27456512]
- 62. Allen SL, Howlett MD, Coulombe JA, Corkum PV. ABCs of SLEEPING: A review of the evidence behind pediatric sleep practice recommendations. Sleep Med Rev 2016 Dec;29:1-14. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.smrv.2015.08.006</u>] [Medline: <u>26551999</u>]
- 63. Gruber R, Carrey N, Weiss SK, Frappier JY, Rourke L, Brouillette RT, et al. Position statement on pediatric sleep for psychiatrists. J Can Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2014 Sep;23(3):174-195 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 25320611]
- 64. Alhajj R, Rokne J, editors. Encyclopedia of Social Network Analysis and Mining. Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2014.
- 65. Kim J, Hastak M. Social network analysis. International Journal of Information Management: The Journal for Information Professionals 2018;38(1):86-96. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2017.08.003]
- 66. Scott J. Social Network Analysis, 4th Edition. California: Sage; 2017.
- 67. Gruzd A, Paulin D, Haythornthwaite C. Analyzing Social Media and Learning Through Content and Social Network Analysis: A Faceted Methodological Approach. Journal of Learning Analytics 2016;3(3):46-71. [doi: 10.18608/jla.2016.33.4]

- 68. Robillard J, Feng T. Health Advice in a Digital World: Quality and Content of Online Information about the Prevention of Alzheimer's Disease. J Alzheimers Dis 2017;55(1):219-229. [doi: <u>10.3233/JAD-160650</u>] [Medline: <u>27636852</u>]
- 69. Charnock D, Shepperd S, Needham G, Gann R. DISCERN: an instrument for judging the quality of written consumer health information on treatment choices. J Epidemiol Community Health 1999 Feb;53(2):105-111 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 10396471]
- 70. Boyer C, Selby M, Appel RD. The Health On the Net Code of Conduct for medical and health web sites. Stud Health Technol Inform 1998;52 Pt 2:1163-1166. [Medline: 10384641]
- DeCamp M, Koenig TW, Chisolm MS. Social media and physicians' online identity crisis. JAMA 2013 Aug 14;310(6):581-582 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1001/jama.2013.8238</u>] [Medline: <u>23942675</u>]
- 72. Kubheka B. Ethical and legal perspectives on the medical practitioners use of social media. S Afr Med J 2017 Apr 25;107(5):386-389 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 28492116]
- 73. Tutelman P, Dol J, Tougas M, Chambers C. Navigating your social media presence: Opportunities and challenges. Clinical Practice in Pediatric Psychology 2018 Sep;6(3):289-298. [doi: 10.1037/cpp0000228]

Abbreviations

SNA: social network analysis

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 31.05.18; peer-reviewed by K Baker, F Kleinberg, H Li; comments to author 03.08.18; revised version received 12.10.18; accepted 30.10.18; published 11.12.18. <u>Please cite as:</u> Tougas ME, Chambers CT, Corkum P, Robillard JM, Gruzd A, Howard V, Kampen A, Boerner KE, Hundert AS Social Media Content About Children's Pain and Sleep: Content and Network Analysis JMIR Pediatr Parent 2018;1(2):e11193 URL: http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e11193/ doi:10.2196/11193 PMID:31518292

©Michelle E Tougas, Christine T Chambers, Penny Corkum, Julie M Robillard, Anatoliy Gruzd, Vivian Howard, Andrea Kampen, Katelynn E Boerner, Amos S Hundert. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 11.12.2018. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.


Original Paper

Pokémon GO Within the Context of Family Health: Retrospective Study

Lisa K Militello¹, MPH, PhD; Nathan Hanna², BSc; Claudio R Nigg³, PhD

¹Martha S Pitzer Center for Women, Children, and Youth, College of Nursing, The Ohio State University, Columbus, OH, United States ²College of Nursing, The Ohio State University, Columbus, OH, United States

³Office of Public Health Studies, University of Hawaii, Honolulu, HI, United States

Corresponding Author:

Lisa K Militello, MPH, PhD Martha S Pitzer Center for Women, Children, and Youth College of Nursing The Ohio State University 1585 Neil Avenue Columbus, OH, 43210 United States Phone: 1 614 688 4316 Email: militello.14@osu.edu

Abstract

Background: Pokémon GO illuminated the potential for mobile phone gaming apps to engage users and promote health. However, much work is needed to fully understand the mechanisms through which digitally supported behavior change interventions operate, particularly for children and families.

Objective: The aims of this study were (1) to explore the Pokémon GO user experience from a family perspective and (2) to investigate Pokémon GO within the context of family health.

Methods: Between January and February 2017, congruent with one of the largest anticipated Pokémon GO updates Gen 2, participants were recruited from parks, word of mouth, and social media to complete a Web-based survey. Participants were surveyed about family characteristics, interest, and experiences playing Pokémon GO and healthy lifestyle beliefs. Using a revised Godin Leisure-Time Exercise Questionnaire, a retrospective pre-post design assessed changes in parent physical activity (PA) before and after playing Pokémon GO.

Results: Self-reported data from 160 parents and 31 children were included in the final analyses (representing 129 parents and 31 parent-child dyads). Gameplay most often occurred between sons aged 10 years or younger and mothers. "Spending time together" was the most cited reason for gameplay by both parents (122/160, 76.3%) and children (24/31, 77%), followed by "it helped me go outdoors" for parents (113/160, 70.1%) and "I am a Pokémon fan" by children (21/31, 68%). Interestingly, open-ended responses indicated that gameplay could trigger both positive and negative emotional parent response. The most cited reason for app disengagement was boredom; conversely, the most cited reason for app re-engagement was in-app events. For parents, there were significant increases in minutes spent in mild (mean 23.36 [SD 66.02]; t_{97} =3.50, *P*<.001) and moderate (mean 21.76 [SD 53.04]; t_{130} =4.70, *P*<.001) PA per week after playing Pokémon GO. However, child perceptions of parental influence on PA most significantly associated with parents who reported weekly strenuous PA both before (r_s =.514, *P*=.003) and after (r_s =.536, *P*=.003) Pokémon GO uptake.

Conclusions: Pokémon GO transcended traditional understanding of digital health and uniquely reached across generations to engage users. Findings from this study highlight that, for a period of time, Pokémon GO fostered social and physical well-being for children and families through a multifaceted approach.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2018;1(2):e10679) doi:10.2196/10679

KEYWORDS

family; pediatrics; mHealth; exercise; mobile health, public health



Introduction

Background

Health and behavior are interrelated. Globally, unhealthy lifestyle choices such as poor diet and physical inactivity are associated with chronic disease and reduced mortality [1]. In families, parent and child health are also interrelated through shared genetic and environmental factors [2-4]. There is strong evidence that parenting self-efficacy (belief in one's ability) and parenting behavior are key social mechanisms in the intergenerational transmission of self-regulation and consistently correlate with a wide range of parent and child physical and psychological outcomes [5-7]. Stemming from decades of empirical support and grounded in theoretical foundations [2,8,9], core behavior change strategies frequently used to promote healthy lifestyle choices in both parents and children include, but are not limited to, self-monitoring, goal setting, social support, and the promotion of self-regulation and self-efficacy [2,10-13]. Given the shift toward precision medicine and ubiquitous nature of mobile phones, there is growing interest in the utility of mobile phones to monitor, assess, and support delivery of core behavior change strategies [14-16].

Most Americans (95%) are connected via mobile phones and other mobile devices, and more than half (62%) of the mobile phone owners have used their phone to get health information [17]. Mobile phone and Web-based media consume a significant portion of leisure time for individuals, couples, and families [18], with increasingly more families connecting on the go [19]. Nearly all children below the age of 8 years live in a home with some type of mobile device and on an average spend approximately 48 min per day on mobile devices each day [20]. Due to advances in technology, our understanding of human behavior is more dynamic than static to account for the ever-changing biological, social, personal, and contextual states associated with human behavior [21]. However, much work is needed to fully understand the mechanisms through which digitally supported behavior change interventions influence behavior in everyday real-world settings [22,23]. In particular, the design of many behavior intervention technologies focuses on individual health and does not address family health in a unified manner [3]. Yet, technology and online media provide a context for people to jointly create meaningful connections [23].

Stemming from the large multimedia Pokémon franchise, Pokémon GO became a global sensation in 2016 with estimates of 32 to 65 million monthly players at the peak of its popularity [24,25]. In Pokémon GO, players search for game-related characters or animations that have been overlaid onto real-world images (ie, augmented reality) via global positioning system capabilities of a mobile device [24,26,27]. Game play that requires physical activity (PA) is also referred to as active video games and can be useful in promoting PA when played as designed [24,28,29]. Not promoted as a *health* app, there is evidence to support significant changes in PA before and after playing Pokémon GO, as well as improvements in psychological health and cognitive performance [30-40]. As such, Pokémon GO sparked several conversations, hypotheses, and theories regarding motivation to play and the potential for similar games to synergize behavior change interventions [24,41-45].

A number of Pokémon GO studies have been conducted in college-aged students and young adults [32,36,37,39,40,46,47]. Fewer studies have examined Pokémon GO gameplay in pediatric populations [26,48,49] or within the context of family health. From the limited Pokémon GO family research, it is evident that gameplay "wasn't really about the Pokémon." [26]. In both parent and child Pokémon GO players, there is empirical support for socialization and family bonding associated with gameplay [26,48]. Pokémon GO also provided families with opportunities for exercise and outdoor time [26,48]. Although parental concerns related to injury prevention were commonly reported (eg, accidents and stranger danger) [26,48], concerns were often reconciled as family gameplay was perceived to be *different* than other types of screen time, promoting exercise, cooperation, and enjoyable exploration [26,48].

Pokémon GO succeeded in providing both spontaneous and planned opportunities across settings for parents and children to use media to create, discover, and mutually engage [26]. Engagement is critical to the success of any digitally supported behavior change intervention. Engagement may be conceptualized as the intervention itself (content and delivery), the context (setting and population in which the intervention is used), and the targeted behavior [50]. Joint media engagement (JME) refers to people using media together through a variety of spontaneous and designed experiences [23]. A working assumption of JME is that what goes on between people and around media can be as important as the content designed into the media [23]. If Pokémon GO gameplay for families was motivated by factors outside of the game itself, it is valuable to explore factors and context that led to initial engagement, trends over time, and associated health benefits.

Objectives

Using family as a locus for JME and building upon previous literature, we investigated the Pokémon GO user experience from a family perspective and within the context of family health. We extended the science by exploring both parent and child perspectives of gameplay, investigated plausible theories of behavior change, and learned more about the potential for behavior change technologies that engage both the child and parent to support family health. Recommendations for future behavior change technologies aimed at promoting family health are presented.

Methods

Study Design

Descriptive survey data were collected from parents or adult caregivers "parents" who were impacted by a child or teen "child" that played Pokémon GO. The parent survey was used to understand family characteristics, parent experiences with Pokémon GO, and parent beliefs toward engaging in healthy lifestyle behaviors with their child. In addition, retrospective pre-post design was used to investigate changes in parent PA before and after playing Pokémon GO. Children and teens

"children" who played Pokémon GO were also invited to participate. The child survey was used to understand child experiences with Pokémon GO as well as their perceptions of parental influence on PA. Surveys were disseminated to participants via a Qualtrics survey link. Methods and Results are described according to the Checklist for Reporting Results of Internet E-Surveys [51].

Ethics

The Ohio State University Institutional Review Board approved this study. Before participation, electronic consent was obtained from parents. Child assent and parental consent were required for participation of the child. Children could complete the survey with the assistance of a parent or research team member (semistructured interview). All participants opted to complete the consents, assents, and surveys electronically and remotely (vs in-person).

Subjects

One of the largest updates to Pokémon GO, Gen 2, was projected to release in February 2017. In an effort to coalesce recruitment and data collection with viral trends associated with Pokémon GO, an 8-week recruitment occurred between January and February 2017. Participants were recruited from the research team-initiated efforts to include word of mouth, social media announcements, and email blasts. In addition, fliers were disseminated among local parks, libraries, and coffee shops in urban (eg, Columbus, OH) and suburban neighborhoods (eg, suburban Ann Arbor, MI). Parents were included if they were 18 years old or older, spoke or read English, and had a child who played Pokémon GO. Children were included if they were 5 to 17 years old, played Pokémon GO (currently or in the past), and spoke or read English. Children were not required to have a parent in the study to participate. However, all children enrolled had a parent participate. Parents could earn US \$20 and children could earn US \$10 in gift cards for their participation.

Data Collection and Measurements

Participants were asked to complete a one-time data collection via a survey link. Participants were able to toggle forward and back to review or change answers. Internet protocol (IP) addresses were used to reduce the likelihood of duplicate entry from the same user. Similar to other key protected health information identifiers (eg, phone number and email address), IP addresses were removed from the dataset and not used to identify any individuals.

Parents were asked to complete 3 surveys consisting of both open- and close-ended questions:

• *Family's characteristics and Pokémon GO user experience* were obtained from a survey developed from techniques used in anthropology and human-computer interaction. The initial popularity and widespread penetration of Pokémon GO provided opportunities to observe users in the wild. The principal investigator engaged in need finding and *deep hanging out* [52-54] and created a Pokémon GO account, using the app with her child, spending time in parks and neighborhoods. To learn more about Pokémon GO itself,

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e10679/

XSL•FO

information was gathered from general press releases related to gameplay; visits to the Niantic Pokémon GO webpage; and trends, blogs, and feedback on social media. Iterative assessments of survey questions were discussed within a small academic Pokémon GO collaborative, which included colleagues similarly interested in exploring the Pokémon GO phenomenon for scientific value. A family snapshot was obtained from general demographic questions and questions related to family interests or goals. We inquired about the Pokémon GO user experience from the parent perspective (parent as a player), "Do you periodically check Pokémon GO throughout the day?" and parent perceptions of their child's gameplay, "Does your child play Pokémon GO on his/her own phone or parent/adult phone?"

- *Healthy lifestyle beliefs scale* [55] was used to assess parental beliefs toward their ability to engage in healthy lifestyle behaviors (eg, "I believe I can help my child to lead a healthy life." "I believe that I can reach the health goals that I set for myself."). Participants responded to each item on a Likert scale ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree). Composite scores were averaged and presented as means, SDs, with higher scores indicative of stronger beliefs. Cronbach alphas have consistently been above .80 [56].
- A revised version of the Godin-Shepard Leisure-Time Physical Activity Questionnaire [57] was used to assess retrospective pre-post design and to investigate changes in parent PA since playing Pokémon GO. Days per week (0 to 7) and minutes per day (in 10-min intervals from 0 to 60+) spent in strenuous, moderate, and mild PA before and after beginning to play Pokémon GO were self-reported. A Leisure Score Index (LSI) was determined by multiplying the frequency of each level of PA by a corresponding metabolic equivalent of task value: 3 (mild), 5 (moderate), and 9 (strenuous) [27]. Individuals with LSI greater than or equal to 24 are recognized as active, whereas individuals with LSI less than or equal to 23 are classified as insufficiently active [58]. Three additional questions assessed hours of daily sedentary behavior before playing Pokémon GO [38].

Children were asked to complete 2 surveys consisting of both open- and close-ended questions:

- Child characteristics and Pokémon GO user experience were assessed via 19 questions consisting of demographic questions and questions related to experiences playing Pokémon GO. For example, children were asked to indicate, "Who do you typically play Pokémon GO with?" Similarly, "Did you participate in any Pokémon GO holiday events (eg, Pokémon GO Halloween?)? Please respond yes or no." An open-ended question appeared at the end of the survey, "Is there anything else you want to share with us about why you play Pokémon GO?"
- *Parental influence on physical activity scale* (14 questions; Cronbach alpha >.70) [59,60] captures parental influence on a child's PA via 4 subscales: general parenting support, active parents, past activity, and guiding support. Composite scores were averaged for a mean score, with higher scores indicative of greater support.

Analysis

Data were analyzed using descriptive analyses, including means, SDs, and frequencies. Spearman rank correlation (rho) was used to assess relationships among study variables. Qualitative data were limited, stemming from open-ended survey questions. When possible, descriptive analysis of survey comments was used to identify recurrent themes and to highlight anecdotal feedback. As missing data were minimal and to ensure study quality, only data that were 90% or more completed were included in the final analysis, yielding a 98% parent and 94% child completion rate.

Habit It ben reported parent enanceteristies (n-100)

Results

Family Characteristics

Self-reported data from 160 parents and 31 children were included in the final analyses (representing 129 parents and 31 parent-child dyads). Both parent (141/160, 88.1%) and child (27/31, 87%) samples were overwhelmingly white. Over 60% of household incomes earned greater than US \$50,000 annually, with half of that reporting incomes greater than US \$100,000, and nearly 35% of the parents had a 4-year college degree. Tables 1-3 provide the family characteristics.

Characteristics	n (%)
Age (years)	
18-24	14 (8.8)
25-34	65 (40.6)
35-44	58 (36.2)
>45	23 (14.4)
Gender	
Female	115 (71.9)
Male	45 (28.1)
Race or ethnicity	
Black	5 (3.1)
White	141 (88.1)
Hispanic	4 (2.5)
Asian	3 (1.9)
Native American	3 (1.9)
Other	3 (1.9)
Missing	1 (0.6)

Table 2. Parent reporting on their child's characteristics (n=160).

Characteristics	n (%)
Age (years)	
≤10	107 (66.8)
11-15	35 (21.9)
≥16	11 (6.9)
Missing	7 (4.4)
Gender	
Female	46 (28.8)
Male	109 (68.1)
Missing	5 (3.1)
School level by grade	
Elementary (up to fifth)	123 (76.8)
Middle (sixth to eighth)	20 (12.5)
High school (ninth to twelfth)	14 (8.8)
Other	3 (1.9)

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e10679/

RenderX

JMIR Pediatr Parent 2018 | vol. 1 | iss. 2 |e10679 | p.76 (page number not for citation purposes)

Table 3. Self-reported child characteristics (n=31).

Characteristics ^a	n (%)
Age, in years	
≤10	22 (71)
11-15	6 (19)
≥16	3 (10)
Gender	
Female	7 (23)
Male	24 (77)
School level by grade	
Elementary (up to fifth)	22 (71)
Middle (sixth to eighth)	4 (13)
High school (ninth to twelfth)	5 (16)
Race or ethnicity	
White	27 (87)
Black	1 (3)
Hispanic or Spanish	1 (3)
Asian	2 (7)

^aData for children consented and assented into the study.

User Experiences

For aim 1, data reflect facets of user experiences (eg, adoptability, accessibility, desirability, usability, and value) [54,61]. Before Pokémon GO, the majority of parents (142/156, 91.0%) and children (24/31, 77%) never played an augmented reality game. Parents indicated that more than half of the children borrowed a parent's phone for gameplay (82/154, 53.3%), whereas 46.7% (72/154) of children played on their own phone. The majority of parents (79/155, 51.0%) downloaded the game within a week of release, whereas the majority of children downloaded the game within a month of release (12/30, 40%). However, nearly a fifth of both parents (28/155, 18.1%) and children (6/30, 20%) downloaded the game on the day it was released. Over 40% (69/160, 43.1%) of parents never engaged with the Pokémon brand before Pokémon GO. Conversely, children identified with the Pokémon brand through television shows (28/31, 90%), card collecting (23/31, 74%), and/or books (16/31, 52%). Table 4 highlights aspects of gameplay in families.

Open-ended questions provided insight into motivation and rationale for disengagement and re-engagement with the game (Table 5). Unique to family gameplay, parenting behaviors such as screen-time monitoring or leveraging the game for child reward or punishment (eg, "child punishment was over") influenced engagement. Parent comments suggested that boredom was the main factor related to disengaging from the game, whereas in-app events brought users back to the game. These in-app events and updates could elicit enjoyment and excitement, "It is fun to see new things" and "New Pokémon!!!"

To explore gameplay within the broader context of family, parents were asked to identify 3 goals for themselves or their

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e10679/

families. The 2 most cited goals were having fun (114/160, 71.3%) and spending more or quality time with their children (113/160, 70.6%). The third most reported goal was to exercise more (74/160, 46.3%). Making more money was the least reported goal (20/160, 12.5%). Most parents reported that playing Pokémon GO helped them to meet 2 or more of their family goals (107/155, 69.0%), and another 33% of parents reported that gameplay helped them meet 3 or more of their goals. Both parents and children cited multiple reasons for gameplay, yet "spending time with family" was the most cited reason. The majority of dyadic gameplay occurred between a child aged 10 years or younger and a parent (107/160, 66.8%). Parents reported gameplay with sons most often (111/160, 69.4%), and children reported gameplay with mothers most often 87% (27/31). Interestingly, more than half of the parents (107/160, 66.8%) reported playing Pokémon GO for their child, even when the child was not physically present. Table 6 provides the social perspectives of gameplay.

Profiles of Family Health

For aim 2, Pokémon GO was investigated within the context of family health. First, self-reported parental beliefs toward engaging in healthy lifestyle behaviors were relatively high. The average score was 75.00/90.00 (n=160; SD 10.2). Parental indicators of health behavior were obtained from retrospective self-reports of sedentary and PA behaviors. Sedentary behaviors were categorized into television or video watching, video game playing, or surfing the internet or Web. Watching 1 to 3 hours of television daily was the most frequently reported sedentary behavior (n=153, mean 2.71 [SD 1.93]). Surfing the internet accounted for 1 to 2 hours of daily sedentary behavior (n=150, mean 2.43 [SD 1.59]), with fewer parents reporting that they played video games (98/160, 61.3%).

 Table 4. Facets of Pokémon GO gameplay.

Aspect	Parent self-report (n=160), n (%)	Parent reporting on their child's gameplay (n=160), n (%)	Child self-report (n=31), n (%)		
Played game while doing something else (eg, walking somewhere and waiting in line)					
Yes	145 (90.6)	122 (76.3)	26 (84)		
No	11 (6.9)	34 (21.3)	4 (13)		
Missing	4 (2.5)	4 (2.5)	1 (3)		
Number of times game checked th	roughout the day				
0	6 (3.7)	0 (0.0)	12 (39)		
1	21 (13.1)	73 (45.6)	2 (6)		
2 to 3	51 (31.9)	56 (35.0)	10 (32)		
4+	78 (48.8)	27 (16.9)	7 (23)		
Missing	4 (2.5)	4 (2.5)	_		
In the past 7 days, number of epise	odes gameplay lasted for mor	re than 30 min			
5+	62 (38.8)	28 (17.5)	5 (16)		
3 to 4	47 (29.4)	37 (23.1)	6 (19)		
2 to 3	38 (23.8)	68 (42.5)	17 (55)		
0	9 (5.6)	23(14.4)	3 (10)		
Missing	4 (2.5)	4 (2.5)	_		
Participated in in-app events					
Yes	127 (79.4)	58 (36.3)	21 (68)		
No	29 (18.1)	97 (60.6)	10 (6)		
Missing	4 (2.5)	5 (3.1)	_		
Participated in community-sponso	ored Pokémon GO events				
Yes	91 (56.9)	—	10 (32)		
No	65 (40.6)	—	21 (68)		
Missing	4 (2.5)	—	_		
Purchased portable phone battery	for gameplay				
Yes	96 (60)	—	11 (36)		
No	60 (37.5)	—	20 (65)		
Missing	4 (2.5)	—	_		
Increased phone data plan					
Yes	28 (17.5)	—	3 (10)		
No	128 (80.0)	—	28 (90)		
Missing	4 (2.5)	—	_		
In-app purchases					
Yes	113 (70.6)	_	_		
No	45 (28.1)	—	_		
Missing	2 (1.3)	—	_		



Militello et al

Table 5. Engagement with Pokémon GO from parent perspective.

Perspective	n (%)
Stopped gameplay (permanent or temporary; n=156)	
Yes	26 (16.3)
No	130 (81.3)
Reason for disengaging from game (permanent or temporary; n=26)	
Bored or lost interest	11 (42)
Too busy	6 (23)
Addiction	2 (8)
Weather (unfavorable)	2 (8)
Completed game or level	2 (8)
Screen time monitoring	1 (4)
Game used too much phone memory	1 (4)
Technical bug	1 (4)
Reason for re-engaging with game (n=156)	
In-app events or updates	30 (57.7)
Child asked	10 (19.2)
Fun, interesting	3 (5.7)
Free time	2 (3.9)
Friends	2 (3.9)
Weather (favorable)	2 (3.9)
Change in work, social circumstance	2 (3.9)
Child punishment over	1 (1.8)

Table 6. Social perspectives of gameplay.

Aspects of gameplay	Parent (n=160), n (%)	Aspects of gameplay	Child (n=31), n (%)
Typical gameplay (check all that apply)			
With a child	97 (60.6)	With a parent	23 (74)
By myself	80 (50.0)	By myself	4 (13)
With family or friends	30 (18.8)	With family or friends	4 (13)
Played game with			
Son	111 (69.4)	Mother	27 (87)
Daughter	59 (36.9)	Sibling	19 (61)
Niece or nephew	41 (25.6)	Father	17 (55)
Grandchild	6 (3.8)	Grandparent	7 (23)
Other	19 (13.1)	Childcare provider	2 (7)
Enjoyed game because			
It helps me spend time with family	122 (76.3)	It helps me spend time with family	24 (77)
It helps me to go outdoors	113 (70.1)	It helps me to go outdoors	20 (65)
It makes regular walks interesting	111 (69.4)	It makes regular walks interesting	0 (0)
I like physical activity	90 (56.3)	I like physical activity	0 (0)
I am a Pokémon fan	48 (30.0)	I am a Pokémon fan	21 (68)
I consider myself a gamer	18 (11.3)	I consider myself a gamer	13 (42)

XSL•FO RenderX

Table 7. Retrospective physical activity before and after playing Pokémon GO.

Physical activity type	Ν	Before playing Pokémon GO, mean (SD)	After playing Pokémon GO, mean (SD)	<i>P</i> value
Mild activity (min/day)	_	21.13 (11.72)	26.39 (11.38)	
Mild activity (min/week)	98	79.59 (68.06)	102.95 (73.50)	.001
Moderate activity (min/day)	_	20.92 (14.11)	25.11 (13.03)	
Moderate activity (min/week)	131	60.45 (62.82)	82.21 (72.91)	<.001
Strenuous activity (min/day)	_	16.57 (15.49)	18.57 (15.44)	
Strenuous activity (min/week)	141	48.50 (60.69)	56.00 (66.17)	.03
Leisure score index ^a	160	38.25 (25.84)	48.04 (25.96)	<.001

^aLeisure score index: frequency of each physical activity level \times corresponding metabolic equivalent of task value.

Using the Godin-Shepard Leisure-Time Physical Activity Questionnaire, PA of parents was retrospectively evaluated before and after playing Pokémon GO. To account for variations in exercise routines (eg, Monday-Wednesday-Friday), weekly minutes of PA (vs daily) and an overall LSI were used for pairwise comparisons. Pairwise *t* tests compared PA levels before and after playing Pokémon GO. We applied a Bonferroni correction for the multiple comparisons of PA levels and overall LSI (mild PA, moderate PA, strenuous PA, LSI, P=.01). We found playing Pokémon GO significantly increased minutes spent in mild and moderate PA per week and overall LSI (Table 7). Although the LSI was relatively high for this sample before gameplay, LSI significantly improved from 67.5% (108/160) to 80.0% (128/160) after gameplay.

Correlations between family characteristics and health variables (parental healthy lifestyle beliefs, parental PA, and child perceptions of parental influences on PA) were assessed. Parents' education level significantly correlated with household income (r_s =.395, P=.03) and healthy lifestyle beliefs (r_s =.170, P=.03). These findings indicate that the more educated the parents, the more likely they were to have higher annual income and beliefs in their ability to engage in healthy lifestyle behaviors. However, analysis of parent-child dyadic data showed that parent healthy lifestyle belief scores (n=30, r_s =.242, P=.19) did not correlate with child perceptions of parental influences on PA (n=31, mean 30.06 [SD 5.13]). Instead, child perceptions of parental influences on PA significantly correlated with LSI, both before and after Pokémon GO (n=31, pre-LSI r_s=.503, P=.004; post-LSI $r_s=.476$, P=.007). Upon closer examination, the most significant association was found between child perceptions of parental influences on PA subscale for active parents and parent-reported minutes per week spent in strenuous PA (pre gameplay r_s =.389, P=.03; post gameplay r_s =.447, P=.02). Parent-reported strenuous activity also significantly correlated with child perceptions of parental influences on PA guiding support subscale (pre gameplay r_s =.361, P=.05; post gameplay r_s =.378, P=.04). These findings suggest that children are more likely to perceive parental influence on PA if the parent regularly engages in strenuous activity and has supportive rules for PA participation.

Discussion

Principal Findings

Pokémon GO transcended traditional understanding of digital health and uniquely reached across generations to engage users. Analogous to other research exploring interest in health apps [62,63] and Pokémon GO family research [26], our sample tended to be white, educated, and with higher than average household incomes. Although Pokémon GO sparred many conversations and lessons to be learned [24], it is critical to note that a significant portion of families are underrepresented. From our sample, it is evident that families with young children are co-users of technology. Largely consistent with previous Pokémon GO research [26,30,32-34], our findings show that for stints in time, Pokémon GO promoted physical and social well-being. Findings are presented per the following study aims: (1) to explore the Pokémon GO user experience from a family perspective and (2) to investigate Pokémon GO within the context of family health.

User Experience

Findings are presented following facets of the user experience honeycomb (ie, usability, adaptability, accessibility, desirability, and value) [54,64]. Ease of use or usability refers to the ease with which users can complete their intended task using a product [61]. For example, Pokémon GO was able to reach a broad audience by designing a free game for use on mobile devices (opposed to requiring users to purchase a specific gaming device). In the United States, approximately three-quarters of all Americans own a smartphone [65]. Similarly, Pokémon GO was and continues to be available across Android and iOS platforms. Yet, as a freemium game (ie, where additional features may be purchased) Pokémon GO consumed up to 50% of mobile phone-based micro transactions shortly after release [66]. We found more than 70% of parents reported in-app purchases. This was an unanticipated finding and follow-up questions regarding specific purchases were not part of the initial survey. However, our findings suggest that usability in children or family units may differ than that in individual or adult populations. We found that parents leveraged gameplay to punish or reward child behavior. For instance, parents reported, "We will use a Pokémon excursion to the zoo or a park to reward good behavior" or "Planned day outings...based

on where the nest sites are." Similarly, a child's usability may be influenced by parental monitoring as young children are less likely to have their own mobile phone or have freedoms related to in-app purchases. In other Pokémon GO family research, parents believed that gameplay was associated with danger and threatened safety [26,48]. Thus, in families, individual gameplay particularly for young children may be linked to interpersonal relationships and influence usability.

Elements of emotional design (behavioral, reflective, and visceral) [67] that invoke emotional reaction to material objects should be considered part of the user experience [54]. Desirability refers to the power of a brand or image and is dependent on a user's context [54,61]. Through collectable cards, games, books, and animated television series launched in 1996 in Japan, Pokémon remains one of the world's most popular entities [68]. Yet, in our sample, over 40% of parents (69/160, 43.1%) never engaged with the Pokémon brand before Pokémon GO. Conversely, children identified with the Pokémon brand through television shows (28/31, 90%) and card collecting (23/31, 74%). In our sample, gameplay was most often between a child aged 10 years or younger and a parent. During middle childhood, children's connections with their parents and family are of tremendous importance for their social and emotional well-being [69]. Although not longitudinally collected, parents' responses to initial uptake of Pokémon GO signaled positive emotion associated with gameplay, "I love the smile my daughter gets when she catches a Pokémon," "It is a great way to spend time with kids and their friends," and "It is exciting to walk together and share." Research shows that parents more directly influence learning when they choose to engage in activities with their children [23], and play, even digital play, helps families learn and connect [70,71]. Six conditions that lead to productive JME include mutual engagement; dialogic inquiry (inspire collaboration with others); cocreation (use media to build things); boundary crossing (span time and setting); intention to develop (at least one partner aims to grow through the activity); and focus on content not control (jockeying for control are kept to a minimum) [23]. In addition to these 6 conditions, Sobel et al [26] found Pokémon GO had other qualities that encouraged productive JME. Pokémon GO hinged on going outdoors, walking, and working in teams; gameplay relied on dynamic outdoor context; gameplay facilitated social connections outside of the family; and gameplay could be shared differently depending on how parents want to participate [26].

Explosive contagion *going viral* occurs when the transmission of a phenomenon becomes strong enough to overcome reluctance [72]. The spread of social phenomena mimics situations in which the willingness of individuals to adopt something new depends not only on the intrinsic value but also on whether acquaintances will adopt this product or not [72]. Findings from adult literature showed that when participants perceived strong social pressure from people around them, they were likely to play Pokémon GO while walking [35]. Individuals are embedded in social contexts; therefore, interpersonal and social processes are recognized as powerful levers for behavior change [73]. Likewise, a product is likely to be adopted if it is *accessible*. Although Pokémon GO was free to download, research has suggested that minority populations faced greater

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e10679/

challenges playing Pokémon GO due to incentivized gameplay toward advantaged areas and away from rural places and places with larger minority populations [74,75]. Thus, ethical design must develop at an early stage and consider digital divide, equity, privacy, and autonomy [76].

Aligning product features with user needs drives a product's value. Foremost, our findings reinforce previous evidence [26,34,48] that Pokémon GO provided an opportunity to support family values and fostered family bonding. The challenge of balancing work, life, and parenting responsibilities creates a uniquely stressed situation for parents [77-79]. Time, as a commodity, is extremely valuable to parents [80]. Recognizing the interaction between personal characteristics and situational factors, identity-based motivation (IBM) bridges psychological and social literature to facilitate integration with goal theories [81]. IBM assumes that identities are dynamically constructed in context and people are more likely to take action if something is identity-congruent [81,82]. The challenge of leveraging identity is that the same attribute can be motivating or demotivating within context, depending on the meaning and interpretation of difficulty [83]. Decisions and behaviors are often the result of goals and motives people possess [84]. Activating a goal can influence many aspects of behavior, including how people perceive, evaluate, and feel about the world around them [84]. The number of means attached to a given goal vary, and conversely, so may the number of goals attached to a given mean [85]. For example, in our sample, playing Pokémon GO served multiple goals through a single mean. Pokémon GO served the 3 most cited parent goals: have fun, spend more or quality time with their children, and get more exercise. Multifinality set denotes the number of goals linked to a mean, which may affect the perceived value of the mean or *bang for the buck* [85]. For a period of time, Pokémon GO was an extremely efficient use of time for families. However, goal systems are highly variable and context-dependent [85]. A different set of goals to the same mean may change in different context or circumstances [85]. Differently resourced families have different time, energy, and budget available for supporting media in a media-rich world competing for our attention [18,23]. Pokémon GO was able to re-engage nearly 60% of users who stopped the game using novelty via in-app events and updates. In our study, as context and circumstances changed over time (eg, weather and work schedules), gameplay became less *desirable* to some families. When specifically asked about re-engagement, for some, open-ended comments swayed negative, "My obsessed son," "My kid's bugging me about it," and "I don't always want to be on my phone or my son to be on my phone." This highlights heterogeneity not only between families but also within families that can occur over time. Therefore, opposed to sustained engagement, research using digital technologies to support health should focus on effective engagement, sufficient to achieve intended outcomes [86], particularly in family interventions.

Family Health

Our findings support previous research [30,36,38], showing that when played as designed, Pokémon GO was associated with increases in PA. We found significant improvements in

XSL•FO RenderX

mild and moderate PA after Pokémon GO uptake, with the largest gains observed in mild activity (approximately 23.36 min/week). In addition, 20 participants (20/160, 12.5%) shifted from being classified as *insufficiently active* to *active* after playing Pokémon GO. We believe that part of Pokémon GO's success as a health app was the stealth health approach accomplished through gameplay. Stealth health is an intervention approach where the target is a side effect but not the primary motivator of participation (also a common gamification technique) [87]. Using this approach, behavior change occurs by shaping existing situations (eg, relaxing after dinner by playing a location-based game).

Research conducted in college students show that variables from the theory of planned behavior (attitude, subjective norms, and perceived behavioral control) were significant predictors of behavioral intentions for gameplay [33,35]. Behavior change techniques (BCTs) are theoretically derived behavioral determinants identified for a given target [9]. There is empirical support favoring interventions that incorporate BCTs to increase self-efficacy and PA versus comparator [10,12,88,89]. As such, we found the following BCTs used in Pokémon GO: feedback and monitoring, reward and threat, goals and planning, shaping knowledge, and social support. The same BCTs found in Pokémon GO are also common to both gamification techniques [90-93] and pediatric health promotion apps [87,94,95]. Across BCT literature [10-12,88,89], planning is commonly used to increase self-efficacy, and self-monitoring is commonly used to increase PA. Although self-efficacy has been associated with PA behavior change [12,96], the influence of parental self-efficacy on PA evidence of a child is inconclusive [60,97]. In our study, parental beliefs toward healthy lifestyles did not correlate with child perceptions of parental support for PA. Rather, we found that parental behaviors, particularly strenuous PA, associated with child perceptions of parental support for PA. In a systematic review of mobile apps, role modeling was the only predictor of PA in children aged 6 to 13 years [95]. Other research demonstrates that perceived parental norms and role modeling are associated with healthy lifestyle behaviors in school-aged children [2,98,99], particularly influencing time spent outdoors [99].

Limitations and Future Research

Limitations of this study should be noted. The study design and convenience sample used weaken the strength of the study. We were unable to determine comparisons by child age (eg, <10 years vs ≥ 10 years) or gender because of limited distributions. Survey development and use of the game were conducted by 1 individual on the project; a diverse set of inputs would

strengthen future research. Findings presented here reflect the lag time between academia and health relative to the pace of technology. The convenience sample data were collected 6 months after the initial release of Pokémon GO and skewed toward educated white populations. Research is needed to advance the real-world implementation of digital health interventions [22,100]. Specifically, research is needed to understand how all different types of families use media together, use competing technologies, and create equitable opportunities for JME in resource-limited families [23,101]. JME presented here is within the context of parent-child. Yet, JME is a much broader concept to include digital learning across individuals, including peer, sibling, and family. We briefly explored these relationships, discovering that 61% (19/31) of children reported playing Pokémon GO with a sibling. Finally, data were collected through self-report, and changes in PA were retrospective self-report, which may introduce recall bias and social desirability.

Conclusions

We believe this research extends the science by highlighting the Pokémon GO user experience and within the context of family health. Our findings parallel other research [102-104] suggesting that popular pop culture may be leveraged to promote health. However, gender (or gender neutral) associations may exist with different brands. As technology becomes more ubiquitous, equity concerns persist for reasons that transcend mere access to these tools [23,101]. Recognizing families as co-users of technology, particularly in families with children aged 5 to 10 years, digitally supported behavior change interventions that incorporate JME strategies should reflect the child's developmental stage and the dynamic nature of media use within the family. Within the ever-changing context of family life, we found a balance between the stability of family connectedness and everyday life. Our findings further suggest that Pokémon GO's success with children and families may be attributed to how gameplay became entwined with and strengthened important family values, while stealthily serving multiple other goals. In busy families, the efficiency of Pokémon GO justified gameplay. Although parents are traditionally recognized as agents of change for family health [2], findings from this study suggest that children aged 10 years or younger may serve as reciprocal agents of change by promoting engagement with digital health interventions. Pokémon GO underscored the potential for digital health, demonstrating that a single app can touch the lives of millions. With the anticipated release of Niantic's Harry Potter AR game in 2018 [105], another opportunity to broaden the science in children and families appears on the horizon.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank the Sigma Theta Tau International, Epsilon Chapter. The authors would also like to thank the Pokémon GO collaborative, Eric Hekler, Deborah Lin, Ken Fujita, Alex Biel, and Niantic, for the game, the chance to explore, and the family time.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- Liu Y, Croft JB, Wheaton AG, Kanny D, Cunningham TJ, Lu H, et al. Clustering of five health-related behaviors for chronic disease prevention among adults, United States, 2013. Prev Chronic Dis 2016 Dec 26;13:E70 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5888/pcd13.160054] [Medline: 27236381]
- 2. Faith MS, Van Horn L, Appel LJ, Burke LE, Carson JA, Franch HA, American Heart Association Nutrition and Obesity Committees of the Council on Nutrition, Physical Activity and Metabolism, Council on Clinical Cardiology, Council on Cardiovascular Disease in the Young, Council on Cardiovascular Nursing, Council on Epidemiology and Prevention, Council on the Kidney in Cardiovascular Disease. Evaluating parents and adult caregivers as "agents of change" for treating obese children: evidence for parent behavior change strategies and research gaps: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association. Circulation 2012 Mar 6;125(9):1186-1207. [doi: 10.1161/CIR.0b013e31824607ee] [Medline: 22271754]
- 3. Pina LR, Sien SW, Ward T, Yip JC, Munson SA, Fogarty J, et al. From Personal Informatics to Family Informatics: Understanding Family Practices Around Health Monitoring. Proc 2017 ACM Conf Comput Support Coop Work Soc Comput Internet. In: Proceedings of the 2017 ACM Conference on Computer Supported Cooperative Work and Social Computing. USA: ACM; 2017 Presented at: ACM Conference on Computer Supported Cooperative Work and Social Computing; February 25-March 01, 2017; Portland, Oregon, USA p. 2300-2315. [doi: 10.1145/2998181.2998362]
- Silventoinen K, Rokholm B, Kaprio J, Sørensen TI. The genetic and environmental influences on childhood obesity: a systematic review of twin and adoption studies. Int J Obes (Lond) 2010 Jan;34(1):29-40. [doi: <u>10.1038/ijo.2009.177</u>] [Medline: <u>19752881</u>]
- Bridgett DJ, Burt NM, Edwards ES, Deater-Deckard K. Intergenerational transmission of self-regulation: a multidisciplinary review and integrative conceptual framework. Psychol Bull 2015 May;141(3):602-654 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/a0038662] [Medline: 25938878]
- 6. Murray DW, Rosanbalm K, Chritopoulos C. Washington, DC, USA: Office of Planning, Research and Evaluation, Administration for Children and Families, US Department of Health and Human Services; 2016 Feb. Self-Regulation and Toxic Stress Report 3: A Comprehensive Review of Self-Regulation Interventions from Birth Through Young Adulthood URL: <u>https://www.acf.hhs.gov/opre/resource/self-regulation-and-toxic-stress-report-3</u> [accessed 2018-09-12] [WebCite Cache ID 72NI9LZf4]
- Wittkowski A, Garrett C, Calam R, Weisberg D. Self-report measures of parental self-efficacy: a systematic review of the current literature. J Child Fam Stud 2017;26(11):2960-2978 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10826-017-0830-5] [Medline: 29081640]
- Larsen KR, Michie S, Hekler EB, Gibson B, Spruijt-Metz D, Ahern D, et al. Behavior change interventions: the potential of ontologies for advancing science and practice. J Behav Med 2017 Feb;40(1):6-22. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10865-016-9768-0</u>] [Medline: <u>27481101</u>]
- Michie S, Johnston M, Francis J, Hardeman W, Eccles M. From theory to intervention: mapping theoretically derived behavioural determinants to behaviour change techniques. Appl Psychol 2008 Oct;57(4):660-680. [doi: 10.1111/j.1464-0597.2008.00341.x]
- Martin J, Chater A, Lorencatto F. Effective behaviour change techniques in the prevention and management of childhood obesity. Int J Obes (Lond) 2013 Oct;37(10):1287-1294. [doi: <u>10.1038/ijo.2013.107</u>] [Medline: <u>23756676</u>]
- 11. McDermott MS, Oliver M, Iverson D, Sharma R. Effective techniques for changing physical activity and healthy eating intentions and behaviour: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Health Psychol 2016 Nov;21(4):827-841. [doi: 10.1111/bjhp.12199] [Medline: 27193530]
- Olander EK, Fletcher H, Williams S, Atkinson L, Turner A, French DP. What are the most effective techniques in changing obese individuals' physical activity self-efficacy and behaviour: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2013;10:29 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-10-29] [Medline: 23452345]
- 13. Williams SL, French DP. What are the most effective intervention techniques for changing physical activity self-efficacy and physical activity behaviour--and are they the same? Health Educ Res 2011 Apr;26(2):308-322 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/her/cyr005] [Medline: 21321008]
- 14. Hekler EB, Michie S, Pavel M, Rivera DE, Collins LM, Jimison HB, et al. Advancing models and theories for digital behavior change interventions. Am J Prev Med 2016 Nov;51(5):825-832. [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2016.06.013] [Medline: 27745682]
- Jameson JL, Longo DL. Precision medicine--personalized, problematic, and promising. N Engl J Med 2015 Jun 4;372(23):2229-2234. [doi: <u>10.1056/NEJMsb1503104</u>] [Medline: <u>26014593</u>]
- Nahum-Shani I, Smith SN, Spring BJ, Collins LM, Witkiewitz K, Tewari A, et al. Just-in-time adaptive interventions (JITAIs) in mobile health: key components and design principles for ongoing health behavior support. Ann Behav Med 2018 May 18;52(6):446-462. [doi: 10.1007/s12160-016-9830-8] [Medline: 27663578]

- 17. Pew Research Center Internet & Technology. 2018 Feb 5. Mobile Fact Sheet URL: <u>http://www.pewinternet.org/fact-sheet/</u> mobile/ [accessed 2017-01-26] [WebCite Cache ID 6nnsZpARN]
- Rideout V. Joan Ganz Cooney Center. 2014 Jan 24. Learning at Home: Families' Educational Media Use in America URL: http://www.joanganzcooneycenter.org/publication/learning-at-home/ [accessed 2018-09-11] [WebCite Cache ID 72MCUm9j5]
- Robb M. Joan Ganz Cooney Center. 2017 Oct 19. More Mobile, Fewer Divides: New Common Sense Study Tracks Kids Media Use from 2011 to 2017 URL: <u>https://tinyurl.com/y7rome7m</u> [accessed 2018-09-12] [WebCite Cache ID 72Mmu4W9x]
 Control Cont
- 20. Common Sense Media. 2017. The Common Sense Census: Media Use by Kids Age Zero to Eight 2017 URL: <u>https://www.commonsensemedia.org/research/the-common-sense-census-media-use-by-kids-age-zero-to-eight-2017</u> [accessed 2018-08-14] [WebCite Cache ID 71fsqpfg0]
- 21. Spruijt-Metz D, Hekler E, Saranummi N, Intille S, Korhonen I, Nilsen W, et al. Building new computational models to support health behavior change and maintenance: new opportunities in behavioral research. Transl Behav Med 2015 Sep;5(3):335-346 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13142-015-0324-1] [Medline: 26327939]
- 22. Mohr DC, Riper H, Schueller SM. A solution-focused research approach to achieve an implementable revolution in digital mental health. J Am Med Assoc Psychiatry 2018 Feb 1;75(2):113-114. [doi: <u>10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2017.3838</u>] [Medline: <u>29238805</u>]
- 23. Takeuchi L, Stevens R. Joan Ganz Cooney Center.: The Joan Ganz Cooney Center at Sesame Street Workshop and LIFE Center; 2011 Dec 8. The New Coviewing: designing for learning through joint media engagement URL: <u>http://joanganzcooneycenter.org/publication/the-new-coviewing-designing-for-learning-through-joint-media-engagement/</u>[accessed 2018-09-12] [WebCite Cache ID 72MnE9MRj]
- 24. Baranowski T. Pokémon Go, go, go, gone? Games Health J 2016 Aug 15. [doi: <u>10.1089/g4h.2016.01055.tbp</u>] [Medline: <u>27525347</u>]
- 25. Tassi P. Forbes. 2017 Apr 5. Believe It or Not, 'Pokemon GO' has 65 Million Monthly Active Players URL: <u>https://www.forbes.com/sites/insertcoin/2017/04/05/believe-it-or-not-pokemon-go-has-65-million-monthly-active-players/#4752bc1d121d</u> [accessed 2018-09-11] [WebCite Cache ID 72MDeqNjG]
- 26. Sobel K, Bhattacharya A, Hiniker A, Lee JH, Kientz JA, Yip JC. It wasn't really about the PokéMon: parents' perspectives on a location-based mobile game. In: Proceedings of the 2017 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. USA: ACM; 2017 Presented at: CHI '17; May 06-11, 2017; Denver, Colorado, USA p. 1483-1496. [doi: 10.1145/3025453.3025761]
- 27. Pokémon GO Support. 2018. Pokémon GO URL: <u>https://support.pokemongo.nianticlabs.com/hc/en-us</u> [accessed 2017-08-18] [WebCite Cache ID 6so5nUDTq]
- Baranowski T, Abdelsamad D, Baranowski J, O'Connor TM, Thompson D, Barnett A, et al. Impact of an active video game on healthy children's physical activity. Pediatrics 2012 Mar;129(3):e636-e642 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.2011-2050] [Medline: 22371457]
- 29. Barnett A, Cerin E, Baranowski T. Active video games for youth: a systematic review. J Phys Act Health 2011 Jul;8(5):724-737. [Medline: 21734319]
- Althoff T, White RW, Horvitz E. Influence of Pokémon Go on physical activity: study and Implications. J Med Internet Res 2016 Dec 6;18(12):e315 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6759] [Medline: 27923778]
- 31. Barkley JE, Lepp A, Glickman EL. "Pokémon Go!" may promote walking, discourage sedentary behavior in college students. Games Health J 2017 Jun;6(3):165-170. [doi: <u>10.1089/g4h.2017.0009</u>] [Medline: <u>28628384</u>]
- 32. Howe KB, Suharlim C, Ueda P, Howe D, Kawachi I, Rimm EB. Gotta catch'em all! Pokémon GO and physical activity among young adults: difference in differences study. Br Med J 2016 Dec 13;355:i6270 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 27965211]
- 33. Kaczmarek LD, Misiak M, Behnke M, Dziekan M, Guzik P. The Pikachu effect: social and health gaming motivations lead to greater benefits of Pokémon GO use. Comput Human Behav 2017 Oct;75:356-363. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.chb.2017.05.031</u>]
- 34. Kogan L, Hellyer P, Duncan C, Schoenfeld-Tacher R. A pilot investigation of the physical and psychological benefits of playing Pokémon GO for dog owners. Comput Human Behav 2017 Nov;76:431-437. [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2017.07.043]
- 35. Koh HE, Oh J, Mackert M. Predictors of playing augmented reality mobile games while walking based on the theory of planned behavior: web-based survey. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2017 Dec 11;5(12):e191 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.8470] [Medline: 29229586]
- 36. Liu W, Ligmann-Zielinska A. A pilot study of Pokémon Go and players' physical activity. Games Health J 2017 Dec;6(6):343-350. [doi: 10.1089/g4h.2017.0036] [Medline: 28853912]
- Marquet O, Alberico C, Adlakha D, Hipp JA. Examining motivations to play Pokémon GO and their influence on perceived outcomes and physical activity. JMIR Serious Games 2017 Oct 24;5(4):e21 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/games.8048] [Medline: 29066423]
- Nigg CR, Mateo DJ, An J. Pokémon GO may increase physical activity and decrease sedentary behaviors. Am J Public Health 2017 Jan;107(1):37-38. [doi: <u>10.2105/AJPH.2016.303532</u>] [Medline: <u>27854536</u>]
- Rasche P, Schlomann A, Mertens A. Who is still playing Pokémon Go? A web-based survey. JMIR Serious Games 2017 Apr 5;5(2):e7 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/games.7197] [Medline: 28381393]
- 40. Wong FY. Influence of Pokémon Go on physical activity levels of university players: a cross-sectional study. Int J Health Geogr 2017 Feb 22;16(1):8 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12942-017-0080-1] [Medline: 28228102]

- 41. Griffiths M. Gamasutra. 2016 Jan 8. 10 Psychosocial reasons Pokemon go is so appealing URL: <u>http://www.gamasutra.com/blogs/MarkGriffiths/20160801/278248/10_psychosocial_reasons_why_Pokmon_Go_is_so_appealing.php</u> [accessed 2016-10-25] [WebCite Cache ID 72Mnw56qb]
- 42. Joseph B. Clalliance. 2016 Jul 14. The Secret Sauce in Pokémon Go: Big Data URL: <u>https://clalliance.org/blog/</u> secret-sauce-pokemon-go/ [accessed 2018-09-12] [WebCite Cache ID 72MnyLTWw]
- 43. McCartney M. Margaret McCartney: game on for Pokémon Go. Br Med J 2016 Aug 09;354:i4306. [doi: 10.1136/bmj.i4306]
- 44. Parkinson JA. Self Determination Theory. 2016 Aug 11. The Conversation: How Pokemon Go turned couch potatoes into fitness fanatics without them even realising it URL: <u>https://tinyurl.com/y7dj5fjd/</u> [accessed 2018-09-12] [WebCite Cache ID 72MnzPWVH]
- 45. Tateno M, Skokauskas N, Kato TA, Teo AR, Guerrero AP. New game software (Pokémon Go) may help youth with severe social withdrawal, hikikomori. Psychiatry Res 2016 Dec 30;246:848-849 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2016.10.038] [Medline: 27817905]
- 46. Fountaine CJ, Springer EJ, Sward JR. A descriptive study of objectively measured Pokémon GO playtime in college students. Int J Exerc Sci 2018;11(7):526-532 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 29541340]
- Xian Y, Xu H, Xu H, Liang L, Hernandez AF, Wang TY, et al. An initial evaluation of the impact of Pokémon GO on physical activity. J Am Heart Assoc 2017 May 16;6(5) [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1161/JAHA.116.005341</u>] [Medline: <u>28512111</u>]
- 48. Lindqvist AK, Castelli D, Hallberg J, Rutberg S. The praise and price of Pokémon GO: a qualitative study of children's and parents' experiences. JMIR Serious Games 2018 Jan 3;6(1):e1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/games.8979] [Medline: 29298750]
- 49. Ruiz-Ariza A, Casuso RA, Suarez-Manzano S, Martínez-López EJ. Effect of augmented reality game Pokémon GO on cognitive performance and emotional intelligence in adolescent young. Comput Educ 2018 Jan;116:49-63. [doi: 10.1016/j.compedu.2017.09.002]
- 50. Perski O, Blandford A, West R, Michie S. Conceptualising engagement with digital behaviour change interventions: a systematic review using principles from critical interpretive synthesis. Transl Behav Med 2016 Jun;7(2):254-267. [doi: 10.1007/s13142-016-0453-1] [Medline: 27966189]
- 51. Eysenbach G. Improving the quality of Web surveys: the Checklist for Reporting Results of Internet E-Surveys (CHERRIES). J Med Internet Res 2004 Dec 29;6(3):e34 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6.3.e34] [Medline: 15471760]
- 52. Geertz C. NYBooks. 1998 Oct 22. Deep Hanging Out URL: <u>https://www.nybooks.com/articles/1998/10/22/deep-hanging-out/</u> [accessed 2018-08-02] [WebCite Cache ID 72MoukVcw]
- 53. Klemmer S. Coursera. Human-Centered Design: an Introduction URL: <u>https://www.coursera.org/learn/human-computer-interaction</u> [accessed 2018-09-12] [WebCite Cache ID 72MoxKJEb]
- 54. Morville P. Semantic Studios. 2004 Jun 21. User Experience Design URL: <u>http://semanticstudios.com/user_experience_design/</u> [accessed 2015-06-02] [WebCite Cache ID 6YzZyjidp]
- 55. Melnyk BM, Small L, Morrison-Beedy D, Strasser A, Spath L, Kreipe R, et al. Mental health correlates of healthy lifestyle attitudes, beliefs, choices & behaviors in overweight teens. J Pediatr Health Care 2006;20(6):401-406. [doi: 10.1016/j.pedhc.2006.03.004]
- 56. Militello L, Melnyk BM, Hekler EB, Small L, Jacobson D. Automated behavioral text messaging and face-to-face intervention for parents of overweight or obese preschool children: results from a pilot study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2016 Mar 14;4(1):e21 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.4398] [Medline: 26976387]
- 57. Godin G, Shephard RJ. A simple method to assess exercise behavior in the community. Can J Appl Sport Sci 1985 Sep;10(3):141-146. [Medline: <u>4053261</u>]
- 58. Amireault S, Godin G, Lacombe J, Sabiston CM. The use of the Godin-Shephard Leisure-Time Physical Activity Questionnaire in oncology research: a systematic review. BMC Med Res Methodol 2015 Aug 12;15:60 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12874-015-0045-7] [Medline: 26264621]
- Jago R, Davison KK, Brockman R, Page AS, Thompson JL, Fox KR. Parenting styles, parenting practices, and physical activity in 10- to 11-year olds. Prev Med 2011 Jan;52(1):44-47 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2010.11.001] [Medline: 21070805]
- 60. Jago R, Fox KR, Page AS, Brockman R, Thompson JL. Development of scales to assess children's perceptions of friend and parental influences on physical activity. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2009 Oct 12;6:67 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-6-67] [Medline: 19821970]
- 61. Guo F. UXMatters. 2012 Apr 24. More Than Usability: The Four Elements of User Experience, Part I URL: <u>https://www.uxmatters.com/mt/archives/2012/04/more-than-usability-the-four-elements-of-user-experience-part-i.php</u> [accessed 2018-05-29] [WebCite Cache ID 72MKGnH00]
- 62. Fox S. Pew Internet. 2013 Mar 20. Tracking for Health: Detailed Demographics URL: <u>http://www.pewinternet.org/2013/</u> 03/20/tracking-for-health-detailed-demographics/ [accessed 2018-09-12] [WebCite Cache ID 72MpVD1gD]
- Schueller SM, Neary M, O'Loughlin K, Adkins EC. Discovery of and interest in health apps among those with mental health needs: survey and focus group study. J Med Internet Res 2018 Jun 11;20(6):e10141 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10141] [Medline: 29891468]

- 64. Norman D, Nielsen J. NNGroup. 2018. The Definition of User Experience (UX) URL: <u>https://www.nngroup.com/articles/</u> <u>definition-user-experience/</u> [accessed 2017-11-23] [WebCite Cache ID 6vB6UXO0S]
- 65. Rainie L, Perrin A. Pew Research. 2017 Jun 28. 10 facts about smartphones as the iPhone turns 10 URL: <u>http://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2017/06/28/10-facts-about-smartphones/</u> [accessed 2017-08-13] [WebCite Cache ID 6sh7M77Xs]
- 66. Jeffery M. GameRant. 2016. Pokemon GO Microtransactions Take Up Almost 50% of Daily Mobile Purchases URL: <u>https://gamerant.com/pokemon-go-microstransaction-profit-751/</u> [accessed 2018-02-03] [WebCite Cache ID 72MpiYAfO]
- 67. Norman D. Emotional Design: Why We Love (or Hate) Everyday Things. New York: Basic Books; 2004.
- 68. Pokémon. 2018. Explore the World of Pokémon URL: <u>http://www.pokemon.com/us/</u> [accessed 2010-04-08] [WebCite Cache ID 50pvyv1HY]
- 69. Morelli AS, Dombeck M. 2018. Child Development Theory: Middle Childhood (8-11) URL: <u>http://www.mhsso.org/poc/</u> <u>center_index.php?cn=1272</u> [accessed 2018-03-10] [WebCite Cache ID 72MqHosLp]
- 70. Schrier K. Joan Ganz Cooney Center. 2018 Mar 12. Connecting Across Worlds: How Empathy and Play Can Support Connection URL: <u>https://tinyurl.com/yb5v6nxf</u> [accessed 2018-09-11] [WebCite Cache ID 72ML09au1]
- 71. Siyahhan S, Gee E. Families at Play: Connecting and Learning through Video Games. Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press; 2018:216.
- 72. Gómez-Gardeñes J, Lotero L, Taraskin SN, Pérez-Reche FJ. Explosive contagion in networks. Sci Rep 2016 Jan 28;6:19767 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/srep19767] [Medline: 26819191]
- 73. Nielsen L, Riddle M, King JW, NIH Science of Behavior Change Implementation Team, Aklin WM, Chen W, et al. The NIH Science of Behavior Change Program: transforming the science through a focus on mechanisms of change. Behav Res Ther 2018 Feb;101:3-11 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2017.07.002] [Medline: 29110885]
- 74. Colley A, Thebault-Spieker J, Lin AY, Degraen D, Fischman B, Häkkilä J, et al. The Geography of PokéMon GO: Beneficial and Problematic Effects on Places and Movement. In: Proceedings of the 2017 CHI Conference. USA: ACM; 2017 Presented at: CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems; May 2017; Denver, Colorado, USA p. 1179-1192 URL: https://dl.acm.org/citation.cfm?id=3025495 [doi: 10.1145/3025453.3025495]
- 75. Kooragayala S, Srini T. Urban Institute. 2016. Pokémon GO is changing how cities use public space, but could it be more inclusive? URL: <u>https://tinyurl.com/y9ye8ybf</u> [accessed 2017-04-20] [WebCite Cache ID 72Mr42vPq]
- 76. Nathan G. Design thinking approach to ethical (responsible) innovation. In: Gianni R, Pearson J, Reber B, editors. Responsible Research and Innovation: From Concepts to Practices. Abingdon, United Kingdom: Routledge; 2018.
- 77. Deater-Deckard K. Parenting Stress (Current Perspectives in Psychology). New Haven, CT: Yale University Press; 2014.
- National Public Radio, Robert Wood Johnson Foundation, Harvard School of Public Health. 2013. A Poll About Children and Weight (Cracking Down on Crunch Time) URL: <u>https://www.rwjf.org/en/library/research/2013/02/</u> <u>a-poll-about-children-and-weight.html</u> [accessed 2014-01-27] [WebCite Cache ID 72MrAomSS]
- 79. Pew Research Center. 2015 Nov 4. Raising Kids and Running a Household: How Working Parents Share the Load URL: http://www.pewsocialtrends.org/2015/11/04/raising-kids-and-running-a-household-how-working-parents-share-the-load/ [accessed 2018-09-12] [WebCite Cache ID 72MrEGuj3]
- 80. Pew Research Center. 2015 May 17. Parenting in America: Outlook, worries, aspirations are strongly linked to financial situation URL: <u>http://www.pewsocialtrends.org/2015/12/17/parenting-in-america/</u> [accessed 2018-03-07] [WebCite Cache ID 72MrFjs3t]
- Oyserman D, Destin M. Identity-based motivation: implications for intervention. Couns Psychol 2010 Oct;38(7):1001-1043 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0011000010374775] [Medline: 21516204]
- Oyserman D, Fryberg SA, Yoder N. Identity-based motivation and health. J Pers Soc Psychol 2007 Dec;93(6):1011-1027. [doi: <u>10.1037/0022-3514.93.6.1011</u>] [Medline: <u>18072851</u>]
- 83. Oyserman D. Identity-based motivation. In: Scott R, Kosslyn S, editors. Emerging Trends in the Social and Behavioral Sciences. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons, Inc; 2015.
- 84. Fishbach A, Toure-Tillery M. Motives and goals. In: Biswas-Diener R, Diener E, editors. Noba Textbook Series: Psychology. Motiv Goals Internet Champaign, IL: DEF publishers; 2018.
- 85. Kruglanski AW, Shah JY, Fishbach A, Friedman R, Chun W, Sleeth-Keppler D. A theory of goal systems. In: Zanna MP, editor. Advances in Experimental Social Psychology. San Diego, CA: Academic Press; 2002:331-378.
- 86. Michie S, Yardley L, West R, Patrick K, Greaves F. Developing and evaluating digital interventions to promote behavior change in health and health care: recommendations resulting from an international workshop. J Med Internet Res 2017 Jun 29;19(6):e232 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7126] [Medline: 28663162]
- Wearing JR, Nollen N, Befort C, Davis AM, Agemy CK. iPhone app adherence to expert-recommended guidelines for pediatric obesity prevention. Child Obes 2014 Apr;10(2):132-144 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/chi.2013.0084] [Medline: 24655230]
- Samdal GB, Eide GE, Barth T, Williams G, Meland E. Effective behaviour change techniques for physical activity and healthy eating in overweight and obese adults; systematic review and meta-regression analyses. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2017 Dec 28;14(1):42 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12966-017-0494-y] [Medline: 28351367]

- 89. Williams SL, French DP. What are the most effective intervention techniques for changing physical activity self-efficacy and physical activity behaviour--and are they the same? Health Educ Res 2011 Apr;26(2):308-322 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/her/cyr005] [Medline: 21321008]
- 90. Hoffmann A, Christmann CA, Bleser G. Gamification in stress management apps: a critical app review. JMIR Serious Games 2017 Jun 7;5(2):e13 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/games.7216] [Medline: 28592397]
- 91. Lister C, West JH, Cannon B, Sax T, Brodegard D. Just a fad? Gamification in health and fitness apps. JMIR Serious Games 2014 Aug;2(2):e9 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/games.3413] [Medline: 25654660]
- 92. Edwards EA, Lumsden J, Rivas C, Steed L, Edwards LA, Thiyagarajan A, et al. Gamification for health promotion: systematic review of behaviour change techniques in smartphone apps. Br Med J Open 2016 Oct 04;6(10):e012447 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2016-012447] [Medline: 27707829]
- 93. Payne HE, Moxley VB, MacDonald E. Health behavior theory in physical activity game apps: a content analysis. JMIR Serious Games 2015;3(2):e4 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/games.4187] [Medline: 26168926]
- 94. Schoffman DE, Turner-McGrievy G, Jones SJ, Wilcox S. Mobile apps for pediatric obesity prevention and treatment, healthy eating, and physical activity promotion: just fun and games? Transl Behav Med 2013 Sep;3(3):320-325 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13142-013-0206-3] [Medline: 24073184]
- 95. Brannon EE, Cushing CC. A systematic review: is there an app for that? Translational science of pediatric behavior change for physical activity and dietary interventions. J Pediatr Psychol 2015 May;40(4):373-384. [doi: <u>10.1093/jpepsy/jsu108</u>] [Medline: <u>25502745</u>]
- 96. Ashford S, Edmunds J, French DP. What is the best way to change self-efficacy to promote lifestyle and recreational physical activity? A systematic review with meta-analysis. Br J Health Psychol 2010 May;15(Pt 2):265-288. [doi: 10.1348/135910709X461752] [Medline: 19586583]
- 97. De Lepeleere S, De Bourdeaudhuij I, Cardon G, Verloigne M. Do specific parenting practices and related parental self-efficacy associate with physical activity and screen time among primary schoolchildren? A cross-sectional study in Belgium. Br Med J Open 2015 Sep 7;5(9):e007209 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2014-007209] [Medline: 26346871]
- 98. te Velde SJ, ChinAPaw MJ, De Bourdeaudhuij I, Bere E, Maes L, Moreno L, et al. Parents and friends both matter: simultaneous and interactive influences of parents and friends on European schoolchildren's energy balance-related behaviours the ENERGY cross-sectional study. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2014 Jul 8;11:82 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-11-82] [Medline: 25001090]
- 99. Loucaides CA, Tsangaridou N. Associations between parental and friend social support and children's physical activity and time spent outside playing. Int J Pediatr 2017;2017:7582398 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2017/7582398] [Medline: 28348605]
- 100. Guendelman S, Broderick A, Mlo H, Gemmill A, Lindeman D. Listening to communities: mixed-method study of the engagement of disadvantaged mothers and pregnant women with digital health technologies. J Med Internet Res 2017 Jul 5;19(7):e240 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7736] [Medline: 28679489]
- 101. Joan Ganz Cooney Center. 2016 Feb 3. Digital Equity: Technology and Learning in the Lives of Lower-Income Families URL: <u>https://tinyurl.com/y7ngke29</u> [accessed 2018-09-12] [WebCite Cache ID 72MrWyvrw]
- 102. Mani M, Kavanagh DJ, Hides L, Stoyanov SR. Review and evaluation of mindfulness-based iPhone apps. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2015;3(3):e82 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.4328] [Medline: 26290327]
- 103. Paredes P, Gilad-Bachrach R, Hernandez J, Czerwinski M, Roseway A. PopTherapy: Coping with Stress through Pop-Culture. In: Proceedings of the 8th International Conference on Pervasive Computing Technologies for Healthcare. New York, NY: IEEE – Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers; 2014 Presented at: International Conference on Pervasive Technologies for Healthcare; May 2014; Oldenburg, Germany p. 109-117 URL: <u>https://dl.acm.org/citation.cfm?id=2686909</u> [doi: 10.4108/icst.pervasivehealth.2014.255070]
- 104. Rathbone AL, Clarry L, Prescott J. Assessing the efficacy of mobile health apps using the basic principles of cognitive behavioral therapy: systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2017 Nov 28;19(11):e399 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.8598] [Medline: 29187342]
- 105. Etherington D. TechCrunch. 2017 Nov 8. Niantic's follow-up to Pokémon Go will be a Harry Potter AR game launching in 2018 URL: <u>https://tinyurl.com/ya7kdvpt</u> [accessed 2018-09-12] [WebCite Cache ID 72MrYHvqR]

Abbreviations

BCT: behavior change technique IBM: identity-based motivation JME: joint media engagement LSI: Leisure Score Index PA: physical activity



Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 09.04.18; peer-reviewed by J Stephens, K Mateo, S Oncioiu; comments to author 14.06.18; revised version received 09.08.18; accepted 26.08.18; published 03.10.18. <u>Please cite as:</u> Militello LK, Hanna N, Nigg CR Pokémon GO Within the Context of Family Health: Retrospective Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2018;1(2):e10679 URL: http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e10679/

doi:<u>10.2196/10679</u> PMID:<u>31518294</u>

©Lisa K Militello, Nathan Hanna, Claudio R Nigg. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 03.10.2018. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Mobile Device Use Among Rural, Low-Income Families and the Feasibility of an App to Encourage Preschoolers' Physical Activity: Qualitative Study

Morgan L McCloskey^{1*}, MSPH; Darcy A Thompson^{2*}, MD, MPH; Barbara Chamberlin^{3*}, PhD; Lauren Clark^{4*}, RN, PhD; Susan L Johnson^{2*}, PhD; Laura L Bellows^{1*}, RD, MPH, PhD

¹Department of Food Science and Human Nutrition, Colorado State University, Fort Collins, CO, United States

²Department of Pediatrics, University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus, Aurora, CO, United States

³Media Productions and Learning Games Lab, New Mexico State University, Las Cruces, NM, United States

⁴College of Nursing, University of Utah, Salt Lake City, UT, United States

^{*}all authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Laura L Bellows, RD, MPH, PhD Department of Food Science and Human Nutrition Colorado State University 1571 Campus Delivery Fort Collins, CO, 80523 1571 United States Phone: 1 9704911305 Email: laura.bellows@colostate.edu

Abstract

Background: As mobile devices are becoming ubiquitous, technology-based interventions provide a promising strategy to positively influence health behaviors of families with young children. However, questions remain about the feasibility and acceptability of intervention delivery via mobile apps in low-income, rural settings and among families with preschoolers.

Objective: The aims of this study were to understand the content and context of mobile device use for preschoolers; explore parent beliefs on this topic, including the acceptability of intervention delivery via mobile devices; and test a prototype of an app to encourage preschoolers' physical activity with both parents and children.

Methods: Parents (n=29) were recruited from 5 preschool centers in eastern, rural Colorado to complete a semistructured telephone interview regarding preschoolers' mobile device use. A second sample of parents (n=31) was recruited from the same preschool centers to view the app prototype independently and provide feedback. A third sample of preschool children (n=24) was videotaped using the app in small groups to measure engagement and record their responses to the app.

Results: Five key content areas emerged from the telephone interviews: (1) mobile devices are an important part of families' everyday routines, and parents have parameters governing their use; (2) parents often use mobile devices as a tool for behavior management; (3) parents clearly distinguish between mobile device use for learning versus entertainment; (4) parents have an overarching desire for balance in regard to their child's mobile device use; and (5) parents were generally supportive of the idea of using mobile apps for intervention delivery. From the app prototype testing with parents, participants reacted positively to the app and felt that it would be useful in a variety of situations. Testing with preschoolers showed the children were highly engaged with the app and a majority remained standing and/or actively moving through the entire length of the app.

Conclusions: Mobile devices are already integrated into most families' daily routines and appear to be an acceptable method of intervention delivery in low-income families in rural Colorado. The physical activity app represents an innovative way to reach these families and, with further improvements based on participant feedback, will provide children with a unique opportunity to practice key movement skills.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2018;1(2):e10858) doi:10.2196/10858

KEYWORDS

RenderX

smartphone; mobile apps; families; child, preschool; physical activity; rural population; poverty

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e10858/

McCloskey et al

Introduction

The use of electronic multimedia (eg, educational games, mobile apps, and personalized electronic messages) in interventions has tremendous potential to improve the health behaviors and knowledge of children and their parents, including activity behaviors. Several advantages exist in using mobile health (mHealth) modalities to deliver childhood obesity interventions, including reduced participant burden, ability to deliver more exciting and visually appealing messages, novel content formats such as mobile games, and greater flexibility [1]. To date, one of the few studies using a parent-focused mHealth intervention to target early childhood audiences reported sustained parental engagement with the smartphone app and improvement in certain diet and physical activity behaviors [2]. Among a wider age range of children, evidence suggests that electronic interventions on obesity can positively affect dietary and physical activity behaviors [3,4].

Interventions focused on early childhood are promising, in part, because early habits can translate into adolescence and even adulthood, making early childhood a crucial time to establish healthy habits [5]. Not only are children influenced by the physical and social environment of the home [6] but also parental behaviors related to physical activity have been shown to be associated with their preschool child's health behaviors [7]. Outside of preschool, young children spend a majority of their time at home, making parents and the home and family environment a strong intervention target for improving preschool children's activity behaviors.

To address these behaviors and positively influence the home environment, there is a need for novel strategies, particularly in low-resource families who may face time and access challenges to participating in educational or intervention programs [8]. With the continued rise in mobile device ownership and use across all populations, electronic formats are a realistic and desirable way to engage these families [9,10]. A recent survey by Common Sense Media found that mobile devices are nearly ubiquitous in the homes of families with young children, as 98% of children younger than 8 years live in a home with some type of mobile device, and children spend about 48 min a day using a mobile device [11]. These data are echoed by a variety of other surveys [12-15], including a previous study of lower-income families with preschoolers targeted toward rural, northeastern Colorado, which found that 91.6% (175/191) of preschoolers had access to mobile devices [16].

In addition to information on usage, parents' views about preschooler use of mobile devices have also begun to be investigated. The Common Sense Media survey reported that parents of children in the age group of 0 to 8 years have rather mixed views of children's media use. A majority of parents (76%) believe that *the less time kids spend with screen media, the better off they are*, yet 74% also believe that their *child benefits from the screen media he/she uses* [11]. With regard to specific benefits of screen media, 75% of parents of children aged between 3 and 5 years believe that media help their child with learning, and 62% believe it helps their child with creativity

[11]. Other studies have reported similar tensions around parental beliefs related to mobile devices, with many parents simultaneously recognizing the potential benefits of mobile devices (such as children's learning or entertainment) and expressing concerns about potential drawbacks to mobile device use (such as exposure to inappropriate content or lack of engagement with others) [17-19]. However, beyond these overarching views of mobile devices, the specific role of mobile devices in the daily lives of families, as well as the acceptability of using mobile devices for intervention delivery in low-resource populations, remains unknown. Therefore, before moving forward with an intervention, formative research to understand the feasibility of mobile devices as a mode of intervention delivery in rural, low-resource audiences is warranted.

In addition to feasibility, it is critical to pretest intervention materials, such as prototypes of mobile device apps, to determine which concepts and materials resonate best with the target audience. The goal of pretesting messages and materials is to assess message appeal, recall and comprehension, sources of confusion or offense, and motivation to act. Siegel notes that pretesting materials will not tell researchers exactly how materials will perform, and they will identify any *red flags* in terms of unintended interpretations and executional details that need changing (colors, music, voices, timing, etc) [20]. Pretesting ensures that the final versions of materials contain messages that are clear, effective, true to the strategy, and easily understood by the intended audience and that they do not generate unintended reactions [20].

This paper presents results associated with one component of a larger, mixed-methods, formative research study designed to inform a technology-based interactive family intervention focused on young children's physical activity and eating behaviors [21]. The aims of the study component presented in this paper were to (1) understand the content and context of preschoolers' mobile device use as well as parent beliefs and values on this topic, including an exploration of the acceptability of intervention delivery via mobile devices and (2) pretest an initial prototype of an app to encourage preschoolers' physical activity with both parents and children.

Methods

Study Design

This study focused on families living in rural areas of Colorado who had a child attending Head Start or Colorado Preschool programs (ie, federally or state-supported preschool programming). For the first study aim related to mobile device use, content, and context, semistructured telephone interviews were conducted with parents of preschoolers. To address the second study aim of prototype pretesting, face-to-face interviews with parents of preschoolers were conducted to gather feedback and reactions to the prototype, which were then followed by pretesting with preschoolers. This paper sequentially presents the results associated with the (1) telephone interviews with parents; (2) prototype pretesting with parents; and (3) prototype pretesting with preschoolers. It should be noted, however, that although presented sequentially, the findings related to general mobile device use did not inform design of the physical activity

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

app. The study was approved by Colorado State University's Institutional Review Board.

Participants

Telephone Interviews

Parents were recruited from 5 Head Start and preschool centers in eastern, rural Colorado. Parent packets, including an informed consent and phone interview interest form, were sent home in children's backpacks in the spring of 2016. Parents had 2 to 3 weeks to return the interest form; preschool center staff were engaged in the process to encourage families to participate. In total, 110 participants returned a form, expressing interest in the phone interview. To ensure representation across sites and demographic groups, participants were stratified by site, parental education level, and ethnicity. A total of 73 participants were then systematically chosen to contact from within these groups, and 29 completed the phone interview. All those completing the phone interview received US \$20.

Prototype Pretesting

Parents

In the spring of 2017, parent packets were sent home in children's backpacks at the same 5 Head Start and preschool centers to recruit additional parents to gather reactions on a prototype of an app to encourage physical activity among preschoolers. Parents again had 2 to 3 weeks to return the interest form; a total of 102 participants returned the form. Participants were stratified by site and child gender; 60 were systematically chosen from these groups to contact, and 32 completed the interview and were compensated US \$40 for their time.

Preschoolers

Preschoolers were recruited from a university-affiliated preschool that serves families from a full range of income levels. To engage preschoolers to test the app prototype, an informational sheet was distributed to parents, who were given 2 weeks to opt out of participation for their child. Only 1 family opted out of participation. All other children at the preschool who were between the ages of 3 and 5 years and were present on at least one of the pretesting days participated (n=24).

Study Procedures

Telephone Interviews

Semistructured telephone interviews were conducted with parents to understand the role of mobile devices in their families' daily life. The semistructured interview schedule consisted of 25 questions with probes and was designed to produce comparable, descriptive information about model device use [22]. Key topics included child mobile device use, typical household practices related to mobile device use, and parent values and beliefs related to mobile device use. At the end of the semistructured telephone interview with parents, participants were also asked for their opinions regarding the feasibility of hypothetical intervention components, including an app to encourage physical activity. Sample questions are presented in Table 1.

Experts in child development, public health, technology and instructional design, medical anthropology, and pediatrics reviewed the interview script, and it was piloted with 2 members of the target audience to finalize the order, flow, and wording of questions. The interviews were conducted by 2 research associates, who had each been trained in qualitative research and interview best practices [23]. Interviews ranged between 20 and 35 min, and all were audio-recorded with participants' permission. Preliminary analysis of the telephone interviews included member checking, in which key points and interpretations from each interview were summarized and sent to the interview participants for feedback.

Prototype Pretesting

Parents

As part of a longer interview with parents about their preschooler's physical activity (data reported elsewhere), a 5-min prototype of a mobile app to encourage physical activity in preschoolers, *Jungle Gym*, was shown to parents to gather their feedback. Parents viewed the app without their children and were asked to anticipate how it could be used. They were also asked their general thoughts about the app, what situations they could envision their preschooler using the app, and how they would use the app with their child.

The app is intended to enhance language related to movement, help children practice gross motor skills, and provide an opportunity for parents and children to interact together related to movement if they so desire. Although mobile devices are often perceived as sedentary devices, the development team sought to create an app that would facilitate movement in young children and model the kinds of off-device play activities that would also make children more active. The app begins when an animated character invites the user to go on a jungle adventure and states, "we will be moving our bodies, so make sure you have plenty of space." After this introduction, the child can set the iPad on a surface and go through a series of short adventures, each highlighting a specific motor skill: running, jumping, leaping, hopping, galloping, or side-stepping. For example, users are asked to run quickly through the jungle to escape rain, jump to harvest a mango from a tree, or hop alongside a frog (Figure 1). The short adventures or scenes are presented to the children in a random order each time the app is played in an effort to sustain children's interest in engaging with the app.



Table 1. Sample questions asked in semistructured telephone interviews with parents about mobile device use, context, and content.

Overarching question	Probes
If you think about the last day or so, when did your child use a smart- phone or tablet throughout the day?	Where do they use the mobile device? (inside the home, outside the home); Was this a typical day?; How did this use compare to a weekend day?
What are the main factors influencing when or how long your child uses a smartphone or tablet?	Does it depend on any of the following: who is supervising them, family schedule, weather?
What are some benefits of your child using a smartphone or tablet?	What are the benefits to you?; What are the benefits to your child?
Some parents have rules about how their child can use a smartphone or tablet. Other families do not. Do you or your family have any rules about how your child can use the smartphone or tablet?	If so, how or why did you come up with this rule?; If so, how well do these rules work?
Please tell me if there are any times or reasons that you encourage your child to use a smartphone or tablet?	Are there any specific places, situations, or times during the day that you encourage them to use a mobile device?; How easy or hard is it to encourage your child to use a mobile device?
Please tell me if there are any times or reasons that you discourage your child to use a smartphone or tablet?	Are there any specific places, situations, or times during the day that you discourage them to use a mobile device?; How easy or hard is it to discourage your child to use a mobile device?

Figure 1. Screenshots of mobile app prototype to encourage physical activity among preschoolers.



Preschoolers

The app prototype described above was further refined based on parental feedback and was then tested with 24 preschoolers to understand children's initial reactions to the app. Children were taken out of their classroom in groups of 3 to the gym room of the preschool by 2 members of the research team. The app was introduced to the children, including a brief explanation that they would be asked to stand up and move along with the characters in the app. The 4-min app prototype was shown to each group of children 1 or 2 times (children were allowed to go through the app a second time if they asked to do so). After using the app, children were asked if they enjoyed playing the app, as well as what they liked and did not like about the app. In total, the activity lasted about 10 to 15 min per group, and children's use of the apps and reactions were recorded via videotape and researcher notes. In this session, children used the app in small groups, without their parents.

Data Analysis

RenderX

Telephone Interviews

After sending summaries to participants for member checking, no additional information was provided. Using best practices for reproducibility in qualitative data preparation [24], all interviews were deidentified and transcribed verbatim by a Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act-compliant vendor, verified for accuracy, and the verified transcripts imported into NVivo qualitative data analysis software (QSR International Pty Ltd Version 11, 2015). Two team members read the interview transcripts several times, and each created a preliminary codebook, including codes and definitions organized by overarching category. Three trained research team members coded 2 interview transcripts together to further refine code definitions and inclusion and exclusion criteria. Next, the 3 coders independently completed 1 set of coding with 3 transcripts, followed by a second set of 3 transcripts and established high interrater reliability (kappa=0.90 and 0.94, respectively). The remaining transcripts were split between 2 coders, with each reviewing the initial coding of another. Discrepancies were resolved through discussions with the third coder. Summary reports were generated by code, and thematic analysis was used to analyze the results [25]. Two researchers independently read through all the quotes associated with each code, and each identified emerging themes. The researchers met several times to achieve consensus and further refined each theme in the context of both the original codes and entire dataset.

Prototype Pretesting

Parents

Parent's reactions to the app prototype were also recorded and transcribed verbatim. A general inductive approach was used [26], in which the responses were analyzed by 2 researchers who independently read transcripts multiple times, discussed the responses to reach consensus, and generated a summary of participant responses.

Preschoolers

The research team reviewed the notes and videotapes of the children using the app to understand whether the app represented a feasible approach to engage children. General reactions and engagement level, such as asking to play the app again and statements of what kids liked and did not like about the app, were compiled. Two researchers watched the videos multiple times to provide a general estimate of the percentage of time each child spent engaged in the following 4 categories: moving along with the characters as directed, engaging in other active and creative movements, becoming distracted by something else in the gym room, or no movement (sitting down).

Results

Participant Characteristics

In the telephone interviews addressing mobile device use, content, and context, 93% (27/29) of the participants (n=29) were mothers, 41% (12/29) identified as Hispanic, and 66% (19/29) represented households making less than US \$49,999 per year. Phone interview participants represented a wide range of education levels, with 45% (13/29) of participants having a high school diploma or less. In the prototype pretesting phase with parents (n=31), 77% (24/31) of participants were mothers, 36% (11/31) identified as Hispanic, 62% (19/31) represented households making less than US \$44,955 per year, and 33% (10/31) of participants had a high school diploma or less. Only1 participant completed both interviews. The preschoolers who tested the physical activity app were aged 3 years (n=1) and 4 years (n=23), and 50% (12/24) were male.

Telephone Interviews

Five key themes emerged from the telephone interviews: (1) mobile devices are an important part of families' everyday *routines*, and parents have parameters governing their use; (2) parents often use mobile devices as a tool for *behavior management*; (3) parents clearly distinguish between mobile device use for *learning versus entertainment*; (4) parents have an overarching desire for *balance* with regard to their child's mobile device use; and (5) parents were generally *supportive* of the idea of using mobile apps for intervention delivery.

Routines and Family Guidelines

Mobile devices have become a part of family routines, as a majority of parents indicated that their child used a smartphone and/or tablet daily or almost daily. All families owned at least one mobile device, and nearly half of children had their own device. Children used mobile devices for both learning and entertainment purposes, such as watching videos (YouTube for kids was particularly popular) or playing games based on

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e10858/

cartoons and other characters popularized through television. Families varied in when the child used mobile devices, and many had strong feelings as to when the child could or could not engage with the device (ie, in the morning before school or before bedtime or while parents needed the child to be occupied).

Some parents co-used mobile devices with children most commonly to show a child how to use an app for the first time, to take turns playing a game, or to help them learn something. Many parents valued it as time spent together, particularly when it meant *cuddling up* or *sitting really close together*. However, other families mentioned that they played together in other ways and viewed time with mobile devices as an alone activity or *alone time*.

Parents had a variety of parameters in place to manage their child's use of mobile devices, particularly related to content and timing of use. To control the content that their preschooler accessed, parents used parental locks or child modes, monitored which apps their children used, had specific *kid areas* on devices, or simply engaged in conversations with the child to convey what children were allowed to use. No matter the strategy used, the primary concern of most parents was that their preschooler would see something *inappropriate*, followed by a concern that something would *get messed up* on the device.

Other important guidelines were related to the overall time children spent using devices. Whether an enforced rule or a more theoretical ideology, many parents mentioned that children were allowed to use devices only for a certain amount of time each day, particularly in the home setting. These time limits were usually set because parents did not want children to be *glued to a screen* all day and wanted them to get a variety of experiences in childhood, ranging from playing outside and getting dirty, developing social skills through interaction with other children and adults, and using their imagination:

I do try limiting it as much as I can. I'd rather them be outside playing and being kids.

Most participants had family-specific guidelines in place related to the situations in which their child was allowed to use the device. For example, policies on use before bedtime was mixed, as some families did not allow device use close to bedtime, whereas other families encouraged it at this time to help the child unwind. However, there was a consensus among parents that children should not use mobile devices during mealtime:

At dinnertime, we have no iPads or tablets on the table. You know that's family time.

A large number of parents also did not allow preschoolers to use devices while spending time with extended family and/or friends, as parents preferred them to be socializing and interacting:

When we're with family we try and have him not just be buried in his tablet and be part of the whole family together.

Behavior Management

Parents also commonly used mobile devices for behavior management. Nearly every parent felt that mobile devices were

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

helpful to occupy children so that the parent had time to get something done, such as an important phone call, finishing work, household chores, or fixing dinner:

Oh, well, play this game here quietly so I can get this done.

Many parents also used mobile devices to keep their children entertained and quiet outside the home. Parents frequently mentioned that their child used mobile devices on long car rides when the family had an unexpectedly long wait in line, doctor's appointments, or restaurants. There was a particular focus on using mobile devices to prevent preschoolers from *screaming* or *running around and going crazy* in these kinds of public settings:

It's really nice to have to keep him entertained and keeps him from melting down in the restaurant, or in the doctor's office or somewhere.

Some parents did express guilt at using devices in this way, but almost all seemed to have accepted it as a useful, and occasionally necessary, way to manage public outings. One mother summed it up well:

I was always that parent before who was like, "No. My kid will never play on electronic devices." Then you take a five-year-old out in public, and then they throw a fit, and you're just like, "Here. Take it."

Beyond serving as an entertainment tool in public or when a parent is occupied, mobile devices were used strategically (eg, as rewards and consequences):

It gives me leverage with him. It's his currency.

This quote reflects the sentiment of many parents: mobile devices are an effective tool parents use to manage behavior. Smartphone or tablet time could be taken away for refusing to share with a sibling, doing something inappropriate on the device, or even for poor behavior unrelated to mobile devices, such as throwing a fit, acting up, or not listening. On the other end of the spectrum, extra smartphone or tablet time was frequently offered as a reward for positive behavior, and many children had to earn their time on mobile devices by doing chores, such as picking up their clothes or toys. It is worth noting that a small group of families did not see mobile devices as a reward or consequence for their children. These families fall into 2 categories: those whose children do not use mobile devices frequently enough for it to be an effective reward and those families whose children exclusively use devices for learning, and thus taking it away would not be considered an appropriate strategy.

Learning Versus Entertainment

A clear difference in parent beliefs and practices emerged between children's mobile device use for entertainment and learning. Nearly every parent mentioned that they wanted their child to learn from mobile devices. This learning fell into 3 main categories: learning how to use technology, in general, to be prepared for a technology-driven world; learning school readiness skills such as numbers, shapes and letters; or learning about a specific topic area that was of special interest to their child: Of course technology is taking over the world, so it's good that she is getting to learn how to use a tablet. It's beneficial in some learning areas...I want him to basically be prepared for kindergarten.

The last category of learning may be especially relevant for rural communities, as some parents mentioned technology as a way for children to understand more about the broader world outside their small town:

... just to gain background knowledge. We live in such a small town, we don't necessarily get to see everything that maybe we would elsewhere.

Although a majority of parents mentioned learning as a benefit of mobile device use and wanted their children to be learning from devices, they also depended on the devices for entertainment in the behavior management situations mentioned above. Similarly, despite parents' desires and values for children to use mobile devices for learning, most children used the devices for entertainment, both inside and outside the home. It should be noted, however, that children used different kinds of devices based on the activity: children were more likely to use smartphones for entertainment, whereas they used education-specific tablets (such as an Innotab, Nabi) for learning purposes. Furthermore, parents were more likely to co-use devices with their children when the use involved learning. Finally, parents tended to feel better about their children's overall mobile device use when the child was learning from it, and many parents actually encouraged further use when educational content was being accessed:

I don't think being on the phones or the tablets is a bad thing if they're learning while they are on there.

Similarly, parents tended to be less strict with time limits when children were using educational content versus entertainment in the home:

I'm a little more lenient when he's playing an educational game.

On the other hand, when devices were used for entertainment outside the home for behavior management, for example, waiting for appointments or at restaurants, many of the *rules* related to time limits did not seem to apply. Thus, mobile devices serve distinct purposes that are situationally dependent for children.

Balance

Overall, mobile device use is all about balance in these families. It is a balance between ensuring that children are learning while also keeping them entertained when the parent needs to get something done or the family has a long wait in a public setting. It is a balance between children understanding how to use mobile devices in a technology-driven world and children developing important social skills through off-screen interactions with friends and relatives. A quote from 1 mother clearly sums up these sentiments:

I really just didn't want my children having their entire lives ruled by technology, but I didn't want them to be so far out of the spectrum that they are typing with two fingers...enough to get them the

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e10858/

knowledge base that they need without taking away the time that they spend with their friends and their family and outside.

Mobile Apps for Intervention Delivery

A majority of parents responded positively to the idea of using mobile apps, particularly if they were approved by the preschool center and helped their child to learn in some way. Most parents expressed that any mobile apps encouraged as part of a program through their preschool would simply replace existing mobile device activities, so the overall amount of time children spent on devices would not necessarily increase. In response to the idea of an app to encourage physical activity, parents were supportive, particularly if the app would help their preschooler to be active while using a device. A few parents did express doubts about the idea, as they felt that being active required putting down all devices and going outside to play:

You can't learn how to ride a bike from a phone.

However, a majority of parents reacted positively to the idea, saying that it would be "cool," "fun," and "[their child] would love that." Many parents felt that the app was something their child would actually use. Several mentioned the app would be especially helpful during the winter or other inclement weather to give children a structured way to get up and move around indoors:

I think that would be good for maybe wicked cold, snowy days or really rainy, funky days. It still gets them up and moving.

Prototype Pretesting

Parents

Following the initial feedback, a prototype of the physical activity app was developed, and prototype pretesting was completed with parents to understand their reactions to an actual app prototype. Parents reacted positively to the app overall and thought it was a helpful way to combine mobile device use and activity. Parents were split on whether or not they would use the app with their child. Some parents felt that the app would be a good opportunity to engage with their child related to activity:

It might be something that I would try to use to do exercising and stuff together with him.

However, others expressed that they would use the app for behavior management, stating it would be helpful to *bring them down a little bit, while still keeping them active* or to entertain the child while the parent was getting chores done:

That would be a good one she can do while I'm doing laundry or something like that.

A few parents expressed concern about whether or not the app would be sufficiently engaging for their child. Several confirmed the opinions of previous parents that the app would be useful for encouraging child activity in the winter or on cold rainy days when it was not possible to be active outside. Other parents had even more creative ideas for using the app, ranging from lines at the grocery store to pit stops on road trips: Anytime that there's not enough space to do the full running activities, things like that. Car trips, probably, pit stops along road trips. It would be handy.

Preschoolers

Overall, the pretesting with preschoolers demonstrated that they were engaged by the app, and all children completed some physical activity as instructed by the app. When asked what they liked about the app, responses ranged from *the animals* to it was fun. When asked what they did not like about the app, a few children said it made them *tired*, indicating that they were putting a full effort into their movement. As they all asked to play more than once, all groups (n=9) of children used the app 2 consecutive times, and several groups expressed disappointment when they were not allowed to go through the adventure a third time. In 8 of 9 groupings, children remained standing and/or moving throughout the entire length of the app. In 6 groups, children were very active and were continuously engaged in either app-directed movements or were inspired to do other creative movement activities (running in circles, acting out animals, etc). Overall, there did not appear to be any difference in the level of engagement between the first and second round of use. Children's reactions or confusion on specific interface issues were also recorded. A few of the children misunderstood directions related to more complicated motor skills, and it was observed that some children tended to move only when the character was talking, so the research team recommended that the voiceover script should be updated to increase clarity on directions for certain motor skills and increase repetitions to keep children on task and engaged as much as possible with each activity. Additionally, a moving figure will be added to the app to demonstrate all movement skills. Additional recommendations made to the developers included improvements to the storyline, including more animals to meet on the jungle adventure and silly noises. These recommendations will be incorporated in future versions of the app.

Discussion

Principal Findings

The overarching goals of this study were to understand mobile device use in the target audience and pretest a prototype of an app to promote physical activity among preschoolers as 1 piece of a larger formative research study designed to inform a technology-based interactive family nutrition and physical activity intervention. The first component of this study deepened the understanding of preschoolers' use of mobile devices, the role that mobile devices play in the daily lives of lower-income rural Colorado families and demonstrated the acceptability of intervention delivery via a mobile platform. The second component confirmed the feasibility of the app and gathered crucial feedback from parents and children, which will be used to inform improvements in the app moving forward.

Telephone Interviews

Mobile devices are an important part of everyday routines in these families, echoing other findings that preschoolers are frequent users of mobile devices [12-15]. In contrast to the

Common Sense Media Survey 2013, which found disparities in tablet ownership by family income level [12], every family interviewed had multiple mobile devices, and about half of preschoolers actually had their own mobile device. However, there was some evidence of the disparities in access to educational content among lower-income families, as identified by Common Sense Media 2013 [12]. Many parents in our sample mentioned that they were not able to afford any sort of paid educational content, which could potentially be associated with limits on the quality of educational materials that low-income children are accessing.

Beyond the incorporation of mobile devices into family routines, another clear content area that emerged was the use of mobile devices for behavior management, reflecting findings from several other studies [17,18,27,28]. Even before the onset of mobile devices, Rideout et al found that parents commonly used media *to keep their kids occupied while they [parents] get chores done* [17]. In 2010, Chiong and Shuler observed the *pass-back* effect in which parents would deliberately hand over their own smartphone or tablet to their young child to keep them occupied and entertained in a public setting [27]. More recently, 2 other qualitative studies, encompassing families from a variety of locations and socioeconomic backgrounds, also found that parents used mobile devices to keep children quiet or entertained when the parent needed undisrupted time to get something done [18,28].

A final content area was the clear distinction between the use of devices for learning versus entertainment and the desire for balance in children's mobile device use. In the home, parents strongly preferred educational content and would even relax the rules about time limits or encourage additional use when they felt their child was learning. However, if the child was watching a video or playing a noneducational game at home, time limits were more strictly enforced, and children were encouraged to do other activities. Outside the home, when parents were using mobile devices as a tool for behavior management, they simply wanted to keep their child entertained and did not have a strong preference as to the content that they were accessing. Thus, parental values and beliefs may be conditional, whether they are conscious of it or not.

Other studies have found a similar desire for balance related to mobile device use in families with young children [17-19]. For example, Radesky et al also found that parents expressed tension between the potential educational benefits of mobile devices and the potential negative effects on social skill development [18]. These parents similarly struggled with the usefulness of devices in keeping children entertained and quiet versus missing quality family time [18]. Another report on media use with young children found that parents appreciated that media allowed for me time and the ability to get things done and also exposed their child to a variety of new learning experiences [17]. |Finally, a survey of parents of children 6 months to 5 years of age found that the top 3 parental motivations for child media use were the child's enjoyment of the media, the educational value of media, and media use so that parents can accomplish their own chores, again indicating the importance of balance in mobile device use [19].

Prototype Pretesting

Additionally, this study demonstrated the feasibility of a mobile app to encourage physical activity among preschoolers. In general, parents were supportive of the concept as well as the initial app prototype. Although the app will likely not serve to keep children calm and quiet in a public setting, parents envisioned a variety of scenarios in which the app would be useful, ranging from breaks on long car trips to snowy days where children were stuck inside and needed an easy way to be active. A few parents expressed concern that the app would not be entertaining enough for some children, but children were engaged by it and wanted to play it several times. This may address the need to help communicate the appeal and value of the app to parents so that they choose to offer it to their children. Prototype pretesting with preschoolers indicated that the approach to the app is feasible, as children reacted positively to the app. A majority of children were up on their feet for the full length of the app, indicating that the app has the possibility to encourage activity in this age group. Furthermore, children were actively moving in a similar way during the first and second rounds of use, indicating that app has the potential to sustain children's interest through multiple uses.

Implications for Research and Practice

The physical activity app that was pretested as the second part of this study represents an innovative way to tap into parents' desire for balance in mobile device use. It fulfills parents' desire for there to be a learning benefit for children, as they will not only be learning language related to movement but will also be practicing foundational gross motor skills. The app appears to have utility for children for both independent and co-use settings, indicating it can be easily used by families in which children primarily use apps alone and in families where co-use is more frequent. In prototype pretesting, preschoolers were entertained by the app, which would give parents a few minutes of time to get other tasks completed while providing a healthy alternative to sedentary apps. At the same time, some parents mentioned that they would engage with their children around the app. Additionally, if presented in the right way, the app could serve as inspiration and a way to launch additional parent-child interactions related to movement in real-world settings.

Strengths and Limitations

A key strength of this study was the focus on low-income, rural families, as there is limited literature on the use of mobile devices with preschoolers in this population. Second, the telephone interview script had multiple probes and gave participants ample time to share their full values and opinions related to mobile device use in their families. A rigorous data analysis was performed, as exemplified by the phone interview transcripts being comprehensively coded in multiple rounds and then further analyzed for interpretation. Finally, prototype pretesting was conducted with both parents and children, getting valuable initial input from both groups of targeted users.

However, this study is not without limitations. Although every effort was made to encourage participation from all families enrolled at study preschools, a selection bias may have occurred

XSL•FO

as recruitment flyers indicated that the interview topic would be mobile devices. Therefore, parents who were frequent users of mobile devices may have been more likely to participate. Due to logistical constraints, the preschoolers who tested the app were a sample from a local preschool, rather than a rural preschool. It is unlikely that these preschoolers are substantially different from their rural peers in response to mobile apps, but future rounds of testing will be conducted in a rural setting with children of lower socioeconomic status to confirm this assumption. Future steps will include testing the app with parent-child dyads to assess parent-child interactions related to the app as well as exploration of individual intervention components, such as the app, on health outcomes (ie, physical activity).

Conclusions

As mobile devices are already integrated into most families' daily routines, a free app for study participants could serve as

an innovative mode of intervention delivery. Most families in the settings that were sampled already allowed their children to play on devices every day. In the interviews, parents indicated that if they were provided with this type of educational app, it would be used as a replacement for existing activities on mobile devices, easing concerns that an intervention delivered through mobile devices would dramatically increase young children's screen time. Although this study focused on pretesting of a physical activity app, the findings related to parents' beliefs, values, and practices related to mobile device use, which can be applied to other health and nutrition subject areas. Thorough formative research, combined with mobile app development and prototype testing, ensures that mHealth intervention strategies are accepted by and fit into the daily lives of preschoolers and their families living in rural communities.

Acknowledgments

This project is supported by Agriculture and Food Research Initiative Grant no. 2015-68001-23240 from the United States Department of Agriculture National Institute of Food and Agriculture, Childhood Obesity Prevention: Integrated Research, Education, and Extension to Prevent Childhood Obesity – A2101.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- Tate EB, Spruijt-Metz D, O'Reilly G, Jordan-Marsh M, Gotsis M, Pentz MA, et al. mHealth approaches to child obesity prevention: successes, unique challenges, and next directions. Transl Behav Med 2013 Dec;3(4):406-415 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13142-013-0222-3] [Medline: 24294329]
- Nyström CD, Sandin S, Henriksson P, Henriksson H, Trolle-Lagerros Y, Larsson C, et al. Mobile-based intervention intended to stop obesity in preschool-aged children: the MINISTOP randomized controlled trial. Am J Clin Nutr 2017 Jun;105(6):1327-1335. [doi: 10.3945/ajcn.116.150995] [Medline: 28446496]
- 3. Turner T, Spruijt-Metz D, Wen CKF, Hingle MD. Prevention and treatment of pediatric obesity using mobile and wireless technologies: a systematic review. Pediatr Obes 2015 Dec;10(6):403-409. [doi: 10.1111/ijpo.12002] [Medline: 25641770]
- Nguyen B, Kornman KP, Baur LA. A review of electronic interventions for prevention and treatment of overweight and obesity in young people. Obes Rev 2011 May;12(5):e298-e314. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1467-789X.2010.00830.x</u>] [Medline: <u>21348921</u>]
- 5. Birch L, Anzman S. Learning to eat in an obesogenic environment: a developmental systems perspective on childhood obesity. Child Dev Perspect 2010;4(2):138-143.
- Patrick H, Nicklas TA. A review of family and social determinants of children's eating patterns and diet quality. J Am Coll Nutr 2005 Apr;24(2):83-92. [Medline: <u>15798074</u>]
- Natale RA, Messiah SE, Asfour L, Uhlhorn SB, Delamater A, Arheart KL. Role modeling as an early childhood obesity prevention strategy: effect of parents and teachers on preschool children's healthy lifestyle habits. J Dev Behav Pediatr 2014;35(6):378-387. [doi: 10.1097/DBP.000000000000074] [Medline: 25007060]
- 8. Spoth R, Redmond C, Hockaday C, Shin C. Barriers to Participation in Family Skills Preventive Interventions and Their Evaluations: A Replication and Extension. Fam Relat 1996;45(3):247-254.
- Hammersley ML, Jones RA, Okely AD. Parent-Focused Childhood and Adolescent Overweight and Obesity eHealth Interventions: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. J Med Internet Res 2016 Jul 21;18(7):e203 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5893] [Medline: 27443862]
- Smith A. Pew Research Center. Record Shares of Americans now own smartphones, have home broadband URL: <u>http://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2017/01/12/evolution-of-technology/</u> [accessed 2018-04-18] [WebCite Cache ID 6ym8S2F0G]
- 11. Rideout V. Common Sense Media. The Common Sense census: Media use by kids age zero to eight URL: <u>https://www.commonsensemedia.org/sites/default/files/uploads/research/csm_zerotoeight_fullreport_release_2.pdf</u> [accessed 2018-10-29] [WebCite Cache ID 6ym8ZXOg6]

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e10858/
```

- 12. Rideout V, Saphir M, Pai S, Rudd A. Common Sense Media. Zero to eight: Children's media use in America 2013 URL: <u>https://www.commonsensemedia.org/research/zero-to-eight-childrens-media-use-in-america-2013</u> [accessed 2018-04-18] [WebCite Cache ID 6ym9Vgv2t]
- Rideout V. A Report of the Families and Media Project. Learning at home: families' educational media use in America URL: <u>http://www.joanganzcooneycenter.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/01/jgcc_learningathome.pdf</u> [accessed 2018-04-18]
 [WebCite Cache ID 6ym8kAj23]
- 14. Wartella E, Rideout V, Lauricella AR, Connell SL. Center on Media and Human Development, School of Communication, Northwestern University. Parenting in the Age of Digital Technology: A National Survey URL: <u>http://cmhd.northwestern.edu/wp-content/uploads/2015/06/ParentingAgeDigitalTechnology.REVISED.FINAL_2014.pdf</u> [accessed 2018-04-18] [WebCite Cache ID 6ym8nJzJu]
- 15. Kabali HK, Irigoyen MM, Nunez-Davis R, Budacki JG, Mohanty SH, Leister KP, et al. Exposure and Use of Mobile Media Devices by Young Children. Pediatrics 2015 Dec;136(6):1044-1050. [doi: <u>10.1542/peds.2015-2151</u>] [Medline: <u>26527548</u>]
- McCloskey M, Johnson SL, Benz C, Thompson DA, Chamberlin B, Clark L, et al. Parent Perceptions of Mobile Device Use Among Preschool-Aged Children in Rural Head Start Centers. J Nutr Educ Behav 2018 Jan;50(1):83-89.e1. [doi: 10.1016/j.jneb.2017.03.006] [Medline: 29031581]
- Hamel E, Rideout V. Kaiser Family Foundation. The media familylectronic media in the lives of infants, toddlers, preschoolers and their parents URL: <u>https://kaiserfamilyfoundation.files.wordpress.com/2013/01/7500.pdf</u> [accessed 2018-04-18]
 [WebCite Cache ID 6ym8xCiZh]
- Radesky JS, Eisenberg S, Kistin CJ, Gross J, Block G, Zuckerman B, et al. Overstimulated Consumers or Next-Generation Learners? Parent Tensions About Child Mobile Technology Use. Ann Fam Med 2016 Dec;14(6):503-508 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1370/afm.1976] [Medline: 28376436]
- 19. Cingel DP, Krcmar M. Predicting Media Use in Very Young Children: The Role of Demographics and Parent Attitudes. Communication Studies 2013 Sep;64(4):374-394. [doi: 10.1080/10510974.2013.770408]
- 20. Siegel M, Doner L. Marketing Public Health: Strategies to Promote Social Change. Gaithersburg, MD: Aspen Publishers, Inc; 1998.
- Bellows LL, McCloskey M, Clark L, Thompson DA, Bekelman TA, Chamberlin B, et al. HEROs: Design of a Mixed-Methods Formative Research Phase for an Ecocultural Intervention to Promote Healthy Eating and Activity Behaviors in Rural Families With Preschoolers. J Nutr Educ Behav 2018 Apr 10;50(7):736-745. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jneb.2018.02.012</u>] [Medline: <u>29653807</u>]
- 22. McIntosh MJ, Morse JM. Situating and Constructing Diversity in Semi-Structured Interviews. Glob Qual Nurs Res 2015;2:2333393615597674 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/2333393615597674] [Medline: 28462313]
- 23. Goodell LS, Stage VC, Cooke NK. Practical Qualitative Research Strategies: Training Interviewers and Coders. J Nutr Educ Behav 2016 Dec;48(8):578-585.e1. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jneb.2016.06.001</u>] [Medline: <u>27395426</u>]
- 24. Clark L, Birkhead AS, Fernandez C, Egger MJ. A Transcription and Translation Protocol for Sensitive Cross-Cultural Team Research. Qual Health Res 2017 Oct;27(12):1751-1764. [doi: 10.1177/1049732317726761] [Medline: 28936930]
- 25. Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qualitative Research in Psychology 2006 Jan;3(2):77-101. [doi: <u>10.1191/1478088706qp063oa</u>]
- 26. Thomas, DR. A general inductive approach for analyzing qualitative evaluation data. Am J Eval 2006;27(2):237-246.
- 27. Chiong C, Shuler C. Learning: Is there an app for that?. New York: The Joan Ganz Cooney Center at Sesame Workshop; 2010. URL: <u>http://www.joanganzcooneycenter.org/wp-content/uploads/2010/10/learningapps_final_110410.pdf [WebCite Cache ID 6ym92VnrQ]</u>
- 28. Hiniker A, Suh H, Cao S, Kientz J. Screen time tantrums: how families manage screen media experiences for toddlers and preschoolers. 2016 Presented at: Proceedings of the 2016 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems; May 7-12, 2016; San Jose, CA, USA p. 648-660. [doi: 10.1145/2858036.2858278]

Abbreviations

mHealth: mobile health



Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 24.04.18; peer-reviewed by C Katie, D Ghio; comments to author 03.08.18; revised version received 28.09.18; accepted 15.10.18; published 06.12.18.
Please cite as:
McCloskey ML, Thompson DA, Chamberlin B, Clark L, Johnson SL, Bellows LL">Please cite as:

McCloskey ML, Thompson DA, Chamberlin B, Clark L, Johnson SL, Bellows LL">Please cite as:

McCloskey ML, Thompson DA, Chamberlin B, Clark L, Johnson SL, Bellows LL
Mobile Device Use Among Rural, Low-Income Families and the Feasibility of an App to Encourage Preschoolers' Physical Activity:
Qualitative Study
JMIR Pediatr Parent 2018;1(2):e10858
URL: http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e10858/

PMID:31518295

©Morgan L McCloskey, Darcy A Thompson, Barbara Chamberlin, Lauren Clark, Susan L Johnson, Laura L Bellows. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 06.12.2018. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

The Impact of Exercise Intensity Feedback Using Technology for Children During Active Play: Pilot Study

Madison Blake¹, BSc Kin; Martin Sénéchal¹, BSc Kin, MSc, PhD; Megan Comeau¹, BSc Kin; Spencer Smith¹, BSc Kin; Danielle Bouchard¹, BEd PA, MSc, PhD

Cardio-metabolic Exercise & Lifestyle Laboratory, Faculty of Kinesiology, University of New Brunswick, Fredericton, NB, Canada

Corresponding Author:

Danielle Bouchard, BEd PA, MSc, PhD Cardio-metabolic Exercise & Lifestyle Laboratory Faculty of Kinesiology University of New Brunswick 2 Peter Kelly Drive Fredericton, NB, E3B5A3 Canada Phone: 1 506 443 3908 Fax: 1 506 453 3511 Email: dboucha1@unb.ca

Abstract

Background: Most children do not engage in enough exercise at the recommended intensity. Using technological devices may increase the time children spend at greater intensities while exercising.

Objective: This study aimed to determine if children who are receiving instant feedback on their exercise intensity using technology would spend more time in moderate-vigorous intensity (\geq 70% of maximum capacity) during active play sessions. It also aimed to explore if the children's physical characteristics were associated with the average percentage of maximal heart rate (HR) reached during sessions.

Methods: Participants were asked to wear a HR monitor, attached around their chest, for 4 sessions out of the 15 sessions offered. Twenty children aged 5 to 11 years received feedback for 2 random sessions. When receiving feedback, color-coded intensity based on HR was projected onto a wall. Green corresponded to moderate intensity (\geq 70% of max HR) and red corresponded to a HR below moderate intensity. Age, anthropometric measures, muscle strength, body composition, physical activity level, and fitness level were measured.

Results: The average percentage of maximal HR during a session was similar whether feedback was provided (70.7%, SD 6.4%) or not (71.1%, SD 4.1%) with P=.93. No personal characteristics were associated with the average intensity recorded during the exercise sessions.

Conclusions: Receiving instant exercise intensity feedback is not associated with a higher proportion of time spent at moderate intensity or above in children aged 5 to 11 years when involved in an active play program. Personal characteristics are not associated with the intensity recorded when participating in an active play program.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2018;1(2):e11327) doi:10.2196/11327

KEYWORDS

biofeedback, exercise intensity, physical activity

Introduction

RenderX

Moderate intensity exercise is often defined based on a percentage of estimated maximum heart rate (HR), estimated by subtracting a person's age in years from 220, ranging from 50% to 70% [1]. Polar Canada [2] characterizes moderate-vigorous intensity as 70% or higher of an individual's

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e11327/
```

maximum HR. Physical activity performed at moderate-to-vigorous intensity is associated with a lower risk of (1) obesity, (2) elevated cholesterol levels, (3) hypertension, and (4) metabolic syndrome in children [3]. A small proportion of Canadian children meet the World Health Organization physical activity guidelines which recommend 60 minutes per day of moderate-vigorous intensity physical activity [4].

Children involved in organized activities spending only 30% of the time in moderate intensity or more during a typical extracurricular session are often not reaching the physical activity guidelines throughout the week [5].

The ability to monitor one's intensity via technology could potentially motivate children to stay within the most beneficial intensities [6]. A whole body of evidence suggests that technologies provide stimulation for children and in turn, they are spending immense amounts of time using technology [7,8]. Children aged 8-10 years spend approximately eight hours per day using technology [9]. Health tracking devices have become more prevalent in society, even for children [10]. These devices provide feedback when performing physical activities and may increase a participant's motivation [11]. For example, studies have shown when adolescents have constant access to physical activity trackers, their running distance, energy expenditure, and time spent in moderate to vigorous intensity increases [10,11]. However, to the best of our knowledge, only one study has used a similar technology of instant feedbacks to increase time spent at moderate intensity or higher [12]. This study was conducted in Australia and had children aged 11-13 years wear a HR monitor during their physical education classes. One group of children had constant access to feedback for 5 weeks via a Polar HR watch, and the control group did not. After each class, the children were asked to estimate how many minutes they spent in moderate to vigorous intensity and both groups were unable to estimate the number of minutes adequately. This shows that intensity perception is a difficult concept for children to understand [1,10,12]. While several studies have looked at the effect of wearable biofeedback devices with adolescents, to the best of our knowledge there have been no studies looking at the effects of biofeedback on intensity in young children. This may be because the literature suggests children do not develop cognitively and struggle to understand incoming stimuli at a young age [12]. However, even adolescents struggle to identify intensity using wearable devices, and there is a wide array of devices being targeted towards youth as they spend large quantities of time using technology [9,12].

The main objective of this study was to determine if children, as young as 5 years of age, would perform at moderate intensity or above for a longer period when receiving feedback of their intensity via a color-coded projection on the wall compared to children not having feedback in the same session. We also aimed to explore if children's physical characteristics were associated with the average percentage of maximal HR reached during sessions.

Methods

Overview

XSI•FC

Children between the ages of 5 and 11 were recruited through a local active play program lasting 12 weeks in which children engaged in 60 minutes of physical activity per session for 2 evening per week. Active play is defined as a form of gross motor or total body movement in which young children exert energy in a freely chosen, fun, and unstructured manner [13]. The current program was designed to engage children in the simple pleasures and benefits of regular physical activity, with

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e11327/
```

a variety of fun interactive and noncompetitive physical activities intended to foster self-esteem, confidence, a positive self-image and the joy of being physically active. The program included games such as tag, "red light green light" and "fishes and whales." These games include sprinting, switching direction, and starting and stopping. The program was semistructured so the coaches had games planned but free play with ropes, balls and other gym equipment was always an option for the children, as well as suggesting alternative activities.

The Intervention

Before every session, the research assistant would open an envelope identifying which participants were selected to wear a HR monitor. This was selected randomly using the select case function in the statistical software SPSS (International Business Machines Corporation, New York, United States). If a participant missed a session, the randomization was postponed for the next session.

Participants were asked to wear a HR monitor, attached around their chest, for 4 sessions out of the 15 sessions offered. However, they only received feedback for 2 of the 4 sessions during which they wore a HR monitor. For the 2 sessions where participants received feedback, their HR was displayed on a wall in the gym. This method was used rather than a wearable monitor to create a group experience and encourage all the children to be "green" indicating they had all reached moderate intensity. The wall made it easy for the children to monitor their heart rate and for the researchers to explain the concept to the children. Each child was associated with a number to ensure anonymity, and their goal was to maintain their HR at moderate intensity (70% of maximum HR [14]) as indicated by displaying the number in green. Displaying the number in red indicated that their HR was below moderate intensity. For the other 2 sessions, the participants wore the equipment but did not receive feedback. The participant's response to feedback was analyzed on a per session basis to account for the variability in the session's activities. Parents signed a consent form and children signed an assent form before the study began. A research ethics board approved this project.

Measuring the Children's Characteristics

Children's anthropometrics, handgrip strength, body composition, cardiorespiratory fitness, and physical activity levels were measured to assess if these characteristics were associated with the average percent of maximal HR the children reached during the 4 sessions.

Anthropometrics measures and grip strength were collected to describe the sample of participants according to the Canadian Society of Exercise Physiology Protocol. These were obtained during 1 of the sessions when the participants were not wearing any equipment. Height was measured to the nearest 0.5 cm using a SECA stadiometer (SECA, Hamburg, Germany) and body weight was measured to the nearest 0.1 kg on a SECA model number 213 calibrated column scale. Waist circumference was taken with an anthropometric tape and measured to the nearest 0.5 cm at the upper lateral border of the iliac crest after the participant had crossed their arms over their chest [15]. Grip strength was measured with a hand dynamometer as the

participant held the grip between their fingers and the base of their thumb. Two trials were performed on each hand, and the highest score of all trials was entered and analyzed.

Participants' body compositions were estimated using the Bod Pod (Cosmed, Concord, California, United States.). The Bod Pod was calibrated following standard protocol [16]. The participants wore minimal clothing and a bathing cap while sitting still in the Bod Pod. The thoracic gas volume was estimated, and the Brozek equation [17] was used to estimate the fat mass and muscle mass.

Cardiorespiratory fitness was estimated using the 20-meter shuttle test [18]. As per protocol, children ran between 2 lines 20 meters apart reaching the line before the sound of a beep. Every minute the participants were required to increase their speed by 0.5 km/h [18]. The children were first given a warning when they did not reach the line on time and eliminated after the second consecutive time. Cardiorespiratory fitness was estimated using a published equation developed for this population [19].

Finally, participants were asked to wear an SC-StepRx pedometer (StepsCount Inc, Deep River, Canada) for 7 days to capture steps per day and time spent in moderate-vigorous intensity. Intensity was estimated based on cadence thresholds: 110 for moderate and 130 for vigorous [20]. Children were given the pedometers on a Tuesday or Thursday after the exercise session and were asked to give it back after the session on the following week. Therefore, the information included sessions in the program. A minimum of 4 days of wear time was required to be included in the analysis. Averages were used to control for varying durations in wear time.

Statistics

Due to the small sample size, nonparametric tests were used. Nonparametric Mann-Whitney *U* tests were performed between the children's average percentage of maximal HR while having feedback and the children's average percentage of maximal HR while not receiving feedback for each session. The Spearman rank correlation between the individual's average percentage of maximal HR during all 4 sessions and participant's characteristics was computed.

Results

The Projected System

Feedback was provided by showing a display on a wall (see Figure 1). The children knew their identification number, and their heart rate was color-coded to indicate their intensity. They understood that green was the optimal zone and red meant they were below optimal intensity and if they worked harder they would reach the green zone.

The Children's Characteristics

The median age was 7 years, with slightly fewer boys (9/20, 45%) than girls (11/20, 55%) participating in the study (see Table 1). The median daily steps per day were 12,051 steps per day and 276.6 minutes in that week was spent in moderate to vigorous intensity.

No significant relationships were found (P>.05) between the participants' average percent of maximal HR reached during the active play sessions and the measured participants' characteristics (see Table 2).

The Intervention

No significant difference (P=.93) between the average percentage of maximal HR of the participants who received feedback and the average percentage of maximal HR of participants who did not receive feedback during the recorded sessions, with an effect size of -0.004 standard deviation units (see Figure 2). The x-axis represents the session in which data was recorded, and the children's average percent of maximal HR based on their estimated maximal HR is plotted on the y-axis. Nonparametric independent t tests were used to determine that there was no significant difference (P>.05) between the feedback and nonfeedback group for all 15 sessions. The groups were compared on a session by session basis to control for the variability of each session. This ensures the feedback and nonfeedback group were engaging in the same activities. The median percentage of HR max during all sessions was 71%, and 13/20 (65%) children had an average of 70% of their HR max for all sessions.



Blake et al

Figure 1. The projected system used to display biofeedback to the children.



Table 1. A summary of the children's characteristics (N=20).

Characteristics	Value
Age (years), median (IQR ^a)	7.0 (6.0-8.0)
Gender, n (%)	
Male	9 (45)
Female	11 (55)
Estimated VO _{2max} (mL/kg/min), median (IQR)	44.4 (43.5-48.0)
Height (cm), median (IQR)	130.0 (127.0-133.5)
Weight (kg), median (IQR)	25.9 (24.5-33.8)
Waist circumference (cm), median (IQR)	61.0 (56.0-67.5)
Grip strength (kg), median (IQR)	11.0 (8.0-13.0)
Fat mass (%), median (IQR)	21.6 (16.7-27.7)
Average daily steps ^b , median (IQR)	12,051 (9,649-15,106)
Weekly MVPA ^c (min) ^b , median (IQR)	276.6 (197.4-356.1)

^aIQR: interquartile range.

 $^{b}N=9.$

.

^cMVPA: moderate-to-vigorous physical activity.

Table 2. The relationship between the children's percent of maximum heart rate and their characteristics using the Spearman rank correlation (ρ) .

Characteristic	ρ	P value
Age (years)	.27	.26
Weight (kg)	.19	.44
Height (cm)	.30	.21
Waist circumference (cm)	.058	.82
Grip strength (kg)	.055	.82
Fat mass (%)	022	.93
Physical activity level	18	.58
Fitness level	096	.69

Figure 2. The association between the median percentage of maximal heart rate with and without feedback.



Figure 3. The proportion of time spent at moderate intensity or greater for all sessions. MPVA: moderate-to-vigorous physical activity.



Figure 3 displays the median proportion of time spent in moderate-vigorous intensity during the recorded sessions. This includes all 15 sessions with data collected from 20 children each wearing a heart rate monitor 4 times, twice with feedback and twice without feedback. Therefore, illustrating the time children spent engaging in moderate-to-vigorous physical activity (MVPA) during the active play program regardless of biofeedback. The median proportion of time spent in MVPA during all active play sessions was 20.5 minutes, representing an average of 55.5% per session.

Discussion

Principal Findings

The main objective of this study was to determine if children, as young as 5 years of age would spend more time at moderate to vigorous intensity when receiving feedback of their intensity via a color-coded HR projected onto a wall compared to children not receiving feedback in the same session. Although 55.5% of the time was spent at moderate intensity or above, the present findings indicate that when young children are receiving instant feedback during active play, they were not spending more time

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e11327/
```

RenderX

in MVPA compared to those who are not receiving feedback. We also aimed to explore if children's physical characteristics were associated with the average percentage of maximal HR reached during the sessions. The participants' characteristics were not significantly associated with the average percentage of maximal HR they reached during the 4 monitored active play sessions.

The ability to identify exercise intensity is a complex task for anyone including children [12,21,22]. The median age of the participants involved in this study was 7 years. Their age may have contributed to their inability to perceive the intensity as previous research has suggested that children do not develop the ability to logically interpret surrounding stimuli, until 11 years of age [12,23]. Therefore, it is possible that children involved in this study did not have the cognitive ability to interpret and respond to feedback related to the exercise intensity, despite the extensive time young children now spend using technology. A study by Gaudet et al [10] reported that the Prochaska's stages of change were influencing the ability to be receptive to feedback and do more activity at moderate intensity with adolescents when in the stage of action. The

Blake et al

participants' stage of change in the current study is unknown and should have been asked of the children and their parents. The children in this study were also quite active based on their daily step count, averaging more than 12,000 steps per day. It is possible that different results would have been observed in a curriculum instead of during an after-school program that tends to attract active kids [5]. Even if the feedback was not associated with greater intensity, it is important to note that 55.5% of the sessions were spent at the moderate-vigorous intensity. This is important because most traditional physical education classes report [24] that the average is only 39.4% for boys and 29.1% for girls in physical education classes. Additional studies [25] have shown that young children enjoy physical activity more when the activity is noncompetitive, and there is a choice involved compared to structured activities. Potentially, enjoyment contributed to the children reaching an average of 70% of their maximal HR regardless of whether they were receiving feedback.

Of the characteristics that were measured, none were associated with the average percentage of maximal HR reached during sessions, regardless of feedback or not. Regarding body weight, it seems that intensity was not influencing the reached intensity during sessions when performing the active play. This result is similar to a study conducted with children aged between 6 and 9 years that found that nonobese and children living with obesity had similar heart rates during active play sessions [1]. Prior research has shown that children living with obesity perceive themselves to be less competent than their peers, and would feel more comfortable engaging in active play than in a structured athletic setting [1].

Children are often more active during physical education classes if they have a high ability level and low body mass index [24].

Since the participants' physical characteristics did not affect the children's average intensity, perhaps active play should be encouraged in different settings to increase fitness level.

Limitations

There were some limitations to this study. First, this study used a small sample size. The children were also young, considered active and were voluntarily attending the program. While the activity sessions were an hour in length, the children's heart rates were only recorded for an average of 37 (SD 4) minutes. Second, the sample was not randomized, and a crossover design was not used. Each session was different. This means that the children did not necessarily engage in the same activities when they had or did not have feedback. The children receiving feedback were not isolated from the children not receiving feedback. Therefore, the children not receiving feedback may have been mirroring the intensity of the children who were receiving feedback. However, physical activity was objectively measured using blinded pedometers. The color-coded projection on the wall was novel for the children and the active play program allowed for a well-supervised physical activity intervention.

Conclusions

Providing instant feedback about their intensity for children with an average age of 7 years does not significantly increase their intensity when engaging in an active play session. However, it is important to note that during the active play sessions, children spent 55.5% of the time at moderate to vigorous intensity. Further research should examine the effects of providing feedback on exercise intensity when performing active play with older children with a broader range of physical activity levels.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- Tompkins CL, Flanagan T, Lavoie J, Brock DW. Heart Rate and Perceived Exertion in Healthy Weight and Obese Children During a Self-Selected Physical Activity Program. J Phys Act Health 2015 Jul;12(7):976-981. [doi: <u>10.1123/jpah.2013-0374</u>] [Medline: <u>25203162</u>]
- Polar. Polar Heart Rate Zones. 2018 URL: <u>https://support.polar.com/ca-en/support/tips/Polar_Sport_Zones</u> [accessed 2018-09-24] [WebCite Cache ID 72ew4c0UD]
- Janssen I, Leblanc AG. Systematic review of the health benefits of physical activity and fitness in school-aged children and youth. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2010 May 11;7:40 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-7-40] [Medline: 20459784]
- 4. Colley RC, Carson V, Garriguet D, Janssen I, Roberts KC, Tremblay MS. Physical activity of Canadian children and youth, 2007 to 2015. Health Rep 2017 Oct 18;28(10):8-16 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 29044441]
- 5. Fenton SAM, Duda JL, Barrett T. Optimising physical activity engagement during youth sport: a self-determination theory approach. J Sports Sci 2016 Oct;34(19):1874-1884. [doi: 10.1080/02640414.2016.1142104] [Medline: 26873162]
- 6. Nichols R, Davis KL, McCord T, Schmidt D, Slezak AM. The Use of Heart Rate Monitors in Physical Education. Strategies 2013 Jan 18;22(6):19-23. [doi: 10.1080/08924562.2009.10590845]
- 7. Rideout V, Foehr U, Roberts D. Kaiser Family Foundation Study. 2010 Jan. Generation M2, Media in the Lives of 8-to 18 year Olds URL: <u>https://kaiserfamilyfoundation.files.wordpress.com/2013/04/8010.pdf</u> [WebCite Cache ID 70AeOSxAy]
- 8. Vittrup B, Snider S, Rose KK, Rippy J. Parental perceptions of the role of media and technology in their young children's lives. Journal of Early Childhood Research 2014 Apr 15;14(1):43-54. [doi: 10.1177/1476718X14523749]

- 9. Council on Communications and Media. Children, Adolescents, and the Media. Pediatrics 2013 Nov 28;132(5):958-961 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.2013-2656] [Medline: 28448255]
- 10. Gaudet J, Gallant F, Bélanger M. A Bit of Fit: Minimalist Intervention in Adolescents Based on a Physical Activity Tracker. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2017 Jul 06;5(7):e92 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.7647] [Medline: 28684384]
- 11. Nation-Grainger S. 'It's just PE' till 'It felt like a computer game': using technology to improve motivation in physical education. Research Papers in Education 2017 May 10;32(4):463-480. [doi: 10.1080/02671522.2017.1319590]
- Conley MM, Gastin PB, Brown H, Shaw C. Heart rate biofeedback fails to enhance children's ability to identify time spent in moderate to vigorous physical activity. J Sci Med Sport 2011 Mar;14(2):153-158. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jsams.2010.10.002</u>] [Medline: <u>21093367</u>]
- 13. Truelove S, Vanderloo LM, Tucker P. Defining and Measuring Active Play Among Young Children: A Systematic Review. J Phys Act Health 2017 Feb;14(2):155-166. [doi: <u>10.1123/jpah.2016-0195</u>] [Medline: <u>27775475</u>]
- Canning KL, Brown RE, Jamnik VK, Salmon A, Ardern CI, Kuk JL. Individuals underestimate moderate and vigorous intensity physical activity. PLoS One 2014 May;9(5):e97927 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1371/journal.pone.0097927</u>] [Medline: <u>24835105</u>]
- 15. Physical activity training for health (CSEP path). 1st edition. Canada: Canadian Society for Exercise Physiology; 2013:978-971.
- 16. Holmes JC, Gibson AL, Cremades JG, Mier CM. Body-density measurement in children: the BOD POD versus Hydrodensitometry. Int J Sport Nutr Exerc Metab 2011 Jun;21(3):240-247. [Medline: 21719905]
- Frisard MI, Greenway FL, Delany JP. Comparison of methods to assess body composition changes during a period of weight loss. Obes Res 2005 May;13(5):845-854 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/oby.2005.97] [Medline: 15919837]
- 18. Mayorga-Vega D, Aguilar-Soto P, Viciana J. Criterion-Related Validity of the 20-M Shuttle Run Test for Estimating Cardiorespiratory Fitness: A Meta-Analysis. J Sports Sci Med 2015 Sep;14(3):536-547 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>26336340</u>]
- Mora-Gonzalez J, Cadenas-Sanchez C, Martinez-Tellez B, Sanchez-Delgado G, Ruiz JR, Léger L, et al. Estimating VOmax in children aged 5-6 years through the preschool-adapted 20-m shuttle-run test (PREFIT). Eur J Appl Physiol 2017 Nov;117(11):2295-2307. [doi: 10.1007/s00421-017-3717-7] [Medline: 28932901]
- 20. Saunders TJ, Gray CE, Borghese MM, McFarlane A, Mbonu A, Ferraro ZM, et al. Validity of SC-StepRx pedometer-derived moderate and vigorous physical activity during treadmill walking and running in a heterogeneous sample of children and youth. BMC Public Health 2014;14:519 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-14-519] [Medline: 24886319]
- Prokop NW, Hrubeniuk TJ, Sénéchal M, Bouchard DR. People who perceive themselves as active cannot identify the intensity recommended by the international physical activity guidelines. Open Access J Sports Med 2014 Oct;5:235-241 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/OAJSM.S63496] [Medline: 25378959]
- 22. Bouchard DR, Langlois M, Boisvert-Vigneault K, Farand P, Paulin M, Baillargeon J. Pilot study: can older inactive adults learn how to reach the required intensity of physical activity guideline? Clin Interv Aging 2013;8:501-508 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/CIA.S42224] [Medline: 23662053]
- 23. Ammon PR, Sigel IE, Hooper FH. Logical Thinking in Children: Research Based on Piaget's Theory. American Educational Research Journal 1969 Mar;6(2):293. [doi: 10.2307/1161901]
- 24. Fairclough S, Stratton G. 'Physical education makes you fit and healthy'. Physical education's contribution to young people's physical activity levels. Health Educ Res 2005 Feb;20(1):14-23. [doi: 10.1093/her/cyg101] [Medline: 15253994]
- 25. Allender S, Cowburn G, Foster C. Understanding participation in sport and physical activity among children and adults: a review of qualitative studies. Health Educ Res 2006 Dec;21(6):826-835. [doi: 10.1093/her/cyl063] [Medline: 16857780]

Abbreviations

HR: heart rateIQR: interquartile rangeMVPA: moderate-to-vigorous physical activity

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 27.06.18; peer-reviewed by L Becker, A Centi; comments to author 03.08.18; revised version received 15.08.18; accepted 08.09.18; published 23.11.18.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Blake M, Sénéchal M, Comeau M, Smith S, Bouchard D The Impact of Exercise Intensity Feedback Using Technology for Children During Active Play: Pilot Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2018;1(2):e11327 URL: <u>http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e11327/</u> doi:10.2196/11327 PMID:31518287



©Madison Blake, Martin Sénéchal, Megan Comeau, Spencer Smith, Danielle Bouchard. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 23.11.2018. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Online Peer-to-Peer Mentoring Support for Youth with Hemophilia: Qualitative Needs Assessment

Vicky R Breakey^{1,2}, MD, MEd, FRCPC; Vanessa Bouskill^{3,4}, MN, RN(EC); Cynthia Nguyen⁵, HBSc, MPH; Stephanie Luca⁵, HBSc, MA; Jennifer N Stinson^{4,5,6}, RN, PhD; Sara Ahola Kohut^{5,7}, PhD, CPsych

¹Division of Pediatric Hematology/Oncology, Department of Pediatrics, McMaster Children's Hospital, Hamilton, ON, Canada

²Faculty of Health Sciences, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada

⁷Department of Psychiatry, The Hospital for Sick Children, Toronto, ON, Canada

Corresponding Author:

Vicky R Breakey, MD, MEd, FRCPC Division of Pediatric Hematology/Oncology Department of Pediatrics McMaster Children's Hospital HSC 3N27a 1280 Main Street W Hamilton, ON, L8S 4K1 Canada Phone: 1 905 521 2100 ext 73080 Fax: 1 905 521 1703 Email: breakey@mcmaster.ca

Abstract

Background: To support adolescents through transition from pediatrics to adult care, health care providers and families help teens gain knowledge and develop self-management skills. Peer mentoring can provide meaningful support and has been associated with improved health outcomes in patients with other chronic conditions. Peer mentoring is an appealing way to provide support, but it is imperative to consider the unique needs of adolescents to ensure its success.

Objective: The objective of our study was to identify the peer mentoring wants and needs of youth with hemophilia in order to guide the development of a new program.

Methods: In this qualitative study, we interviewed a convenience sample of youth with hemophilia from 2 Canadian hemophilia treatment centers. Two iterative cycles of audiorecorded, semistructured individual interviews were conducted. Descriptive statistics and content analyses were used to organize data into categories that reflected emerging themes.

Results: In total, we recruited 23 participants aged 12-20 years, with a mean age of 14.91 (2.57) years. When asked about program design, participants weighed the importance of flexibility in delivery (eg, Web-based, in person, text messaging [short message service]), content (eg, structured vs unstructured), frequency of sessions, and length of the program. Participants identified some potential challenges such as scheduling issues, comfort level for disease discussion, and discordant mentor-mentee personality types. The program was viewed as a positive medium for connecting peers with hemophilia.

Conclusions: Adolescents with hemophilia expressed interest in a peer mentoring program and provided valuable insight that will be applied in the development of a peer mentoring program for youth with hemophilia.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2018;1(2):e10958) doi:10.2196/10958

KEYWORDS

RenderX

hemophilia; adolescents; transition; self-management; education; internet; mentoring

³Division of Hematology/Oncology, Department of Pediatrics, The Hospital for Sick Children, Toronto, ON, Canada

⁴Lawrence S Bloomberg Faculty of Nursing, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

⁵Child Health Evaluative Sciences, The Hospital for Sick Children, Toronto, ON, Canada

⁶Department of Anesthesia and Pain Medicine, The Hospital for Sick Children, Toronto, ON, Canada
Introduction

The challenges of transition of care for young people with hemophilia have been documented and well reviewed [1-3]. As the responsibilities of disease management shift from caregivers to patients themselves, adolescents are expected to gain knowledge and self-management skills to become independent. Despite well-developed resources for North American hemophilia care providers [4-6], adolescents and young adults report gaps in the understanding and skills [7-9].

Recently, a pilot study suggested that a Web-based learning program is an effective tool for providing education and self-management skills to youth with hemophilia [10]. Following completion of the program, adolescents made significant gains in knowledge, self-efficacy, and readiness for transition of care from caregivers to self. One aspect of the program that was highly rated by adolescents was the support gained from a trained "health coach," who made weekly telephone calls to discuss their progress and answer their questions. Although this element was popular with adolescents, providing this one-on-one support is challenging as it requires significant ongoing resources.

Peer mentoring support in health care is an explicit form of social support established to provide individuals with emotional (eg, expressions of caring, empathy, and reassurance), appraisal (eg, affirmation of one's feelings and behaviors, encouraging persistence for conflict resolution, and reassurance that frustrations can be handled), and informational (eg, providing advice, suggestions, and facts relevant to issues with which the peer is dealing) support from other people living with similar conditions [11]. Peer mentoring can provide meaningful social support and has also been associated with improved health outcomes [12-15]. In qualitative interviews, some adolescents with hemophilia expressed feelings of isolation and voiced interest in obtaining peer support; older adolescents and young adults felt that peer support was valuable and expressed a desire to mentor younger youth [7].

A promising Skype-based peer mentoring support intervention (iPeer2Peer Program; iP2P) has been piloted in youth with arthritis and chronic pain. The program sex matched young adults (mentors) who had successfully transitioned to adult care with adolescents aged 12-18 years (mentees), and they completed 10 Skype calls over an 8-week period. When compared with a waitlist control group, youth demonstrated improvements in self-management and pain-coping efficacy immediately after completing iP2P [16,17]. As arthritis and chronic pain affect more females than males, only a few males participated in the study. Given that hemophilia is X-linked, it is important to explore whether an adaptation of the iP2P program would enhance the self-management and transitional care in this population.

In order to explore the need for and acceptability of an iP2P peer mentorship program for youth with hemophilia, we conducted a needs assessment with qualitative interviews. The aims of the needs assessment were to (1) document the perceived self-management needs of youth with hemophilia, (2) determine if Web-based peer mentoring is an acceptable means of learning

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e10958/
```

self-management strategies, and (3) gather information on youth preferences and ideas for an optimal Web-based mentoring program, if developed.

Methods

Participant Recruitment Strategy

A qualitative descriptive study using semistructured individual interviews was conducted in 2015-2016 with adolescents and young adults living with moderate or severe hemophilia from 2 tertiary hemophilia treatment centers (HTCs) in Ontario (The Hospital for Sick Children, Toronto, and McMaster University Medical Centre, Hamilton). A purposive sampling method was used based on age to maximize the variability of the sample. Eligibility inclusion criteria included adolescents and young adults who were (1) between 12 and 25 years old, (2) diagnosed with moderate or severe hemophilia, (3) able to speak and comprehend English, and (4) willing and able to complete an in-person or telephone interview. Exclusion criteria included (1) a significant cognitive delay and (2) major comorbid illnesses (medical or psychiatric). The age range was chosen to foster "near peer" relationships between potential mentors and mentees. The eligibility was determined upon review of the local patient database by the clinical team. Research ethics boards at both hospitals approved the study.

Interview Protocol

Once informed consent was obtained, participants completed demographic questionnaires. Interviews followed a semistructured format using an interview guide developed by the study team based on clinical experience and current research literature. Participants were asked about their experiences living with hemophilia, their interests in meeting other youth with hemophilia, and being involved in a Skype-based peer mentoring program, as well as the features they would want in a new program (eg, frequency, length, and content).

Statistical and Qualitative Analyses

Descriptive statistics were used to summarize sample characteristics. Audiotaped interviews were transcribed verbatim and verified against the audio recordings and notes taken during the interviews. Transcribed data were imported into NVivo 10 [18]. Under the supervision of a coinvestigator (JNS), the analyses were conducted independently by two members of the research team (SL, CN) and two research students using simple content analyses, as outlined by Sandelowski [19]. The study team reviewed a subset of the transcripts, and preliminary themes were used to develop and revise the coding scheme through discussion. To ensure the coding scheme was grounded in the data, raw data were revisited throughout the analytic process [20]. Interrater reliability analyses were conducted to establish agreement between coders.

Results

Study Participants

Across the 2 tertiary HTCs, 56 patients were approached. Of those approached, 28 patients declined due to lack of interest in the study and 28 patients were consented and enrolled.

XSL•FO RenderX

However, 5 participants were lost to follow-up during the interview phase (ie, could not be contacted via telephone or email); thus, 23 participants completed the study. Demographic characteristics for the adolescent and young adult sample are summarized in Table 1.

All 23 participants had a computer at home with internet access. Of all, 56% (13/23) participants spent over 7 hours on the internet and 47% (11/13) spent over 7 hours on the computer each week. All participants reported being "comfortable" or "very comfortable" using the computer and the internet. Computer usage data were missing for 2 participants.

Thematic Analysis for Disease Impact

Thematic analysis revealed five major disease impact themes: physical, emotional, social, school and work, and the future. Major themes and key quotes from participants are summarized in Table 2.

Thematic Analysis for Program Development

Participants were asked for their opinions about a mentorship program for adolescents with hemophilia. Thematic analysis

revealed six major themes for program development: content, delivery, frequency, length, potential challenges, and anticipated benefits. We have summarized major themes and participant comments.

Content

Participants described wanting mentorship on the challenges of living with hemophilia, including different treatments, self-management experiences, and sports participation. Opinions differed on whether conversation should be guided by pre-set questions or be unstructured. For example:

I think it should really be whatever you want to talk about because if it is structured, then it's more like a robot interaction...but if you personalize it you make it more free-flowing then...it accomplishes more. [Age 14]

Most participants agreed that the mentorship relationship should begin by discussing general topics and then progress with more personal topics, as mentees grew more comfortable with the mentor where trust and rapport had then been developed.

Table 1. Demographic characteristics of the adolescent and young adult sample.

Characteristic	Adolescents and young adults (n=23)	
Sex, n (%)		
Male	23 (100)	
Female	0 (0)	
Age, mean (SD)	14.91 (2.57)	
Current level of education ^a , n (%)		
Grade 7	6 (26)	
Grade 8	3 (13)	
Grade 9	2 (9)	
Grade 10	1 (4)	
Grade 11	4 (18)	
Grade 12	3 (13)	
University	1 (4)	
College	1 (4)	
Ethnicity, n (%)		
White	15 (64)	
Black	2 (9)	
Japanese	1 (4)	
Latin American	1 (4)	
South Asian	1 (4)	
South East Asian	1 (4)	
Other	2 (9)	
Do not want to answer	0 (0)	

^aData related to current level of education is missing for 2 participants.

Table 2. Impact of hemophilia on teens and young adults.

Disease Impact	Major Findings	Exemplar Quotes
Physical	 Impact of pain associated with bleeds and with regular venipuncture Some perceived minimal physical impact largely because 	Well its actually been quite a challenge, always getting needles probably like every Tuesday and Thursdayit's been kinda difficult. [Age 12]
	 Some learned about physical risks through individual experiences and seeking information from their health care team, family, or friends with hemophilia 	I sprained my ankle when I was in grade 4[that joint] started to bleed a lotthere was more risk involved, like cartilage problems [and] like chronic painwhich is not something that would easily happen to someone without hemophilia because it clots. [Age 14]
		Well, luckily, I did have an older brother and I did learn a bit from his mistakes, but I mean obviously, you want to try things. [Age 17]
Emotional	• Main cause of emotional upset was not being able to play sports or having to miss out on activities or extracurriculars	It's impacted my life a lot, sometimes it's hard to deal with. I can't play any contact sports, and sometimes seeing your friends playing sportsit's definitely an experience, but you do learn to deal with it. [Age 17]
		Everyone kept telling meyou're very fragile, in fact, when I was a kid, I felt more like a glass vasebecause I was afraid that I would break out to a bleed. [Age 18]
		I can't really do muchlikea lot sports, like hockey or football, because if I get hurt really badly I would end up in the hospital. [Age 12]
Social	Inability to participate in certain activities limited social interaction with friends Feelings of isolation because participants did not feel comfortable explaining their condition to peers Having hemophilia gave some participants an opportunity to create strong bonds with family members and peers who have the same condition	Probably the only one big challenge that I have faced is like doing stuff with friends. Like sometimes friends are doing stuff that I wouldn't participate in and it would feel a little bit sadI just kind of accepted it and my friends have been really under- standing about it. [Age 14]
		You felt sometimes you didn't want to tell people if you had ityou didn't want people to treat you differentlyI kind of kept to myself when I was really young. [Age 20]
		I have a younger brother he also has hemophilia. We connected [and] it was greatWith my parentsI got to see how caring they were. They were out almost all day out at the hospital rooms or emergencies all the time. [Age 20]
School and Work	• Majority felt having hemophilia did not impact their school attendance, as teachers were accommodating and support- ive, but some decreased their participation in physical ed-	Well in school, in gym, sometimes I have to skip out on some of the activities, because they're a little toorough for me to play. [Age 14]
	 Of those currently employed, most did not disclose their condition as they felt it did not interfere with their position and there was no high risk of injury at work 	Yea, my boss knows I have hemophilia, she understands what's happening, she's you know um, considerate about it, she under- stands I won't be able to work for a while. [Age 17]
Future	• Most did not envision hemophilia having an impact on their career path, aside from avoiding physically demanding careers	I'm pretty sure it won't affect my future career, but it could limit my career, like since I can't do much, most of the hard work. [Age 17]
	 Expressed a need to choose postsecondary institutions where easy access to medical services was available No major concerns about hemophilia affecting future ro- mantic relationships or having children 	Going to the futureif I do have kids, you know the females would be carriers and the males would be unaffected that's fairly okay. I don't mind passing on the gene. I could deal with that. [Age 20]

Delivery

XSL•FO

Participants varied in their preferences of delivery method of mentorship (eg, in person, Web-based, or telephone or texting). In-person mentorship sessions were felt to be most convenient if they were held on the same day as a regular clinic appointment. Web-based mentorship (eg, Facetime or Skype) was viewed as convenient for several reasons, including not having to rely on anyone for transportation, for individuals who

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e10958/

live far away from the hospital, and the flexibility to schedule sessions at convenient times and minimize scheduling conflicts. Participants also reflected that they might also be more willing to open up to someone online, rather than in person. Some participants mentioned texting as a good option for those who did not like face-to-face interactions; however, others indicated that it would be difficult to connect with their mentors solely through texting. There were also varying opinions about individual versus group-based mentorship. Some participants

stated that they would feel intimidated and uncomfortable sharing personal information in a group, even on an online group forum. However, others saw value in hearing from a group to obtain a broader perspective and stated that it would increase the likelihood of connecting with peers in the group. One teen stated the following:

I think both are good. Both have pros and cons. Um if it is a group discussion, I don't think they would be sharing that much information about private stuff though but uh depends on the person. But I think most people will probably like one-on-one. [Age 20]

Frequency

Participants' preferences for the frequency of mentoring sessions ranged from twice a week to bimonthly. Some participants preferred not to have scheduled sessions, but rather only have sessions as needed. Some felt they would find comfort in knowing that they could have a mentor to reach out to when needed. Some participants indicated that the frequency of sessions would depend on whether sessions were held in person or were online. A teen said the following:

I would say once a week or, if it was at my home, probably twice a week. Just because [the hospital] is a commute every time to get there. [Age 13]

Length

Participants also indicated a range for length of sessions, from 5 minutes to 2 hours. Some participants indicated that they preferred not to have a time constraint placed on them, but rather have the session be as short or as long as they needed. A participant said the following:

I think it all just depends on the person themselves...whether they have a lot of questions or

Table 3. Challenges of a peer mentoring program for adolescents with hemophilia.

not, I guess the ideal time would be around 20 minutes...longer if they have more questions. [Age 17]

Potential Challenges

When asked, only a few participants could list the potential challenges to the feasibility and uptake of a peer mentoring program (Table 3).

One potential challenge was shyness or lack of openness among mentees. Participants were also worried there might be a personality clash or difficulty establishing a connection with the mentor. Some participants were concerned that mentees would not know how to ask the right questions and that finding experienced individuals to fill the mentor role may be a challenge.

Another challenge related to a group-based mentorship program was a concern about hearing about other teens' struggles and problems. Some thought that this would pose an unnecessary burden on them. Timing of the program was also seen as a challenge, with participants generally preferring to have a mentor at an age when they are starting to take on more disease self-management responsibilities or struggling to manage symptoms or treatment.

Anticipated Benefits

When asked about the possible benefits of receiving mentorship, one of the biggest perceived benefits was feeling like they are not alone in their disease. They indicated that participating in a mentoring program would help them feel being part of the hemophilia community and gain a sense of hope seeing someone with hemophilia succeeding in adulthood. Older participants expressed an interest in being a mentor as they felt confident in their ability to manage their condition independently.

Challenges	Exemplar quotes		
Connection			
Issues establishing rapport between mentors and mentees (eg, shyness, comfort level, personality)	[What if a] mentee just doesn't feel like a connection to the person that they're talking to, they don't open up to them, or if the child doesn't know what questions to ask the peer mentor. [Age 17]		
Timing of program delivery			
Prefer to access program when starting to take on more disease self- management responsibilities or struggling to manage symptoms or treatment	It helps little kids to prepare for like, how to do their needles, or to prepare for how it's going to affect their life later on in the future. [Age 14]		
Scheduling			
Difficult to find a time when all parties are available; especially diffi- cult if sessions occur in person or in a group setting	I guess finding the time to all meet up and all that. If it's just like a big group. [Age 13]		
Time commitment			
Full schedule of extracurricular activities make it difficult to find time to fit in another activity	People have to do a lot of thingstime is on the shortage most of the time, most people don't have enough time to like get to other people. [Age 17]		
Slow enrollment			
Concerns about finding enough adolescents to participate due to lack of interest	But I guess just trying to get the kids interestedI think that would be hardest part, having kids actually want toparticipate without them having it enforced upon them. [Age 20]		



Table 4.	Benefits	of a	peer	mentoring	program	for ad	olescents	with	hemop	hilia.
----------	----------	------	------	-----------	---------	--------	-----------	------	-------	--------

Benefits	Exemplar quotes
Sense of community	
Feeling like they are not alone in their disease	I think [the mentorship sessions] would make kids more open about hemophiliatalk about it, talk to their friends about it. Making them feel like they're not alone you could say like they're not the only ones. Inclu- sion. [Age 20]
	People really having a sense of community about their hemophilia because alone we are just hemophiliacs but together we are a social group, we are a community that's helping one another. [Age 14]
Sense of hope	
Mentor success in adulthood	They'll also feel like there's someone in the same boat as mecause you almost feel isolated, when no one else has itSo if they have someone to talk to[they look] forward to the future and it's not just going to be a boring future. [Age 17]
Opportunity for discussion	
Speak about hemophilia from a nonmedical perspective; focus on aspects of daily life	Well, I would, like, learn a lot through someone that is more skilled, who would understand more than I do. [Age 12]
Ease of dialogue	
Extension of attending hemophilia summer camp; easier to speak to someone of a similar age and diagnosis	Definitely just someone to talk to about hemophilia would awesome be- cause you can just talk to them about things in your life that are affected by hemophiliayou can relate to them because they've gone through what you've been through. [Age 14]

Many participants made reference to attending a hemophilia summer camp and saw the mentoring program as a welcome extension of the camp. Most participants also indicated that it would be easier to speak to someone with a similar age and diagnosis. Some participants indicated that they would find the mentoring sessions helpful because they would have the opportunity to speak about how hemophilia has affected their lives and to ask for advice about hemophilia management and about impact of hemophilia on other aspects of typical teenage life. A summary of perceived benefits of a mentoring program is shown in Table 4.

Discussion

Not surprisingly, our subjects reported that their hemophilia has had significant effects on the physical, emotional, and social aspects of their lives. The challenges of activity or sports restrictions permeated this dialogue, suggesting this to be the most significant stressor facing our young people. Other voiced challenges involved feelings of isolation and discomfort among participants related to disclosure of their condition. These results were similar to those of previously published studies [9,21], suggesting that these issues are universal and reinforcing the areas in which young people with hemophilia require support.

In addition to common challenges, our participants shared a strong interest in gaining support through mentorship from more experienced individuals who were living with the condition. Many discussed their experiences at hemophilia camp as a time when they met others and received support. Thomas and Gaslin described the importance of such camps as means to improve self-esteem in young people with hemophilia [22]. In addition, a recent systematic review suggested that participation in the camps had therapeutic effects on the aspects of health-related

RenderX

quality of life [23]. Discussions with our subjects about the benefits provided by hemophilia camp support an expansion of available mentorship to include youth that are not able to attend summer camp, as well as to extend the supports gained through camping programs into the school year through an alternative program.

In preparing to develop a new mentorship initiative, we recognized the value of asking for input from potential mentees and mentors prior to building the program. We used the interview platform to determine participants' views on peer support and the acceptability of Web-based mentorship. Further areas of the program can be explored in future studies (eg, age preference of mentors, life experiences). While we recognized that published data have shown this to be a feasible and satisfying approach for patients with other chronic conditions [17], we wanted to ensure that this approach could be applied to our patients with hemophilia and tailored it to their specific needs as necessary. No formal comparison has been made between the needs of patients with hemophilia and those with other chronic conditions where a peer mentorship program has been piloted [16,17]. We anticipate that the needs of patients with hemophilia would be different due to the condition being present at birth, which may impact their perspectives and management of their conditions. In addition, treatment options vary across populations.

The limitations of this study include a relatively small study population in 2 proximal centers. The sample size was small, but in keeping with an appropriate size for this qualitative methodology [24]. Content themes were saturated, suggesting that central issues were identified. Although the results may not be completely generalizable, significant insight has been provided into the thoughts and experiences of young people

with hemophilia. Although a purposive sampling method was used, there is a potential for selection bias in favor of youth who are either motivated to participate or interested in a peer support program. The invitation to participate was extended to all eligible participants, and the decision to partake was voluntary.

In summary, it is essential to consider end-user needs and preferences prior to developing support programs to ensure that we meet the needs of our patients. While our participants generally supported Web-based peer mentorship, our data suggest that there is no one-size-fits-all approach that will meet the needs of adolescents and young adults with hemophilia. Through the data obtained, we were able to catalogue the perceived needs of this patient population and document its preferences and opinions on how best to develop a Web-based mentoring program. Moving forward, we will aim to build a program that is flexible and teen driven with a supportive backbone of education and social supports.

Acknowledgments

This research was funded by a Canadian Hemophilia Society-Novo Nordisk Psychosocial Research program grant.

Authors' Contributions

SAK led the development of the initial research design, with inputs from VRB, VB, and JNS. Data collection was supervised by SAK and performed by CN and SL. All members of the team finalized the qualitative analysis. Paper was written primarily by VRB and revised by all authors prior to submission.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Breakey VR, Blanchette VS, Bolton-Maggs PH. Towards comprehensive care in transition for young people with haemophilia. Haemophilia 2010 Nov;16(6):848-857. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2516.2010.02249.x] [Medline: 20491954]
- 2. Young G. From boy to man: recommendations for the transition process in haemophilia. Haemophilia 2012;S5:27-32.
- 3. Quon D, Reding M, Guelcher C, Peltier S, Witkop M, Cutter S, et al. Unmet needs in the transition to adulthood to 30-year-old people with hemophilia. Am J Hematol 2015;90(S2):S17-S22.
- 4. American Society of Hematology. American Society of Hematology. 2018 Apr 06. Pediatric to Adult Hematologic Care Transition URL: <u>http://www.hematology.org/Clinicians</u> [accessed 2018-04-06] [WebCite Cache ID 6yTm1ikXN]
- Belling L, Harrop M, Kocik S, Obstein L, Standish D, Vlasich W. National Hemophilia Foundation. 2003 Nov 09. Transition Guidelines for People with Bleeding Disorders URL: <u>https://www.hemophilia.org/Researchers-Healthcare-Providers/</u> <u>Medical-and-Scientific-Advisory-Council-MASAC/MASAC-Recommendations/</u>
- Transition-Guidelines-for-People-with-Bleeding-Disorders [accessed 2018-04-07] [WebCite Cache ID 6yTmhuNHu]
- 6. Wu J, Breakey VR, Purves E, Creighton K. Transitions Toward Independence. In: Hum D, editor. All About Hemophilia. Montreal, QC: Canadian Hemophilia Society; 2010:1-13.
- 7. Sterling L, Nyhof-Young J, Blanchette VS, Breakey VR. Exploring internet needs and use among adolescents with haemophilia: a website development project. Haemophilia 2012;18(2):216-221.
- Lindvall K, Colstrup L, Wollter I, Klemenz G, Loogna K, Grönhaug S, et al. Compliance with treatment and understanding of own disease in patients with severe and moderate haemophilia. Haemophilia 2006 Jan;12(1):47-51. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2516.2006.01192.x] [Medline: 16409174]
- Lane S, Arnold E, Webert KE, Chan A, Walker I, Heddle NM. What should men living with severe haemophilia need to know? The perspectives of Canadian haemophilia health care providers. Haemophilia 2013 Jul;19(4):503-510. [doi: 10.1111/hae.12104] [Medline: 23551887]
- 10. Breakey VR, Ignas DM, Warias AV, White M, Blanchette VS, Stinson JN. A pilot randomized control trial to evaluate the feasibility of an Internet-based self-management and transitional care program for youth with haemophilia. Haemophilia 2014;20(6):784-793.
- 11. Dennis CL. Peer support within a health care context: a concept analysis. Int J Nurs Stud 2003;40(3):321-332.
- 12. Dennis CL. The effect of peer support on postpartum depression: a pilot randomized controlled trial. Can J Psychiatry 2003;48(2):115-124.
- 13. Parent N, Fortin F. A randomized, controlled trial of vicarious experience through peer support for male first-time cardiac surgery patients: impact on anxiety, self-efficacy expectation, and self-reported activity. Heart Lung 2000;29(6):389-400.
- 14. Burgoyne RW. Exploring direction of causation between social support and clinical outcome for HIV-positive adults in the context of highly active antiretroviral therapy. AIDS Care 2005;17(1):111-124.
- 15. Arnstein P, Vidal M, Wells-Federman C, Morgan B, Caudill M. From chronic pain patient to peer: benefits and risks of volunteering. Pain Manag Nurs 2002 Sep;3(3):94-103. [Medline: <u>12198640</u>]
- 16. Ahola Kohut S, Stinson J, Ruskin D, Forgeron P, Harris L, van WM, et al. iPeer2Peer program: a pilot feasibility study in adolescents with chronic pain. Pain 2016;157(5):1146-1155.

- 17. Stinson J, Ahola Kohut S, Forgeron P, Amaria K, Bell M, Kaufman M, et al. The iPeer2Peer Program: a pilot randomized controlled trial in adolescents with Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis. Pediatr Rheumatol Online J 2016;14(1):48.
- 18. International Q. QRS NVivo 10. Doncaster, Australia 2012.
- 19. Sandelowski M. Whatever happened to qualitative description? Res Nurs Health 2000 Aug;23(4):334-340. [Medline: 10940958]
- 20. Kvale S. Interviews: An introduction to Qualitative Research Interviewing. California: Sage Publications; 1996.
- 21. Breakey VR, Sterling L, Nyhof-Young J, Blanchette VS. Growing up with Hemophilia: An Assessment of Teens' Perceived Needs Prior to Transition. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2011;56(6):916-917.
- 22. Thomas D, Gaslin TC. "Camping up" self-esteem in children with hemophilia. Issues Compr Pediatr Nurs 2001;24(4):253-263. [Medline: <u>11769210</u>]
- 23. Epstein I, Stinson J, Stevens B. The effects of camp on health-related quality of life in children with chronic illnesses: a review of the literature. J Pediatr Oncol Nurs 2005;22(2):89-103.
- 24. Guest G, Bunce A, Johnson L. How many interviews are enough? An experiment with data saturation and variability. Field Methods 2006;18(1):59-82.

Abbreviations

HTC: hemophilia treatment center **iP2P:** iPeer2Peer Program

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 04.05.18; peer-reviewed by L Sun, E Toki; comments to author 30.05.18; revised version received 15.06.18; accepted 15.06.18; published 10.07.18.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Brank w VB Brank

Breakey VR, Bouskill V, Nguyen C, Luca S, Stinson JN, Ahola Kohut S Online Peer-to-Peer Mentoring Support for Youth with Hemophilia: Qualitative Needs Assessment JMIR Pediatr Parent 2018;1(2):e10958 URL: <u>http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e10958/</u> doi:10.2196/10958 PMID:<u>31518296</u>

©Vicky R Breakey, Vanessa Bouskill, Cynthia Nguyen, Stephanie Luca, Jennifer N Stinson, Sara Ahola Kohut. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 10.07.2018. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Exploring the Needs of Adolescents With Sickle Cell Disease to Inform a Digital Self-Management and Transitional Care Program: Qualitative Study

Yalinie Kulandaivelu^{1,2}, BSc (Hons); Chitra Lalloo^{1,2}, PhD; Richard Ward³, MSc, MRCP, FRCPath; William T Zempsky⁴, MD, MPH; Melanie Kirby-Allen⁵, MD; Vicky R Breakey^{6,7}, MD, MEd, FRCPC; Isaac Odame^{5,8}, MBChB, MRCP(UK), FRCPath, FRCPCH, FRCPC; Fiona Campbell^{9,10}, BSc, MD, FRCA(UK); Khush Amaria¹¹, PhD, CPsych; Ewurabena A Simpson^{12,13}, MDCM, MPH, FRCPC; Cynthia Nguyen¹, BSc (Hons), CCRP, MPH; Tessy George¹, BSc (Hons), BScN; Jennifer N Stinson¹, RN-EC, PhD, CPNP, FAAN

⁵Departments of Haematology/Oncology, The Hospital for Sick Children, Toronto, ON, Canada

- ⁷Department of Pediatrics, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada
- ⁸Department of Paediatrics, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada
- ⁹Department of Anesthesia and Pain Medicine, The Hospital for Sick Children, Toronto, ON, Canada
- ¹⁰Department of Anesthesia, Faculty of Medicine, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada
- ¹¹Department of Psychology, The Hospital for Sick Children, Toronto, ON, Canada
- ¹²Division of Hematology/Oncology, Children's Hospital of Eastern Ontario, Ottawa, ON, Canada
- ¹³Faculty of Medicine, University of Ottawa, Ottawa, ON, Canada

Corresponding Author:

Yalinie Kulandaivelu, BSc (Hons) Department of Child Health Evaluative Sciences The Hospital for Sick Children 686 Bay Street Toronto, ON, M5G1X8 Canada Phone: 1 416 813 7654 ext 327105 Email: yalinie.kulandaivelu@sickkids.ca

Abstract

Background: Accessible self-management interventions are critical for adolescents with sickle cell disease to better cope with their disease, improve health outcomes and health-related quality of life, and promote successful transition to adult health care services. However, very few comprehensive self-management and transitional care programs have been developed and tested in this population. Internet and mobile phone technologies can improve accessibility and acceptability of interventions to promote disease self-management in adolescents with sickle cell disease.

Objective: The aim of this study was to qualitatively explore the following from the perspectives of adolescents, parents, and their health care providers: (1) the impact of sickle cell disease on adolescents to identify challenges to their self-management and transitional care and (2) determine the essential components of a digital self-management and transitional care program as the first phase to inform its development.

Methods: A qualitative descriptive design utilizing audio-recorded, semistructured interviews was used. Adolescents (n=19, aged 12-19 years) and parents (n=2) participated in individual interviews, and health care providers (n=17) participated in focus group discussions and were recruited from an urban tertiary care pediatric hospital. Audio-recorded data were transcribed verbatim and organized into categories inductively, reflecting emerging themes using simple content analysis.

¹Department of Child Health Evaluative Sciences, The Hospital for Sick Children, Toronto, ON, Canada

²Institute of Health Policy, Management & Evaluation, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

³Division of Haematology, University Health Network, Toronto, ON, Canada

⁴Division of Pain and Palliative Medicine, Connecticut Children's Medical Center, University of Connecticut School of Medicine, Hartford, CT, United States

⁶Department of Pediatrics, McMaster Children's Hospital, Hamilton, ON, Canada

Results: Data were categorized into 4 major themes: (1) impact of sickle cell disease, (2) experiences and challenges of self-management, (3) recommendations for self-management and transitional care, and (4) perceptions about a digital self-management program. Themes included subcategories and the perspectives of adolescents, parents, and health care providers. Adolescents discussed more issues related to self-management, whereas health care providers and parents discussed issues related to transition to adult health services.

Conclusions: Adolescents, parents, and health care providers described the continued challenges youth with sickle cell disease face in terms of psychosocial impacts and stigmatization. Participants perceived a benefit to alleviating some of these challenges through a digital self-management tool. They recommended that an effective digital self-management program should provide appropriate sickle cell disease–related education; guidance on developing self-advocacy and communication skills; empower adolescents with information for planning for their future; provide options for social support; and be designed to be engaging for both adolescents and parents to use. A digital platform to deliver these elements is an accessible and acceptable way to address the self-management and transitional care needs of adolescents.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2018;1(2):e11058) doi:10.2196/11058

KEYWORDS

sickle cell; adolescent; cell phone; self-management; internet; qualitative research; needs assessment; transitional care

Introduction

Sickle cell disease (SCD) is an inherited red blood cell disorder that predominantly affects individuals of African descent. Increased prevalence is also seen in Mediterranean, Caribbean, South and Central American, Arab, and East Indian populations [1]. SCD is caused by a genetic mutation that results in abnormal hemoglobin, which makes blood cells rigid and sickled in shape. These abnormal red cells can disrupt the flow of blood in small vessels, resulting in hypoxia-reperfusion injury throughout the body and its organs, causing episodes of painful vaso-occlusive crises and organ damage. Cerebral infarcts resulting in neurological and neurocognitive deficits are the most feared complications [2]. Negative consequences from recurrent pain in SCD include academic underachievement related to school absenteeism, limited physical activity, symptoms of depression and anxiety, and disruption of interpersonal relations [3,4].

Despite the suffering and burden associated with SCD, minimal research has focused on promoting disease self-management among adolescents with SCD, such as teaching skills to help teens to cope with symptoms and manage their chronic illness. Many youth with SCD leave pediatric care without adequate transition preparation and subsequently do not successfully transfer to adult health care services [5,6], which may put them at risk for higher morbidity and earlier mortality during early adulthood years [5-7]. Therefore, improving health-related quality of life and ensuring successful transition to adult health care through better disease self-management is critical [5,6,8,9].

Self-management interventions such as information-based material and cognitive behavioral therapies (CBTs) for SCD have shown promise in symptom reduction and improved health-related quality of life [8,10,11]. However, the vast majority of adolescents with chronic health conditions do not receive comprehensive self-management (eg, CBT) education due to lack of access to these therapies. This limited accessibility is a function of the direct and indirect costs associated with therapy as well as limited availability of trained professionals, particularly in nonurban areas [8]. There is a clear need to develop accessible and acceptable ways to deliver

self-management and transitional care therapies to adolescents with SCD and their families.

Information and communication technologies offer an accessible platform for the delivery of health interventions for patients and families [12-16]. Access to Web-based health interventions eliminates geographic constraints, allows for anonymity, and provides 24-hour access to disease-related information and self-management strategies that may help patients feel more in control of managing their health problems and minimize feelings of isolation [12,13]. Digital interventions are treatments based on effective face-to-face interventions (eg, CBT) that are transformed for delivery via the internet with the goal of improved health outcomes. Previous efforts in developing interventions for adolescents with SCD have focused on medication adherence, symptom tracking, and CBT for pain management [17-20]. However, many of these programs are characterized by limited involvement of adolescents and their families in their development.

To date, no digital, comprehensive self-management and transitional care program has been developed and evaluated in terms of improved health outcomes (symptom reduction and improved transition readiness and health-related quality of life) for adolescents with SCD. Thus, the aims of this study were to qualitatively examine the following from the perspectives of adolescents, parents, and their health care providers (HCPs): (1) examine the impact of SCD on adolescents to identify challenges to their self-management and transitional care and (2) determine the key components of a digital program for SCD self-management and transitional care for adolescents.

Methods

Patient and Parent Selection

Adolescents, parents, and HCPs were purposively recruited from 1 large metropolitan tertiary care pediatric center in Toronto, Canada. Adolescents were eligible to participate if they were (1) 12 to 19 years old, (2) diagnosed with SCD, and (3) able to speak and read English and at least one of their parents was able to speak and read English. Adolescents were excluded if they had (1) severe cognitive impairments or (2)

major medical or psychiatric concurrent illnesses, which precluded assessment of their self-management and transitional care needs. Parents were eligible to participate if they were able to speak and read English.

Health Care Provider Selection

HCPs were eligible to participate if they (1) had worked in pediatric hematology, general pediatrics, and emergency medicine for at least 1 year at the time of the study and provided care to adolescents with SCD and (2) could speak and read English.

Study Design

A descriptive qualitative design with semistructured, audiotaped individual interviews with adolescents with SCD and parents, and focus group interviews with HCPs, were undertaken to examine the impact of SCD on adolescents; to determine self-management and transitional care needs of adolescents with SCD; and to inform the development of a Web-enabled self-management and transitional care intervention [21,24]. Individual interviews were utilized to gain an appreciation of the perspectives of the individual adolescents and their parents, uninfluenced by the views of others. Focus group interviews were conducted with HCPs to capitalize on communication and shared interaction to generate data and gain insight into specific issues in more depth [22].

Procedures

The local institutional research ethics board approved the study. The research assistant obtained consent, arranged an individual interview with each of the parent and adolescent participants, and asked them to complete questionnaires on demographics and on internet use. The research assistant completed a health information questionnaire to gather additional demographic and medical information from the adolescent's chart. The research assistant conducted the individual interviews with adolescents and parents. Interview questions were based on a literature review, followed by pilot testing with 2 to 3 adolescents with SCD and their parents, and modified based on their feedback (see Textbox 1 for semistructured interview guide). Interviews began with a broad introductory question, followed by questions and probes to allow participants to elaborate on their experiences. Refreshments and a small honorarium were provided to compensate for participant time.

HCP participants were recruited using posters describing the study and information sessions at the pediatric center. After obtaining consent from HCPs, a mutually convenient time was set up for the focus group interviews once 5 to 7 participants were enrolled. HCPs were also asked to complete a questionnaire on demographics. Trained members of the research team moderated the focus group discussions among the HCPs. During and immediately after the focus group discussions took place, the interviewer detailed field notes on their impressions of participant responses and the interviewing process. All individual and focus group interviews were audio-recorded and transcribed verbatim.

Data Analysis

All data from individual and focus group interviews and field notes were analyzed inductively using simple content analysis [23]. Transcribed data were managed using NVivo computer software program (QSR International). Demographic data were analyzed using descriptive statistics in Microsoft Excel and used to summarize the characteristics of the study participants. All data were read several times by 3 investigators (JNS, CN, and YK) to obtain an overall understanding, identify data codes, and ensure that all comments were carefully considered and included.

Textbox 1. Broad questions in semistructured interview guide.

- 1. Can you tell me what it has been like for you/your son or daughter/adolescents to live with sickle cell disease (SCD)?
- 2. What do you think is important to know and do so that you/your son or daughter/adolescents can learn or manage (or take care of) your/their SCD?
- 3. What do you/your son or daughter/adolescents need to know about your/their SCD?
- 4. What do you/your son or daughter/adolescents need to know about in terms of how to manage or treat your/their SCD?
- 5. What do you/your son or daughter/adolescents need to know about drugs and other treatments and how they affect you/them?
- 6. Can you tell me what it is like for you/your son or daughter/adolescents when you/they come to the emergency department for a sickle cell crisis?
- 7. Can you tell me about how SCD affects the other aspects of your/your son or daughter/adolescents' life?
- 8. What is it like (for your son or daughter/adolescents) to talk about your/their SCD to your/their doctors and nurses? Family? Friends? Teachers?
- 9. When you/your son or daughter/adolescents turn 18, you/they will be transferred from a pediatric hospital to an adult hospital. Have you thought about this? What do you think it will be like (for them)?
- 10. How do you think SCD will affect you/your son or daughter/adolescents' in the future?
- 11. How have you/your son or daughter/adolescents learned about your/their SCD and how to manage and treat it?
- 12. If you/your son or daughter/adolescents had to tell someone else about what it's like to have SCD and how to deal with it what would you/they tell them?
- 13. What do you think it would be like (for your son or daughter/adolescents) to learn more about your/their SCD from a web site made just for teens and young adults with SCD and their families?
- 14. Is there anything else you would like to tell us about what you think is important to know and do so that you/your son or daughter/adolescents can learn to take care of your/their SCD better?

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e11058/

As data were entered into the analyses, codes continued to be generated, until there were no new data that could not be categorized under existing codes. Codes were combined into higher-level themes, and the themes were checked against coded extracts and the entire dataset [23,24]. Disagreements were addressed through discussion and consensus of all investigators.

Results

Participant Characteristics

A total of 19 adolescents, 2 parents, and 17 HCPs were recruited from March 2012 to August 2012. Adolescents and parents individually participated in the semistructured interviews, and HCPs participated in focus groups. Participant demographics, medical information, and internet and computer use are summarized in Tables 1 and 2. HCP demographics information is summarized in Table 3. Of the 18 adolescents who responded to the internet and computer use questionnaire, 94% (17/18) had a computer with internet access and were either "comfortable" or "very comfortable" using the internet.

Self-Management and Transitional Care Needs

The perspectives of participants were categorized into 4 major themes: "impact of sickle cell disease," "experiences and challenges of self-management of SCD," "recommendations for self-management and transitional care," and "perceptions of digital self-management program." Subthemes for each of the major themes are summarized below and in Textbox 2; additional quotations illustrating the themes and subthemes can be found in Multimedia Appendix 1.

Impact of Sickle Cell Disease

Uncertainty of Sickle Cell Disease

Adolescents, parents, and HCPs all described the challenges of managing the uncertainty of SCD. Parents and HCPs described the uncertainty of complications such as strokes and downstream consequences associated with them such as cognitive and vision impairments. Adolescents worried about the uncertainty of vaso-occlusive crises and whether any feeling of pain would escalate into a crisis and whether it would affect school or activities with friends. HCPs described the emotional impact this had on adolescents, resulting in frustration and a feeling of loss of control over their lives.

Impact on Developing Peer Relationships

Adolescents reported frequently missing out on activities with friends, such as swimming and playing outside, along with school events due to appointments and crises and described feeling different from their peers. Adolescents reported that this affected their ability to create and maintain friendships, especially when they were younger. Adolescents and parents described experiences of being bullied for seeming different from their peers; however, some adolescents and parents found that as they grew older, it became easier to make friends who were considerate of their condition. Other adolescents preferred not to speak with friends or teachers about their disease and kept it to themselves. Parents and HCPs found that children would also forgo strategies to prevent a crisis around their friends because they wanted to fit in. HCPs discussed the

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e11058/

challenges of managing SCD during adolescence when youth were going through many different transitions in their lives and were trying hard to fit in among their peers.

Academic Impact

Adolescents discussed missing many days of school, especially with crises and appointments, resulting in missed homework, lessons, tests, and projects and catching up with missed schoolwork. Keeping up with missed schoolwork was also a source of stress described by adolescents, parents, and HCPs. Adolescents described how keeping up with missed schoolwork was a source of stress that caused vaso-occlusive crises. All 3 groups noted that teachers needed education on the disease so that they would not be skeptical of adolescents' symptoms or absences.

Sickle Cell Disease Is Stigmatizing

Adolescents described difficulties in explaining their disease to others and dealing with negative responses from others, which was echoed by HCPs. Negative responses from peers were often exacerbated by negative responses and misunderstanding of their condition among teachers. HCPs described the racial stigma of SCD among HCPs in emergency departments. Other HCPs described the disease-related stigma adolescents faced when they sought care, often being labeled as *drug-seekers*. HCPs also described the cultural stigma perceived to exist among some of the ethnic groups who typically inherited SCD.

Experience and Challenges of Self-Management

The Internet Is a Source of Sickle Cell Disease–Related Education

Adolescents learned about SCD from HCPs, parents, and frequently from the internet. However, using the internet to learn more did not always meet their needs in a developmentally appropriate way. Parents used the internet as a resource and informed their children about the disease. They knew which websites were more reputable and accurate than others to get their information.

Managing Emergency Department Visits

Adolescents and parents highlighted a need for further awareness and education among emergency department staff on SCD and its management. HCPs described the challenges adolescents would face in attending emergency departments that were not familiar with them or SCD; this often resulted in delays in pain management. Adolescents and parents found that they waited too long for pain management at certain emergency departments and thus preferred visiting hospitals where emergency departments had implemented an SCD protocol or who had experience managing SCD vaso-occlusive crises.

Self-Management Is a Joint Effort

Adolescents believed managing their disease was primarily their responsibility along with their parents, HCPs, and sometimes friends, and adolescents described it as a joint effort between everyone. They knew as they grew older, self-management was ultimately their own responsibility, but their parents were still involved in reminding them to take their medication, make appointments, bring them to appointments, knowing when to go to the hospital, and to advocate for them when needed.

Adolescents said that they were starting to take their own medication and taking preventative measures against crises. Having supportive friends and family, communicating with friends with SCD, and taking charge of their disease were all strategies in their self-management. Parents said that they were still mostly managing their teen's disease but that they were trying to step back and give adolescents opportunities to take charge of their care.

Lack of System Level Supports

Parents described the financial challenges of managing SCD. They took time off from work for hospital visits and emergency department admissions and felt worried when they had to go to work while their child was still in the hospital. HCPs discussed the lack of dedicated financial and practical supports for SCD in the province. Another challenge to accessing existing supports was the lack of awareness among families, often due to financial and communication barriers due to a largely immigrant population.

Characteristic	Adolescents (N=19) ^a
Age in years, mean (SD)	15 (1.9)
Sex, n (%)	
Female	12 (66)
Male	6 (33)
School grade, n (%)	
Grade 7	1 (12)
Grade 8	6 (33)
Grade 9	2 (11)
Grade 10	1 (12)
Grade 11	5 (27)
Grade 12	2 (11)
Other	1 (12)
Diagnosis ^b , n (%)	
Sickle cell disease hemoglobin SS	14 (77)
Sickle cell disease hemoglobin SC	3 (16)
In the past 6 months, how many times have you, mean (SD)	
Been admitted to the hospital ^c	2 (2.6)
Been to an emergency department	1.05 (1.8)
Current prescribed medications for sickle cell disease management ^d , n (%)	
Acetaminophen	1 (5)
Morphine	3 (16)
Folic acid	5 (27)
Hydroxyurea	5 (27)
Penicillin	1 (5)
Deferasirox	8 (44)
Calcium	1 (5)
Aspirin	4 (22)
Salbutamol	1 (5)
Fluticasone	1 (5)

^aOne participant did not respond to the entire questionnaire.

^bN=2 did not respond; participants could list more than 1 diagnosis.

^cN=1 did not respond.

RenderX

^dN=1 did not respond; participants could list more than 1 medication.

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e11058/

 Table 2. Computer use of adolescents.

Characteristic		Adolescents (N=18) ^a
Do	you use a computer at home?, n (%)	
	Yes	17 (94)
	No	1 (5)
In 1 week, how many hours do you use the computer?, n (%)		
	Not at all	0 (0)
	<1 hour	1 (5)
	1-2 hours	2 (11)
	2-3 hours	0 (0)
	3-4 hours	4 (22)
	4-5 hours	1 (5)
	5-6 hours	3 (16)
	6-7 hours	3 (16)
	>7 hours	4 (22)
Please circle the number that goes with how comfortable you feel using a computer, n (%)		
	Not at all comfortable	0 (0)
	A little comfortable	0 (0)
	Comfortable	9 (50)
	Very comfortable	9 (50)

^aOne participant did not respond to the questionnaire.

Table 3. Demographic characteristics of health care providers.

Characteristic	Health care providers (N=17)
Age in years, mean (SD)	38.6 (7.2)
Sex, n (%)	
Female	14 (82)
Male	3 (17)
Profession, n (%)	
Staff hematologist/oncologist	1 (5)
Fellow	2 (11)
Resident	3 (17)
Staff nurse	4 (23)
Advanced practice nurse	3 (17)
Psychologist	2 (11)
Other	4 (23)
Number of years of health professional experience (including training), mean (SD)	17.6 (8.4)
Number of years of pediatric hematology/oncology experience, mean (SD)	8 (7.9)
Are you a parent?, n (%)	
Yes	6 (35)
No	11 (64)

XSL•FO RenderX

Textbox 2. Summary of themes and subthemes.

Self-management and transitional care needs of adolescents with sickle cell disease (SCD)

- 1. Impact of SCD
 - Uncertainty of SCD
 - Impact on developing peer relationships
 - Academic impact
 - SCD is stigmatizing
- 2. Experiences and challenges of self-management
 - The internet is a source of SCD-related education
 - Managing emergency department visits
 - Self-management is a joint effort
 - Lack of system-level supports
- 3. Recommendations for self-management and transitional care
 - Information to cope with and live with SCD
 - Self-advocacy and communication
 - Social support
 - Information for future planning
 - Transition is not one-size fits all
- 4. Perceptions about digital self-management program
 - Facilitating transition care
 - Accessibility
 - Effectively engaging adolescents and families

Recommendations for Self-Management and Transitional Care

Information to Cope With and Live With Sickle Cell Disease

All groups voiced that understanding information about SCD was at the core of self-management. Adolescents wanted to know how they got the disease, symptoms, diagnosis, treatment options, different types of the disease, genetic components, and strategies for preventing vaso-occlusive crises. Adolescents were interested in knowing more about their limits to physical activity and how they could make the most of being involved in activities without triggering a crisis. They discussed the importance of understanding the steps to take during a crisis and how to manage it in terms of medication and care. Parents and HCPs believed adolescents needed to understand the consequences of nonadherence to medication. HCPs suggested that empowering adolescents with strategies for preventing crises could help them cope with the uncertainty of SCD.

Self-Advocacy and Communication

Adolescents found that explaining SCD to teachers and peers was difficult because they did not know the best way to describe the disease or answer their questions. In addition, HCPs and adolescents cited a need for learning strategies to communicate about their disease to peers, teachers, professors, and future employers as part of their self-management. HCPs believed adolescents should learn to advocate for themselves to ensure they could succeed at school while ensuring the stress and schedule did not lead to a crisis. HCPs and parents emphasized that adolescents should know specific information and terms to use when going to the emergency department to effectively advocate for themselves and expedite their care, especially to HCPs who may be less knowledgeable about SCD.

Social Support

All 3 groups discussed the importance of social support and speaking to other adolescents with SCD. Adolescents found social support from their peers with SCD was beneficial in allowing them to talk about their experience with others who had similar experiences. Parents and adolescents described the benefits of a camp for kids with SCD and having a positive experience in terms of friendships and improvements in confidence. All groups mentioned the need for motivating role models who had SCD and had achieved success in some form. Adolescents and HCPs also believed older adolescents with SCD mentoring younger children would be helpful in terms of both social support and the transition process.

Information for Future Planning

All participants discussed the different impacts of SCD on future planning, and they recommended that challenging topics should be discussed early on so that adolescents could be given strategies to manage these issues. Adolescents mainly discussed the impact of SCD in choosing postsecondary education or training. Adolescents emphasized wanting to balance their ambitions with the realistic expectations of their disease as they

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

grew older. Adolescents as well as HCPs described a need to inform adolescents about the genetics of the disease to ensure they understood the impact it could have on their future relationships and planning for children. HCPs believed this factor was important, especially given the lack of discussion about the disease among families. HCPs and parents believed education regarding risk-taking behaviors such as alcohol, drugs, and sex and its effects on SCD was important for adolescents to learn about. Parents were concerned about the adverse effects drugs could have with their disease and highlighting the importance of that to their children.

Transition Is Not One-Size Fits All

Adolescents' thoughts on the transition to adult health services depended on their disease severity. Some adolescents felt less worried because they rarely had crises. Patients, parents, and HCPs were in agreement that the ideal time for transition would depend on the individual's disease severity and cognitive abilities. Adolescents expressed interest in being taught how to manage their condition on their own such as making their own appointments and going to them alone. All participants emphasized that transition should be a gradual process.

Perceptions About Digital Self-Management Program

Adolescents, parents, and HCPs felt that a digital self-management program could be very useful, and they were unanimous in their suggestions on features for a digital self-management tool. Their recommendations for informational topics and features to include are summarized in Table 4.

Facilitating Transition Care

Adolescents and parents believed a digital self-management tool would be useful for transitioning to adult care as it could be used both independently and with families. Parents discussed the benefit of a website in cultivating independence in the adolescents because it could be a self-directed activity. All groups also described the benefits of a reliable resource that could be privately accessed by teens to learn about sensitive topics, as they may feel less comfortable speaking to HCPs and parents about those topics. HCPs believed such a program could be a medium to share these resources with families in an accessible way and provide educational resources for parents to foster self-management behaviors among their adolescents.

 Table 4. Essential components of a digital sickle cell disease self-management program.

Format	Web-based or mobile app
Educational content to include	
Medication	Dosages; mechanism of action; side effects; consequences of nonadherence; alternative options for treatment; interactions with drugs, alcohol, and other risk-taking behaviors; cost of medication and coverage by insurance; addiction, tolerance, appropriate use; and safe-keeping medications
Information about SCD ^a	What is SCD?; genetics of SCD; what happens during a vaso-occlusive crises crisis?; symptoms and types of SCD (eg, milder types, pica, priapism, enuresis); treatment options; complications of SCD; latest research and developments in SCD; and information on risk-taking behaviors
Preventing crises and pain management	Strategies to prevent vaso-occlusive crises (eg, keeping hydrated, limits to physical exertion, dressing in layers); how to manage stress in school?; what to do when a crisis comes on; how to make the most of being involved in school and activities without triggering a crisis; multimodal <i>3P</i> approach to pain management (psychological, physical, pharmacological); at what point should I come to the hospital if I have a crisis?; and advocating for appropriate treatment at hospitals
Resources	Information about SCD organizations; social and financial supports available for SCD; available SCD-related education to families; and insurance information
Communication	Self-advocacy; keeping up with schoolwork; communicating with peers about SCD; communicating with teachers, professors, and employers about SCD; and communicating with HCP ^b about SCD
Future	Guidance on pursuing successfully postsecondary education and careers; implications for relationships with others with sickle cell trait; and risk-taking behaviors and SCD such as drugs, alcohol, and sex
Desired characteristics and features	
Cultural appropriateness	Addressing misconceptions about SCD; plain language for immigrant populations; and communicating with extended family and community members about SCD
Social support	Forum or chat option to communicate with other youth with SCD; peer mentorship from older adolescents with SCD; and examples of role models
Ask an HCP questions	Forum to ask questions; submit a question to be answered by an HCP; and live chat with an HCP
Interactive and multimedia	Videos of youth explaining their experiences with SCD; visuals and diagrams; and games
Safety and trustworthiness	Username and password-protected use; monitored social features; and evidence-based medical and practical information

^aSCD: sickle cell disease.

RenderX

^bHCP: health care provider.

Accessibility

HCPs and parents both liked the accessibility of a digital self-management program, given the availability of the internet; adolescents and HCPs believed a website or mobile phone app were potential platforms. One parent described the accessibility a digital program could provide, especially for those with limited financial resources and time to attend in-person education sessions.

Effectively Engaging Adolescents and Families

Adolescents, parents, and HCPs all believed the digital self-management program needed to effectively engage youth and their families. Adolescents were less likely to use it if it was less engaging or too difficult to understand. All groups were in strong agreement about the need for a chat room or social support feature for adolescents to connect with peers with SCD to share their experiences and ideas and have emotional support from others going through similar experiences. Parents and adolescents had a concern about the safety of a digital program and ensuring any social features had a way to safeguard that only the intended users were accessing the program and ensuring the privacy of adolescents. Finally, participants described the benefit of a program helping to reduce the stigma associated with the disease by educating the public about the disease and preventing misconceptions about the disease.

Discussion

Principal Findings

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study that examines the recommendations for a digital self-management and transitional care program for adolescents with SCD from the perspectives of adolescents, parents, and HCPs and re-examines the impact of SCD on adolescents. Participants described the psychosocial impacts of SCD and provided recommendations for self-management and transitional care to address these concerns. Adolescents, parents, and HCPs endorsed a digital platform as an effective and accessible way to deliver this information and provided recommendations for tailoring the program to adolescents with SCD. Adolescents focused on self-management experiences, especially those pertaining to school, friendships, and postsecondary education choices, whereas parents and HCPs focused on transitional care issues and sensitive topics.

Adolescents in this study described many of the psychosocial impacts of their disease, which pose challenges in disease self-management and transition to adult health care for this population. These findings support what has previously been described in studies with adolescents and adults with SCD. These include difficulties in developing peer relationships; limitations in physical activity; school and activity absenteeism; feelings of worry and uncertainty; disease-related stigma; and negative responses from peers, teachers, and HCPs [3,4,25-32]. These challenges were described by participants in the context of Ontario, Canada, and highlight the continued perceived challenges this population faces throughout childhood and adolescence. All participants highlighted the need for increased awareness of SCD among HCPs and school teachers, appropriate

support for youth to succeed academically, and support to reduce the burden of the disease on families. Participants discussed the stigmatization of the SCD and several unique issues for the Canadian context. HCPs highlighted the SCD-related stigma among adolescents' ethnic communities. Previous studies with families of children with SCD in African settings found varying levels of stigma toward SCD [33-36]. For families who immigrate to Canada from these nations or have ancestry from these nations, negative beliefs toward SCD may linger. To address these issues, participants in our study highlighted that awareness and communication were critical in addressing these impacts and could be delivered through a digital tool. Moreover, HCPs and parents in our study discussed a perceived lack of financial and practical supports and resources for SCD in Ontario, Canada. These findings appear to be reflected in a study examining the quality of information on SCD on the internet where none of the top 12 websites examined were of Canadian origin [37].

Adolescents, parents, and HCPs focused on empowerment through education and understanding SCD for self-management. The importance that adolescents placed on medical information is consistent with the qualitative study with youth with SCD and thalassemia by Atkin et al, which suggests that information is a resource that could offer a sense of control over adolescents' lives, allowing them to develop preventative strategies and appropriate courses of action in response to crises [26]. This study extends those findings by identifying and articulating the specific topics of SCD information and self-management strategies needed for a digital self-management program.

Developing self-advocacy skills and communication strategies for communicating with peers, teachers, employers, and HCPs were highly emphasized by all groups as important in successful self-management and transition to adult health care. Similar emphasis on these skills has also been described by adults with SCD who shared their experiences in managing SCD in a qualitative study by Tanabe et al. Adults in that study highlighted that they often had to be their own advocates and make things work for themselves even with the limitations of the disease [38]. These recommendations are also in accordance with evidence showing that self-presentation and communication of condition to HCPs reduces stigmatization and allows for better care [28,39].

Adolescents in this study described self-management as a joint effort from everyone in their life; they sought support from friends, their families, and HCPs. They also described a need for social support from role models and peers with SCD. All groups discussed the importance of social support for dealing with negative emotions, feeling understood, and learning self-management strategies. Social support and role models as psychosocial interventions for SCD have been previously investigated as potentially effective interventions for adolescents with SCD [40-43]. These findings were consistent with views expressed by young adults in a qualitative study by Sobota et al examining the transitional care needs of young adults with SCD. Young adults in that study found that hearing about the transition process from someone who had already gone through it was more compelling [44]. Adolescents in this study believed a digital self-management program was an effective way for

XSL•FO

friends, peers, and families to learn about SCD and for them to connect with other youth with SCD.

All participants in this study preferred to learn about challenges and considerations they would face in the future regarding postsecondary education, choosing a career, and risk-taking behaviors (eg, drugs, sex) early on. Parents and HCPs believed information on risk-taking behaviors provided on a digital medium would make it easier for adolescents to access this information. Previous studies among youth with chronic diseases such as chronic pain or juvenile idiopathic arthritis identified similar information needs among adolescents and young adults [45,46]. This finding is also consistent with previous studies of adolescents' preference for learning about health information on the Web, especially those regarding sensitive topics due to the anonymity offered by the internet [47,48]. All groups of participants in this study recommended a transitional care process beginning early in adolescence and tailored to the spectrum of SCD severity. They emphasized a need for a gradual process that allowed adolescents to take responsibility for specific tasks in their health care. These findings are well aligned with the findings of a systematic review of transition from adolescent to adult care for SCD, which recommended that transition programs be patient centric and flexible, and allow adolescents to explore independence and develop skills for managing SCD [49].

Development of a digital self-management and transitional care program tailored for adolescents with SCD was well endorsed by all participants. Parents, adolescents, and HCPs highlighted the accessibility of a digital program for families. HCPs believed that a potential mobile or Web-based program could be an acceptable format to be used by families and could help to address some of the stigmas among communities regarding the disease. Our findings are similar to those of a survey-based study conducted by Badawy et al regarding the mobile phone app preferences for medication adherence among adolescents with SCD. Our study extends the findings of Badawy et al by clearly describing in detail the important education topics to cover and the format in which youth preferred to receive social support in a comprehensive digital self-management program and the benefits they perceived [50]. Our study exemplifies the first step in effectively engaging patient and family users of digital interventions for chronic conditions by conducting a thorough investigation of their needs to understand their intended use and goal for these populations [51]. A systematic review of adolescents' use of mobile phone and tablet apps for management of chronic conditions identified 3 of 4 studies that involved patient input in the development of the app [52]. However, only 1 of the 3 studies conducted an in-depth qualitative examination of the requirements articulated by patients and involved parents in the development process [52,53]. An earlier systematic review of the effectiveness of internet self-management interventions on health outcomes in adolescents with chronic conditions had similar findings, where

interventions demonstrated limited involvement of parents [54]. Majeed-Ariss et al suggested that future interventions take into account social and family processes in their delivery and harness opportunities to promote shared self-management skills and knowledge [52].

Limitations

The limitations of this study included the sample of participants who were recruited from a single tertiary care pediatric center and therefore limits generalizability of the findings. Individuals willing to participate in the interviews may be more motivated to manage their condition or have a more serious disease; this may limit the transferability of the results. This study was initially conducted in 2012; thus, perceptions and ideas about a potential digital self-management program may differ from the current time (eg, changes in delivery platform preferences). However, the focus of this study was on experiences and challenges related to adolescents managing SCD and the way in which a hypothetical digital program could assist in this self-management. Thus, any potential digital self-management program for adolescents with SCD should adhere to contemporary norms in the platform and interface design while being informed by the core components described by participants in this study. Furthermore, adolescent and parent participants were not offered an interviewer of the same sex or race as them, which may have prevented them from discussing more sensitive topics or speaking frankly with the interviewer. Atkin et al found that the sex of the interviewer may have been particularly important for adolescents while their previous work with parents of children with hemoglobinopathies found that race and sex were important characteristics of interviewers [26,55]. Finally, due to availability and timeline of the study, only a small sample of parents was included, with no male caregivers included, limiting the transferability of parents' perspectives to other parents or caregivers.

In conclusion, participants in this study described the continued challenges youth with SCD face in Ontario, Canada, and provided recommendations for addressing these. Participants found value in developing a digital self-management program to address some of these challenges. Their perspectives on challenges and recommendations for self-management and transitional care will ensure the development of an acceptable and relevant digital program that meets the current needs of adolescents. Adolescents with SCD recommend the creation of a digital self-management program that provides in-depth SCD-related education in an accessible manner; fosters self-advocacy and communications strategies to be used in school, the workplace, and in health care settings; allows for social support; and provides an avenue to address challenging topics. This is the first study to identify the essential components of a digital self-management and transitional care program for this population and identify these requirements in relation to the psychosocial challenges that they face.



Acknowledgments

The authors would like to extend heartfelt thanks to the 19 adolescents, 2 parents, and 17 HCPs for dedicating their time and sharing their perspectives on the self-management and transitional care needs of adolescents with SCD.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Themes and subthemes with exemplar quotations from participants. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 54KB - pediatrics v1i2e11058 app1.pdf]

References

- 1. Hassell KL. Population estimates of sickle cell disease in the U.S. Am J Prev Med 2010 Apr;38(4 Suppl):S512-S521. [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2009.12.022] [Medline: 20331952]
- 2. Costa FF, Conran N. Sickle Cell Anemia: From Basic Science to Clinical Practice. New York City, US: Springer; 2018.
- Shapiro BS, Dinges DF, Orne EC, Bauer N, Reilly LB, Whitehouse WG, et al. Home management of sickle cell-related pain in children and adolescents: natural history and impact on school attendance. Pain 1995 Apr;61(1):139-144. [Medline: 7644237]
- 4. Gil KM, Carson JW, Porter LS, Ready J, Valrie C, Redding-Lallinger R, et al. Daily stress and mood and their association with pain, health-care use, and school activity in adolescents with sickle cell disease. J Pediatr Psychol 2003;28(5):363-373. [Medline: <u>12808013</u>]
- 5. McPherson M, Thaniel L, Minniti CP. Transition of patients with sickle cell disease from pediatric to adult care: assessing patient readiness. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2009 Jul;52(7):838-841. [doi: 10.1002/pbc.21974] [Medline: 19229973]
- 6. Telfair J, Myers J, Drezner S. Transfer as a component of the transition of adolescents with sickle cell disease to adult care: adolescent, adult, and parent perspectives. J Adolesc Health 1994 Nov;15(7):558-565. [Medline: 7857954]
- 7. Quinn CT, Rogers ZR, McCavit TL, Buchanan GR. Improved survival of children and adolescents with sickle cell disease. Blood 2010 Apr 29;115(17):3447-3452 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-07-233700] [Medline: 20194891]
- Barlow JH, Ellard DR. Psycho-educational interventions for children with chronic disease, parents and siblings: an overview of the research evidence base. Child Care Health Dev 2004 Nov;30(6):637-645. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1365-2214.2004.00474.x</u>] [Medline: <u>15527474</u>]
- 9. Rosen DS, Blum RW, Britto M, Sawyer SM, Siegel DM, Society for Adolescent Medicine. Transition to adult health care for adolescents and young adults with chronic conditions: position paper of the Society for Adolescent Medicine. J Adolesc Health 2003 Oct;33(4):309-311. [Medline: 14519573]
- 10. Chen E, Cole SW, Kato PM. A review of empirically supported psychosocial interventions for pain and adherence outcomes in sickle cell disease. J Pediatr Psychol 2004;29(3):197-209. [Medline: <u>15131137</u>]
- 11. Gil KM, Anthony KK, Carson JW, Redding-Lallinger R, Daeschner CW, Ware RE. Daily coping practice predicts treatment effects in children with sickle cell disease. J Pediatr Psychol 2001;26(3):163-173. [Medline: <u>11259518</u>]
- 12. Ritterband LM, Gonder-Frederick LA, Cox DJ, Clifton AD, West RW, Borowitz SM. Internet interventions: in review, in use, and into the future. Prof Psychol Res Pr 2003;34(5):527-534. [doi: 10.1037/0735-7028.34.5.527]
- 13. Gray NJ, Klein JD, Noyce PR, Sesselberg TS, Cantrill JA. Health information-seeking behaviour in adolescence: the place of the internet. Soc Sci Med 2005 Apr;60(7):1467-1478. [doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2004.08.010] [Medline: 15652680]
- 14. Badawy SM, Barrera L, Sinno MG, Kaviany S, O'Dwyer LC, Kuhns LM. Text messaging and mobile phone apps as interventions to improve adherence in adolescents with chronic health conditions: a systematic review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2017 May 15;5(5):e66 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.7798] [Medline: 28506955]
- Badawy SM, Kuhns LM. Texting and mobile phone app interventions for improving adherence to preventive behavior in adolescents: a systematic review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2017 Apr 19;5(4):e50 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.6837] [Medline: 28428157]
- Badawy SM, Cronin RM, Hankins J, Crosby L, DeBaun M, Thompson AA, et al. Patient-centered eHealth interventions for children, adolescents, and adults with sickle cell disease: systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2018 Jul 19;20(7):e10940 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10940] [Medline: 30026178]
- Crosby LE, Ware RE, Goldstein A, Walton A, Joffe NE, Vogel C, et al. Development and evaluation of iManage: a self-management app co-designed by adolescents with sickle cell disease. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2017 Dec;64(1):139-145. [doi: 10.1002/pbc.26177] [Medline: 27574031]
- Jonassaint CR, Shah N, Jonassaint J, De Castro L. Usability and feasibility of an mHealth intervention for monitoring and managing pain symptoms in sickle cell disease: the Sickle Cell Disease Mobile Application to Record Symptoms via Technology (SMART). Hemoglobin 2015;39(3):162-168. [doi: 10.3109/03630269.2015.1025141] [Medline: 25831427]

- 19. Palermo TM, Dudeney J, Santanelli JP, Carletti A, Zempsky WT. Feasibility and acceptability of internet-delivered cognitive behavioral therapy for chronic pain in adolescents with sickle cell disease and their parents. J Pediatr Hematol Oncol 2018 Mar;40(2):122-127. [doi: 10.1097/MPH.00000000001018] [Medline: 29176462]
- 20. Schatz J, Schlenz AM, McClellan CB, Puffer ES, Hardy S, Pfeiffer M, et al. Changes in coping, pain, and activity after cognitive-behavioral training: a randomized clinical trial for pediatric sickle cell disease using smartphones. Clin J Pain 2015 Jun;31(6):536-547 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/AJP.00000000000183] [Medline: 25503599]
- 21. Creswell JW. Qualitative Inquiry and Research Design : Choosing among Five Traditions. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc; 1997.
- 22. Morgan DL. Focus Groups As Qualitative Research. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications; 1997.
- 23. Elo S, Kyngäs H. The qualitative content analysis process. J Adv Nurs 2008 Apr;62(1):107-115. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2648.2007.04569.x] [Medline: 18352969]
- 24. Sandelowski M. Whatever happened to qualitative description? Res Nurs Health 2000 Aug;23(4):334-340. [Medline: 10940958]
- Crosby LE, Joffe NE, Irwin MK, Strong H, Peugh J, Shook L, et al. School performance and disease interference in adolescents with sickle cell disease. Phys Disabil 2015;34(1):14-30 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.14434/pders.v34i1.13918] [Medline: 27547816]
- Atkin K, Ahmad WI. Living a 'normal' life: young people coping with thalassaemia major or sickle cell disorder. Soc Sci Med 2001 Sep;53(5):615-626. [Medline: <u>11478541</u>]
- 27. Thomas VJ, Taylor LM. The psychosocial experience of people with sickle cell disease and its impact on quality of life: qualitative findings from focus groups. Br J Health Psychol 2002 Sep;7(Part 3):345-363. [doi: 10.1348/135910702760213724] [Medline: 12614505]
- Haywood Jr C, Lanzkron S, Ratanawongsa N, Bediako SM, Lattimer L, Powe NR, et al. The association of provider communication with trust among adults with sickle cell disease. J Gen Intern Med 2010 Jun;25(6):543-548 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-009-1247-7] [Medline: 20195785]
- 29. Lattimer L, Haywood Jr C, Lanzkron S, Ratanawongsa N, Bediako SM, Beach MC. Problematic hospital experiences among adult patients with sickle cell disease. J Health Care Poor Underserved 2010 Nov;21(4):1114-1123 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1353/hpu.2010.0940] [Medline: 21099065]
- 30. Weisberg D, Balf-Soran G, Becker W, Brown SE, Sledge W. "I'm talking about pain": sickle cell disease patients with extremely high hospital use. J Hosp Med 2013 Jan;8(1):42-46. [doi: 10.1002/jhm.1987] [Medline: 23169484]
- Bediako SM, Moffitt KR. Race and social attitudes about sickle cell disease. Ethn Health 2011;16(4-5):423-429. [doi: 10.1080/13557858.2011.552712] [Medline: 21797727]
- Wakefield EO, Popp JM, Dale LP, Santanelli JP, Pantaleao A, Zempsky WT. Perceived racial bias and health-related stigma among youth with sickle cell disease. J Dev Behav Pediatr 2017;38(2):129-134. [doi: <u>10.1097/DBP.000000000000381</u>] [Medline: <u>28059954</u>]
- Marsh VM, Kamuya DM, Molyneux SS. 'All her children are born that way': gendered experiences of stigma in families affected by sickle cell disorder in rural Kenya. Ethn Health 2011;16(4-5):343-359 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/13557858.2010.541903] [Medline: 21797722]
- 34. Ohaeri JU, Shokunbi WA. Attitudes and beliefs of relatives of patients with sickle cell disease. East Afr Med J 2001 Apr;78(4):174-179. [Medline: <u>12002066</u>]
- 35. Anie KA, Egunjobi FE, Akinyanju OO. Psychosocial impact of sickle cell disorder: perspectives from a Nigerian setting. Global Health 2010 Feb 20;6:2 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1744-8603-6-2] [Medline: 20170540]
- Nzewi E. Malevolent ogbanje: recurrent reincarnation or sickle cell disease? Soc Sci Med 2001 May;52(9):1403-1416. [Medline: <u>11286364</u>]
- Breakey VR, Harris L, Davis O, Agarwal A, Ouellette C, Akinnawo E, et al. The quality of information about sickle cell disease on the internet for youth. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2017 Apr;64(4). [doi: <u>10.1002/pbc.26309</u>] [Medline: <u>27786409</u>]
- 38. Tanabe P, Porter J, Creary M, Kirkwood E, Miller S, Ahmed-Williams E, et al. A qualitative analysis of best self-management practices: sickle cell disease. J Natl Med Assoc 2010 Nov;102(11):1033-1041. [Medline: 21141291]
- 39. Malat JR, van Ryan M, Purcell D. Race, socioeconomic status, and the perceived importance of positive self-presentation in health care. Soc Sci Med 2006 May;62(10):2479-2488. [doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2005.11.014] [Medline: 16368178]
- 40. Kaslow NJ, Collins MH, Rashid FL, Baskin ML, Griffith JR, Hollins L, et al. The efficacy of a pilot family psychoeducational intervention for pediatric sickle cell disease (SCD). Fam Syst Health 2000 Nov 24;18(4):381-404. [doi: 10.1037/h0091863]
- 41. Fox P, Ingram D. Theory and practice of self-induced pain management: approaches learned from effective copers. J Black Psychol 1999;25(3):427-452. [doi: 10.1177/0095798499025003009]
- 42. Nash KB, Kramer KD. Self-Help for sickle cell disease in African American communities. J Appl Behav Sci 1993;29(2):202-215 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0021886393292005]
- 43. Powers SW, Mitchell MJ, Graumlich SE, Byars KC, Kalinyak KA. Longitudinal assessment of pain, coping, and daily functioning in children with sickle cell disease receiving pain management skills training. J Clin Psychol Med Settings 2002 Jun;9(2):109-119 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1023/A:1014940009788]

- Sobota AE, Umeh E, Mack JW. Young adult perspectives on a successful transition from pediatric to adult care in sickle cell disease. J Hematol Res 2015 Dec;2(1):17-24 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.12974/2312-5411.2015.02.01.3] [Medline: 27175364]
- 45. Stinson JN, Toomey PC, Stevens BJ, Kagan S, Duffy CM, Huber A, et al. Asking the experts: exploring the self-management needs of adolescents with arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 2008 Jan 15;59(1):65-72 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/art.23244] [Medline: 18163408]
- 46. Stinson J, White M, Isaac L, Campbell F, Brown S, Ruskin D, et al. Understanding the information and service needs of young adults with chronic pain: perspectives of young adults and their providers. Clin J Pain 2013 Jul;29(7):600-612. [doi: 10.1097/AJP.0b013e31826dce65] [Medline: 23328333]
- 47. Wong CA, Merchant RM, Moreno MA. Using social media to engage adolescents and young adults with their health. Healthc (Amst) 2014 Dec;2(4):220-224 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.hjdsi.2014.10.005] [Medline: 25984444]
- 48. Selkie EM, Benson M, Moreno M. Adolescents' views regarding uses of social networking websites and text messaging for adolescent sexual health education. Am J Health Educ 2011 Jul;42(4):205-212 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 22229150]
- Jordan L, Swerdlow P, Coates TD. Systematic review of transition from adolescent to adult care in patients with sickle cell disease. J Pediatr Hematol Oncol 2013 Apr;35(3):165-169. [doi: <u>10.1097/MPH.0b013e3182847483</u>] [Medline: <u>23511487</u>]
- Badawy SM, Thompson AA, Liem RI. Technology access and smartphone app preferences for medication adherence in adolescents and young adults with sickle cell disease. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2016 May;63(5):848-852. [doi: 10.1002/pbc.25905] [Medline: 26844685]
- 51. McCurdie T, Taneva S, Casselman M, Yeung M, McDaniel C, Ho W, et al. mHealth consumer apps: the case for user-centered design. Biomed Instrum Technol 2012;Suppl:49-56. [doi: <u>10.2345/0899-8205-46.s2.49</u>] [Medline: <u>23039777</u>]
- 52. Majeed-Ariss R, Baildam E, Campbell M, Chieng A, Fallon D, Hall A, et al. Apps and adolescents: a systematic review of adolescents' use of mobile phone and tablet apps that support personal management of their chronic or long-term physical conditions. J Med Internet Res 2015 Dec 23;17(12):e287 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5043] [Medline: 26701961]
- Cafazzo JA, Casselman M, Hamming N, Katzman DK, Palmert MR. Design of an mHealth app for the self-management of adolescent type 1 diabetes: a pilot study. J Med Internet Res 2012 May 08;14(3):e70 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2058] [Medline: 22564332]
- 54. Stinson J, Wilson R, Gill N, Yamada J, Holt J. A systematic review of internet-based self-management interventions for youth with health conditions. J Pediatr Psychol 2009 Jun;34(5):495-510. [doi: 10.1093/jpepsy/jsn115] [Medline: 19029142]
- 55. Atkin K, Ahmad WI, Anionwu EN. Screening and counselling for sickle cell disorders and thalassaemia: the experience of parents and health professionals. Soc Sci Med 1998 Dec;47(11):1639-1651. [Medline: <u>9877334</u>]

Abbreviations

CBT: cognitive behavioral therapy **HCP:** health care provider **SCD:** sickle cell disease

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 16.05.18; peer-reviewed by A Sobota, S Badawy, A Rankine-Mullings; comments to author 28.06.18; revised version received 16.07.18; accepted 21.08.18; published 25.09.18.

Please cite as:

Kulandaivelu Y, Lalloo C, Ward R, Zempsky WT, Kirby-Allen M, Breakey VR, Odame I, Campbell F, Amaria K, Simpson EA, Nguyen C, George T, Stinson JN

Exploring the Needs of Adolescents With Sickle Cell Disease to Inform a Digital Self-Management and Transitional Care Program: Qualitative Study

JMIR Pediatr Parent 2018;1(2):e11058 URL: <u>http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e11058/</u> doi:<u>10.2196/11058</u> PMID:<u>31518307</u>

©Yalinie Kulandaivelu, Chitra Lalloo, Richard Ward, William T Zempsky, Melanie Kirby-Allen, Vicky R Breakey, Isaac Odame, Fiona Campbell, Khush Amaria, Ewurabena A Simpson, Cynthia Nguyen, Tessy George, Jennifer N Stinson. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 25.09.2018. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Review

Electronic Mentoring Programs and Interventions for Children and Youth With Disabilities: Systematic Review

Sally Lindsay^{1,2}, BA, MA, PhD; Kendall Kolne¹, BSc, MSc; Elaine Cagliostro¹, BA, MA

¹Bloorview Research Institute, Holland Bloorview Kids Rehabilitation Hospital, Toronto, ON, Canada ²Department of Occupational Science and Occupational Therapy, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

Corresponding Author: Sally Lindsay, BA, MA, PhD Bloorview Research Institute Holland Bloorview Kids Rehabilitation Hospital 150 Kilgour Road Toronto, ON, M4G 1R8 Canada Phone: 1 416 425 6220 ext 3654 Fax: 1 416 425 1634 Email: <u>slindsay@hollandbloorview.ca</u>

Abstract

Background: Children and youth with disabilities experience many challenges in their development, including higher risk of poor self-esteem, fewer friendships, and social isolation. Electronic mentoring is a potentially viable approach for youth with disabilities to access social and peer support within a format that reduces physical barriers to accessing mentors.

Objective: Our objective was to synthesize and review the literature on the impact of electronic mentoring for children and youth with disabilities.

Methods: We conducted a systematic review, completing comprehensive searches of 7 databases from 1993 to May 2018. We selected articles for inclusion that were peer-reviewed publications, had a sample of children or youth with disabilities (≤ 25 years of age), and had empirical findings with at least one outcome focusing on the impact of electronic mentoring. Two reviewers independently applied the inclusion criteria, extracted the data, and rated the study quality before discussing the findings.

Results: In the 25 studies meeting our inclusion criteria, 897 participants (aged 12-26, mean 17.4 years) were represented across 6 countries. Although the outcomes varied across the studies, of 11 studies testing significance, 9 (81%) reported a significant improvement in at least one of the following: career decision making, self-determination, self-advocacy, self-confidence, self-management, social skills, attitude toward disability, and coping with daily life. The electronic mentoring interventions varied in their delivery format and involved 1 or more of the following: interactive websites, virtual environment, email, mobile apps, Skype video calls, and phone calls. A total of 13 studies involved one-to-one mentoring, 6 had group-based mentoring, and 6 had a combination of both.

Conclusions: The evidence in this review suggests it is possible that electronic mentoring is effective for children and youth with disabilities. More rigorously designed studies are needed to understand the impact and effective components of electronic mentoring interventions.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2018;1(2):e11679) doi:10.2196/11679

KEYWORDS

youth; disability; eHealth; mentoring; review; peer support; adolescent; child; disabled children; disabled persons; telemedicine

Introduction

Background

RenderX

Approximately 3.7% of Canadian children [1] and 5.6% of American children [2] have a disability and encounter many challenges to their full participation and inclusion in society.

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e11679/

They are frequently socially isolated, physically excluded, and at risk of abuse and poor developmental, social, and vocational outcomes [3,4]. Further, they are often less well equipped with emotional, social, and cognitive resources to achieve positive life outcomes [3,5]. Youth with disabilities are underrepresented in higher education and have a lower likelihood of completing

school than do youth without disabilities [6,7]. These trends are often a result of negative attitudes, discrimination, inaccessible environments, and lack of resources and social supports [8-10]. Focusing on children and youth with disabilities is critical because disadvantages are compounded for those who start life with a disability [11,12]. They are a unique population that often encounters multiple disadvantages, particularly with developmental tasks, social development, and role functioning [13,14].

Mentoring is a promising mechanism that could help to enhance youth's inclusion in society [15-18], while offering support and coping strategies [19]. Mentoring involves a relationship between a more experienced individual, who serves as a role model and shares his or her experiences, and a less experienced individual [17,20,21]. Mentoring can offer informational, practical, and emotional assistance along with coping skills [16,22-24]. Until recently, most mentoring programs have not included or specifically targeted youth with disabilities [16,25]. Having mentors for youth with disabilities is critical for developing their social capital, self-determination, quality of life, and career development goals [16,17,26-29]. Research focusing on face-to-face mentoring for youth with disabilities shows beneficial impacts on transition to postsecondary education and employment [16,26], social competence and self-esteem [30], and independent living skills [11].

While there are benefits to face-to-face mentoring for improving transitions to school or employment for youth with disabilities, there are challenges associated with this type of mentorship, including difficulty in finding and accessing mentors [16]. Electronic mentoring (e-mentoring), defined as a "computer mediated, mutually beneficial relationship between a mentor and a protégé which provides learning, advising, encouraging, promoting and modeling that is often boundaryless, egalitarian and qualitatively different than traditional face-to-face mentoring" [31], can help to overcome some of these challenges. Computer-mediated communication has helped to advance e-mentoring as a promising mode of developing mentoring relationships and changing the conditions under which mentoring is sought and offered [31]. Another potential advantage of e-mentoring is that it offers a viable platform for increasing the availability and accessibility of mentors [32].

Consistent evidence shows that Web-based platforms and mobile apps can influence learning and behavior change [12,33-39]. Given that technology is already an important component of adolescents' social networks, whereby most youth seek information and communicate over the internet and approximately 88% of American teenagers have a mobile phone [40], e-mentoring interventions are a promising approach to helping youth with disabilities. This mode of mentoring has the potential to enhance social support while reducing barriers because of differences in sex, ethnicity, disability, or geographic location [14,41,42]. People with mobility issues or speech, hearing, or vision difficulties can participate when using appropriate adaptive devices [43].

There are barriers associated with traditional, face-to-face mentoring, limiting the full participation of certain groups, including youth with disabilities. The Web-based, electronic

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e11679/
```

XSL•F() RenderX delivery format offered by e-mentoring can help to make mentoring relationships more accessible and available to groups that have had limited access to mentoring [31]. Electronic communication allows for flexibility in matching partners and asynchronous communication [44]. Research shows that e-mentoring has many of the same benefits as face-to-face mentoring, including informational, psychosocial, and instrumental benefits [45]. Among youth without disabilities, Web-based support has been shown to predict a lower incidence of depressive thoughts and can buffer the effects of peer victimization [46].

Challenges associated with the implementation of e-mentoring programs include access to technology, computer literacy, and adequate communication skills [16,31,47]. Further, finding the right mentors, developing a rapport, and keeping participants engaged can be difficult, especially if they have never met face-to-face [44,48]. Miscommunications can also occur because Web-based interactions conceal social cues and inhibit communication [31,49].

Objectives

E-mentoring provides an opportunity to "level the playing-field...for those who otherwise would be left out of important informal networks" [45], including youth with disabilities. Although there has been an increase in e-mentoring research for youth with disabilities, this work has not yet been synthesized. This systematic review of e-mentoring research is an important step in identifying the common components of e-mentoring interventions and developing an understanding of the effectiveness of this approach for youth with disabilities. Our specific objectives were to (1) critically appraise and synthesize the peer-reviewed evidence on e-mentoring for children and youth with disabilities, and (2) highlight gaps in understanding and areas for future research.

Methods

Rationale for a Systematic Review

We conducted a systematic review because a meta-analysis was not feasible given the heterogeneity of the studies reviewed (eg, various disability types, study populations, interventions, and outcome measures). Systematic reviews are the next highest level of evidence aiming to critically appraise the evidence of e-mentoring for children with disabilities and provide an unbiased summary of current practices [50].

Search Strategy and Data Sources

We conducted a comprehensive search of the published peer-reviewed literature using the following databases: MEDLINE, EMBASE, Healthstar, Sociological Abstracts, Education Resources Information Center (ERIC), PsycINFO, and Scopus (see Figure 1). We searched for headings and key terms related to mentoring, electronic and computer-mediated forms of mentoring, disability, and youth (see Multimedia Appendix 1 for full list of terms). We searched for articles published between 1993 and May 2018. We also manually searched the reference lists of all articles meeting our inclusion criteria.

Figure 1. Search process flow diagram. ERIC: Education Resources Information Center; Soc.abstr: Sociological Abstracts.



Article Selection

To select articles for the review, we applied the following inclusion and exclusion criteria. Eligibility criteria were (1) publication in a peer-reviewed journal between 1993 and May 2018, (2) study population focusing on children or youth (aged ≤ 25 years) with a disability (eg, physical, developmental, intellectual, or sensory), and (3) focus on e-mentoring (defined as computer-mediated technology, such as the internet, mobile apps, or Skype). We excluded articles that (1) were not peer reviewed (eg, opinion, editorial, gray literature, or reports) and (2) focused on descriptions of e-mentoring programs that did not have empirical findings.

Our initial search identified 718 articles for potential inclusion in this review (see Figure 1). After removing the duplicates, 2 authors independently reviewed the titles and abstracts for inclusion. A total of 508 abstracts did not meet our inclusion criteria. We read the remaining 56 articles and independently applied the inclusion criteria. Of these, 25 articles met our inclusion criteria. We kept field notes of our inclusion and exclusion decisions and discussed among the team any discrepancies on which articles were to be included.

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e11679/
```

RenderX

Data Abstraction and Synthesis

The first author (SL) extracted and compiled the data from the 25 articles selected for review using a structured abstraction form. She abstracted relevant information on each study (eg, year, country, objectives, disability type, study design, intervention, key findings, quality appraisal score, and limitations; see Multimedia Appendix 2). All 3 authors reviewed all 25 articles and abstracted data for accuracy. We noted the limitations and risk of bias for each study.

We synthesized our findings based on the guidelines for narrative synthesis [51], which is relevant for reviews with diverse methodologies. Our method of synthesis involved a structured examination and summary of all studies included in the review. Our first step organized the studies into categories to help guide the analysis. Next, we explored within-study findings through a narrative description of each study's results while considering the quality and rigor of the design. Our next step involved undertaking a cross-study synthesis while considering variations in study participants and design [51].

Methodological Quality Assessment

Our findings and recommendations for future research are based on the overall strength and quality of the evidence we reviewed. The measure of bias and quality assessments were based on the American Academy of Neurology' guidelines [52] to assess interventions and randomized controlled trials (RCTs), and Kmet and colleagues' [53] standard quality assessment and risk of bias (for all other quantitative and qualitative studies). The American Academy of Neurology guidelines are a widely recognized tool for therapeutic interventions to help inform appropriate recommendations for interventions [52]. All 3 authors independently reviewed each article and assigned a score for each item and an overall score.

All 3 authors independently applied a 14-item checklist for quantitative studies and a 10-item checklist for qualitative studies [53] to help assess the quality of evidence for each study. Multimedia Appendix 3 and Multimedia Appendix 4 show the results of the quality assessments. We did not exclude any studies from our review based on quality. We followed the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses, a method of transparent reporting [54]. We noted any issues concerning study limitations or risk of bias. Any discrepancies in the ratings were resolved through discussion and reexamining the article.

Results

Study and Participant Characteristics

A total of 25 articles met our inclusion criteria for this systematic review (see Figure 1). Of these, 14 studies were conducted in the United States, 6 in Canada, 2 in the Netherlands, 1 in Australia, 1 in Israel, and 1 in South Korea. Reported sample sizes of the mentees ranged from 1 to 189, for a total of 897 mentee participants. Ages of the participants ranged from 12 to 26 years (mean 17.4 years). The types of disabilities these studies focused on were rheumatic disease, juvenile arthritis, cerebral palsy, spina bifida, muscular dystrophy, pediatric transplant, blindness or vision impairments, chronic pain, traumatic brain injury, and various other types (eg, vision, hearing, learning, or developmental disabilities).

Outcome Measures

Several standardized and nonstandardized measures were used to explore the role of e-mentoring for youth with disabilities. Studies that used standardized measures assessed the Dutch arthritis self-efficacy scale, self-management, self-determination, self-advocacy, career decision self-efficacy, mathematics self-advocacy, self-confidence, quality of life, the Miller Hope Scale, sense of community, self-perception profile, pain inventory, daily functioning, and children's inventory of social support. Nonstandardized measures assessed perceived usefulness, use, user acceptance, satisfaction, fidelity, engagement, feasibility, acceptability, medication use, adherence, social support, social behavior and functioning, loneliness, self-reported coping, pain, frequency of communication, employment, and program likes and dislikes.

Methodological Design and Theoretical Frameworks

The methodological designs varied across the studies and included 3 RCTs, 7 surveys, 1 case study, and 1 feasibility study. Of the 25 studies, 12 (48%) had a theoretical framework such as self-efficacy theory, social support theory, electronic socioemotional support theory, conceptual framework for peer mentoring support in health care, self-determination theory, social learning theory, symbolic interaction theory, and theory of change.

Intervention Components

Mode of Delivery

The e-mentoring interventions varied in their delivery format and involved 1 or more of the following: interactive websites [13,55-60], virtual environment [27,61-63], email [19,47,64-71], mobile apps [60,63,72], Skype video calls [60,73-75], and phone calls [68,71]. Overall, studies involving e-mentoring apps reported they were a feasible and helpful tool for facilitating students' understanding [60,72]. Studies including email-based mentorship programs reported improved mentor-mentee communication [64,65,70], particularly with respect to personal, more informal communication [19,47,70]. When compared with face-to-face mentoring, e-mentoring through interactive websites had similar outcomes for self-efficacy, quality of life, and self-management [55] and for dealing with daily life [57], but were reported to be feasible [57,60] and fun [13] while providing a safe environment for socialization [58]. Skype-based mentorship programs were feasible [73], provided flexibility [74], were informational, and provided appraisal and emotional support [75]. Studies described that e-mentoring through virtual environments facilitated improvements in self-determination and self-advocacy [27,62], engagement [61], and persistence [27,62,63].

Mentoring Format

A total of 13 studies involved one-to-one mentoring [27,47,57,60,65-68,71-76], 6 had group-based mentoring [13,55,57-59,61], and 6 had a combination of both one-to-one and group mentoring [56,62-64,69,70]. No clear pattern emerged regarding differential benefits for one-to-one versus group-based mentoring programs.

Types of Mentors

The types of mentors and the training they received varied across the studies. Interestingly, the definition of mentor was used broadly across studies, particularly in what was considered a "more experienced individual." In total, 12 studies involved a mentor who had a similar type of disability to the mentee [13,47,55,57,59,65,66,68,71,73,74,77], whereas 2 studies had mentors who were near-peers without disabilities [60,61]. Meanwhile, 7 had adult mentors without disabilities [27,62-64,67,69,70], including 3 studies that defined clinicians [56,58,76] and a writing coach [72] as mentors. Positive effects of e-mentoring were reported for all types of mentors but, given the heterogeneity of outcomes, it was not possible to compare the effectiveness of types of mentors across studies.

Intervention Dosage

Of the 25 studies, 10 (40%) provided sufficient information to calculate the intervention dosage. The overall duration and dosage of the interventions in our review ranged from 0.31 hours per week to 2 hours per week, occurring over a period of 4 to 24 weeks. Of the 25 studies, 11 (44%) did not provide information on the hourly dosage of the intervention; however, information on the length of exposure was provided. For these studies, exposure ranged from 2 months to 4 years. No clear pattern emerged regarding the length of the intervention, and both shorter and longer interventions reported positive results. For example, Stinson et al [74] reported a relatively short intervention (2.5-5 hours) that was engaging and led to increased self-management ability, while Stewart et al [59] conducted a longer intervention (25-37.5 hours) and reported decreased loneliness, increased acceptance, and greater self-confidence.

Effectiveness of the Interventions

Although the outcomes of the interventions varied across the studies, of 11 studies testing significance, 9 (81%) reported that mentoring helped improve outcomes. For example, the studies in our review found that mentoring significantly improved career decision making (large effect) [68], personal hope for the future [68], positive attitudes about disability (large effect) [68], coping with daily life [57], self-determination [62], self-advocacy [63,69], self-confidence [59], career decision self-efficacy [77], self-management skills [73,74], mathematics self-efficacy [62], social skills [69], social contact [59], loneliness (decrease) [59], social and behavioral functioning [60], and written communication [67]. It is important to note that 1 study found that mentoring made no significant difference in self-efficacy, quality of life, and self-management [55]. Other improvements (not reporting significance tests) included the following: transition toward using augmentative and alternative communication devices [65]; science, technology, and mathematics learning and emotional supports [27]; persistence in science, technology, and mathematics education [63]; understanding of changes needed for school work [72]; informational, appraisal, and emotional support [75]; and understanding of colleges, majors, and admissions [77].

Outcomes by Level of Evidence

Multimedia Appendix 5 provides an overview of the e-mentoring intervention outcomes by level of evidence, classifying the studies according to the American Academy of Neurology guidelines [52]. We classified 3 studies were classified as level 1 (ie, rigorous RCT), 1 of which involved an interactive, group-based self-management website [55] for youth aged 17 to 25 years with rheumatic disease. Mentors were peer leaders who had the same condition. This RCT found no significant differences in self-efficacy, quality of life, or self-management between experimental and control groups [55]. Meanwhile, 2 level 1 studies involved one-to-one Skype calls [73,74]. Ahola Kohut and colleagues' study involved youth aged 12 to 18 years with chronic pain and mentors with a similar condition [73]. They engaged in 10 one-to-one Skype video calls (using iPeer2Peer). Their RCT found that the intervention was feasible and acceptable, with significant improvements in self-management skills and coping [73]. Stinson et al [74] used

10 one-to-one Skype-based video calls (iPeer2Peer) for youth aged 12 to 18 years with juvenile arthritis involving mentors with a similar condition. Their RCT found significant improvements in perceived ability to manage arthritis compared with controls. Participants were satisfied with the intervention and stated that they would recommend it to peers.

Only 1 study in this review was a level 2 (ie, matched cohort study, or RCT in a representative sample lacking 1 criterion in level 1) [52]. This mixed-methods prospective cohort study involved an online mentor with group-based and one-to-one components for youth with various types of physical and developmental disabilities [56]. Their findings showed that the utility of the intervention was modest, and only 20 of 50 (40%) participants engaged in chats with the mentor [56]. It was interesting to note that their mentor was a clinician (ie, occupational therapist) and not a youth.

None of the studies was a level 3 (ie, all other controlled trials). Meanwhile, 21 studies in our review were a level 4 (ie, all other studies), which had a wide range of outcomes (see Multimedia Appendix 5). Of the level 4 studies, 8 used an email mentoring approach [47,64-69,78] among youth with blindness, learning and cognitive disabilities, and various other types of disabilities (vision, hearing, and learning). These studies reported improvements in the transition to using assistive devices [65], career decision self-efficacy [68], attitudes about disability [68], preparation for college and employment [69], and written communication [67].

A total of 5 level 4 studies [13,57-59,66] used an interactive, group-based website in their approach to mentoring youth with cerebral palsy, spina bifida, juvenile arthritis, muscular dystrophy, and other physical, behavioral, and intellectual disabilities. Of these, 3 reported that their intervention was feasible [13,57,66], helped participants to cope with daily life [57], provided a space for socialization [58], and decreased loneliness while increasing acceptance, confidence, and a sense of community [59].

Of the level 4 studies, 4 used a virtual-world approach [27,61-63] and involved youth with various types of disabilities (ie, learning, visual, and physical disabilities, autism, and transplant recipients). These studies reported that their intervention helped to improve engagement and psychoeducational goals [27]; enhanced science, technology, and mathematics learning and emotional supports [62]; and improved persistence in science, technology, and mathematics education and self-advocacy [27,63].

A mobile app was used in 2 level 4 studies for their mentoring approach for youth with cerebral palsy [72] and traumatic brain injury [60]. These interventions were feasible and acceptable to participants [60,72], helped youth to define and achieve goals [60], improved social and behavioral functioning [60], and improved understanding of school work [72].

One level 4 study used Skype video calls of 1 hour a week for 4 weeks for their mentoring intervention and involved youth with various disability types [60]. This intervention was reported to be feasible and acceptable to participants [60,73,74], and helped youth achieve goals.

XSL•FO RenderX

Based on the evidence in this review and using the American Academy of Neurology guidelines [52], we found that e-mentoring interventions are possibly effective or useful for this population. This rating is based on the overall rigor of the studies and the strength of the evidence [52]. Among the reviewed studies, 8 reported on the feasibility and acceptability of the program, whereby participants found that the mentoring format was favorable [13,57,60,64,66,71,73,74]; 1 study found that the utility of their Web-based intervention was modest [56].

Moderating Factors

Sex of Participants

A total of 4 studies noted sex differences in their mentoring program. Specifically, Barnfather et al [13] found that female participants with cerebral palsy or spina bifida were significantly more likely than male participants to contribute to the online discussion. Burgstahler and Doyle [70] reported that male participants sought and provided information about technology and the internet, while female participants communicated more frequently and shared more personal information. Another study found the greatest improvements in a science, technology, and mathematics e-mentoring program among female participants [27]. In Parkyn and Coveney's [58] e-mentoring program among youth with muscular dystrophy, they found that the intervention had a strong collective identity reflecting ideals of masculinity.

Communication and Relationship Development

One study exploring peer-to-peer and mentor-protégé relationships found that, although they performed similar functions, peer-to-peer relationships were more personal [64]. Burgstahler and Cronhiem [64] reported that barriers to an e-mentoring format included difficulty expressing feelings, dealing with lots of messages, and technical difficulties (eg, losing an internet connection or the website not working properly).

Another moderating factor reported by Cantrell et al [61] is the ability of the mentors themselves to develop relationships with participants and keep them engaged. Cohen and Light [65] similarly discovered that the frequency and length of communications between mentors and mentees may have been influenced by the availability of mentors and the quality of the match. Another study found that successful mentoring included an informal and supportive style, whereas unsuccessful mentoring was linked with a formal style [47]. Other moderating factors influencing the utility of the mentoring program included typing speed, cognitive skills, and need for support [13].

The results from qualitative studies highlight the perceptions and feelings of participants toward e-mentoring and the aspects they found successful, and the themes of discussion within mentoring sessions. E-mentoring was found to be a favorable environment [64] and a safe opportunity for socialization [58]. Barriers to successful mentoring included difficulty expressing feelings, lots of messages, technical difficulties, and a more formal communication style with a distant tone [47,64]. Themes in online mentored discussions included illness impact, self-management, non-illness–related goals, hobbies and social environments, bullying, physical appearance, school, and pain management [61,75]. Overall, the qualitative findings suggest that e-mentoring is an effective method for reducing the barriers associated with face-to-face mentoring [19,62,64,65,72] and facilitating the mentor-mentee relationship, particularly through informal communication [47,64].

Quality Assessment and Risk of Bias Within Studies

Two authors (SL, KK) independently rated the quality of each study using American Academy of Neurology guidelines (for levels 1-2) and Kmet and colleagues' [53] standard quality assessment (for all level 4 studies). Total scores for the quantitative studies range from 33% to 96% (mean 69.8%; Multimedia Appendix 3) and 35% to 85% for the qualitative studies (mean 72.2%; Multimedia Appendix 4). It is important to note that the quality assessments measure different items based on the qualitative or quantitative nature of the study. Most discrepancies reflected the extent of the applicability of each of the items. These articles were read and scored again by a third author (EC) and discussed until consensus was reached.

We carefully examined the limitations, quality, and risk of bias within each study. Areas of the quality assessment where quantitative studies scored lower included controlling for confounding and reporting estimates of variance. For most of the quantitative studies, random allocation and blinding of investigators and participants was not possible. For the qualitative studies, areas of the quality assessment scoring lower included the description of the sampling strategy and reflexivity of the account.

Risk of Bias Across Studies

We considered the risk of bias across the studies in our review. First, the studies were done in 6 countries, all which have varying programs and policies related to mentoring. Second, we included various types of disabilities and a wide age span and, therefore, caution should be used in generalizing the findings. Third, many of the studies had different interventions (eg, email, Skype, interactive website) and components (eg, length of program, type of mentor, one-to-one or group based), and it is unclear which components contributed to what outcomes. Fourth, although we consulted a librarian to help design our search strategy, it is possible we may have missed some articles. Fifth, various unstandardized measures were used, which limited our ability to compare across interventions.

Discussion

Principal Findings

This review explored e-mentoring interventions for children and youth with disabilities over a 25-year period. Although the outcomes varied across the studies, of 11 studies testing significance, 9 (81%) reported a significant improvement in at least one of the following: career decision making, selfdetermination, self-advocacy, self-confidence, self-management, social skills, attitude toward disability, and coping with daily life. Exploring this topic is important because youth with disabilities are at a higher risk of social isolation, discrimination, peer victimization, and poorer academic, social, and vocational outcomes than are youth without disabilities [4,8,9]. E-mentoring is a potentially viable approach offering a form of

XSL•FO RenderX

social support while overcoming challenges in accessing mentors in a face-to-face format [14].

Based on our assessment of the overall rigor of these studies and the strength of the evidence, we find that e-mentoring interventions are a possibly effective tool for youth with disabilities. These results are important because research shows that youth with disabilities encounter perpetual barriers and discrimination in participating in everyday activities [8,9]. Helping youth to develop their self-determination and self-advocacy skills is important because it is critical for optimizing an individual's participation and inclusion in society [79-81].

Program Design Implications

Our review highlights that several different types of e-mentoring interventions have the potential to positively influence youth with disabilities. Common components of programs showing improved outcomes included interactive website, Skype calls, virtual world, email, and mobile apps. These findings corroborate studies of programs for youth without disabilities reporting advantages to e-mentoring programs, including a range of delivery formats, such as email, face-to-face meetings, telephone calls, and video conferencing [45]. The benefits of e-mentoring programs for youth without disabilities are similar to those reported here and include informational, psychosocial (eg, improved self-esteem, increased confidence, and greater support for risk taking), and instrumental benefits for creating opportunities for the mentee [45]. These benefits are mirrored in our findings for youth with disabilities, where studies reported increased self-determination, self-advocacy, and self-confidence associated with e-mentoring programs. In our review, additional social benefits of e-mentorship included decreased loneliness, improved social skills, and increased social contact, supporting career decision making and improving positive attitudes toward their disability. The additional advantages of e-mentoring for youth with disabilities further the utility of this format for reducing the barriers associated with face-to-face mentoring and increasing the availability and accessibility of mentoring relationships.

Research Implications

Although the majority of the studies in our review had diverse samples, most did not explore any differences in outcomes based on sociodemographic characteristics of the participants, especially disability type. Many studies included participants with multiple disability types, and in these cases, differences in the effect of the intervention between disability types were not examined. It is possible that e-mentoring interventions provide differential benefits based on the specific needs of a given disability type; however, this was often not explored. Additionally, there was surprisingly little discussion within the studies on access to technology and whether youth needed to use assistive devices or other supports to participate. Addressing the impact of access to technology is crucial in the context of the digital divide, where inequities in access [82] are often explained by socioeconomic gaps in technology [82]. Research suggests that information technology can help provide people with disabilities with a set of tools to enable their participation and personal development [83,84]. It is important to consider

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e11679/

that the cost of adapted technology and assistive technology can be expensive and a potential barrier for people with disabilities accessing the internet, mobile apps, etc [83].

It was interesting that 4 studies explored the role of sex and reported differences in the communication style of youth and their engagement in mentoring programs. These findings have implications for the broader field of research on mentoring, specifically on the relationship between a person's sex and mentoring. Previous work shows that females perceive more barriers to mentorship than males and have more difficulty finding mentoring relationships [85]. However, there is a lack of research comparing the ways in which males and females engage in mentoring relationships and how these interactions influence the effectiveness of mentorship programs.

Future Directions and Implications for Practice

Although our review revealed promising benefits from e-mentoring interventions, more research is needed to explore what types of interventions work best for whom and the optimal delivery formats. Further research is needed to explore whether different delivery formats affect outcomes. Future studies should consider what type of mentor (eg, near-peer with a disability, adult mentor, or youth without a disability) is linked with the optimal outcomes. More rigorous designs are needed to explore formats that were explored only in level 4 studies (eg, email mentoring, group-based interactive websites, virtual world approaches, mobile apps, and Skype video calls). Future research should examine the relationship between socioeconomic and other demographic factors and access to technology in the development of e-mentoring programs for youth with disabilities. Further studies should consider investigating the impact of a person's sex on the ways in which youth with disabilities use e-mentoring programs, comparing potential sex-based difference in effectiveness of interventions, communication, and engagement. Such research is important for increasing the engagement of women in science, technology, and mathematics fields, where both women and individuals with disabilities have long been underrepresented [70]. Finally, more research needs to explore the influence of socioeconomic status on the use of e-mentoring programs and the impact of the digital divide on the accessibility of information communication technology for youth with disabilities participating in e-mentoring programs.

Those designing and implementing e-mentoring programs for youth with disabilities should consider moderating factors such as type of disability, sex, and communication style. Given that many studies demonstrated that various forms of e-mentoring are feasible and acceptable to participants, the next steps should be to consider how to scale up these interventions to larger numbers of participants and various types of disabilities.

Conclusions

The results of this review suggest that e-mentoring is a potentially viable method for improving the accessibility and availability of mentors for children and youth with disabilities. The interventions we reviewed were found to be feasible and useful, and facilitated improved communication in mentor-mentee relationships. The studies reported a range of

benefits that addressed many of the challenges faced by individuals with disabilities throughout development, including reduced social isolation, increased self-confidence and self-efficacy, and improved career readiness and decision making. Further studies with more rigorous design are required to identify and compare the effectiveness of the components of

e-mentoring interventions (eg, type of mentor, group or one-to-one mentoring, and format of delivery), as well as to understand the influence of the mentee's sociodemographic factors (eg, type of disability, sex, and socioeconomic status) on the impact of e-mentoring programs.

Acknowledgments

SL holds a career award from the Ministry of Research, Innovation and Science, Ontario, Canada, with matching funds from the Kimmel Family Fund.

	Conflicts	of	Interest
--	-----------	----	----------

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Search strategy. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 23KB - pediatrics v1i2e11679 app1.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Overview of studies. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 71KB - pediatrics_v1i2e11679_app2.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 3 Scores using the standard assessment criteria for quantitative studies. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 41KB - pediatrics v1i2e11679 app3.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 4 Scores using the standard assessment criteria for qualitative studies. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 38KB - pediatrics v1i2e11679 app4.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 5

Overview of components of e-mentoring interventions by level of evidence. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 29KB - pediatrics_v1i2e11679_app5.pdf]

References

- Statistics Canada. Disability in Canada: A 2006 Profile. Ottawa, ON: Statistics Canada; 2006. URL: <u>http://publications.gc.ca/site/archivee-archived.html?url=http://publications.gc.ca/collections/collection_2011/rhdcc-hrsdc/HS64-11-2010-eng.pdf</u> [accessed 2018-09-07] [WebCite Cache ID 72GFPCIEr]
- 2. Yang L, Hock T. Disability statistics. Ithaca, NY: Cornell University; 2016. URL: <u>http://www.yti.cornell.edu/projects/</u> <u>disability-statistics</u> [accessed 2018-07-24] [WebCite Cache ID 719jbuU5z]
- 3. McDonald KE, Balcazar FE, Keys CB. Youth with disabilities. In: DuBois DL, Karcher M, editors. Handbook of Youth Mentoring. New York, NY: Sage; 2005.
- Lindsay S, McDougall C, Menna-Dack D, Sanford R, Adams T. An ecological approach to understanding barriers to employment for youth with disabilities compared to their typically developing peers: views of youth, employers, and job counselors. Disabil Rehabil 2015;37(8):701-711 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3109/09638288.2014.939775] [Medline: 25014127]
- United Nations Children's Fund. State of the world's children 2013: children with disabilities. New York, NY: UNICEF; 2013. URL: <u>https://www.unicef.org/sowc2013/files/SWCR2013_ENG_Lo_res_24_Apr_2013.pdf</u> [accessed 2018-07-24] [WebCite Cache ID 71919yVkq]
- 6. Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. Education at a Glance 2015: OECD Indicators. Paris, France: OECD Publishing; 2015.
- World Health Organization. Disabilities. Geneva, Switzerland: WHO; 2015. URL: <u>http://www.who.int/topics/disabilities/</u> en/ [accessed 2018-07-24] [WebCite Cache ID 719IXwiDv]
- 8. Lindsay S, McPherson AC. Experiences of social exclusion and bullying at school among children and youth with cerebral palsy. Disabil Rehabil 2012;34(2):101-109 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3109/09638288.2011.587086] [Medline: 21870932]

- 9. Lindsay S. Discrimination and other barriers to employment for teens and young adults with disabilities. Disabil Rehabil 2011;33(15-16):1340-1350. [doi: 10.3109/09638288.2010.531372] [Medline: 21067349]
- 10. Lindsay S, Yantzi N. Weather, disability, vulnerability, and resilience: exploring how youth with physical disabilities experience winter. Disabil Rehabil 2014;36(26):2195-2204. [doi: 10.3109/09638288.2014.892158] [Medline: 24564361]
- 11. West M, Targett P, Steininger G, Anglin N. Project Corporate Support (CORPS): a model demonstration project on workplace supports. J Vocat Rehabil 2001;16(2):111-118.
- 12. Lindsay S, Smith S, Bell F, Bellaby P. Tackling the digital divide: exploring the impact of ICT on managing heart conditions in a deprived area. Inf Commun Soc 2007 Feb;10(1):95-114. [doi: 10.1080/13691180701193127]
- Barnfather A, Stewart M, Magill-Evans J, Ray L, Letourneau N. Computer-mediated support for adolescents with cerebral palsy or spina bifida. Comput Informatics Nurs 2011;29(1):24-33 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/NCN.0b013e3181f9db63] [Medline: 21099541]
- 14. Lindsay S, Stinson J, Stergiou-Kita M, Leck J. Improving transition to employment for youth with physical disabilities: protocol for a peer electronic mentoring intervention. JMIR Res Protoc 2017 Nov 16;6(11):e215 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.8034] [Medline: 29146566]
- 15. Burgstahler S, Crawford L. Managing an e-mentoring community to support students with disabilities: a case study. Assoc Adv Comput Educ J 2007;15(2):97-114.
- Lindsay S, Hartman L, Fellin M. A systematic review of mentorship programs to facilitate transition to post-secondary education and employment for youth and young adults with disabilities. Disabil Rehabil 2016 Jul;38(14):1329-1349 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3109/09638288.2015.1092174] [Medline: 26497325]
- 17. Stumbo N, Martin J, Nordstrom D, Rolfe T, Burgstahler S, Whitney J, et al. Evidence-based practices in mentoring students with disabilities: four case studies. J Sci Educ Stud Disabil 2010;14(1):33-54 [FREE Full text]
- 18. Powers L, Sowers J, Stevens T. An exploratory randomized study of the impact of mentoring on the self-efficacy and community-based knowledge of adolescents with severe physical challenges. J Rehabil 1995;61(1):33-41.
- 19. Shpigelman C, Weiss PL, Reiter S. E-mentoring for all. Comput Hum Behav 2009 Jul;25(4):919-928. [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2009.03.007]
- 20. Karcher MJ, Kuperminc GP, Portwood SG, Sipe CL, Taylor AS. Mentoring programs: a framework to inform program development, research, and evaluation. J Community Psychol 2006 Nov;34(6):709-725. [doi: <u>10.1002/jcop.20125</u>]
- 21. O'Mally J, Antonelli K. The effect of career mentoring on employment outcomes for college students who are legally blind. J Vis Impair Blind 2016;110(5):295-307 [FREE Full text]
- 22. Stinson JN, McGrath PJ, Hodnett ED, Feldman BM, Duffy CM, Huber AM, et al. An internet-based self-management program with telephone support for adolescents with arthritis: a pilot randomized controlled trial. J Rheumatol 2010 Sep;37(9):1944-1952. [doi: 10.3899/jrheum.091327] [Medline: 20595280]
- Fraas M, Bellerose A. Mentoring programme for adolescent survivors of acquired brain injury. Brain Inj 2010 Jan;24(1):50-61. [doi: 10.3109/02699050903446781] [Medline: 20001483]
- 24. Funnell MM. Peer-based behavioural strategies to improve chronic disease self-management and clinical outcomes: evidence, logistics, evaluation considerations and needs for future research. Fam Pract 2010 Jun;27 Suppl 1:i17-i22 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/fampra/cmp027] [Medline: 19509083]
- 25. Sword C, Hill K. Creating mentoring opportunities for youth with disabilities: issues and suggested strategies. Am Rehabil 2003;27(1):14-17 [FREE Full text]
- 26. Buckner A. Mediating At-Risk Factors Among Seventh and Eighth Grade Students With Specific Learning Disabilities Using a Holistically Based Model [dissertation]. Fort Lauderdale, FL: Nova University; 1993.
- 27. Gregg N, Galyardt A, Wolfe G, Moon N, Todd R. Virtual mentoring and persistence in STEM for students with disabilities. Career Dev Transit Except Individ 2016 May 25;40(4):205-214. [doi: 10.1177/2165143416651717]
- 28. Cawthon SW, Johnson PM, Garberoglio CL, Schoffstall SJ. Role models as facilitators of social capital for deaf individuals: a research synthesis. Am Ann Deaf 2016;161(2):115-127. [doi: 10.1353/aad.2016.0021] [Medline: 27374739]
- 29. Barnard-Brak L, Schmidt M, Wei T, Hodges T, Robinson E. Providing postsecondary transition services to youth with disabilities: results of a pilot program. J Postsecond Educ Disabil 2013;26(2):135-144 [FREE Full text]
- 30. Muscott H, O'Brien S. Teaching character education to students with behavioral and learning disabilities through mentoring relationships. Educ Treat Child 1999 Aug;22(3):373-390.
- 31. Bierema L, Merriam S. E-mentoring: using computer mediated communication to enhance the mentoring process. Innov High Educ 2002;26(3):211-227 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1023/A:1017921023103]
- 32. Leck J, Elliott C. Shattering glass: e-mentoring and the advancement of diversity. Int J Organ Divers 2016 Jan;16(4):1-15.
- Nguyen HQ, Carrieri-Kohlman V, Rankin SH, Slaughter R, Stulbarg MS. Internet-based patient education and support interventions: a review of evaluation studies and directions for future research. Comput Biol Med 2004 Mar;34(2):95-112 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0010-4825(03)00046-5] [Medline: 14972630]
- 34. Eysenbach G, Powell J, Englesakis M, Rizo C, Stern A. Health related virtual communities and electronic support groups: systematic review of the effects of online peer to peer interactions. BMJ 2004 May 15;328(7449):1166 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.328.7449.1166] [Medline: 15142921]

- 35. Cai RA, Beste D, Chaplin H, Varakliotis S, Suffield L, Josephs F, et al. Developing and evaluating JIApp: acceptability and usability of a smartphone app system to improve self-management in young people with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2017 Aug 15;5(8):e121 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.7229] [Medline: 28811270]
- 36. Jibb LA, Stevens BJ, Nathan PC, Seto E, Cafazzo JA, Johnston DL, et al. Perceptions of adolescents with cancer related to a pain management app and its evaluation: qualitative study nested within a multicenter pilot feasibility study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Apr 06;6(4):e80 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.9319] [Medline: 29625951]
- 37. Bohleber L, Crameri A, Eich-Stierli B, Telesko R, von Wyl A. Can we foster a culture of peer support and promote mental health in adolescence using a web-based app? A control group study. JMIR Ment Health 2016 Sep 23;3(3):e45 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mental.5597] [Medline: 27663691]
- 38. Breakey VR, Bouskill V, Nguyen C, Luca S, Stinson JN, Ahola Kohut S. Online peer-to-peer mentoring support for youth with hemophilia: qualitative needs assessment. JMIR Pediatr Parent 2018 Jul 10;1(2):e10958. [doi: 10.2196/10958]
- Stinson J, McGrath P, Hodnett E, Feldman B, Duffy C, Huber A, et al. Usability testing of an online self-management program for adolescents with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. J Med Internet Res 2010;12(3):e30 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1349] [Medline: 20675293]
- 40. Lenhart A, Page D. Teens, social media & technology overview 2015: smartphones facilitate shifts in communication landscape for teens. Washington, DC: Pew Research Center; 2015 Apr 09. URL: <u>http://www.pewresearch.org/wp-content/uploads/sites/9/2015/04/PI_TeensandTech_Update2015_0409151.pdf</u> [accessed 2018-09-26] [WebCite Cache ID 72j2R4fRX]
- 41. Sandhu S, Veinot P, Embuldeniya G, Brooks S, Sale J, Huang S, et al. Peer-to-peer mentoring for individuals with early inflammatory arthritis: feasibility pilot. BMJ Open 2013 Mar 01;3(3):e002267 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2012-002267] [Medline: 23457326]
- 42. Hoey LM, Ieropoli SC, White VM, Jefford M. Systematic review of peer-support programs for people with cancer. Patient Educ Couns 2008 Mar;70(3):315-337. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2007.11.016] [Medline: 18191527]
- 43. White M, Dorman SM. Receiving social support online: implications for health education. Health Educ Res 2001 Dec;16(6):693-707 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>11780708</u>]
- 44. Thompson L, Jeffries M, Topping K. E mentoring for e learning development. Innov Educ Teach Int 2010 Aug;47(3):305-315 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/14703297.2010.498182]
- 45. Single PB, Single RM. E mentoring for social equity: review of research to inform program development. Mentor Tutor 2005 Aug;13(2):301-320. [doi: 10.1080/13611260500107481]
- 46. Cole DA, Nick EA, Zelkowitz RL, Roeder KM, Spinelli T. Online social support for young people: does it recapitulate in-person social support; can it help? Comput Human Behav 2017 Mar;68:456-464 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2016.11.058] [Medline: 28993715]
- 47. Shpigelman C, Gill CJ. The characteristics of unsuccessful e-mentoring relationships for youth with disabilities. Qual Health Res 2013 Apr;23(4):463-475. [doi: 10.1177/1049732312469115] [Medline: 23221100]
- 48. Kasprisin CA, Single PB, Single RM, Muller CB. Building a better bridge: testing e-training to improve e-mentoring programmes in higher education. Mentor Tutor 2003 Apr;11(1):67-78. [doi: <u>10.1080/1361126032000054817</u>]
- 49. Paloff R, Pratt K. Building Learning Communities in Cyberspace: Effective Strategies for the Online Classroom. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass Publishers; 1999.
- 50. Gopalakrishnan S, Ganeshkumar P. Systematic reviews and meta-analysis: understanding the best evidence in primary healthcare. J Family Med Prim Care 2013 Jan;2(1):9-14 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4103/2249-4863.109934] [Medline: 24479036]
- 51. Petticrew M, Roberts H. Systematic Reviews in the Social Sciences: A Practical Guide. Malden, MA: Blackwell Publishing Ltd; 2006.
- 52. Getchius TS, Moses LK, French J, Gronseth GS, England JD, Miyasaki J. AAN guidelines: a benefit to the neurologist. Neurology 2010 Sep 28;75(13):1126-1127 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e3181f4d883] [Medline: 20876463]
- 53. Kmet L, Lee R, Cook L. Standard quality assessment criteria for evaluating primary research papers from a variety of fields. Edmonton, AB: Alberta Heritage Foundation for Medical Research Edmonton; 2004. URL: <u>https://www.ihe.ca/advanced-search/standard-quality-assessment-criteria-for-evaluating-primary-research-papers-from-a-variety-of-fields</u> [accessed 2018-07-24] [WebCite Cache ID 719jHizXs]
- 54. Liberati A, Altman DG, Tetzlaff J, Mulrow C, Gøtzsche PC, Ioannidis JPA, et al. The PRISMA statement for reporting systematic reviews and meta-analyses of studies that evaluate health care interventions: explanation and elaboration. J Clin Epidemiol 2009 Oct;62(10):e1-34 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2009.06.006] [Medline: 19631507]
- 55. Ammerlaan J, van Os-Mendendorp H, de Boer-Nijhof N, Scholtus L, Kruize AA, van Pelt P, et al. Short term effectiveness and experiences of a peer guided web-based self-management intervention for young adults with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Pediatr Rheumatol Online J 2017 Oct 13;15(1):75 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12969-017-0201-1] [Medline: 29029616]
- 56. Gorter JW, Stewart D, Cohen E, Hlyva O, Morrison A, Galuppi B, TRACE Study group. Are two youth-focused interventions sufficient to empower youth with chronic health conditions in their transition to adult healthcare: a mixed-methods longitudinal prospective cohort study. BMJ Open 2015 May 06;5(5):e007553 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2014-007553] [Medline: 25948409]

- 57. Ammerlaan J, van Os-Mendendrop H, Scholtus L, de Vos A, Zwier M, Bijlsma H, et al. Feasibility of an online and a face-to-face version of a self-management program for young adults with a rheumatic disease: experiences of young adults and peer leaders. Pediatr Rheumatol Online J 2014;12:10 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1546-0096-12-10] [Medline: 24666817]
- 58. Parkyn H, Coveney J. An exploration of the value of social interaction in a boys' group for adolescents with muscular dystrophy. Child Care Health Dev 2013 Jan;39(1):81-89. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1365-2214.2011.01353.x</u>] [Medline: <u>22168921</u>]
- Stewart M, Barnfather A, Magill-Evans J, Ray L, Letourneau N. Brief report: an online support intervention: perceptions of adolescents with physical disabilities. J Adolesc 2011 Aug;34(4):795-800. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.adolescence.2010.04.007</u>] [Medline: <u>20488511</u>]
- 60. Narad ME, Bedell G, King JA, Johnson J, Turkstra LS, Haarbauer-Krupa J, et al. Social Participation and Navigation (SPAN): description and usability of app-based coaching intervention for adolescents with TBI. Dev Neurorehabil 2018 Oct;21(7):439-448. [doi: 10.1080/17518423.2017.1354092] [Medline: 28762859]
- 61. Cantrell K, Fischer A, Bouzaher A, Bers M. The role of e-mentorship in a virtual world for youth transplant recipients. J Pediatr Oncol Nurs 2010;27(6):344-355. [doi: 10.1177/1043454210372617] [Medline: 20966162]
- 62. Gregg N, Wolfe G, Jones S, Todd R, Moon N, Langston C. STEM e-mentoring and community college students with disabilities. J Postsecond Educ Disabil 2016;29(1):47-63 [FREE Full text]
- 63. Todd R, Moon N, Langston C. E-mentoring and its relevance for competency-based education for students with disabilities: research from the GSAA BreakThru model. Competency Based Educ 2016 Apr 27;1(1):17-30. [doi: 10.1002/cbe2.1009]
- 64. Burgstahler S, Cronheim D. Supporting peer–peer and mentor–protégé relationships on the internet. J Res Technol Educ 2001 Sep;34(1):59-74. [doi: 10.1080/15391523.2001.10782334]
- 65. Cohen K, Light J. Use of electronic communication to develop mentor-protégé relationships between adolescent and adult AAC users: pilot study. Augment Altern Commun 2009 Jul 12;16(4):227-238. [doi: <u>10.1080/07434610012331279084</u>]
- 66. Shpigelman C, Reiter S, Weiss PL. A conceptual framework for electronic socio-emotional support for people with special needs. Int J Rehabil Res 2009 Dec;32(4):301-308. [doi: 10.1097/MRR.0b013e32831e4519] [Medline: 19901617]
- 67. Mastropieri MA, Scruggs TE, Klingerman K, Mohler L, Jeffs T, Boon R, et al. University e-mail mentors for elementary students with disabilities: attitudinal and literacy effects. In: Scruggs TE, Mastropieri MA, editors. Advances in Learning and Behavioral Disabilities. Volume 15. Technological Applications. Bingley, UK: Emerald Publishing Limited; 2001:173-184.
- 68. Bell EC. Mentoring transition-age youth with blindness. J Spec Educ 2010 Jun 25;46(3):170-179. [doi: 10.1177/0022466910374211]
- Kim-Rupnow WS, Burgstahler S. Perceptions of students with disabilities regarding the value of technology-based support activities on postsecondary education and employment. J Spec Educ Technol 2004 Mar 1;19(2):43-56. [doi: 10.1177/016264340401900204]
- 70. Burgstahler S, Doyle A. Gender differences in computer-mediated communication among adolescents with disabilities: a case study. Disabil Stud Q 2005 Mar 15;25(2). [doi: 10.18061/dsq.v25i2.552]
- 71. Kramer JM, Ryan CT, Moore R, Schwartz A. Feasibility of electronic peer mentoring for transition-age youth and young adults with intellectual and developmental disabilities: Project Teens making Environment and Activity Modifications. J Appl Res Intellect Disabil 2018 Jan;31(1):e118-e129. [doi: 10.1111/jar.12346] [Medline: 28247558]
- 72. Keane K, Russell M. Using cloud collaboration for writing assignments by students with disabilities: a case study using action research. Open Praxis 2014;6(1):55-63 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5944/openpraxis.6.1.79]
- 73. Ahola Kohut S, Stinson JN, Ruskin D, Forgeron P, Harris L, van Wyk M, et al. iPeer2Peer program: a pilot feasibility study in adolescents with chronic pain. Pain 2016 May;157(5):1146-1155. [doi: <u>10.1097/j.pain.00000000000496</u>] [Medline: <u>26808145</u>]
- 74. Stinson J, Ahola Kohut S, Forgeron P, Amaria K, Bell M, Kaufman M, et al. The iPeer2Peer Program: a pilot randomized controlled trial in adolescents with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Pediatr Rheumatol Online J 2016 Sep 02;14(1):48 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12969-016-0108-2] [Medline: 27590668]
- 75. Ahola Kohut S, Stinson J, Forgeron P, van Wyk M, Harris L, Luca S. A qualitative content analysis of peer mentoring video calls in adolescents with chronic illness. J Health Psychol 2018 May;23(6):788-799. [doi: 10.1177/1359105316669877] [Medline: 27682341]
- 76. Raghavendra P, Newman L, Grace E, Wood D. 'I could never do that before': effectiveness of a tailored Internet support intervention to increase the social participation of youth with disabilities. Child Care Health Dev 2013 Jul;39(4):552-561. [doi: <u>10.1111/cch.12048</u>] [Medline: <u>23763256</u>]
- 77. Kim K, Choi H. The influence of e-mentoring with college students with disabilities on career decision self-efficacy and college preparation for high school students with disabilities. Korean J Spec Educ 2017 Sep 30;52(2):149-169. [doi: 10.15861/kjse.2017.52.2.149]
- 78. Smith CC, Cihak DF, Kim B, McMahon DD, Wright R. Examining augmented reality to improve navigation skills in postsecondary students with intellectual disability. J Spec Educ Technol 2017;32(1):3-11 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0162643416681159]

- 79. Deci E, Ryan R. Self-determination theory: a macro theory of human motivation, development and health. Can Psychol 2008;49:182-185 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/a0012801]
- 80. Eisenman L. Self-determination interventions: building a foundation for school completion. Remedial Spec Educ 2007;28(1):2-8 [FREE Full text]
- 81. Mumbardó-Adam C, Shogren KA, Guàrdia-Olmos J, Giné C. Contextual predictors of self-determined actions in students with and without intellectual disability. Psychol Sch 2016 Dec 27;54(2):183-195. [doi: 10.1002/pits.21987]
- Hohlfeld TN, Ritzhaupt AD, Dawson K, Wilson ML. An examination of seven years of technology integration in Florida schools: through the lens of the Levels of Digital Divide in Schools. Comput Educ 2017 Oct;113:135-161 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.compedu.2017.05.017]
- 83. Lindsay S. Disability and the digital divide: gaps and future directions. In: Evans C, editor. Internet Issues: Blogging, Digital Divide and Digital Libraries. New York, NY: Nova Science Publishers; 2010.
- 84. Anderberg P. Peer assistance for personal assistance: analysis of online discussions about personal assistance from a Swedish web forum for disabled people. Disabil Soc 2007 May;22(3):251-265. [doi: 10.1080/09687590701259450]
- 85. Ragins BR, Cotton JL. Easier said than done: gender differences in perceived barriers to gaining a mentor. Acad Manage J 1991 Dec 01;34(4):939-951. [doi: 10.2307/256398]

Abbreviations

e-mentoring: electronic mentoring ERIC: Education Resources Information Center RCT: randomized controlled trial

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 24.07.18; peer-reviewed by L Lindstrom, G Barbareschi; comments to author 29.08.18; accepted 08.09.18; published 24.10.18.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Lindsay S, Kolne K, Cagliostro E Electronic Mentoring Programs and Interventions for Children and Youth With Disabilities: Systematic Review JMIR Pediatr Parent 2018;1(2):e11679 URL: <u>http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e11679/</u> doi:10.2196/11679 PMID:31518310

©Sally Lindsay, Kendall Kolne, Elaine Cagliostro. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 24.10.2018. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

"How Is My Child's Asthma?" Digital Phenotype and Actionable Insights for Pediatric Asthma

Utkarshani Jaimini^{1*}, MS, BTech; Krishnaprasad Thirunarayan^{1*}, MS, PhD; Maninder Kalra^{2*}, MD Pediatrics; Revathy Venkataraman¹, BTech; Dipesh Kadariya¹, BTech; Amit Sheth^{1*}, MS, PhD

¹Ohio Center of Excellence in Knowledge-enabled Computing (Kno.e.sis), Department of Computer Sciene, Wright State University, Dayton, OH, United States

²Dayton Children Hospital, Dayton, OH, United States

*these authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Amit Sheth, MS, PhD Ohio Center of Excellence in Knowledge-enabled Computing (Kno.e.sis) Department of Computer Sciene Wright State University 3640 Colonel Glenn Hwy Dayton, OH, 45435 United States Phone: 1 937 775 1000 Email: amit@knoesis.org

Abstract

Background: In the traditional asthma management protocol, a child meets with a clinician infrequently, once in 3 to 6 months, and is assessed using the Asthma Control Test questionnaire. This information is inadequate for timely determination of asthma control, compliance, precise diagnosis of the cause, and assessing the effectiveness of the treatment plan. The continuous monitoring and improved tracking of the child's symptoms, activities, sleep, and treatment adherence can allow precise determination of asthma triggers and a reliable assessment of medication compliance and effectiveness. Digital phenotyping refers to moment-by-moment quantification of the individual-level human phenotype in situ using data from personal digital devices, in particular, mobile phones. The kHealth kit consists of a mobile app, provided on an Android tablet, that asks timely and contextually relevant questions related to asthma symptoms, medication intake, reduced activity because of symptoms, and nighttime awakenings; a Fitbit to monitor activity and sleep; a Microlife Peak Flow Meter to monitor the peak expiratory flow and forced exhaled volume in 1 second; and a Foobot to monitor indoor air quality. The kHealth cloud stores personal health data and environmental data collected using Web services. The kHealth Dashboard interactively visualizes the collected data.

Objective: The objective of this study was to discuss the usability and feasibility of collecting clinically relevant data to help clinicians diagnose or intervene in a child's care plan by using the kHealth system for continuous and comprehensive monitoring of child's symptoms, activity, sleep pattern, environmental triggers, and compliance. The kHealth system helps in deriving actionable insights to help manage asthma at both the personal and cohort levels. The Digital Phenotype Score and Controller Compliance Score introduced in the study are the basis of ongoing work on addressing personalized asthma care and answer questions such as, "How can I help my child better adhere to care instructions and reduce future exacerbation?"

Methods: The Digital Phenotype Score and Controller Compliance Score summarize the child's condition from the data collected using the kHealth kit to provide actionable insights. The Digital Phenotype Score formalizes the asthma control level using data about symptoms, rescue medication usage, activity level, and sleep pattern. The Compliance Score captures how well the child is complying with the treatment protocol. We monitored and analyzed data for 95 children, each recruited for a 1- or 3-month-long study. The Asthma Control Test scores obtained from the medical records of 57 children were used to validate the asthma control levels calculated using the Digital Phenotype Scores.

Results: At the cohort level, we found asthma was very poorly controlled in 37% (30/82) of the children, not well controlled in 26% (21/82), and well controlled in 38% (31/82). Among the very poorly controlled children (n=30), we found 30% (9/30) were highly compliant toward their controller medication intake—suggesting a re-evaluation for change in medication or dosage—whereas 50% (15/30) were poorly compliant and candidates for a more timely intervention to improve compliance to

mitigate their situation. We observed a negative Kendall Tau correlation between Asthma Control Test scores and Digital Phenotype Score as -0.509 (P<.01).

Conclusions: kHealth kit is suitable for the collection of clinically relevant information from pediatric patients. Furthermore, Digital Phenotype Score and Controller Compliance Score, computed based on the continuous digital monitoring, provide the clinician with timely and detailed evidence of a child's asthma-related condition when compared with the Asthma Control Test scores taken infrequently during clinic visits.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2018;1(2):e11988) doi:10.2196/11988

KEYWORDS

digital phenotype; actionable insights; asthma control level; asthma control test; digital phenotype score; controller compliance score; mobile health

Introduction

Asthma is the second most common chronic disease in the pediatric population. It incurred a total annual direct health care cost of more than US \$80 billion dollars burdening the US economy [1]. As of 2016, more than 26 million Americans have been diagnosed with asthma, of which 8.3% are children [2]. Asthma is a multifactorial disease, manifesting many symptoms, which reduce the quality of life. The onset of asthma and the factors that affect its severity and control level vary. Asthma can affect a child's physical and mental well-being. It can lead to reduced activity, missed school days, difficulty in concentrating, feeling isolated from peers, and in extreme cases, emergency room visits, ultimately impacting long-term academic, economic, and physical growth [3]. As such, parents want to know how well controlled their child's asthma is on a regular basis, so that they, with the help of the clinician, can better plan and manage their child's care protocol.

Asthma patients are usually given an asthma action plan to deal with asthma symptoms and a detailed education about triggers and the importance of compliance. It would be helpful for the parent and the clinician to receive information about the child's adherence to care protocol and exposure to factors that can exacerbate the child's asthma in a timely manner. We built the *kHealth system* consisting of *kHealth kit, kHealth cloud,* and *kHealth Dashboard*; adapted it for continuous and comprehensive monitoring of a child's symptoms, activity, sleep pattern, potential environmental triggers, and medication compliance; and derived insights to help manage asthma.

The kHealth kit consists of a mobile app, provided on an Android tablet, that asks timely and contextually relevant questions related to asthma symptoms, medication intake, reduced activity because of symptoms, and nighttime awakenings; a Fitbit to monitor activity and sleep; a Microlife Peak Flow Meter to monitor the peak expiratory flow and forced exhaled volume in 1 second; and a Foobot to monitor indoor air quality. The kHealth cloud stores personal health data and environmental data collected using Web services. The kHealth Dashboard interactively visualizes the collected data. In the contemporary clinical protocol, the most relevant information will likely come from an Asthma Control Test (ACT) that is administered during the child's clinic appointment. The ACT score is a recapitulation of the past 4 weeks of the child's health condition; there is considerable concern about its ability to provide a clear picture of the child's current health condition

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e11988/
```

[4,5]. Our kHealth system seeks to remedy this limitation by embodying the digital phenotype.

The term digital phenotype refers to moment-by-moment quantification of the individual-level human phenotype in situ using data from personal digital devices, in particular, mobile phones [6]. The data can be collected either by the active involvement of a user, referred to as active sensing, or automatically and nonintrusively using sensors, referred to as passive sensing [7]. Digital phenotype in our study is the data collected through active and passive sensing of a child, resulting from the interaction of the child with the environment and medication using the kHealth kit. Previous studies have reported inaccuracies in a child's self-reporting (in surveys, questionnaire, etc) at the clinic [8,9]. Our kHealth system overcomes this limitation by allowing 24/7 continuous and objective monitoring of a child. Digital phenotype obtained can help the clinician better diagnose, monitor, and manage asthma [6,10].

In this study, we focus on the cohort-level analysis of the data collected from 95 asthmatic children using the kHealth app. To abstract the digital phenotype in a form that is both accessible and can serve as a proxy for the current practice, we define a Digital Phenotype Score (DPS) and Controller Compliance Score (CCS). DPS and CCS are based on the comprehensive physical, environmental, activity, symptomatic, and medication intake data collected from the kHealth system and form the basis for actionable insights. For instance, unlike an ACT score, DPS and CCS together can help the parent and the clinician to intervene, improve the care protocol, change the medication dosage, and take preventative measures as needed—such as avoiding the outdoors and the use of an air filter or dehumidifier in a timely manner.

Methods

Study Recruitment

Study participants were recruited from children (within the age group of 5-17 years) diagnosed with asthma by an asthma specialist at Dayton Children's Hospital (DCH). Study coordinator approached the parents of asthma patients seeking treatment at DCH. The parent, along with the child, consented to participate in our study. The parent provides the consent, and the child provides an assent by signing a consent form to take part in our study and giving permission to obtain their medical details from the electronic medical records (EMRs). The recruitment for the study is random, with the only prerequisite

of suffering from asthma. The types of asthma, such as exercise-induced, nonpersistent, persistent, and nonexercise-induced, are not taken into account. A total of 100 study participants, along with a parent or guardian, consented to the ongoing study during December 2016 until July 2018. A total of 95 children of the 100 completed the study, with 5 children still collecting data at the time writing of this study. The child and the parent were given an option to participate either in a 1-month (n=70) or 3-month (n=25) study. The participants who completed the 1- and 3-month study were given an incentive of \$50 and \$100 gift cards, respectively. Figure 1 describes the study recruitment. Except for the duration of participation, all other aspects of the participants were identical. Each consenting participant was given a demonstration of all the components of the kHealth kit with access to a user guide and tutorial video on the tablet to make it accessible to both the child and the parent. In case of any trouble encountered during the study participation, the contact information of the nurse practitioner was provided to the parent. In case of technical difficulties, contact information of the kHealth team was provided in the user guide to telephonically resolve the issue while keeping the identity of the participant anonymized.

Study Design

This is an observational longitudinal study involving collaboration among researchers from Kno.e.sis—an Ohio Center of Excellence for BioHealth Innovations at Wright State

University and DCH, the latter consisting of a clinician and a nurse coordinator. The study was approved by the DCH institutional review board (IRB). The study uses readily available sensors and widely used technologies. The study comprises 30 kits to allow parallel participations of up to 30 children.

Study Kit

kHealth

The kHealth system comprises a kHealth kit, kHealth cloud, and kHealth Dashboard.

kHealth Kit

A kHealth kit, as shown in Figure 2 (more information can be found in Multimedia Appendix 1), consists of an Android tablet hosting kHealth app and a set of sensors (Fitbit, Foobot, and Microlife Peak Flow Meter), which are used by the child. Sections below provide a description of all the sensors and the type of data collected from them. The data are collected using the active and passive sensing techniques. Active sensing refers to the data collection where a child (or a parent) has to actively interact with the technology (eg, answering questions after invoking a mobile app). Passive sensing refers to the data collected without active human interaction with the technology (eg, Foobot [11] sensor in a room automatically collects the indoor air quality data).

Figure 1. Study recruitment detail. ACT: Asthma Control Test; DPS-T: Digital Phenotype Score calculated using Total Symptom Score.





Figure 2. kHealth System.



Table 1. kHealth app questionnaire.

kHealth app questions	Multiple-choice options
Are you currently experiencing any of the asthma-related symptoms below?	Cough, wheeze, chest tightness, hard and fast breathing, nose opens wide, cannot talk in full sentences, others
How many times did you take albuterol inhaler today because of asthma symptoms?	1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6+
Have you had a wheeze, chest tightness, or asthma-related cough today?	Yes, no
How much did asthma or asthma symptoms limit your activity today?	None, a little, most of the day, at least half of the day
Did you take albuterol last night because of a cough or wheeze?	Yes, no
Did you wake up with a cough or wheeze last night?	Yes, no
Rescue medication question. For example, did you take albuterol today?	Yes, no
Controller medication question. For example, did you take Dulera today?	Yes, no

kHealth App

The kHealth app was built on the widely used Android platform [12]. The app was designed in consultation with the clinician, tested with trial patients, and iteratively refined before reaching the current version used in this study [13]. The app asks questions similar to the ACT. The app captures symptoms, medication intake, and activity limitation because of asthma symptoms and nighttime awakenings using a questionnaire that the child is expected to answer twice a day. The app was customized for every child, such as the medication (rescue and controller) information for every child was taken from the EMRs, and the medication intake questions were asked for the prescribed medication only. Table 1 below shows the kHealth app questionnaire.

kHealth Cloud

RenderX

The data collected from the kHealth kit are synced in real time with Firebase, a Google cloud storage. Firebase provides active data listening for the client-side, which offers data persistence over a network failure and re-syncs to the cloud when the

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e11988/
```

network is restored. The kHealth app uses SQLite as the primary data storage and Firebase as the secondary data storage. Data from Firebase are available to Kno.e.sis researchers and clinicians for real-time analysis. For securing remote data, Firebase provides a set of real-time database rules and user authentication that allow data access control on a per-user basis. Moreover, it is built on the Google Cloud Platform, sharing the same level of data security [14].

kHealth Dashboard

kHealth Dashboard as shown in Figure 3 is a cloud-based platform that integrates and visualizes multimodal data from the kHealth kit [15] (A demo video of the kHealth Dashboard can be found by accessing the link provided in Multimedia Appendix 1). It provides an alternative to the traditional episodic clinician-centric health care by supporting real-time monitoring of a child's health condition [16]. It is a step toward exploring issues such as the following: Can we predict asthma attacks based on the data collected from the child? Can we understand the causal relationship between symptoms and possible triggers or factors responsible for them? kHealth Dashboard allows us
to visually explore the correlations between the child's recorded readings about their condition and environmental data. It also gathers empirical evidence to analyze and monitor disease progression as well as help manage asthma.

Study Variables

Symptom Score

Symptom score (SS) is the measure of the symptoms (cough, wheeze, chest tightness, nose open wide, and hard and fast breathing) experienced by the child during the study period. The study period is defined as the number of days the child took a kHealth app reading. The clinician can use the SS measure to get real-time insight into the child's condition, such as changes in symptoms because of weather or outdoor condition. We used 2 different metrics to calculate a child's SS based on (1) the total number of symptoms experienced by the child during the study period (the total number of symptoms experienced is the same as the total number of symptom questions answered in affirmative per day) and (2) the total number of days the child experienced some symptom during the study period. We define Total Symptom Score (TSS) as the average number of symptoms experienced by the child during the study period. We define Partial Symptom Score (PSS) as the fraction of the number of days the child experienced symptom during the study period.

Total Symptom Score (TSS) = Number of symptoms experienced by the child/Study period

Partial Symptom Score (PSS) = Number of days the children experienced symptoms/Study period

Rescue Score

The kHealth app collects data on the intake of the rescue medication (short-acting bronchodilators) by asking questions such as Did you take albuterol today? We define Rescue Score (RS) as the number of times the child took the rescue medication during the study period. Usually, children take rescue medication to mitigate or prevent the symptoms.

Rescue Score (RS)= Number of rescue medication intake by the child during the study period/Study period

Controller Compliance Score

The kHealth app asks questions (eg, Did you take DULERA today?) about the intake of the controller medication (long-term control medication). Each child is prescribed a controller medication, which they are supposed to take at least once a day. Thus, the CCS is defined as the fraction of the number of days the child took the controller medication during the study period.

Controller Compliance Score (CSS) = Number of controller medication intake by the child during the study period/Study period

The percentage of children in the well-controlled category increases with the increasing CCS, as shown in Figure 4. The more compliant children are toward their medication, the better controlled is their asthma. Table 2 describes the controller medication compliance threshold. We chose a threshold of 70%. For example, if the child took her/his medication at least 70% of the prescribed duration during the study period (for 1 month [30 days] minimum 21 days and for 3 months [90 days] minimum 63 days), then the corresponding CCS \geq 0.70 and is the child is classified as *highly compliant*.



Figure 3. kHealth Dashboard Visualizing the Data.



Jaimini et al

Figure 4. The variation of the percentage of children in the different asthma control level with the Controller Compliance Score.



Controller Compliance Score

Compliance	Controller Compliance Score (CCS)
Highly compliant	CCS≥0.70
Well compliant	0.30≤CCS<0.70
Poorly compliant	CCS<0.30

Activity Score

The Activity Score (AcS) is the number of days the child had restricted activity during the study period. The kHealth app asks a multiple-choice question: *How much did asthma symptoms limit your activity today?* with 4 options: none, a little, half of the day, and most of the day. The options are given a weight on a scale of 0-3, respectively.

Activity Score (AcS) = Summing over the days in the study period (activity restriction presence option weight)/Study period

Awakening Score

The Awakening Score (AwS) is the number of nights the child woke up because of asthma symptoms during the study period. The kHealth app asks a multiple-choice question: *Did you wake up with wheeze, cough, or any asthma-related symptoms?*

Awakening Score (AwS) = Number of nights the child woke up with asthma symptoms during the study period/Study period

Asthma Control Test Score

ACT is a short multiple-choice questionnaire consisting of 5 questions: about a child's symptoms, nighttime awakenings because of symptoms, number of days the child missed school because of symptoms, intake of rescue medication, and the child's rating about their asthma control in the past 4 weeks. Each question is given a score of 1-5, with 1 being the worst and 5 being the best. The ACT score is calculated by adding

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e11988/
```

RenderX

the scores for each question. Its score helps the clinician classify the child's asthma as well controlled, not well controlled, or very poorly controlled [17]. The ACT score based asthma control level label varies with the age group. For children less than 12 years, if the ACT score is ≤ 12 , the child's asthma is *very poorly controlled*. If the ACT score is ≥ 13 and ≤ 19 , the asthma is *not well controlled*, and if the ACT score is ≥ 20 , the asthma is *well controlled*. For the children aged ≥ 12 years, if the ACT score is ≤ 15 , the child's asthma is *very poorly controlled*. If the ACT score is ≥ 16 and ≤ 19 , the asthma is *not well controlled*, and if the ACT score is ≥ 20 , the asthma is *well controlled*, and if the ACT score is ≥ 20 , the asthma is *well controlled*, and if the ACT score is ≥ 20 , the asthma is *well controlled*.

Digital Phenotype Score

Digital Phenotype Score Total (DPS-T) = Total Symptom Score + Rescue Score + Activity Score + Awakening Score

Digital Phenotype Score Partial (DPS-P)= Partial Symptom Score + Rescue Score + Activity Score +Awakening Score

The DPSs (DPS-T and DPS-P, discussed below) capture an aggregate of each of the contributing digital phenotypes that impact the child's health. This is in the same vein as ACT, which tries to quantify the child's asthma control based on responses to the 5 asthma condition–related questions and Patient Health Questionnaire-9 (PHQ-9), which tries to quantify patients' depression severity based on their responses to the 9 mental health condition–related questions [18,19]. The DPSs are a digital measure of the *quality of life* of the child appropriate for

the kHealth context and can be used as a succinct proxy to determine the control level. We try to capture the intuition that the higher the manifestation of asthma signs, the worse the control. The more occurrences of symptoms, increased intake of rescue medication, restriction of daily activities and nighttime awakenings, and the worse is the child feeling, the poorer is the asthma control. We propose to define the scores to reflect the cumulative effect of various negative factors impacting a child's health and its manifestation, as measured by symptoms such as cough and wheeze, reduced physical activity, nighttime awakenings, and intake of rescue medication, either to remedy symptoms or to prevent them. Specifically, we consider 2 different alternatives for computing the score each with its own pros and cons: (1) DPS-T to capture the total number of asthma episodes by summing the TSS, RS, AcS, and AwS, which we regard as a fine-grained reflection of the child's suffering, and (2) DPS-P that substitutes the TSS with a PSS in DPS-T (ie, DPS-P=DPS-T - TSS + PSS) to better match the ACT scoring approach to determine the control level, for fair comparison and validation with respect to the current practice. Similar to the ACT scoring, our approximation does not have differential weighing of symptoms (such as cough < wheeze < chest tightness). Although this may be adequate to obtain a coarse-grained classification for control level, it may not truly reflect the relative *quality of life* enjoyed by the child faithfully. For instance, a child having 10 coughs each day for 2 days may

be better off than 10 coughs over 3 days. DPS-T better captures this intuition than DPS-P. However, ACT scores, DPS-T, and DPS-P do not satisfactorily capture the fact that someone having wheezing, shortness of breath, and chest tightness on a day may be significantly worse off than someone coughing several times a day. In fact, the former may lead to an asthma attack, even requiring an emergency hospital visit compared with the latter. In this study, we evaluate DPS-T and DPS-P as an approximate measure of the asthma-related health condition of the child.

The National Heart Lung Blood Institute (NHLBI) provides a guideline to classify the child's asthma control level as *very poorly controlled, not well controlled,* and *well controlled.* We used the NHLBI guidelines and the data collected from the kHealth app to determine the child's control level by developing a comparable threshold for DPS-P and DPS-T.

Using the NHLBI guidelines given in Table 3 [20], we have developed thresholds for DPS (DPS-P and DPS-T) as shown in Table 4 (eg, if the DPS≥1, then the child's asthma is very poorly controlled). The thresholds for the 3 control levels have been chosen to make the DPS-P and ACT scores comparable when they are available over the same period. The control levels obtained based on DPS-T using the same thresholds seem to be relatively pessimistic, but in reality, they have the potential to capture the child's reaction to asthma triggers over the day at a fine-grained level.

Table 3. Modified National Heart Lung Blood Institute asthma control level classification guide (given by National Heart Lung Blood Institute).

Com	ponent of control	Age in years	Level of asthma control		
			Well controlled	Not well controlled	Very poorly controlled
Impa	nirment				
	Symptoms	0-11	≤2 days/week but ≤1 time a day	>2 days/week or multiple times on ≤2 days/week	Throughout the day
		≥12	≤2 days/week	>2 days/week	Throughout the day
	Nighttime awakenings	0-4	≤1 time a month	>1 time a month	>1 time a week
		5-11	≤1 time a month	≥ 2 times a month	≥2 times a week
		≥12	≤2 times a month	1-3 times a week	≥4 times a week
	Interference with normal activity	All	None	Some limitation	Extremely limited
	Rescue medication; use for symptoms	All	≤2 days/week	>2 days/week	Several times per day

Table 4. The thresholds for the classification of asthma control levels for both Digital Phenotype Score calculated using Partial Symptom Score and Digital Phenotype Score calculated using Total Symptom Score.

Asthma control level	Digital Phenotype Score (DPS)
Very poorly controlled	DPS≥1
Not well controlled	0.28≤DPS<1
Well controlled	DPS<0.28

Data Availability

The study took comprehensive design- and technology-supported steps to ensure Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) compliance, privacy preservation, and data security. For example, each consented child was given a kHealth-ID by the nurse coordinator and

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e11988/

data used for the study cannot be made publicly available JMIR Pediatr Parent 2018 | vol. 1 | iss. 2 |e11988 | p.147



retained so that child identifiable information did not leave the

hospital clinic [21]. Throughout the data collection, only the

deidentified data were made available for analysis by the

kHealth system. A child's real identity was not recorded, and

any data exchange between DCH and other researchers ensured

that the child's identity information did not leave DCH. The

because of HIPAA and other restrictions imposed by the approved IRB protocol. The dataset is accessible only to the clinician and the researchers involved in the study. Furthermore, it is available to the researchers only in anonymized form. All team members have completed relevant Collaborative Institutional Training Initiative program courses.

Data Analysis

We performed a descriptive analysis of the data with IBM SPSS Statistics version 24 (IBM Corporation). We removed 13 children from our analysis who had data for less than 7 days to follow the NHLBI guideline, which requires a minimum of a week's data to determine the child's asthma control level [20]. This study presents an analysis of 82 children reporting data for more than 7 days. ACT scores were available from the EMRs for 57 of these children and were used for validation of the asthma control levels, calculated using the DPSs. We used Kendall Tau correlation metric to analyze the concordance between the asthma control level labeled using ACT scores and DPSs.

were found to be highly compliant, 31% (25/82) were well compliant, and 4% (3/82) were found to be poorly compliant toward taking the kHealth app reading. The highly compliant and well compliant are defined using the kHealth app and taking a reading for at least 70% and 50%, respectively, of the study period. We classified the 82 children involved in our study into their asthma control level using the DPS-P and DPS-T. Using DPS-P, 30.5% of the children were classified as very poorly controlled, 26.8% as not well controlled, and 42.7% as well controlled. DPS-P classification (using scoring and threshold) adapts the ACT approach in the context of kHealth app. On the basis of DPS-T, 37% of the children were classified as very poorly controlled, 26% as not well controlled, and 38% as well controlled. Effectively, DPS-T classified a higher number of children as very poorly controlled or not well controlled as compared with DPS-P.

We used ACT scores recorded in the EMRs to understand how it corresponds to our classification based on the 2 DPS scales. ACT scores were available for 57 children of the 82 children who qualified for detailed evaluation. Tables 5 and 6 provide classification details using DPS-T and DPS-P based on adapted thresholds.

Results

The average compliance of the kHealth kit was 75% (range: 9-100, SD=23). Of the children in our study cohort, 66% (54/82)

Tabla 5	The relationship	n hatwaan Asthma	Control Te	et and the ?	versions of	the Digital	Phonotype 9	Scores (N-57)
Table 5.	The relationship	o between Astinna	Control les	st and the 2	versions or	the Digital	Filenotype .	Scores (IN=J/J

Asthma control labels	ACT ^a score, n (%)	DPS-P ^b , n (%)	DPS-T ^c , n (%)
Very poorly controlled	9 (16)	20 (35)	23 (40)
Not well controlled	17 (30)	15 (26)	16 (28)
Well controlled	31 (54)	22 (39)	18 (32)

^aACT: Asthma Control Test.

^bDPS-P: Digital Phenotype Score calculated using Partial Symptom Score.

^cDPS-T: Digital Phenotype Score calculated using Total Symptom Score.

 Table 6.
 Asthma Control Test and Digital Phenotype-based classification (N=57) where VPC is very poorly controlled asthma, NWC is not well controlled asthma, and WC is well controlled asthma.

Asthma control labels	Children classified based on ACT ^a score, n	Children classified based on DPS-P, ^b n	Children classified based on DPS-T, ^c n
Very poorly controlled (VPC)	9	VPC=7	VPC=8
		NWC=1	NWC=0
		WC=1	WC=1
Not well controlled (NWC)	17	VPC=11	VPC=13
		NWC=4	NWC=3
		WC=2	WC=1
Well controlled (WC)	31	VPC=2	VPC=2
		NWC=10	NWC=12
		WC=19	WC=17

^aACT: Asthma Control Test.

^bDPS-P: Digital Phenotype Score calculated using Partial Symptom Score.

^cDPS-T: Digital Phenotype Score calculated using Total Symptom Score.

Jaimini et al

As seen in Table 7, the DPS-P scale correctly classifies 7 out of 9 children as very poorly controlled. There was only 1 child with an ACT score of 11 (which is very poorly controlled) who was classified as well controlled according to DPS-P (=0.19) and not well controlled according to DPS-T (=0.39). We observed 2 children with the same DPS-P score of 1.33 (very poorly controlled), but they had 2 different ACT scores of 15 and 19, respectively, but both imply not well controlled. Although their DPS-P was the same, their DPS-T are 1.43 and 2.32, respectively, showing that the second child's asthma condition is worse than the first one. We observed 2 children with DPS-P of 0.74 and 0.72, respectively, both not well controlled according to DPS-P criteria. According to their ACT, the same 2 children were classified as very poorly controlled (ACT score=13) and well controlled (ACT score=24). Furthermore, their DPS-T was 1.70 and 0.76, respectively. The latter's scores are consistent with the DPS-P but also show that the first child is relatively worse off than the second child. Note also that differently classified children in the 3 categories were deployed in the allergy season, accounting for a higher SS during the allergy season, which was not captured by the ACT. Thus, DPS has the potential to provide more contemporary and timely gauge of a child's asthma control.

Next, we provide further observations based on DPS-T and CCS. We observed that 50% of very poorly controlled children

were poorly compliant, 20% well compliant, and 30% highly compliant. In the not well-controlled children cohort, 42.9% were poorly compliant, 28.6% well compliant, and 28.6% highly compliant. The well controlled children were 48.4% poorly compliant, 16.1% well compliant, and 35.5% highly compliant.

Figure 5 shows the distribution of ACT score and DPS-P. Figure 6 shows the distribution of ACT score and DPS-T.

To better quantify the relationship between the distribution of ACT scores and the DPS, we used Kendall Tau correlation metric to analyze the concordance between them [22,23]. We observed a negative correlation between ACT scores with both DPS-T and DPS-P and calculated them as -0.509^{**} , and -0.509^{**} , respectively, (P<.01). The negative correlation accords well with that the fact the ACT scores and DPSs are inversely related. Unsurprisingly, we also observed a positive correlation between DPS-T and DPS-P as 0.921^{**} (P<.01).

We also explored potential reasons for the varying asthma control by analyzing CCS, reflecting how well a child follows the asthma management protocol in terms of controller medication intake. We observed that 47.6% of the study participants were poorly compliant (according to CCS), 20.7% were well compliant, and 31.7% were highly compliant toward their controller medication use.

Figure 5. Distribution of Asthma Control Test score and Digital Phenotype Score calculated using Partial Symptom Score across the study population.





Figure 6. Distribution of Asthma Control Test Score and Digital Phenotype Score calculated using Total Symptom Score across the study population.



Discussion

Principal Findings

Suboptimal adherence to asthma therapy in children has been shown to result in poor disease control and increased hospitalization. Our study highlights this important issue, demonstrating a 50% compliance with controller medication in a cohort of children under the care of asthma specialists, which can be improved. In addition, almost 66% compliance with kHealth kit was achieved in this cohort. The 66% compliance with kHealth kit in this cohort appears to be highly encouraging, especially given the relative complexity of the kit (eg, need to connect with Wi-Fi or use a dongle) and the fact that DCH generally serves families in the medium to lower socioeconomic measures, including inner city. The kit compliance is the measure of the number of days the child took the kHealth kit reading during the deployment duration (1 or 3 months). This shows the potential to improve adherence by motivating children and parents. Several studies have demonstrated an increased adherence when data from electronic monitoring were shared with participants [9]. In children with asthma, an improvement in the use of preventive medication has been demonstrated when feedback was provided at each clinic visit [24]. The clinicians and researchers can be involved in patient-led and patient-centered digital health design [25]. It can encourage patients to share their data with their clinician or the researchers involved. It can be used to learn about the patient's online networks and educate the patient by connecting with them and strengthening the network. The kHealth study offers an intervention for improving asthma control level as determined using the DPS. It demonstrates an opportunity for timely identification of children who are not well controlled or poorly

controlled, and on the basis of their compliance, offer guidance for further intervention. For instance, for poorly compliant children, the parent or guardian can provide timely reminders to improve compliance for taking controller medication. In fact, this is also an opportunity to automatically generate friendly and timely reminders in a later version of our kHealth app, IRB approval permitting. For well complaint children, the clinician may decide to reevaluate medication and its dosage.

Several reasons can account for the discrepancy between assessments based on the ACT score and the DPS-P/DPS-T. The primary reason seems to be that the ACT was administered before the deployment of the kHealth kit and, in a number of cases, at the onset of the allergy season. Hence, there can be a mismatch between the relatively good asthma control level during trigger-free environment as compared with the asthma control level during allergy season. Furthermore, these same children are unlikely to return for a follow-up appointment (because their asthma is well controlled according to ACT and as dictated by the current practice are not required to take ACT at the end of the study period), and hence, we have no way to obtain ACT scores specifically summarizing the child's condition during the allergy period for these specific study data. In addition, the ACT scores are based on child's self-reporting and memory of episodes of past 4 weeks, running the risk of missing out on the fine-grained details that the kHealth can capture reliably and effortlessly (with its passive components). The kHealth app asks questions similar to ACT twice a day, providing a detailed day-to-day insight into the child's condition. ACT scores provide an abstract, subjective, and cumulative picture of the child, whereas the kHealth app additionally provides an objective and a more granular insight into the child's environment, activities, medication intake, and so on. Also note

that ACT questions abstract away occurrences of a number of symptoms per day by considering only the number of days the symptoms appear, whereas DPS-T captures such additional fine-grained detail. The DPS-P was developed to approximate and generalize information sought in ACT questionnaire. Thus, DPS-T is able to distinguish between 2 children who experience a different number of symptoms every day that DPS-P is not sensitive to. As with ACT, we still do not distinguish the acuteness of different symptoms with respect to asthma. Using the DPS-based control levels and CCS, we can provide actionable insights (interventional steps) devised in consultation with our clinician partner as described in Table 7.

Limitations

Children were enrolled on a first-come-first-serve basis, as the study was designed to demonstrate (1) feasibility of the kHealth system approach involving acceptability and usability, (2) robustness of the kHealth kit, quality, and consistency of measurements that provide clinically relevant data not currently available to the clinician (including assessing the relevance of patient-generated data and environmental data), and (3) maximize recruitment. Specifically, we had not planned the kHealth kit deployment for a child to coincide with their asthma exacerbation season or only in allergy season. We also did not deploy the kit for a longer duration (ie, half a year or year round) using the current IRB-approved protocol so as to straddle both nonallergy and allergy seasons to contrast the behaviors on normal days from allergy exposure days.

Several future options can further increase compliance, such as (1) use of more integrated sensors if the cost is acceptable [26], (2) higher monetary incentive for participation, (3) nonmonetary incentive including the clinician's feedback during a follow-up consult, and (4) more close-up monitoring such as nurse coordinators calling the parent of the children who are delinquent in using the app during the early days of the participation.

Table 7. Actionable insight using Digital Phenotype Score and Controller Compliance Score.

Controller compliance	Very poorly controlled	Not well controlled	Well controlled
Highly compliant	Increase the medication dosage or change/add medication. Identify environmental triggers for mitiga- tion.	Increase the medication dosage or change/add medication. Identify environmental triggers for mitiga- tion.	Maintain therapy. Consider chang- ing the medication or its dosage.
Well compliant	Increase the medication dosage or add medications; provide appropri- ate preventative suggestions.	Increase the medication dosage or add medications; provide appropri- ate preventative suggestions.	Maintain therapy. Consider chang- ing the medication or its dosage.
Poorly compliant	Identify barriers to adherence and intervene.	Identify barriers to adherence and intervene.	Reassess diagnosis and modify therapy.

Children were given ACT before kHealth kit deployment, but the ACT was not repeated after the kHealth study period. Moreover, 57 of the 82 cohorts had recorded and available ACT scores. These factors made it difficult to more comprehensively validate our diagnosis based on the digital phenotype approach (DPS-P and DPS-T) against the ACT. Our extensive use of sensors and technology to collect a large variety of data, although novel, had resulted in initial challenges for reliable collection of data, ease of deployment, and use with implications on child compliance. To address these issues, the app underwent multiple design iterations to improve the data retention, usability in terms of intended functionality and connectivity, compliance, and reliability on passive sensing. In particular, 1 sensor used for nitric oxide measurement during the initial trial was removed by the manufacturer from the market and was replaced by the peak flow meter. The accuracy and usefulness of a number of sensors were assessed before starting the study [11].

Conclusions

RenderX

We have shown that the kHealth app is robust and reliable for use by the pediatric patient and can provide meaningful information to a clinician. We were able to clearly determine, at the cohort level, the relative distribution of children with different ACT scores into different control-level classes, as classified by digital phenotype approach. We also have evidence that tracking the children can not only shed light on their health condition but also provide actionable insight based on their adherence to asthma care plan. Specifically, we expect the digital phenotype and compliance data to be able to provide clinicians with detailed evidence much more transparently and in a more timely manner than the ACT. kHeath asthma was an observational study and lacked an intervention arm. Future trials assessing the impact of feedback derived from digital monitoring on adherence with asthma therapy in children are needed.

Future Work

We plan to conduct a follow-up study that evaluates children over longer periods, covering both allergy and nonallergy seasons. We would like to identify factors affecting asthma at a personalized level as a means to detect the triggers that cause the asthma-related symptoms, monitor the control level, and predict the potential for asthma exacerbation to minimize emergency room visits. This can also help us educate parents and children to improve asthma management and to empower clinicians via an evidence-based approach to obtain better outcomes for each child. We expect the digital phenotype approach and the monitoring of controller medication compliance developed here to be useful in modifying the care protocol and will use them to design a follow-up study as an interventional step. At a broader level, we seek to enhance health care and chronic disease management by aggregating, analyzing, and personalizing the use of relevant physical, cyber, and social data obtained from wearables, sensors, mobile apps, EMRs, Web-based information, and social media. We also seek to

develop tailored health management strategies suitable for all ages and at different levels, including self-monitoring, self-appraisal, self-management, intervention, prediction, and tracking disease progression, as identified in our Augmented Personalized Healthcare approach [27,28]. Ultimately, we expect evidence-based disease management to help in reducing the overall cost of care while simultaneously improving quality of life.

Acknowledgments

This research is supported by National Institutes of Health under the Grant Number 1 R01HD087132. The content of this study is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 kHealth Wikipedia and kHealthDash Demo Video. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 20KB - pediatrics v1i2e11988 app1.pdf]

References

- 1. Thoracic. Asthma Costs the U.S. Economy More than \$80 Billion Per Year URL: <u>https://www.thoracic.org/about/newsroom/</u> press-releases/journal/asthma-costs-the-us-economy-more-than-80-billion-per-year.php [accessed 2018-08-20] [WebCite Cache ID 71ott1LVA]
- 2. Jaimini U. CDC. 2018. Asthma Surveillance Data URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/asthma/asthmadata.htm</u> [accessed 2018-08-20] [WebCite Cache ID 71ouNySX7]
- van den Bemt L, Kooijman S, Linssen V, Lucassen P, Muris J, Slabbers G, et al. How does asthma influence the daily life of children? Results of focus group interviews. Health Qual Life Outcomes 2010 Jan 14;8:5 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1477-7525-8-5] [Medline: 20074334]
- 4. Bime C, Gerald JK, Wei CY, Holbrook JT, Teague WG, Wise RA, et al. Measurement characteristics of the childhood Asthma-Control Test and a shortened, child-only version. NPJ Prim Care Respir Med 2016 Dec 20;26:16075 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/npjpcrm.2016.75] [Medline: 27763622]
- 5. Carroll W. Limitations of asthma control questionnaires in the management and follow up of childhood asthma. Paediatr Respir Rev 2013 Dec;14(4):229-231 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.prrv.2013.06.007] [Medline: 23916401]
- Jain SH, Powers BW, Hawkins JB, Brownstein JS. The digital phenotype. Nat Biotechnol 2015 May 12;33(5):462-463. [doi: <u>10.1038/nbt.3223</u>] [Medline: <u>25965751</u>]
- 7. Knoesis. kHealth : Proactive Personalized Actionable Information for Better Healthcare URL: <u>http://knoesis.org/sites/</u> <u>default/files/VLDB-PDA-workshop-kHealth-2014.pdf</u> [accessed 2018-11-02] [WebCite Cache ID 73dsnMyFn]
- Bender BG, Bartlett SJ, Rand CS, Turner C, Wamboldt FS, Zhang L. Impact of interview mode on accuracy of child and parent report of adherence with asthma-controller medication. Pediatrics 2007 Sep;120(3):e471-e477 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.2006-3457] [Medline: 17698578]
- Bender B, Wamboldt FS, O'Connor SL, Rand C, Szefler S, Milgrom H, et al. Measurement of children's asthma medication adherence by self report, mother report, canister weight, and Doser CT. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 2000 Nov;85(5):416-421 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>11101187</u>]
- Merchant R, Inamdar R, Henderson K, Barrett M, Su JG, Riley J, et al. Digital Health Intervention for Asthma: Patient-Reported Value and Usability. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Jun 04;6(6):e133 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.7362] [Medline: 29866644]
- Jaimini U, Banerjee T, Romine W, Thirunarayan K, Sheth A, Kalra M. Investigation of an Indoor Air Quality Sensor for Asthma Management in Children. IEEE Sens Lett 2017 Apr;1(2) [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1109/LSENS.2017.2691677] [Medline: 29082361]
- Jaimini U, Banerjee T, Romine W, Thirunarayan K, Sheth A, Kalra M. Investigation of an Indoor Air Quality Sensor for Asthma Management in Children. IEEE Sens Lett 2017 Apr;1(2) [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1109/LSENS.2017.2691677] [Medline: 29082361]
- Tinschert P, Jakob R, Barata F, Kramer J, Kowatsch T. The Potential of Mobile Apps for Improving Asthma Self-Management: A Review of Publicly Available and Well-Adopted Asthma Apps. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2017 Aug 02;5(8):e113 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.7177] [Medline: 28768606]
- 14. Jaimini U. Cloud.google. 2018. URL: <u>https://cloud.google.com/security/compliance/</u> [accessed 2018-08-20] [WebCite Cache ID 71ouKyITU]
- 15. Sensor Data Streams Correlation Platform for Asthma Management. Dayton: Wright State University; May 29, 2018.

- 16. Knoesis. kHealth Digital Personalized Healthcare technology for Pediatric Asthma URL: <u>http://knoesis.org/sites/default/</u> <u>files/mHealth%20Poster-min.pdf</u> [accessed 2018-11-02] [WebCite Cache ID 73dtNd07W]
- Liu AH, Zeiger RS, Sorkness CA, Ostrom NK, Chipps BE, Rosa K, et al. The Childhood Asthma Control Test: retrospective determination and clinical validation of a cut point to identify children with very poorly controlled asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2010 Aug;126(2):267-73, 273.e1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2010.05.031] [Medline: 20624640]
- Nathan RA, Sorkness CA, Kosinski M, Schatz M, Li JT, Marcus P, et al. Development of the asthma control test: a survey for assessing asthma control. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2004 Jan;113(1):59-65 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2003.09.008] [Medline: 14713908]
- 19. Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JB. The PHQ-9: validity of a brief depression severity measure. J Gen Intern Med 2001 Sep;16(9):606-613 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 11556941]
- 20. National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute. Guidelines for the Diagnosis and Management of Asthma (EPR-3) URL: <u>https://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/health-topics/guidelines-for-diagnosis-management-of-asthma</u> [accessed 2018-11-02] [WebCite Cache ID 73dsSOBrY]
- 21. Sharma S, Chen K, Sheth A. Toward Practical Privacy-Preserving Analytics for IoT and Cloud-Based Healthcare Systems. IEEE Internet Comput 2018 Mar;22(2):42-51 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1109/MIC.2018.112102519]
- 22. Zhang H, Liu C, Wang X. An Association Test for Multiple Traits Based on the Generalized Kendall's Tau. J Am Stat Assoc 2010 Jun;105(490):473-481 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1198/jasa.2009.ap08387] [Medline: 20711441]
- 23. Pimentel, Niewiadomska-Bugaj M, Wang J. Association of zero-inflated continuous variables. Statistics & Probability Letters 2015 Jan;96:61-67. [doi: 10.1016/j.spl.2014.09.002]
- 24. Burgess SW, Sly PD, Devadason SG. Providing feedback on adherence increases use of preventive medication by asthmatic children. J Asthma 2010 Mar;47(2):198-201 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3109/02770900903483840] [Medline: 20170329]
- 25. Birnbaum F, Lewis D, Rosen RK, Ranney ML. Patient engagement and the design of digital health. Acad Emerg Med 2015 Jun;22(6):754-756 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/acem.12692] [Medline: 25997375]
- Dieffenderfer J, Goodell H, Mills S, McKnight M, Yao S, Lin F, et al. Low-Power Wearable Systems for Continuous Monitoring of Environment and Health for Chronic Respiratory Disease. IEEE J Biomed Health Inform 2016 Dec;20(5):1251-1264 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1109/JBHI.2016.2573286] [Medline: 27249840]
- 27. Sheth A, Jaimini U, Yip HY. How Will the Internet of Things Enable Augmented Personalized Health? IEEE Intell Syst 2018;33(1):89-97 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1109/MIS.2018.012001556] [Medline: 29887765]
- 28. Knoesis. Augmented Personalized Health: Using Semantically Integrated Multimodal Data for Patient Empowered Health Management Strategies URL: <u>http://knoesis.org/sites/default/files/NIH%20mHealth%20APH%20Poster%20%282018%29.</u> pdf [accessed 2018-11-02] [WebCite Cache ID 73dtW8JT4]

Abbreviations

ACT: Asthma Control Test AcS: Activity Score AwS: Awakening Score **CCS:** Controller Compliance Score DCH: Dayton Children's Hospital **DPS:** Digital Phenotype Score DPS-T: Digital Phenotype Score calculated using Total Symptom Score **DPS-P:** Digital Phenotype Score calculated using Partial Symptom Score EMR: electronic medical record HIPAA: Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act IRB: institutional review board NHLBI: National Heart Lung Blood Institute **PSS:** Partial Symptom Score **RS:** Rescue Score SS: symptom score **TSS:** Total Symptom Score



Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 20.08.18; peer-reviewed by R Merchant, D Carpenter; comments to author 14.09.18; revised version received 05.10.18; accepted 23.10.18; published 30.11.18. <u>Please cite as:</u> Jaimini U, Thirunarayan K, Kalra M, Venkataraman R, Kadariya D, Sheth A "How Is My Child's Asthma?" Digital Phenotype and Actionable Insights for Pediatric Asthma JMIR Pediatr Parent 2018;1(2):e11988 URL: http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e11988/ doi:10.2196/11988

PMID:<u>31008446</u>

©Utkarshani Jaimini, Krishnaprasad Thirunarayan, Maninder Kalra, Revathy Venkataraman, Dipesh Kadariya, Amit Sheth. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 30.11.2018. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Smartphones for Real-time Assessment of Adherence Behavior and Symptom Exacerbation for High-Risk Youth with Asthma: Pilot Study

Ronald John Teufel II¹, MD, MSCR; Sachin K Patel², MSc; Anita B Shuler³, AS, BHA; Anne L Andrews¹, MD, MSCR; Michelle Nichols⁴, RN, PhD; Myla D Ebeling⁵, BA; Erin Dawley¹, BA; Martina Mueller⁴, PhD; Kenneth J Ruggiero^{2,6}, PhD; Frank A Treiber^{2,6}, PhD

¹Division of General Pediatrics, Department of Pediatrics, Medical University of South Carolina, Charleston, SC, United States

³Children's Hospital, Medical University of South Carolina, Charleston, SC, United States

⁴College of Nursing, Medical University of South Carolina, Charleston, SC, United States

⁵Division of Neonatology, Department of Pediatrics, Medical University of South Carolina, Charleston, SC, United States

⁶Department of Psychiatry, Medical University of South Carolina, Charleston, SC, United States

Corresponding Author:

Ronald John Teufel II, MD, MSCR Division of General Pediatrics Department of Pediatrics Medical University of South Carolina 135 Rutledge Avenue Charleston, SC, 29401 United States Phone: 1 843 876 8512 Fax: 1 843 876 8709 Email: <u>teufelr@musc.edu</u>

Abstract

Background: Youth with asthma who have poor medication adherence, have limited access to care, and are frequently seen in the acute care setting are often termed "high risk."

Objective: This study aimed to design and test the feasibility of using smartphone technology to assess contextual factors that may impact changes in daily medication adherence and to identify new symptom episodes among high-risk youth with asthma in their home environment.

Methods: Youth aged 8-17 years with high-risk asthma from 2 children's hospitals were eligible for the 2-month study. An app was downloaded on participants' phones at enrollment. Daily text message (short message service) reminders were sent to complete ecological momentary assessment of asthma symptoms and other contextual factors such as emotional state using the app. Bluetooth inhaler devices were used to record timestamps of inhaler use with the ability to review and manually enter data. The acceptability was assessed with surveys, key informant interviews (KII), and frequency of days with asthma data. KII data were used in an iterative design approach to identify challenges, strengths, and suggestions for maximizing use. Generalized linear mixed modeling was used to preliminarily explore contextual factors associated with changes in daily adherence.

Results: We enrolled 14 children aged 8-16 years (13/14, 93% were African Americans). Over the 2-month study period, participants reported coughing (42/110, 38%), wheezing (8/111, 7%), chest tightness (9/109, 8%), boredom (57/109, 52%), and 10 new asthma symptom episodes. The controller medication adherence was 30%, which increased significantly on days with asthma symptoms or boredom. Data were received on 89% (606/681) of study days. Surveys and KIIs suggest acceptability among youth and their caregivers. Challenges reported during the study included lost or damaged phones and available memory.

Conclusions: Youth and their caregivers reported the acceptability of using smartphones for real-time asthma monitoring. Overall, the controller medication adherence was low but increased significantly on days with reported asthma symptoms or boredom, suggesting that daily contextual factors may be associated with a change in the adherence behavior.

²Technology Applications Center for Healthful Lifestyles, College of Nursing, Medical University of South Carolina, Charleston, SC, United States

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2018;1(2):e8) doi:10.2196/pediatrics.9796

KEYWORDS

children; ecological momentary assessment; medication adherence; medication monitoring device; mHealth; mobile phone; symptoms; youth

Introduction

Asthma impacts the lives of 7 million children in the United States costing US \$9 billion annually with emergency department and hospital admissions accounting for half of these costs [1-4]. Children with frequent emergency department and hospital visits are often termed "high risk" and more likely to be from a minority race or ethnicity and experience unique barriers such as decreased access to care and more severe disease [5]. Uncontrolled asthma and frequent exacerbations not only negatively impact health but also the quality of life and school attendance, and contribute to missed parental work days [6,7]. Effective preventive care strategies exist to control asthma and prevent its negative outcomes. However, these treatments are seldom delivered with satisfactory adherence among high-risk youth with asthma [8]. Medication adherence among children is further complicated as responsibility for controller inhaler medication delivery gradually transitions from parents to youth. Less than 20% of children aged 7 years are responsible for asthma medication self-management compared with 100% of 19-year-olds' with asthma [9].

Barriers to controller medication adherence among youth with asthma include forgetfulness, poor asthma knowledge and false beliefs, child avoidance of inhaler use at school, and parental stress with medication delivery [10-14]. Less is known about other social and emotional contextual factors (eg, anger, boredom, and symptoms), and how changes in these factors over time impact the day-to-day adherence behavior for youth with asthma. Emotional factors, such as anger or panic, are frequently reported in association with asthma symptoms, but their effect on asthma self-management including adherence is poorly understood [15,16]. Daily experiences such as mood and motivation have been shown to impact medication adherence in other disease states [17]. Previous studies examining effects of contextual factors on the asthma medication adherence have been based on retrospective surveys, self-reported adherence, and asthma diaries, which are time-consuming, potentially biased, and costly. The adoption of smartphones may offer a solution.

Nearly 75% of US youth have or have access to a smartphone, 92% report going online daily with any mobile device, and 24% report going online "almost constantly" [18]. Ecological momentary assessment (EMA) is an established technique developed within behavioral sciences that enables researchers to monitor disease symptoms, emotional state, and other contextual factors frequently in a real-time natural environment avoiding recall bias [19,20]. The patient-reported inhaler use collected through the EMA has been correlated with validated severity self-report measures (eg, Asthma Control Test) and used in clinical trials with smartphone-based interventions [20,21]. Medication adherence devices previously used in clinical trials are now emerging as a practical tool for clinical

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e8/
```

practice as they readily connect with smartphones via Bluetooth technology, avoiding inaccuracies associated with self-report [22]. This emerging adherence technology combined with the near-universal adoption of smartphones enables real-time assessments of medication use and patient symptoms and mood, reducing the required effort and cost of attaining real-time assessments of youth with asthma, which may facilitate a better understanding of factors influencing daily changes in adherence behavior [23].

This study aimed to design and pilot-test the feasibility of the Smartphone Asthma Monitoring System (SAMS) that utilizes Bluetooth inhaler monitoring and EMA of contextual factors for youth with high-risk asthma. We used an iterative design approach to maximize participant acceptability among high-risk youth with asthma and their families to address specific barriers to using the technology. Secondarily, this study aimed to explore contextual factors that may impact daily adherence behavior (eg, anger, boredom, or asthma symptoms), as well as understand the utility of the collected data for the identification of newly symptomatic patients.

Methods

Study Population

Youth aged 8-17 years were eligible for participation in this 2-month study. The inclusion criteria were as follows: (1) high-risk asthma, defined as patient having emergency department or hospital visit for asthma in the previous 12 months or the child's primary asthma provider in the outpatient setting having the opinion that the youth is high risk for future asthma visits to the emergency department or hospital owing to concern for noncompliance or poorly controlled asthma; (2) prescribed a controller and rescue medication compatible with Bluetooth inhaler cap; (3) caregiver or youth own and are able to use a smartphone compatible with Bluetooth devices; (4) English speaking; (5) identified primary care provider with at least one visit in the last year; and (6) ≥ 1 identified caregiver present for enrollment. This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board at the Medical University of South Carolina.

mHealth Platform

Overview

The SAMS team used an iterative design process with frequent youth, caregiver, and provider engagement to develop a secure mHealth platform. The platform includes a smartphone app (Android operating system) and Bluetooth inhaler caps for enrollees and a Web-based portal for providers or investigators. The app serves the following 4 major functions: (1) manual medication use entry; (2) EMA questionnaire completion; (3) access to inhaler use history; and (4) tracking study compensation (Figure 1).

Figure 1. Screenshot of the Android smartphone app home screen. Image Source: Ronald J Teufel II.





XSL•FO RenderX

Table 1. Reported asthma symptoms and mood association with changes in daily adherence.

Ecological momentary	Change in adherence ^a					
assessment	Not at all	A little	A lot	Extremely		
Are you coughing?	Reference	+6.8% (-3.3% to 16.9%)	+10.5% (-19.1% to 40.1%)	N/A ^b		
Are you wheezing?	Reference	+1.0% (-15.0% to 17%)	N/A	N/A		
Does your chest feel tight?	Reference	+8.0% (-7.4% to 23.5%)	N/A	N/A		
Are you stressed?	Reference	+4.1% (-10% to 18.2%)	N/A	-1.7% (-42.4% to 39.1%)		
Are you angry?	Reference	+7.3 % (-9.2% to 23.7%)	+11.1% (-30.0% to 52.3%)	+7.4% (-16.9% to 31.7%)		
Are you bored?	Reference	+2.4 (-7.3 to 12.1)	+11.3 (-16.8% to 39.3%)	+20.3 (2.4% to 38.2%) ^c		
Are you happy?	+4.5% (-15.2% to 24.1%)	-2.6% (-15.8% to 10.7%)	+3.1% (-6.5% to 12.7%)	Reference		
Are you relaxed?	+3.9% (-12.5% to 20.3%)	+0.4 (-14.9% to 15.7%)	-0.8% (-11.1% to 9.4%)	Reference		

^aEstimates were obtained from generalized linear mixed modeling accounting for the longitudinal nature of data, with patients included as random effect.

^bN/A: Not applicable.

^c*P*=.03.

Ecological Momentary Assessments

Our team of asthma providers and behavioral scientists developed EMA questions to assess youth symptoms (eg, coughing, wheezing, and chest feeling tight) and contextual factors, such as emotional state (eg, stressed, angry, bored, happy, and relaxed), relevant to asthma or adherence behavior. To help ensure question clarity, we piloted EMA questions with 3 youth aged 8-15 years and their parents in a small group session before study recruitment. The app was designed to enable youth and caregivers to answer EMA questions securely through their smartphone with minimal effort by clicking the "Questions" tab within the app. Table 1 and Multimedia Appendix 1 list the specific questions including the 4-point Likert scale.

Bluetooth Inhaler Caps

At enrollment, Bluetooth inhaler caps (CareTRX, Cambridge, MA) were attached to both rescue and controller inhalers, paired with the child's or caregiver's smartphone, and successful transfer of data was assessed. Enrollees were instructed to use the inhalers with the cap attached and transfer the cap if a new inhaler was obtained. The caps can store up to 400 inhaler use events. Once the smartphone and cap were within the Bluetooth range (approximately 15-20 feet), the inhaler use data automatically downloaded to the phone. The timestamps were immediately transferred to the Web-based portal and were viewable within the SAMS app in the "Inhaler History" tab. Participants were permitted to enter controller or rescue medication use manually (under the tab "Medication taken") to address situations in which Bluetooth caps were not communicating with the smartphone or in the event of other barriers to data transfer.

Web-Based Portal for Providers

A Web-based portal was designed for providers to document and store enrollment information (eg, email, telephone number, and study identification number) and enable review of youth asthma data in real time. The app securely transferred all data

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e8/
```

to the Web-based portal on an encrypted server. The portal has the capability to automatically process data and send preprogrammed reminders (eg, inhaler use or study protocol reminders) or reports (eg, adherence or symptoms reports) to patients, caregivers, or providers through email, smartphone reminders, or short message service (SMS) text messages.

Study Design

Enrollment and Procedures

Recruitment occurred from 2 university children's hospitals and affiliated ambulatory clinics (Medical University of South Carolina and University of South Carolina or Palmetto Health) between August 2015 and November 2016. Referrals were received from physicians, respiratory therapists, nurse practitioners, and pharmacists performing inpatient medication reconciliation. After informed consent was obtained, youth and parents were instructed on how to download the SAMS app, including software for Bluetooth inhaler caps. Children and parents received a demonstration of the SAMS app and Bluetooth inhaler caps. Study personnel documented age, race, ethnicity, comorbid diagnosis, and medications based on caregiver report and provider notes. All participants were instructed to enter EMAs daily. Participants received daily SMS text message reminders to complete their 8-item EMA questionnaire. Participants did not receive reminders to take their asthma medications.

Participants returned for a final study visit including a usability survey and key informant interviews (KII) after the 2-month study period. Parents of the enrolled youth were given gift cards of US \$50 at enrollment and US \$150 at the final study visit to compensate for their time, travel, and any additional cell phone charges accrued during the study.

Usability Survey

The usability survey was designed based off the concepts of ease of use, and intention to use from the technology acceptability model [24]. The survey was modified from previous technology development projects and used a 5-point

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

Likert scale (strongly disagree to strongly agree) [25]. We also included questions regarding comfort with monitoring their disease by a smartphone based on our clinical asthma providers' early feedback that youth and families may not feel comfortable with providers knowing details on medication use.

Key Informant Interviews

Semistructured exit KII were conducted with participants (youth and parents) to better understand their experience with SAMS and how the design could be improved. Interviews were audiorecorded, transcribed, deidentified, and reviewed by our team to identify elements that could be redesigned to improve the ease of use. A more extensive qualitative analysis considering behavioral theory (eg, self-determination theory) will be reported separately.

Changes to mHealth Platform Through Iterative Design

Recruitment was suspended at the midpoint of the pilot study (ie, after enrollee #7) to implement the identified redesigned elements. The redesign included a 4-digit auto-log-in (Figure 2), individualized SMS text message reminders and offer of technical support when no EMA data were reported over any 3-day period, and SMS text message delivery at enrollment and upon request with a link to reload the app on replacement phones.

Outcomes

Medication Use and Adherence

Adherence to the controller medication (inhaled corticosteroids) regimen was calculated daily in 12-hour increments (12:00 am

to 11:59 am and 12:00 pm to 11:59 pm) as the number of doses prescribed compared with the number taken over 12 hours to avoid the impact of medication overdosing and dumping [26,27]. The study group's adherence was calculated by averaging daily adherence. Duplicative data (from Bluetooth cap and manual entry) were excluded at the time of data analysis if the device subsequently paired with the smartphone and transferred data.

Assessment of Asthma Symptom Day and New Asthma Symptom Episodes

Any day with reported asthma symptoms (eg, cough, wheezing, or chest tightness) was considered an asthma symptom day for that enrollee. Asthma symptoms days reported through the EMA immediately following enrollment were considered part of an initial asthma exacerbation. To test the feasibility of using EMA to detect new or recurrent asthma symptom episodes for early intervention, we developed a definition of new asthma symptom episodes to be applied to EMA data over the 2-month study period.

New asthma symptom episodes required (1) reporting asthma symptoms a minimum of 7 days postenrollment and (2) at least one EMA reported without asthma symptoms in the interim period. A participant was permitted to have >1 new asthma symptom episode during the 2-month study period, but the events had to be separated by a report with no asthma symptoms.



Figure 2. Screenshots of an Android smartphone app for youth and caregivers, including 4-digit log-in. Image Source: Ronald J Teufel II.



Emergency Department and Hospital Visits

A statewide clinical data warehouse developed and maintained by Health Sciences South Carolina was used to collect information on asthma-related emergency department and hospital visits for study participants. The data warehouse contains over 2.7 million unique patients encountered in the inpatient, outpatient, and emergency department from 11 member institutions, including both enrollment sites for this study [28]. Visits were reported in categories of 2- and 6-month pre- and postenrollment.

Data Acquisition as Outcome

This pilot feasibility study was performed to engage participants (youth and caregivers) in the design of a mobile technology

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e8/

RenderX

approach to facilitate frequent information exchange about inhaler use and asthma symptoms with a clinical provider. The frequency of days with data acquired on inhaler use and asthma symptoms was viewed as an indicator of both the usability by youth and their parents and feasibility.

Statistical Analysis

Our analysis included descriptive statistics for demographics, comorbid diagnosis, medications, the usability survey results, and percentage of days with asthma data acquired (EMA data or any asthma data including inhaler use or EMA). We analyzed the percent of days with data acquired before and after the app redesign using t test. We further investigated differences in the EMA reporting frequency by age, gender, and weekend versus

weekday reporting with Pearson correlation coefficients or t tests. We used generalized linear mixed models with daily reports of asthma symptoms and emotional state predicting the outcome of daily adherence to controller medication accounting for the random effect of individual participants to explore whether the adherence behavior may be associated with individual EMA responses [17,23]. The models included a time variable for each study day to account for the longitudinal nature of our data with repeated measures of symptoms and EMA responses over time. This analysis enabled more accurate correlation between daily factors as it accounted for clustering on the patient level (eg, individual enrollee lower or higher adherence). Encounters for asthma in the emergency department or hospital during the 2-month study period were explored with participant-level data on reported asthma symptoms to determine whether preceding signals exist for an acute care encounter. Statistical analyses were performed using SAS version 9.4 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC, USA, 2013).

Results

Study Population

In this study, we enrolled 14 youth aged 8-16 years and their parents (Table 2). Of the 20 patients screened for enrollment, 14 (70%) participated in this study. While 4 patients screened did not meet the inclusion criteria (age <8 years, not on a controller medication, uncertain access to cellular service because of leaving country of residence for the majority of study period, or noncompatible smartphone), 1 participant consented but medication changes immediately after consenting no longer met the inclusion criteria. Of patients who were referred and met the inclusion criteria, only 1 declined participation citing they preferred to avoid research studies. Partial EMA or adherences data were used for 3 patients because of smartphones being reported as lost or damaged.

Demographics and Clinical Characteristics

Among 14 participants, 13 were defined as high-risk asthma because of emergency department or hospital visit within past 12 months, and 1 was included because of the consideration of high risk by the primary provider. Overall, 14 patients reported comorbid diagnoses, including attention deficit hyperactive disorder (3/14), allergic rhinitis (2/14), eczema (3/14), food allergies (1/14), gastroesophageal reflux disease (1/14), obstructive sleep apnea (1/14), and vasovagal syncope (1/14). All patients were receiving both controller and rescue medications. Additional medications at the time of enrollment included antihistamines (5/14), nasal steroids (3/14), leukotriene receptor antagonists (1/14), proton-pump inhibitors or H_2 blockers (2/14), oral corticosteroids (4/14 total with 3/14 having a 3- to 5-day course of oral prednisone and 1/14 oral dexamethasone), stimulant medications (2/14), and Omalizumab (1/14). The overall controller medication adherence was 30%.

Youth and Caregiver Usability and Response to Redesign

Multimedia Appendix 2 presents usability survey responses. All youth and parents agreed or strongly agreed with the statement "I feel comfortable with a doctor or a nurse monitoring my health information using mobile technology." During the exit interview, 1 parent stated, "I had no challenges, at all" "it was easy, and I'm not technology savvy." Another parent highlighted the benefits of smartphone use over using computers through her statement of "...a lot of people, with the phone, they carry that everywhere. With your computer, most of the time you've gotta wait 'til you get home and check it'." Previous studies have also demonstrated African American adolescents, and their parents prefer technology interventions that are not based on a home computer platform [21]. Our iterative design process used enrollee feedback to inform the redesign of our technology-based approach for enrollees 8-14 to maximize the participant usability. Post-hoc analysis to determine the difference in the usability survey response before and after redesign was difficult because of the small cohort and frequent zero response in disagree or neutral categories. We did find the percent of enrollees who responded with agree or strongly to the overall look and feel of the App is visually appealing (question 3) increased nonsignificantly from 60% to 100% (P=.09).

Enrollees had asthma data collected, either inhaler use or EMA, on 89% of days with a significant increase when comparing enrollees before and after the redesign (86%-92%, P=.01). EMA data were obtained on 20% of study days for all enrollees and significantly increased after the redesign (10%-40%, P=.006). The redesign increased the data acquisition, and this might represent improvements in the ease of use. No significant differences were observed in the frequency of EMA reports by age (P=.48), gender (female 27% and male 13%, P=.28), or weekend versus weekday (14% and 22%, respectively, P=.09).



Table 2. Demographics of partcipants (N=14).

Demographics	Participants, n (%)
Age in years	
8-10	9 (64)
11-13	3 (21)
14-16	2 (14)
Gender	
Male	5 (36)
Female	9 (64)
Race	
White	0 (0)
Black	13 (93)
Other	1 (7)
Ethnicity	
Hispanic	0 (0)
Non-Hispanic	14 (100)
Insurance	
Medicaid	11 (79)
Private	1 (7)
Self-pay	2 (14)

Table 3. Clinical characteristics and medication adherence of partcipants.

Acute care visits including emergency department, hospital, or intensive care unit	Pre-enrollment (n)	Postenrollment (n)
2 months	4	1
6 months	5	3

Asthma Symptoms and Contextual Factors Impact on Adherence

EMA reports during the study period frequently included coughing (42/110, 38%), wheezing (8/111, 7%), chest tightness (9/109, 8%), stress (12/109, 11%), not relaxed (43/107, 40%), not happy (51/111, 46%), angry (11/111, 10%), and bored (57/109, 52%). In this population of high-risk youth with asthma, symptoms of wheezing or chest tightness were never reported beyond *a little* with only coughing being infrequently reported as *a lot*. Multimedia Appendix 1 provides a detailed description of responses. A total of 10 new asthma symptoms episodes were detected in the cohort over 2 months.

Our exploratory generalized linear mixed models indicated that the participants' controller medication adherence might increase on days when asthma symptoms (9.2%; 95% CI 0-18.5) or boredom were reported compared with days when reports demonstrated no asthma symptoms or boredom (Table 1). We investigated the impact of imputing missing report days as no symptom days and found a similar effect size but with a narrower CI (9.9% adherence; 95% CI 4-15). We explored this further and found the adherence was higher on days with reports of nonsymptoms than on nonreport days (35.1% vs 25.2% adherence, P<.001), suggesting nonreport days were similar to

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e8/

nonsymptom days but might represent days with even lower adherence. As nonreport days had significantly lower adherence, we excluded them from the analysis of contextual factors that impact the adherence to avoid overestimating the significance of symptoms on the adherence.

Pre- and Postenrollment Emergency Department and Hospital Visits

One patient experienced an emergency department visit while enrolled in the 2-month study compared with 4 acute care visits in the cohort 2 months pre-enrollment (Table 3). The 4 pre-enrollment acute care visits included one intensive care unit admission. In addition, 1 patient with an emergency department visit during the study period reported asthma symptoms in the days preceding the emergency department visit. During the 6 months pre-enrollment, our study cohort had 5 visits to the acute care setting, including the abovementioned intensive care unit visit compared with 3 acute care visits in the 6 months postenrollment.

Discussion

Principal Findings

Smartphone asthma monitoring was feasible and acceptable as reported by children and their families in a population of youth

XSL•FO RenderX

aged 8-16 years with high-risk asthma. The iterative design approach successfully used youth and family engagement to increase data attainment during the study period. Despite being a small-scale pilot trial, the smartphone approach resulted in high-frequency data attainment and began demonstrating statistical associations between reported asthma symptoms and emotional state and participants' daily adherence patterns. Understanding the reasons for daily adherence behavior among high-risk youth with asthma might lead to better-tailored interventions that maximize the adherence behavior. Nevertheless, larger studies should be performed to determine the generalizability of the findings.

Limitations

This feasibility trial was designed to test the acceptability and feasibility among patients, including the collection of real-time asthma data. It was not powered to find significant and generalizable differences in the adherence or other clinical outcomes. Additionally, the adherence rate (30%) reported in this trial, which was comparable to other studies, might have been artificially increased because of the Hawthorne Effect. Participants were aware of the medication monitoring and the intervention permitted patients to manually enter medication use when the Bluetooth devices ceased functioning. This approach was adopted as it was preferred by families. One parent noted their child had her inhalers at her grandparents one weekend and was away from the smartphone. Ultimately, the inhaler caps stored this information and the information was captured once in proximity to the smartphone. Thus, larger studies validating youth response to these symptom questions compared with other measures of risk, such as asthma control and emergency department use, are warranted. We cannot confirm the presence or absence of asthma symptoms reported with EMA, but previous studies suggested that this approach is valid in multiple disease states, including asthma [19,20,23]. Furthermore, individual participants may experience symptoms differently because of different body awareness, and this could impact their symptom reporting, particularly their severity of reported symptoms. More so, as a pilot study, we permitted the youth and parents to decide whether the child was to report symptoms alone or in collaboration with the parent. We used interviews to assess how the approach worked for them. Youth would frequently report symptoms alone but had discussions with their parent, which was consistent with the literature suggesting youth value a shared asthma experience with their caregiver and these ages are transitioning to the primary responsibility of asthma care. Unfortunately, we did not have an objective assessment to determine the degree of parental involvement in reporting, but this will be added to a subsequent larger study. Finally, this pilot study was conducted at 2 centers in a high-risk population; therefore, larger studies are needed to determine whether the results are generalizable to other populations.

Comparison with Prior Work

Asthma symptoms are known to vary over time because of numerous factors, including environmental exposures, medication adherence, physical exertion, and the natural progression of the disease. Mulvaney et al demonstrated that

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e8/
```

EMAs focused on asthma are associated with the established measures of asthma control (eg, Asthma Control Test) but also noted the difficulty in obtaining patient self-reported medication use [20]. Our study adds to this research by using newer technology for passive collection of medication use data, Bluetooth inhaler devices, and demonstrating an association of contextual factors, such as asthma symptoms and emotional state by EMA, with the adherence device data. The calculated adherence over days, weeks, months, and years is a series of discrete events occurring in patients' daily life that can be affected by mood and motivation. Research in other chronic diseases suggests that day-to-day factors such as control belief, mood, and social support affect daily adherence, often mediated by daily motivation [17]. Our pilot study furthers this investigation into a population of high-risk youth with asthma and suggests daily asthma symptoms and mood may impact their adherence; this suggests asthma symptoms, if recognized, may be a motivational tool for adherence in this population. Our finding associating boredom with higher adherence deserves further exploration. Boredom is typically considered a negative emotion but may also represent a time when youth are better able to adhere to medications as they are less preoccupied and distracted by other daily activities. Further studies may consider assessments of these and other momentary factors in the home environment among a larger cohort.

Ultimately, the recurrence of new asthma symptom episodes, which we observed 10 times, may be an antecedent to an emergency department or hospital visit. Although this study was not powered to determine the association of recurrent asthma symptoms and emergency department visits, it is noteworthy that our 1 patient with an emergency department visit reported recurrent asthma symptoms the day before their presentation to the acute care setting.

The recruitment process was designed to enroll high-risk patients with asthma to develop a technological tool specific to the unique needs of this population. Our participants were predominantly minority with comorbid diagnosis, insured by Medicaid, and experienced numerous acute care visits before enrollment. During KII conducted postintervention, all participants enrolled in this study indicated they had regular access to smartphones, although children who were at younger ages frequently used their parents' phones. The near-universal adoption of smartphone technology has the potential to improve access to care for high-risk children with asthma who can be difficult to reach and maintain in primary care practices.

Our technology design process included an iterative approach based on the frequent engagement pretrial and during the clinical trial's final visit. The redesign elements (eg, 4-digit automated log-in) determined by engagement were not resource-intensive but did result in a marked improvement in data accrual, supporting the importance of patient engagement when designing an mHealth platform [29-31]. The frequent rate of data accrual combined with survey and interview data consistently conveyed ease in the use of this approach. The concept of monitoring symptoms and medication use in real time in a patient's home environment could result in more timely care delivery based on current symptoms with fewer barriers to care. Ultimately, approaches to integrate technology to improve

XSL•FO

care processes for chronic disease, once monitoring is successful, are limitless. Huckvale et al noted common weaknesses in many asthma apps that should be considered in the design of future research; these include lack of consistency with best practice guidelines, ability to protect privacy, accounting for local variation in care, and demonstration of proven clinical efficacy [32,33].

Conclusions

Patients and families reported that using smartphones for real-time asthma monitoring was acceptable. The youth's daily medication adherence demonstrated a tendency to increase during days with reports of asthma symptoms or boredom. Future research should investigate other contextual factors that may impact changes in daily adherence behavior and approaches to effectively use monitoring with provider-informed interventions to improve adherence behavior and clinical outcomes.

Acknowledgments

This study was funded by the South Carolina Translational Research Institute (UL1 TR000062) and Health Sciences South Carolina.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Youth-reported asthma symptoms and emotional state with ecological momentary assessment over smartphones. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 25KB - pediatrics v1i2e8 app1.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 2

Patients and caregiver usability assessed by postintervention survey. SAMS: Smartphone Asthma Monitoring System. [PNG File, 190KB - pediatrics v1i2e8 app2.png]

References

- 1. Akinbami LJ, Moorman JE, Liu X. Asthma prevalence, health care use, and mortality: United States, 2005-2009. Natl Health Stat Report 2011 Jan 12(32):1-14 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 21355352]
- Roemer M. Estimates for U.S. Civilian Noninstitutionalized Children, Ages 0-17. Health Care Expenditures for the Five Most Common Children's Conditions, 2008 URL: <u>https://meps.ahrq.gov/data_files/publications/st349/stat349.pdf</u> [accessed 2018-08-30] [WebCite Cache ID 7244Mnun7]
- 3. Wang LY, Zhong Y, Wheeler L. Direct and indirect costs of asthma in school-age children. Prev Chronic Dis 2005 Jan;2(1):A11 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 15670464]
- 4. Weiss KB, Gergen PJ, Hodgson TA. An economic evaluation of asthma in the United States. N Engl J Med 1992 Mar 26;326(13):862-866. [doi: 10.1056/NEJM199203263261304] [Medline: 1542323]
- Halterman JS, Auinger P, Conn KM, Lynch K, Yoos HL, Szilagyi PG. Inadequate therapy and poor symptom control among children with asthma: findings from a multistate sample. Ambul Pediatr 2007;7(2):153-159. [doi: 10.1016/j.ambp.2006.11.007] [Medline: 17368410]
- 6. Rank MA, Liesinger JT, Ziegenfuss JY, Branda ME, Lim KG, Yawn BP, et al. Asthma expenditures in the United States comparing 2004 to 2006 and 1996 to 1998. Am J Manag Care 2012 Sep;18(9):499-504 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 23009300]
- Dean BB, Calimlim BM, Kindermann SL, Khandker RK, Tinkelman D. The impact of uncontrolled asthma on absenteeism and health-related quality of life. J Asthma 2009 Nov;46(9):861-866. [doi: <u>10.3109/02770900903184237</u>] [Medline: <u>19905909</u>]
- 8. Andrews AL, Teufel RJ, Basco WT. Low rates of controller medication initiation and outpatient follow-up after emergency department visits for asthma. J Pediatr 2012 Feb;160(2):325-330. [doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2011.07.037] [Medline: 21885062]
- Orrell-Valente JK, Jarlsberg LG, Hill LG, Cabana MD. At what age do children start taking daily asthma medicines on their own? Pediatrics 2008 Dec;122(6):e1186-e1192. [doi: <u>10.1542/peds.2008-0292</u>] [Medline: <u>19047221</u>]
- 10. Burgess SW, Sly PD, Morawska A, Devadason SG. Assessing adherence and factors associated with adherence in young children with asthma. Respirology 2008 Jun;13(4):559-563. [doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1843.2008.01292.x] [Medline: 18422868]
- Conn KM, Halterman JS, Fisher SG, Yoos HL, Chin NP, Szilagyi PG. Parental beliefs about medications and medication adherence among urban children with asthma. Ambul Pediatr 2005;5(5):306-310. [doi: <u>10.1367/A05-004R1.1</u>] [Medline: <u>16167856</u>]
- Conn KM, Halterman JS, Lynch K, Cabana MD. The impact of parents' medication beliefs on asthma management. Pediatrics 2007 Sep;120(3):e521-e526 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.2006-3023] [Medline: 17766496]

- Mosnaim G, Li H, Martin M, Richardson D, Belice PJ, Avery E, et al. Factors associated with levels of adherence to inhaled corticosteroids in minority adolescents with asthma. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 2014 Feb;112(2):116-120 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.anai.2013.11.021] [Medline: 24468250]
- Alexander DS, Geryk L, Arrindell C, DeWalt DA, Weaver MA, Sleath B, et al. Are children with asthma overconfident that they are using their inhalers correctly? J Asthma 2016;53(1):107-112 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3109/02770903.2015.1057848] [Medline: 26366974]
- 15. Rhee H, Fairbanks E, Butz A. Symptoms, feelings, activities and medication use in adolescents with uncontrolled asthma: lessons learned from asthma diaries. J Pediatr Nurs 2014;29(1):39-46 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pedn.2013.04.009] [Medline: 23685266]
- van Es SM, Kaptein AA, Bezemer PD, Nagelkerke AF, Colland VT, Bouter LM. Predicting adherence to prophylactic medication in adolescents with asthma: an application of the ASE-model. Patient Educ Couns 2002 Jun;47(2):165-171. [Medline: <u>12191540</u>]
- Cook PF, Schmiege SJ, Bradley-Springer L, Starr W, Carrington JM. Motivation as a Mechanism for Daily Experiences' Effects on HIV Medication Adherence. J Assoc Nurses AIDS Care 2018;29(3):383-393. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jana.2017.09.003</u>] [Medline: <u>28967490</u>]
- Pew Research Center. Washington, DC: Internet and Techonlogy; 2015. Teens, Social Media, & Technology URL: <u>http://www.pewinternet.org/2015/04/09/teens-social-media-technology-2015/</u> [accessed 2018-08-30] [WebCite Cache ID 7249uOCLb]
- MacDonell K, Gibson-Scipio W, Lam P, Naar-King S, Chen X. Text messaging to measure asthma medication use and symptoms in urban African American emerging adults: a feasibility study. J Asthma 2012 Dec;49(10):1092-1096. [doi: 10.3109/02770903.2012.733993] [Medline: 23106138]
- 20. Mulvaney SA, Ho Y, Cala CM, Chen Q, Nian H, Patterson BL, et al. Assessing adolescent asthma symptoms and adherence using mobile phones. J Med Internet Res 2013;15(7):e141 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2413] [Medline: 23864345]
- Johnson KB, Patterson BL, Ho Y, Chen Q, Nian H, Davison CL, et al. The feasibility of text reminders to improve medication adherence in adolescents with asthma. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2016 May;23(3):449-455. [doi: <u>10.1093/jamia/ocv158</u>] [Medline: <u>26661717</u>]
- 22. Chan AHY, Harrison J, Black PN, Mitchell EA, Foster JM. Using electronic monitoring devices to measure inhaler adherence: a practical guide for clinicians. J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract 2015;3(3):335-49.e1. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jaip.2015.01.024</u>] [Medline: <u>25840665</u>]
- 23. Shiffman S, Stone AA, Hufford MR. Ecological momentary assessment. Annu Rev Clin Psychol 2008;4:1-32. [Medline: 18509902]
- 24. Wilson EV, Lankton NK. Modeling patients' acceptance of provider-delivered e-health. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2004;11(4):241-248 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1197/jamia.M1475] [Medline: 15064290]
- 25. McGillicuddy JW, Weiland AK, Frenzel RM, Mueller M, Brunner-Jackson BM, Taber DJ, et al. Patient attitudes toward mobile phone-based health monitoring: questionnaire study among kidney transplant recipients. J Med Internet Res 2013;15(1):e6 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2284] [Medline: 23305649]
- 26. Chan AHY, Stewart AW, Harrison J, Camargo CA, Black PN, Mitchell EA. The effect of an electronic monitoring device with audiovisual reminder function on adherence to inhaled corticosteroids and school attendance in children with asthma: a randomised controlled trial. Lancet Respir Med 2015 Mar;3(3):210-219. [doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(15)00008-9] [Medline: 25617215]
- 27. Simmons MS, Nides MA, Kleerup EC, Chapman KR, Milgrom H, Rand CS, et al. Validation of the Doser, a new device for monitoring metered-dose inhaler use. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1998 Sep;102(3):409-413. [Medline: <u>9768581</u>]
- Turley CB, Obeid J, Larsen R, Fryar KM, Lenert L, Bjorn A, et al. Leveraging a Statewide Clinical Data Warehouse to Expand Boundaries of the Learning Health System. EGEMS (Wash DC) 2016;4(1):1245. [doi: <u>10.13063/2327-9214.1245</u>] [Medline: <u>28154834</u>]
- Stevenson L, Ball S, Haverhals LM, Aron DC, Lowery J. Evaluation of a national telemedicine initiative in the Veterans Health Administration: Factors associated with successful implementation. J Telemed Telecare 2018 Apr;24(3):168-178. [doi: 10.1177/1357633X16677676] [Medline: 27909208]
- Sieverdes JC, Raynor PA, Armstrong T, Jenkins CH, Sox LR, Treiber FA. Attitudes and perceptions of patients on the kidney transplant waiting list toward mobile health-delivered physical activity programs. Prog Transplant 2015 Mar;25(1):26-34 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7182/pit2015884] [Medline: 25758797]
- McGillicuddy JW, Taber DJ, Mueller M, Patel S, Baliga PK, Chavin KD, et al. Sustainability of improvements in medication adherence through a mobile health intervention. Prog Transplant 2015 Sep;25(3):217-223. [doi: <u>10.7182/pit2015975</u>] [Medline: <u>26308780</u>]
- 32. Huckvale K, Car M, Morrison C, Car J. Apps for asthma self-management: a systematic assessment of content and tools. BMC Med 2012;10:144 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-10-144] [Medline: 23171675]
- Huckvale K, Morrison C, Ouyang J, Ghaghda A, Car J. The evolution of mobile apps for asthma: an updated systematic assessment of content and tools. BMC Med 2015;13:58 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1186/s12916-015-0303-x</u>] [Medline: <u>25857569</u>]

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e8/

Abbreviations

EMA: ecological momentary assessment KII: key informant interview SAMS: Smartphone Asthma Monitoring System SMS: short message service

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 10.01.18; peer-reviewed by C Smeets, K Johnson, D Carpenter; comments to author 25.03.18; revised version received 24.05.18; accepted 28.06.18; published 05.10.18.

Please cite as:

Teufel II RJ, Patel SK, Shuler AB, Andrews AL, Nichols M, Ebeling MD, Dawley E, Mueller M, Ruggiero KJ, Treiber FA Smartphones for Real-time Assessment of Adherence Behavior and Symptom Exacerbation for High-Risk Youth with Asthma: Pilot Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2018;1(2):e8 URL: <u>http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e8/</u>

doi:<u>10.2196/pediatrics.9796</u> PMID:<u>31518299</u>

©Ronald John Teufel II, Sachin K Patel, Anita B Shuler, Anne L Andrews, Michelle Nichols, Myla D Ebeling, Erin Dawley, Martina Mueller, Kenneth J Ruggiero, Frank A Treiber. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 05.10.2018. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Home to Hospital Live Streaming With Virtual Reality Goggles: A Qualitative Study Exploring the Experiences of Hospitalized Children

Aafke Bakker¹, MD; Lindy Janssen¹, MD; Cees Noordam¹, MD, PhD

Amalia Children's Hospital, Department of Pediatrics, Radboud University Medical Center, Nijmegen, Netherlands

Corresponding Author: Aafke Bakker, MD Amalia Children's Hospital Department of Pediatrics Radboud University Medical Center Route 804 Geert Grooteplein Zuid 10 Nijmegen, 6525 GA Netherlands Phone: 31 243614433 Fax: 31 243616428 Email: <u>aafke.bakker@solcon.nl</u>

Abstract

Background: Being separated from home and relatives is a major stressor for children and adolescents when hospitalized. Children long for a manner to be distracted, pleasured, and socially connected during hospitalization. Different technological devices have been applied in health care to answer those needs. Both virtual reality (VR) and videoconferencing have proven their value in hospital wards and pediatrics. VisitU combines these 2 technologies innovatively. VisitU is a recently launched VR product enabling users to be virtually at home during hospitalization.

Objective: This study aims to explore the experiences of hospitalized patients with the VR intervention of VisitU in addition to standard care.

Methods: Over a 3-month period, a purposive sample of 10 patients hospitalized in the Radboudumc Amalia Children's Hospital was included in this qualitative study. Semistructured interviews were performed, one before and one after the use of the VR device. Patients were asked open-ended questions concerning their experiences with VisitU on practical, cognitive, emotional, and social domains. The interviews were audiorecorded and transcribed verbatim. Atlas.ti was used to support the qualitative analysis. Furthermore, the inductive thematic analysis was done according to the 6-step procedure described by Braun and Clarke.

Results: The following 6 main themes were the result of the qualitative analysis: "Being hospitalized," "Expectations of VisitU," "VisitU in use," "VisitU, the benefits," "The impact of VisitU," and "Barriers when using VisitU." The way VisitU was used by patients varied. The main benefits of VisitU were being somewhere else, being at home, and facilitating social connection. Limitations were experienced on the technical abilities, physical side effects, and complexity of use. Despite that, patients were positive about VisitU and unanimous in the view that they would like to use it again and advise other patients to use it.

Conclusions: This study shows the positive experiences of pediatric patients with VR live streaming. VisitU brings together the needs of patients and possibilities of VR and videoconferencing; it offers patients a way out of the hospital. Nevertheless, practical and technical obstacles must be overcome and side effects are an area of further research.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2018;1(2):e10) doi:10.2196/pediatrics.9576

KEYWORDS

experiences; hospitalization; mobile phone; livestream; pediatrics; qualitative analysis; videoconferencing; virtual reality

Introduction

Hospitalized children and adolescents have to cope with a complete change in their environment, people around them, and daily activities [1]. Factors found to influence their experience with hospitalization have been explored in several studies. Loneliness and boredom are 2 themes frequently mentioned [2-6]. In every age group, children reported feeling separated from home, family, and friends as one of the worst experiences during hospitalization [1,3,5,6]. Therefore, they long to communicate with peers and maintain contact with the world outside the hospital [2,4]. In addition, some patients miss appropriate toys and amusement. To oppose boredom, younger children show the desire to play and be entertained by videos or games, whereas teenagers prefer entertainment designed for their own age groups [3,5]. In search of answering those calls for connection, distraction, and pleasure in the hospital, different technological devices have been applied in health care during the last decade.

Both videoconferencing and virtual reality (VR) have been utilized to improve hospitalization and health care. Videoconferencing is defined as a live meeting of 2 or more people in separate locations being connected audiovisually through a computer or smartphone. Quantitative and qualitative studies have investigated the use of videoconferencing for hospitalized patients to keep in touch with their family, friends, or classmates [7-9]. In a qualitative study, the ability to communicate was highlighted as a primary benefit, and parents described a marked improvement of patients' mood [7]. Nicholas et al reported that the application of videophones decreased feelings of isolation and anxiety and increased feelings of connection between family members [8]. Yang et al evaluated the effect of videoconferencing during hospitalization on the reduction of stress experienced by children; their study demonstrated that the use of videoconferencing is associated with greater reduction of stress compared with those who do not use videoconferencing [9].

In addition, VR is a promising technology in health care. It is defined by the British dictionary as a computer-generated environment that closely resembles reality to the person experiencing it [10]. The virtual environment nowadays is mainly obtainable through a smartphone placed in a head-mounted display. The view to the real environment is cut off by the goggles, and patients are only able to look into the virtual world [11,12]. A considerable amount of literature has been published on the use of VR in reducing pain [13-21]. Malloy and Milling showed in a systematic review that VR distraction is an effective intervention for experimental pain and pain associated with burn injuries [14]. Especially with pediatric patients, Hua et al found a marked reduction in pain

scores and heart rate when VR distraction was used in the treatment of chronic wounds [16]. Together, these studies indicated that VR is an effective distracter and a promising nonpharmacological analgesic intervention. Most studies illustrated the use of VR in outpatient settings instead of hospitalized patients [12,22,23]. However, VR in a hospital ward seems feasible and without great side effects [22-25]. A recent systematic review of VR for medical inpatients found it to be efficacious, easy to use, safe, and contributing to patient satisfaction [22]. Among oncological inpatients, studies investigating VR reported improvement of emotional state and positive emotions [12].

In the last few years, the costs of VR technology have decreased, and VR devices have become widely available and affordable. In addition to other VR devices, VisitU launched a VR technology enabling users to be virtually at home during hospitalization. The livestream connection provides patients with a 360° look around their home and a live chat with their relatives [26]. VisitU is a recent product that innovatively combines videoconferencing and VR to satisfy the need to connect with home and relatives.

As mentioned above, children report separation from family and friends as a major stressor during hospitalization. Therefore, VisitU is worth being investigated. This would be the first study that focuses on VR live streaming, the combination of videoconferencing and VR in one device. The objective of this study is to investigate the experience with VisitU among hospitalized children and adolescents. To explore the first experiences with VisitU, a qualitative approach was chosen.

Methods

Setting and Sample

Over a 3-month period (June-August 2017), eligible patients in the Radboudumc Amalia Children's Hospital (Nijmegen, the Netherlands) were included in this qualitative study. Children were aged 6-18 years and hospitalized on the medium care unit for at least 4 days. Children with an increased risk of seizures, severe visual impairment or blindness, reduced consciousness, severe mental retardation, or non-Dutch-speaking were excluded [27]. A purposive sample of patients was recruited to achieve a range in age, gender, hospital to home distance, and "hospital experience." One after another, patients were selected from the eligible children. Data saturation and research period determined the sample size. Data saturation was reached when no new topics were discussed during the interviews. This study was approved by the Research Ethics Committee of the Radboud University Nijmegen Medical Centre. The study did not fall within the remit of the Medical Research Involving Human Subjects Act (WMO).



Figure 1. VisitU home to hospital livestream.



Intervention

VisitU includes an Asus Zen Book UX305 with video card and video live streaming software, a 360° Theta S camera and a Samsung Galaxy S6 combined with Samsung GearVR goggles (Figure 1). Moreover, several free available VR apps especially designed for VR goggles were installed. Patients were free to use them next to the livestream. Patients received VisitU for 3-5 days during their hospitalization. Before the start of the experiment, the researcher (AB) briefly instructed the patients on the use of VisitU. Furthermore, written instructions were available on paper and online. In practice, patients utilized the Samsung Galaxy S6 and the Samsung VR goggles in the hospital, and parents used the laptop and 360° camera at home. When the camera was connected to the laptop, a virtual meeting could be created. Subsequently, an email invitation was sent to the smartphone, and by accepting the invitation, the live VR meeting would start automatically. The smartphone was then placed in the VR goggles, and patients could experience the virtual visit to their home. During the research period, VisitU updated their service and thereafter, the VR livestream opened directly through an app, and accepting the email invitation was no longer necessary.

Data Collection

Data collection started with including patients who, in consultation with the pedagogical staff, were approached by the researcher. One patient at a time was included because only one VR device was available for research. Informed written consent was obtained from all subjects. Subsequently, 2 semistructured interviews were conducted—one before and one after the period in which the device could be used. The qualitative data were collected by audiorecording the interviews. In addition, patients or their parents were asked to keep a diary on the use of the VR intervention. With regard to the interview, a semistructured interview guide was developed concerning the background information, experiences with VisitU in different domains, and relevant factors found in the literature on VR and videoconferencing (Multimedia Appendix 1). The interview guide was discussed among the research team and evaluated

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e10/
```

RenderX

after every couple of interviews. The interviews were conducted by the researcher (AB) and preferably performed face-to-face in the hospital ward. We interviewed patients, parents, or other relatives. The duration and content of the interviews were adjusted to the age, sickness, and concentration of each patient. Consequently, in total, 15-25 minutes of interview data for each patient were recorded. Furthermore, verbal member check was performed at the end of every second interview.

Data Analysis

The interviews were transcribed verbatim using audio transcription software F4 [28]. In addition, ATLAS.ti software was used to facilitate the analysis of the interviews [29]. The inductive thematic analysis was done according to the 6-step procedure described by Braun and Clarke [30] and it proceeded as follows. We started with familiarizing ourselves with the data by transcribing and rereading the interviews. Then, the process of open coding was performed, followed by revising the codes, also known as axial coding. To continue the inductive analysis, the open codes were grouped into categories. The categories were discussed among the research team and were subsequently collected in themes. The interim analysis was conducted to refine interview questions and estimate data saturation [31]. Of note, the data collected by the diary were not separately analyzed. The information obtained from the diary (ie, time of use and profits and barriers of the VR device) was used during the interviews.

Results

Study Group

A total of 10 children were included, and 18 interviews were performed in this study. With 1 child, based on medical conditions, we chose to perform only one interview after the use of VisitU. Another patient was lost to follow-up; therefore, the second interview could not take place. Of 18 interviews, 3 were with patients exclusively, 13 with both the patient and the parent, and 2 with a parent or relative only. The method of interviewing was face-to-face 15 times and in 3 cases, by

telephone because of early or weekend discharge. All patients aged 9-15 years old (mean age: 11 years and 8 months); 8 boys and 2 girls were included. The time of hospitalization was 5 days to >4 weeks (median 12 days), and the average hospital to home distance was 55 km (range 3-100 km). Of 10 patients, 3 were treated in isolation during hospitalization. The specialty of care varied (surgery, neurology, pulmonology, oncology, infectious disease, and cardiology), and the number of hospitalizations ranged from 1 to 3 over the last year.

Overview

The interviews were transcribed with a total of 27,531 words from which 79 codes were made. After interviewing 8 children, no new codes came up from the interviews. After analysis, the codes were subdivided into 18 categories and collected into 6 themes as follows: "Being hospitalized," "Expectations of VisitU," "VisitU in use," "VisitU, the profits," "The impact of VisitU," and "Barriers when using VisitU." The first 2 themes represent the patients' view and experiences before the use of VisitU, and the last 4 themes represent the experiences with VisitU after usage. Table 1 shows an overview of the themes and categories with corresponding quotes.

Being Hospitalized

The impact hospitalization, ways of coping, and social connection were discussed. A majority of the patients (7/10) stated they did not want to be hospitalized. A variety of reasons were expressed such as physical discomfort, boredom, and uncertainty. Moreover, being obliged to lay in bed, to stay in the hospital, and to take drugs was bothersome. The wish for the presence of friends and family around them was expressed by half of the patients. The absence of their pets was additionally named by 2 patients. The children longed for participating in their usual activities, such as going to school, going on a vacation trip, or simply being at home. To deal with their hospitalization, different methods of distraction were used such as gaming or drawing. To connect with friends or other relatives, patients received visits in the hospital or were digitally in contact by texting or video calling. Contacts with the hospital staff and sources of entertainment, such as electronics, were mentioned as positive aspects of hospitalization.

Expectations of VisitU

Along with discussing expectations of VisitU, patients were questioned about previous experiences with VR. Opinions differed as to whether the use of VR earlier has been a satisfying experience. Although a minority of the patients (4/10) had previously used a VR device, all had an idea of the purpose and utilization of VR goggles; their expectations varied. Some patients expected to look around at home or in a virtual world, whereas they were not really there. Other expectations were the 360° look around in, the 3D effect of the VR goggles or "just something new."

VisitU in Use

There was a range in time, location, person, and content concerning the actual use of the VR system. The usage of the VR goggles differed from once to multiple times a day. The duration ranged from 1 minute to multiple hours, and the median duration was 15 minutes each time. The laptop and camera were most often brought home, set up by one of the parents, and installed at one usual place. In the hospital, both patients and their friends and other relatives used the VR goggles. When using the VR livestream, patients talked with relatives at home, observed their daily activities, or gazed around in the house. In practice, 7 of 10 patients used the VR livestream, and 6 of them utilized other VR apps. One patient did not use the VisitU device at all; instead, 2D livestream was used. In the case of using other VR apps, patients played with free available VR apps, such as a rollercoaster app, or watched VR videos on YouTube.

VisitU: The Benefits

The main benefit, according to almost all patients, was the ability to be somewhere else through the VR goggles. The view of the hospital surroundings was blocked through the head-mounted display, and patients said they were, therefore, "not being here but there." As a result, patients were offered a way to escape the hospital. Not only being somewhere else was mentioned as a benefit but also, in particular, the opportunity to virtually be in their own houses (5/6). In addition, VisitU facilitated social connection with relatives at home. Children could easily talk to their parents, siblings, or friends and be part of their "normal lives." The distraction VR created was another benefit that 3 of 8 patients and relatives reported. It was just something different than the hospital, and patients enjoyed playing with the VR device.

The Impact of Using VisitU

When talking about their thoughts on VR livestream, all patients' reactions were positive. There was a range in enthusiasm from "I thought it was quite nice" to "Very enjoyable and cool!" When asked, patients were unanimous in the view that they would like to use VisitU again and would recommend it to other patients. Patients said that VisitU made them feel happy; for example, one mother said, "As soon as he puts on the VR goggles, a big smile appears on his face." Noteworthy is the comment of one patient that he felt "depressed" right after the usage because he did not want to quit. Some parents and patients said they also used alternative technical devices like WhatsApp or video calling to fulfill their needs for connection. For another patient, the VR games did not meet his expectations. Part of experiencing VR is the perception of being physically present in the virtual world. All patients said the virtual world felt real to them in some way. The presence of the virtual world was surprising for one patient; she described it as "First, I could see my parents and the next moment, when taking the VR goggles off, I was back in the hospital." The sounds of the hospital and the impossibility to touch their relatives at home were mentioned to decrease the sense of reality.



Table 1. The qualitative analysis.

Bakker et al

Theme and category	Quote (example) ^a
Being hospitalized	
Impact of hospitalization	Interviewer: What's it like to be in the hospital? 8aChildB09: I don't like it. Actually, I don't want to be here.
Social connection during hospitalization	9aChildB15: I would rather be at home, because there I can be among all my friends and everything. I can't do that so much here.
Coping with hospitalization	4aChildB11: Yes, you can play and sometimes people come and play with you.
VisitU in use	
Ways of use VisitU	5bChildB09: The whole evening really, I used it quite a lot.
Using other VR ^b apps	1bChildB14:the extra apps on it were also quite fun to useat one point I could see the T. rex eat from, I didn't see what really, but I could literally stand below them while they were eating.
VisitU: the benefits	
Being somewhere else	2bChildB14: Just to be in a different placeSo, you're away from the hospital.
Being home	9bChildB15:so you also get a sense of knowing what it looks like at home and what has changed and everything.
Being connected	1bChildB14: I saw our pets again for a little while; it was nice to see them again for a moment. I do see them every now and again with WhatsApp, but then [with VR glasses] I saw them betterat one point she [dog] also looked and pushed her little nose up against the camera so I was able to see her again.
Being distracted	10bChildG14: It does help to take your mind off being in the hospital a little bit.
Barriers when using VisitU	
Technical reliability	5bChildB09: So, I mean, the patient can, for example, only see the parents. If the parents could also see the child, it would be a bit better, but that will be difficult to create, I think.
Complexity	5bMotherB09: I installed it at home [laughs]I thought it was still quite complicated, as you obviously have to create a moment every time.
Physical effects	3bChildB10: But after having played with these goggles a lot, my head hurts. I don't feel dizzy; my head just hurts.
Impact of using VisitU	
Reality of VR	10bChildG14: Yes, home is different, because it's just a bit different reallyso grandma has a glass door and often you can see yourself in it, but when I turned around in it, when I turned toward it [with VR goggles], I didn't see myself [in the glass].
Feelings on VisitU	9bChildB15: Then it's less hard to be here in the hospital.
Thoughts on VisitU	7bSister13B09: Yeah I do think I would recommend it

^aCodes used for quotation consist of the number of a patient, a letter "a" for first and "b" for second interview, the role of the quoted person, gender, and age; for example, 3bChildB10 is the 3rd child, second interview (b), patient himself, boy (B) and 10 years old. ^bVR: virtual reality.

Barriers When Using VisitU

Although most patients were enthusiastic about the idea of VisitU, some of them experienced technical, practical, or physical limitations. The one-way connection of the VR livestream was seen as a disadvantage by half of the parents or patients. At home, they could only hear the patient in contrast to the patient who could also see the other people. On the quality of the resolution of the VR goggles, opinions differed, and an upgrade of the display resolution was suggested. The high temperature of the telephone when using the VR goggles was also noticed by one patient. Besides these disadvantages, 2 parents had to deal with temporary technical problems as a result of an outdated version of VisitU and a problem with the camera software. The unfamiliarity with VR and the system was brought

up as a barrier, and 3 of 6 parents thought that the installation was complex and time consuming. Patients, in contrast to their parents, thought the smartphone and VR goggles were easy to use. More than half of the patients (5/8) experienced physical side effects when using VR for a while. Symptoms were experienced after a range of only 1 minute to half an hour of use. Patients mentioned side effects such as a headache, nausea, and dizziness; these symptoms disappeared when the VR livestream was interrupted. Subsequently, most patients continued the use of VisitU despite experiencing symptoms.

Challenges for the Hospital Staff

Concerning the technical reliability during the research period, 2 software problems were noticed. The first problem was the need of a software update, and the second problem relating to

the camera and teleporting system occurred. On the other hand, the organization was a challenge for the researchers. Scheduling a meeting with each patient to hand over VisitU was difficult as a consequence of unplanned care in a hospital ward.

Discussion

Principal Findings

This study shows that pediatric inpatients were positive about the idea, effect, and possibilities of VR live streaming. Barriers were experienced on the technical abilities, physical side effects, and complexity of usage. In addition, the research shows that hospitalized children long for participation in their usual activities, social connection, and distraction. Being somewhere else, being at home, and facilitating social connection were the main benefits of VisitU. Therefore, VisitU matches the needs of these hospitalized patients. Although the way of use by patients varied, all patients would recommend VisitU and would use it again. Figure 2 presents a hypothesized model of the experiences with VR livestream based on these results. We assume that both the expectations and needs, as well as the experienced barriers and benefits, affect the degree of satisfaction of the product and consequently, affect the usage and impact of VR livestream.

Comparison With Prior Work

As far as we know, this is the first study that focuses on VR livestream. Therefore, the results are unique and cannot be compared directly to previous literature. Therefore, in this section, the findings will be compared with the literature on

Figure 2. Model of experiences with VR livestream.

either videoconferencing or VR separately. The observations in this study support the hypothesis that combining those 2 techniques in one device is valuable for hospitalized patients. Prior studies about videoconferencing and VR have noted similar effects as our study regarding the feelings and thoughts of users [7-9,12]. Patients felt more positive and felt more "normal" when they used videoconferencing [7,8]. In addition, VR improved the emotional state and positive emotions during hospitalization [12]. Therefore, it is likely that the combination of VR and videoconferencing, as the results of this study suggest, also causes positive feelings and improves the experience of hospitalization.

Regarding the main benefits of VisitU, the finding that live streaming facilitates social connection agrees with the findings of Nicholas et al's findings evaluating videophone communication; their study showed that patients felt less lonely, frightened, and stressed when talking with family and friends on the videophone [8]. In addition, in a feasibility study of VR in the hospital, being somewhere else was also found to be a benefit. Here confirming our findings, a patient described VR provides an "escape" from the confines and boredom of the hospital room [23].

Little is known about using VR interventions unrestricted in a hospital setting, like VisitU was used. In nearly all studies about videoconferencing and VR, the actual use was either one-time or regulated. Only a few studies reported the efficacy of repeatedly using VR. Our results are in line with their suggestions that VR stays effective after repeatedly using it within a couple of days [20,32].



The presence of technical and practical barriers mentioned by patients in this study seems to be consistent with previous research on electronic health (eHealth) and VR [33,34]. Technical reliability is one of the main challenges when implementing an eHealth program [33]. Along with the technical problems, Eysenbach hypothesized that usability, ease of enrollment, workload, and time required are other factors obviously affecting the usage of eHealth [35]. These themes are comparable to the factors mentioned in this study. The side effects match those observed in former VR studies. More than half of the patients reported side effects. In a recent systematic review of VR for hospitalized patients, only 17% of patients experienced side effects. In contrast, another study reported symptoms in 80% of VR users [12,22,36]. No clear cause exists for this variety in the frequency of side effects. Cyber sickness is known to be a result of accumulating factors, including the duration of exposure to VR. Therefore, unrestricted use may be the reason a majority of patients experienced side effects [37]. In addition, as a consequence of being hospitalized for a longer period, this specific population could be more sensitive to side effects. Furthermore, technical adjustments to VR devices can reduce symptoms of cyber sickness [36]. Hopefully, these techniques will decrease the number of side effects in the near future [36].

Strengths and Limitations

The setting and design are the key strengths of this study. An explorative qualitative approach and inductive analysis were chosen as design to focus on the patients' perspectives and understand why and if VisitU would be a useful innovation. In addition, the setting was a tertiary hospital with patients hospitalized for mostly a longer period and a relatively far distance from home. Therefore, VisitU was relevant for this specific population.

Despite the strengths, this study also has several limitations. The major limitation of this study is the risk for the researcher bias because the process of coding was only done by one researcher (AB). To overcome this limitation, the codes and analysis were discussed on a regular basis among the research team (LJ and CN) [38]. To ensure external reliability, the raw data, transcribed interviews, and codes are well documented and transparent [39]. The method of triangulation using a diary was barely used by patients. To overcome this limitation, the information was asked in the interviews. Finally, a purposive sample was chosen to improve the external validity; unfortunately, the boy-to-girl ratio is unequal, and it is not known if this affects the results [39].

Recommendations

Although this study is based on a small sample of participants, the findings suggest VisitU brings together the needs of patients and the possibilities of VR and videoconferencing. VisitU seems to be feasible in hospital wards, and we recommend the implementation together with further development and evaluation. Further work is required to improve the reliability of the VisitU technology and the usability of the system. Along with developing VisitU, more research is needed on VR live streaming in other pediatric populations and on different implications of VisitU, such as intensive care units or isolation rooms. Furthermore, further research is required to reduce the side effects of VR. Children do not like being hospitalized; therefore, other innovative ways to improve the experiences with hospitalization are also a field of further research.

Conclusions

This study shows the positive experiences of children and adolescents with VR live streaming. The results suggest that VR can improve the experiences with hospitalization in pediatric patients. VisitU offers patients a way out of the hospital. It meets the needs of patients for being at home, socially connected, and distracted during hospitalization. Nevertheless, technical and practical barriers must be overcome, and further studies must be performed to understand the side effects of VR.

Acknowledgments

The authors wish to thank all patients and parents for participation in this study. Special thanks to the pedagogical staff of the Radboudumc Amalia Children's Hospital and Pieter van Nieuwenhuizen for his technical support. The authors also wish to thank Dr Stefan van Rooijen, medical doctor, innovator and founder of VisitU, for his effort to initiate this research project.

Authors' Contributions

AB worked as a medical intern and was trained in qualitative analysis and interviewing. LJ worked as a pediatric resident and CJ works as professor in pediatrics at the Radboudumc Amalia Children's Hospital. All authors participated in the design of the study and contributed to the analysis and interpretation of the data. AB held, transcribed, and coded interviews, as well as drafted the manuscript. CN and LJ critically reviewed the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Interview guide. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 29KB - pediatrics_v1i2e10_app1.pdf]

References

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e10/
```

- 1. Lindeke L, Nakai M, Johnson L. Capturing children's voices for quality improvement. MCN Am J Matern Child Nurs 2006;31(5):290-5; quiz 296. [Medline: <u>17013067</u>]
- Lambert V, Coad J, Hicks P, Glacken M. Social spaces for young children in hospital. Child Care Health Dev 2014 Mar;40(2):195-204. [doi: <u>10.1111/cch.12016</u>] [Medline: <u>23294129</u>]
- Clift L, Dampier S, Timmons S. Adolescents' experiences of emergency admission to children's wards. J Child Health Care 2007 Sep;11(3):195-207. [doi: 10.1177/1367493507079561] [Medline: 17709355]
- 4. Linder LA, Seitz M. Through Their Words: Sources of Bother for Hospitalized Children and Adolescents With Cancer. J Pediatr Oncol Nurs 2017;34(1):51-64. [doi: 10.1177/1043454216631308] [Medline: 26902500]
- 5. Pelander T, Leino-Kilpi H. Children's best and worst experiences during hospitalisation. Scand J Caring Sci 2010 Dec;24(4):726-733. [doi: 10.1111/j.1471-6712.2010.00770.x] [Medline: 20487406]
- 6. Wilson ME, Megel ME, Enenbach L, Carlson KL. The voices of children: stories about hospitalization. J Pediatr Health Care 2010;24(2):95-102. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pedhc.2009.02.008</u>] [Medline: <u>20189061</u>]
- Ellis SJ, Drew D, Wakefield CE, Saikal SL, Punch D, Cohn RJ. Results of a nurse-led intervention: connecting pediatric cancer patients from the hospital to the school using videoconferencing technologies. J Pediatr Oncol Nurs 2013;30(6):333-341. [doi: 10.1177/1043454213514633] [Medline: 24371261]
- Nicholas DB, Fellner KD, Koller D, Fontana Chow K, Brister L. Evaluation of videophone communication for families of hospitalized children. Soc Work Health Care 2011;50(3):215-229. [doi: <u>10.1080/00981389.2010.531998</u>] [Medline: <u>21400362</u>]
- Yang NH, Dharmar M, Hojman NM, Sadorra CK, Sundberg D, Wold GL, et al. Videoconferencing to reduce stress among hospitalized children. Pediatrics 2014 Jul;134(1):e169-e175 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.2013-3912] [Medline: 24982102]
- 10. Dictionary.com.: Dictionary.com; 2017. Virtual reality URL: <u>http://www.dictionary.com/browse/virtual-reality</u> [accessed 2017-07-24] [WebCite Cache ID 6sBq3EbAc]
- Hoffman HG, Patterson DR, Seibel E, Soltani M, Jewett-Leahy L, Sharar SR. Virtual reality pain control during burn wound debridement in the hydrotank. Clin J Pain 2008 May;24(4):299-304. [doi: <u>10.1097/AJP.0b013e318164d2cc</u>] [Medline: <u>18427228</u>]
- Chirico A, Lucidi F, De Laurentiis M, Milanese C, Napoli A, Giordano A. Virtual Reality in Health System: Beyond Entertainment. A Mini-Review on the Efficacy of VR During Cancer Treatment. J Cell Physiol 2016 Feb;231(2):275-287. [doi: <u>10.1002/jcp.25117</u>] [Medline: <u>26238976</u>]
- Mahrer NE, Gold JI. The use of virtual reality for pain control: a review. Curr Pain Headache Rep 2009 Apr;13(2):100-109. [Medline: <u>19272275</u>]
- 14. Malloy KM, Milling LS. The effectiveness of virtual reality distraction for pain reduction: a systematic review. Clin Psychol Rev 2010 Dec;30(8):1011-1018. [doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2010.07.001] [Medline: 20691523]
- 15. Tashjian VC, Mosadeghi S, Howard AR, Lopez M, Dupuy T, Reid M, et al. Virtual Reality for Management of Pain in Hospitalized Patients: Results of a Controlled Trial. JMIR Ment Health 2017 Mar 29;4(1):e9 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mental.7387] [Medline: 28356241]
- Hua Y, Qiu R, Yao W, Zhang Q, Chen X. The Effect of Virtual Reality Distraction on Pain Relief During Dressing Changes in Children with Chronic Wounds on Lower Limbs. Pain Manag Nurs 2015 Oct;16(5):685-691. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pmn.2015.03.001</u>] [Medline: <u>25972074</u>]
- 17. Chan EA, Chung JW, Wong TK, Lien AS, Yang JY. Application of a virtual reality prototype for pain relief of pediatric burn in Taiwan. J Clin Nurs 2007 Apr;16(4):786-793. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1365-2702.2006.01719.x</u>] [Medline: <u>17402961</u>]
- Kipping B, Rodger S, Miller K, Kimble RM. Virtual reality for acute pain reduction in adolescents undergoing burn wound care: a prospective randomized controlled trial. Burns 2012 Aug;38(5):650-657. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.burns.2011.11.010</u>] [Medline: <u>22348801</u>]
- 19. Jeffs D, Dorman D, Brown S, Files A, Graves T, Kirk E, et al. Effect of virtual reality on adolescent pain during burn wound care. J Burn Care Res 2014;35(5):395-408. [doi: 10.1097/BCR.000000000000019] [Medline: 24823326]
- Schmitt YS, Hoffman HG, Blough DK, Patterson DR, Jensen MP, Soltani M, et al. A randomized, controlled trial of immersive virtual reality analgesia, during physical therapy for pediatric burns. Burns 2011 Feb;37(1):61-68 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.burns.2010.07.007] [Medline: 20692769]
- McSherry T, Atterbury M, Gartner S, Helmold E, Searles DM, Schulman C. Randomized, Crossover Study of Immersive Virtual Reality to Decrease Opioid Use During Painful Wound Care Procedures in Adults. J Burn Care Res 2018 Feb 20;39(2):278-285. [doi: <u>10.1097/BCR.00000000000589</u>] [Medline: <u>28570305</u>]
- 22. Dascal J, Reid M, IsHak W, Spiegel B, Recacho J, Rosen B. Virtual Reality and Medical Inpatients: A Systematic Review of Randomized, Controlled Trials. Innovations in Clinical Neuroscience 2017;14(1-2):A. [Medline: <u>28386517</u>]
- Mosadeghi S, Reid MW, Martinez B, Rosen BT, Spiegel BMR. Feasibility of an Immersive Virtual Reality Intervention for Hospitalized Patients: An Observational Cohort Study. JMIR Ment Health 2016 Jun 27;3(2):e28 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mental.5801] [Medline: 27349654]

- 24. Baños RM, Espinoza M, García-Palacios A, Cervera JM, Esquerdo G, Barrajón E, et al. A positive psychological intervention using virtual reality for patients with advanced cancer in a hospital setting: a pilot study to assess feasibility. Support Care Cancer 2013 Jan;21(1):263-270. [doi: 10.1007/s00520-012-1520-x] [Medline: 22688373]
- 25. Espinoza M, Baños RM, García-Palacios A, Cervera JM, Esquerdo G, Barrajón E, et al. Promotion of emotional wellbeing in oncology inpatients using VR. Stud Health Technol Inform 2012;181:53-57. [Medline: <u>22954828</u>]
- 26. VisitU. 2017. Product URL: http://visitu.nl/product/ [accessed 2017-07-24] [WebCite Cache ID 6sBrDOpE8]
- 27. In: International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems 10th Revision (ICD-10)-WHO Version for 2016 Internet.: World Health Organization H53-H54 Visual disturbances and blindness URL: <u>http://www.who.int/sorry/</u> [accessed 2018-10-23] [WebCite Cache ID 73OCI0T12]
- 28. Audiotranskription. Audiotranskription. F4 & F5 transkript URL: <u>https://www.audiotranskription.de/english/f4.htm</u> [accessed 2017-07-24] [WebCite Cache ID 6sC1JDW1K]
- 29. ATLAS. ATLAS.ti 8 the next level. ATLAS.ti URL: <u>http://atlasti.com/</u> [accessed 2017-07-24] [WebCite Cache ID <u>6sC1SIlmz]</u>
- 30. Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qualitative Research in Psychology 2006 Jan;3(2):77-101. [doi: 10.1191/1478088706qp063oa]
- 31. Pope C, Ziebland S, Mays N. Qualitative research in health care. Analysing qualitative data. BMJ 2000 Jan 08;320(7227):114-116 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 10625273]
- 32. Faber AW, Patterson DR, Bremer M. Repeated use of immersive virtual reality therapy to control pain during wound dressing changes in pediatric and adult burn patients. J Burn Care Res 2013;34(5):563-568 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/BCR.0b013e3182777904] [Medline: 23970314]
- Wu YP, Steele RG, Connelly MA, Palermo TM, Ritterband LM. Commentary: pediatric eHealth interventions: common challenges during development, implementation, and dissemination. J Pediatr Psychol 2014 Jul;39(6):612-623 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jpepsy/jsu022] [Medline: 24816766]
- Indovina P, Barone D, Gallo L, Chirico A, De Pietro G, Giordano A. Virtual Reality as a Distraction Intervention to Relieve Pain and Distress During Medical Procedures: A Comprehensive Literature Review. Clin J Pain 2018 Sep;34(9):858-877. [doi: 10.1097/AJP.000000000000599] [Medline: 29485536]
- 35. Eysenbach G. The law of attrition. J Med Internet Res 2005 Mar 31;7(1):e11 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7.1.e11] [Medline: 15829473]
- 36. Weech S, Moon J, Troje NF. Influence of bone-conducted vibration on simulator sickness in virtual reality. PLoS One 2018;13(3):e0194137 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0194137] [Medline: 29590147]
- Kiryu T, So RHY. Sensation of presence and cybersickness in applications of virtual reality for advanced rehabilitation. J Neuroeng Rehabil 2007 Sep 25;4:34 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1743-0003-4-34] [Medline: 17894857]
- 38. Lucassen PLBJ. Data collection in qualitative research. In: Kwalitatief Onderzoek: Praktische Methoden Voor de Medische Praktijk. Houten: Bohn Stafleu van Loghum; 2007.
- 39. van Zwieten M, Willems D. Waardering van kwalitatief onderzoek. Huisarts en wetenschap 2004 Dec;47(13):38-43. [doi: 10.1007/BF03083653]

Abbreviations

eHealth: electronic health **VR:** virtual reality

Edited by TR Soron; submitted 05.12.17; peer-reviewed by B Spiegel, S Mosadeghi, B Atzori; comments to author 14.02.18; revised version received 03.04.18; accepted 28.09.18; published 13.12.18.

Please cite as: Bakker A, Janssen L, Noordam C Home to Hospital Live Streaming With Virtual Reality Goggles: A Qualitative Study Exploring the Experiences of Hospitalized Children JMIR Pediatr Parent 2018;1(2):e10 URL: http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e10/ doi:10.2196/pediatrics.9576 PMID:31518293

©Aafke Bakker, Lindy Janssen, Cees Noordam. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 13.12.2018. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium,

provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Mobile Phone Access and Willingness Among Mothers to Receive a Text-Based mHealth Intervention to Improve Prenatal Care in Northwest Ethiopia: Cross-Sectional Study

Berhanu Endehabtu¹, MPH; Adane Weldeab², MPH; Martin Were³, MD, MS; Richard Lester⁴, MD, FRCPC; Abebaw Worku⁵, PhD, MPH; Binyam Tilahun¹, MPH, MSc, PhD

¹eHealthLab Ethiopia, Department of Health Informatics, University of Gondar, Gondar, Ethiopia

²Health Education and Behavioral Sciences Unit, University of Gondar, Gondar, Ethiopia

³Department of Biomedical Informatics, Vanderbilt University, Vanderbilt, IN, United States

⁴Division of infectious disease, Faculty of Medicine, University of the British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

⁵Institute of Public Health, University of Gondar, Gondar, Ethiopia

Corresponding Author:

Binyam Tilahun, MPH, MSc, PhD eHealthLab Ethiopia Department of Health Informatics University of Gondar PO Box 196 Gondar, Ethiopia Phone: 251 913875066 Email: <u>binigcms@gmail.com</u>

Abstract

Background: Maternal mortality remains high in many low- and middle-income countries where limited access to health services is linked to low antenatal care utilization. Effective communication and engagement with care providers are vital for the delivery and receipt of sufficient health care services. There is strong evidence that simple text-based interventions can improve the prenatal care utilization, but most mobile health (mHealth) interventions are not implemented on a larger scale owing to the lack of context and preliminary evidence on how to make the transition.

Objective: The objective of this study was to determine access to mobile phones by pregnant women attending antenatal care as well as willingness to receive a text message (short message service, SMS)–based mHealth intervention for antenatal care services and identify its associated factors among pregnant women attending an antenatal care clinic in Gondar Town Administration, Northwest Ethiopia, Africa.

Methods: A cross-sectional quantitative study was conducted among 422 pregnant women attending antenatal care from March 27 to April 28, 2017. Data were collected using structured questionnaires. Data entry and analysis were performed using Epi-Info version 7 and SPSS version 20, respectively. In addition, descriptive statistics and bivariable and multivariable logistic regression analyses were performed. Furthermore, odds ratio with 95% CI was used to identify factors associated with the willingness to receive a text message–based mHealth intervention.

Results: A total of 416 respondents (response rate 98.6%, 416/422) were included in the analysis. About 76.7% (319/416) of respondents owned a mobile phone and 71.2% (296/416) were willing to receive an SMS text message. Among the mobile phone owners, only 37.6% (120/319) were having smartphones. Of all women with mobile phones, 89.7% (286/319) described that they are the primary holders of these phones and among them, 85.0% (271/319) reported having had the same phone number for more than a year. Among the phone owners, 90.0% (287/319) described that they could read and 86.8% (277/416) could send SMS text messages using their mobile phones in their day-to-day activities. Among pregnant women who were willing to receive SMS text messages, about 96.3% (285/296) were willing to receive information regarding activities or things to avoid during pregnancy. Factors associated with willingness were youth age group (adjusted odds ratio [AOR] 2.869, 95% CI 1.451-5.651), having attained secondary and higher educational level (AOR 4.995, 95% CI 1.489-14.773), and the frequency of mobile phone use (AOR 0.319, 95% CI 0.141-0.718).

Conclusions: A high proportion of pregnant women in an antenatal care clinic in this remote setting have a mobile phone and are willing to receive an SMS text message–based mHealth intervention. Age, educational status, and the frequency of mobile phone use are significantly associated with the willingness to receive SMS text message–based mHealth interventions.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2018;1(2):e9) doi: 10.2196/pediatrics.9618

KEYWORDS

mHealth; mobile phone; pregnant women; SMS; willingness; Ethiopia; antenatal care; maternal health

Introduction

Maternal health is a critical issue to be addressed worldwide. Every minute of every day, somewhere in the world, women lose their lives because of complications related to pregnancy and childbirth. It is estimated that globally every day about 830 women die from preventable causes related to pregnancy and delivery, and about 99% of all maternal deaths occur in developing countries where access to antenatal care (ANC) services is limited [1]. A majority of these deaths are preventable through focused ANC service [2,3]. It has been widely stated that routine ANC visit is one of the most effective ways to reduce maternal morbidity and mortality [4]. Sub-Saharan Africa is the region with a high maternal mortality ratio and low ANC utilization [3].

According to the Ethiopian Demographic and Health survey 2016 key indicators report, maternal mortality ratio in Ethiopia is 412/100,000 [5]. Despite calls by the World Health Organization for a minimum of 4 ANC visits, only 32% of pregnant women in Ethiopia attend the recommended ANC service, with residential variations [5]. Urban women were more likely than rural women to have received ANC from a skilled provider. Among different barriers, limited access to health services and lack of effective communication are among the major barriers for low ANC [6]. A missed appointment is a major cause of inefficiency in health care delivery, with substantial financial costs for the health system, leading to delays in the diagnosis and appropriate treatment [7]. In addition, effective communication is vital for the delivery and receipt of sufficient health care services [8,9]. Hence, new and innovative strategies are required to overcome the problem and improve ANC services. The use of mobile telecommunication technology at medical and public health practice is gaining attention because it gives the chances to rapidly connect people, reducing delay across the chain of health decisions, and positively affecting the lives of many in the underserved population [10,11].

Mobile phones are increasingly used in health care systems in low- and middle-income countries and are considered as innovative solutions that have immense potential to overcome barriers of access to ANC service [12,13]. Several scientific papers have shown that short message service (SMS) text messaging-based mobile health (mHealth) intervention could potentially improve maternal and child health [13-18]. SMS-based mHealth messaging plays an important role in maternal health care like reminders for health care appointments [19].

In Ethiopia, mobile subscribers are increasing exponentially and the mobile network coverage is expanding [20]. Even

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e9/

though there is only one government-owned telecom company that provides the service, the use of phone call and SMS text messaging is expectantly increasing among health care workers in day-to-day health service provisions. There is a great opportunity to link the constantly growing mobile telecommunication technology with the many-sided maternal and child health care programs and strategies. Mobile phone ownership among pregnant women attending ANC and the willingness of women to receive SMS text messages remain unknown in the Ethiopian context. Before implementing the SMS text message–based mHealth intervention, it is essential to know the level of access to mobile phone and the willingness of women to receive SMS text message–based interventions.

Therefore, the objectives of this study are as follows:

- To assess the access to mobile phone among pregnant women attending ANC clinics in Gondar Town Administration
- To determine the willingness of those women to receive SMS text message-based mHealth interventions
- To identify the factors associated with the willingness to receive SMS text message–based mHealth interventions among pregnant women attending ANC

Methods

Study Design and Setting

A cross-sectional quantitative study was conducted at 8 health facilities from March 27 to April 28, 2017, in the Gondar Town Administration, Northwest Ethiopia. The Gondar Town Administration is divided into 8 clusters namely Gondar, Ginbot 20, Azezo, Gebriel, Maraki, Woleka, Teda, and Belajig; the administration has a total of 24 Kebele (13 urban and 11 rural). In addition, the administration has a total of 23 public health facilities, 1 referral hospital, 8 health centers, and 14 health posts. Of the estimated population of the town, 49.5% (162,192/327,661) are females and 50.5% (165,469/327,661) are males. Among the total population, 260,183 are urban inhabitants and the rest 67,478 are rural inhabitants. In the 2016-17 budget year, the number of women in the reproductive age group was 77,262 and the estimated number of pregnancies was 11,042 (data from Gondar Town health department). In the Ethiopian context, health center means a health facility that provides primary health care and urban area implies a town that consists of at least 2000 residences.

Study Subjects

All women who were pregnant and attending ANC service at health centers during the study period were used as the study population.

Sample Size

The sample size of this study was determined using the single population proportion formula $(n=(z \ \alpha/2)^2 pq/\partial^2)$ with the following assumptions:

n=the required sample size; z=the value of the standard normal distribution corresponding to $\alpha/2=1.96$; *p*=the proportion of pregnant women who are attending ANC and willing to be contacted by mobile phone; *q*=1- *p*, the proportion of pregnant women who are attending ANC and not willing to be contacted by mobile phone; and ∂ = margin of error 5% (0.05).

We could not find any studies conducted to determine the mobile phone ownership among pregnant women attending ANC in Ethiopia, although the general subscriber identity module (SIM or subscriber identification module) population in Ethiopia is 48.3% [20]. Moreover, we could not find any study conducted in Ethiopia to determine the willingness of pregnant women who are attending ANC to receive SMS text message-based mHealth interventions for ANC services. Therefore, we assumed that 50% of pregnant women are willing to receive an SMS text message-based mHealth intervention for ANC services. The maximum sample size was 384 using the proportion of pregnant women who were attending ANC and willing to be contacted by mobile phone. Considering a 10% nonresponse rate, we calculated the final sample size to be 422. Thus, a systematic random sampling technique was performed to select 422 study participants.

Data Collection Tools and Procedure

Women exiting ANC visit were approached for interviews at each of the 8 health centers. The interviews included sociodemographic characteristics, physical accessibility to a health care facility, electricity and network availability, patterns of mobile phone use, and women's opinion and willingness to receive health information via SMS text messages through mobile phones. Questionnaires were first developed in English, which then underwent forward and backward translation to ensure semantic consistency (English to Amharic then English), for the appropriateness and easiness in approaching study participants. Of note, a pretest of the questionnaire was conducted among pregnant women attending ANC (5% of the sample) before the study period at health centers in the Debre-tabor Town Administration, following which necessary modifications were made on the basis of pretest findings. Research personnel, including 2 health information technicians, 2 nurses with bachelor degrees acting as supervisors, and 8 clinical nurses serving as data collectors or interviewers, received a 1-day training course on implementing the evaluation, which included training on research ethics, providing informed consent, data collection procedures, data collecting tools, how to approach participants, data confidentiality, respondents' right and all the study protocols to be followed throughout the course of the data collection period. In addition, continuous monitoring by supervisors was done throughout the data collection period to ensure that the data were collected according to the study protocol. The completed questionnaires were stored in binders in nurses' class until collected by the principal investigator.

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e9/
```

Data Management and Statistical Analysis

Data were entered using Epi-Info version 7 and transferred to SPSS version 20. Descriptive statistics were performed to describe the study population. We used the binary logistic regression to analyze the association of each study variable on the outcome variable. The dependent variable was designated as "no"=0 (have no willingness) and "yes"=1 (for having willingness). Variables significantly associated with the outcome variable (P<.2) in the bivariable analysis were included in the multivariable logistic regression analysis for controlling the possible effects of confounders. In the multivariable analysis, Hosmer and Lemeshow goodness-of-fit test was performed (P=.76), and variables which were significant based on the adjusted odds ratio (AOR), with 95% CI and P<.05, were considered to be the determinant factors of willingness to receive an SMS text message–based mHealth intervention.

Ethical Consideration

Ethical clearance was obtained from the ethical review board of the University of Gondar. In addition, oral consent was obtained from study participants after narrating the objective of the study; they were also informed about the benefits of the study. If they felt discomfort during the interview, they were informed that they could stop at any time. Moreover, confidentiality assurance was provided to study participants on any information provided by them; the data collection procedure was anonymous, and their privacy was upheld.

Results

Mobile Phone Ownership

A total of 422 pregnant women from 8 public health centers were approached; of them, 416 responded to complete all the questionnaires at each health center (response rate 98.6%). Of all respondents, 81.3% (338/416) were urban residents. The age of respondents ranged from 18 to 45 years (mean age 26.6 [SD 5.4] years). In addition, 94.5% (393/416) of them were married, 67.3% (280/416) were housewives, and 51.7% (215/416) had attained at least secondary educational level (Table 1).

Table 1 shows that 76.7% (319/416) pregnant women owned a mobile phone; of them, 63.0% (201/319) were in the age group of \geq 25 years. Almost all mobile phone owners were married (303/319, 95.0%) and 63.0% (201/319) had attained secondary and higher educational level.

Patterns of Mobile Phone Use

In this study, 97 pregnant women had no mobile phone; main reasons reported for not owning a mobile phone currently were cannot afford to buy (53/97, 54.6%), followed by mobile phone broken (17/97, 17.5%).

Of all women with mobile phones, 89.7% (286/319) described that they are the primary holders of these phones; however, 29.8% (94/319) of them described that they share their mobile phone with others, especially with other family members. In addition, 51.4% (164/319) of them locked their mobile phone with a password and 30.1% (96/319) put their mobile phone in a place where others can see and access it easily. Furthermore, 31.3% (100/319) of women reported that there were times or

XSL•FO RenderX

places where they did not answer calls and 14.7% (47/319) reported switching-off mobile phones during the daytime.

Of the respondents with mobile phones, 85.0% (271/319) reported having had the same phone number for more than a year; the other 15.0% (48/319) reported changing their mobile phone number in the last 1 year. In addition, 37.6% (120/319)

of current mobile phone owners had smartphones. Among current mobile phone owners, 47.3% (151/319) of pregnant women described that they accessed the internet through their mobile phones, which could be either a basic phone or smartphone; of them, 94.7% (143/151) reported using the Facebook app mainly to stay in touch with friends and relatives through this social media platform.

Table 1. Sociodemographic characteristics of pregnant women attending antenatal care follow-up at health centers in the Gondar Town Administration,

 Northwest Ethiopia, 2017.

Sociodemographic characteristics	Pregnant women (n=416), n (%)	Pregnant women owning a mobile phone (n=319), n (%)
Age		
15-24	160 (38.5)	118 (37.0)
≥25	256 (61.5)	201 (63.0)
Residence		
Urban	338 (81.3)	298 (93.4)
Rural	78 (18.7)	21 (26.6)
Marital status		
Not married	14 (3.4)	10 (3.1)
Married	393 (94.5)	303 (95)
Other ^a	9 (2.2)	6 (1.9)
Educational status		
Cannot read and write	70 (21.9)	21 (6.6)
Informal education	21 (5.0)	12 (3.8)
Primary	110 (26.4)	85 (26.6)
Secondary and above	215 (51.7)	201 (63.0)
Occupation		
Housewife	280 (67.3)	192 (60.2)
Civil servant	49 (11.8)	49 (15.4)
Merchant	48 (11.5)	46 (14.4)
Daily laborer	24 (5.8)	20 (6.3)
Student	12 (2.9)	10 (3.1)
Other ^b	3 (0.7)	2 (0.6)
Who do you live with		
Family	385 (92.5)	294 (92.2)
Alone	24 (5.8)	21 (6.6)
Parents	7 (1.7)	4 (1.3)
Number of children		
No child	185 (44.5)	160 (50.2)
1	77 (18.5)	59 (18.5)
2	80 (19.2)	60 (18.8)
3	44 (10.6)	29 (9.1)
≥4	30 (7.2)	11 (3.4)

^aSeparated, windowed, and died.

^bFarmer, driver, and jobless.
Of all respondents with mobile phones, 90.0% (287/319) described that they could read and 86.8% (277/416) could send SMS text messages using their mobile phones. However, 6.3% (18/319) of them described that they deleted SMS text messages without reading them. Among those who currently owned a mobile phone, only 33.2% (106/319) used their mobile phone for health-related information or purposes; of them, 50.0% (53/106) respondents used to set the alarm to take medication, 36.9% (39/106) received health-related SMS text messages or calls from health organization or health care providers, 32.1% (34/106) used their phones to consult health professionals, and 24.5% (26/106) used their phones to browse health-related information using the internet.

Willingness to Receive a Short Message Service Text Message–Based mHealth Intervention

As shown in Table 2, those who owned smartphones were more willing to receive SMS text messages than those who owned standard feature phones (101, 84.2% vs 144, 72.4%). Respondents who had used mobile phones to send SMS text messages were also more willing to receive SMS text message–based health interventions compared with those who never used the SMS text messaging service before (80.3% vs 67.8%).

Respondents who used their phones as an alarm reminder to take their medication were more willing to receive SMS text message-based mHealth interventions than those who did not (85% vs 75.2%). This willingness was also observed in respondents who received SMS text messages from health organization before compared with those who had not (79.5% vs 76.4%). The frequency of the mobile phone use also correlated with the willingness to accept an SMS text message-based mHealth intervention. Of note, 229 women (80.1%) who "always" used their mobile phones were willing to receive SMS text messages compared with those who only used their mobile phones "sometimes" 16 (48.5%). The willingness to receive SMS text messages was higher among respondents who locked their mobile phone with a password than those who did not lock their mobile phone with a password (80.5% vs 72.9%). In addition, internet users via their mobile phone were also more willing than noninternet users (82.1% vs 72%).

Attitude and Willingness to Receive Short Message Service Text Message–Based mHealth Interventions

In this study, 71.2% (296/416) respondents were willing to receive SMS text messages with information regarding ANC (Table 3). The pregnancy period at which they would want to begin receiving SMS text messages varied greatly: from 1 month, 117/296, 39.5%; from 3 months, 163/296, 55.1%; and from 6 months, 10/296, 3.4%, and at 9 months of pregnancy but before delivery 2% (6/296).

The time of day at which they would want to receive SMS text messages varied greatly. Overall, 19.9% (59/296) of women preferred receiving an SMS text message at morning only (8 am-before 12 pm), 6.8% (20/296) in the afternoon only (12 pm-before 4 pm), 12.8% (38/296) in the evening only (4 pm-before 8 pm), whereas 60.5% (179/296) described they could receive the SMS text messages at any time of the day. Among respondents who were willing to receive SMS text messages, more than three-fourth preferred receiving them at a frequency of once a week.

Overall, women were interested in receiving pregnancy and related information via SMS text messages. Among pregnant women who were willing to receive SMS text messages, about 96.3% (285/296) were willing to receive information regarding activities or things to avoid during pregnancy.

Those who intended to receive health information regarding delivery courses via SMS text messages were 90.5% (268/296). In addition, respondents were willing to receive SMS text messages about what to expect at various stages of pregnancy (249/296, 84.1%), prenatal dietary information (236/296, 79.7%), appointment reminders (209/296, 70.6%), when to call a doctor during pregnancy (107/296, 36.1%), and physical activities during pregnancy (88/296, 29.7%). Among respondents who were willing to receive SMS text messages, 78.4% (232/296) indicated that they were willing to pay for the service based on the current SMS text messaging rates.

Factors Associated With the Willingness to Receive Short Message Service Text Messages

Variables in the bivariable analysis of sociodemographics, patterns of mobile phone use, access to a health facility, and ANC-related factors around the willingness to receive SMS text messages that had P < .20 were further considered in the multivariable analysis (Table 4). The multivariable logistic regression analysis revealed that the following factors were significantly associated with the willingness to receive SMS text message-based mHealth intervention among pregnant women: youth age group (15-24 years, P=.002); educational status (primary: P=.05; secondary and above: P=.004); and mobile phone use as "always" (P=.006; Table 4). Respondents in the youth age group were 2.87 times (AOR 2.869, 95% CI 1.451-5.651) more likely willing to receive SMS text message-based mHealth interventions than those aged >25 years. Respondents with secondary and higher educational level were 5 times (AOR 4.995, 95% CI 1.689-14.773) more willing to receive SMS text messages than those with educational level below secondary. Respondents who used a mobile phone "sometimes" were 68.1% (AOR 0.319, 95% CI 0.141-0.718) less likely to be willing than those who used mobile phone always.

Endehabtu et al

 Table 2. Willingness to receive the short message service (SMS) text message-based mHealth intervention by patterns of mobile phone use among pregnant women attending antenatal care follow-up at health centers in the Gondar Town Administration, Northwest Ethiopia, 2017 (N=319).

Mobile phone use patterns	Total, n (%)	Willingness to receive SMS text messages, n (%	
		Yes	No
Mobile phone type		·	
Smart	120 (37.6)	101 (84.2)	19 (15.8)
Standard	199 (62.4)	144 (72.4)	55 (27.6)
Sent an SMS text message via mobile phone before			
Yes	229 (71.8)	184 (80.3)	45 (19.7)
No	90 (28.2)	61 (67.8)	29 (32.2)
Used mobile phone for health information before			
Yes	106 (33.2)	85 (80.2)	21 (19.8)
No	213 (66.8)	160 (75.1)	53 (24.9)
Used mobile phone to set alarm for taking medication			
Yes	53 (16.6)	45 (85)	8 (15)
No	266 (83.4)	200 (75.2)	66 (24.8)
Received SMS text messages from health organization before			
Yes	39 (12.2)	31 (79.5)	8 (19.5)
No	280 (87.8)	214 (76.4)	66 (23.6)
Consulted health care professionals			
Yes	34 (10.7)	26 (76.5)	8 (23.5)
No	285 (89.3)	219 (77)	66 (23)
Used the internet to browse health-related data			
Yes	26 (8.2)	20 (77)	6 (23)
No	293 (91.9)	225 (76.8)	68 (23.8)
Frequency of mobile phone use			
Always	286 (89.6)	229 (80.1)	57 (19.9)
Sometimes	33 (10.3)	16 (48.5)	17 (51.5)
Changed your subscriber identity module (SIM) card in the last 12 n	onths		
Yes	48 (15)	35 (72.9)	13 (27.1)
No	271 (85)	210 (77.5)	61 (22.5)
Have an additional SIM card			
Yes	22 (6.9)	20 (90.9)	2 (9.1)
No	297 (93.1)	225 (75.8)	72 (24.2)
Switch off your mobile phone during daytime			
Yes	47 (14.7)	34 (72.3)	13 (27.7)
No	272 (85.3)	211 (77.6)	61 (22.4)
There are times or places when calls are not answered			
Yes	108 (33.9)	82 (75.9)	26 (24.1)
No	211 (66.1)	163 (77.5)	48 (22.7)
There are times, places, or situations when unknown calls are unansw	wered		
Yes	100 (31.3)	75 (75)	25 (25)
No	219 (68.7)	170 (77.6)	49 (22.4)
Locked the mobile phone with a password			

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e9/

XSL•FO RenderX

Endehabtu et al

Mobile phone use patterns	Total, n (%)	Willingness to receive SMS text messages, n (%)	
		Yes	No
Yes	164 (51.4)	132 (80.5)	32 (19.5)
No	155 (48.9)	113 (72.9)	42 (27.1)
No	223 (69.9)	182 (81.6)	41 (18.4)
Shared the mobile phone with others in the house			
Yes	95 (29.8)	64 (67.4)	31 (32.4)
No	224 (70.2)	181 (80.8)	43 (19.2)
Can send an SMS text message			
Yes	277 (86.8)	219 (79.1)	59 (209)
No	42 (13.2)	26 (61.9)	16 (38.1)
Can read an SMS text message			
Yes	287 (90)	226 (78.7)	61 (21.3)
No	32 (10)	19 (59.4)	13 (40.6)
Deleted an SMS text message without reading			
Yes	18 (6.3)	17 (94.4)	1 (5.6)
No	269 (93.7)	211 (78.4)	58 (21.6)
Likelihood of an SMS text message to be seen by others			
Very likely	26 (8.1)	17 (65.4)	9 (34.6)
Likely	57 (17.9)	38 (66.7)	19 (33.3)
Unlikely	71 (22.3)	55 (77.5)	16 (22.3)
Very unlikely	165 (51.7)	135 (81.8)	30 (18.2)
Used the internet via your mobile phone			
Yes	151 (47.3)	124 (82.1)	27 (17.9)
No	168 (52.7)	121 (72)	47 (28)
Chatted with friends and relatives			
Yes	143 (94.7)	123 (86)	20 (14)
No	8 (5.3)	1 (12.5)	7 (87.5)
Used the mobile phone to send emails			
Yes	88 (58.3)	77 (87.5)	11 (12.5)
No	63 (41.7)	47 (74.6)	16 (25.4)
Used the mobile phone to browse information			
Yes	46 (30.5)	39 (84.8)	7 (15.2)
No	105 (69.5)	85 (81)	20 (19))
Used the mobile phone for entertainment			
Yes	48 (31.8)	42 (87.5)	6 (12.5)
No	103 (68.2)	82 (79.6)	21 (20.4)

Endehabtu et al

Table 3. Attitude and willingness to receive short message service (SMS) text message-based mHealth interventions among pregnant women attending antenatal care follow-up at health centers in the Gondar Town Administration, Northwest Ethiopia, 2017.

Attitude and willingness to receive SMS text message	Pregnant women, n (%)
Willing to receive SMS text messages (n=416)	<u>_</u>
Yes	296 (71.2)
No	120 (28.8)
Reason not to be willing (n=120)	
Ruins privacy	50 (41.7)
SMS text message is annoying	2 (1.6)
Difficult to operate	54 (45)
Not important	14 (11.7)
Preferred time to begin receiving SMS text messages (n=296)	
Before 1 month	117 (39.5)
From 3 months	163 (55.1)
From 6 months	10 (3.4)
From 9 months (before birth	6 (2.0)
Preferred time of the day for receiving SMS text messages (n=296)	
Morning (8 am-before 12 pm)	59 (19.9)
Afternoon (12 pm-before 4 pm)	20 (6.8)
Evening (4 pm-before 8 pm)	38 (12.8)
Any time	179 (60.5)
Preferred frequency (n=296)	
1 per week	223 (75.3)
3 per week	70 (23.6)
5 per week	2 (0.7)
7 per week	1 (0.3)
Will pay for the service (n=296)	
Yes	232 (78.4)
No	64 (21.6)
Preferred pregnancy information to receive (n=296)	
Activities or things to avoid	
Yes	285 (96.3)
No	11 (3.7)
When to call a doctor	
Yes	107 (36.1)
No	189 (63.9)
Diet	
Yes	236 (79.7)
No	60 (20.3)
Appointment reminders	
Yes	209 (70.6)
No	87 (29.4)
What to expect at various stages of pregnancy	



Endehabtu et al

Attitude and willingness to receive SMS text message	Pregnant women, n (%)
Yes	249 (84.1)
No	47 (15.9)
Physical activity	
Yes	88 (29.7)
No	208 (70.3)
Pregnancy and delivery courses	
Yes	268 (90.5)
No	28 (9.5)

Table 4. Bivariable and multivariable analyses of factors with the willingness to receive short message service (SMS) text message–based mHealth interventions to improve antenatal care (ANC) among pregnant women attending ANC at health centers in the Gondar Town Administration, Northwest Ethiopia (N=416).

Factors	Willing	gness, n	Crude odds ratio (95% CI)	Adjusted odds ratio (95% CI)	
	Yes	No			
Age (years)				·	
15-24	133	27	2.810 (1.729-4.569)	2.869 (1.451-5.651) ^a	
≥25	163	93	Ref ^b	Ref	
Place of residence					
Urban	255	83	2.773 (1.667-4.612)	—	
Rural	41	37	Ref	—	
Educational level					
Cannot read and write	34	36	Ref	Ref	
Informal education	13	8	1.721 (0.634-4.666)	5.032 (0.792-31.978)	
Primary	78	32	2.581 (1.383-4.815)	3.040 (1.001-9.230) ^a	
Secondary and above	171	44	4.115 (2.318-7.305)	4.995 (1.489-14.773) ^a	
Type of mobile phone ^c					
Smart	101	19	2.030 (1.136-3.627)	_	
Standard	144	55	Ref	_	
Frequency of mobile phone use ^c					
Always	229	57	Ref	Ref	
Some times	16	17	0.234 (0.112-0.492)	0.319 (0.141-0.718) ^a	
Lock mobile phone with a password ^c					
Yes	132	32	0.110 (0.652-1.102)	_	
Share mobile phone with others in the house					
Yes	64	31	Ref	—	
No	181	43	2.039 (1.181-3.508)	—	
Use internet ^c					
Yes	124	27	1.784 (1.044-3.047)	—	
No	121	47	Ref	Ref	

^aStatistically significant at *P*<.05.

^bRef: reference.

^cParticipants with mobile phone ownership, n=319.

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e9/

Discussion

Principal Findings

This study shows that access to mobile phone among pregnant women attending ANC at health centers in the Gondar Town Administration was high, with over three-quarters of women owning phones in this study. In addition, age, educational level, and frequency of the mobile phone use were among the notable factors associated with the willingness of pregnant women to receive SMS text message–based mHealth interventions.

The mobile phone ownership of women in this study (319/416, 76.7%) is lower than that reported in studies from Argentina (93.2%) [19] and South Africa (84%) [21]; this discrepancy could be attributed to the difference in the information and communication technology infrastructure and the socioeconomic status among countries. In addition, this is lower than studies conducted in Nigeria among women attending a tertiary facility for childhood immunization (99%); this disparity could be attributed to the study setting-a tertiary hospital-which mostly serves urban residents. Another possible explanation could be the difference in the information communication development index [22]. The mobile phone ownership in this study is nearly similar with that reported by a study conducted in Kenya (74.3%) [23]; it is also nearly similar with that reported by a study conducted in Ethiopia among antiretroviral therapy (ART) patients (76.1%) [24]. The possible explanation for this could be the similarity between study areas. This study found that the mobile phone ownership is much higher than the Ethiopian general mobile (SIM) population, which was reported to be only 48% [20]; this difference could be attributed to the study setting, which was one of the major towns in Ethiopia. In this study, most respondents were urban residents who had better access to telecommunication services. Hence, the findings of this study might not be generalizable to other areas of the country, especially in the rural communities.

In addition, 90.0% (287/319) and 86.8% (277/416) of current mobile phone owners could read and send an SMS text message, respectively, making an SMS text message–based intervention technically feasible. Furthermore, there is evidence that respondents were willing to receive SMS text message–based interventions, with a majority wanting the messages to begin early during pregnancy at 3 months, and a preference for once-weekly messages. Similar high willingness rates for SMS text message–based interventions have been observed in Argentina (96%) [19], South Africa (under option B+, 88.1%) [25], and Kenya (92%) [23]. Moreover, there is evidence of health-seeking behavior by pregnant women who wanted to receive information on what to avoid during pregnancy, diet, and information on pregnancy and delivery course

From those who were willing to receive SMS text messages, about 21.6% (64/296) of respondents were not willing to pay for SMS text messaging on current tele tariff rates, even though the benefit was clearly stated. An explanation for this could be that ANC services in Ethiopia are provided free of charge by the Ethiopian government and, thus, mothers might not want to take up any new costs. This finding has important implications for program managers and designers, as they may need to devise

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e9/
```

alternative payment mechanisms for SMS text messages in future intervention strategies.

This study identified some factors significantly associated with the willingness to receive SMS text message–based mHealth interventions among pregnant women. Younger pregnant women were more likely to be willing to receive SMS text messages; this result is consistent with a study from Kenya [26] and a study conducted in Ethiopia among ART patients [24].

This analysis indicated that women who achieved secondary or higher education were more likely to be willing to receive SMS text message-based mHealth interventions. This study is in line with a study from Ethiopia among ART patients [24] and Nigeria among women willingness for child immunization [27]. The result suggests that implementing the SMS text message-based mHealth intervention is particularly more feasible in the younger age group and more educated ones. However, it might be a potential drawback to implementing the SMS text message-based mHealth intervention program because about 21.6% (64/296) of respondents have no primary schooling; this highlights the influence of maternal educational status on the ANC utilization, as confirmed by other evidence [5]. Furthermore, it implies that before implementing the SMS text message-based mHealth intervention to improve the prenatal care utilization, apart from considering access to mobile phones, barriers that are related to the socioeconomic conditions of end users (especially the educational status) need to be fully explored and addressed.

This study shows that the place of residence, source of information for ANC, using the internet through mobile phones, mobile phone type, and mobile phone usage privacy variables, like locking the mobile phone with a password, and sharing a mobile phone with others were not found to be markedly associated with the willingness.

Limitations

There are some limitations to this study. As the study was an institution-based cross-sectional survey, only respondents who came for ANC visit were interviewed, thereby excluding those who did not visit the health centers. Moreover, this study was conducted at health centers in a major town or urban administration, which could have overstated the accessibility of women to mobile phones and their willingness to receive the SMS text message-based mHealth intervention. In addition, the survey was interviewer-administered, and even if we used neutral interviewers, there might be an interviewer and social desirability bias that could have made more participants to respond in the affirmative. These limitations have to be considered when generalizing these results.

Conclusions

A high proportion of respondents attending ANC clinics in a resource-poor urban setting of Ethiopia have mobile phone access and are willing to receive SMS text message–based mHealth interventions. Thus, mobile phone–based interventions to improve maternal health should be tried and explored further. Moreover, age, educational status, and frequency of the mobile phone use are significant factors associated with the willingness.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank facilitators and the study participants for their dedicated cooperation and made the study possible. This study was funded by the University of Gondar Community Service and Research Vice President Office as master's thesis grant.

Authors' Contributions

BFE contributed to conception and design or acquisition of data, data collection supervision, data analysis, data interpretation, and manuscript preparation. BT and ANW agreed to be accountable for all aspects of the work in ensuring that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work are appropriately investigated and resolved. BT and ANW were involved in drafting the manuscript or revising it and have agreed to be accountable for all aspects of the work in ensuring that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work are appropriately investigated and resolved. BT and ANW were involved in crafting the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work are appropriately investigated and resolved. The manuscript was critically reviewed and edited by BT, RL, and MW.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. UNFPA. World Bank Group and the United Nations Population Division: Trends in Maternal Mortality to 2015. World Bank Group and the United Nations Population Division: Trends in Maternal Mortality to 2015 2016:2016.
- 2. WHO. WHO Guidelines Approved by the Guidelines Review Committee:WHO Recommendations on Antenatal Care for a Positive Pregnancy Experience. WHO Guidelines Approved by the Guidelines Review Committee:WHO Recommendations on Antenatal Care for a Positive Pregnancy Experience 2016.
- Alkema L, Chou D, Hogan D, Zhang S, Moller AB, Gemmill A, United Nations Maternal Mortality Estimation Inter-Agency Group collaboratorstechnical advisory group. Global, regional, and national levels and trends in maternal mortality between 1990 and 2015, with scenario-based projections to 2030: a systematic analysis by the UN Maternal Mortality Estimation Inter-Agency Group. Lancet 2016 Jan 30;387(10017):462-474 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15)00838-7] [Medline: 26584737]
- Abalos E, Chamillard M, Diaz V, Tuncalp , Gülmezoglu AM. Antenatal care for healthy pregnant women: a mapping of interventions from existing guidelines to inform the development of new WHO guidance on antenatal care. BJOG 2016 Mar;123(4):519-528 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/1471-0528.13820] [Medline: 26694196]
- 5. Central Statistical Agency (CSA). Ethiopia Demographic and Health Survey. Ethiopia Demographic and Health Survey 2016.
- Campbell J, Admasu K, Soucat A, Tlou S. Maximizing the impact of community-based practitioners in the quest for universal health coverage. Bull World Health Organ 2015 Sep 01;93(9):590-590A [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2471/BLT.15.162198] [Medline: 26478618]
- Vodopivec-Jamsek V, de JT, Gurol-Urganci I, Atun R, Car J. Mobile phone messaging for preventive health care. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2012 Dec 12;12:CD007457. [doi: <u>10.1002/14651858.CD007457.pub2</u>] [Medline: <u>23235643</u>]
- Gibson DG, Kagucia EW, Ochieng B, Hariharan N, Obor D, Moulton LH, et al. The Mobile Solutions for Immunization (M-SIMU) Trial: A Protocol for a Cluster Randomized Controlled Trial That Assesses the Impact of Mobile Phone Delivered Reminders and Travel Subsidies to Improve Childhood Immunization Coverage Rates and Timeliness in Western Kenya. JMIR Res Protoc 2016 May 17;5(2):e72 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.5030] [Medline: 27189422]
- Jennings L, Omoni A, Akerele A, Ibrahim Y, Ekanem E. Disparities in mobile phone access and maternal health service utilization in Nigeria: a population-based survey. Int J Med Inform 2015 May;84(5):341-348. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2015.01.016] [Medline: 25737460]
- 10. Ngabo F, Nguimfack J, Nwaigwe F, Mugeni C, Muhoza D, Wilson DR, et al. Designing and Implementing an Innovative SMS-based alert system (RapidSMS-MCH) to monitor pregnancy and reduce maternal and child deaths in Rwanda. Pan Afr Med J 2012;13:31 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 23330022]
- Lund S, Hemed M, Nielsen BB, Said A, Said K, Makungu MH, et al. Mobile phones as a health communication tool to improve skilled attendance at delivery in Zanzibar: a cluster-randomised controlled trial. BJOG 2012 Sep;119(10):1256-1264 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0528.2012.03413.x] [Medline: 22805598]
- Tilahun B, Smillie K, Bardosh KL, Murray M, Fitzgerald M, Cook V, et al. Identifying Barriers and Facilitators of 13 mHealth Projects in North America and Africa: Protocol for a 5-Year Implementation Science Study. JMIR Res Protoc 2018 Jul 03;7(7):e162 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.9633] [Medline: 29970360]
- Lau YK, Cassidy T, Hacking D, Brittain K, Haricharan HJ, Heap M. Antenatal health promotion via short message service at a Midwife Obstetrics Unit in South Africa: a mixed methods study. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 2014 Aug 21;14:284 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2393-14-284] [Medline: 25145970]

- 14. Bastawrous A, Armstrong MJ. Mobile health use in low- and high-income countries: an overview of the peer-reviewed literature. J R Soc Med 2013 Apr;106(4):130-142 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0141076812472620] [Medline: 23564897]
- Balakrishnan R, Gopichandran V, Chaturvedi S, Chatterjee R, Mahapatra T, Chaudhuri I. Continuum of Care Services for Maternal and Child Health using mobile technology - a health system strengthening strategy in low and middle income countries. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2016 Dec 07;16:84 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12911-016-0326-z] [Medline: 27387548]
- Evans W, Nielsen PE, Szekely DR, Bihm JW, Murray EA, Snider J, et al. Dose-response effects of the text4baby mobile health program: randomized controlled trial. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2015 Jan 28;3(1):e12 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.3909] [Medline: 25630361]
- 17. Datta SS, Ranganathan P, Sivakumar KS. A study to assess the feasibility of Text Messaging Service in delivering maternal and child healthcare messages in a rural area of Tamil Nadu, India. Australas Med J 2014;7(4):175-180 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4066/AMJ.2014.1916] [Medline: 24817911]
- Poorman E, Gazmararian J, Parker RM, Yang B, Elon L. Use of text messaging for maternal and infant health: a systematic review of the literature. Matern Child Health J 2015 May;19(5):969-989. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10995-014-1595-8</u>] [Medline: <u>25081242</u>]
- Cormick G, Kim NA, Rodgers A, Gibbons L, Buekens PM, Belizán JM, et al. Interest of pregnant women in the use of SMS (short message service) text messages for the improvement of perinatal and postnatal care. Reprod Health 2012 Aug 06;9:9 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1742-4755-9-9] [Medline: 22866753]
- Alwan K, Awoke T, Tilahun B. Knowledge and Utilization of Computers Among Health Professionals in a Developing Country: A Cross-Sectional Study. JMIR Hum Factors 2015 Mar 26;2(1):e4 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/humanfactors.4184] [Medline: 27025996]
- van Heerden A, Norris S, Tollman S, Richter L, Rotheram-Borus MJ. Collecting maternal health information from HIV-positive pregnant women using mobile phone-assisted face-to-face interviews in Southern Africa. J Med Internet Res 2013 Jun 10;15(6):e116 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2207] [Medline: 23748182]
- 22. ITU. Measuring the Information Society Report. Measuring the Information Society Report 2016 [FREE Full text]
- 23. Kazi AM, Carmichael JL, Hapanna GW, Wangoo PG, Karanja S, Wanyama D, et al. Assessing Mobile Phone Access and Perceptions for Texting-Based mHealth Interventions Among Expectant Mothers and Child Caregivers in Remote Regions of Northern Kenya: A Survey-Based Descriptive Study. JMIR Public Health Surveill 2017 Jan 30;3(1):e5 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/publichealth.5386] [Medline: 28137702]
- 24. Kebede M, Zeleke A, Asemahagn M, Fritz F. Willingness to receive text message medication reminders among patients on antiretroviral treatment in North West Ethiopia: A cross-sectional study. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2015 Aug 13;15:65 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12911-015-0193-z] [Medline: 26268394]
- 25. Nachega JB, Skinner D, Jennings L, Magidson JF, Altice FL, Burke JG, et al. Acceptability and feasibility of mHealth and community-based directly observed antiretroviral therapy to prevent mother-to-child HIV transmission in South African pregnant women under Option B+: an exploratory study. Patient Prefer Adherence 2016;10:683-690 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/PPA.S100002] [Medline: 27175068]
- 26. Zurovac D, Otieno G, Kigen S, Mbithi AM, Muturi A, Snow RW, et al. Ownership and use of mobile phones among health workers, caregivers of sick children and adult patients in Kenya: cross-sectional national survey. Global Health 2013 May 14;9:20 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1744-8603-9-20] [Medline: 23672301]
- 27. Balogun MR, Sekoni AO, Campbell PC. Access to information technology and willingness to receive text message reminders for childhood immunisation among mothers attending a tertiary facility in Lagos, Nigeria. Access to information technology and willingness to receive text message reminders for childhood immunisation among mothers attending a tertiary facility in Lagos, Nigeria 2012:76.

Abbreviations

ANC: antenatal care AOR: adjusted odds ratio ART: antiretroviral therapy SIM: subscriber identity module or subscriber identification module SMS: short message service



Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 10.12.17; peer-reviewed by G Cormick, C Basch, O Ilozumba; comments to author 13.03.18; revised version received 14.05.18; accepted 18.06.18; published 17.10.18. <u>Please cite as:</u> Endehabtu B, Weldeab A, Were M, Lester R, Worku A, Tilahun B Mobile Phone Access and Willingness Among Mothers to Receive a Text-Based mHealth Intervention to Improve Prenatal Care in Northwest Ethiopia: Cross-Sectional Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2018;1(2):e9

URL: http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e9/ doi:10.2196/pediatrics.9618 PMID:31518334

©Berhanu Endehabtu, Adane Weldeab, Martin Were, Richard Lester, Abebaw Worku, Binyam Tilahun. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 17.10.2018. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Clinical Adoption of mHealth Technology to Support Pediatric Cystic Fibrosis Care in Sweden: Qualitative Case Study

Meghan Longacre¹, MS, PhD; Stuart Grande¹, MPA, PhD; Andreas Hager², LLM; Meera Montan², MPH; Rikard Palmer Bergquist², MSc, PMP; Maria Martensson³, BSc; Greg Kotzbauer¹, MPH

¹The Dartmouth Institute for Health Policy and Clinical Practice, The Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth, Dartmouth College, Lebanon, NH, United States

²Upstream Dream, Bromma, Sweden

³Lund Pediatric Cystic Fibrosis Center, Skane University Hospital, Lund, Sweden

Corresponding Author:

Meghan Longacre, MS, PhD The Dartmouth Institute for Health Policy and Clinical Practice The Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth Dartmouth College 1 Medical Center Drive HB 7252 Lebanon, NH, 03756-1000 United States Phone: 1 603 650 1565 Email: meghan.longacre@dartmouth.edu

Abstract

Background: Mobile health (mHealth) technologies have potential to improve self-management and care co-ordination of pediatric chronic diseases requiring complex care, such as cystic fibrosis (CF). Barriers to implementation include the lack of support and infrastructure to use mHealth in the clinical microsystem. Coproducing mHealth technology with patients, clinicians, and designers may increase the likelihood of successful integration into the clinical setting.

Objective: This study explored the development, adoption, and integration of a new, co-produced mHealth platform (Genia) for the management of pediatric CF in Sweden.

Methods: A retrospective, qualitative case study approach was used. The case was defined as the process of introducing and using Genia at the Pediatric Cystic Fibrosis Center at Skåne University Hospital in Lund, Sweden. Data sources included interviews, presentations, meeting notes, and other archival documents created between 2014 and 2017. To be included, data sources must have described or reflected upon the Genia adoption process. Iterative content analysis of data source materials was conducted by 2 qualitatively trained researchers to derive themes characterizing the mHealth clinical adoption process.

Results: In total, 4 core themes characterized successful clinical integration of Genia in Lund: cultural readiness to use mHealth; use of weekly huddles to foster momentum and rapid iteration; engagement in incremental "Genia Talk" to motivate patient adoption; and co-design approach toward pediatric chronic care.

Conclusions: Principles of quality improvement, relational co-ordination, user-centered design, and coproduction can facilitate the integration of mHealth technology into clinical care systems for pediatric CF care.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2018;1(2):e11080) doi:10.2196/11080

KEYWORDS

cystic fibrosis; mHealth; mobile phone; pediatrics; qualitative case study; technology

Introduction

RenderX

Longitudinal care of children diagnosed with cystic fibrosis (CF)—an autosomal recessive genetic disorder affecting lung capacity—is characterized by substantial personal, familial, and

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e11080/

medical burden [1,2]. To decelerate decline in lung function, children must engage in respiratory and physical therapies up to 2 hours per day, adherence to which often decreases as children age through adolescence [3]. Guidance from health care providers is frequently disconnected from this daily routine

and the personal goals of pediatric CF patients [4]. For pediatric CF, this disconnectedness derives in part from the traditional model of episodic care delivery, which hinders an uninterrupted approach and may result in fragmented clinical care [5]. The challenge to co-ordinated care particularly impacts young people during a developmentally vulnerable time, when they move from clinician-regulated pediatric care to increasingly autonomous self-management of their illness [6]. Successful transition to adult CF care is dependent on consistent, appropriate, and increasingly independent maintenance of a care regimen [7]. Encouraging these patterns of behavior in late childhood and early adolescence fosters stability and reliability of personal management of chronic illness into adulthood [8].

Mobile health (mHealth) technology-based platforms offer a transformational mechanism for improving clinical care in both preventive medicine and chronic disease management [9,10]. One strength of mHealth as a disease management tool is its ability to leverage existing mobile technology infrastructure and the ubiquity of smartphones across populations [11]. For adolescents, who are frequent users of mobile technology, mHealth applications show potential as a strategy for improving self-management of and adherence to treatment regimens for numerous chronic conditions [12]. Successful use of technology-based support systems to foster self-management, however, is not without challenges. Usability studies identify barriers to the uptake of and adherence to various mHealth and electronic health systems used by clinicians and patients [13,14]. These barriers include low self-efficacy with mHealth platforms; perceptions that the technology will not enhance clinical outcomes; privacy and security concerns; and lack of infrastructure to support the use of mHealth applications [15,16].

Integral involvement of end users in the development of mHealth applications—such that the technology is "co-produced" by designers, clinicians, and patients—may be a strategy to overcome implementation challenges. Coproduction refers to the joint creation of health care services for managing the treatment of a health condition [17]. By engaging end users in mHealth development, this joint design approach may avoid common implementation barriers and enhance the likelihood that these new technologies will be adopted in clinical settings and used by target audiences [18,19].

The purpose of this study was to provide a retrospective case analysis of the development, adoption, and integration of a new, co-produced mHealth platform for the management of pediatric CF in Sweden. Genia is an app-based patient support system (PSS) designed to foster collaborative care and enhance self-management among pediatric patients living with chronic conditions. In 2014, Genia was introduced to the Pediatric Cystic Fibrosis Center at Skåne University Hospital (Lund, Sweden) in its design phase and codeveloped with adolescent patients and CF providers at the center. The adoption of Genia in Lund was highly successful, with a majority of pediatric CF patients using the app. The aim of this case study was to examine the introduction of Genia in Lund to identify successful contributors to the clinical integration of a technology-based PSS, which may be disseminated to other pediatric CF centers in Sweden and abroad and potentially to other pediatric chronic conditions.

Methods

Mobile Health Patient Support System: Genia

Genia is a mobile iOS PSS created by a Swedish-based company Upstream Dream to optimize consensus-building in pediatric care by improving communication between patients and clinical teams, fostering disease self-management and aligning patients' goals with clinical treatment plans (see Figure 1).

By doing so, Genia aims to facilitate timely, meaningful, and appropriate clinical care and ultimately to improve patients' quality of life. Through Genia, patients (or parents, depending on the patient's age) can record daily health observations and symptoms between visits (eg, physical activity or gastrointestinal problems), track medications, and complete previsit reports, including treatment preferences and goals, prior to a clinical appointment. This patient-reported information allows patients to document their disease activity and preferences in the real-time between clinical visits (see Figure 2).

Patient data are then integrated into the National CF Quality Registry (ie, a registry established in 1992, encompassing all 21 regional health care systems or payors in Sweden, which longitudinally follows every CF patient in Sweden) and the care flow within the clinical setting. Clinical providers—including physicians, physiotherapists, and others—are able to review patients' previsit reports as an Adobe PDF file in the CF registry prior to the clinical visit to better inform the visit and foster opportunities for shared decision making and goal setting. Patients and providers also use Genia to collaboratively document agreed upon therapeutic decisions, actionable steps, and other information derived during the clinical visit. Genia thus aims to foster patient self-management, build trusted patient-provider relationships, and increase compliance with mutually agreed upon care plans.

Grounded within principles of user-based design [20], feedforward systems [21], and coproduction [17], functional features of Genia were created and tested through small-scale, iterative design cycles with patient and family representatives and clinical CF providers within the Lund Pediatric CF clinical microsystem. These learning collaboratives formed the backbone of Genia development by ensuring that technological modifications of the app were grounded in end user's lived experiences. This user-centered perspective is also illustrated in the key features of the app, which identify patients as the experts in their disease state and better enable them to provide their voice to the care they receive. Genia is currently available for download from the iTunes App Store in an iOS platform in Swedish and English.



Figure 1. Genia flow.



Figure 2. Screenshots of sample Genia app pages developed Upstream Dream.



Study Design

XSL•FO RenderX

We conducted a retrospective, descriptive, qualitative case study [22] of Genia adoption in Lund as part of a larger formative evaluation of Genia within the clinical pediatric CF setting in Sweden. A qualitative approach was selected to allow for an in-depth, inductive examination of data within a naturalistic setting (ie, Lund), enhancing the validity of findings. The case study method was considered most appropriate for several

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e11080/
```

reasons, including its holistic approach to describing how and why Lund was successful; the emphasis on exploration of a phenomenon in the "real-life" clinical settings where the researchers observe but do not manipulate behaviors or processes under examination; and the ability to conduct a retrospective analysis by examining historical artifacts documenting the Genia development and adoption processes [22]. This study was reviewed and determined to be exempt by

the Committee for the Protection of Human Subjects at Dartmouth.

Study Setting

The "case" was defined as the process of introducing and using Genia at the Pediatric Cystic Fibrosis Center at Skåne University Hospital. Located in Lund, Sweden, Skåne University Hospital represents 1 of only 4 pediatric hospitals in Sweden. The Lund CF Center is a regional center for specialized CF care in accordance with the European Cystic Fibrosis Society Standards of Care and serves approximately 60 pediatric patients annually. The pediatric clinical team in Lund consists of 4 physicians, 2 nurses, 2 physiotherapists (ie, physical therapists), 1 dietician, 1 social worker, and 1 psychologist. This team meets weekly to discuss care plans and clinical issues with incoming patients. Pediatric CF patients located geographically close to the center typically visit the clinic every 2 months. Those living outside the region visit with the Lund clinical staff 2-4 times per year. Lund has a long tradition of emphasizing the role of physiotherapy for the care of pediatric CF patients. Reflecting this tradition, at each clinical appointment, physiotherapists have an hour-long appointment with the patient prior to the physician's visit with the patient.

Genia was initially introduced to the Lund CF Center in late 2014. By July 2017, the Lund CF clinical staff indicated successful integration of Genia into their practice, defined as the percent of patient Genia users and Genia use within care team meetings. Specifically, 87% of Lund CF pediatric patients were members of the Genia PSS, and 85% of all care team meetings (ie, clinical visits between pediatric CF patients and care providers) were supported by Genia through the use of a previsit report.

Data Sources

Consistent with the case study methodological approach, we employed a data triangulation strategy in which data were extracted from multiple sources that were created between late 2014 and July 2017. Data sources included interviews with Lund providers and the Genia design team, design and implementation meeting notes, design team and clinical team emails, archived presentations, Genia progress reports, and other documents. To be included in the analysis, data sources must have described or reflected upon the early adoption and integration process of Genia in Lund. Some archival data sources were translated from Swedish to English using Google translate or by a bilingual member of the Genia design team. All data sources were organized and condensed into a tabular case record in Microsoft Excel in preparation for analysis [22].

Data Analysis

Data analysis was conducted by 2 qualitatively trained researchers unaffiliated to either the Genia design team or the pediatric Lund CF team. We applied iterative, conventional content analysis [23] in the coding process. Conventional content analysis is an appropriate approach when there is not a strong theoretical framework directing the analysis, the aim of the investigation is descriptive, and study design is primarily observational [23]. Because of this, our analytic approach was primarily inductive, in which we allowed themes to emerge

from the raw data. We identified themes within 3 temporal stages of Genia adoption: (1) PSS introduction to the CF team, (2) facilitators of widespread adoption, and (3) integration into clinical flow.

The first researcher conducted the initial data analysis using the aggregate case record as the full data source. Following immersive review of the data, an initial round of preliminary coding was performed for the entire case record [24]. Due to the varied types of data sources, we employed multiple coding techniques, including descriptive coding to document the data source and timeline and process coding to identify the strategic actions during Genia adoption and implementation [24]. When possible, we also used direct words or phrases from the data source as emergent, in vivo codes. During the second round of coding, we looked for patterns of codes within and across the temporal stages of Genia adoption, expanding, synthesizing, reframing, or rephrasing codes as necessary. Larger themes were described and illustrated with exemplars. The second researcher reviewed the case record as well as the thematic and illustrative evidence. Clarifications and discrepancies were resolved through consensus discussion. To enhance the credibility of findings, the final set of themes was provided for review to 1 member of the pediatric Lund CF team and 2 members of the Genia design team. No changes were made after their review.

Results

Principal Results

In total, 4 core themes characterized the successful adoption and integration of Genia in Lund. Illustrative quotes are excerpted from interviews with pediatric Lund CF providers.

Cultural Readiness to Use Mobile Health

Attitudinal and structural characteristics of Lund contributed to a pre-existing culture that was receptive to the introduction of a new mHealth technology. The Lund provider team had undertaken informal quality improvement (QI) projects prior to Genia and were engaged and motivated to continue a QI-type approach to their clinical work.

I think we always have that in mind to work 'Lean' [Lean Six Sigma] and to make quality improvement better at the clinic.

Additionally, Lund providers indicated that Genia represented a more "modern" way of engaging in their clinical work with pediatric CF patients, particularly due to its technology-based platform, and thus it was consistent with their attitudinal ethos of continual improvement.

Several structural characteristics of Lund also contributed to the success with which the clinic adopted Genia. The historical prominence of the physiotherapist in pediatric CF care management yielded a trusted, internal point person to manage the effort of introducing Genia. The lead physiotherapist in Lund served as the primary "champion" of Genia and was the person who initially familiarized the wider clinical team to the app. Because of her role, she was influential in the decision by other members of the clinical team to try Genia.

It's a tradition in Sweden and especially in Lund that the physio[therapist] is very important and mostly everyone listens to the physio. So if the physio says something, I really believe that everyone is listening.

The second physiotherapist in Lund supported the lead physiotherapist's efforts and likewise served as a Genia champion. The presence of 2 clinical champions at the site allowed for a collaborative approach and shared responsibility for the workload associated with Genia onboarding.

You have to be at least two to get this project working because it's hard to do everything by yourself. You need two fighting spirits.

The physiotherapists' historical leadership role in pediatric CF care helped not only with onboarding other clinical providers to Genia but also with onboarding patients. The physiotherapists represent the most familiar clinic-based providers to the patients due to the extended time they spend with patients (ie, 1 hour) prior to each appointment. The close, trusted nature of the physiotherapists' ability to introduce Genia to the Lund pediatric patients.

Finally, because the Lund CF clinic is relatively small (~60 patients) and the pediatric CF provider team is also small (ie, 11 members), logistical co-ordination and communication regarding Genia was easier. The team already met weekly to discuss patient issues; thus, integrating Genia into these team meetings was a "natural" way to incorporate Genia into a regular clinical discussion.

Weekly Huddles Fostered Forward Momentum and Rapid Iteration

Short (ie, 15 minute) weekly clinic "huddles" served as the critical process mechanism for fostering continued, forward momentum in adopting Genia in Lund. Huddles were facilitated by a Genia design team member and attended by the physiotherapist champions, other clinical team members, and adolescent CF patient "lead users." Huddles offered opportunities to provide support for using Genia, understand barriers to use, and document good practices. Huddles were characterized by a user-centered design approach, in which clinical and patient users would test features of the app during the prototype development phase and provide weekly feedback to the Genia design team who would modify the app based on this feedback. The huddles thus facilitated iterative feedforward or feedback problem-solving cycles that allowed for rapid identification of challenges to effective Genia use and rapid implementation of responsive action plans. For example, during one huddle, discomfort with using the technology was revealed as a potential barrier to use. The design team was able to quickly develop an instructional video, which clinical team members could view repeatedly to increase their proficiency with the app. In another example, the huddle discussions revealed that receiving previsit reports throughout the week was hard to manage within the clinical workflow. The team instead tried receiving previsit reports every Sunday night triggered by an auto-prompt sent via the app to patients over the weekend; this proved to be more clinically manageable and further helped to structure the Monday huddle meetings. The team's commitment

to weekly meetings ensured that progress continually moved forward.

It's been very important to have weekly contact with Genia. To remind you to 'Think Genia!'.

Codecision making during the huddles about Genia development, and a patient-centered approach in which the pediatric CF patients and the clinical providers were considered the "experts," both fostered engagement by the primary end users and enhanced motivation for continued Genia use. Patient and family lead users offered new ideas for upcoming iterations, provided a platform for peer support, and operated as ambassadors for spread. Huddles also fostered motivation through sharing of successful patient or provider stories of Genia use and lessons learned. Thus, the huddles represented the primary mechanism by which Genia progressed from initial design and limited use to wider scale adoption.

Engagement in Incremental "Genia Talk" Motivated Patient Adoption

The physiotherapists in Lund were primarily responsible for introducing Genia to patients. Several strategies for doing so were collectively referred to as "Genia Talk" by the physiotherapists. When possible, the physiotherapists introduced Genia to patients as early as possible in their care management. This communicated to the patient the integration of Genia with the usual care offered by the clinic.

The physiotherapists made Genia their tool. They signal very clearly to all patients that Genia is a way of working for them. This is how we do it in Lund.

Physiotherapists utilized a tailored, stepwise approach to the introduction of the app. Rather than showing patients (and their families) the entire app all at once, the physiotherapists selected one feature of the app to focus on with the patient at a particular visit (eg, how to record a daily observation), tailored to a current clinical need. At the next clinical visit, the physiotherapists would check on the progress with that feature of the app and introduce another new feature (eg, how to track medications).

We present Genia and what we can, together, benefit from in the app. We don't try to present everything at once, but take small steps forward.

Additionally, at every visit, the physiotherapist would ask to collaboratively complete the previsit report in Genia with the patient if the patients had not completed the previsit reports on their own. This new process was initially tested by one physiotherapist as a response to patients forgetting to complete the previsit report prior to arriving at the clinic; due to its success in activating patients to use Genia and helping to shape their expectations about the importance of the report, this process was subsequently normalized within the clinical setting. This supported and gradual approach to onboarding patients was a central feature of the successful adoption of Genia by patients. By allowing patients to learn the app in a way that was responsive to their current needs, patients incrementally experienced the heightened value of Genia over time without increased burden. As more and more patients began using the app in a successful way, word-of-mouth spread patient interest

XSL•FO RenderX

in using Genia, which also contributed to a transition to wider usage.

Co-Design Approach Toward Pediatric Cystic Fibrosis Care

Emerging from the weekly huddles and improved engagement with patients was a process characterized by co-design strategies, where conversations and interactions were iterative and collaborative. These co-design strategies were profiled by the Lund providers in contrast to previous practice strategies marked by one-sided conversations and asymmetric information sharing. The co-design strategy ensured that the app was viewed as relevant, usable, and valuable to both patients and clinicians, thus overcoming potential barriers to implementation during the design phase rather than waiting until after the app was completed. Thus, the coproduction of the app itself was inherent to the success of the integration process.

In Genia-supported CF care, patients were able to share challenges and insights prior to meeting with their care team, which permitted care team members to prepare and more efficiently and effectively interact with them. One clinician said, "Being prepared for the visit, both family and patient" was made possible by the previsit report function through Genia. The functionality of Genia also permitted the cocreation of care notes, which was an outcome driven by the previsit report function. The efficiency of the structured visit, and "knowing what to ask," helped the clinicians focus on the treatment plans for their patients rather than on managing the visit itself.

Discussion

Principal Findings

This descriptive case study contributes to a small body of literature on technology-based interventions to improve CF self-management [25,26] and is one of the first to document the development and adoption process of an mHealth app for pediatric CF patients in a clinical setting. By illustrating successful features of integration, our findings highlight cultural characteristics of the clinical setting, which are more likely to support the feasible integration of new technologies, as well as mHealth design components that contribute to success.

This case reveals how the team-based institutional culture of CF care practice in Sweden complemented readiness for adoption of a novel mHealth patient engagement tool. Multiple characteristics of the clinic itself set the stage for successful integration, including cultural ethos of QI, desire for more modern ways of providing care, relational co-ordination within a small care team [27], and mHealth champions who represented the most influential clinical team members both within the team and with patients, and thus could foster shared aims. These characteristics, which some have referred to as an "implementation climate," [28] essentially primed Lund for the successful adoption of Genia. Organizational readiness of the clinical setting thus plays a gate-keeping role in mHealth integration [29]. As such, it offers important insights into the selection of settings that are likely to successfully adopt mHealth technologies for pediatric chronic illness management. This approach, however, is a resource-intensive process. Cultural

and contextual characteristics of many pediatric clinical settings may reduce their ability to meet weekly for QI huddles or to engage patients in the intensive mHealth design process.

Weekly team huddles during the adoption phase of Genia enhanced routinization of communication practices and the collective belief in the value of a technology-based application to engage CF patients. In essence, these weekly huddles served as the primary mechanism that operationalized the iterative, user-focused design process. Ample research on the development of mHealth technology promotes the incorporation of end user in the design process [30]. However, often this user input is incorporated late in the design phase or episodically. Our case demonstrates that weekly meetings between key stakeholders (ie, patients and clinicians) and the technology design team beginning early in the app development process were critical to integration. Not only did this human-centered design approach [30] allow for frequent, iterative design cycles based on user feedback (ie, feedforward or feedback information cycles), it also enhanced the commitment to use Genia due to a collective feeling that Genia is "for us, by us."

The gradual, patient-specific onboarding process used by the physiotherapists enabled patients to learn to use Genia in an incremental manner. By highlighting features of the app that were useful to patients as needed, patients saw the increasing value of Genia without being overwhelmed by the capabilities of the technology. Since ease of use is one of the most frequently cited barriers to mHealth adoption [13,15], this slow and steady process of exposure, always with the direct help of the physiotherapist, was central to patients' positive experiences with the app.

Limitations

There are several limitations in this case study report. The sample of qualitative data was relatively small and was examined retrospectively, which limited our ability to pursue clarification of historical artifacts. Results presented here should be regarded as preliminary. Our case study examined only one clinical setting in Sweden, limiting the generalizability of the findings. Future work should examine the Genia adoption process at other pediatric CF centers to determine whether facilitators identified in this study are transferable to other clinical settings. Additionally, examining how care teams collaborated in their use of Genia with respect to specific care regimens-such as nutrition or physical activity-would be useful to reveal the microsystem-level utility of the app. We recognize that direct patient's perspectives (eg, patient interviews) were not included in the data sources, as this case was focused on the implementation and dissemination of the technology within the Lund clinical setting and among its clinicians. Patient perspectives are necessary to directly examine how patients perceived the clinical integration of Genia in Lund. Our report may have been limited by the Swedish and English language challenges of communicating across cultures. Although the case report was developed in partnership with bilingual partners and many clinicians spoke both English and Swedish, the nuance of the details must be read with caution as translations and interpretations may vary. Finally, this study only examined the process of adoption and implementation of

XSL•FO RenderX

Genia and did not examine the impact of Genia on patient outcomes, such as improved self-management, treatment adherence, or quality of life. Future studies among patients are needed to determine whether Genia improves care compliance to and self-management of CF, and ultimately patient health outcomes. These offer important research directions for the use of Genia by pediatric CF patients.

Conclusions

This qualitative case study offers preliminary evidence for strategies necessary for the successful adoption of an mHealth app within a pediatric chronic illness clinical setting. Although originally designed for pediatric patients with CF, the process described here could be applied to any pediatric chronic illness requiring extended self-management and complex care with multisector teams.

Acknowledgments

This work was funded as a collaborative research project with Genentech, Inc awarded to GK.

Conflicts of Interest

AH, MM, and RPB are employees of Upstream Dream, a private company that developed the Genia app. ML, SG, and GK are affiliated with The Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth and have no financial conflicts of interest to report.

References

- O'Sullivan BP, Freedman SD. Cystic fibrosis. Lancet 2009 May 30;373(9678):1891-1904. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(09)60327-5] [Medline: 19403164]
- 2. Bishay LC, Sawicki GS. Strategies to optimize treatment adherence in adolescent patients with cystic fibrosis. Adolesc Health Med Ther 2016;7:117-124 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/AHMT.S95637] [Medline: 27799838]
- Goodfellow NA, Hawwa AF, Reid AJ, Horne R, Shields MD, McElnay JC. Adherence to treatment in children and adolescents with cystic fibrosis: a cross-sectional, multi-method study investigating the influence of beliefs about treatment and parental depressive symptoms. BMC Pulm Med 2015 Apr 26;15:43 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12890-015-0038-7] [Medline: 25927329]
- 4. Sawicki GS, Heller KS, Demars N, Robinson WM. Motivating adherence among adolescents with cystic fibrosis: youth and parent perspectives. Pediatr Pulmonol 2015 Feb;50(2):127-136 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/ppul.23017] [Medline: 24616259]
- Kaplan HC, Thakkar SN, Burns L, Chini B, Dykes DM, McPhail GL, et al. Protocol of a Pilot Study of Technology-Enabled Coproduction in Pediatric Chronic Illness Care. JMIR Res Protoc 2017 Apr 28;6(4):e71 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.7074] [Medline: 28455274]
- 6. West NE, Mogayzel PJ. Transitions in Health Care: What Can We Learn from Our Experience with Cystic Fibrosis. Pediatr Clin North Am 2016 Dec;63(5):887-897. [doi: 10.1016/j.pcl.2016.06.010] [Medline: 27565366]
- Patel A, Dowell M, Giles BL. Current Concepts of Transition of Care in Cystic Fibrosis. Pediatr Ann 2017 May 01;46(5):e188-e192. [doi: <u>10.3928/19382359-20170425-02</u>] [Medline: <u>28489224</u>]
- 8. American Academy of Pediatrics, American Academy of Family Physicians, American College of Physicians, Transitions Clinical Report Authoring Group, Cooley WC, Sagerman PJ. Supporting the health care transition from adolescence to adulthood in the medical home. Pediatrics 2011 Jul;128(1):182-200. [doi: 10.1542/peds.2011-0969] [Medline: 21708806]
- Militello LK, Kelly SA, Melnyk BM. Systematic review of text-messaging interventions to promote healthy behaviors in pediatric and adolescent populations: implications for clinical practice and research. Worldviews Evid Based Nurs 2012 Apr;9(2):66-77. [doi: 10.1111/j.1741-6787.2011.00239.x] [Medline: 22268959]
- Free C, Phillips G, Galli L, Watson L, Felix L, Edwards P, et al. The effectiveness of mobile-health technology-based health behaviour change or disease management interventions for health care consumers: a systematic review. PLoS Med 2013;10(1):e1001362 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1001362] [Medline: 23349621]
- Silva BM, Rodrigues JJ, de la Torre Díez I, López-Coronado M, Saleem K. Mobile-health: A review of current state in 2015. J Biomed Inform 2015 Aug;56:265-272 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jbi.2015.06.003</u>] [Medline: <u>26071682</u>]
- 12. Majeed-Ariss R, Baildam E, Campbell M, Chieng A, Fallon D, Hall A, et al. Apps and Adolescents: A Systematic Review of Adolescents' Use of Mobile Phone and Tablet Apps That Support Personal Management of Their Chronic or Long-Term Physical Conditions. J Med Internet Res 2015 Dec 23;17(12):e287 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5043] [Medline: 26701961]
- Liberati EG, Ruggiero F, Galuppo L, Gorli M, González-Lorenzo M, Maraldi M, et al. What hinders the uptake of computerized decision support systems in hospitals? A qualitative study and framework for implementation. Implement Sci 2017 Dec 15;12(1):113 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13012-017-0644-2] [Medline: 28915822]
- 14. Wu J, Wang S, Lin L. Mobile computing acceptance factors in the healthcare industry: a structural equation model. Int J Med Inform 2007 Jan;76(1):66-77. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2006.06.006] [Medline: 16901749]

- 15. Schnall R, Higgins T, Brown W, Carballo-Dieguez A, Bakken S. Trust, Perceived Risk, Perceived Ease of Use and Perceived Usefulness as Factors Related to mHealth Technology Use. Stud Health Technol Inform 2015;216:467-471 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 26262094]
- Atienza AA, Zarcadoolas C, Vaughon W, Hughes P, Patel V, Chou WS, et al. Consumer Attitudes and Perceptions on mHealth Privacy and Security: Findings From a Mixed-Methods Study. J Health Commun 2015;20(6):673-679. [doi: 10.1080/10810730.2015.1018560] [Medline: 25868685]
- 17. Batalden M, Batalden P, Margolis P, Seid M, Armstrong G, Opipari-Arrigan L, et al. Coproduction of healthcare service. BMJ Qual Saf 2016 Dec;25(7):509-517 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjqs-2015-004315] [Medline: 26376674]
- Bendixen RM, Fairman AD, Karavolis M, Sullivan C, Parmanto B. A User-Centered Approach: Understanding Client and Caregiver Needs and Preferences in the Development of mHealth Apps for Self-Management. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2017 Sep 26;5(9):e141 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.7136] [Medline: 28951378]
- Schnall R, Rojas M, Bakken S, Brown W, Carballo-Dieguez A, Carry M, et al. A user-centered model for designing consumer mobile health (mHealth) applications (apps). J Biomed Inform 2016 Apr;60:243-251 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2016.02.002] [Medline: 26903153]
- 20. Bate P, Robert G. Bringing user experience to health care improvement: the concepts, methods and practices of experience-based design. Oxford: Radcliffe Publishing; 2007.
- 21. Hvitfeldt H, Carli C, Nelson EC, Mortenson DM, Ruppert BA, Lindblad S. Feed forward systems for patient participation and provider support: adoption results from the original US context to Sweden and beyond. Qual Manag Health Care 2009;18(4):247-256. [doi: 10.1097/QMH.0b013e3181bee32e] [Medline: 19851232]
- 22. Yin R. Case study research: design and methods. 5th ed. Thousand Oaks: SAGE Publications; 2014.
- 23. Hsieh H, Shannon SE. Three approaches to qualitative content analysis. Qual Health Res 2005 Nov;15(9):1277-1288. [doi: 10.1177/1049732305276687] [Medline: 16204405]
- 24. Saldana J. The coding manual for qualitative researchers. Thousand Oaks: SAGE Publications; 2015.
- Marciel KK, Saiman L, Quittell LM, Dawkins K, Quittner AL. Cell phone intervention to improve adherence: cystic fibrosis care team, patient, and parent perspectives. Pediatr Pulmonol 2010 Feb;45(2):157-164 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/ppul.21164] [Medline: 20054860]
- 26. Hilliard ME, Hahn A, Ridge AK, Eakin MN, Riekert KA. User Preferences and Design Recommendations for an mHealth App to Promote Cystic Fibrosis Self-Management. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2014 Oct 24;2(4):e44 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.3599] [Medline: 25344616]
- 27. Gittell JH, Logan C, Cronenwett J, Foster TC, Freeman R, Godfrey M, et al. Impact of relational coordination on staff and patient outcomes in outpatient surgical clinics. Health Care Manage Rev 2018 Jan 05. [doi: 10.1097/HMR.00000000000192] [Medline: 29303904]
- 28. Weiner BJ, Belden CM, Bergmire DM, Johnston M. The meaning and measurement of implementation climate. Implement Sci 2011 Jul 22;6:78 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-6-78] [Medline: 21781328]
- 29. Weiner BJ. A theory of organizational readiness for change. Implement Sci 2009 Oct 19;4:67 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-4-67] [Medline: 19840381]
- Harte R, Glynn L, Rodríguez-Molinero A, Baker PM, Scharf T, Quinlan LR, et al. A Human-Centered Design Methodology to Enhance the Usability, Human Factors, and User Experience of Connected Health Systems: A Three-Phase Methodology. JMIR Hum Factors 2017 Mar 16;4(1):e8 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/humanfactors.5443] [Medline: 28302594]

Abbreviations

CF: cystic fibrosis **mHealth:** mobile health **PSS:** patient support system **QI:** quality improvement

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 17.05.18; peer-reviewed by P Lomas, C George, T Cruvinel; comments to author 18.07.18; accepted 25.09.18; published 10.12.18.

<u>Please cite as:</u>

Longacre M, Grande S, Hager A, Montan M, Bergquist RP, Martensson M, Kotzbauer G Clinical Adoption of mHealth Technology to Support Pediatric Cystic Fibrosis Care in Sweden: Qualitative Case Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2018;1(2):e11080 URL: <u>http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e11080/</u> doi:10.2196/11080 PMID:31518297



©Meghan Longacre, Stuart Grande, Andreas Hager, Meera Montan, Rikard Palmer Bergquist, Maria Martensson, Greg Kotzbauer. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 10.12.2018. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

Assessing the Perceptions of Inspiratory Muscle Training in Children With Cystic Fibrosis and Their Multidisciplinary Team: Mixed-Methods Study

Jessica L McCreery¹, BSC; Kelly A Mackintosh¹, BSc, MSc, PhD; Narelle S Cox², BAppSci (Physio), MAppSci (Physio), PhD; Melitta A McNarry¹, BSc, PhD

¹School of Sport and Exercise Sciences, College of Engineering, Swansea University, Swansea, United Kingdom ²School of Allied Health, Department of Rehabilitation, Nutrition and Sport, La Trobe University, Melbourne, Australia

Corresponding Author:

Jessica L McCreery, BSC School of Sport and Exercise Sciences College of Engineering Swansea University Fabien Way, Crymlyn Burrows Skewen Swansea, SA1 8EN United Kingdom Phone: 44 01792 513069 Email: jessmccreery@googlemail.com

Abstract

Background: Little is known about the opinions or perceived benefits of an inspiratory muscle training intervention in patients with cystic fibrosis and their multidisciplinary team.

Objective: The aim of this qualitative study was to examine patients' and multidisciplinary teams' views on inspiratory muscle training to inform and tailor future interventions.

Methods: Individual, semistructured interviews were conducted to evaluate participants' perspectives of a 4-week inspiratory muscle training intervention. In this study, 8 of 13 individuals involved in the inspiratory muscle training program (5 children aged 11-14 years; 2 physiotherapists; and 1 respiratory physician) participated. Interviews were transcribed verbatim, analyzed using thematic analyses, and then coded into relevant themes.

Results: Four key themes emerged: acceptability, facilitators, barriers, and recommendations. While fun, enjoyment, and improved perceived physical ability were reported by children and their multidisciplinary team following the inspiratory muscle training program, the multidisciplinary team identified factors such as time and cost as key barriers.

Conclusions: A short inspiratory muscle training program was perceived to have positive effects on the physical ability and psychosocial health of children with cystic fibrosis. These findings highlight the importance of obtaining participants' and multidisciplinary teams' perceptions and recommendations to ensure the efficacy and optimal design of future inspiratory muscle training protocols.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2018;1(2):e11189) doi:10.2196/11189

KEYWORDS

RenderX

cystic fibrosis; health perceptions; inspiratory muscle training; mobile phone; pediatrics; qualitative

Introduction

Cystic fibrosis (CF) is the most common inherited, life-shortening condition in the United Kingdom [1]. Despite recent advances in pharmacological interventions [2], the median life expectancy remains around 40 years [1]. Characterized by

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e11189/

recurrent respiratory infections, breathlessness, cough, and gastrointestinal complications, CF is a multisystem disease requiring many hours of daily therapy [3]. With no cure available currently, the development or refinement of treatment strategies that increase or maintain the quality of life (QoL),

exercise capacity, and respiratory function are paramount for the well-being of patients with CF.

Inspiratory muscle training (IMT), which utilizes restricted airflow breathing exercises to increase the mechanical load on the external intercostal muscles and diaphragm, is a subject of research interest. The increased muscular load engendered by IMT provides a stimulus to elicit a hypertrophic response [4], similar to that observed in response to strength training in limb muscles [5]. Substantial improvements in respiratory muscle endurance [6,7], respiratory muscle strength, and vital capacity [8] have been reported in patients with CF who have undertaken IMT, and there is some evidence for a positive effect on lung function and QoL [4]. Despite the potential benefits of IMT, there is a lack of consensus regarding its routine use in clinical practice due to marked variations in study protocols, small sample sizes, and lack of psychosocial outcome measures [5,9]. Specifically, only two studies have reported psychosocial health as an outcome, reporting that anxiety and depression scores decreased in an IMT group that trained at 80% of their maximal effort [4] and a trend toward an improved QoL with a combined IMT "whole muscle" training program [10]. Regardless of potential efficacy, many treatment strategies are limited by participants' perceptions of, and, thus, adherence to, the intervention. Indeed, a common barrier to adherence cited by many adolescents with CF is the embarrassment of taking their treatments in front of other people [11,12]; this suggests the potential utility of home-based interventions, such as IMT, which may increase adherence to treatments in adolescents with CF. However, no studies are presently available regarding the perceptions, opinions, or recommendations of participants, or indeed of a multidisciplinary team (MDT), concerning IMT. Furthermore, the mean age of participants in IMT studies is approximately 18.5 years [13]. With the average life expectancy of around 45.1 years, participants in these studies are effectively middle aged, and therefore, further research in the younger CF population is warranted [14]. This lack of evidence makes it difficult to establish the overall efficacy of IMT as a therapeutic strategy for adolescents with CF [9]. Therefore, the aim of this study was to ascertain the views of children, and their respective

 Table 1. Example interview questions.

CF MDT, in relation to IMT following a 4-week training program.

Methods

In this study, 5 children (age, 11-14 years) were included if they met the following criteria: (1) took part in the pilot study of IMT conducted by Swansea University; (2) had a confirmed diagnosis of CF or were a matched control; (3) had no additional non-CF illness or disease; and (4) voluntarily participated and provided written informed parental consent and child assent. MDT participants (2 physiotherapists and 1 respiratory physician) were eligible for inclusion if they provided clinical care for children with CF and had been involved in the same IMT pilot study.

Inspiratory Muscle Training

The IMT intervention consisted of participants undertaking 30 inspirations, twice a day, for 28 consecutive days using a POWERbreathe Plus device (POWERbreathe Plus LF Level 1, Gaiam Ltd E & OE, UK). A progressive approach was adopted, whereby participants initially trained at a load of 40% of their baseline maximal inspiratory pressure, increasing to 50% during weeks 3 and 4 [10]. All procedures and protocols utilized in this study were approved by the local National Health Service (NHS) ethical committee (13/LO/1907).

Qualitative Protocol—Interviews

Children and MDT members took part in individual semistructured interviews with follow-up questions. A semistructured interview includes a series of predetermined but open-ended questions, thereby allowing the interviewer to follow topical trajectories in the conversation, as well as providing interviewees freedom to express their views in their own terms [15,16]. Children's interview questions were related to their thoughts and opinions of IMT. MDT's interview questions were centered around their opinions of IMT, responses from patients, and IMT reflections and recommendations. All interviews were conducted by one investigator (JLM). Table 1 presents sample interview questions. All interviews were recorded and transcribed verbatim for analysis.

Interview and topic	Examples			
Children				
Inspiratory muscle training	What did you like and dislike about the training device?What made it easy or difficult to do the training program?			
Future	• How would you react if you were asked to do this training again?			
Multidisciplinary team				
Inspiratory muscle training	What is your opinion of the IMT device?How did the patients respond to the IMT device?			
Future	 What do you think about the National Health Service adopting an IMT intervention as a treatment? What recommendations do you have for interventions you would like to see for CF patients? 			

Data Analysis

All interviews were transcribed verbatim by one author (JLM) and analyzed thematically [17] using a manual approach. One author (JLM) read and familiarized the transcripts, and an initial list of codes was developed to organize the data to identify and develop themes from them [18]. A cross-examination of thematic data was undertaken by the research team in reverse, tracing verbatim quotations back to transcripts to ensure that the developed themes were grounded in the original data [19]. To ensure methodological rigor, themes and verbatim quotations were then reviewed by 3 authors to ensure findings were worthy of attention and to offer an alternative interpretation of the data [20,21]. This process continued until an acceptable consensus had been reached by the group.

Results

Five children (n=3 boys) and 3 MDTs (2 physiotherapists and 1 respiratory physician) completed the interviews. All interviews were semistructured and lasted between 30 and 40 minutes. Example verbatim quotes are provided to support the points raised with a frequency count (in brackets) to indicate the number of times the particular theme was raised. The following 4 themes emerged from the interviews: (1) acceptability; (2) facilitators; (3) barrier; and (4) recommendations.

Acceptability

Feedback from all participants was very positive regarding the acceptability of the intervention. The MDT noted children's enthusiasm, and all children reported enjoying the IMT intervention:

I felt really excited [to do IMT] I just wanted to have a go at it. [Girl; n=5]

Some patients even suggested they would like to take part in future interventions:

I was pretty sad I didn't have to do it again. I'd happily do it again. [Girl; n=4]

Children reported good participation and adherence to the IMT intervention due to the ease of implementation:

Like it was easy you just do it [IMT] at home. You don't have to go anywhere specific or special. You could just do it in your bedroom if you wanted. [Girl; n=2]

In addition, the ease of integration into daily routine:

I got into it...I feel like I've always done it. When you get up in the morning, you normally eat your breakfast, get ready for school, do IMT and then quickly leave the house for the bus. [Girl; n=5]

Most importantly, children expressed enthusiasm and enjoyment:

I really enjoyed it, I got into it... I feel like I've always done it. [Boy; n=4]

Furthermore, all children perceived IMT to have a positive effect on their ability when partaking in a physical activity (PA):

For some reason, I don't know how, but they [lungs] almost felt like, almost got stronger. You could just

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e11189/

breathe more freely...I could keep running for longer, I didn't have to stop and take deep breaths as much as normal. [Girl; n=5]

Children also indicated reduced embarrassment associated with completing the treatment at home:

I like it [using the device at home] cause of not having all the constant questions. I don't like, well, I don't mind answering questions when people do ask [about CF], but like I am not getting caught up in it all the time in school with my friends. [Boy; n=2]

Moreover, the CF care team reported positive feedback from their patients and high adherence:

They would have all liked to have kept the IMT device and carried on. In fact, one of the patients subsequently went out and bought one and uses it as part of their routine. [Female Physiotherapist; n=3]

Akin to the children's perceptions, CF care team members believe that the IMT training schedule fit well around children's home and school schedules:

From a practical point of view, I think that fitted well. All feedback seemed to confirm that. [Female Physiotherapist; n=2]

Facilitators

Unsurprisingly, the MDT highlighted the importance of family, specifically parental influence, with "sporty families" being labeled as easier to motivate to undertake an intervention and exercise:

If you've a sporty family its easier...Families will support them [children] most of the families were very keen on IMT. You have to get the families on board." [Female Physiotherapist; n=3]

Not only are family facilitators influential, but peer facilitators are key, especially for children. The MDT highlighting the importance of children with CF being seen as equal to their peers:

It is very important to both keep them healthy and also to keep them in their peer group, you know at school and during sports activities. They need to be able to keep up with the rest of their class, so it is very, very important...A psychological benefit of being able to keep up with their peer group. [Female Physiotherapist; n=3]

Barriers

Although it seemed the intervention was well adhered to and enjoyed thoroughly by all participants, barriers were nonetheless highlighted, although predominantly by the MDT rather than the children. The MDT highlighted the following main barriers to the implementation of IMT:

Cost

The clinical care team highlighted cost to be a major barrier in implementing IMT within the local NHS framework:

Obviously there is a cost implication as there is no money in the NHS for any of these things. [Female Respiratory Physician; n=3]

Furthermore, there is a reliance on charitable income to fund airway clearance equipment:

Cost would be a big thing and whether it was a benefit to patients. [Female Respiratory Physician; n=3]

However, it was accentuated that if IMT proved to be successful, the cost should be met:

If it is proven to be beneficial they [the NHS] are more likely to get it. If it's proven to be beneficial and improve lung function compared to the cost of some of the drugs they [the NHS] might pay for it. [Female Physiotherapist; n=3]

Burden

Patients with CF have a high treatment burden involving daily physical therapy coupled with medication. Incorporating IMT into an already busy treatment schedule was a concern raised by the MDT:

It's yet another thing for us to ask them to do because they do have quite a large treatment burden...so that would be the biggest con, a time thing. [Female Physiotherapist; n=3]

This concern was also echoed by one of the children:

It was extra work to do with everything else that I have to do. [Boy; n=2]

Yet, one of the MDT had a solution, whereby an IMT program could be viable within the treatment schedule of a patient with CF:

Obviously you don't want it to be too much of a burden. Deciding whether it is better than other parts of their treatment and other part of their Physio and then substitute it [IMT] in could be an option. [Female Respiratory Physician; n=1]

Family

Converse to families being deemed as facilitators, a physiotherapist reflected on previous cases, whereby children's divorced parents have had a negative impact on children's participation levels in activities:

The parents have divorced, and the girl lives with mum. The mum has a full-time job and mum didn't push any after-school clubs, dad was the one that did it previously. So that created a big barrier. [Female Physiotherapist; n=1]

Recommendations

Participants were requested to comment on any changes they would make to the device and protocol. The children reported no changes, whereas the care team had numerous suggestions to improve future interventions. One of the main changes the care team suggested was the importance of knowing whether participants were adhering to the intervention: *I don't know if you can measure compliance, but it would be good if it [IMT] can tell us how much they actually did.* [Female Respiratory Physician; n=1]

To ensure future would adherence to IMT protocols and make the intervention attractive to children, the following was suggested:

Young people like to have their smartphones and apps, visual feedback in a piece of electrical equipment, that is probably the way forwards. [Female Respiratory Physician; n=2]

In addition, implementing a competitive element was highlighted as important additions in future interventions:

Feedback so they know how well they are doing. They are quite competitive, so if they know the others are doing it, they'll be more motivated. [Female Physiotherapist; n=2]

Contrastingly, despite reporting that a three times-a-day intervention fitted well into a child's routine, the MDT suggested a more time-efficient intervention to reduce the burden on patients:

Three times a day would be a problem, it [IMT] would have to be something regular to get them into a routine. [Female Respiratory Physician; n=3]

Discussion

The aim of this study was to ascertain the views of children and the CF care team in relation to an IMT intervention, thereby providing population-specific evidence to inform future interventions. Results indicate that all children enjoyed the home-based intervention, while the CF care team raised concerns regarding cost and treatment burden. Overall, these results provide important insights regarding future IMT interventions, building upon the limited literature available regarding the opinions of patients, respiratory physicians, and physiotherapists.

IMT in patients with CF has been reported to improve endurance and strength of the inspiratory muscles, as well as exercise capacity [5]. Previous research has shown that increases in exercise capacity are associated with the improved psychosocial status in patients with chronic pulmonary disease [22]. In addition, a recent study found that aerobic fitness positively associated with health-related QoL in patients with CF, underlining the importance of good physical fitness [23]. However, whether greater perceived ability to be physically active has the potential to influence psychosocial health and QoL in patients with CF remains unknown.

The perceived improvement in physical ability reported by participants could be attributed to the good adherence to the IMT program. This is in contrast to previous reports that adherence to treatment in CF is suboptimal [24]. This discrepancy could be a result of our participants' MDT, the age of our participants, and the small numbers involved in the study. Adherence levels among patients with CF tend to decline with the increasing age [25]. In younger children, treatment responsibility often lies with parents or guardians, resulting in greater adherence. As adherence was self-reported by

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e11189/
```

participants in this study, it may have been over- or underestimated and is, subsequently, subject to the risk of bias [26]. Key factors that influence adherence include family environment, stigma, embarrassment among peers, and relationship with their MDT [24]. Indeed, the interview findings presented here reflect an MDT that actively encourage patients to make their own choices about treatment decisions and are open to trialing new or novel interventions such as IMT.

With a reduced exercise capacity and low daily PA levels potentially impacting psychological and physiological health of patients with CF, parental and family involvement in PA is extremely important when encouraging children to meet recommended PA and exercise guidelines [27], which can be translated to IMT interventions. Healthy children with physically active parents are over five times more likely to be active than children whose parents are inactive [28], which correlates with reports from the MDT that an active "sporty family" is essential regarding children's participation levels. In addition, children's moderate-to-vigorous PA (MVPA) levels have been shown to correlate with their parents' [29], with family cohesion and parent-child joint PA predicting higher levels of MVPA [30]. Conversely, divorced parents can have a negative impact on a child's PA levels when the main parental facilitator becomes less involved [31]; this impact of divorced parents was highlighted by the MDT.

In addition to families, peer support is influential in determining activity-related self-esteem and, therefore, treatment behaviors[32]. School-aged children with CF report concerns of appearing "different" than their peers [33], and our participants voiced that they like to keep their condition separate from their friendships at school. This is in accordance with research in which children and adolescents with CF attempted to conceal their disease and symptoms to appear "normal" to their peers [34]. As the perspectives of peers are critical to social acceptance, it is essential that children with CF are not defined by their disease but have their own identity. The time-efficient nature of IMT provides the capacity for self-directed therapy that does not detract from time spent with peers, which may increase adherence.

Despite the ease of implementation, good adherence, and enjoyment reported by participants, the MDT was more reserved with regards to their enthusiasm for an IMT intervention, with reservations relating to cost and treatment burden. Nevertheless, the team expressed an interest in investigating the potential of a longer-term IMT intervention to provide a clearer evidence-base on the impact on psychological and physiological health in patients with CF. The main concern voiced by the care team, as well as children with CF, was the potential burden it may have on patients in terms of their time and current treatments. Reports that a patient with CF can spend a mean of 108 minutes per day on a wide range of CF therapies, regardless of age or disease severity [3], highlights the importance of establishing the feasibility of time-efficient therapies such as IMT. In addition, the CF care team recommended that future IMT interventions incorporate technology, including the ability to monitor adherence objectively to reduce the risk of bias, linking to smartphones and providing visual feedback. With smartphone ownership increasing, its usability for future interventions is highlighted by its accessibility, real-time assessment, adherence monitoring, visual feedback, and adjustability to the user [35]. Increasing patient and MDT engagement in the intervention design has the potential to improve health outcomes, better patient care, and lower costs [36] and, furthermore, is essential in improving the quality of health care and efficacy, which is especially important for the CF population whose treatments are highly prescribed [37].

In conclusion, the data revealed consistent themes relating to IMT among children with CF and their MDT. This preliminary study highlights the ease of incorporating an IMT program into the lives of patients with CF, who reported noticeable perceived improvements to their physical ability after only 4 weeks of IMT. These preliminary results suggest that an IMT intervention may be well accepted by young patients with CF. Furthermore, this study emphasizes the importance of gathering views and opinions of patients and their care teams to ensure good adherence and enjoyment to future interventions.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Laura Morris and Nicholas Wade for helping to run the IMT intervention.

Authors' Contributions

MAM and KAM conceived the study, JLM acquired the data, and all authors were involved in the interpretation and manuscript preparation.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- Charman S, Connon R, Cosgriff R, Lee A, Carr S. Cystic Fibrosis Trust. 2017. UK Cystic Fibrosis Registry Annual Data Report 2017 URL: <u>https://www.cysticfibrosis.org.uk/the-work-we-do/uk-cf-registry/reporting-and-resources</u> [WebCite Cache ID 6zp7pSaPQ]
- Rehman A, Baloch NUA, Janahi IA. Lumacaftor-Ivacaftor in Patients with Cystic Fibrosis Homozygous for Phe508del CFTR. N Engl J Med 2015 Dec 29;373(18):1783-1784. [doi: 10.1056/NEJMc1510466] [Medline: 26510035]

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e11189/

XSL•FO RenderX

- 3. Sawicki GS, Sellers DE, Robinson WM. High treatment burden in adults with cystic fibrosis: challenges to disease self-management. J Cyst Fibros 2009 Mar;8(2):91-96 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jcf.2008.09.007] [Medline: 18952504]
- Enright S, Chatham K, Ionescu AA, Unnithan VB, Shale DJ. Inspiratory muscle training improves lung function and exercise capacity in adults with cystic fibrosis. Chest 2004 Aug;126(2):405-411. [doi: <u>10.1378/chest.126.2.405</u>] [Medline: <u>15302725</u>]
- Reid WD, Geddes EL, O'Brien K, Brooks D, Crowe J. Effects of inspiratory muscle training in cystic fibrosis: a systematic review. Clin Rehabil 2008;22(10-11):1003-1013. [doi: <u>10.1177/0269215508090619</u>] [Medline: <u>18955432</u>]
- 6. de Jong W, van Aalderen WM, Kraan J, Koëter GH, van der Schans CP. Inspiratory muscle training in patients with cystic fibrosis. Respir Med 2001 Jan;95(1):31-36 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1053/rmed.2000.0966] [Medline: 11207014]
- Asher MI, Pardy RL, Coates AL, Thomas E, Macklem PT. The effects of inspiratory muscle training in patients with cystic fibrosis. Am Rev Respir Dis 1982 Nov;126(5):855-859. [doi: <u>10.1164/arrd.1982.126.5.855</u>] [Medline: <u>7149451</u>]
- 8. Sawyer EH, Clanton TL. Improved pulmonary function and exercise tolerance with inspiratory muscle conditioning in children with cystic fibrosis. Chest 1993 Nov;104(5):1490-1497. [Medline: <u>8222813</u>]
- Houston BW, Mills N, Solis-Moya A. Inspiratory muscle training for cystic fibrosis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2013 Nov 21(11):CD006112. [doi: <u>10.1002/14651858.CD006112.pub3</u>] [Medline: <u>24258092</u>]
- Santana-Sosa E, Gonzalez-Saiz L, Groeneveld IF, Villa-Asensi JR, Barrio Gómez de Aguero MI, Fleck SJ, et al. Benefits of combining inspiratory muscle with 'whole muscle' training in children with cystic fibrosis: a randomised controlled trial. Br J Sports Med 2013 May 16;48(20):1513-1517. [doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2012-091892] [Medline: 23681502]
- 11. Rand S, Prasad SA. Exercise as part of a cystic fibrosis therapeutic routine. Expert Rev Respir Med 2012 Jun;6(3):341-51; quiz 352. [doi: 10.1586/ers.12.19] [Medline: 22788948]
- 12. Selvadurai HC, Blimkie CJ, Cooper PJ, Mellis CM, Van Asperen PP. Gender differences in habitual activity in children with cystic fibrosis. Arch Dis Child 2004 Oct;89(10):928-933 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/adc.2003.034249] [Medline: 15383436]
- 13. Hilton N, Solis-Moya A. Respiratory muscle training for cystic fibrosis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2018 Dec 24;5:CD006112. [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD006112.pub4] [Medline: 29797578]
- 14. Keogh RH, Szczesniak R, Taylor-Robinson D, Bilton D. Up-to-date and projected estimates of survival for people with cystic fibrosis using baseline characteristics: A longitudinal study using UK patient registry data. J Cyst Fibros 2018 Mar;17(2):218-227 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jcf.2017.11.019] [Medline: 29311001]
- 15. Dicicco-Bloom B, Crabtree BF. The qualitative research interview. Med Educ 2006 Apr;40(4):314-321. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2929.2006.02418.x] [Medline: 16573666]
- 16. Given L. The SAGE Encyclopedia of Qualitative Research Methods. In: SAGE Publications Inc. Thousand Oaks, California: SAGE Publications Inc; 2008.
- 17. Braun V, Clarke V. What can "thematic analysis" offer health and wellbeing researchers? Int J Qual Stud Health Well-being 2014;9:26152 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 25326092]
- Fereday J, Muir-Cochrane E. Demonstrating Rigor Using Thematic Analysis: A Hybrid Approach of Inductive and Deductive Coding and Theme Development. International Journal of Qualitative Methods 2016 Nov 29;5(1):80-92. [doi: 10.1177/160940690600500107]
- 19. Tobin GA, Begley CM. Methodological rigour within a qualitative framework. J Adv Nurs 2004 Nov;48(4):388-396. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2648.2004.03207.x] [Medline: 15500533]
- Mackintosh KA, Knowles ZR, Ridgers ND, Fairclough SJ. Using formative research to develop CHANGE!: a curriculum-based physical activity promoting intervention. BMC Public Health 2011 Oct 27;11:831 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-11-831] [Medline: 22032540]
- Boddy LM, Knowles ZR, Davies IG, Warburton GL, Mackintosh KA, Houghton L, et al. Using formative research to develop the healthy eating component of the CHANGE! school-based curriculum intervention. BMC Public Health 2012 Aug 29;12:710 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-12-710] [Medline: 22931457]
- McCarthy B, Casey D, Devane D, Murphy K, Murphy E, Lacasse Y. Pulmonary rehabilitation for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2015 Feb 23(2):CD003793. [doi: <u>10.1002/14651858.CD003793.pub3</u>] [Medline: <u>25705944</u>]
- 23. Hebestreit H, Schmid K, Kieser S, Junge S, Ballmann M, Roth K, et al. Quality of life is associated with physical activity and fitness in cystic fibrosis. BMC Pulm Med 2014 Feb 27;14:26 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2466-14-26] [Medline: 24571729]
- 24. Jones S, Curley R, Wildman M, Morton R, Elphick H. Interventions for improving adherence to treatment in cystic fibrosis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2015 Apr(4). [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD011665]
- 25. Arias Llorente RP, Bousoño García C, Díaz Martín JJ. Treatment compliance in children and adults with cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros 2008 Sep;7(5):359-367 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jcf.2008.01.003] [Medline: 18304896]
- Prince SA, Adamo KB, Hamel ME, Hardt J, Connor GS, Tremblay M. A comparison of direct versus self-report measures for assessing physical activity in adults: a systematic review. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2008;5:56 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-5-56] [Medline: 18990237]

- 27. Edwardson CL, Gorely T. Parental influences on different types and intensities of physical activity in youth: A systematic review. Psychology of Sport and Exercise 2010 Nov;11(6):522-535. [doi: 10.1016/J.PSYCHSPORT.2010.05.001]
- Hood MY, Moore LL, Sundarajan-Ramamurti A, Singer M, Cupples LA, Ellison RC. Parental eating attitudes and the development of obesity in children. The Framingham Children's Study. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 2000 Oct;24(10):1319-1325. [Medline: <u>11093294</u>]
- 29. Fuemmeler BF, Anderson CB, Mâsse LC. Parent-child relationship of directly measured physical activity. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2011 Mar 08;8:17 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-8-17] [Medline: 21385455]
- 30. Ornelas IJ, Perreira KM, Ayala GX. Parental influences on adolescent physical activity: a longitudinal study. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2007 Feb 02;4:3 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-4-3] [Medline: 17274822]
- 31. Dempsey JM, Kimiecik JC, Horn TS. Parental Influence on Children's Moderate to Vigorous Physical Activity Participation: An Expectancy-Value Approach. Pediatric Exercise Science 1993 May;5(2):151-167. [doi: 10.1123/pes.5.2.151]
- 32. Coleman N, Sykes W, Groom C. Peer support and children and young peoples mental health. In: Independent Social Research. London, UK: Department of Education; 2017.
- 33. D'Auria JP, Christian BJ, Richardson LF. Through the looking glass: children's perceptions of growing up with cystic fibrosis. Can J Nurs Res 1997;29(4):99-112. [Medline: <u>9697438</u>]
- 34. Christian BJ, D'Auria JP. The child's eye: memories of growing up with cystic fibrosis. J Pediatr Nurs 1997 Feb;12(1):3-12. [doi: 10.1016/S0882-5963(97)80016-4] [Medline: 9037958]
- 35. Griffiths F, Lindenmeyer A, Powell J, Lowe P, Thorogood M. Why are health care interventions delivered over the internet? A systematic review of the published literature. J Med Internet Res 2006;8(2):e10 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.8.2.e10] [Medline: 16867965]
- 36. Berwick DM, Nolan TW, Whittington J. The triple aim: care, health, and cost. Health Aff (Millwood) 2008;27(3):759-769 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.27.3.759] [Medline: 18474969]
- 37. Johnson MO. The shifting landscape of health care: toward a model of health care empowerment. Am J Public Health 2011 Feb;101(2):265-270. [doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2009.189829] [Medline: 21164096]

Abbreviations

CF: cystic fibrosis IMT: inspiratory muscle training MDT: multidisciplinary team MVPA: moderate-to-vigorous physical activity NHS: National Health Service PA: physical activity QoL: quality of life

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 04.06.18; peer-reviewed by K Sundaram; comments to author 08.08.18; revised version received 15.08.18; accepted 16.08.18; published 25.10.18.

<u>Please cite as:</u> McCreery JL, Mackintosh KA, Cox NS, McNarry MA Assessing the Perceptions of Inspiratory Muscle Training in Children With Cystic Fibrosis and Their Multidisciplinary Team: Mixed-Methods Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2018;1(2):e11189 URL: <u>http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e11189/</u> doi:10.2196/11189 PMID:<u>31518290</u>

©Jessica L McCreery, Kelly A Mackintosh, Narelle S Cox, Melitta A McNarry. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 25.10.2018. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

Fertility Preservation in Children and Adolescents With Cancer: Pilot of a Decision Aid for Parents of Children and Adolescents With Cancer

Catherine Allingham^{1,2}, BMedSci, BSc (Hon); Lynn Gillam^{3,4}, MA, PhD; Maria McCarthy^{5,6}, MAppSc, PhD; Margaret Zacharin^{6,7}, MBBS, FRACS; Sadunee Jayasuriya^{1,8}, MBBS, BMedSci Hon; Yves Heloury⁹, MD, FRACS; Lisa Orme¹⁰, MBBS, FRACP; Michael Sullivan¹⁰, MBCHB, DCH, FRACP, PhD; Michelle Peate^{1*}, BSc (Bioinfo), GradDipSci (Biol), MScMed (RH&HG), PhD; Yasmin Jayasinghe^{1,2*}, FRANZCOG, PhD

⁸Monash University, Clayton, Australia

*these authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Yasmin Jayasinghe, FRANZCOG, PhD Department of Obstetrics & Gynaecology The Royal Women's Hospital University of Melbourne 20 Flemington Road Parkville, 3152 Australia Phone: 61 38345 3721 Fax: 61 83453702 Email: yasmin.jayasinghe@unimelb.edu.au

Abstract

Background: Future infertility is a significant concern for survivors of childhood and adolescent cancer. Children and adolescents may have the opportunity to undergo fertility preservation (FP) procedures (which preserve gonadal tissue or gametes for future use) prior to the cancer treatment. However, the decision is very complex, as it is often made by parents as proxy decision makers at the time of cancer diagnosis, and is time-sensitive (needing to occur before the cancer treatment begins). Furthermore, FP procedures in children and adolescents are experimental and cannot guarantee future fertility. An uninformed decision may result in future decision regret.

Objective: This study aimed to assess the acceptability, usability, and feasibility of a Web-based FP decision aid (DA) in parents of children and adolescents with cancer and clinicians. Fertility knowledge and decision regret were compared in families who reviewed the DA compared with those who did not.

Methods: The Web-based DA was developed according to the International Patient Decision Aid Standards. A cross-sectional study of parents of patients with cancer, who discussed fertility, and clinicians at a tertiary children's hospital was undertaken. The acceptability, usability, and feasibility of the DA were assessed using a pre-post survey design. Measures included the validated Decision Regret Scale, a purpose-designed fertility-related knowledge scale, questions regarding satisfaction with the DA, and open-ended responses for additional feedback. Furthermore, clinicians involved in FP were also invited to review the DA.

¹Department of Obstetrics & Gynaecology, The Royal Women's Hospital, University of Melbourne, Parkville, Australia

²Department of Paediatric & Adolescent Gynaecology, The Royal Children's Hospital, Parkville, Australia

³Melbourne School of Population and Global Health, University of Melbourne, Parkville, Australia

⁴Children's Bioethics Centre, The Royal Children's Hospital, Parkville, Australia

⁵Department of Psychology, The Royal Children's Hospital, Parkville, Australia

⁶Murdoch Children's Research Institute, Parkville, Australia

⁷Department of Endocrinology, The Royal Children's Hospital, Parkville, Australia

⁹Department of Urology, The Royal Children's Hospital, Parkville, Australia

¹⁰Children's Cancer Centre, The Royal Children's Hospital, Parkville, Australia

Results: We enrolled 34 parents and 11 clinicians in this study. Participants who reviewed the DA (15 parents and 11 clinicians) expressed satisfaction with its content and functionality. Parents reported an improved understanding of cancer treatments, infertility, and FP procedures and did not report greater decision regret after DA review. Most parents (13/15, 86%) would recommend the DA to other parents. All clinicians had a consensus that this was a valid and relevant information source for all involved in fertility care.

Conclusions: It is an international standard of care to discuss the impact of cancer treatment on fertility before cancer treatment. This is the first fertility DA for parents of children and adolescents with cancer and is found to be relevant and acceptable by parents and clinicians. This DA has the potential to help support parents to make informed fertility-related decisions for their children and adolescents. However, future research is needed to assess the impact of the DA on prospective decision making.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2018;1(2):e10463) doi:10.2196/10463

KEYWORDS

adolescent; cancer; decision aid; fertility preservation; pediatric; shared decision making; Values Clarification Exercise

Introduction

Australia has one of the highest incidences of childhood cancer worldwide, with >1500 children (0-12 years) and adolescent-young-adult patients (13-25 years) newly diagnosed annually [1,2]. Improvements in care have seen the 5-year survival rate surpass 83%, after which, the lifetime survival is comparable to that of their healthy peers [2,3]. Attention must be given to the late effects of cancer diagnosis and treatment in this growing population of survivors [2].

Common cancer treatments (alkylating chemotherapies and radiotherapy) may have gonadotoxic effects that can damage the reproductive system, resulting in infertility or sterility [4-8]. The risk to fertility is variable and difficult to exactly predict [9,10]. For some patients, this risk is negligible; for others, however, infertility may be almost certain [8,9]. Treatment regimen and dosage, sex, age at diagnosis, pubertal status, and disease are factors that may affect the risk of infertility. Survivors of childhood cancer regard infertility as one of their greatest concerns [7,8,10]. Fertility preservation (FP) procedures may be offered to patients at risk of infertility when medically appropriate [7].

Research regarding the application and efficacy of FP in humans is ongoing [8,11]. Gender and pubertal status determine the availability and accessibility of FP. For females, oocyte and embryo cryopreservation are the most effective means of preserving fertility but not possible in children [7,11]. In addition, ovarian tissue cryopreservation is available, although still considered experimental, with only 130 live births recorded to date [12]. For males, semen cryopreservation is currently the only viable FP procedure available. Preservation of immature testicular tissue is yet to be proven successful in humans [13]. Therefore, ovarian and testicular tissue harvesting procedures are usually only offered to children and adolescents under special governance [8,14].

Many young people are simply too young or feel too overburdened to make the fertility decision themselves and are glad that their parents take the initiative [15,16]. Overall, 48% of young people and 42% of parents experience posttraumatic stress symptoms around the diagnosis. Parental consent for FP decisions is usually required for all children under the age of 18 years (because of vulnerability), with only 33% of boys aged

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e10463/

<12 years able to appropriately comprehend fertility information [17]. The importance of parental input is further highlighted that even in young adults (age≤25 years), parents contribute to fertility decisions in 82% of cases. Thus, a large weight of responsibility sits with parents. The potential procedure-related risks, time delays in cancer treatment, and the potential message of false hope regarding cancer survival or the success of FP procedures must be considered [18]. Of concern, is the potential misinterpretation of risks and unrealistic expectations of FP success by patients and their parents [11,18]. The clarification of these factors is of vital importance and may be aided through the provision of balanced and understandable information.

Much of the information regarding FP is new to parents, and the involvement of patients in the decision-making process is variable [8,19]. Patients and families have limited time to consider their options as FP procedures are best undertaken prior to the commencement of gonadotoxic cancer treatments, soon after a cancer diagnosis [8,10]. In addition, there is often no clearly preferable decision, with each FP option having its own inherent risks and benefits that need to be considered with respect to personal values [20]. Thus, the decision to forgo or to pursue FP is difficult, and in this ethically complex scenario, decision makers require decision support.

Decision aids (DA) are educational tools designed to complement clinician counseling and facilitate difficult preference-sensitive decisions [21]. DAs have been shown across a range of health care choices to reduce the decisional conflict (a measure of uncertainty), increase decision satisfaction and knowledge, and minimize future regret, without increasing harm [21]. DAs are now considered to be the "gold standard" approach to shared decision making for complex health care decisions [21,22]. Considering the complexity of FP decision making in the pediatric setting, a DA could provide standardized, evidence-based decision support for parents of pediatric patients with cancer. To the best of our knowledge currently no FP DA is available for use in this clinical setting. Thus, this study aimed to develop and assess the acceptability, usability, and feasibility of a Web-based FP DA for parents of children with cancer who had previously made a fertility discussion as part of their clinical care. In addition, this study compared fertility knowledge and decision regret around their decision in families who reviewed the DA compared with those who did not. Finally, this study aimed to assess the clinician acceptance of the DA by its

perceived usefulness and whether they would recommend its use in the clinical practice.

Methods

Participants and Study Design

This study used a cross-sectional pre-post survey design. Parents of patients with cancer (aged 0-18 years) diagnosed between December 2010 and December 2015 at The Royal Children's Hospital, Melbourne, were invited to participate. In addition, clinicians involved in oncofertility (gynecologists, endocrinologists, oncologists, ethicists, pediatric surgeons, and in vitro fertilization specialists) were invited to review the DA. All parents had previously discussed their child's fertility with their clinical team. This retrospective study design aimed to minimize the risk to new patients, which is typical for DA pilot studies [9,23]. Ethics approval was obtained from The Royal Children's Hospital Human Research Ethics Committee (36016A).

Participant Population

Parents were eligible for participation if their child's cancer diagnosis occurred within 5 years before December 2015; the child was not on active treatment; they previously had an FP discussion; were proficient in English; and had consented to be contacted for future research. Families where the child was palliative or deceased were excluded. Furthermore, families were excluded if the treating oncologist felt it was clinically inappropriate for them to be contacted for research purposes. The child's risk of infertility was classified as low (<20%), medium (20%-80%), or high (>80%), according to previously published risk tables [9].

Clinician Population

Of 24 invited clinicians, 46% (11/24) consented to participate in this study and completed a post-DA review survey. Of these, 82% (9/11) of the clinicians were involved in FP consultations and were from the disciplines of gynecology, endocrinology, urology, oncology, and clinical ethics.

Procedure

All eligible parents were provided with an invitation pack by the researcher, containing an introductory letter, information sheet, consent form, and pre-DA questionnaire. Once consenting parents (1 parent per family) completed the questionnaire, they were given access to the Web-based DA and the post-DA questionnaire.

Clinicians involved in fertility consultations and oncological care were approached either in person or through email. If clinicians consented, they either met for an informal discussion and completed the survey or reviewed the DA online and completed the survey online.

Data Analysis

Data were analyzed using SPSS V22 (IBM Corp, Armonk, NY, USA). Descriptive statistics (means, ranges, and SDs) were calculated to describe sample characteristics and response rates and to assess DA acceptability. In addition, *t* tests were used to compare normally distributed data. Furthermore, thematic analysis was conducted on open-ended responses.

Decision Aid

Development of the electronic DA was theoretically guided by Coulter et al [24] and the International Patient Decision Aid Standards, an evidence-based theoretical model for effective behavioral interventions [23,25]. The DA content was informed by two formalized information needs assessments, which were conducted at the Royal Children's Hospital [26,27]; and input from FP Taskforce consumer group. The DA was developed using the WordPress Content Management System (a software application that allows users to design and manage Web-content and materials). The DA has 11 chapters with 22 pages (Multimedia Appendix 1). Where appropriate, content was divided according to the patients' gender. Furthermore, medical illustrations and infographics were included to help quantify the risks of various outcomes and enhance patients' understanding [28].

A novel Web-based Values Clarification Exercise (VCE) was developed for this DA. Questions were designed to help parents clarify the importance of their child's fertility in the context of cancer diagnosis and treatment planning. Parents rated sex- and age-specific statements on a Likert-type scale with responses ranging from "strongly disagree" to "strongly agree." Results were scored from -2 to +2. Higher scores (eg, +2) indicated that fertility was considered a priority, whereas lower scores (eg, -2) indicated that fertility was not a priority; 0 was considered neutral. Figure 1 provides an example of the VCE questions. Parents were provided with a results summary bar (Figure 2), where their mean score represented the priority of FP for the parent and SD represented the variability around that score. The mean VCE score is plotted as a percentage of 100, where "not a priority" ranges from 0% to 33%, "neutral" ranges from 34% to 67%, and "priority" ranges from 68% to 100%. Color spread is calculated using SD, adjusted to a range between 10 and 50 points, and spread from the central score in both directions.

Survey Measures

Questionnaires were adapted from those previously used in similar studies [25,29]. Multimedia Appendix 2 outlines the outcome measures assessed. The clinician survey included a question of whether the clinician would recommend the DA to patients and an open-ended question about future improvements and thoughts.



Figure 1. Example questions from the values clarification exercise.



Figure 2. Decision aid and values clarification results bar.

Fertility preservation

n this section	Freezing eggs		
bout us	Freezing mature eggs (or oportes)	also called ocoste chronosenuation, is anoth	or
ome things to think oout	fertility preservation procedure your only available for post pubertal girls v	doctor may talk to you about. This procedure who are physically and emotionally mature who	Your are viewing the female version of this content.
rtility preservation	freezing is not available for pre-puber	tal girls as their follicles are still too immature.	You can also view the <u>male</u> version.
rtility and age +	Hormone stimulation is needed to he a doctor and frozen for later use.	Ip mature the eggs, which are then collected I	у
ertility and cancer +	Click on the drop down bars below for	r some information about what collecting and f	reezing eggs involves.
ertility – reservation	Procedure		
Fertility preservation procedures	Hormones are needed to help stimul	ate the ovaries and help immature follicles ma	ture before they can be collected. This can take a few we
Freezing ovarian tissue	When the mature follicles (containing	the eggs) are ready, they can be collected du	ing a small operation. Later, if your daughter wishes to use
Docyte preservation	frozen eggs, the eggs can be insemin	ated (creating an embryo) and then transferred	l into her uterus.
Zoladex Injections	Ħ		
Other options			tx .
lking to your child	AL AND THE STREET		Þ.
lues clarification	Stangelog a call		
ther useful information	Egg collection	Mature follicles	Freezer

Values clarification

Results

Fertility preservation is:	Not a priority	Neutral	Priority
This graph indicates how much of a priority fertility preservation is for you at the moment.			
Please print this page for further consults with your health care team.			

Results

XSL•FO RenderX

Response Rates

In this study, 74 families were eligible for participation. Of these, 34 parents consented to participate and completed the pre-DA questionnaire (survey 1). Then, 19 parents withdrew after completing survey 1, citing time constraints (n=5), or did not respond to follow-up (n=14). Subsequently, 15 parents

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e10463/
```

reviewed the DA and completed the post-DA questionnaire (Figure 3).

Characteristics of Parents Who Reviewed the Decision Aid

The mean age of parents was 43 years. Compared with parents who only completed survey 1 (n=19), those who reviewed the DA (n=15) were more likely to be in part-time or full-time

employment and have a higher level of education (Table 1). In addition, the distribution of infertility risk differed markedly between the 2 groups (Table 2). Otherwise, the 2 groups were similar with respect to demographics and concerns around their child's future fertility.

Decision Aid Assessment and Impact in Those Who Completed Surveys 1 and 2

Satisfaction With Decision Aid Design

Most parents (10/15; 67%) reported reading the DA "quite thoroughly" or "thoroughly from beginning to end," with a median time of 25 minutes (range 15 to >60 minutes). All parents considered the length to be "about right," 53% (8/15) reported that the DA was "very appealing" to look at, and 73% (11/15) mentioned that it was "very clearly" presented. In addition, 60% (9/15) parents were satisfied with the website format, while 33% (5/15) said they would also like a booklet, and 1 parent stated they would have liked a video.

Satisfaction With Content

The majority (13/15, 87%) of parents reported that the information in the DA was "balanced and fair," and 13% (2/15) reported that the DA was in "favor of FP." Most parents (12/15, 80%) felt that the information was "sufficiently detailed." One parent found the DA to be confusing, while 87% (13/15) parents reported that it "clearly" or "very clearly" presented their child's fertility choices. The majority (12/15, 80%) reported that the

information would have been "quite" or "very" relevant when considering FP for their child.

Expectations of the Decision Aid

Overall, parents were "satisfied" (11/15, 73%) or "very satisfied" (4/15, 27%) with the DA. One parent, however, reported that the DA would not have helped them cope with their situation. The DA "met" (11/15, 73%) or "exceeded" (4/15, 27%) the expectations of all parents.

Emotional Impact of the Decision Aid

In this study, 47% (7/15) parents reported having "somewhat" thought about the information since reading the DA. In addition, 40% parents (6/15) reported feeling "a little" worried or concerned about the information. Themes emerging from open-ended responses related to concerns regarding future impacts of treatments on fertility with 1 parent commenting that she was "worried for my (child) as preservation was not an option for her" and another commenting that she was "not so much worried I guess, just sad," indicating that worry was linked to concerns about the future impact of treatments on fertility.

Perceived Usefulness as a Decision-Making Tool

Overall, 86% (13/15) of parents reported that the DA would have been "helpful" or "very helpful" in helping them decide on their child's treatment in general. In addition, 86% (13/15) reported that it would have been "helpful," "very helpful," or "extremely helpful" in making decisions about FP and would recommend the DA to other families facing an FP decision.



Figure 3. Parent participant recruitment flowchart.

 Table 1. Demographic characteristics of parents of children and adolescents with cancer.

Characteristics	Total parents (N=34)	Completed the pre-DA ^a survey only (n=19)	Reviewed the DA and completed the pre- and post-DA surveys (n=15)	<i>P</i> value ^b
Age in years, mean (SD); range	41.5 (11.1); 27-57	43.2 (8.1); 27-57	42.6 (7.0); 31-49	.28
Age at child's diagnosis in years, mean (SD); range	39.3 (11.2); 25-55	40.8 (7.7); 25-55	40.5 (6.7); 30-47	.19
Decision regret score, mean (SD); range	15.6, (20.5); 0-95	16.8 (23.5); 0-95	16.5 (18.6); 0-50	.74
Country of birth, n (%)				
Australia	24 (71)	16 (67)	8 (33)	.84
Other	10 (29)	3 (30)	7 (70)	
Primary spoken language at home, n (%)				
English	29 (85)	18(62)	11(38)	.51
Other	5 (15)	1 (20)	4 (80)	
Relationship status, n (%)				
Married or de facto	25 (74)	12 (48)	13 (52)	.26
Separated or divorced	7 (21)	5 (71)	2 (29)	
Unknown	2 (6)	2 (100)	0 (0)	
Highest level of education, n (%)				
≤Year 10	6 (18)	4 (67)	2 (33)	.04 ^c
Year 12	4 (12)	2 (50)	2 (50)	
Technical and Further Education certificate or diploma	4 (12)	3 (75)	1 (25)	
Bachelor's degree	12 (35)	2 (17)	10 (83)	
Postgraduate degree	7 (21)	7 (100)	0 (0)	
Unknown	1 (3)	1 (100)	0 (0)	
Employment status, n (%)				
Full time	9 (26)	2 (29)	7 (71)	.001 ^c
Part time	11 (32)	7 (64)	4 (36)	
Self employed	2 (6)	1 (50)	1 (50)	
Full-time or part-time student	1 (3)	0 (0)	1 (100)	
Unemployed	7 (21)	6 (86)	1 (14)	
Unknown	4 (12)	3 (75)	1 (25)	
Occupation, n (%)				
Professional	15 (44)	6 (40)	9 (60)	.51
Clerk or sales	3 (9)	2 (100)		
Home duties	5 (15)	4 (80)	1 (20)	
Other	11 (32)	7 (64)	4 (36)	
Parity, n (SD); range ^d	2.5 (1.1); 1-6	2.6 (1.4);1-6	2.3 (0.6);1-3	.32
Parents own past conception difficulties, n (%)				
Yes	5 (15)	1 (20)	4 (80)	.50
No	29 (85)	18 (62)	11 (38)	
Concerns regarding their child's future fertility at diag	nosis, n (%)			
Yes	23 (68)	12 (52)	11 (48)	.19
No	8 (24)	5 (63)	3 (37)	
Unsure	3 (9)	2 (67)	1 (33)	

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e10463/

XSL•FO RenderX

Allingham et al

Characteristics	Total parents (N=34)	Completed the pre-DA ^a survey only (n=19)	Reviewed the DA and completed the pre- and post-DA surveys (n=15)	P value ^b
Recalled a fertility discussion, n (%)				
Yes	29 (85)	16 (55)	13 (45)	.85
No	5 (15)	3 (60)	2 (40)	
Clinician involved in fertility discussion, n (%)				
Oncologist	12 (35)	7 (58)	5 (42)	.10
Gynecologist	7 (21)	4 (57)	3 (43)	
Oncologist + gynecologist or endocrinologist or nurse	7 (21)	4 (57)	3 (43)	
Endocrinologist	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	
Nurse	2 (6)	1 (50)	1 (50)	
Social worker	2 (6)	1 (50)	1 (50)	
Unknown	4 (12)	2 (50)	2 (50)	

^aDA: decision aid.

 ^{b}t test (two-tailed) between parents who completed only the pre-DA survey only and those who completed both pre- and post-DA surveys.

^cSignificant at $P \leq .05$.

^dThe number of children the parents of patients have had.



Allingham et al

Table 2. Characteristics of childhood and adolescent patients with cancer.

Characteristics	Total children and adolescents (N=34)	Those whose parents completed the pre-DA ^a survey only (n=19)	Those whose parents re- viewed the DA and com- pleted the pre-and post- DA surveys (n=15)	<i>P</i> value ^b
Age in years, current mean (SD); range	9.9 (6.2); 1.5-19.6	9.9 (6.2); 1.8-19.6	9.3 (6.4); 1.5-19.2	.88
Age at diagnosis in years, mean (SD); range	7.7 (5.9); 1.0-17.2	7.7 (6.0); 1.0-17.2	7.4 (5.9); 1.0-17.2	.58
Pubertal status at diagnosis, n (%)				
Prepubertal	22 (65)	12 (55)	10 (45)	.63
Postpubertal	12 (35)	7 (58)	5 (42)	
Diagnosis, n (%)				
Leukemia	10 (29)	4 (40)	6 (60)	.38
Rhabdomyosarcoma	5 (15)	2 (40)	3 (60)	
Ewing's Sarcoma	5 (15)	4 (80)	1 (20)	
Central nervous system	3 (9)	2 (67)	1 (33)	
Hodgkin's Disease	2 (6)	1 (50)	1 (50)	
Osteosarcoma	3 (9)	2 (67)	1 (33)	
Other solid cancers	5 (15)	3 (60)	2 (40)	
Non-Hodgkin's	1 (3)	1 (100)	0 (0)	
Estimated risk of infertility, n (%)				
Low	5 (15)	1 (20)	4 (80)	.04
Medium	14 (41)	8 (57)	6 (43)	
High	15 (44)	10 (67)	5(33)	
Type of fertility preservation procedures, n (%)				
Ovarian tissue cryopreservation	8 (24)	6 (75)	2 (25)	.68
Ovarian tissue cryopreservation + gonadotropin-releas- ing hormone agonist + oocytes	2 (6)	1 (50)	1 (50)	
Testicular tissue cryopreservation	10 (29)	5 (50)	5 (50)	
Semen cryopreservation	3 (9)	2 (67)	1 (33)	
No procedure	11 (32)	5 (45)	6 (55)	

^aDA: decision aid.

^b*t* test (two-tailed); significant at $P \le .05$.

Of the 8 parents who completed the VCE, half reported that it would have been "satisfactory" in helping them decide, while the other half reported it would have been "very helpful." Reasons cited for not completing the VCE included time constraints, that the parent believed it was irrelevant to their situation, or that they had technical issues with the use of the website.

Improvements in Knowledge and Understanding

In this study, 74% (11/15) parents reported that only some of the information was new to them. The remaining parents reported that either "most" (2/15; 13%) or "none" (2/15; 13%) of the information was new to them. Overall, parents reported the DA helped improve their understanding of cancer treatments, infertility, and FP procedures to some degree (Multimedia Appendix 3).

In addition, 14 parents answered the FP knowledge scale preand post-DA review. Prior to the review, parents answered an average of 5.21 (SD 1.66; range 1-8) out of 10 FP knowledge questions correctly. Knowledge scores improved by 1.50 to an average of 6.71 correctly answered questions after reviewing the DA (Table 3); this was a significant (P<.04) increase in the number of correct responses overall. Prior to reviewing the DA, 21% (3/14) parents scored >70% on the FP knowledge scale; this increased to 64% (9/14) after DA review.

Expectations of the Fertility Preservation

The expectation of the FP success was asked in general, not relating specifically to their child and encompassed all FP procedures, not just experimental procedures. Notably, 11 parents reported their expectations of the future success of FP procedures. The majority "agreed" or "strongly agreed" (8/15; 73%) that FP would be successful in their lifetime. Similarly, 73% (11/15) responded that they "agreed" or "strongly agreed"

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e10463/
```

that FP will be successful within the lifetime of their child. This decreased to 46% (7/15) after DA review. The change in expectations varied between parents of boys and girls (Figure 4). Expectations of success in this lifetime decreased in parents of boys and increased in parents of girls. Conversely, expectations of success in the next generation increased for parents of boys and decreased in girls.

Decision Regret

In this study, 14 parents completed the Decision Regret Scale (Table 3). The mean regret score pre-DA review was 16.5 (SD 18.6; range 0-50), and post-DA review was 18.5 (SD 19.4; range 0-50). There was a nonsignificant increase in scores across all parents of 1.9 points (4.2-point increase in parents of boys and 0 in parents of girls; P=.52).

Clinician Review of the Decision Aid

Usability and Content Usefulness and Satisfaction of the Decision Aid Design

All clinicians reported that they would recommend the DA to patients. When asked for their thoughts on the DA, three main

themes emerged from the comments: (1) the DA was well designed and easy to use; (2) the DA was a good information source; and (3) there is a need for more information and resources for patients and parents beyond the DA.

Design, Usability, and Content

Clinicians reported satisfaction with the design and usability of the DA website, commenting that it was an "excellent and well-structured" resource. In addition, the DA was regarded as a valid and relevant source of information for clinicians, patients, and their families with one clinician commenting that "I found it useful as a resource prior to meeting with a patient."

Perceived Need for Information and Patient Resources

In this study, 36% (4/11) of the interviewed clinicians highlighted a lack of patient and parent resources regarding infertility, FP procedures, and processes. One clinician commented that she had "observed more and more adolescents, especially boys" making FP decisions, noting that there are very few resources tailored toward adolescents and parents of adolescents.

Tabla 3	Change in the	narantal fortility	necorvation relate	d knowledge and	decision regret p	bae o	postdecision aid (n - 15	•
Table 5.	Change in the	parental fertinity	preservation-relate	u knowledge and	decision regret pi	e- and	posiciecision alu (n=13)).

				-	-	-			
Ch	ange	Pre-DA ^a mean score (SD); range	Post-DA mean score (SD); range	Mean change score	SE	95% CI	t ^b	Degree of freedom	<i>P</i> value
Fertility preservation knowledge									
	All parents (n=14)	5.21 (1.66); 1-8	6.71 (1.94); 3-10	1.50	0.66	0.07 to 2.93	2.27	13	.04 ^c
	Parents of boys (n=6)	5.17 (1.46); 4-8	6.33 (2.13); 3-10	1.17	1.20	0.19 to 1.90	0.98	5	.37
	Parents of girls (n=8)	5.25 (1.79); 1-7	7 (1.73); 4-10	1.75	0.80	0.13 to 3.63	2.20	7	.06
Decision regret scale scores									
	All parents (n=14)	16.5 (18.6); 0-50	18.5 (19.4); 0-50	1.9	5.17	-9.51 to 4.67	0.64	13	.54
	Parents of boys (n=6)	5.8 (12.0); 0-30	10.0 (16.7); 0-40	4.2	3.75	-13.79 to 5.46	1.11	5	.32
	Parents of girls (n=8)	25.7 (19.0); 0-50	25.7 (19.7); 0-50	0	4.76	-11.64 to 11.64	0.00	7	1.0

^aDA: decision aid.

^b*t* test (two-tailed).

^cSignificant at $P \leq .05$.



Figure 4. Parents' expectations of fertility preservation success within this lifetime and the lifetime of the next generation. FP: fertility preservation; 5: Strongly agree; 4: Agree; 3: Neither agree nor disagree; 2: Disagree; 1: Strongly disagree.



Discussion

In this pilot study, we evaluated the parental and clinical acceptance of the first FP DA for parents of children and adolescents with cancer. Our data suggest that the DA was acceptable, did not increase parental concern, and would be useful for parents making an FP decision. Furthermore, initial testing suggests the DA increases FP-related knowledge. Parents and clinicians would recommend this tool to others faced with a similar decision. However, we acknowledge the high dropout in this study. These results support further formal evaluation of the DA in a larger prospective trial, prior to the implementation of the DA as a decision-support tool in clinical practice.

The DA was positively received by parents who viewed it. Parents felt that the DA provided unbiased information in an easy-to-read format and was relevant to their situation. Of note, 13% (2/15) parents felt that the DA favored FP. The theoretical framework behind DA development is that it should not favor a particular option but provide a balanced view so that users can make fair decisions [21]. Most of the cohort had undergone an FP procedure, and our DA presented a large amount of information concerning FP procedure outcomes, which may have contributed to the impression of some parents that it favored FP.

One of the primary purposes of our DA was to increase parents' fertility-related knowledge scores in parents despite parents already having experience with FP. These results should be interpreted cautiously because of small numbers. However, in parents with no or little FP awareness, we hope there would be a more significant impact on knowledge, as has been demonstrated in other health-related DA studies [21,29].

A key component of informed decision making is an understanding of the likelihood of the possible outcomes and the associated risks and benefits [13]. Interestingly, post-DA review parents' expectations of FP had changed. Expectations of the success of experimental procedures "in this lifetime" decreased for parents of boys and increased for parents of girls; this change may reflect a better understanding of the technologies as they currently stand, considering that ovarian tissue cryopreservation is being used to achieve pregnancy, but testicular tissue cryopreservation has not yet been successfully used in humans. That parents had perhaps more realistic expectations of FP is important in that (1) they may have a more accurate perception of the risks and likely future successes of FP; (2) that improved perception may lead to better-quality decision making, thereby decreasing the risk of future decision regret; and (3) there may be scope for this DA to improve informed consent in clinical practice.

The DA had an emotional impact on some parents, with 40% (6/15) reporting feeling "a little" worried or concerned after reviewing the DA; this was somewhat expected as the DA was a comprehensive fertility resource and the additional information may have raised issues that were not previously discussed with parents at the time of decision making or may have since been forgotten. One participant stated that the information in the DA gave them a more realistic understanding of their child's fertility risk; this highlights the importance of ensuring that parents are

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e10463/
```

well informed at the time of diagnosis and receive adequate fertility counseling during their posttreatment care [30].

The DA did not increase decision regret in parents; this may reflect that the DA confirmed that parents made the right decision. Ultimately, it does not appear that the DA increases distress, and thus, it is likely to be suitable for use in parents of newly diagnosed children adolescents. Notably, decision regret was measured shortly after DA review. While it was not evident at that time, it is possible that regret may increase months or years later [31], depending on the state of reproductive technologies when the patient wishes to conceive; this has yet to be explored and is an area for further research.

A novel feature of this DA is the rapid feedback provided through the Web-based VCE, which provided a visual representation of the importance of FP to participants, based on the responses provided to a series of questions. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first report of a VCE that functions in this way. All parents who completed the VCE reported that it would have been helpful to some extent when making the decision. Although our data did not provide the information to ascertain whether this was a result of the ease of the click-through VCE, the visual result, or both, it does suggest that a Web-based tool may have merit. Although these data are positive, only 53% (8/15) completed the VCE. Reasons for noncompletion included time constraints, inaccessibility, and unclear instructions. A post-hoc consumer review revealed that the link name for the VCE was confusing. Other studies have reported varying rates of the VCE completion in pilot studies and suggest that what is reported in pilot studies is not reflective of what happens in prospective studies [32]; thus, prospective evaluation is needed.

Although our findings support the utility of a fertility DA for parents of children and adolescents with cancer, our study had inherent limitations. As with most small samples, care must be taken with interpretation of results, as they may not be generalizable. Parents were asked to reflect on their FP decision-making process, which could have been up to 5 years previously. It was not possible to capture the lived experience, and parents may have been biased by intervening events. In addition, study measures were limited by a retrospective sample. Therefore, it was not possible to measure the decisional conflict, a measure of uncertainty and a key factor affecting decision making [33]. However, this study design is an appropriate and necessary way to assess DA acceptability and usability prior to prospective evaluation.

Dropout in this study was higher than expected, resulting in a small sample size. While parents indicated they were keen to participate, many noted that the high time demands of the study and had limited time to engage in a detailed review of the DA. It is likely that in a study of parents making prospective decisions in real time, a higher proportion of parents would wish to actively review the DA. Previous pilot DA studies have shown similar sample sizes to be sufficient to test acceptability and usability of the tools prior to prospective evaluation [32,34].

Overall, clinicians reported satisfaction with the DA design and most importantly would recommend the DA to parents facing a fertility-preservation decision. The resource was regarded as

XSL•FO RenderX

valid and relevant, and interestingly was "a useful resource prior to meeting with a patient." Research has shown that even with the best intentions, clinicians struggle to convey information and potential risks to patients in language that is easily comprehensible [14]. In the future, this plain language resource could be used to support clinician education and potentially improve fertility-preservation counseling. Lastly, clinicians reported a lack of resources to support children and adolescents in the shared decision-making process. Perhaps the development of an adolescent and young adult FP DA or toolkit may address this gap.

There is a growing body of evidence highlighting the importance of information provision regarding the risks to fertility from cancer treatments and potential FP options. Information provision is important at the time of diagnosis prior to treatment and the potential harm to reproductive tissues [8]. Information regarding cancer treatments, fertility, and potential FP procedures is complex and may be difficult to comprehend [35], especially given the stress of a new cancer diagnosis and the short timeframes in which patients and their parents are required to make decisions. This DA is acceptable and relevant to parents and may assist families who are actively engaged in making an FP decision. Results warrant evaluation in prospective studies, which can assess outcome measures such as decisional conflict as well as decision regret.

As the health care user and provision landscape are rapidly changing, it is increasingly important for health care tools to evolve to further improve patients' interactions with health care systems, clinical teams, and improve participation and satisfaction with shared decisions. This novel study has developed and preliminarily assessed the first, Web-based FP DA for parents of children and adolescents with cancer. This research has shown the DA to be acceptable to parents who have previously made an FP decision for their children and adolescents with cancer without causing distress. This study adds to the growing pool of research regarding pediatric FP, DA evaluation, and parental (proxy) decision making.

Acknowledgments

Georgios I Misiakos provided design visuals and infographics for the electronic decision aid. Adam Leadoux from The Royal Children's Hospital Educational Resource Centre designed the Web-based content management system for the electronic decision aid. YJ is supported by the Victorian Cancer Agency and is a National Health and Medical Research Council Translation of Research into Clinical Practice fellow; MP is supported by the National Breast Cancer Foundation Early Career Fellowship (grant number: ECF-015).

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Fertility decision aid content. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 24KB - pediatrics v1i2e10463 app1.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Pre- and postdecision aid survey measures. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 43KB - pediatrics v1i2e10463 app2.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 3

Improved understanding of fertility preservation in parents' postdecision aid review; n=15 (%). [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 33KB - pediatrics v1i2e10463 app3.pdf]

References

- 1. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Cancer in Australia: an overview. Canberra: AIHW; 2014:a.
- Cancer Australia. Cancer Australia. Online: Australian Government; 2015. Children's Cancer Statistics URL: <u>https://childrenscancer.canceraustralia.gov.au/about-childrens-cancer/statistics</u> [accessed 2018-09-20] [WebCite Cache ID 72aTDJ9SS]
- Youlden D, Baade P, Hallahan A, Valery P, Green A, Aitken J. Conditional survival estimates for childhood cancer in Australia, 2002-2011: A population-based study. Cancer Epidemiol 2015 Jun;39(3):394-400. [doi: 10.1016/j.canep.2015.02.008] [Medline: 25769222]
- 4. Anderson R, Mitchell R, Kelsey T, Spears N, Telfer E, Wallace W. Cancer treatment and gonadal functionxperimental and established strategies for fertility preservation in children and young adults. The Lancet Diabetes & Endocrinology 2015;3:e. [Medline: 25873571]
- 5. Debra A, Edgar D, Borg J, Archer J, Lutjen P, McBain J. Oocyte maturation, follicle rupture and luteinization in human cryopreserved ovarian tissue following xenografting. Human Reproduction 2003;18(9):1772-1781. [Medline: <u>12923127</u>]
- 6. Levine J. Fertility preservation in children and adolescents with cancer. Minerva Pediatr 2011 Feb;63(1):49-59. [Medline: 21311429]
- Long CJ, Ginsberg JP, Kolon TF. Fertility Preservation in Children and Adolescents With Cancer. Urology 2016 Dec;91:190-196. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.urology.2015.10.047</u>] [Medline: <u>26790587</u>]
- Knapp CA, Quinn GP, Murphy D. Assessing the Reproductive Concerns of Children and Adolescents with Cancer: Challenges and Potential Solutions. J Adolesc Young Adult Oncol 2011 Apr;1(1):31-35 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/jayao.2010.0003] [Medline: 23610730]
- 9. Wallace WHB, Anderson RA, Irvine DS. Fertility preservation for young patients with cancer: who is at risk and what can be offered? Lancet Oncol 2005 Apr;6(4):209-218. [doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(05)70092-9] [Medline: 15811616]
- Vassilakopoulou M, Boostandoost E, Papaxoinis G, de La Motte Rouge T, Khayat D, Psyrri A. Anticancer treatment and fertility: Effect of therapeutic modalities on reproductive system and functions. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 2016 Jan;97:328-334. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.critrevonc.2015.08.002</u>] [Medline: <u>26481950</u>]
- 11. Levine J, Canada A, Stern CJ. Fertility preservation in adolescents and young adults with cancer. J Clin Oncol 2010 Nov 10;28(32):4831-4841. [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2009.22.8312] [Medline: 20458029]
- Beckmann MW, Dittrich R, Lotz L, van der Ven K, van der Ven HH, Liebenthron J, et al. Fertility protection: complications of surgery and results of removal and transplantation of ovarian tissue. Reprod Biomed Online 2018 Feb;36(2):188-196. [doi: 10.1016/j.rbmo.2017.10.109] [Medline: 29198423]
- 13. Anger JT, Gilbert BR, Goldstein M. Cryopreservation of sperm: indications, methods and results. J Urol 2003 Oct;170(4 Pt 1):1079-1084. [doi: 10.1097/01.ju.0000084820.98430.b8] [Medline: 14501696]
- 14. Kemertzis M, Clark H, Ho C, Gook D, Clarke G, Bourne H. Paediatric-adolescent fertility preservation: an overview of clinical practice at the Royal Children's Hospital Melbourne. In: Shanghai. 2015 Nov 13 Presented at: International Society for Fertility Preservation; November; Shanghai.
- 15. Vetsch J, Fardell JE, Wakefield CE, Signorelli C, Michel G, McLoone JK, ANZCHOG survivorship study group. "Forewarned and forearmed" : Long-term childhood cancer survivors' and parents' information needs and implications for survivorship models of care. Patient Educ Couns 2017 Dec;100(2):355-363. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2016.09.013] [Medline: 27693083]
- McCarthy MC, McNeil R, Drew S, Dunt D, Kosola S, Orme L, et al. Psychological Distress and Posttraumatic Stress Symptoms in Adolescents and Young Adults with Cancer and Their Parents. J Adolesc Young Adult Oncol 2016 Dec;5(4):322-329. [doi: 10.1089/jayao.2016.0015] [Medline: 27214245]
- Wyns C, Collienne C, Shenfield F, Robert A, Laurent P, Roegiers L, et al. Fertility preservation in the male pediatric population: factors influencing the decision of parents and children. Hum Reprod 2015 Sep;30(9):2022-2030. [doi: 10.1093/humrep/dev161] [Medline: 26141713]
- McDougall R. The Ethics of Fertility Preservation for Paediatric Cancer Patients: From Offer to Rebuttable Presumption. Bioethics 2015 Nov;29(9):639-645. [doi: <u>10.1111/bioe.12190</u>] [Medline: <u>26481205</u>]
- McCarthy MC, Campo M, Drew SE. Pediatric oncology survivorship: conveying risks and communicating information at the right time for the individual. Curr Opin Support Palliat Care 2013 Sep;7(3):289-295. [doi: <u>10.1097/SPC.0b013e32836395e0</u>] [Medline: <u>23851354</u>]
- 20. Bradford BR. Chemotherapy-induced infertility in patients with testicular cancer. Oncol Nurs Forum 2012 Jan;39(1):27-30. [doi: 10.1188/12.ONF.27-30] [Medline: 22201652]
- O'Connor AM, Bennett CL, Stacey D, Barry M, Col NF, Eden KB, et al. Decision aids for people facing health treatment or screening decisions. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2009 Jul 08(3):CD001431. [doi: <u>10.1002/14651858.CD001431.pub2</u>] [Medline: <u>19588325</u>]
- 22. Pope T, Lessler D. Revolutionizing Informed Consent: Empowering Patients with Certified Decision Aids. Patient 2017 Oct;10(5):537-539. [doi: 10.1007/s40271-017-0230-3] [Medline: 28364386]
- 23. Elwyn G, O'Connor A, Stacey D, Volk R, Edwards A, Coulter A, International Patient Decision Aids Standards (IPDAS) Collaboration. Developing a quality criteria framework for patient decision aids: online international Delphi consensus process. BMJ 2006 Aug 26;333(7565):417 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.38926.629329.AE] [Medline: 16908462]
- Coulter A, Stilwell D, Kryworuchko J, Mullen PD, Ng CJ, van der Weijden T. A systematic development process for patient decision aids. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2013;13 Suppl 2:S2 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6947-13-S2-S2] [Medline: 24625093]
- 25. Wakefield C, Meiser B, Homewood J, Ward R, O'Donnell S, Kirk J, Australian GENetic testing Decision Aid Collaborative Group. Randomized trial of a decision aid for individuals considering genetic testing for hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer risk. Cancer 2008 Sep 01;113(5):956-965 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.23681] [Medline: 18618513]
- Hand M, Kemertzis M, Peate M, Gillam L, McCarthy M, Orme L, et al. A Clinical Decision Support System to Assist Pediatric Oncofertility: A Short Report. J Adolesc Young Adult Oncol 2018 Aug;7(4):509-513. [doi: 10.1089/jayao.2018.0006] [Medline: 29733237]
- 27. Kemertzis M, Ranjithakumaran H, Hand M, Peate M, Gillam L, McCarthy M, et al. Fertility Preservation Toolkit: A Clinician Resource to Assist Clinical Discussion and Decision Making in Pediatric and Adolescent Oncology. J Pediatr Hematol Oncol 2018 Apr;40(3):e133-e139. [doi: 10.1097/MPH.000000000001103] [Medline: 29481385]

RenderX

- 28. Trevena L, Zikmund-Fisher B, Edwards A, Gaissmaier W, Galesic M, Han P, et al. Presenting quantitative information about decision outcomes: a risk communication primer for patient decision aid developers. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2013;13 Suppl 2:S7 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6947-13-S2-S7] [Medline: 24625237]
- 29. Peate M, Meiser B, Cheah B, Saunders C, Butow P, Thewes B, et al. Making hard choices easier: a prospective, multicentre study to assess the efficacy of a fertility-related decision aid in young women with early-stage breast cancer. Br J Cancer 2012 Mar 13;106(6):1053-1061 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/bjc.2012.61] [Medline: 22415294]
- Peate M, Meiser B, Friedlander M, Zorbas H, Rovelli S, Sansom-Daly U, et al. It's now or never: fertility-related knowledge, decision-making preferences, and treatment intentions in young women with breast cancer--an Australian fertility decision aid collaborative group study. J Clin Oncol 2011 May 01;29(13):1670-1677. [doi: <u>10.1200/JCO.2010.31.2462</u>] [Medline: <u>21444865</u>]
- Brehaut JC, O'Connor AM, Wood TJ, Hack TF, Siminoff L, Gordon E, et al. Validation of a decision regret scale. Med Decis Making 2003;23(4):281-292. [doi: 10.1177/0272989X03256005] [Medline: 12926578]
- 32. Peate M, Watts K, Wakefield CE. The 'value' of values clarification in cancer-related decision aids. Patient Educ Couns 2013 Feb;90(2):281-283. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2012.10.023] [Medline: 23194822]
- O'Connor AM. Validation of a decisional conflict scale. Med Decis Making 1995;15(1):25-30. [doi: 10.1177/0272989X9501500105] [Medline: 7898294]
- Wakefield CE, Watts KJ, Meiser B, Sansom-Daly U, Barratt A, Mann GJ, et al. Development and pilot testing of an online screening decision aid for men with a family history of prostate cancer. Patient Educ Couns 2011 Apr;83(1):64-72. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2010.05.025] [Medline: 20580521]
- 35. Quinn G, Murphy D, Knapp C, Stearsman D, Bradley-Klug K, Sawczyn K, et al. Who decides? Decision making and fertility preservation in teens with cancer: a review of the literature. J Adolesc Health 2011 Oct;49(4):337-346 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2011.01.005] [Medline: 21939862]

Abbreviations

DA: decision aidFP: fertility preservationVCE: Values Clarification Exercise

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 21.03.18; peer-reviewed by S Ellis, Y Motoki; comments to author 13.05.18; revised version received 09.07.18; accepted 07.08.18; published 28.11.18.

Please cite as:

Allingham C, Gillam L, McCarthy M, Zacharin M, Jayasuriya S, Heloury Y, Orme L, Sullivan M, Peate M, Jayasinghe Y Fertility Preservation in Children and Adolescents With Cancer: Pilot of a Decision Aid for Parents of Children and Adolescents With Cancer JMIR Pediatr Parent 2018;1(2):e10463

URL: <u>http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e10463/</u> doi:10.2196/10463 PMID:<u>31518288</u>

©Catherine Allingham, Lynn Gillam, Maria McCarthy, Margaret Zacharin, Sadunee Jayasuriya, Yves Heloury, Lisa Orme, Michael Sullivan, Michelle Peate, Yasmin Jayasinghe. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 28.11.2018. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Assessing the Usability of an Automated Continuous Temperature Monitoring Device (iThermonitor) in Pediatric Patients: Non-Randomized Pilot Study

Sujay S Kakarmath^{1,2,3}, MBBS, MPH; Emily de Redon², BA; Amanda Jayne Centi², PhD, MS; Ramya Palacholla^{1,2,3}, MD, MPH; Joseph Kvedar^{1,2,3}, MD; Kamal Jethwani^{1,2,3}, MD, MPH; Stephen Agboola^{1,2,3}, MD, MPH

¹Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, United States

²Partners Connected Health, Boston, MA, United States

³Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston, MA, United States

Corresponding Author:

Amanda Jayne Centi, PhD, MS Partners Connected Health 25 New Chardon Street 3rd Floor, Suite 300 Boston, MA, 02114 United States Phone: 1 6177242158 Email: acenti@partners.org

Abstract

Background: Fever is an important vital sign and often the first one to be assessed in a sick child. In acutely ill children, caregivers are expected to monitor a child's body temperature at home after an initial medical consult. Fever literacy of many caregivers is known to be poor, leading to fever phobia. In children with a serious illness, the responsibility of periodically monitoring temperature can add substantially to the already stressful experience of caring for a sick child.

Objective: The objective of this pilot study was to assess the feasibility of using the iThermonitor, an automated temperature measurement device, for continuous temperature monitoring in postoperative and postchemotherapy pediatric patients.

Methods: We recruited 25 patient-caregiver dyads from the Pediatric Surgery Department at the Massachusetts General Hospital (MGH) and the Pediatric Cancer Centers at the MGH and the Dana Farber Cancer Institute. Enrolled dyads were asked to use the iThermonitor device for continuous temperature monitoring over a 2-week period. Surveys were administered to caregivers at enrollment and at study closeout. Caregivers were also asked to complete a daily event-monitoring log. The Generalized Anxiety Disorder-7 item questionnaire was also used to assess caregiver anxiety at enrollment and closeout.

Results: Overall, 19 participant dyads completed the study. All 19 caregivers reported to have viewed temperature data on the study-provided iPad tablet at least once per day, and more than a third caregivers did so six or more times per day. Of all participants, 74% (14/19) reported experiencing an out-of-range temperature alert at least once during the study. Majority of caregivers reported that it was easy to learn how to use the device and that they felt confident about monitoring their child's temperature with it. Only 21% (4/9) of caregivers reported concurrently using a device other than the iThermonitor to monitor their child's temperature during the study. Continuous temperature monitoring was not associated with an increase in caregiver anxiety.

Conclusions: The study results reveal that the iThermonitor is a highly feasible and easy-to-use device for continuous temperature monitoring in pediatric oncology and surgery patients.

Trial Registration: ClinicalTrials.gov NCT02410252; https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02410252 (Archived by WebCite at http://www.webcitation.org/73LnO7hel)

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2018;1(2):e10804) doi:10.2196/10804

KEYWORDS

RenderX

connected health; continuous monitoring; mobile phone; pediatric; temperature

Introduction

Critical pediatric illness can be a major source of stress for parents. Fever is a common symptom in postoperative pediatric patients as well as in those with neutropenia [1,2]. Even though most fevers within 48 hours of a surgery are benign and self-limiting, fever can be a sign of underlying complication and parents are expected to be vigilant [1,3]. Furthermore, pediatric patients with cancer undergoing chemotherapy are predisposed to infectious complications because of neutropenia induced by myelosuppressive therapy and require caregivers to be watchful for even longer periods of time [3,4]. In both cases, fever is the first clinical sign of infection, and early detection is essential to evaluate the risk for further complications and death [4,5]. Therefore, continued monitoring of body temperature may be helpful in detecting any sudden changes in body temperature that may be related to a significant cause of illness in children [4].

Furthermore, monitoring a child periodically for fever can add to the already stressful experience of taking care of a sick child, leading to fever phobia, a well-documented phenomenon in parents [6]. Moreover, previous studies show that parental knowledge about normal body temperature and the temperature that indicates fever is often poor, and few parents can accurately take temperature measurements [7-9]. Even in parents who do not belong to any of these groups, the process of monitoring fever periodically can be significantly disruptive to daily routine and necessitate interruption of sleep. Thus, automated and continuous fever monitoring for children can overcome several problems described above.

The iThermonitor is a continuous temperature-monitoring device that can transmit temperature data to a mobile phone app paired with the device. However, the availability of this novel technology may not necessarily translate into its adoption due to parental concerns and low receptivity toward new technology. The primary aim of this study was to evaluate the feasibility of using a US Food and Drug Administration-approved automated device for continuous temperature monitoring in postoperative and postchemotherapy pediatric patients. We also evaluated the usability, satisfaction, and engagement of caregivers with the device. Finally, we assessed whether continuous temperature monitoring inadvertently increased caregiver anxiety.

Methods

Study Objective

We conducted a pilot study to evaluate the feasibility of using the iThermonitor for continuous temperature monitoring in postoperative and postchemotherapy pediatric patients.

Recruitment and Study Procedures

Formal enrollment in the study occurred during an in-person enrollment visit scheduled with patients and caregivers. At the enrollment visit, after explaining study details and procedures, pediatric participants and their caregivers were given sufficient time to review the consent form and encouraged to ask questions. Caregivers consented to the study on behalf of pediatric participants and were asked to complete the enrollment questionnaire. Pediatric participants aged 10-17 years were also required to confirm their willingness to participate in the study by signing an assent form. An informed consent form was signed and collected prior to the study. The enrollment questionnaire was administered after obtaining informed consent, which contained questions on demographic information, caregiver technology use, and Generalized Anxiety Disorder-7 questionnaire (GAD-7; Multimedia Appendices 1 and 2). Each day, pediatric participants were asked to wear the device while caregivers were asked to complete an "event-monitoring log" every day over the study period of 14 days (Multimedia Appendix 3). Participants were given instructions to attach the iThermonitor to the skin using a hydrogel dressing that can be changed as needed. Temperature data collected by the iThermonitor were automatically uploaded to a paired receiver (an iPad Mini tablet computer) within a range of 5 m for cloud storage. The provided iPad Mini was preloaded with the iThermonitor app that was used to pair the receiver with the iThermonitor device.

Temperature data were then downloaded and stored in the Partners Healthcare network files. Data files were available to only the Partners Institutional Review Board-approved study staff at Partners Connected Health. If participants required hospital admission, they were asked to stop using the device during their hospital stay. If such a stay resulted in <50% of data being collected, participants were administratively dropped from the study. All participants were asked to continue to receive medical treatment and adhere to other management protocols as recommended by their physicians. After 14 days of use, participants were either scheduled for a closeout visit to return the devices and complete the closeout questionnaire (Multimedia Appendices 2 and 4, respectively) or were sent an electronic questionnaire via Research Electronic Data Capture (an electronic study data capture system) along with shipping material to return their study devices.

Intervention

The iThermonitor (Figure 1) is a US Food and Drug Administration class II device that continuously captures body temperature and automatically delivers the data wirelessly (via Bluetooth or Wi-Fi) to mobile devices or for cloud storage. In addition, it generates and delivers out-of-range temperature alerts on a mobile app for caregivers or providers, allowing them to remotely monitor their child's temperature (Multimedia Appendix 5).



Figure 1. iThermonitor device.

rahng





Data Collection

Feasibility of using the iThermonitor was the primary outcome of interest. Success as a feasible continuous temperature-monitoring tool was defined *a priori* as "80% of the participants viewing the temperature data on the device for at least 80% of the study period." This was assessed in two ways:

- Participant responses from the "event-monitoring log."
- Participant responses to the checklist administered as part of the closeout questionnaire (See below).

Please indicate Yes or No for each column every day during the study in response to the following two questions:

The iThermonitor stayed on the body for most of the day?

I was able to view the temperature data on the iPad mini?

Secondary outcomes were assessed using a closeout survey designed by study investigators to obtain caregiver feedback about the following: (1) Frequency of receiving out-of-range temperature alerts; (2) Usability of the device; (3) Acceptability of the device; and (4) Caregiver satisfaction in using the iThermonitor. These surveys were administered as part of the closeout questionnaire. Finally, GAD-7 was also administered as part of the enrollment and closeout surveys to assess change in caregiver anxiety levels [10].

Statistical Analysis

We used descriptive statistics to characterize the study sample and survey responses. GAD-7 scores were coded as a categorical variable as follows: mild anxiety (total score 0-5) and moderate or severe anxiety (total score 6-15) [10]. The proportion of participants with mild and moderate or severe anxiety at enrollment and closeout was compared using Cochran's Q test. All analyses were conducted using STATA (StataCorp LLC, College Station TX 77845, USA) version 14.2 with an alpha of .05 set *a priori*. Because this was an exploratory study with descriptive statistics, a complete case analysis approach was adopted for this study.

Sample Size

Because this was a pilot study, we did not conduct formal power calculations for sample size estimations. Previous usability studies recommend a sample size of 20 users, which will identify at least 95% of usability problems [11]. We assumed a 20% loss to follow-up rate and arrived at a sample size of 25 patient-caregiver dyads.

Results

Participant Recruitment

We recruited a total of 25 patient-caregiver dyads. The first study participant was enrolled on April 24, 2015, from the MGH Department of Pediatric Oncology, and subsequently, a total of 17 participants were enrolled from this department over a period of >18 months. The first participant from the MGH Department of Pediatric Surgery site was recruited on December 23, 2016, and a total of 8 participants were enrolled, with enrollment completion on February 2, 2017. Figure 2 provides details of participant selection.



Figure 2. Participant enrollment flowchart.



Participant Characteristics

The mean age of participants was 8 (SD 5) years (Table 1). Of the 25 enrolled participants, 4 withdrew consent during the study and 2 were administratively dropped out. Overall, 19 participants completed the study and were included in this analysis. Of all, 94% (17/19) participants identified themselves as white, and 3 out of 4 participants were male (Table 1). The mean age of caregivers was 41 (range, 28-54) years. In addition, 1 in 2 caregivers were employed, 1 in 3 were homemakers, and the rest were unemployed. Furthermore, 63% (12/19) of study participants were pediatric oncology patients, with hematological malignancy being the most common diagnosis (Table 1). Surgical procedures varied widely among the 8 participants, with hernia repair being the only reoccurring procedure.



Table 1. Participant characteristics (N=19).

Characteristics	Value
Male, n (%)	14 (74)
Age of participants in years, mean (SD)	9 (6)
Age of caregivers in years, mean (SD)	41 (8)
Race, n (%)	
White	17 (94)
Asian	1 (6)
Employment status of caregivers, n (%)	
Employed full-time	5 (26)
Employed part-time	3 (16)
Homemaker	6 (32)
Unemployed	5 (26)
Baseline conditions, n (%)	
Malignancies	12 (63)
Hematologic	9 (47)
Intracranial tumor	1 (5)
Rhabdomyosarcoma	1 (5)
Osteosarcoma	1 (5)
Surgical procedures	7 (37)
Hernia repair	2 (11)
Circumcision	1 (5)
Laparoscopy	1 (5)
Orchiopexy	1 (5)
Foreign body removal	1 (5)
Unknown	1 (5)

Attitudes Toward Technology

Most caregivers reported favorable attitudes toward technology. All caregivers reported owning smartphones and using them to access the internet, send or receive emails and short message service text messages, and share pictures. However, only two-thirds of caregivers reported using smartphones or other technology to track weight, diet, or exercise, and only one-third reported using any technology to track health.

Feasibility

In response to the single-item question, all caregivers indicated viewing temperature data on the iPad at least once every day (Figure 3). Majority (5/6, 84%) of caregivers of pediatric surgery patients reported viewing temperature data at least once daily. In comparison, most caregivers of pediatric oncology patients reported viewing temperature data for six or more times per day. However, only 37% (7/19) participants completed the daily event-monitoring log for 12 out of the 14 days, that is, for >80% of the study duration. Furthermore, 100% (19/19) of these participants reported that they viewed temperature data for each of the 12 days.

Figure 3. Frequency of viewing temperature on iPad.



Out-of-Range Temperature Alerts

In this study, 74% (14/19) of caregivers reported receiving an out-of-range temperature alert at least once during the study period. Of these, 64% (9/14) of caregivers reported receiving an alert \geq 3 times.

Usability, Acceptability, and Satisfaction

All caregivers reported that it was easy to learn to use the iThermonitor. While 84% (16/19) of caregivers reported feeling comfortable using the device to monitor their child's temperature, 79% (15/19) reported that they could easily monitor their child's temperature with it.

Furthermore, 74% (14/19) of caregivers reported finding the mobile app very useful in monitoring temperature. However, only 53% (10/19) found the out-of-range feature useful. While 74% (14/19) of caregivers reported feeling more confident about monitoring their child's temperature using the device, 79% (15/19) reported that they would recommend it to a friend or a family member. Only 21% (4/19) of caregivers reported that they used another device to monitor the child's temperature during the study.

None of the caregivers reported experiencing problems with the primary function of the device, that is, measurement of temperature. Some caregivers (n=3) had concerns about the minor differences in the temperature reported by the device compared with another thermometer used by them. Most

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e10804/
```

XSL•FO RenderX

problems reported by caregivers were related to the nonclinical features of the device. For example, few caregivers (n=3) found wireless range of the device to be limited; some (n=5) found it difficult to sync the mobile app with the device. Some caregivers (n=4) occasionally experienced problems with attaching the tape to the child's body or keeping it in place, and others (n=3) found low battery life of the iThermonitor to be bothersome.

Caregiver Anxiety

While 16% (3/19) of participants had mild anxiety, 21% (4/19) had moderate or severe anxiety at enrollment. At closeout, 11% (2/19) participants had mild anxiety and 5% (1/19) had moderate or severe anxiety. However, this difference in proportions was not statistically significant (P=.29).

Discussion

Principal Findings

We conducted a pilot study to evaluate the feasibility of using the iThermonitor as a home-based, continuous temperaturemonitoring tool in postoperative and postchemotherapy pediatric patients. The iThermonitor may be a feasible tool to replace conventional temperature monitoring in pediatric patients. Caregivers reported that it was easy to use and increased their confidence in monitoring the child's temperature. Our findings demonstrated that caregivers are willing to engage with continuous temperature-monitoring devices, without experiencing an increase in anxiety. This finding is important considering the well-documented phenomenon of fever phobia [5].

We used two methods for measurement of feasibility: selfreported response in the closeout questionnaire and daily event-monitoring log. The estimates of feasibility of using the device obtained using the self-reported response (16/19, 84%) were substantially higher than those obtained through the daily event-monitoring log (7/19, 37%). The lower estimate of feasibility from the event-monitoring log is likely an artifact of the added burden on study participants to complete one log for each day of participation in the study. In contrast, the burden of participation in the one-time, self-reported response in the closeout questionnaire was much lower. Therefore, despite the possibility of response bias involved with the self-reported questionnaire, it is likely to be a better estimator of feasibility in this study.

Fever is one of the first and most common complications in pediatric surgical patients [12]. Discharge instructions for caregivers often require them to monitor body temperature and take definitive action if it crosses a threshold [9]. However, fever literacy in caregivers has been reported to be low in previous studies [13]. A systematic review of the literature concluded that parental knowledge about body temperature monitoring is poor [7]. Parents have been reported to base their fever management practices on inaccurate temperature readings [7]. Pediatric illnesses are associated with substantial stress experienced by caregivers, and some studies have also reported that parents worry about failing to recognize a serious problem in their acutely sick child [14]. The ability of the caregiver to stay at home with the child and monitor vital signs such as temperature can vary by socioeconomic factors such as education, literacy, income, and marital status [15]. The stress resulting from these factors is only compounded in caregivers of pediatric patients who have a serious illness that requires surgery or prolonged medical treatment [16,17].

Digital health technologies are particularly well suited to eliminate human error from relatively simple tasks in home-based caregiving such as body temperature measurement [18]. These technologies also offer an easy, safe, and comfortable method to monitor body temperature in pediatric patients [5]. In addition, digital health technologies such as the iThermonitor provide a unique opportunity to caregivers to access important data (temperature readings) through the convenience of a phone or tablet computer, thereby eliminating the burden of constant temperature monitoring by caregivers. Furthermore, the out-of-range temperature alerts feature may help reduce caregivers' stress by bringing their attention to any unwanted changes in body temperature.

Limitations

One major limitation of this study is the lack of a control group that used a regular device for temperature measurement such as a digital thermometer without a companion app or automated temperature measurement features. Therefore, we are unable to ascertain the benefit of these features relative to a simple digital thermometer. However, this feasibility pilot study can set the stage for a larger trial to compare clinical and other patient-reported outcomes in patients. Second, we evaluated caregiver engagement through self-reported data at closeout, and thus, these results may be subject to recall bias. Third, parental perception of the novelty of the device may have biased them to provide more favorable responses to the usability and satisfaction assessment. Finally, our study sample represents a relatively narrow selection of pediatric illnesses. Therefore, our findings may not hold true in other pediatric illnesses and in the general population. Hence, a larger sample size is required to evaluate the long-term impact of such continuous monitoring devices.

Conclusion

Overall, the iThermonitor is an easy-to-use device that is highly feasible for continuous monitoring of temperature in pediatric oncology and surgery patients. Most parents quickly developed sufficient confidence in the device to not use any other temperature-monitoring device during the study. Although findings from this pilot study have limited generalizability, a device such as the iThermonitor may have the potential to reduce caregiver stress resulting from taking care of a sick child around the clock. Finally, it may also improve caregivers' knowledge on temperature fluctuations and help them better monitor their children.



Acknowledgments

We thank the MGH Department of Pediatric Surgery as well as the Pediatric Cancer Centers at DFCI and MGH for their help with recruitment of participants. We also thank Mursal Atif for her meticulous engagement in data collection as well as Jamie Ruccio and Sue Rossov for helping with study setup. Finally, we sincerely thank all participants without whom this study would not have been possible.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 iThermonitor Enrollment Questionnaire. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 211KB - pediatrics_v1i2e10804_app1.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 2 GAD-7. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 131KB - pediatrics v1i2e10804 app2.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 3 iThermonitor Daily Event Monitoring Log. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 26KB - pediatrics v1i2e10804 app3.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 4 iThermonitor Closeout Questionnaire. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 246KB - pediatrics_v1i2e10804_app4.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 5 User Manual. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 248KB - pediatrics_v1i2e10804_app5.pdf]

References

- Yeung RS, Buck J, Filler R. THe significance of fever following operations in children. J Pediatr Surg 1982 Aug;17(4):347-349. [Medline: 7119999]
- 2. Celkan T, Koç B. Approach to the patient with neutropenia in childhood. Turk Pediatri Ars 2015 Sep;50(3):136-144 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5152/TurkPediatriArs.2015.2295] [Medline: 26568688]
- 3. te Poele EM, Tissing WJE, Kamps WA, de Bont Eveline SJM. Risk assessment in fever and neutropenia in children with cancer: What did we learn? Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 2009 Oct;72(1):45-55. [doi: 10.1016/j.critrevonc.2008.12.009] [Medline: 19195908]
- 4. Toma A, Fenaux P, Dreyfus F, Cordonnier C. Infections in myelodysplastic syndromes. Haematologica 2012 Oct;97(10):1459-1470 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3324/haematol.2012.063420] [Medline: 22733024]
- 5. Vijarnsorn C, Winijkul G, Laohaprasitiporn D, Chungsomprasong P, Chanthong P, Durongpisitkul K, et al. Postoperative fever and major infections after pediatric cardiac surgery. J Med Assoc Thai 2012 Jun;95(6):761-770. [Medline: 22774619]
- El-Radhi AS, Barry W. Thermometry in paediatric practice. Arch Dis Child 2006 Apr;91(4):351-356 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/adc.2005.088831] [Medline: 16551792]
- 7. Crocetti M, Moghbeli N, Serwint J. Fever phobia revisited: have parental misconceptions about fever changed in 20 years? Pediatrics 2001 Jun;107(6):1241-1246. [Medline: <u>11389237</u>]
- Walsh A, Edwards H. Management of childhood fever by parents: literature review. J Adv Nurs 2006 Apr;54(2):217-227. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1365-2648.2006.03802.x</u>] [Medline: <u>16553708</u>]
- 9. Porter RS, Wenger FG. Diagnosis and treatment of pediatric fever by caretakers. J Emerg Med 2000 Jul;19(1):1-4. [Medline: 10863110]
- 10. Spitzer RL, Kroenke K, Williams JBW, Löwe B. A brief measure for assessing generalized anxiety disorder: the GAD-7. Arch Intern Med 2006 May 22;166(10):1092-1097. [doi: 10.1001/archinte.166.10.1092] [Medline: 16717171]
- 11. Faulkner L. Beyond the five-user assumption: benefits of increased sample sizes in usability testing. Behav Res Methods Instrum Comput 2003 Aug;35(3):379-383. [Medline: <u>14587545</u>]
- 12. Torreggiani S, Filocamo G, Esposito S. Recurrent Fever in Children. Int J Mol Sci 2016 Mar 25;17(4):448 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijms17040448] [Medline: 27023528]

RenderX

- 13. Wallenstein MB, Schroeder AR, Hole MK, Ryan C, Fijalkowski N, Alvarez E, et al. Fever literacy and fever phobia. Clin Pediatr (Phila) 2013 Mar;52(3):254-259. [doi: 10.1177/0009922812472252] [Medline: 23349363]
- 14. Kai J. What worries parents when their preschool children are acutely ill, and why: a qualitative study. BMJ 1996 Oct 19;313(7063):983-986. [doi: 10.1136/bmj.313.7063.983]
- Shudy M, de Almeida ML, Ly S, Landon C, Groft S, Jenkins TL, et al. Impact of pediatric critical illness and injury on families: a systematic literature review. Pediatrics 2006 Dec;118 Suppl 3:S203-S218. [doi: <u>10.1542/peds.2006-0951B</u>] [Medline: <u>17142557</u>]
- Patiño-Fernández AM, Pai ALH, Alderfer M, Hwang WT, Reilly A, Kazak AE. Acute stress in parents of children newly diagnosed with cancer. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2008 Feb;50(2):289-292 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/pbc.21262] [Medline: 17514742]
- 17. Commodari E. Children staying in hospital: a research on psychological stress of caregivers. Ital J Pediatr 2010 May 25;36:40 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1824-7288-36-40] [Medline: 20500854]
- Monsma J, Richerson J, Sloand E. Empowering parents for evidence-based fever management: An integrative review. J Am Assoc Nurse Pract 2015 Apr;27(4):222-229. [doi: 10.1002/2327-6924.12152] [Medline: 25066313]

Abbreviations

DFCI: Dana Farber Cancer Institute **GAD-7:** Generalized Anxiety Disorder Questionnaire **MGH:** Massachusetts General Hospital

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 17.04.18; peer-reviewed by P Merkus, E Toki, Y Peng; comments to author 03.08.18; revised version received 28.09.18; accepted 04.10.18; published 21.12.18.

Please cite as:

 Trease cite as.

 Kakarmath SS, de Redon E, Centi AJ, Palacholla R, Kvedar J, Jethwani K, Agboola S

 Assessing the Usability of an Automated Continuous Temperature Monitoring Device (iThermonitor) in Pediatric Patients:

 Non-Randomized Pilot Study

 JMIR Pediatr Parent 2018;1(2):e10804

 URL: http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e10804/

 PMID:31518304

©Sujay S Kakarmath, Emily de Redon, Amanda Jayne Centi, Ramya Palacholla, Joseph Kvedar, Kamal Jethwani, Stephen Agboola. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 21.12.2018. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Substance Use Among Young Mothers: An Analysis of Facebook Posts

Daniel Oram^{1*}, MD; Golfo Tzilos Wernette^{1,2*}, PhD; Lauren P Nichols^{1*}, MPH; VG Vinod Vydiswaran^{2,3,4*}, PhD; Xinyan Zhao^{4*}, MS; Tammy Chang^{1,2*}, MD, MPH, MS

Corresponding Author:

Tammy Chang, MD, MPH, MS Department of Family Medicine School of Medicine University of Michigan 1018 Fuller Street Ann Arbor, MI, 48104 United States Phone: 1 734 998 7120 Email: tachang@med.umich.edu

Abstract

Background: Substance use among young pregnant women is a common and significant public health concern associated with a number of adverse outcomes for both mothers and infants. Social media posts by young women can provide valuable, real-world insight into their perceptions of substance use immediately before and during pregnancy.

Objective: The aim of this study was to characterize the frequency and content of posts regarding substance use in the year before pregnancy and during pregnancy among young mothers.

Methods: Facebook posts were mined from young pregnant women (age, 16-24 years) who consented from 2 Midwest primary care clinics that serve a predominantly low-income community. Natural language processing was used to identify posts related to substance use by keyword searching (eg, drunk, drugs, pot, and meth). Using mixed-methods techniques, 2 investigators iteratively coded and identified major themes around substance use from these mined Facebook posts. Outcome measures include the frequency of posts and major themes expressed regarding substance use before and during pregnancy.

Results: Women in our sample (N=43) had a mean age of 21 (SD 2.3) years, and the largest subgroup (21/43, 49%) identified as non-Hispanic black; 26% (11/43) identified as non-Hispanic white; 16% (7/43) as Hispanic; and 9% (4/43) as non-Hispanic mixed race, Native American, or other. The largest subgroup (20/43, 47%) graduated high school without further education, while 30% (13/43) completed only some high school and 23% (10/43) completed at least some postsecondary education. Young women discussed substance use on social media before and during pregnancy, although compared with the year before pregnancy, the average frequency of substance-related posts during pregnancy decreased. Themes identified included craving alcohol or marijuana, social use of alcohol or marijuana, reasons for abstaining from substance use, and intoxication.

Conclusions: Facebook posts reveal that young pregnant women discuss the use of substances, predominantly alcohol and marijuana. Future work can explore clinical opportunities to prevent and treat substance use before and during pregnancy among young, at-risk mothers.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2018;1(2):e10261) doi:10.2196/10261

KEYWORDS

RenderX

adolescents; Facebook; mobile phone; pregnant; substance use; social media

¹Department of Family Medicine, School of Medicine, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI, United States

²Institute for Healthcare Policy and Innovation, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI, United States

³Department of Learning Health Sciences, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI, United States

⁴School of Information, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI, United States

^{*}all authors contributed equally

Oram et al

Introduction

Substance use among young pregnant women is common and a significant public health concern. While pregnancy is associated with significant reductions in alcohol, cigarettes, and other drug use, both alcohol and illicit drug use remain frequent problems during pregnancy. National surveys reveal that among women aged 15-44 years who are early in their pregnancy, 16.5% report alcohol use in the past month, 10.8% report heavy episodic drinking (ie, binge drinking; \geq 4 drinks in a row), and 11.5% report illicit drug use. Compared with young adult and adult women, adolescent women report the highest rates of illicit drug use during pregnancy [1].

The American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists has recommended routine screening and brief interventions for substance use during pregnancy. Marijuana use is emerging as an area of particular concern for childbearing women-for whom marijuana is the most commonly reported illicit drug [1]—given the associated risks for both mothers and infants. For instance, cannabis users are at increased risk of depression, and children exposed to marijuana prenatally have impaired outcomes across several cognitive domains [2,3]. Among a national sample of adolescents aged 12-17 years, 6.5% reported current marijuana use, and 12.0% reported use in the past year [1]. When compared with nonpregnant adolescent girls, pregnant adolescent girls reported rates of marijuana use that were twice as high as nonpregnant peers (6.45% vs 14%, respectively) [4]. Studies have demonstrated that pregnant and nonpregnant women more commonly perceive regular marijuana use as having no risk to their health [5], which may be attributed to remaining areas of uncertainty in the literature regarding effects of marijuana use on the developing fetus, such as fetal growth [6,7]. This discrepancy between perceived safety and physician-identified risk is one of several obstacles that may exist for disclosure of stigmatized behaviors during pregnancy. Technology can help to overcome such barriers. Social media posts can provide insight into young women's perceptions of substance use that complements data from traditional qualitative research, providing direct observations of their posted views. With the widespread availability of smartphones and internet access, social media has changed the landscape of information gathering and sharing with respect to substance use among adolescents [8,9]. This study aims to characterize the frequency and content of Facebook posts regarding substance use in the year before pregnancy and during pregnancy among young mothers.

Methods

Facebook posts were mined from 43 young pregnant women (age 16-24 years) who were recruited as a convenience sample and consented from 2 Midwest primary care clinics that serve a predominantly low-income community. The text-based Facebook posts authored by consented women were extracted using the Facebook application programming interface (API). Posts were extracted at study recruitment (typically in the first trimester) and again later in pregnancy (typically in the second or third trimester). At study recruitment, women also provided demographic information, estimated date of delivery, and the date they recalled discovering they were pregnant. During each data extraction, study participants logged on to their Facebook account to grant access, and access was lost once they signed out. Natural language processing was used to identify posts related to substance use by searching posts by keywords (eg, drunk, drugs, pot, and meth) and their morphological variants. Keywords included common synonyms and brand names for alcohol, tobacco, and illicit drugs and were supplemented by internet searching for colloquial synonyms and slang. Additional words were added from synonyms of derivationally related forms from a lexical database, WordNet [10]. Multimedia Appendix 1 provides a full list of keywords that were searched. These identified posts were separated by time stamp into prepregnancy and pregnancy posts. Facebook posts that occurred during pregnancy were identified by a timestamp occurring after the subject's last menstrual period (LMP), which was imputed from the estimated date of delivery. Facebook posts that occurred within the year prior to pregnancy were identified by a timestamp occurring <1 year prior to the LMP. Substance-related post frequency was compared before and after subjects discovered they were pregnant, using the paired sample t test. Using mixed-methods techniques and an inductive framework, 2 investigators (DO and GTW) coded and identified major themes around substance use. Notably, only English-language posts were coded. Codes were derived iteratively, and a formal codebook was established after consensus or discussion between at least 2 investigators, with a third investigator (TC) resolving any disagreements. Posts were not required to identify self-use by the subject to be coded as substance-related. Outcome measures include the frequency of posts and major themes expressed regarding substance use before and during pregnancy. This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of the University of Michigan (HUM00104989).

Results

Quantitative Results

This study included 43 young women aged 16-24 years. Table 1 presents participants' characteristics. Facebook posts were last extracted at a median of 33 weeks gestational age. Approximately 2% of posts were in Spanish and not analyzed. Facebook posts revealed that young women are discussing the use of substances, predominantly marijuana, alcohol, and tobacco (cigarettes, hookah), before and during pregnancy (Table 2). Overall, 70% (30/43) of subjects posted about substances during the 1 year prior to pregnancy through the end of pregnancy. Furthermore, 56% (24/43) of subjects posted about substances during their pregnancies.



 Table 1. Demographic characteristics of participants (N=43).

Demographics	Value		
Race (n=43), n (%)			
Non-Hispanic black	21 (49)		
Non-Hispanic white	11 (26)		
Hispanic	7 (16)		
Non-Hispanic mixed race or other	3 (7)		
Native American	1 (2)		
Age in years, mean (SD); range	21 (2.3); 16-24		
Age group in years (n=43), n (%)			
<18	4 (9)		
Between 18 and 21	19 (44)		
>21	20 (47)		
Educational status (n=43), n (%)			
Completed some high school	13 (30)		
High school graduate	20 (47)		
Completed some postsecondary education ^a	10 (23)		
Median household annual income in US \$ (n=28) ^b , median (range)	3800 (0-40,000)		
Household members (n=42) ^c , n (%)			
Subject's children	12 (29)		
Parent	11 (26)		
Significant other (boyfriend, fiancé, husband)	11 (26)		
Roommate	5 (12)		
Lives alone	2 (5)		
Relationship status (n=37) ^b , n (%)			
Single, never married	16 (43)		
In a relationship but not married	20 (54)		
Married	1 (2)		

^aSubjects younger than 18 years were all counted as completing some high school; 2 of 4 were currently enrolled in school.

^bQuestion not asked to participants aged <18 years.

^cCategories not mutually exclusive.

Substance	Year prior to pregnancy	Pregnancy	Total
Marijuana	82	30	112
Alcohol	78	44	122
Tobacco	11	8	19
Other ^a	6	13	19
Total substance references ^b	177	95	272
Total Facebook posts	9816	13,043	22,859

^aHeroin, prescription drugs, cocaine, lysergic acid diethylamide, ecstasy, unspecified recreational substances.

^bPosts sometimes referenced >1 type of substance use.

XSL•FO RenderX

Figure 1. Facebook post frequency in the year before pregnancy and during pregnancy. aPregnancy month is the number of 4-week intervals before or after the last menstrual period. Dashed line, the average time in pregnancy at which subjects reported discovering their pregnancies (each subject reported the date when she discovered she was pregnant during the study intake process; mean 2.2 pregnancy months).



Figure 2. Substance-related Facebook post frequency in the year before pregnancy and during pregnancy. aPregnancy month is the number of 4-week intervals before or after the last menstrual period. Dashed line, the average time in pregnancy at which subjects reported discovering their pregnancies (each subject reported the date when she discovered she was pregnant during the study intake process; mean 2.2 pregnancy months).



The average total Facebook posting frequency (not restricted to posts about substance use) did not appear to change appreciably throughout pregnancy. However, the number of posts about substance use appeared to decrease after pregnancy compared with before pregnancy, most markedly after the date on which participants found out that they were pregnant (Figures 1 and 2). The paired sample *t* test supported a mean difference in substance-related post frequency between the periods before and after subjects discovered their pregnancies (t_{42} =2.3, *P*=.03).

Qualitative Results

Posts that reference substance use in the year prior to pregnancy (Table 3) predominantly focused on use or anticipated use of

substances by subjects (118/158, 75% of substance-related posts; "i'm bout 3 shots from drunk tf"). Posts were unlikely to contain an overt value judgment about substance use, but generally referred to substance use in a positive or neutral tone ("I do love my vodka lol"). The most common themes of posts were cravings for substance use ("man i'm up, need to find weed and smoke asap. i fucking hate credit cards bruh") and references about intoxication (eg, high, drunk, etc; "ima lil tipsy bih right now [4 smiling face with horns emojis]"). Posts describing social substance use (such as use with a friend or at a party) again typically described self-use by subjects (29/32 posts) but often suggested comradery-building ("someone come threw and smoke...i mean shit, we'll become friends! Imao!").

RenderX

Table 3. Post categories and representative posts in the year before pregnancy. Emojis are denoted by brackets. Beginning of pregnancy defined as the last menstrual period as estimated by the due date. "In a relationship" designates subjects who self-describe as "In a relationship, not married."

Post categories and subjects	Weeks before pregnancy	Posts	
Cravings for substance use (n=30, average 20 weeks prior to LMP ^a)			
Non-Hispanic mixed-race 22-year-old high school graduate, in a relationship	8 weeks	"I swear a blunt would be so legit [face with tears of joy] [face with rolling eyes]"	
Black 19-year-old high school graduate, in a rela- tionship	9 weeks	"I need some weed."	
Black 22-year-old, completed some college, single	10 weeks	"i just want to smoke a fat ass blunt eat some subway and watch movies all day. put in apps on my phone"	
Black 24-year-old high school graduate, relation- ship status unknown	37 weeks	"I need a drink like right now"	
Black 24-year-old high school graduate, in a rela- tionship	47 weeks	"I feel like drinking a whole bottle of liquor right now [tropical drink]"	
Intoxication (n=32, average 20 weeks prior to LMF	')		
Black 22-year-old, completed some college, single	15 weeks	"last night I was drunk! af #lilcuzbigcuz [woman's name]"	
Non-Hispanic mixed-race 22-year-old high school graduate, in a relationship	18 weeks	"I'm so high I ain't never coming down"	
Black 24-year-old high school graduate, relation- ship status unknown	24 weeks	"drunk moments with [woman's name] [face with stuck out tongue and winking eye] [face with stuck out-tongue and tightly closed eyes] [face with tears of joy] [cocktail glass] [tropical drink] [wine glass] [beer mug] [clinking beer mugs]"	
Non-Hispanic mixed-race 19-year-old high school graduate, in a relationship	30 weeks	"I wish I could just drink the pain away but that never works I tend to think about everything when I'm drunk and cry about it"	
Black 16-year-old, enrolled in high school, rela- tionship status unknown	52 weeks	"i'm high ass hell && hungry ass hell im ready to go home"	
Social substance use (n=32, average 16 weeks prior	to LMP)		
Non-Hispanic mixed-race 22-year-old high school graduate, in a relationship	8 weeks	"sipping on this gen and oj with mines [red heart] [smiling face with heart- shaped eyes] [couple with heart] [smiling cat face with heart-shaped eyes] think i'm a lil tipsy, [man's name] baby sitting his drink [person's name] what about you and bro? lol"	
Native American 21-year-old, completed some college, single	10 weeks	"off three hours of sleep and a half pint of henny! but its money to be made, thanks to [man's name] for turning up at 1am i'm so slow motion"	
Black 24-year-old high school graduate, in a rela- tionship	18 weeks	"were my real bitches at like fr i wanna turn up shit if you come over we can have drinks smoke and i'll feed you lol"	
Black 19-year-old high school graduate, in a rela- tionship	14 weeks	"a friendship go two ways just like a relationship if you ain't putting no effort to talk, hang, get high lol whatever the case may be then neither am i fuck it [open hands sign] [100 points symbol]"	
Black 23-year-old, completed some vocational training, single	52 weeks	"i love my cousinswe drunk as fuck!!"	
Nonsocial substance use (n=17, average 25 weeks p	rior to LMP)		
Hispanic mixed-race 20-year-old, completed some high school, in a relationship	8 weeks	"gonna drink this hen dog and watch elf"	
Black 22-year-old, completed some college, single	10 weeks	"why am I drunk by myself? lol"	
Black 19-year-old high school graduate, in a rela- tionship	12 weeks	"just getting off. about to run some bath water, roll up a blunt, & chill [smirking face]"	
Black 24-year-old high school graduate, in a rela- tionship	29 weeks	"it feels amazing to walk into your own home roll a blunt and relax [smiling face with smiling eyes] i hate paying bills but it is worth it"	
Black 20-year-old high school graduate, single	35 weeks	"about to take my daughter to the park then make pepper steak for dinner theeennn sip my wine n a candle lit bubble bath [two women holding hands] [fork and knife] [curry and rice] [wine glass] [bath] [unidentified emoji]"	

^aLMP: last menstrual period.

XSL•FO RenderX

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e10261/

Oram et al

Table 4. Post categories and representative posts during pregnancy.

Post categories and subjects	Gestational age ^a	Did subject know she was pregnant?	Posts
Negative aspects of or abstinence from substance u	se (n=30, ave	rage gestational age 1	16 weeks)
Black 22-year-old, completed some college, single	6 weeks	No	"I can't turn up y'all! 4 days no drinking 4 days no squares and 3 days no weed! If you not helpin keep it pushing please and thanks"
Black 19-year-old high school graduate, in a rela- tionship ^b	14 weeks	No	"y'all don't understand how i miss being turnt up [weary face] ^c [broken heart] i love my love bug waaaayyyy too much tho! but valentine's day?? it's going tf dowwwnnnn i know my boyfriend gone get me drunk asfffff [weary face] [smiling face with heart-shaped eyes] [smiling face] [face with tears of joy] [face with tears of joy]"
Non-Hispanic white 18-year-old, completed some college, in a relationship	14 weeks	Yes	"what the fuck????? legalizing heroin? why the hell would anyone legalize heroin. i guess another thing to help population control fucking government."
Non-Hispanic white 20-year-old high school graduate, in a relationship	16 weeks	Yes	"if you smoke in a car with a pregnant person as your passenger, windows rolled down or not, you're an ass- hole."
Black 23-year-old, completed some postsecondary vocational training, in a relationship	31 weeks	Yes	"idk what type of rats yall niggas used 2 but i clearly was raised differently & im not changing who i am 4 nobody. i dont like all types of people in & out my house. especial- ly niggas. i have a daughter. she will never think that shit is ok. if you cant respect that; im not the one 4 you. all that drinking & shit every day/night will not be done in my house. i wasnt raised seeing that shit & my kids wont be neither. yes i smoke weed; if i didnt a lot of mfs wouldnt be breathing so if you dont agree; fck you."
Social substance use (n=16, average gestational age	14 weeks)		
Black 24-year-old, completed some college, in a relationship	3 weeks	No	"seriously tho. we cant hang if i'm the only one high. it doesn't work like that no more unless we're close and you have a good reason for not smoking. lol"
Non-Hispanic white 22-year-old high school graduate, married	11 weeks	Yes	" wish i had friends to talk to but i guess that now that i cant drink no one wants to hmu anymore anyways its kool yall weren't real friends anyway"
Non-Hispanic white 19-year-old, completed some high school, in a relationship	26 weeks	Yes	"is anyone interested in coming to a diaper party anywhere from now to 8? bring a pack of diapers and get all you can drink keg and food!!!! in jeremy wayne lambert"
Black 21-year-old, high school graduate, single	29 weeks	Yes	"Imbo [woman's name] said im blessed because i told her when [man's name] take me out to eat im allowed to get a drink and dessert Imbo"
Intoxication (n=15, average gestational age 22 week	ks)		
Non-Hispanic white 17-year-old, not enrolled in school, relationship status unknown	6 weeks	Yes	"if you've ever seen me drunk, press like. if i get more than 30, i clearly need help[face with tears of joy] [clinking beer mugs] haha"
Black 23-year-old, completed some vocational training, in a relationship	18 weeks	Yes	"its sad scrolling down my tl & seeing mothers fcked up every weekend. weekdays too smh. your child is going 2 remember you as a drunk. (if they remember you at all b/c you're always putting them on the next while you turn up) but watch these same bitches dog their baby daddies tomorrow on fathers day! smh."
Non-Hispanic white 18-year-old, completed some college, in a relationship	32 weeks	Yes	"happy 21st birthday to my love [man's name]. i hope you have a wonderful birthday and dont end up with alco- hol poisoning from drinking so much. i love you and i wish you have the best day possible. have a good day![4 face throwing a kiss] [4 party popper]"
Black 24-year-old, completed some college, in a relationship	34 weeks	Yes	"get high all you want baby girl.!! smoking does kill but we ain't talking about weed.!!"



Post categories and subjects	Gestational age ^a	Did subject know she was pregnant?	Posts
Cravings for substance use (n=7, average gestation			
Black 22-year-old, completed some college, single	6 weeks	No	"who in the green with some weed?"
Non-Hispanic mixed-race 19-year-old high school graduate, in a relationship	6 weeks	No	"i could go for a shot and a j and a bus bit hey you don't see me doing that so don't tell me shit about #!++!#? a &!@\$ that is my!%+@#\$"
Black 23-year-old, completed some vocational training, single	20 weeks	Yes	"i wish i could drink, i'm so irritated!"
Black 19-year-old high school graduate, in a rela- tionship	21 weeks	Yes	"if i could just smoke a wood i wouldnt give a fuck about shit."

^aGestational age reported as weeks after the last menstrual period as estimated by the due date.

^b"In a relationship" designates subjects who self-describe as "In a relationship, not married." ^cEmojis denoted by brackets ([]).

Fewer substance-related posts during pregnancy (Table 4) described substance use by subjects (28/76, 37%) than in the year prior to pregnancy (118/158, 75%). Of posts describing self-use during pregnancy, the majority was written before subjects discovered they were pregnant (18/28, 64%). The most common theme was discussion of negative aspects of substance use (posts discussing abstinence from substance use were also included in this theme). These posts described the dangers of substance use among pregnant women and their concerns about use around their family or themselves during pregnancy ("i hate it when people who smoke cigarettes come all up in my face and talk to me. if you don't get yo nicotine tobacco smelling ass breath out my face..... ugh."). Some of these posts demonstrated ambivalence about the types of substance use ("smoking does kill but we ain't talking about weed") or complete abstinence ("4 days no drinking 4 days no squares and 3 days no weed!"). Another common theme was a discussion of social aspects of substance use. These posts often referred to the social challenges of abstinence (ie, lack of social interaction that includes substance use; "where are the people that know how 2 communicate? can have good conversation w/a sense of humor w/o being drunk or high? too many negative nancy's around here, positive vibes only!"). Furthermore, major themes included craving substances (less common than in the year prior to pregnancy) and references to intoxication (most commonly referring to intoxication in others).

Discussion

Principal Findings

We characterized Facebook posts regarding substance use in the year before pregnancy and during pregnancy among a sample of young mothers. We found that the frequency of posts related to substances decreased after subjects discovered they were pregnant; this may represent a decline in the presence of substance use among the lives of young women when they become pregnant or may represent a social stigma of discussing substance use while pregnant. We are not aware of prior research that captures the total or substance-related social media posting frequency throughout pregnancy, though a cross-sectional study showed pregnant women frequently check social media [11]. Pregnancy is a window of opportunity that prompts the majority of women to either reduce or abstain from alcohol and substance use for the remainder of their pregnancy [12]. Many of the substance-related Facebook posts we identified during pregnancy reflected this increased focus on abstinence from and negative consequences of substance use. However, a subset of women continue using substances during pregnancy [1,4]. Our sample of pregnant young women often discussed substance use in ways that highlighted the need for continued interventions to support their abstinence from substances during pregnancy. For instance, women in our sample often expressed a loss of social support because they were not able to participate in the social use of substances; this is similar to a prior qualitative study of Australian women who identified social alcohol consumption as motivation for continued use throughout pregnancy [13]. Unique to this study, some of the posts suggested social abandonment instead of simple loss of social activities: "bitches don't hit you up to check on you if you ain't got a bottle or a blunt." This finding may reflect a study population with fewer baseline social resources and is amplified by the vivid verbiage found in Facebook posts throughout our sample. Furthermore, although the women in our sample appeared to have knowledge about the need to abstain from substance use during pregnancy, they often expressed some ambivalence about the need to avoid all substances at all times, particularly marijuana. Reportedly, marijuana use during pregnancy is on the rise [14], increasing by 62% over the past decade; this increase has been attributed, in part, to an increased perception of the safety of marijuana use during pregnancy [4,5]. Clinicians should acknowledge the role of substance use in the lives of youth and find ways to ensure these young women are supported and empowered to make healthy decisions during pregnancy.

Disclosure of sensitive topics, such as substance use during pregnancy, is challenging because of social stigma, but can be facilitated by the use of technology. Social media posts by young women can provide valuable insight into their perceptions of substance use during the vulnerable time of pregnancy, with observations unencumbered by a formal research setting. Such information can be used toward preventive efforts in reducing use during pregnancy by identifying the circumstances around

why substances are used (ie, social support and addiction) and assist in targeting resources and programs for at-risk mothers.

Limitations

Although this study represents a novel investigation of substance use, it has a number of limitations. Despite an extensive database of search terms, it is possible that some posts were missed owing to posts with nonsemantic use of words that refer to risk-taking behaviors or novel slang not found during internet searching. However, search terms were identified using a variety of methods that included modern youth-centered vernacular. In addition, some posts related to substance use may be posted through pictures only, which were not analyzed in this study. Posts were extracted at 2 times in pregnancy (at enrollment and a later date in the second or third trimester), and anticipated extraction of posts could have introduced a potential desirability bias; this is felt to be less likely as the research team is only a small part of a much larger audience that would be anticipated to read the posts. Moreover, the quantitative analysis of post frequency is limited by the small sample size and a relatively

low proportion of substance-related posts. However, the qualitative data collected provides important nuance and context to these dangerous behaviors among a high proportion of young mothers in our diverse sample. Finally, although our sample included a diverse range of race or ethnicities, findings from our small study may not be generalizable to larger populations of youth.

Conclusions

Our evaluation of Facebook posts reveals that young pregnant women are discussing the use of substances, predominantly alcohol and marijuana. Providers that care for young pregnant mothers can anticipate and acknowledge the possible loss of social interaction related to substance use and support women in remaining abstinent throughout pregnancy. Future work that explores youth-centered interventions to prevent and treat substance use before and during pregnancy among young, at-risk mothers could improve outcomes for both mothers and their children.

Acknowledgments

We acknowledge Katie Grode for her assistance in preparing this manuscript for publication and Melissa A Plegue for her assistance with statistical analysis.

The research is supported by National Institutes of Health, Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health & Human Development (1K23HD083527-01A1) Speaking Their Language: Using Social Media and Texting to Create an Adolescent-Centered Approach to Healthy Weight Gain During Pregnancy (Principal Investigator: TC).

Authors' Contributions

TC, VGVV, XZ, and LPN contributed to the design and data collection. TC, DO, and GTW contributed to the analysis, interpretation, and writing.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Search terms used to query database of Facebook posts. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 54KB - pediatrics v1i2e10261 app1.pdf]

References

- Center for Behavioral Health Statistics and Quality. Rockville, MD: Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration; 2017. Results from the 2016 National Survey on Drug UseHealth: Detailed Tables URL: <u>https://www.samhsa.gov/data/sites/default/files/NSDUH-DetTabs-2016/NSDUH-DetTabs-2016.pdf</u> [accessed 2018-11-02] [WebCite Cache ID 73dhHohHa]
- Lev-Ran S, Roerecke M, Le Foll B, George TP, McKenzie K, Rehm J. The association between cannabis use and depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. Psychol Med 2014 Mar;44(4):797-810. [doi: 10.1017/S0033291713001438] [Medline: 23795762]
- 3. Jaques SC, Kingsbury A, Henshcke P, Chomchai C, Clews S, Falconer J, et al. Cannabis, the pregnant woman and her child: weeding out the myths. J Perinatol 2014 Jun;34(6):417-424. [doi: 10.1038/jp.2013.180] [Medline: 24457255]
- 4. Volkow ND, Han B, Compton WM, Blanco C. Marijuana Use During Stages of Pregnancy in the United States. Ann Intern Med 2017 Dec 16;166(10):763-764. [doi: 10.7326/L17-0067] [Medline: 28418460]
- Jarlenski M, Koma JW, Zank J, Bodnar LM, Bogen DL, Chang JC. Trends in perception of risk of regular marijuana use among US pregnant and nonpregnant reproductive-aged women. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2017 Dec;217(6):705-707. [doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2017.08.015] [Medline: 28843740]

RenderX

- Janisse JJ, Bailey BA, Ager J, Sokol RJ. Alcohol, tobacco, cocaine, and marijuana use: relative contributions to preterm delivery and fetal growth restriction. Subst Abus 2014;35(1):60-67. [doi: <u>10.1080/08897077.2013.804483</u>] [Medline: <u>24588295</u>]
- Hayatbakhsh MR, Flenady VJ, Gibbons KS, Kingsbury AM, Hurrion E, Mamun AA, et al. Birth outcomes associated with cannabis use before and during pregnancy. Pediatr Res 2012 Feb;71(2):215-219. [doi: <u>10.1038/pr.2011.25</u>] [Medline: <u>22258135</u>]
- 8. Kim SJ, Marsch L, Hancock J, Das A. Scaling Up Research on Drug Abuse and Addiction Through Social Media Big Data. J Med Internet Res 2017 Oct 31;19(10):e353 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6426] [Medline: 29089287]
- 9. Parackal M, Parackal S, Eusebius S, Mather D. The Use of Facebook Advertising for Communicating Public Health Messages: A Campaign Against Drinking During Pregnancy in New Zealand. JMIR Public Health Surveill 2017 Aug 10;3(3):e49 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/publichealth.7032] [Medline: 28798011]
- 10. Miller. WordNet: a lexical database for English. Commun. ACM 1995;38(11):39-41. [doi: 10.1145/219717.219748]
- 11. Hicks S, Brown A. Higher Facebook use predicts greater body image dissatisfaction during pregnancy: The role of self-comparison. Midwifery 2016 Sep;40:132-140. [doi: 10.1016/j.midw.2016.06.018] [Medline: 27428109]
- 12. Higgins PG, Clough DH, Frank B, Wallerstedt C. Changes in health behaviors made by pregnant substance users. Int J Addict 1995 Aug;30(10):1323-1333. [Medline: 7591347]
- 13. Meurk CS, Broom A, Adams J, Hall W, Lucke J. Factors influencing women's decisions to drink alcohol during pregnancy: findings of a qualitative study with implications for health communication. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 2014 Jul 24;14:246 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2393-14-246] [Medline: 25060554]
- Brown QL, Sarvet AL, Shmulewitz D, Martins SS, Wall MM, Hasin DS. Trends in Marijuana Use Among Pregnant and Nonpregnant Reproductive-Aged Women, 2002-2014. JAMA 2017 Dec 10;317(2):207-209 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jama.2016.17383] [Medline: 27992619]

Abbreviations

LMP: last menstrual period

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 01.03.18; peer-reviewed by J Thrul, Y Wang; comments to author 17.08.18; revised version received 08.10.18; accepted 22.10.18; published 04.12.18.

Please cite as:

Oram D, Tzilos Wernette G, Nichols LP, Vydiswaran VGV, Zhao X, Chang T Substance Use Among Young Mothers: An Analysis of Facebook Posts JMIR Pediatr Parent 2018;1(2):e10261 URL: <u>http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2018/2/e10261/</u> doi:10.2196/10261 PMID:<u>31518312</u>

©Daniel Oram, Golfo Tzilos Wernette, Lauren P Nichols, VG Vinod Vydiswaran, Xinyan Zhao, Tammy Chang. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 04.12.2018. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Publisher: JMIR Publications 130 Queens Quay East. Toronto, ON, M5A 3Y5 Phone: (+1) 416-583-2040 Email: <u>support@jmir.org</u>

https://www.jmirpublications.com/

